

Screening, risk stratification, and management of atrial fibrillation

By

Jean Jacques NOUBIAP NZEALE

MD, MMed

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Centre for Heart Rhythm Disorders The University of Adelaide | Royal Adelaide Hospital

March 2023

To my wife and my son

These years of separation have been so difficult for our family. You have been my light in the darkness, my source of motivation. I am forever grateful for your support.

Table of Contents

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMSXIII
ABSTRACTXVIII
DECLARATION XXII
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSXXIII
LIST OF ARTICLES, CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS, AND AWARDSXXV
PhD-related articlesXXV
Chapter 1. Literature reviewXXV
Chapter 2. Incident atrial fibrillation in relation to ventilatory parameters: a prospective
cohort studyXXV
Chapter 3. Searching for atrial fibrillation after strokeXXV
Chapter 4. Clinical and cardiac predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation
XXVI
Chapter 5. Carotid and aortic atherosclerotic disease and stroke risk stratification in
patients with atrial fibrillationXXVI
Chapter 6. Prognostic impact of atrial fibrillation on acute cardiovascular events XXVII
Chapter 7. Sex disparities in enrolment and reporting of outcomes by sex in
contemporary clinical trials of atrial fibrillation XXVII
Chapter 8. Sex differences in outcomes of an intensive risk factor modification program
in patients with atrial fibrillationXXVIII
Chapter 9. Sex differences in clinical profile, management, and outcomes of patients
hospitalized for atrial fibrillation in the United StatesXXVIII

Other articles during candidature	XXVIII
Published	XXVIII
Scholarships and awards during candidature	XXXVII
CHAPTER 1: Literature review	1
1.1 The burden of atrial fibrillation	3
1.1.1 Incidence and prevalence of atrial fibrillation	3
1.1.2 Mortality and disability attributable to atrial fibrillation	6
1.2 Risk factors for atrial fibrillation	6
1.2.1 Ageing	6
1.2.2 Male sex	7
1.2.3 Race and ethnicity	7
1.2.4 Hypertension	8
1.2.5 Obesity	10
1.2.6 Diabetes mellitus	11
1.2.7 Heart failure	12
1.2.8 Coronary artery disease	13
1.2.9 Obstructive sleep apnoea	14
1.2.10 Alcohol consumption	16
1.2.11 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	17
1.3 Risk prediction models for incident atrial fibrillation	17
1.3.1 The Framingham Heart Study risk score for AF (FHS-AF)	

1.3.2 The Atherosclerosis Risk in the Community (ARIC)	
1.3.3 The CHARGE-AF score	19
1.3.4 The Malmö diet and cancer study (MDCS)	19
1.3.5 The HATCH score	19
1.3.6 The Suita study	20
1.3.7 The C2HEST	20
1.4 Screening for atrial fibrillation	21
1.4.1 Devices for atrial fibrillation screening or monitoring	21
1.4.2 Opportunistic single-time-point screening	27
1.4.3 Systematic screening	
1.4.4 Searching for atrial fibrillation post-stroke	29
1.5 Complications of atrial fibrillation	
1.5.1 Stroke	
1.5.2 Extracranial systemic embolism	34
1.5.3 Venous thromboembolism	34
1.5.4 Dementia	35
1.5.5 Heart failure	35
1.5.6 Coronary artery disease	
1.5.7 Death	
1.6 Biomarkers in atrial fibrillation	
1.6.1 Inflammation	

1.6.2 Oxidative stress	
1.6.3 Cardiomyocyte stress and injury	40
1.6.4 Atrial fibrosis	42
1.6.5 Thrombogenesis	44
1.6.6 Non-coding RNAs	45
1.6.7 Clinical implications	47
1.7 Risk stratification in patients with atrial fibrillation	49
1.7.1 Stroke risk assessment	49
1.7.2 Bleeding risk assessment	50
1.8 Management of atrial fibrillation	51
1.8.1 Stroke prevention	51
1.8.2 Rate control	
1.8.3 Rhythm control	53
1.8.4 Rate versus rhythm control strategies	55
1.8.5 Risk factor modification	60
1.9 Sex differences in atrial fibrillation	65
1.9.1 Incidence and prevalence	65
1.9.2 Risk factors	66
1.9.3 Pathophysiology	66
1.9.4 Clinical presentation	67
1.9.5 Outcomes	

1.9.6 Management	70
1.10 Gaps in knowledge and aims of the thesis	72
1.10.1 Gaps in knowledge	72
1.10.2 Aims	73
1.11 Tables and figures	74
CHAPTER 2: Incident atrial fibrillation in relation to ventilatory parameters: a pro-	spective
cohort study	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Study population	
2.2.2 Assessment of ventilatory function	
2.2.3 Covariates	90
2.2.4 Outcome	90
2.2.5 Statistical analysis	91
2.2.6 Ethical considerations	92
2.3 Results	92
2.3.1 Baseline characteristics	92
2.3.2 FEV1, FEV1 percentage predicted, FEV1 z-score and incident AF	
2.3.3 FVC, FVC z-score and incident AF	94
2.3.4 FEV1/FVC, FEV1/FVC z-score and incident AF	94
2.3.5 COPD status and incident AF	
2.4 Discussion	95

2.5 Conclusion
2.6 Tables and figures
2.7 Appendix
CHAPTER 3: Searching for atrial fibrillation after stroke114
3.1 Atrial fibrillation detection using insertable cardiac monitor after stroke: a real-word
cohort study120
3.1.1 Introduction
3.1.2 Methods
3.1.3 Results
3.1.4 Discussion
3.1.5 Conclusion
3.1.6 Table and figures
3.2 Rhythm monitoring strategies for atrial fibrillation detection in patients with
cryptogenic stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis
3.2.1 Introduction
3.2.2 Methods
3.2.3 Results
3.2.4 Discussion
3.2.5 Conclusion
3.2.6 Tables and Figures14
3.2.7 Appendix
CHAPTER 4: Clinical and cardiac predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation 19

4.1 Clinical risk factors for stroke in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation 197
4.1.1 Introduction
4.1.2 Methods
4.1.3 Results
4.1.4 Discussion
4.1.5 Conclusion
4.1.6 Tables and figures211
4.1.7 Appendix
4.2 Cardiac imaging correlates and predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: A
systematic review and meta-analysis
4.2.1 Introduction
4.2.2 Methods
4.2.3 Results
4.2.4 Discussion
4.2.5 Conclusion
4.2.6 Figures and tables
4.2.7 Appendix
CHAPTER 5: Carotid and aortic atherosclerotic disease and stroke risk stratification in
patients with atrial fibrillation
5.1 Meta-analysis comparing the frequency of carotid artery stenosis in patients with atrial
fibrillation and vice versa
5.1.1 Introduction

5.1.2 Methods	
5.1.3 Results	
5.1.4 Discussion	
5.1.5 Conclusion	
5.1.6 Tables and figures	
5.1.7 Appendix	
5.2 Stroke risk associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patien	ts with atrial
fibrillation: A systematic review	
5.2.1 Introduction	
5.2.2 Methods	
5.2.3 Results	
5.2.4 Discussion	
5.2.5 Conclusion	
5.2.6 Tables	
5.3 High-risk carotid plaques and stroke risk stratification in patients with	atrial fibrillation:
the Cardiovascular Health Study	
5.3.1 Introduction	
5.3.2 Methods	
5.3.3 Results	
5.3.4 Discussion	
5.3.5 Conclusion	
5.3.6 Tables and figures	

5.3.7 Appendix
CHAPTER 6: Prognostic impact of atrial fibrillation on acute cardiovascular events
6.1 Atrial fibrillation incidence, prevalence, predictors, and adverse outcomes in acute
coronary syndromes: a pooled analysis of data from 8 million patients
6.1.1 Introduction
6.1.2 Methods
6.1.3 Results
6.1.4 Discussion
6.1.5 Conclusion
6.1.6 Tables and figures
6.1.7 Appendix
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: a pooled analysis
 6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: a pooled analysis
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: a pooled analysis 6.2.1 Introduction 438 6.2.2 Methods 439
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: a pooled analysis 438 6.2.1 Introduction 438 6.2.2 Methods 439 6.2.3 Results 442
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: a pooled analysis 6.2.1 Introduction 438 6.2.2 Methods 439 6.2.3 Results 442 6.2.4 Discussion
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonaryembolism: a pooled analysis6.2.1 Introduction4386.2.2 Methods4396.2.3 Results4426.2.4 Discussion4446.2.5 Conclusion447
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonaryembolism: a pooled analysis6.2.1 Introduction4386.2.2 Methods6.2.3 Results4426.2.4 Discussion4446.2.5 Conclusion4476.2.6 Figures448
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonaryembolism: a pooled analysis6.2.1 Introduction4386.2.2 Methods4396.2.3 Results4426.2.4 Discussion4446.2.5 Conclusion4476.2.6 Figures4486.2.7 Appendix455
6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: a pooled analysis 6.2.1 Introduction 438 6.2.2 Methods 439 6.2.3 Results 442 6.2.4 Discussion 444 6.2.5 Conclusion 447 6.2.6 Figures 448 6.2.7 Appendix 455 CHAPTER 7: Sex disparities in enrolment and reporting of outcomes by sex in contemporary

7.1 Introduction4	68
7.2 Methods	68
7.2.1 Literature search	69
7.2.2 Selection of studies to include in the review	69
7.2.3 Data extraction and management4	70
7.2.4 Assessment of sex enrolment disparities	70
7.2.5 Statistical analysis4	72
7.3 Results4	72
7.3.1 Study selection and characteristics4	72
7.3.2 Enrolment disparity differences4	73
7.3.3 Reporting of results by sex4	74
7.4 Discussion4	75
7.5 Conclusion4	78
7.6 Tables and figures4	79
7.7 Appendix4	91
CHAPTER 8: Sex differences in outcomes of an intensive risk factor modification program	L
in patients with atrial fibrillation5	27
8.1 Introduction	30
8.2 Methods5	31
8.2.1 Study population	31
8.2.2 Weight-loss and risk factor management5	31
8.2.3. Exercise program and evaluation of cardiorespiratory fitness	32

8.2.4. Arrhythmia management	532
8.2.5 Outcomes	533
8.2.6 Statistical analysis	533
8.2.7 Ethical approval and registration	534
8.3 Results	534
8.3.1 Baseline characteristics	534
8.3.2 Impact of the aggressive risk factor management program	535
8.3.3 Association of weight loss and fitness gain with atrial fibrillation free	eedom
outcomes	537
8.4 Discussion	538
8.5 Conclusion	542
8.6 Tables and figures	543
8.7 Appendix	555
CHAPTER 9: Sex differences in clinical profile, management, and outcomes of	of patients
hospitalized for atrial fibrillation in the United States	557
9.1 Introduction	560
9.2 Methods	561
9.2.1 Study design and data source	561
9.2.2 Study population and diagnosis ascertainment	561
9.2.3 Study variables and outcomes	
9.2.4 Statistical analysis	562
9.2.5 Ethical considerations	

9.3 Results	
9.3.1 Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics	
9.3.2 In-hospital mortality	
9.3.3 Utilization of rhythm control therapies	
9.3.4 Length of stay and costs	
9.4 Discussion	
9.5 Conclusion	
9.6 Tables and figures	
9.7 Appendix	
CHAPTER 10: Conclusions of the thesis	
10.1 Risk factors and screening for atrial fibrillation	
10.2 Risk stratification	
10.3 Prognostic impact of atrial fibrillation on acute cardiovascular events	
10.4 Sex differences in atrial fibrillation management and outcomes	
REFERENCES	

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

95% CI: 95% confidence interval AAD: anti-arrhythmic drug ACS: acute coronary syndrome AF: atrial fibrillation AFSS: atrial fibrillation severity scale aHR: adjusted hazard ratio AMI: acute myocardial infarction aOR: adjusted odds ratio aPE: acute pulmonary embolism BMI: body mass index BNP: brain natriuretic peptide CAD: coronary artery disease CAS: carotid artery stenting CEA: carotid artery endarterectomy cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness CKD: chronic kidney disease

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

CP: carotid plaque

CRP: C-reactive protein

CS: cryptogenic stroke

CT: computed tomography

DALYs: disability adjusted life years

DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid

DOAC: direct oral anticoagulant

DVT: deep vein thrombosis

ECG: electrocardiogram

ECV: electrical cardioversion

EDD: enrolment disparity difference

eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate

ESUS: embolic stroke of undetermined source

FEV1: forced expiratory volume in one second

FGF-23: Fibroblast growth factor-23

FVC: forced vital capacity

GLI: Global Lung Initiative

GBD: Global Burden of Disease

HF: heart failure

HFpEF: heart failure with preserved ejection fraction

HFrEF: heart failure with reduced ejection fraction

HR: hazard ratio

hsCRP: highly sensitive C-reactive protein

ICD-9: International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision

ICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision

ICM: implantable cardiac monitor

IL: interleukin

INR: international normalized ratio

IQR: interquartile range

LA: left atrium

LAA: left atrial appendage

LAVI: left atrial volume index

LCL: lower confidence limit

LOS: length of stay

LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction

LVH: left ventricular hypertrophy

MCOT: mobile cardiac outpatient telemetry

MD: mean difference

MET: metabolic equivalent of task

MI: myocardial infarction

NIS: national inpatient sample

NR: not reported

NSTEMI: non-ST myocardial infarction

NT-proBNP: N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide

OAC: oral anticoagulation

OppSTS: opportunistic single-time-point screening

OR: odds ratio

OSA: obstructive sleep apnea

PAC: premature atrial contractions

PA-TDI: total atrial conduction time assessed by tissue doppler imaging

PFG: proportion of females with AF among the general population

PFT: proportion of females enrolled in the trial

RCT: randomized controlled trial

RNA: ribonucleic acid

RoB: risk of bias assessment

RR: risk ratio

SD: standard deviation

SDI: sociodemographic index

SE: systemic embolism

SEC: spontaneous echo-contrast

STEMI: ST-elevation myocardial infarction

TIA: transient ischemic attack

TnI: troponin I

TnT: troponin T

UCL: upper confidence limit

uHR: unadjusted hazard ratio

uOR: unadjusted odds ratio

UKB: UK Biobank

VKA: vitamin-K antagonist

VTE: venous thromboembolism

WL: weight loss

ABSTRACT

Atrial fibrillation (AF), the most common sustained arrhythmia, is associated with high morbidity and mortality. Major improvements have been made in the diagnosis and management of AF in the past two decades. However, important questions pertaining to the screening, prognosis, risk stratification, and management of AF remain unanswered. This thesis presents original studies addressing knowledge gaps in these aspects of AF.

In **Chapter 2**, using a large cohort of individuals from the UK Biobank, we investigated the association between lung function and incident AF. We observed that reduced ventilatory function was associated with increased risk of AF independently of age, sex, smoking, and several other known AF risk factors. This suggests that individuals with substantial reduction of their lung function might represent an appropriate population for targeted AF screening and ventilatory parameters might improve AF risk prediction.

Chapter 3 assesses data related to implantable cardiac monitors (ICM). The first section reports AF diagnostic yield in a real-world cohort of patients receiving prolonged cardiac monitoring with ICM for stroke and unexplained syncope. It indicates that patients with stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA) have a higher rate of AF detection compared with patients with unexplained syncope. However, this real-world study shows AF detection rates following stroke significantly lower than what has been previously reported. The second section of this chapter summarizes data on AF detection rates across different rhythm monitoring strategies (non-invasive and ICM) in patients with cryptogenic stroke (CS) or embolic stroke of undetermined source (ESUS). It shows that the yield of ICM increases with the duration of monitoring; more than a quarter of patients with CS or ESUS will be diagnosed with AF during follow-up. About one in seven patients have AF detected within a

month of mobile cardiac outpatient telemetry, suggesting that a non-invasive rhythm monitoring strategy should be considered before invasive monitoring.

Chapters 4 and 5 address risk stratification in patients with AF. **Chapter 4** has two sections. The first section is a meta-analysis that comprehensively summarizes data from prospective cohort studies on clinical predictors of stroke in anticoagulant-naïve patients with AF. It shows that although weighted similarly in most risk stratification schemes such as the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, the absolute risk of stroke attributable to hypertension, diabetes, vascular disease, and heart failure may not be the same in individual patients. Furthermore, it shows that female sex seems not to be universally associated with stroke or systemic embolism, suggesting that the decision to initiate oral anticoagulation should not be made on the sole basis of female sex as currently recommended by some scientific societies. By compiling evidence from various studies, the second section of this chapter demonstrates that some anatomic and functional cardiac imaging parameters are associated with stroke in patients with AF and therefore, might improve stroke risk stratification in these patients. Chapter 5 presents two systematic reviews and meta-analysis which show that AF and carotid artery disease frequently co-exist, with about one in ten patients with AF who has carotid stenosis, and vice versa; and non-stenotic carotid disease being much more frequent. Moreover, there is an association between carotid atherosclerosis and the risk of stroke in patients with AF, suggesting that the incorporation of carotid atherosclerosis and characteristics of carotid plaques into scoring systems might improve stroke prediction in patients with AF. Taking this further, the last section of this chapter investigates the potential added value of high-risk carotid plaques on stroke risk stratification compared to the classical CHA₂DS₂-VASc score in a prospective cohort of patients with AF. It shows a low prevalence (5.5%) of moderate to severe carotid stenosis (\geq 50%), whereas one in three participants have carotid plaques considered vulnerable or high-risk. Neither the degree of carotid stenosis nor the presence of vulnerable plaques is associated with incident ischemic stroke, suggesting that carotid disease is probably not an important cause of ischemic stroke in this group of patients with AF and therefore, vulnerable carotid plaques might not improve stroke risk stratification in patients with AF.

Chapter 6 presents two pooled analyses of data on the prognostic impact of AF on acute coronary syndromes (ACS) and acute pulmonary embolism (aPE). The first section of the chapter shows that AF is common in patients with ACS (one in nine) and that it (especially newly diagnosed AF) is associated with poor short-term and long-term outcomes including re-infarction, heart failure, stroke, acute kidney injury, heart failure, major bleeding, and death. Likewise, the second section of the chapter demonstrates that AF is frequent in patients with aPE (one in eight) and is associated with increased short-term and long-term mortality. Considering this strong prognostic impact of AF in patients with ACS and aPE, its incorporation into risk stratification schemes for these patients should be considered. Furthermore, considering the significant incidence of AF in patients with ACS and aPE, studies are needed to determine the appropriate rhythm monitoring strategies in these patients.

Chapters 7-9 focus on sex differences in the management of AF. **Chapter 7** analyses data from 142 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of AF published in top tiers cardiovascular journals and shows that despite recent progress, females remain substantially less represented in RCTs of AF. This raises concern about the generalizability of these trials and the validity of the evidence guiding the treatment of females. Furthermore, primary outcomes are infrequently reported by sex in these RCTs of AF. Considering established benefit of risk factor modification on outcomes in patients with AF, **Chapter 8** assesses sex differences in weight-loss, cardiorespiratory fitness gain, and progression and recurrence of AF in patients undergoing aggressive risk factor modification. It shows that despite sex

differences in some baseline characteristics, the benefits of weight-loss and fitness gain were favourable for both males and females. However, improvement in fitness had a much greater benefit for total arrhythmia freedom for females, whereas there was a trend towards more common regression from persistent to paroxysmal AF in males. These findings reinforce the need to address lifestyle risk factors to minimize arrhythmia recurrence and reduce symptom severity for all individuals. Finally, **Chapter 9** investigates the impact of sex on the clinical profile, utilization of rhythm control therapies, in-hospital mortality, length of stay (LOS), and cost of hospitalization in patients admitted for AF in the United States. It shows similarities and disparities in risk factors for mortality between males and females, and that unlike what has been reported in several previous studies, although women had a relatively higher mortality rate, after risk adjustment, female sex was not a predictor of mortality.

DECLARATION

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

I acknowledge that copyright of published works contained within this thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Jean Jacques Noubiap, MD, MMed

March 2023

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Prof Prashanthan Sanders for the privilege of doing my PhD under his supervision, for his invaluable support throughout this journey and for his help in my career development. I am grateful to my co-supervisors Dr Gijo Thomas and Dr Melissa E. Middeldorp for their guidance and support throughout the duration of my PhD candidature.

My gratitutde extends to all the research team at the Centre for Heart Rhythm Disorders, especially Dr John Fitzgerald, Dr Celine Gallagher, Associate Prof Dennis H. Lau, Dr Jonathan P. Ariyaratnam, and Dr Mehrdad Emami. I would like to specially thank Dr Gijo Thomas and Dr Samuel J. Tu for their statistical support. I would also like to acknowledge all the colleagues who contributed to the research projects included in this thesis.

I would like to thank The University of Adelaide for the award of a full scholarship which has been a tremendous support to my PhD studies.

Special thanks to Dr Thomas A. Agbaedeng for his friendship, fruitful scientific collaboration, and support during the difficult times of this journey.

I am grateful to my family for their love and tremendous support, especially my mother Mrs Marie Bernadette Evina Nzeale whose prayers and support have been very instrumental to my progress to this day. I am also grateful to my friends Dr Joseph Kamtchum Tatuene and Dr Joel Fokom Domgue for their advice and support. I am very much indebted to my wife Ulrich Flore who provided me with an immense psychological support during the extremely difficult moments of this journey. Much more, she has been a mother and a father to our son during this long period of separation.

LIST OF ARTICLES, CONFERENCE

PRESENTATIONS, AND AWARDS

PhD-related articles

Chapter 1. Literature review

Published

 <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Sanders P, Nattel S, Lau DH. Biomarkers in Atrial Fibrillation: Pathogenesis and Clinical Implications. *Card Electrophysiol Clin.* 2021 Mar;13(1):221-233.

Chapter 2. Incident atrial fibrillation in relation to ventilatory parameters: a prospective cohort study

Published

 <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Tu SJ, Emami M, Middeldorp ME, Elliott AD, Sanders P. Incident atrial fibrillation in relation to ventilatory parameters: a prospective cohort study. *Can J Cardiol*. 2023 Feb 9:S0828-282X(23)00082-X.

Chapter 3. Searching for atrial fibrillation after stroke

Published

• <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Thomas G, Middeldorp ME, Fitzgerald JL, Harper C, Sanders P. Atrial fibrillation detection using insertable cardiac monitor after stroke: A real-world cohort study. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2023 Jan;34(1):142-146.

<u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Agbaedeng TA, Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Fitzgerald JL, Middeldorp ME, Kleinig T, Sanders P. Rhythm monitoring strategies for atrial fibrillation detection in patients with cryptogenic stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc.* 2021 Apr 16;34:100780.

Chapter 4. Clinical and cardiac predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation Published

- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Feteh VF, Middeldorp ME, Fitzgerald JL, Thomas G, Kleinig T, Lau DH, Sanders P. A meta-analysis of clinical risk factors for stroke in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation. *Europace*. 2021 Oct 9;23(10):1528-1538.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Middeldorp ME, Thomas G, Sanders P. CHA2DS2-VASc score is no longer enough-Authors' reply. *Europace*. 2022 Jul 21;24(7):1195.

Under review

• <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Nyaga UF, Middeldorp ME, Thomas G, Sanders P. Cardiac imaging correlates and predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: A pooled analysis

Chapter 5. Carotid and aortic atherosclerotic disease and stroke risk stratification in patients with atrial fibrillation

Published

 <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Agbaedeng TA, Tochie JN, Nkeck JR, Ndoadoumgue AL, Fitzgerald JL, Kleinig T, Thomas G, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Meta-Analysis Comparing the Frequency of Carotid Artery Stenosis in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Vice Versa. *Am J Cardiol*. 2021 Jan 1;138:72-79.

- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Fitzgerald JL, Sanders P. Stroke risk associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review. *J Neurol Sci.* 2021 Jun 15;425:117444.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Thomas G, Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. High-risk carotid plaques and incident ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation in the Cardiovascular Health Study. Eur J Neurol. 2023 Apr 10. doi: 10.1111/ene.15817. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 37038345.

Chapter 6. Prognostic impact of atrial fibrillation on acute cardiovascular events

Published

- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Agbaedeng TA, Nyaga UF, Lau DH, Worthley MI, Nicholls SJ, Sanders P. Atrial fibrillation incidence, prevalence, predictors, and adverse outcomes in acute coronary syndromes: A pooled analysis of data from 8 million patients. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2022 Mar;33(3):414-422.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Nyaga UF, Middeldorp ME, Fitzgerald JL, Ariyaratnam JP, Thomas G, Sanders P. Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: A pooled analysis. *Respir Med*. 2022 Aug;199:106862.

Chapter 7. Sex disparities in enrolment and reporting of outcomes by sex in contemporary clinical trials of atrial fibrillation

Published

 <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Thomas G, Nyaga UF, Fitzgerald JL, Gallagher C, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Sex disparities in enrollment and reporting of outcomes by sex in contemporary clinical trials of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2022 May;33(5):845-854. **Chapter 8.** Sex differences in outcomes of an intensive risk factor modification program in patients with atrial fibrillation

Under review

• <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Pathak RK, Thomas G, Elliot A, Sanders P, Middeldorp ME. Sex differences in outcomes of an intensive risk factor modification program in patients with atrial fibrillation

Chapter 9. Sex differences in clinical profile, management, and outcomes of patients hospitalized for atrial fibrillation in the United States

Published

 <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Thomas G, Agbaedeng TA, Fitzgerald JL, Gallagher C, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Sex differences in clinical profile, management, and outcomes of patients hospitalized for atrial fibrillation in the United States. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes. 2022 Nov 17;8(8):852-860.

Other articles during candidature

Published

- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Millenaar D, Ojji D, Wafford QE, Ukena C, Böhm M, Sliwa K, Huffman MD, Mahfoud F. Fifty Years of Global Cardiovascular Research in Africa: A Scientometric Analysis, 1971 to 2021. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2023 Feb 7;12(3):e027670.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Middeldorp ME. Prevention of cardiac conduction disease: a long way to go. *Eur Heart J*. 2023 Jan 12:ehac752. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac752.
- 3. <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Nansseu JR, Lontchi-Yimagou E, Nkeck JR, Nyaga UF, Ngouo AT, Tounouga DN, Tianyi FL, Foka AJ, Ndoadoumgue AL, Bigna JJ. Global, regional,

and country estimates of metabolic syndrome burden in children and adolescents in 2020: a systematic review and modeling analysis. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health*. 2022. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(21)00374-6

- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Nkeck JR, Kwondom BS, Nyaga UF. Epidemiology of infective endocarditis in Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*. 2022 Jan;10(1):e77-e86.
- 5. <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. The association of atrial fibrillation with mortality in patients with breast cancer. *Eur Heart J*. 2022 Jan 28:ehac004. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac004.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Ndoula ST. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B: birth-dose vaccination is not enough. *Lancet Glob Health*. 2022; S2214-109X(22)00046-8.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Kamtchum-Tatuene J. Addition of direct oral anticoagulants to the World Health Organization model list of essential medicines for the treatment of atrial fibrillation: An African perspective. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2022 Jan 18. doi: 10.1111/bcp.15226. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 35043414.
- Noubiap JJ, Nansseu JR, Lontchi-Yimagou E, Nkeck JR, Nyaga UF, Ngouo AT, Tounouga DN, Tianyi FL, Foka AJ, Ndoadoumgue AL, Bigna JJ. Geographic distribution of metabolic syndrome and its components in the general adult population: A meta-analysis of global data from 28 million individuals. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2022 May 15;188:109924.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Nouthe B, Sia YT, Spaziano M. Effect of preoperative renin-angiotensin system blockade on vasoplegia after cardiac surgery: A systematic review with metaanalysis. *World J Cardiol*. 2022 Apr 26;14(4):250-259.
- 10. <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Agbaedeng TA, Ndoadoumgue AL, Nyaga UF, Kengne AP. Atrial thrombus detection on transoesophageal echocardiography in patients with atrial

fibrillation undergoing cardioversion or catheter ablation: A pooled analysis of rates and predictors. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. 2021 Aug;32(8):2179-2188.

- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Clustering of cardiometabolic risk factors in sub-Saharan Africans. *Pan Afr Med J.* 2021 Feb 3;38:112.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Fitzgerald JL, Gallagher C, Thomas G, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Rates, Predictors, and Impact of Smoking Cessation after Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis*. 2021 Jul 27;30(10):106012
- 13. <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. The implementation of salt reduction strategies should be sped up in Africa: a shout from Morocco. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2020 Dec 14;37:340.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Kamtchum-Tatuene J. Physicians' Electrocardiogram Interpretations. JAMA Intern Med. 2021 May 1; 181(5):721.
- 15. <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Nyaga UF, Ndoadoumgue AL, Nkeck JR, Ngouo A, Bigna JJ. Meta-Analysis of the Incidence, Prevalence, and Correlates of Atrial Fibrillation in Rheumatic Heart Disease. *Glob Heart*. 2020 May 18;15(1):38.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Hypertension in children in sub-Saharan Africa: primordial prevention is crucial. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2020 Dec 14;37:341.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Bigna JJ, Ndoadoumgue AL, Ekrikpo U, Nkeck J, Udosen A, Tankeu R, Kumar K, Bello A, Okpechi I. Socioeconomic Determinants, Regional Differences, and Quality of Nephrology Research in Africa. *Kidney Int Rep.* 2020 Jul 17;5(10):1805-1810.
- <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Atrial fibrillation and obstructive sleep apnea in African populations: uncovering a neglected association. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2021 May 20;39:55.
- 19. <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Agbaedeng TA, Nyaga UF, Nkoke C, Jingi AM. A meta-analytic evaluation of the diagnostic accuracy of the electrocardiographic Peguero-Lo Presti

criterion for left ventricular hypertrophy. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)*. 2020 Jul;22(7):1145-1153.

- 20. <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Tackling heart failure in sub-Saharan Africa: the imperious need for hypertension prevention and control. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2020 Aug 31;36:372.
- 21. <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Thomas G, Sanders P. Letter by Noubiap et al Regarding Article,
 "Association Between High-Sensitivity Cardiac Troponin and Risk of Stroke in 96
 702 Individuals: A Meta-Analysis". *Stroke*. 2020;51(5):e97.
- 22. Agbaedeng TA, Zacharia AL, Iroga PE, Rathnasekara VM, Munawar DA, Bursill C, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Associations between adipokines and atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*. 2022 Jan 23:S0939-4753(22)00036-9.
- 23. Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Tchuisseu-Kwangoua LA, Moko-Tatuene AN, Bigna JJ, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Write with the reviewers in mind: why you got a rejection and how to avoid the next. *Stroke*. 2022 Jul;53(7):e273-e275.
- 24. Agbaedeng TA, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Mofo Mato EP, Chew DP, Figtree GA, Said MA, van der Harst P. Polygenic risk score and coronary artery disease: A meta-analysis of 979,286 participant data. *Atherosclerosis*. 2021 Sep;333:48-55.
- 25. Kamtchum-Tatuene J, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Wilman AH, Saqqur M, Shuaib A, Jickling GC. Prevalence of High-Risk Plaques and Risk of Stroke in Patients With Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis: A Meta-analysis. *JAMA Neurol*. 2020 Aug 3;77(12):1–12.
- 26. Nkoke C, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Dzudie A, M Jingi A, Njume D, Teuwafeu D, Aseneh J, Nkouonlack C, Menanga A, Kingue S. Epidemiology of hypertensive crisis in the Buea Regional Hospital, Cameroon. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)*. 2020 Nov;22(11):2105-2110.

- 27. Fogha JVF, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. La lutte contre la COVID-19 au Cameroun nécessite un second souffle [The fight against COVID-19 in Cameroon needs a second breath]. *Pan Afr Med J.* 2020 Sep 18;37(Suppl 1):14.
- 28. Danwang C, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Robert A, Yombi JC. Outcomes of patients with HIV and COVID-19 co-infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *AIDS Res Ther*. 2022 Jan 14;19(1):3.
- Essouma M, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Singwe-Ngandeu M, Hachulla E. Epidemiology of Sjögren Syndrome in Africa: A Scoping Review. *J Clin Rheumatol*. 2022 Jan 1;28(1):e240e244.
- Essouma M, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Outcomes of Pregnancy in Women With Idiopathic Inflammatory Myopathies in Africa. *Reumatol Clin*. 2021 May 26:S1699-258X(21)00123-6.
- Nouthe B, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Effoe VS. Meta-Analysis: Valve-in-Valve TAVR Versus Redo SAVR. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2021 May 24;14(10):1157.
- Bigna JJ, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Global burden of hypertension in people living with HIV. *BMC Med*. 2021 May 14;19(1):112.
- 33. Essouma M, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Singwe-Ngandeu M, Hachulla E. Epidemiology of Idiopathic Inflammatory Myopathies in Africa: A Contemporary Systematic Review. *J Clin Rheumatol*. 2021 Apr 9. doi: 10.1097/RHU.000000000001736.
- 34. Danwang C, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Souopgui J, Gaudart J, Yombi JC, Robert A. Accuracy of malaria diagnostic tests performed on non-invasively collected samples: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Glob Health*. 2021 Jun;6(6):e005634.
- 35. Wonkam Tingang E, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, F Fokouo JV, et al. Hearing Impairment Overview in Africa: the Case of Cameroon. *Genes (Basel)*. 2020;11(2):233.

- 36. Okpechi IG, Caskey FJ, Gaipov A, Tannor EK, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Effa E, Ekrikpo UE, Hamonic LN, Ashuntantang G, Bello AK, Donner JA, Figueiredo AE, Inagi R, Madero M, Malik C, Moorthy M, Pecoits-Filho R, Tesar V, Levin A, Jha V. Early Identification of CKD-A Scoping Review of the Global Populations. *Kidney Int Rep.* 2022 Apr 6;7(6):1341-1353.
- 37. Mishima RS, Verdicchio CV, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Ariyaratnam JP, Gallagher C, Jones D, Malik V, Agbaedeng TA, Middeldorp ME, Lau DH, Sanders P, Elliott AD. Selfreported physical activity and atrial fibrillation risk: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Heart Rhythm.* 2020 Dec 19:S1547-5271(20)31165-6.
- Agbor VN, Ntusi NAB, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. An overview of heart failure in low- and middleincome countries. *Cardiovasc Diagn Ther*. 2020 Apr;10(2):244-251.
- 39. Essouma M, Nkeck JR, Agbor VN, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Epidemiology of Digital Clubbing and Hypertrophic Osteoarthropathy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *J Clin Rheumatol.* 2022 Mar 1;28(2):104-110.
- 40. Nansseu JR, Tounouga DN, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Bigna JJ. Changes in smoking patterns after HIV diagnosis or antiretroviral treatment initiation: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. *Infect Dis Poverty*. 2020;9(1):35.
- 41. Simo LP, Agbor VN, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Nana OP, Nkosu PS, Anouboweh AFA, Ndi JN, Mbock JN, Bakari NF, Tambou HGG, Mbanya D. Hypertension prevalence, associated factors, treatment and control in rural Cameroon: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* 2020 Sep 9;10(9):e040981.
- 42. Ntsama Essomba MJ, Nzana V, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Zingui-Ottou M, Ciaffi L, Sobngwi E, Ashuntantang G. The Follow-Up and Well-Being of Geriatric Outpatients During COVID-19 Pandemic in Cameroon: Insights From the Yaounde Central Hospital. *Gerontol Geriatr Med*. 2020 Sep 25;6:2333721420959242.

XXXIII

- 43. Jingi AM, Nkoke C, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Teuwafeu D, Mambap AT, Nkouonlack C, Gobina R, Njume D, Dzudie A, Ashuntantang G. Prevalence, correlates and in-hospital outcomes of kidney dysfunction in hospitalized patients with heart failure in Buea-Cameroon. *BMC Nephrol*. 2022 Jan 3;23(1):8.
- 44. Mfeukeu-Kuate L, Meyanui VA, Jingi AM, Ndobo-Koe V, Mballa F, Ntep-Gweth M, Etoga ME, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Sobngwi E, Menanga A. Prevalence and determinants of silent myocardial ischemia in patients with type 2 diabetes in Cameroon: a crosssectional study. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2022 May 16;42:41.
- 45. Endomba FT, Bigna JJ, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. The impact of social networking services on the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in sub-Saharan Africa. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2020 Jun 8;35(Suppl 2):67.
- 46. Donkeng M, Kuaté D, Koudjou PN, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Kuiate JR. Association between hyperuricemia and glycated hemoglobin in type 2 diabetes at the District Hospital of Dschang. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2021 Nov 22;40:177.
- 47. Kuate LM, Tchuisseu LAK, Jingi AM, Kouanfack C, Endomba FT, Ouankou CN, Ngarka L, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Kingue S, Menanga A, Zogo PO. Cardiovascular risk and stroke mortality in persons living with HIV: a longitudinal study in a hospital in Yaounde. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2021 Sep 2;40:8.
- 48. Freedman B, Hindricks G, Banerjee A, Baranchuk A, Ching CK, Du X, Fitzsimons D, Healey JS, Ikeda T, Lobban TCA, Mbakwem A, Narasimhan C, Neubeck L, Noseworthy P, Philbin DM Jr, Pinto FJ, Rwebembera J, Schnabel RB, Svendsen JH, Aguinaga L, Arbelo E, Böhm M, Farhan HA, Hobbs FDR, Martínez-Rubio A, Militello C, Naik N, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Perel P, Piñeiro DJ, Ribeiro AL, Stepinska J. World Heart Federation Roadmap on Atrial Fibrillation - A 2020 Update. *Glob Heart*. 2021 May 27;16(1):41.
- 49. Gallagher C, Fitzgerald JL, Stokes MB, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Elliott AD, Hendriks JM, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P, Lau DH. Risk Factor Management in Atrial Fibrillation: How to Deliver a Successful Clinic. *Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep.* 2021;15(7):9.
- 50. Nyaga UF, Boombhi J, Menanga A, Mokube M, Ndomo Mevoula CS, Kingue S, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Accuracy of the novel Peguero Lo-Presti criterion for electrocardiographic detection of left ventricular hypertrophy in a black African population. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)*. 2021 Jun;23(6):1186-1193.
- 51. Wonkam A, Lebeko K, Mowla S, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Chong M, Pare G. Whole exome sequencing reveals a biallelic frameshift mutation in GRXCR2 in hearing impairment in Cameroon. *Mol Genet Genomic Med*. 2021 Mar;9(3):e1609.
- 52. Bigna JJ, Kamtchum-Tatuene J, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Claims about the safety and efficacy of early treatment of COVID-19 with hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin must be supported by real evidence. *Travel Med Infect Dis*. 2020 Nov-Dec;38:101886.
- 53. Agbaedeng TA, Roberts KA, Colley L, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Oxborough D. Incidence and predictors of sudden cardiac death in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy: a pooled analysis. Europace. 2022 Mar 17:euac014. doi: 10.1093/europace/euac014.
- 54. Nkoke C, Jingi AM, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Teuwafeu D, Nkouonlack C, Gobina R, Djibrilla S, Abas A, Dzudie A. Gender Differences in Cardiovascular Risk Factors, Clinical Presentation, and Outcome of Patients Admitted with a Hypertensive Crisis at the Buea Regional Hospital, Cameroon. *Int J Hypertens*. 2022 Jun 28;2022:3062526.
- 55. Chobufo MD, Singla A, Rahman EU, Osman M, Khan MZ, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Aronow WS, Alpert M, Balla S. Previously undiagnosed angina pectoris in individuals without established cardiovascular disease: Prevalence and prognosis in the United States. *Am J Med Sci.* 2022 Jul 5:S0002-9629(22)00300-7.

- 56. Nkoke C, Jingi AM, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Dzudie A. Pulmonary hypertension among patients hospitalized with acute heart failure in Buea, South West Region of Cameroon. Pan Afr Med J. 2022 Jul 20;42:216.
- 57. Mfeukeu-Kuate L, Walinjom EE, Mbede M, Walinjom JN, Hamadou B, Jingi AM, Temgoua M, Nkeck JR, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Kingue S. Prevalence and correlates of vascular plaques and high intima thickness in a group of patients with high cardiovascular risk in Cameroon. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2022 Jan 28;41:80.
- 58. Essomba MJN, Atsa D, Noah DZ, Zingui-Ottou M, Paula G, Nkeck JR, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Ashuntantang G. Geriatric syndromes in an urban elderly population in Cameroon: a focus on disability, sarcopenia and cognitive impairment. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2020 Nov 11;37:229.
- 59. Okpechi IG, Ekrikpo U, Moloi MW, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Okpechi-Samuel US, Bello AK. Prevalence of peritonitis and mortality in patients with ESKD treated with chronic peritoneal dialysis in Africa: a systematic review. *BMJ Open*. 2020 Dec 24;10(12):e039970.
- 60. Kajawo S, Ekrikpo U, Moloi MW, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Osman MA, Okpechi-Samuel US, Kengne AP, Bello AK, Okpechi IG. A Systematic Review of Complications Associated With Percutaneous Native Kidney Biopsies in Adults in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. *Kidney Int Rep.* 2020 Nov 3;6(1):78-90.
- 61. Oluwole OG, Esoh KK, Wonkam-Tingang E, Manyisa N, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Chimusa ER, Wonkam A. Whole exome sequencing identifies rare coding variants in novel humanmouse ortholog genes in African individuals diagnosed with non-syndromic hearing impairment. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 2021 Jan;246(2):197-206.

- 62. Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Kenteu B, Fogang YF, Zafack JG, Nyaga UF, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Neuroimaging findings in headache with normal neurologic examination: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Neurol Sci.* 2020 Sep 15;416:116997.
- 63. Danwang C, Endomba FT, Nkeck JR, Wouna DLA, Robert A, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. A metaanalysis of potential biomarkers associated with severity of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Biomark Res.* 2020 Aug 31;8:37.
- 64. Ariyaratnam JP, Middeldorp M, Thomas G, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>, Lau D, Sanders P. Risk Factor Management Before and After Atrial Fibrillation Ablation. *Card Electrophysiol Clin*. 2020 Jun;12(2):141-154.
- 65. Bigna JJ, Ndoadoumgue AL, Nansseu JR, Tochie JN, Nyaga UF, Nkeck JR, Foka AJ, Kaze AD, <u>Noubiap JJ</u>. Global burden of hypertension among people living with HIV in the era of increased life expectancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Hypertens*. 2020;10.doi:10.1097/HJH.00000000002446

Scholarships and awards during candidature

- 1. Adelaide Scholarship International. The University of Adelaide, Australia.
- Travel grant. To attend the Heart Rhythm Society scientific meeting (Heart Rhythm 2020). San Diego, USA.
- Biomedicine Publication Award, Adelaide Medical School, The University of Adelaide, Australia.

CHAPTER 1:

Literature review

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Biomarkers in Atrial Fibrillation: Pathogenesis and Clinical Implications		
Publication Status	 Published Accepted for publication Submitted for publication Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style 		
Publication Details	tion Details Noubiap JJ, Sanders P, Nattel S, Lau DH. Biomarkers in Atrial Fibrillation: Pathogenesis and Clinical Implications. <u>Card</u> <u>Electrophysiol Clin</u> . 2021 Mar;13(1):221-233.		

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale			
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, literature search, data collection, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision			
Overall percentage (%)	60%			
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.			
Signature		Date	3/12/2022	

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Stanley Nattel		
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manuscript revision (10%)		
Signature	4	Date	3/21/2022

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders		
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manufecript revision (10%)		
Signature	Date 3/21/2022		

Name of Co-Author	Dennis H. Lau		
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manuscript revision (20%)		
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

,

1.1The burden of atrial fibrillation

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common sustained arrhythmia. It has become a major global health problem owing to its increasing prevalence and incidence, and to its associated morbidity and mortality. Atrial fibrillation currently affects approximately 0.5% of the global population ¹. The surge in the incidence and prevalence of AF has been driven by the aging of the population, increasing prevalence of established risk factors for AF, emergence of newer risk factors and improved survival of patients with cardiovascular disease ².

1.1.1 Incidence and prevalence of atrial fibrillation

1.1.1.1 Global trends

The incidence and prevalence of AF have markedly risen in the last decades. The Framingham Heart Study was one of the first large cohorts that showed a substantial increase in the prevalence of AF 3 . In the Framingham Heart Study, between 1958 and 2007, the age-adjusted prevalence of AF increased from 20.4 to 96.2 cases per 1000 person-years in men, and from 13.7 to 49.4 cases per 1000 person-years in women. Additionally, the age-adjusted incidence of AF raised from 3.7 to 13.4 cases per 1000 person-years in men and 2.5 to 8.6 cases per 1000 person-years in women. This represents more than 3-fold increase in the incidence of AF over a 50-year period ³.

The Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study also provides trend estimates in the prevalence and incidence of AF. According to the GBD, the global incidence of AF has increased from 1.83 million new cases (309 new cases per million inhabitants) in 1997 to 3.05 million new cases (403 new cases per million inhabitants) in 2017, representing a 31% increase ¹. The global prevalence of AF has increased by 33% during the same period, from 22.17 million cases (3751 cases per million inhabitants) in 1997 to 37.57 million cases (4977 cases per million inhabitants) in 2017 ¹. If the AF epidemic continue to follow the current

trends, predictions suggest that the absolute incidence and prevalence would also increase by 63% (4.95 million new cases) and 66% (62.51 million cases) respectively in the next 30 years ¹.

1.1.1.2 Regional variations

Although there is wide variation in the incidence and prevalence of AF across the globe, increasing trends are observed in all regions and countries. In the United States, 1% to 2% of the population have AF ⁴. This corresponds to between 3 to 6 million people with AF, and these numbers are expected to reach between 6 to 16 million by 2050 ^{4, 5}. In China, about 2% (3.9 million) of people aged \geq 60 years have AF ⁶; by 2050 the country is expected to have 460 million individuals aged \geq 60 years, of whom about 9 million will have AF ⁷. Overall in Asia, it is estimated that more than 72 million people will have AF by 2050, and this will be associated with up to 3 million AF-related strokes ⁸. In the Europe Union, there were 8.8 million adults over 55 years with AF in 2010. This number is projected to double by 2060 to 17.9 million ⁹.

Estimates from low- and middle-income countries are less accurate. In Africa for instance, data on AF are scarce ¹⁰. However, available data suggest that AF is not spared by the AF epidemic. According to some projections there will be more people with AF in Africa than in either China, the United States, or India by 2050 ¹¹. Much more, AF has become one of the risk factors with the sharpest rise in attributed cardiovascular mortality in Africa ¹².

1.1.1.3 AF burden in Australia

Australia is one of the countries with the highest reported prevalence of AF ¹³. In 2020, approximately 500,000 people had AF, representing approximately 2% of the general population ¹⁴. This prevalence increases with age, with an estimated 5% of Australian adults aged \geq 55 years who have AF ¹⁴. In Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities the prevalence of AF has been estimated at 2.5% ^{14, 15}.

In terms of hospitalizations with AF as the principal diagnosis, their burden has continuously risen over the past two decades ^{14, 16-19}. Between 2000–01 and 2017–18, the age-standardized rate of AF hospitalization increased by 42%, from 175 to 248 hospitalisations per 100,000 population ¹⁴. This has been associated with an increase in AF-related procedures such as cardioversion and ablation, and in the overall cost of hospitalization numbers and cost ¹⁶. In fact, there has been a relative increase in AF hospitalisations, from 0.5% of all hospitalisations and 8% of hospitalisations for cardiovascular disease (CVD) in 2000–01, to 0.7% of all hospitalisations and 12% of CVD hospitalisations in 2017–18 ¹⁴. This increasing burden of AF hospitalizations is mainly driven by population aging and re-admissions ^{18, 19}.

1.1.1.4 Accuracy of the AF incidence and prevalence estimates

These estimates of AF incidence and prevalence are most likely underestimated for at least two main reasons. First, up to one-third of people with AF are asymptomatic. These asymptomatic AF cases are more likely to remain undiagnosed. Second, paroxysmal AF (that self-terminates within 7 days) represents between 25% and 62% of cases of AF ^{20, 21}. Paroxysmal AF is largely underdiagnosed with single-time-point 12-lead electrocardiogram (ECG) ²¹. The detection of paroxysmal AF can be improved using frequent screening or prolonged ambulatory monitoring. This is well demonstrated by the ASSERT study that enrolled 2580 patients, 65 years of age or older, with hypertension and no history of AF, in whom a pacemaker or defibrillator had recently been implanted ²². The study found that by 3 months, subclinical atrial tachyarrhythmias (episodes of atrial rate >190 beats per minute for more than 6 minutes) detected by implanted devices had occurred in 10.1% of patients. Furthermore, subclinical atrial tachyarrhythmias were associated with an increased risk of clinical AF (hazard ratio [HR], 5.56; 95% confidence interval [CI], 3.78 to 8.17; *p* <0.001)²².

1.1.2 Mortality and disability attributable to atrial fibrillation

Atrial fibrillation is associated with high morbidity and mortality. According to data from the GBD study, AF accounted for 5976 million disability adjusted life years (DALYs) in 2017, increasing from 3371 million DALYs in 1997 (+77%). Countries with high sociodemographic index (SDI; calculated from on income per capita, education attainment and fertility) had the highest burden in terms of DALYs, followed by middle, high-middle, low-middle, and low SDI countries ¹. In 2017, there were 0.287 million deaths attributable to AF (0.51% of the global cumulative mortality), a proportion that increased from 0.140 million deaths in 2017 (+105%). The male/female ratio for mortality was 0.79 in 2017 ¹.

1.2 Risk factors for atrial fibrillation

Several modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors for AF have been identified. Most of them are consistently associated with an increased risk of AF across all ethnic groups. With a cohort followed up for 38 years, the Framingham Heart Study was pioneer in providing strong data on risk factors for AF ²³. The study identified aging, male sex, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, congestive heart failure, coronary artery disease, and valvular heart disease as independent risk factors ²³. Subsequent studies have uncovered additional risk factors such as white race, excessive alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking, obesity, obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA), chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), hyperthyroidism, left ventricular hypertrophy, rheumatic and degenerative valvular diseases ².

1.2.1 Ageing

Advancing age is the strongest and most consistent single independent risk factor for AF. This is partly explained by the accumulation of other risk factors for AF with advancing age. But independent of these other risk factors, cellular ageing promotes the anatomical substrate required for the development of AF. In the Framingham Heart Study, the risk of AF increased by 2.1-fold (95% CI: 1.8–2.5) in men and 2.2-fold (95% CI: 1.9–2.6) in women per decade of age 23 . Furthermore, there is a sharp slope in the incidence of AF after age 65 years. More than 70% of patients with AF in Europe, North America and Australia are >65 years old $^{2, 11}$.

Importantly, ageing is not just a risk factor for the occurrence of AF but is also a main driver of adverse health outcomes in this population. For instance, advancing age is one of the strongest predictors of stroke in patients with AF as demonstrated by the weight attributed to age in stroke risk stratification schemes ²⁴.

1.2.2 Male sex

Male sex is an independent risk factor for AF. In the Framingham Heart Study, males had had a 1.5 times (95% CI: 1.3-1.8) greater risk of developing atrial fibrillation than women 23 . The prevalence of AF is estimated at 3.3% (95% CI: 2.7–4.0%) in males and 2.4% in females (95% CI: 1.9–2.9%) 25 . A higher prevalence of AF in males is also observed in the Global Burden of Disease study, with a male/female ratio of 1.11 ¹. If the predominance of AF in males seems to be a global phenomenon, China is an exception, with the prevalence of AF reportedly similar in males and females ^{1, 2}.

1.2.3 Race and ethnicity

Despite a higher prevalence of risk factors for AF, individuals of African ancestry have a lower incidence of AF compared with Caucasians. Asians and Hispanics also seem to have lower incidence of AF than Caucasians^{2, 25-28}. For instance, in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA), among participants aged 65 years or older, the AF incidence was

46% to 65% lower in Hispanics, Asians, and blacks compared with non-Hispanic whites ²⁷. In the 1999 Large Health Survey of Veteran Enrollees that included over 600,000 male patients, the age-adjusted prevalence of AF in whites was almost 2-fold higher than in other ethnicities ²⁸.

These racial differences could be explained by genetic and anatomic parameters, and socioeconomic and environmental determinants of health. Blacks have lower access to healthcare and more commonly paroxysmal AF ²⁹ resulting in AF underdiagnosis and apparent lower AF incidence and prevalence. Blacks also have smaller average left atrial dimensions compared to whites ³⁰, implying a lower risk of AF as left atrial dilatation is a predictor of incident AF ³¹. A genetic study involving three population-based cohorts in the US revealed that the single SNP rs10824026 (chromosome 10: position 73661450) substantially mediated the higher risk for AF in white individuals compared with black individuals ³². Furthermore, because African Americans have varying degrees of European ancestry, the Candidate-Gene Association Resource (CARe) Study tested the hypothesis that European ancestry is an independent risk factor for using ancestry informative markers. The study confirmed that European ancestry predicts the risk of incident AF in African Americans ³³.

1.2.4 Hypertension

Hypertension is one of the most common chronic diseases. It affects about 1.28 billion adults aged 30-79 years globally ³⁴. In the US for instance, one-third of adults have hypertension, with a prevalence of 26% in adults <45 years and 80% in those >65 years ³⁵. Hypertension is the most common and strongest modifiable risk factor for AF worldwide ^{2, 5}. In the Framingham Heart Study, people on treatment for hypertension had a 1.8-fold (95% CI: 1.48-

2.18) increased risk of AF ³⁶. In the Atherosclerosis Risk in the Community (ARIC) study, whereas common cardiovascular risk factors such as cigarette smoking, diabetes mellitus, elevated blood pressure, overweight/obesity, and prior cardiac disease contributed to 57% of incident AF, elevated or borderline blood pressure alone explained 20-25% of AF cases ³⁷. Indeed, in large registries of AF, hypertension is found in 60-80% of patients with AF ³⁸⁻⁴¹.

Despite the close link between hypertension and AF, the underlying pathophysiology of AF in patients with hypertension is not fully elucidated. Two major mechanisms have been proposed to explain the development of AF in hypertension: hemodynamic and structural changes in atria due to hypertension, and activation of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) ⁴². On one hand, in the setting of long-standing hypertension, the excessive afterload imposing onto the left ventricle leads to progressive left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), left ventricular diastolic and systolic dysfunction, and ultimately a rise in left atrial pressure, left atrial enlargement with reduced contractility and compliance ⁴³. This left atrial and left ventricular remodelling is accompanied by profibrotic changes ⁴²⁻⁴⁴. Chronic atrial stretch may lead to atrial structural and electrophysiological changes that constitutes a substrate for AF development ^{43, 44}.

On the other hand, activation of the RAAS is the main driver of remodelling in hypertension through upregulated TGF-B1 expression, increased aldosterone production, activation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase, and apoptosis ⁴⁴. Angiotensin II induces atrial fibrosis and hypertrophy, changes in expression of ion channels, gap junction and calcium handling, as well as increased oxidative stress and inflammation ⁴⁵. Angiotensin II also has direct cellular electrophysiological effects on cardiomyocytes that promote the development of AF ^{42, 46}.

1.2.5 Obesity

There is a global epidemic of obesity. The World Health Organization estimated that in 2016, more than 1.9 billion adults (aged 18 years or older) were overweight and 650 million were obese, representing 39% and 13% of the global adult population, respectively ⁴⁷. Similar estimates were reported by the Global Burden of Disease study which, additionally, showed that between 1980 and 2015, the age-standardized prevalence of obesity increased by a factor of 2 or more in 13 of the 20 most populous countries in the world ⁴⁸.

Body mass index (BMI) is linearly associated with AF risk, with a 4.7% (95% CI: 3.4-6.1%) increased risk per kg m²². In the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study, obesity or overweight was the second strongest modifiable risk factor for AF after hypertension, accounting for nearly 18% of the population-attributable risk of AF ³⁷. In a large meta-analysis (626,603 individuals from 51 studies), incremental increases in BMI were associated with a significant excess risk of AF. There were 29% greater excess risks of incident AF and 10% greater excess risks of post-operative and post-ablation AF for every 5-unit increase in BMI.⁴⁹ With the burgeoning obesity epidemic, obesity is becoming a major driver of the increase in the prevalence of AF worldwide ¹¹.

Long-standing obesity may indirectly favour the development of AF through other cardiometabolic disorders such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, obstructive sleep apnoea, and coronary artery disease which are known risk factors for AF and with which obesity frequently co-exists ^{2, 50}. Additionally, a direct causal role of obesity for AF has been demonstrated in a Mendelian randomization study, which showed a link between a genetic risk score comprised of 39 polymorphisms associated with BMI and incident AF ⁵¹.

From a mechanistic point of view, there are robust evidence supporting the association between obesity and atrial structural and electrophysiological changes that

constitute a substrate for AF development ^{5, 52}. Such changes include left ventricular hypertrophy, diastolic dysfunction, increased left atrial volume, fibrosis and fat content, reduced left atrial conduction velocity, and increased AF vulnerability and AF duration ⁵²⁻⁵⁶. Moreover, obesity is associated with low-grade inflammation and larger epicardial fat, which impair atrial electrophysiology ⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸.

1.2.6 Diabetes mellitus

Diabetes mellitus is a major global health problem owing to its increasing prevalence and to its complications. According to International Diabetes Foundation, there were 425 million adults (aged 20-79 years) affected by diabetes globally in 2017, a number that has increased by 26.4% to reach 537 million adults in 2021 ⁵⁹. Additionally, in 2021, 541 million adults had impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), which places them at high risk of type 2 diabetes ⁵⁹. Diabetes was responsible for 6.7 million deaths in 2021 ⁵⁹.

Diabetes is a very common risk factor in patients with AF, with around 20% presenting with diabetes ^{2, 11}. In the Framingham Heart Study, diabetes was associated with a 40% and 60% increased risk of AF in males and females, respectively ²³. A meta-analysis of cohort studies revealed that prediabetes and diabetes increase the risk of AF by 20% and 28%, respectively ⁶⁰. Furthermore, there is a dose-response relationship between increasing blood glucose and AF, with an 11% increased risk of AF per 20 mg/dl increase of blood glucose ⁶⁰.

Diabetes contributes to AF substrate development through several mechanisms. Glucose intolerance and insulin resistance that are components of diabetes mellitus modulate electro-anatomical changes in the atria ⁶¹. In metabolic stressed heart, oxidative stress and inflammation have been shown to play a central role in mitochondrial dysfunction and consequent DNA damage, generating a substrate for AF initiation ⁶²⁻⁶⁴. Other mechanisms that contribute to AF development in animals with induced diabetes mellitus include decreased atrial connexin 43 phosphorylation ⁶⁴, activated TGF-β1 and RhoA–Rho-associated protein kinase ⁶⁵, increased expression of the advanced glycation end products and their receptors ⁶⁶, atrial fibrosis ⁶⁷, increased AF vulnerability and atrial conduction slowing ⁶⁸.

1.2.7 Heart failure

Heart failure (HF) and AF frequently co-exist and impact reciprocally on each other ⁶⁹. In the Global Anticoagulant Registry in the FIELD-Atrial Fibrillation (GARFIELD-AF), 22.6% of patients with AF had HF ³⁹. In another international registry, rates of HF were 33% in paroxysmal, 44% in persistent and 56% in permanent AF ²⁰. Patients with HF have an increased risk of AF (HR 3.2, 95% CI: 2.0–5.2) ⁷⁰. Both HF with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction and HF with preserved ejection fraction are associated with an increased risk of AF. The incidence of AF increased with the severity of HF ^{2, 25, 37, 70}. The co-existence of AF and HF is partly explained by shared risk factors. Hypertension, diabetes, obesity, obstructive sleep apnoea, and coronary artery disease are all associated with an increased risk of developing both HF and AF ⁷¹.

Atrial fibrillation can contribute to the development of HF by several established mechanisms. Loss of atrial systole in AF impairs LV filling and can decrease cardiac output by up to 25%, especially in patients with diastolic dysfunction ⁷¹. This is worsened by increased heart rate which causes shortening of diastolic filling time ⁷¹. Furthermore, irregular and/or rapid ventricular conduction in AF can result in a tachycardia-induced cardiomyopathy ⁷¹.

Reciprocally, HF can also promote AF via several mechanisms. Heart failure increases atrial filling pressure and atrial dilatation, leading to atrial scarring and fibrosis, and ultimately to structural and electrical remodelling that promotes AF ^{69, 71}. Additionally, stretching of the atria in HF induces acute electrophysiological arrhythmogenic changes that could trigger AF in a vulnerable substrate ⁶⁹. Left atrial dilatation is associated with significant shortening of the atrial refractory period which can induce AF ⁶⁹.

1.2.8 Coronary artery disease

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is the foremost single cause of mortality and disability globally. According to the Global Burden of Disease study, the total number of DALYs due to CAD has risen steadily since 1990, reaching 182 million DALYs and 9.14 million deaths in the year 2019. It is estimated that 197 million people had CAD in 2019⁷².

Patients with CAD are prone to develop AF, especially new-onset AF (NOAF), following acute myocardial infarction (AMI). In some series, the rate of NOAF following AMI has been reported at up to 50% ⁷³. The full spectrum of CAD is consistently associated with increased risk of AF in all populations $^{2, 25, 36}$. Acute myocardial infarction has a risk ratio of 3.62 (95% CI: 2.59–5.07), angina pectoris has a risk ratio of 2.84 (95% CI: 1.91–4.21), and ST-T wave abnormalities have a risk ratio of 2.21 (95% CI: 1.62–3.00) ².

There seems to be a relationship between the lesions and severity of CAD and the occurrence of AF ⁷³. A significant correlation was shown between ischemia or infarction in the territory of the right coronary artery and NOAF ⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶. This might be explained by the fact that the atrial arteries that supply blood to the atria usually originate from the right coronary artery. However, other studies have reported that NOAF is more likely to develop in patients with left main CAD ⁷⁷. It was shown that severe disease in the right coronary artery and the

left circumflex predicts early onset AF, whereas disease in the left main and left anterior descending coronary arteries is associated with late onset AF ⁷⁸.

Reciprocally, studies have demonstrated that patients with AF are more likely to have CAD than those without AF. In one study, coronary atherosclerosis and obstructive CAD (\geq 50% luminal narrowing) were more frequently detected in patients with AF, and the lesions were more common in the left main or proximal left anterior descending artery ⁷⁹.

The association between CAD and AF can be explained on one hand by shared risk factors and on the other hand by direct interactions between the two conditions. Coronary artery disease has many identified risk factors, including hypertension, obesity, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, obstructive sleep apnoea, smoking, age, and decreased physical activity ⁸⁰. All these conditions are highly prevalent in patients with CAD, AF, or both ⁷³. Coronary artery disease contributes to AF through three main mechanisms including re-entry formation, focal ectopic activity, and neural remodelling ^{73, 81}. Re-entry formation is due to connexins fibrosis, shortening of the atrial effective refractory period, and atrial dilatation from HF and diastolic dysfunction ⁷³. Focal ectopic activity is generated by CAD through enhanced automaticity, prolonged action potential duration, and delayed after-polarizations ⁸¹. Coronary artery disease also causes sympathovagal imbalance from hyperparasympathetic and hyposympathetic activies which lead to neural remodelling ⁸². All these mechanisms lead to a structural and electrical substrate that generates AF ⁷³.

1.2.9 Obstructive sleep apnoea

There is a strong association between obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) and AF ^{2, 83}. Obstructive sleep apnea is also an important risk factor for the occurrence and progression of

AF ⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶. Patients with OSA and without other cardiovascular co-morbidities have an increased risk of AF (HR 1.5, 95% CI: 1.17-2.01)².

Obstructive sleep apnea contributes to atrial arrhythmogenesis through several mechanisms in the short- and long-terms. Acutely, negative intrathoracic pressure swings during obstructed inspiration lead to a dilatation of the atria that shortens the atrial effective refractory period, slows conduction, and favors intermittent conduction delay ⁸⁴. Furthermore, the sympathovagal activation caused by obstructed breathing efforts induces acute electrophysiological arrhythmogenic changes that could trigger AF in a vulnerable substrate ⁸⁴.

In the long-term, OSA is associated with substantial atrial structural and electrical changes. Intermittent episodes of deoxygenation and reoxygenation induce oxidative stress that, along with chronic neurohormonal activation contribute to atrial fibrosis ⁸⁴. Frequent stretching of the atria from recurrent obstructive respiratory episodes also causes myocardial injury and remodeling, as well as local conduction slowing and re-entry ⁸⁴. All these OSA-induced changes are worsened by associated conditions such as hypertension, obesity, and diabetes mellitus, and ultimately constitute a complex and dynamic arrhythmogenic substrate for AF ⁸⁴.

Obstructive sleep apnea also substantially impacts on AF outcomes. Although the evidence is limited, OSA has been reported as an independent predictor of stroke in patients with AF ⁸⁷. Obstructive sleep apnea significantly alters the effectiveness of rhythm control strategies including antiarrhythmic drug therapy and catheter ablation ⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰. Furthermore, several non-randomized observational studies and meta-analyses showed that treatment of OSA by continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) may improve success rates after catheter ablation in patients with AF ^{88, 91}.

1.2.10 Alcohol consumption

Alcohol consumption is prevalent in many parts of the globe, especially in western countries. In 2016, a total of 2.4 billion people were current drinkers, representing 32.5% of the global population ⁹². In the same year, alcohol consumption was the 7th leading risk factor for premature mortality and health loss. It led to 2.8 million deaths, which corresponds to 2.2% of age-standardized female deaths and 6.8% of age-standardized male deaths ⁹². In terms of overall disease burden, alcohol consumption accounted for 1.6% of total DALYs globally among females and 6.0% among males in 2016 ⁹².

Alcohol consumption is associated with an increased risk of AF ⁹³. Back in 1978, AF was coined as Holiday Heart syndrome, due to its recognized association with binge alcohol drinking ⁹⁴. In fact, a physician, Ettinger, noted that his patients presented with AF and other cardiac arrhythmias following weekend or holiday binge drinking episodes ⁹⁴. This association between binge alcohol consumption and AF has later been observed in several studies ⁹⁵. Besides alcoholic binges, data on the relationship between chronic alcohol consumption and AF has recently emerged.

An analysis of data from the UK Biobank showed a J-shaped association between total alcohol consumption and AF ⁹⁶. It also showed that low consumption of red and white wine and very low consumption of spirits may not be associated with increased AF risk, whereas any consumption of beer/cider may be associated with harm ⁹⁶. The association of alcohol intake and AF seems less clear in females ². Furthermore, abstinence from alcohol has been shown to reduce arrhythmia recurrences in regular drinkers with AF ⁹⁷.

1.2.11 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) defined by irreversible airflow obstruction is very common in patients with AF, with a prevalence estimated at nearly 25% ⁹⁸. COPD has been shown to be an independent predictor of AF, to promote AF progression from paroxysmal to sustained forms, to increase AF recurrence after electrical cardioversion, and to reduce the efficacy of catheter ablation ⁹⁸. Furthermore, previous studies have shown an association between lung function measured by forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1) and forced vital capacity (FVC) and incident AF ^{23, 99-102}. However, these studies were mostly based on old cohorts of patients initially recruited in the 1970s and 1980s, with old spirometry standards ¹⁰³, implying that their findings might not be as accurate as those from contemporaneous studies. Hence, there is a need for new studies on the association between respiratory function and AF.

1.3 Risk prediction models for incident atrial fibrillation

It is estimated that 30% of patients living with AF are undiagnosed, these patients usually have asymptomatic AF ². Unfortunately, in up to 10% of these patients AF will be first manifest as a stroke ^{104, 105}. Ischemic stroke due to AF is associated with higher mortality and disability compared to stroke of other etiology ^{106, 107}. AF-related strokes can largely be prevented by oral anticoagulation ¹⁰⁴. Early identification and management of AF before complications occurs is therefore crucial.

It is still unclear what is the most appropriate strategy to identify patients with AF in the general population. Few strategies have been proposed for the identification of patients with AF, including opportunistic single-time-point screening (OppSTS), or systematic screening ¹⁰⁵. A major argument against population-level systematic screening is the low overall prevalence of AF in the general population. Indeed, a recent systematic review of OppSTS reported a prevalence of undetected AF of 1.4% in adults aged ≥ 65 years old in the general population ¹⁰⁸. Accurate identification of individuals at higher risk of AF could help reducing the number of needed to screen through targeted screening. Several risk prediction models have been proposed to identify people at high risk of developing AF in the general population (**Table 1**).

1.3.1 The Framingham Heart Study risk score for AF (FHS-AF)

The Framingham Heart Study risk score for AF (FHS-AF) was designed on a Cox regression model to assess the 10-year risk of AF based on a model including clinical and electrocardiographic parameters. It identified 10% of study participants with incident AF after a 10-year follow-up ³⁶. The model was later recalibrated and subsequently externally validated for 5-year risk of incident AF ¹⁰⁹. Secondary analyses showed that the incorporation of echocardiographic parameters slightly improved the performance of the initial model ¹¹⁰. The FHS-AF score is reasonably accurate for stratification of individuals into risk categories. It shows similar accuracy across both sexes, young adults and elderly. The score was developed in a white population. A secondary analysis demonstrated that the FHS-AF score could be reliably used in whites and African Americans ¹¹¹.

1.3.2 The Atherosclerosis Risk in the Community (ARIC)

The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) is a prospective biracial (whites and blacks) community-based cohort study. The study was used to develop a point-based risk score that incorporates commonly identified risk factors to estimate a 10-year risk of incident AF ¹¹². It showed a moderately good discrimination under the Cox regression model. Interestingly, the study found a higher incidence of AF in whites compared with blacks.

Nevertheless, a comparison between the ARIC risk score and the FHS-AF score showed that the ARIC risk score predicted AF by race in a similar manner, whereas the FHS-AF score performed better in whites than blacks ¹¹².

1.3.3 The CHARGE-AF score

The Cohorts for Heart and Aging Research in Genomic Epidemiology (CHARGE)-AF score was developed from a diverse population combined from 3 large cohorts in the United States, including the Cardiovascular Health Study, the FHS, and the ARIC study ¹¹³. The score estimates a 5-year risk of AF based on a Cox regression model including various parameters readily available in clinical practice, with good discrimination ¹¹³. The addition of electrocardiographic parameters was shown to improve the predictive ability. The score was externally validated, including in the Age, Gene and Environment-Reykjavik study and the Rotterdam Study, where it showed acceptable discrimination and adequate calibration ¹¹³.

1.3.4 The Malmö diet and cancer study (MDCS)

The Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDCS) is a prospective cohort study. The AF risk model from this study includes age, sex, hypertension, history of diabetes mellitus and related cardiovascular disease, laboratory biomarkers and individual habits ¹¹⁴. The model had acceptable accuracy in predicting 5-year risk of AF. The addition of natriuretic peptides in the initial model improved its accuracy ¹¹⁰.

1.3.5 The HATCH score

Previous studies that were done to develop risk scores for AF, such as the FHS-AF and ARIC scores, have included mostly whites and black individuals, excluding several other

populations such as Asians ^{111, 112}. Hence, recent studies evaluated incident AF prediction in participants from Asian countries such as China, Korea, and Taiwan. The evaluation of the CHADS₂ score in a cohort of 702,502 Chinese individuals from Taiwan, aged more than 18 years, with no prior history of cardiac arrhythmias or valvular heart disease, showed that the CHADS₂ was good in predicting AF, with an incidence of 1.5 per 1,000 patients ¹¹⁵.

The HATCH score was developed as a score to predict the progression from paroxysmal to persistent AF in the Euro Heart Survey ¹¹⁶. It was later evaluated as a predicting tool for incident AF in Asian individuals. Over 9 years of follow up, 1.4% of the 670,804 participants developed AF ¹¹⁷. The HATCH score had a acceptable performance in risk estimation and stratification of Asian individuals ¹¹⁷. Moreover, it proved to be useful for risk prediction in patients with different comorbidities, better than risk models like FHS-AF and ARIC risk scores ¹¹⁰.

1.3.6 The Suita study

The Suita study in Japan included 6,898 participants aged 30-79 years, without history of cardiac arrhythmia. A score was developed to evaluate a 10-year risk of incident AF. However, the score is somewhat complex, and it still needs an external validation in populations other than Japanese ¹¹⁸.

1.3.7 The C2HEST

The C₂HEST score was developed as a simple clinical tool, using parameters available in routine clinical practice, to estimate the risk of incident AF. In a study using data from 471,446 individuals from the Chinese Yunnan Insurance Database and 451,199 individuals from the Korean National Health Insurance Service, the C₂HEST score was found to be

superior to the CHADS₂ and CHA₂DS₂-VASc in predicting incident AF ¹¹⁹. The utility of the C₂HEST score as a possible opportunistic screening tool for incident AF was also demonstrated in a healthy population from the National Danish Cohort study.¹²⁰

1.4 Screening for atrial fibrillation

In many people AF remains asymptomatic until a thromboembolic event, mostly stroke, occurs ¹⁰⁵. Stroke is preventable through oral anticoagulation (OAC), it is crucial to identify AF as soon as possible to initiate primary prevention for stroke when indicated. Unrecognized AF can be detected incidentally, by opportunistic single-time-point screening (OppSTS), or by systematic screening of targeted populations ¹⁰⁵. Several new technologies have become available for the detection of AF in the general population or in targeted populations.

1.4.1 Devices for atrial fibrillation screening or monitoring

1.4.1.1 New technologies for screening

A range of new technologies have been developed to help improving the accuracy and rates of AF detection. One of the advantages of these technologies is their flexibility, allowing people to periodically self-test anywhere and capture their heart rhythm at any time or during symptoms. These technologies include photoplethysmography via smartwatch or watch (AppleWatch, applications compatible with wide range of smartphones such as FibriCheck), blood pressure monitor to detect AF [WatchBP Home A (Microlife), Omron M6 (Omron)], handheld device or smartphone compatible electrocardiogram (ECG) recorder [(Kardia (Alivecor), Zenicor ECG (Zenicor), MyDiagnostik (Applied Biomedical Systems BV)], Patch ECG monitors [Zio (iRhythm), Cardiostat (Icentia), Nuvant (Corventis)] ^{105, 121}. Some of

these technologies have been evaluated in large studies such as the AppleWatch study ¹²² or the Huawei Heart Study ¹²³, showing that extended monitoring or more frequent screening is likely to result in increased rates of AF detection ^{105, 121}. However, their accuracy, benefits and potential harms, and cost-effectiveness still need to be determined ^{105, 121}.

1.4.1.1.1 Implantable cardiac monitors

Implantable cardiac monitors (ICMs) are increasingly being used for prolonged monitoring in some group of patients such as those with recent embolic stroke of undetermined source (ESUS) or after rhythm control procedures such as catheter ablation ^{105, 121}. Pacemakers, implanted cardioverter defibrillators and cardiac resynchronization therapy devices, which have the ability to detect high-frequency atrial activity, can also be used for the detection of AF ^{105, 121}. In several studies, high-rate atrial episodes detected on these devices have been shown to be due to AF ^{2, 22, 124, 125}. Furthermore, these high-rate atrial episodes have been associated with almost doubling the risk of stroke^{22, 124, 125}. However, it remains uncertain what duration and burden of episodes should be used to determine eligibility to OAC prophylaxis.

1.4.1.1.1.1 Description

Implantable cardiac monitors (ICMs), also known as implantable or insertable loop recorders are small devices that are implanted in the subcutaneous tissue of the anterior chest through a minimally invasive procedure. Most current models of ICM have a weigh of less than 5g, have a size of approximately 7mm in width, 45 mm in length, and 4 mm in thickness, and offer continuous monitoring with a life span up to 4.5 years ¹²⁶⁻¹²⁹. Devices are inserted near the left 4th intercostal space corresponding to the V2-V3 ECG lead location, and an ECG tracing is measured between 2 electrodes at the ends ¹²⁷. Examples of available ICMs include the Reveal XT and Reveal LINQ models (Medtronic, Minneapolis, Minnesota), the

BioMonitor2 model (Biotronik, Berlin, Germany) and the SJM Confirm and Confirm Rx models (Abbott, Chicago, IL, USA).

Implantable cardiac monitors record and wirelessly transmit automatically detected arrhythmia episodes and manual patient-activated symptom episodes to a remote monitoring data server and notifies the clinician. They are used to detect occult cardiac arrhythmias in a variety of clinical situations including post-stroke monitoring, unexplained syncope, palpitations, and management of AF, for example for arrhythmia detection following catheter ablation.

1.4.1.1.1.2 Atrial fibrillation detection algorithms

Arrhythmia detection accuracy is the most important feature of ICMs. Below are the detection algorithms of few of the most used ICMs:

- The AF detection algorithm in the Reveal LINQ uses a three-step process. First, it considers the patterns of incoherence of R-R intervals in a Lorenz plot and attributes an AF score to specific arrhythmia events. Second, it looks for the presence of P waves and calculates a P wave evidence score, and then finally, an AF evidence score is computed ¹³⁰. The accuracy of the AF detection algorithm is dependent on the AF prevalence in the population, the programmed sensitivity of the algorithm, as well as the duration of detected AF episodes ^{131, 132}.
- The TruRhythm Detection, the 5th-generation innovation in AF detection in Reveal[™] ICMs, learns and adapts to the patient's rhythm over time, and applies an adaptive P wave evidence algorithm to further reduce false AF detection with minimal reduction in sensitivity ¹³³.
- The AF detection algorithm in Confirm Rx detects irregularity in the R-R intervals ¹³⁴. For each beat, the algorithm considers at the previous 64 beats and obtains two

probabilities. The first uses a Markov Chain model to compare the similarity of R-R interval transitions in the previous 64 beats to both AF and non-AF templates. The second probability is based on the computed R-R variance to differentiate between random and patterned changes in R-R interval such as bigeminy. These two probabilities are combined into an AF probability score to determine whether an AF episode has begun. AF onset is declared if 1) the AF probability score exceeds a threshold, and 2) the onset of the rhythm is sudden. During an AF episode, the algorithm continues to monitor the 64-beat window and will consider the AF terminated when the Markov Chain model indicates a probability that the rhythm is no longer AF. The algorithm will detect AF episodes based on a programmed minimum episode length, with options of 30 seconds, 1, 2, 5, and 10 minutes ¹³⁴.

- In SharpSense[™] Technology, is an upgradable software enhancement introduced to the Confirm Rx ICM. A P wave detection algorithm is activated when the base algorithm triggers AF detection. The P wave detection algorithm analyzes the electrogram signal prior to the trigger and rejects the initial detection if consistent P waves are found ¹³⁰.
- The RhythmCheck is the detection algorithm in the BIOMONITOR IIIm (Biotronik, Berlin, Germany). This AF detection algorithm is based on continuous checks of the R-R interval variability according to programmable parameters ¹³⁵. The RhythmCheck recognizes every single ectopic beat and avoids them being misinterpreted as AF, since 52% of false positive detections are due to ectopic beats. As a results, the algorithm reportedly eliminates 72% of false positive AF detections of patients with ectopic beats. Furthermore, the algorithm dynamically adjusts to each patients' unique rhythm ¹³⁵.

1.4.1.1.1.3 Accuracy

Few studies have investigated the accuracy of ICMs. Most of them were of small sample size and funded by the owning companies. They showed good performance in detecting AF compared with Holter monitoring as the reference standard, with expert adjudication of events 134, 136. The XPECT trial evaluated the performance of the REVEAL XT ICM compared with a Holter device. The sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value for identifying patients with any AF were 96.1%, 85.4%, 79.3%, and 97.4%, respectively ¹³⁶. The DETECT AF study evaluated the performance of the Confirm DM2102 ICM to accurately detect and monitor AF (episodes of at least 2 minutes in length), with Holter as the reference ¹³⁴. Using a per patient analysis sensitivity was 100%, positive predictive value was 64.0%, specificity was 85.7%, and negative predictive value was 100%. Using a per episode analysis, sensitivity was 94.0% and positive predictive value was 64.0% ¹³⁴. Nevertheless, several recent studies have shown that the diagnostic yield of ICMs for AF detection remains suboptimal ^{130, 137, 138}. For instance, a recent randomized controlled trial comparing the efficiency of data transmissions and arrhythmia detection accuracy of the Reveal LINQ with TruRhythm Detection with the Confirm Rx with SharpSense Technology found that accuracy of arrhythmia detection in both ICMs was suboptimal ¹³⁰. Patient-averaged true positive detection rates were not statistically significant in the two groups (Reveal LINQ vs Confirm Rx, AF: 52% vs 38%). Compared to the Reveal LINQ, Confirm Rx has shorter event transmission time, more frequent event detections, shorter duration to diagnose true arrhythmic events, and higher percentage of diagnosed patients ¹³⁰. Another study reporting the real world diagnostic yield and accuracy of remote ILR monitoring in high risk patients with cryptogenic stroke found that at least 84% of AF alerts were false positive ¹³⁷. In another study using Reveal LINQ, the incidence of false positive transmissions was 46%, 86%, and 71% in patients implanted for AF surveillance,

cryptogenic stroke, and syncope, respectively ¹³⁸. Therefore, event adjudication by a specialist remains crucial. A new AF detection technology was recently released (Medtronic, Minneapolis, Minnesota), the AccuRhythmTM artificial intelligence algorithms ¹³⁹. These algorithms use deep learning based on over one million professionally adjudicated ECGs to improve AF detection accuracy. A 74% reduction in false AF alerts has been reported by the manufacturer ¹³⁹. However, independent studies reporting the diagnostic accuracy of AccuRhythmTM are still lacking.

1.4.1.1.1.4 Advantages and drawbacks

Implantable cardiac monitors have important advantages including device miniaturization, simplified implant procedures, safety, and enhanced automation and wireless data transmission to patient care networks and physicians. For the new devices, the implantation usually requires about 5 minutes including wound dressing ¹²⁸. The minimally invasive procedure is also associated with low rate of complications. The RIO (Reveal In-Office) and RIO 2 (Reveal LINQ In-Office 2) assessed the feasibility of ICM implants in a non-hospital setting (office) compared to in-hospital ^{140, 141}. They demonstrated excellent safety profile of the Reveal LINQ ICM insertion, irrespective of the insertion environment. In RIO 2, the untoward event rate (composite of unsuccessful insertion and ICM- or insertion-related complications) was 0.8% (2 of 244) in the office and 0.9% (2 of 227) in the hospital (95% confidence interval, -3.0% to 2.9%; 5% noninferiority: *p* < 0.001) ¹⁴⁰. This finding suggests that ICM insertion can be safely performed outside the electrophysiology lab, for instance in an outpatient setting.

Implantable cardiac monitoring has a substantial cost, for the device, the insertion procedure, and long-term monitoring. However, there are data suggesting that long-term monitoring with ICMs is cost-effective. One study evaluated the cost-effectiveness of ICM in a population with cryptogenic stroke in the United States ¹⁴². They modelled lifetime costs

and quality-adjusted life years for three monitoring strategies post cryptogenic stroke: ICM starting immediately, ICM starting after Holter monitoring (delayed ICM) and standard of care involving intermittent ECG and Holter monitoring. They found that early ICM was found to be cost-effective versus standard of care and cost-saving versus delayed ¹⁴².

As shown above, AF detection algorithms are prone to a high number of false positive alters and misclassification from ectopic beats. False positive are mostly due to motion and myopotential artifacts ¹²⁷. For this reason, a cardiologist or a certified cardiac technician should adjudicate all possible AF tracings. The adjudication of many tracings for the increasing number of patients receiving ICM monitoring might overload clinicians.

1.4.1.1.2 External monitors

External monitors include Holter, event, and mobile cardiac telemetry monitors. These devices have short monitoring duration and the monitoring with them might not be continuous. Hence, their benefit may be limited in cases of rare events. In practice, they might be used as first option for short-term non-invasive monitoring before ICM is considered ^{2, 143}.

1.4.2 Opportunistic single-time-point screening

In the clinical setting, AF can be detected incidentally or by OppSTS during in-person clinic visits made for reasons other than screening for AF ¹⁰⁵. In OppSTS, healthcare providers systematically screen for AF during routine consultations by pulse palpation, auscultation, or blood pressure checks in patients at increased risk for AF (eg, patients \geq 65 years of age); if an irregular pulse is detected, a follow-up ECG is obtained to confirm AF ¹⁰⁵. Opportunistic single-time-point screening is recommended by several international taskforces based on its feasibility in selected clinical settings and its potential cost-effectiveness ^{105, 143-145}.

1.4.3 Systematic screening

In systematic screening, a target population at high risk of AF (eg, patients \geq 65 years of age or with heart failure, etc) undergoes screening for AF using single or intermittent testing or continuous recordings of variable duration ¹⁰⁵. In its 2022 report, the US Preventive Services Task Force concluded although screening can detect more cases of unknown AF, evidence regarding effects on health outcomes is limited ¹⁴⁶. The current evidence is still insufficient to recommend routine systematic electrocardiographic screening for AF ^{105, 121, 146}. The STROKESTOP was a multicentre, parallel group, unmasked, randomised controlled trial (RCT) that investigated the clinical outcomes in systematic screening for AF in an older population¹⁴⁷. All 75-76-year-olds residing in Halland and Stockholm (Sweden) were randomly assigned (1:1) to be invited to screening for AF or to a control group. Participants attended local screening centres and those without a history of AF were asked to register intermittent ECGs for 14 days. Treatment with oral anticoagulants was offered if AF was detected or untreated. All participants were followed up for a minimum of 5 years. The primary endpoint was a combination of ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke, systemic embolism, bleeding leading to hospitalisation, and all-cause death. Of those invited to screening, 7165 (51.3%) of 13 979 participated. After a median follow-up of 6.9 years (IQR 6.5-7.2), significantly fewer primary endpoint events occurred in the intervention group (4456 [31.9%] of 13 979; 5.45 events per 100 years [95% CI 5.52-5.61]) than in the control group (4616 [33.0%] of 13 996; 5.68 events per 100 years [5.52-5.85]; hazard ratio 0.96 [95% CI 0.92-1.00]; p=0.045). In this trial, screening for AF showed a small net benefit compared with standard of care, indicating that screening is safe and beneficial in older populations. However, there is a need for more RCTs to evaluate the benefits and harms of systematic AF screening. Systematic population-level screening in asymptomatic patients is

not recommended by current international taskforces due to high cost and a lack of evidence that it is more effective than usual care ^{105, 121}.

1.4.4 Searching for atrial fibrillation post-stroke

Searching for AF following ischemic stroke is crucial as secondary prevention with OAC can be initiated in case of newly detected AF. Patients who do not have detectable AF during hospital admission by in-hospital telemetry, on repeated 12-lead ECG, or Holter ECG can undergo prolonged monitoring with external monitors for one month or implanted devices for a much longer period up to several years ^{2, 143}. The proportion of AF detected using prolonged monitoring increases with increasing duration of monitoring ^{2, 143}. However, brief episodes of AF detected after many months or even years of monitoring may not be the cause of the index stroke.

1.4.4.1 Major trials of post-stroke atrial fibrillation monitoring

Two landmarks randomized trials explored long-term monitoring versus shorter-term monitoring after cryptogenic stroke: CRYSTAL-AF and EMBRACE ^{148, 149}. Before CRYSTAL AF and EMBRACE, guidelines recommended at least 24 hours of ECG monitoring after an ischemic stroke to rule out AF. However, there was no data on the most effective duration and type of monitoring.

1.4.4.1.1 The EMBRACE trial

In EMBRACE, 572 patients aged \geq 55 years, without known AF, who had had a cryptogenic ischemic stroke or TIA within the previous 6 months (cause undetermined after standard tests, including 24-hour electrocardiography [ECG]) were randomized to undergo additional non-invasive ambulatory ECG monitoring with either a 30-day event-triggered recorder (intervention group) or a conventional 24-hour monitor (control group) ¹⁴⁹. The primary

endpoint was newly detected AF lasting 30 seconds or longer within 90 days after randomization. Atrial fibrillation lasting 30 seconds or longer was detected in 45 of 280 patients (16.1%) in the intervention group and 9 of 277 (3.2%) in the control group (absolute difference, 12.9 percentage points; 95% CI, 8.0-17.6, p < 0.001; number needed to screen, 8). Atrial fibrillation lasting 2.5 minutes or longer was present in 28 of 284 patients (9.9%) in the intervention group, as compared with 7 of 277 (2.5%) in the control group (absolute difference, 7.4 percentage points; 95% CI 3.4-11.3; p<0.001). By 90 days, oral anticoagulant therapy had been prescribed for more patients in the intervention group than in the control group (52 of 280 patients [18.6%] vs. 31 of 279 [11.1%]; absolute difference, 7.5 percentage points; 95% CI 1.6-13.3, p = 0.01). The EMBRACE study demonstrated that compared with the standard practice of short-duration ECG monitoring, 30 days non-invasive ambulatory ECG monitoring substantially increased AF detection after a recent cryptogenic stroke or TIA, and was associated with increased uptake of anticoagulant treatment ¹⁴⁹.

1.4.4.1.2 The CRYSTAL AF trial

The CRYSTAL AF study assessed whether long-term monitoring with an ICM was more effective than conventional follow-up (control) for detecting AF in patients with cryptogenic stroke ¹⁴⁸. A total of 441 patients aged \geq 40 years without evidence of AF during at least 24 hours of ECG monitoring underwent randomization within 90 days after the index event. The primary end point was the time to first detection of atrial fibrillation (lasting >30 seconds) within 6 months. By 6 months, AF had been detected in 8.9% of patients in the ICM group (19 patients) versus 1.4% of patients in the control group (3 patients) (HR 6.4; 95% CI 1.9-21.7; *p*<0.001). By 12 months, atrial fibrillation had been detected in 12.4% of patients in the ICM group (29 patients) versus 2.0% of patients in the control group (4 patients) (HR 7.3, 95% CI 2.6-20.8, *p*<0.001) ¹⁴⁸. The CRYSTAL AF study showed that ECG monitoring with

an ICM is superior to conventional follow-up for detecting AF in patients after cryptogenic stroke ¹⁴⁸.

Following CRYSTAL AF, several studies have reported real-world data on prolonged continuous monitoring using ICM. They showed variable AF detection rates with ICM in patients with cryptogenic stroke depending on the length of monitoring or other potential factors such as the duration of qualifying AF episodes, or patient characteristics ^{137, 143, 150-161}. The highest yield of AF occurs when monitoring is performed very early after stroke, i.e., during the stroke admission or soon after discharge ¹⁶². Monitoring such as inpatient telemetry or Holter-monitoring performed before ICM implantation is likely to impact AF detection rates. There might be a much higher AF incidence if extended inpatient ECG monitoring has not occurred ¹⁶².

In this thesis, we will explore AF detection rates according to different durations to define an episode of AF, and factors associated with AF detection in a large population of patients with stroke monitored with ICM in the United States. Furthermore, we will perform a systematic review and meta-analysis to summarize data on AF detection rates across different rhythm monitoring strategies (non-invasive and ICM) at precise time points (e.g. 1 month, 12 months or 24 months) in patients with cryptogenic strokes, and to explore factors influencing these detection rates.

1.4.4.1.2 The LOOP study

Although CRYSTAL AF and real-world cohort studies showed increased detection of AF with ICM compared with standard of care in patients with cryptogenic stroke, it remained unknown whether screening for AF, if AF is detected and subsequent treatment with anticoagulants can prevent stroke. The LOOP study investigated whether AF screening and use of anticoagulants can prevent stroke in individuals considered at high risk ¹⁶³. This

clinical trial, enrolled individuals aged 70-90 years, without AF, with at least one additional stroke risk factor (ie, hypertension, diabetes, previous stroke, or heart failure) who were randomly assigned in a 1:3 ratio to ICM monitoring or usual care (control). In the ICM group, anticoagulation was recommended if AF episodes lasted 6 min or longer. The primary outcome was time to first stroke or systemic arterial embolism. A total of 6004 individuals (mean age 74.7 (SD 4.1) years, 47.3% women, and 90.7% with hypertension) were randomized. During a median follow-up of 64.5 months, AF was diagnosed in 477 participants (31.8%) in the ICM group versus 550 participants (12.2%) in the control group (HR 3.17, 95% CI 2.81-3.59, p<0.0001). Oral anticoagulation was initiated in more participants in the ICM group (445 [29.7%] in the ICM group versus 591 in the control group [13.1%]; HR 2.72, 95% CI 2.41-3.08, p<0.0001). There was no difference in the primary outcome between both groups (67 [4.5%] in the ICM group versus 251 [5.6%] in the control group; HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.61-1.05, p=0.11). There was also no difference in major bleeding between groups (65 [4.3%] in the ICM group versus 156 [3.5%] in the control group; HR 1.26, 95% CI 0.95-1.69, p=0.11). In summary, although monitoring with ICM resulted in a three-fold increase in AF detection and OAC initiation in individuals with stroke risk factors, it did not lead to a significant reduction in incident thromboembolism ¹⁶³. These findings suggest that not all AF is worth screening for, and not all screen-detected AF should lead to OAC.

1.4.4.2 Recommendations on atrial fibrillation screening in stroke survivors

Apart from a baseline ECG, recommendations on the length and type of monitoring remain unclear. The 2016 European Society of Cardiology AF guidelines recommend AF monitoring for 72 hours in all patients with ischemic stroke without known AF (Class I recommendation), and additional ECG monitoring with either long-term non-invasive ECG monitors or implanted loop recorders (Class IIa recommendation) ¹⁶⁴. The 2019 American
Heart Association/American College of Cardiology/Heart Rhythm Society update of the 2014 guideline states that in patients with cryptogenic stroke in whom external ambulatory monitoring is inconclusive, ICM implantation is reasonable to optimize detection of silent AF (Class IIa recommendation) ¹⁶⁵. According to the Canadian Stroke Best Practice Recommendations, prolonged ECG monitoring for at least 14 days is recommended in selected patients aged \geq 55 years with cryptogenic stroke or TIA of suspected cardioembolic source, who are not already receiving anticoagulant therapy but would be potential anticoagulant candidates (Level A Evidence) ¹⁶⁶. The Australian Heart Foundation and Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand 2018 guidelines recommend that, for patients with embolic stroke of undetermined source, longer-term ECG monitoring (external or implantable) should be used ¹⁴⁵.

1.5 Complications of atrial fibrillation

1.5.1 Stroke

Atrial fibrillation is associated with increased risk of stroke and transient ischemic attack (TIA), and this risk increases with age 167 . In the Framingham Heart Study, the attributable risk of AF for stroke was 1.5% and 23.5% among people aged 50-59 years and 80-89 years, respectively 167 . The risk of stroke is also increased by asymptomatic AF detected as high-rate atrial episodes by implantable cardiac devices. High-rate atrial episodes longer than 6 minutes has been associated with an increased risk of ischemic stroke (HR, 2.50; 95% CI, 1.28–4.89) 22 .

Atrial fibrillation-related strokes are associated with higher morbidity and mortality compared with strokes from non-AF causes. In the Copenhagen Stroke Study, patients with AF-related strokes had higher in-hospital mortality (OR 1.7; 95% CI: 1.2–2.5), longer

hospital stay (50 days verse 40 days, p<0.001), and lower rates of discharge home (versus care facility, OR 0.60; 95% CI: 0.44–0.85) ¹⁶⁸. Congruently, in the Framingham Heart Study, compared with non-AF strokes, AF-related strokes were associated with increased 30-day mortality (OR 1.84; 95% CI: 1.04–3.27) ¹⁶⁹.

1.5.2 Extracranial systemic embolism

Extracranial systemic embolism is much less common than stroke in patients with AF ¹⁷⁰. In a pooled analysis of four AF antiplatelet and anticoagulation trials including 37,973 patients from more than 40 countries, during a mean follow-up of 2.4 years, 221 systemic embolic events occurred, representing 11.5% of total clinically apparent embolic events ¹⁷¹. These systemic embolic events involved mostly the lower limbs (58%) and the mesenteric circulation (22%). Furthermore, systemic embolism was associated with increased morbidity and mortality, as 64% of affected patients required an interventional procedure or amputation and 24% died within 30 days ¹⁷¹.

1.5.3 Venous thromboembolism

Due to shared risk factors such as ageing, obesity, hypertension, heart failure, and smoking, AF and venous thromboembolism frequently co-exist ¹⁷². Atrial fibrillation is strongly associated with an increased risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE) including pulmonary embolism, especially during the first months after AF diagnosis ^{173, 174}. Conversely, multiple arrhythmias including new-onset AF occur after an acute pulmonary embolism ¹⁷². In a Swedish Nationwide Registry study, in males and females, VTE rates were higher among patients with AF the first 30 days after an AF diagnosis [40.2 vs. 5.7 in males and 55.7 vs. 6.6 in females per 1000 person-years at risk, respectively; HR 6.64, 95% CI: 5.74–7.69; and HR

7.56, 95% CI: 6.47–8.83)]; and then decreasing, simultaneously with an increasing number of patients with AF receiving OAC 175 . In an analysis of the national administrative database of Taiwan, AF was associated with an increased risk of VTE (HR 1.74; 95% CI: 1.36–2.24) and pulmonary embolism (HR 2.18; 95% CI: 1.51–3.15) 176 .

1.5.4 Dementia

Atrial fibrillation is associated with a heightened risk of cognitive impairment, dementia, Alzheimer's disease, and vascular dementia, independently of common risk factors for dementia such as age, hypertension, diabetes, obesity, or stroke ^{170, 177}. In a recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 61 studies including 2.8 million individuals, AF was associated with 39% increased risk of cognitive impairment compared to the general population (HR 1.39, 95% CI: 1.25-1.53; follow-up 3.8-25 years). In the post-stroke cohort, AF was associated with a 2.7-fold increased risk of cognitive impairment [adjusted OR 2.70, 95% CI: 1.66-3.74; follow-up 0.25-3.78 years] ¹⁷⁷. Mechanisms of dementia in patients with AF include silent brain infarcts and cerebral hypoperfusion due to disturbed hemodynamic caused by AF ^{170, 177}.

1.5.5 Heart failure

The relationship between AF and HF is bidirectional. Heart failure is both a risk factor and a complication of AF ^{2, 170}. AF and HF frequently co-exist, in part due to shared risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes, CAD, and valvular disease ^{2, 170}. In the Framingham Heart Study, 24% of participants had prior or concurrent AF and 17% subsequently developed AF ⁷⁰. One fifth of participants had AF and HF detected on the same day ⁷⁰, demonstrating their interconnection. However, it seems that AF begets HF more than HF begets AF ¹⁷⁰. Indeed,

in the Framingham Heart Study, the incidence of HF was substantially higher in participants with AF than the incidence of AF in those with HF 178 . In terms of HF subtypes, in patients with AF in the Framingham Heart Study, the risk of incident HF with preserved ejection fraction (HR 2.34; 95% CI: 1.48–3.70) was higher than that of HF with reduced ejection fraction (HR 1.32; 95% CI: 0.83–2.10) 178 .

Heart failure is associated with increased mortality in patients with AF ^{2, 70, 170}. In the Framingham Heart Study, among participants with AF, incident HF increased all-cause mortality (HR 1.25; 95% CI: 1.04–1.51) ¹⁷⁸. Indeed, HF has been reported to be the leading cause of mortality, accounting for about a third of death, in patients newly diagnosed with AF ¹⁷⁹.

1.5.6 Coronary artery disease

There is also a bidirectional association between AF and CAD including myocardial infarction (MI) ^{2, 170}. As mentioned above, CAD is a risk factor for AF ². Atrial fibrillation is also a risk factor for MI ^{2, 170}. For instance, In the REasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) study, AF was associated with doubling of MI risk, with a greater risk in females (HR 2.16; 95% CI: 1.41–3.31) than males (HR 1.39; 95% CI: 0.91–2.10) ¹⁸⁰. The risk of mortality is increased by AF after an acute coronary syndrome ¹⁸¹. Among patients with newly diagnosed AF, the risk of death after coronary ischemic events was increased in both females (HR 2.99; 95% CI: 2.53–3.53) and males (HR 2.33; 95% CI: 1.94–2.81) ¹⁸¹.

1.5.7 Death

Atrial fibrillation is associated with a substantial increased risk of death ^{2, 170}. In a systematic review and meta-analysis of 64 studies including over a million patients, with 14.8% of them having AF, AF increased the risk of death (pooled relative risk 1.6, 95% CI:1.39–1.53) ¹⁸². In a subgroup analysis, the risk of cardiovascular mortality was also increased by AF (pooled relative risk 2.03, 95% CI: 1.79–2.3) ¹⁸². A pooled analysis of the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study and the Cardiovascular Health Study showed that AF was associated an increased risk of sudden cardiac death (HR 2.47; 95% CI: 1.95–3.13) ¹⁸³.

1.6 Biomarkers in atrial fibrillation

Although the exact mechanisms underlying AF are not fully understood, significant advances have been made in elucidating its pathogenesis. The milieu leading to AF in each individual is often driven by risk factors that alter inflammation, oxidative stress, cardiomyocyte damage, atrial fibrosis and thrombogenesis, amongst others, while modulated by background risk of ageing and underlying genetic predisposition. Various molecules involved in these mechanisms have the potential to be robust markers of AF risk, progression and complications including thromboembolism and death (**Figure 1, Table 2**).

1.6.1 Inflammation

Many studies have suggested a pivotal role of inflammation in the development and perpetuation of AF. Inflammation is directly involved in several pathological processes underlying the atrial substrate for AF, including oxidative stress, myocyte injury and fibrosis. Inflammation seems to have prognostic implications in AF patients, as it has been linked to mortality and adverse cerebrovascular and coronary events. The link between inflammation and AF is detailed in another paper of this issue.

1.6.1.1 C-reactive protein

C-reactive protein (CRP) is an acute-phase protein produced by the liver in response to inflammatory cytokines. CRP has been shown to be associated with incident AF, the progression from paroxysmal to permanent AF.^{184, 185} Moreover, CRP levels have been shown to be positively correlated with AF recurrence after catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion.¹⁸⁶ A systematic review and meta-analysis showed that an elevation between baseline and postoperative CRP levels is associated with the onset of AF following cardiac surgery.¹⁸⁷ In terms of adverse outcomes, CRP and highly sensitive CRP (hsCRP) have been associated with risk of stroke, myocardial infarction, bleeding and cardiovascular death in AF patients.^{188, 189}

1.6.1.2 Interleukins

Interleukins (IL) are cytokines produced by various types of cells, mostly leucocytes, and that participate in the regulation of immune responses, inflammatory reactions, hematopoiesis and thrombogenesis. IL-6 is the most investigated interleukin in association with AF and outcomes. Elevated serum IL-6 levels were reported to be associated with an increased risk of AF, and with AF recurrence after catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion.¹⁹⁰ Elevated serum IL-6 were also shown to be predictors of thrombogeneous, major bleeding, and vascular death.^{188, 189, 191}

1.6.2 Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress refers to the damage of cell components, including proteins, lipids and DNA, caused by excess reactive oxygen species. Oxidative stress results from an imbalance between oxidant production and endogenous antioxidant defences. It is involved in many diseases, including AF. Oxidative stress is one of the links between atrial fibrosis, as a result of cell damage, and AF, with an interplay of other mechanisms including inflammation and the renin-angiotensin system.¹⁹² Numerous mechanistic pathways linking oxidative stress to AF have been identified. These include the XO pathway, NADPH Oxidase (through the NOX2, NOX4, Small G-protein Rac1), mitochondrial damage (via the Nuclear Factor-kappa B, LOX-1, ICAM-1, Heme Oxygenase-1) and calcium overload and disrupted myocytes electrical activity.¹⁹²

In a cohort study with long follow-up (median 6.3 years), redox potentials of glutathione (Eh GSH) and cysteine (Eh CySH) were associated with prevalent and incident AF.¹⁹³ Similarly, high asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) levels were associated with an increased risk of AF recurrence within 1 month after electrical cardioversion,¹⁹⁴ while malondialdehyde (MDA) and nitrotyrosine predicted 1-year sinus rhythm maintenance following cardioversion.¹⁹⁵ Similarly, plasma derivatives of reactive oxygen metabolites (DROMs) and myeloperoxidase (MPO) have been shown to be an independent predictors of AF recurrence after catheter ablation.¹⁹⁶

The prognostic value of oxidative stress on cardiovascular events and mortality in AF patients was well demonstrated in the Apixaban for the Prevention of Stroke in Subjects with Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) biomarker sub-study.¹⁹⁷ Growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF-15), a marker of oxidative stress and inflammation was shown to be an independent predictor of major bleeding, death, and stroke. Specifically, compared to patients within the lowest quartile of GDF-15 levels, those in the highest quartile had a two-fold higher risk of

stroke or systemic embolism, a 3.5-fold higher risk of major bleeding, a 4- to 5-fold higher risk of all-cause and cardiac mortality. These associations between baseline GDF-15 level and adverse outcomes remained stable over time and significant after adjustment for clinical risk factors and the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score.¹⁹⁷

1.6.3 Cardiomyocyte stress and injury

1.6.3.1 Troponin

Troponins (subunits I, T and C) are a group of proteins found in skeletal and heart (cardiac) muscle fibers that, together with tropomyosin, regulate the interaction between actin and myosin filaments leading to muscular contraction. Cardiac troponin is a sensitive and specific marker of myocardial damage and a powerful diagnostic and prognostic tool in acute coronary syndrome. Recent systematic review and meta-analysis found TnT but not TnI, to be associated with both incident AF and AF recurrences after radiofrequency ablation.¹⁹⁸ Further, high-sensitivity cardiac troponins T (hsTnT) and I (hsTnI) have been shown to predict incident AF and AF-related hospitalizations, although they did not improve risk stratification.^{199, 200} Interesting, early positive cardiac troponins may help identify among patients with acute stroke those who have a cardioembolic source subtype that might benefit from oral anticoagulation.²⁰¹

Pertaining to adverse events, the first major study to demonstrate the prognosis importance of troponin in AF patients was the Randomized Evaluation of Long -Term Anticoagulant Therapy (RE-LY) biomarker sub-study. The study performed in 6,189 patients with AF and ≥ 1 risk factor for stroke, and treated with either warfarin or dabigatran, showed that nearly half of the patients had detectable levels of TnI ($\geq 0.01 \ \mu g/L$).²⁰² Furthermore, persistent elevation (over 3 months) of TnI was associated with a higher risk of thromboembolic events and cardiovascular mortality, as compared to none or transient elevation.²⁰² In hospitalized patients with AF, others have shown that circulating TnI levels

were associated with mortality and major adverse cardiac events where cumulative 3-year survival rates were 78% in patients with non-detectable TnI, 62% in those with a minor elevation, and 57% in the those with a significant TnI elevation (log-rank P < 0.001).²⁰³ A more recent retrospective cohort study of 957 patients with newly diagnosed AF reported increased mortality and readmission rates for heart failure and revascularization associated with elevated hsTnI.²⁰⁴ Similar results were observed with TnT. In the ARISTOTLE biomarker study performed in 14,892 AF patients with increased stroke risk treated with either apixaban or warfarin, hsTnT level was independently associated with an increased risk of stroke, cardiac death, and major bleeding.²⁰⁵ Consistent findings have been reported in a cohort of 930 AF patients who were effectively anticoagulated (INRs 2.0-3.0) for at least 6 months, whereby elevated hsTnT level was associated with increased rates of cardiovascular events and death.¹⁹¹ A study using electronic health records from five tertiary centers in the UK also reported the association of increased troponin levels with increased mortality.²⁰⁶

1.6.3.2 B-type natriuretic peptide

B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) is a hormone secreted by cardiomyocytes in response to stretch in the setting of volume or pressure overload. It is synthesized as a precursor protein, pro-B-type natriuretic peptide, which is then cleaved into the bioactive BNP and the amino terminal N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP). Levels of BNP are increased in various cardiac conditions including left ventricular hypertrophy, cardiomyopathy, heart failure and acute coronary events. The Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) was one of the first large community-based cohort studies to establish that NT-proBNP was predictive of incident AF in a community-based population of older adults independent of established risk factors.²⁰⁷ An association between pre-operative BNP and postoperative AF in patients undergoing thoracic surgery has also been shown in a meta-analysis.²⁰⁸ Furthermore, others have shown that BNP is elevated in AF patients, and that this

elevation normalizes after restoration of sinus rhythm, indicating a potential predictive role on AF recurrences after rhythm control intervention.^{209, 210}

Biomarker sub-studies of two large randomized controlled trials provided firm evidence on the prognostic value of NT-proBNP in AF patients. In the RE-LY biomarker sub-study which analyzed data from 6,189 AF patients, in comparison with normal NT-proBNP levels, the highest quartile of NT-proBNP levels was associated with a two-fold and five-fold increased risk of stroke or systemic embolism and cardiovascular death respectively.²⁰² The ARISTOLE biomarker sub-study involving 14,892 AF patients confirmed the association between increased NT-proBNP levels and stroke or systemic embolism and cardiac death.²¹¹ More recently, the US multicenter nationwide Outcomes Registry for Better Informed Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation II (ORBIT-AF II) showed among 13,375 AF patients that BNP levels were associated with the risk of AF progression and predicted a composite of major adverse cardiovascular or neurological events.²¹²

1.6.4 Atrial fibrosis

Atrial fibrosis is a key structural abnormality in different substrates for AF involving different signaling pathways.^{213, 214} The atrial structural remodeling includes apoptosis of cardiomyocytes, proliferation of fibroblasts, differentiation to myofibroblasts and increased production of extracellular matrix. All these pathological processes seem to be driven by an overlap of myocyte injury, oxidative stress and inflammation, amongst others.²¹³ Ultimately, the fibrotic myocardial tissue can result in conduction slowing and increased conduction heterogeneity that favor wavefront re-entry and perpetuation of AF. Studies on some biomarkers of atrial fibrosis have yielded promising results, highlighting their potential use in clinical practice to guide AF management.

1.6.4.1 Relaxin

Relaxin is a hormone that downregulates the deposition of collagen and other extracellular matrix proteins, reduces oxidative stress and inflammatory response. Therefore, it has antiinflammatory and anti-fibrotic properties. Relaxin has been shown to reduce the susceptibility to AF in a murine hypertensive model by reversing atrial fibrosis, improving atrial conduction and increasing sodium ions current density in cardiomyocytes.²¹⁵ Interestingly, clinical studies have shown that relaxin level was higher in patients with AF than those in sinus rhythm and that higher circulating relaxin level was associated with higher AF recurrence after catheter ablation and higher occurrence of heart failure.^{216, 217}

1.6.4.2 Galectin-3

Galectin-3 is an inflammatory β -galactoside-binding lectin secreted by activated macrophages that, when bound to the matrix, exerts matricellular functions. It has been shown to contribute to atrial fibrosis in AF patients and has emerged as a potential prognostic marker in AF. Indeed, galactin-3 levels were shown to independently correlate with the extent of left atrial fibrosis detected with magnetic resonance imaging and assessed from atrial appendage tissue samples.²¹⁸ There are evidence suggesting an association of galactin-3 levels with incident AF, higher AF burden, and AF recurrence following rhythm control therapies.^{218, 219} Serum galectin-3 is also a potential marker of thrombogenicity in AF. Indeed, studies have shown that serum galectin-3 levels correlate with left atrial appendage remodelling and predict left atrial appendage thrombus formation in AF patients.^{220, 221}

1.6.4.3 Fibroblast Growth Factor-23

Fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23) is a bone-derived hormone that plays a central role in phosphate homeostasis, vitamin D metabolism and bone mineralization. Meta-analytical data suggests that higher FGF-23 levels is associated with increased risk of stroke, myocardial infarction, heart failure, cardiovascular and all-cause mortality.¹³ Additionally, higher serum

FGF-23 levels was associated with incident AF in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) study and the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS).²²² However, in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study, a larger community-based cohort, baseline FGF-23 levels were not associated with AF risk independently of renal function.²²³ In the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC) study, FGF-23 was independently associated with prevalent and incident AF in patients with mild to severe chronic kidney disease.²²⁴ These data suggest that serum FGF-23 may be a useful biomarker of AF in patients with renal dysfunction. Nevertheless, findings from recent mechanistic studies suggested both pro-fibrotic and pro-arrhythmic role of FGF-23,^{225, 226} although there is limited data on the link between FGF-23 and AF outcomes following rhythm control intervention.^{227, 228}

1.6.5 Thrombogenesis

1.6.5.1 D-dimer

D-dimer is a fibrin degradation product, a small protein fragment present in the blood after a blood clot is degraded by fibrinolysis. D-dimer is therefore a marker of fibrin turnover, and its elevated plasma levels suggest the presence of hypercoagulability or prothrombotic state. Recent meta-analysis data found high plasma D-dimer to be associated with left atrial spontaneous echo contrast and left atrial thrombus.²²⁹ In the RE-LY sub-study, the risk of stroke or systemic embolism and of cardiovascular death was 3-fold and 3.5-fold higher in AF patients in the highest quartile of D-dimer levels compared to those in the lowest quartile.²³⁰ Similarly, in the ARISTOTLE sub-study, higher baseline D-dimer levels were associated with an increased risk of stroke, bleeding and death.²³¹ Further, a recent study which enrolled 1,441 patients with AF-related stroke and atherosclerosis, showed that high

D-dimer levels ($\geq 2 \ \mu g/mL$) were significantly associated with higher risk of recurrent ischemic stroke ²³².

1.6.5.2 von Willebrand factor

von Willebrand factor (vWF) is a blood glycoprotein synthesized by endothelial cells, that plays a pivotal role in hemostasis after vascular injury through platelet adhesion and aggregation. A recent meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies showed that high vWF levels were associated with increased risks of all-cause death (RR 1.56; 95% CI 1.16-2.11), cardiovascular death (RR 1.91; 95% CI 1.20-3.03), major adverse cardiac events (RR 1.83; 95% CI 1.28-2.62), stroke (RR 1.69; 95% CI 1.08-2.64) and bleeding (RR 2.01; 95% CI 1.65-2.45) in patients with AF.²³³ This suggest that vWF may also be a clinically useful risk marker in AF.

1.6.6 Non-coding RNAs

Non-coding RNAs are functional ribonucleic acid (RNA) molecules that are transcribed from DNA but not translated into proteins. They are derived from non-coding genes which represent about 98% of the human genome and which were previously considered as "genetic junk" or "transcriptional noise" due to presumed non-involvement in cellular function. However, in recent years, non-coding RNAs have emerged as crucial regulators in cellular processes and key contributors in the pathogenesis of several disease states. Non-coding RNAs are mainly classified as either linear RNAs or circular RNAs. Linear RNAs can be sub-classified based on the length of transcripts (<200 nucleotides vs. ≥200 nucleotides) into microRNAs (miRNAs) or long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs). miRNAs have been the most studied and have to date the strongest evidence on the pathogenic link between non-coding

RNAs and AF, although there are increasing data regarding lncNRAs.^{234, 235} This section will focus on miRNAs.

Table 3 summarizes the data from human studies on key miRNAs involved in AF. Several miRNAs contribute to electrical remodeling in AF by affecting the conductance of Ltype Ca2+ current (I_{CaL}) and of inward rectifier current (IK_1), as well as triggering changes in the electrical properties of Ca2+-activated K+ channels and connexin 40 & 43 . These include miR-1 which promotes cardiomyocyte arrhythmogenicity and proliferation; miR-499 which contributes to the remodeling of L-type Ca2+ currents and; miR-328 which plays a pivotal role in cardiomyocyte calcium handling and electrical remodeling.^{234, 236, 237} Both miR-208 and miR-106 expression have been shown to have an impact on calcium handling in cardiomyocytes, through the downregulation of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ adenosine triphosphates type 2a (SERCA2a) protein and the upregulation of RYR2 protein, respectively. These proteins are involved in Ca²⁺ transport between the cytosol and the sarcoplasmic reticulum.^{236, 237}

miRNAs are also involved in atrial structural remodeling by regulating the genes that encode proteins forming the extracellular matrix. For instance, the upregulation of miR-21 promotes atrial remodeling and fibrosis by activating the mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinases (MAPK/ERK) and the PI3K signalling pathways. miR-29b upregulates the collagen-1A1, collagen-3A1 and fibrillin genes leading to increased production of the extracellular matrix proteins.^{236, 237} Additionally, miR-126, miR-150, miR-483, miR-409 and miR432 are involved in various cellular processes including inflammation, oxidative stress, platelet function and aggression, angiogenesis and ultimately atrial fibrosis.²³⁶ Few miRNAs have been shown to contribute to the occurrence and progression of AF via autonomic remodeling. For instance, miR-30 and miR-206 cause autonomic nerve remodeling by downregulating acetylcholine-dependent potassium current, and enhancing the production of reactive oxygen species, respectively.^{236, 237}

The involvement of these miRNAs in the pathogenesis of AF underpins their potential as biomarkers to predict the occurrence or recurrence of AF. For instance, miR-1 and miR-483 were suggested to potentially predict post-operative AF, while miR-125 may play a role in post-ablation AF recurrence.²³⁶ Some microRNAs could be therapeutic targets for the treatment of atrial cardiomyopathy and AF. However, because a single non-coding RNA can be involved in the regulation of a large number of genes, the specificity and safety of therapeutic targeting of non-coding RNAs can be problematic while further research is warranted.²³⁷

1.6.7 Clinical implications

AF accounts for up to a third of ischemic strokes and biomarkers that can improve detection of AF in high-risk individuals or those with embolic stroke of unknown source will be of clinical significance in both primary and secondary stroke prevention. For example, such biomarkers may guide patient selection for more prolonged ECG monitoring or implantation of insertable cardiac monitor to maximize cost-effectiveness especially in the context of limited resources.¹⁴³ Natriuretic peptides, BNP and NT-proBNP, are the most promising biomarkers to improve the prediction of AF detection after ischemic stroke. It has been suggested that BNP values of >100 pg/mL and NT-proBNP values >400 pg/mL have a predictive value for the occurrence of AF in stroke patients.²³⁸ A sub-analysis of the Find-AF_{RANDOMISED} trial showed that BNP measured early after ischemic stroke identified a subgroup of patients with stroke at increased risk for AF, in whom enhanced and prolonged Holter-ECG is very useful with significantly reduced number needed to screen.²³⁹ A BNP- based prediction model is being investigated for post-thoracic surgery AF and this may improve management and reduce complications in this patient group.²⁴⁰

Natriuretic peptides have also shown a potential benefit in improving community screening of AF. The CHARGE-AF Consortium of community-based cohort studies reported that adding BNP to the CHARGE-AF risk score which is purely based on clinical factors, substantially improved its predictive performance.²⁴¹ In the STROKESTOP II study, NT-proBNP-stratified systematic screening for AF increased the detection of AF in high risk elderly from the community (from 8.1% to 10.5%), with 94.5% of the participants with newly diagnosed AF who accepted the initiation of oral anticoagulation.²⁴² A recent study using data-driven discovery through logistic regression and machine learning identified BNP and FGF-23, along with three clinical risk factors (age, sex and body mass index), as robustly associated with AF.²⁴³ These biomarkers could therefore be used to risk stratify patients and select those who are more likely to develop AF for more targeted electrocardiographic screening.

The incremental value of cardiac troponins and NT-proBNP in predicting adverse events in patients with AF was convincingly demonstrated in the ARISTOTLE and RE-LY biomarker sub-studies. Indeed, the addition of NT-proBNP, TnI (RE-LY)/TnT (ARISTOTLE) or both to the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score significantly improved its performance in predicting thromboembolic events and major bleeding in AF patients.^{202, 205} These findings underpinned the development of the first hybrid score, the ABC (Age, Biomarkers [high-sensitivity troponin and N-terminal fragment B-type natriuretic peptide], and Clinical history of prior stroke/transient ischemic attack)-stroke risk score.²⁴⁴ The ABC-stroke risk score has been externally validated in independent cohorts (**Table 4**). Similar scores for the prediction of major bleeding, the ABC (Age, Biomarkers [growth differentiation factor-15, hsTnT, and haemoglobin], and clinical history [previous bleeding])-bleeding risk score,²⁴⁵ and of death,

the ABC (Age, Biomarkers [growth differentiation factor-15, hsTnT, NT-proBNP], Clinical history of heart failure)-death risk score,²⁴⁶ have been developed and validated (**Table 4**). Specifically, the ABC-stroke score and the ABC-bleeding score were shown to outperform the CHA₂DS₂-VASc and HAS-BLED scores, respectively.^{244, 245, 247-249} However, one real-world study showed better performance of the HAS-BLED score²⁵⁰, and network meta-analysis revealed that although the ABC-bleeding score has a high sensitivity, the HAS-BLED is a more balanced bleeding risk assessment tool with higher specificity.²⁵¹

1.7 Risk stratification in patients with atrial fibrillation

1.7.1 Stroke risk assessment

Several clinical stroke risk scores have been developed over time to guide pharmacological and interventional stroke prevention strategies in AF patients (**Table 5**). The most popular include the CHADS₂ score, the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and the ATRIA stroke risk score, released in 2001, 2010 and 2013, respectively ²⁵²⁻²⁵⁴. The number of risk factors included in these scores varies considerably, from four in the ABC-Stroke score to eight in the GARFIELD-AF and ATRIA-Stroke scores, with all stroke risk scores including age and previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack (TIA) and/or thromboembolism ^{244, 252-254}. More recently, the GARFIELD-AF risk calculator was released. It is a computer-based risk calculator that simultaneously provides risk estimates for mortality, ischemic stroke or systemic embolism and major bleeding for up to 24 months ²⁵⁵. Table 2 summarizes the characteristics of the most used stroke risk stratification scores. The CHA₂DS₂-VASc score remains the most commonly used risk stratification tool for AF patients ²⁵⁶.

These current stroke risk stratification tools have modest performance in predicting stroke and systemic embolic events in real-world cohorts. Hence, there is a need for new risk

predictor tools incorporating both clinical factors and non-clinical factors such as left atrial imaging features, electrocardiographic markers, and biomarkers.

1.7.2 Bleeding risk assessment

Several scores have been validated for the assessment of bleeding risk in patients with AF, the most recent and popular ones being HAS-BLED²⁵⁷, ATRIA-bleeding score²⁵⁸, ABCbleeding risk score ²⁴⁵, and ORBIT ²⁵⁹ (Table 6). The HAS-BLED is the most commonly recommended score by international guidelines ²⁵⁶. The bleeding risk on OAC is assessed to identify patients at high risk of bleeding, who may require more intensive follow-up and those with modifiable bleeding risk factors which can be addressed to remove or reduce the risk to the patient (controlling blood pressure, cessation of non-essential antiplatelet therapy or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, improving international normalized ratio (INR) control if patient is receiving a vitamin K antagonist, and reduction/cessation of alcohol intake) ²⁵⁶. Assessing bleeding risk on OAC therapy allows to discuss with the patient about the benefit/risk of the therapy, ways of reducing the risk of bleeding, and symptoms of bleeding and adequate management ²⁵⁶. The use of validated bleeding risk scores to assess bleeding risk in AF patients is better than an assessment using modifiable bleeding risk factors alone. Indeed, a prospective cluster-randomized trial showed that appropriate use of the HAS-BLED score as part of structured care, based on the ABC pathway, to address and mitigate modifiable bleeding risk factors, was associated with lower bleeding rates and an increase in OAC use when compared with usual care ²⁶⁰.

1.8 Management of atrial fibrillation

There are four pillars in the management of AF: stroke prevention mainly with OAC, rate control, rhythm control, and risk factor management.

1.8.1 Stroke prevention

Stroke is the most common and devastating complication of AF. People with AF have a fivefold increased risk of stroke ¹⁶⁷, and AF-related cardioembolism accounts for up to a third of all ischemic strokes ¹⁴³. The main strategies for stroke prevention include OAC with either vitamin K antagonists (VKAs) or direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs), and percutaneous left atrial appendage occlusion ²⁶¹.

Oral Anticoagulation can reduce stroke rate by up to two-third ²⁶², with DOACs slightly more effective and much safer pertaining to the bleeding risk, than the VKA warfarin ²⁶³. The decision to start OAC in patients with AF is guided by risk stratification schemes that help balancing the benefit of OAC for preventing stroke against the risk of bleeding. Several clinical stroke risk scores have been developed over time including the CHADS₂ score, the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, the ATRIA stroke risk score and recently, the GARFIELD-AF risk calculator ^{252, 255, 264, 265}. The CHA₂DS₂-VASc score is best at identifying low-risk patients and is at least as good as the CHADS₂ score in identifying high-risk patients ²⁶¹. Several guidelines, mainly from the American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology and Heart Rhythm Society, consider that a patient is eligible for OAC when the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score is ≥ 2 for males and ≥ 3 for females ²⁶⁶. However, other guidelines, including from the Japanese Circulation Society, the Canadian Cardiovascular Society, and the National Heart Foundation of Australia Consensus Statement, do not apply a sex-specific cut-off, and consider eligible for OAC all patients with a CHA₂DS₂-VASc score of ≥ 1 ²⁶⁷⁻²⁶⁹.

1.8.1.1 Vitamin K antagonists

The target therapeutic range on adjusted-dose VKAs is an INR of 2.0–3.0^{2, 144, 266}. However, VKAs have important limitations, including significant inter- and intra-patient variability in international normalized ratio (INR) which can be influenced by factors such as illness, genetics, consumption of alcohol or vitamin K-rich food, and drug interactions. This imposes the requirement for regular monitoring. The measure of good-quality anticoagulation control with VKAs is the time in therapeutic range (TTR)². A high TTR is associated with maximum efficacy and safety ².

1.8.1.2 Direct oral anticoagulants

Direct oral anticoagulants are a new class of non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants that includes apixaban, dabigatran, edoxaban, and rivaroxaban. Supported by international guidelines ²⁶⁶⁻²⁶⁹, DOACs are becoming the main therapeutic option for stroke prevention in patients with AF. Compared with VKAs, DOACs have attractive characteristics including no need for regular laboratory monitoring, easier dosing, and less frequent drug–drug or drug-food interactions ²⁷⁰. Pivotal trials have demonstrated the non-inferiority and better safety profile of DOACs for stroke prevention when compared with VKAs ²⁷¹. This has been corroborated by real-world data from large-scale registries ²⁷².

1.8.2 Rate control

Rate control therapy aims to reduce symptoms, improve quality of life, lessen the development of heart failure and prevent thromboembolic complications. Rate-controlling drugs include β -blockers, non-dihydropyridine calcium antagonists, digoxin and (rarely used) amiodarone ². It is uncertain which rate control drug or combination is the most effective. Based on the available data, digoxin seems to be the least effective, and β -blockers or rate-

limiting calcium channel blockers seem to be the most affective ². The choice of these drugs alone or in combination for rate control is guided by age, lifestyle, symptoms, comorbidities, heart rate, and potential adverse effects ².

1.8.3 Rhythm control

A rhythm-control strategy uses antiarrhythmic drug therapy, electrical cardioversion, catheter ablation of the left atrium, and/or an ablation procedure performed at the time of open-heart surgery to maintain sinus rhythm. Many patients who remain in sinus rhythm require long-term rate-slowing drugs (in the event of return to atrial fibrillation).

1.8.3.1 Pharmacological and electrical cardioversion

Antiarrhythmic drugs (AADs) are the most common therapeutic approach for the restoration of sinus rhythm and/or the prevention of AF recurrence. Antiarrhythmic drugs can be categorized into classes depending on their predominant mode of action. Class I agents are Na+ channel blockers and include flecainide and propafenone; class II agents are β -blockers; class III agents are multichannel blockers, such as amiodarone; and class IV agents are calcium channel blockers².

Most of AF episodes spontaneously reverse to sinus rhythm. Pharmacological or electrical cardioversion (ECV) should be considered in patients with persistent AF, especially for those who have new-onset AF or remain symptomatic after rate control and adequate anticoagulation therapy ². Pharmacological cardioversion using AADs is usually the first option in order to avoid potential risk of ECV, reduce the risk of AF recurrence after successful cardioversion, and it has a lower cost than ECV ². Long-term AADs can be used to prevent the recurrence of AF in patients with paroxysmal AF and to maintain sinus rhythm

after successful cardioversion or relapse after non-pharmacological therapies (catheter or surgical ablation) 2 .

Although patients with recent-onset AF commonly undergo immediate restoration of sinus rhythm by pharmacologic cardioversion or ECV, until recently, it was unclear whether immediate restoration of sinus rhythm is necessary, since AF often terminates spontaneously. The RACE 7 ACWAS (Rate Control versus Electrical Cardioversion Trial 7–Acute Cardioversion versus Wait and See) showed that in patients presenting to the emergency department with recent-onset (<36 hours), symptomatic atrial fibrillation, a wait-and-see approach (delayed cardioversion) was noninferior to early cardioversion in achieving a return to sinus rhythm at 4 weeks ²⁷³.

1.8.3.2 Catheter and surgical ablation

Ablation of AF has become an alternative to AADs for rhythm control in patients with AF. Catheter ablation is indicated in patients with paroxysmal, persistent or long-standing persistent AF that is refractory or intolerant to AADs, and in some patients with symptomatic paroxysmal AF ^{2, 144}. The goal of ablation procedure is to make tissular lesions that prevent AF by eliminating the triggers that initiate it or modifying the substrate that maintains it.

Catheter ablation of AF is mainly performed in the left atrium, which is accessed from the right atrium by trans-septal puncture. Ablation is achieved through the application of radiofrequency energy. Radiofrequency ablation causes myocardial necrosis through tissue heating by delivering a low voltage alternating electrical current from the tip of the ablation catheter. Cryoablation or laser ablation are used as alternative ablation techniques applied through balloon-tipped catheters that are inflated at the opening of the pulmonary veins and ultimately, electrically isolate the pulmonary veins from the left atrium by circumferential lesions ². The effectiveness of catheter ablation of AF varies widely, depending on several factors including the type of AF, comorbidities, the experience of the operator, and the duration and intensity of follow up ². Ablation success rates for a single procedure are higher in patients with paroxysmal AF and a relatively normal heart (60–75%) than in those with persistent and long-standing persistent AF (45–60%) ².

Catheter ablation also carries a risk, with an overall incidence of major complications of 4.5% ²⁷⁴. Such complications include cardio-embolism, myocardial perforation with subsequent cardiac tamponade, pulmonary vein stenosis, phrenic nerve and vagal plexus injury, gastroesophageal hypomobility or atrio-oesophageal fistula ². Strategies to prevent these complications include periprocedural anticoagulation, intracardiac echocardiography, titration of power and contact force during ablation, and monitoring the oesophageal temperature ².

Surgical ablation is an alternative to catheter ablation. It is usually performed in patients undergoing cardiac surgery ². The mainstay of surgical ablation is the Maze procedure, which is a form of substrate modification that involves producing a bi-atrial set of transmural linear lesions in order to interrupt all possible re-entrant circuits ². Surgical ablation has evolved over time. It now uses modern techniques such as radiofrequency or cryoablation to create lesions, and can be performed through minimally invasive approaches ².

1.8.4 Rate versus rhythm control strategies

Several randomized clinical trials have compared rate and rhythm control strategies in patients with AF ²⁷⁵⁻²⁸¹. Most of the older studies showed similar outcomes in terms of death and thromboembolism. However, in one trial quality of life was improved by rhythm control

²⁸⁰. The most recent trial, the EAST-AFNET 4 trial, which included patients with early AF (diagnosed within a year of enrolment) demonstrated a reduced risk of cardiovascular adverse outcomes, including death, when catheter ablation was allowed in the rhythm control arm, compared with the rate control strategy ²⁸¹.

1.8.4.1 AFFIRM AND RACE trials

These are the first major randomized controlled trials comparing rhythm control to rate control for the management of patients with AF.

1.8.4.1.1 The AFFIRM trial

In this trial, 4060 patients aged at least 65 years (mean [SD] age, 69.7[9.0] years) with recurrent AF, a high risk of stroke or death, and no contraindications to antiarrhythmic or anticoagulation therapy were randomly assigned to a rate control strategy (using digoxin, beta blocker, and/or calcium channel blocker) and anticoagulation with warfarin or to rhythm control with the most effective AAD, with the use of warfarin left up to the discretion of the investigator ²⁷⁵. All patients initially received OAC, but those in the rhythm control arm who maintained sinus rhythm could be withdrawn from warfarin. The primary endpoint was all-cause mortality.

After a mean follow-up of 3.5 years, there were 356 deaths among the patients assigned to rhythm control therapy and 310 deaths among those assigned to rate control therapy (mortality at five years, 23.8% and 21.3%, respectively; HR 1.15, 95% CI: 0.99-1.34, p=0.08). There was no significant difference in the composite secondary end point of death, ischemic stroke, anoxic encephalopathy, major bleeding, or cardiac arrest. More patients in the rhythm control group than in the rate control group were hospitalized, and there were more adverse drug effects in the rhythm control group as well ²⁷⁵. Two prespecified subgroups had a significant reduction in mortality with rate control: those aged ≥ 65 years and those without a history of congestive heart failure, coronary artery disease, or abnormal

LVEF ²⁸². A subsequent analysis of the AFFIRM trial suggested that the trend toward increased mortality with rhythm control was probably due to the adverse effects of AADs ²⁸³.

In conclusion, in the AFFIRM trial AADs were not associated with improved survival, suggesting that any beneficial antiarrhythmic effects of AADs were offset by their deleterious effects. An effective method for maintaining sinus rhythm with fewer adverse effects could have been beneficial ^{275, 282, 283}.

1.8.4.1.2 The RACE trial

The RACE trial recruited 522 patients (mean age 68 years) with recurrent persistent AF or atrial flutter (defined as non–self-terminating arrhythmia requiring electrical cardioversion to obtain sinus rhythm) of less than one year in duration, without contraindication to OAC ²⁷⁶. Patients were randomly assigned to rate control or rhythm control. Patients in the rate-control group received oral anticoagulant drugs and rate-slowing medication. Patients in the rhythm-control group underwent serial cardioversions and received antiarrhythmic drugs and oral anticoagulant drugs. The end point was a composite of death from cardiovascular causes, heart failure, thromboembolic complications, bleeding, implantation of a pacemaker, and severe adverse effects of drugs ²⁷⁶.

After a mean 2.3-year follow-up, 39% percent of the 266 patients in the rhythmcontrol group had sinus rhythm, as compared with 10% of the 256 patients in the rate-control group. The primary endpoint occurred in 44 patients (17.2%) in the rate-control group and in 60 (22.6%) in the rhythm control group, representing an almost significant trend toward a lower incidence of the primary endpoint with rate control (HR 0.73, 90% CI: 0.53-1.01). There was no difference in cardiovascular mortality (6.8% versus 7%). However, there was a trend toward a higher incidence of nonfatal endpoints in the rhythm control arm, including heart failure, thromboembolism, pacemaker insertion, and adverse drug reactions²⁷⁶. A substudy of RACE showed that quality of life was comparable between the rate control and rhythm control groups ²⁸⁴.

1.8.4.1.3 Limitations of the AFFIRM and RACE trials

The AFFIRM and RACE trials have a couple of issues that limit their applicability. First, participants in these trials were relatively old (mean age 70 years in AFFIRM and 68 years in RACE) ^{275, 276}. Hence, whether younger and healthier patients might benefit from more aggressive rhythm control was unclear. Second, symptom burden was relatively low among participants in AFFIRM, with nearly half of them who had symptomatic episodes of AF less than once per month in average ²⁸⁵. Such patients are unlikely to have substantial benefit from rhythm control. Furthermore, the results of the AFFIRM might have limited applicability in patients with higher symptom burden ²⁸⁶. Third, in both trials OAC could be stopped four weeks after documentation of sinus rhythm. This led to a higher rate of stroke. It has been postulated that continued OAC might have led to a lower mortality in the rhythm control group ²⁶. Fourth, these trials were conducted before the catheter ablation era. Hence, these trials could not provide information on the potential benefit of catheter ablation as an option for rhythm control.

1.8.4.2 The EAST-AFNET 4 trial

Unlike the AFFIRM and RACE trials ^{275, 276}, the EAST-AFNET 4 trial included catheter ablation in the rhythm control arm and included patients with AF of much shorter duration from first presentation ²⁸¹. The EAST-AFNET 4 was an international, investigator-initiated, parallel-group, open, blinded-outcome-assessment trial that randomly assigned 2789 patients who had early AF (diagnosed ≤ 1 year before enrolment; median time since diagnosis, 36 days) and cardiovascular conditions to receive either early rhythm control (with antiarrhythmic drugs or catheter ablation) or usual care ²⁸¹.

The trial was stopped prematurely for efficacy at the third interim analysis after a median of 5.1 years of follow-up per patient. A first-primary-outcome event occurred in 249 of the patients assigned to early rhythm control (3.9 per 100 person-years) and in 316 patients assigned to usual care (5.0 per 100 person-years) (HR 0.79, 95% CI: 0.66-0.94, p=0.005). Death from cardiovascular causes occurred less often in the rhythm control group (67 [1.0%] versus 94 [1.3%] events, respectively; HR 0.72, 95% CI: 0.52-0.98). Stroke occurred less often in the rhythm-control group (40 [0.6%] versus 62 [0.9] events, respectively; 0.6 versus 0.9 percent, HR 0.65, 95% CI: 0.44-0.97). The mean (\pm SD) number of nights spent in the hospital did not differ significantly between the groups (5.8 ± 21.9 and 5.1 ± 15.5 days per year, respectively; p=0.23). There was no significant difference between the two arms in the rate of the primary safety outcome (death, stroke, and serious adverse event related to the rhythm-control strategy). Serious adverse events related to rhythm control therapy occurred in 4.9% of the patients assigned to early rhythm control and 1.4% of the patients assigned to usual care ²⁸¹.

1.8.4.3 Choice of therapy

The choice between rhythm control and rate control should be thoroughly discussed with the patients, notably the benefits and risks of each strategy ²⁸⁷.

A rate control strategy should be preferred in ²⁸⁷:

- Asymptomatic patients with AF, particularly long-standing, recurrent AF. This is
 mostly based on the findings of the AFFIRM and RACE trials that showed similar or
 even a trend towards improved outcomes with rate control compared with rhythm
 control in patients with persistent AF ^{275, 276}. Furthermore, AADs were associated with
 a high burden of side effects ²⁸³.
- Elderly because they are often asymptomatic, with more commonly present with permanent AF, and they are more sensitive to the proarrhythmic effects of AADs.

A rhythm control strategy should be preferred in ²⁸⁷:

- Patients with high cardiovascular risk. This is mostly based on the findings of the EAST-AFNET 4 trial that showed a lower risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes than usual care among patients with early AF (diagnosed within one year);
- Patients who failed rate control (persistent symptoms or inability to reach an appropriate heart rate);
- Patients with heart failure;
- Patients aged <65 years, or those who have daily activities requiring optimal cardiac performance.

1.8.5 Risk factor modification

Obesity, physical inactivity, obstructive sleep apnea, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, dyslipidemia, alcohol abuse, and smoking are risk factors for the development and progression of AF ⁵⁵. Most of these AF drivers can potentially be reversed or controlled, and compelling evidence supports that addressing these modifiable risks contribute to primary and secondary AF prevention ^{55, 144, 288}. Indeed, patients with AF who comprehensively managed their risk factors demonstrate greater reduction in symptoms, AF burden, more successful ablations and improved outcomes with greater AF freedom ²⁸⁹⁻²⁹¹. The management of AF has long focused on OAC, rhythm control, and ventricular rate control ⁵⁵. Risk factor management is now integrated in major clinical guidelines as an additional pillar of AF management ^{55, 144, 288}, and one of the domains covered by quality indicators for the care and outcomes of adults with AF ²⁹².

1.8.5.1 Impact of risk factor modification on symptoms

Cardiometabolic risk factor modification and weight loss in overweight or obese patients with AF were shown to result in a substantial reduction in patient symptoms and AF burden determined by ambulatory monitoring in a randomized controlled trial ²⁸⁹. The intervention group who received risk factor modification and weight loss had marked improvements in in patient well-being, blood pressure, glycaemic control and cholesterol ²⁸⁹.

1.8.5.2 Impact of risk factor modification on catheter ablation outcomes

The Aggressive Risk Factor Reduction Study for Atrial Fibrillation (ARREST-AF) cohort study demonstrated the benefits of risk factor modification (RFM) on the outcomes of AF ablation ²⁹⁰. The study showed an improvement in AF frequency, symptoms, and duration in the group who underwent RFM compared with the controls. Furthermore, there were more favourable ablation outcomes with 62% AF freedom in the RFM group compared with 26% in the control group following single procedure. This was replicated in multiple procedural outcomes with 87% in the RFM group and 48% in the control group free from AF at final follow-up.

1.8.5.3 Long-term outcomes of risk factor modification

The LEGACY (Long-Term Effect of Goal-Directed Weight Management in an Atrial Fibrillation Cohort: A Long-Term Follow-Up) study provided evidence of the long-term benefits of aggressive risk factor modification and weight loss in overweight and obese individuals with symptomatic AF ²⁹¹. Achieving and maintaining weight loss was facilitated by a dedicated physician-led clinic that was focused on the management of weight and risk factors. The study demonstrated that progressive weight loss has a dose-dependent effect on long-term freedom from AF. In the group who achieved a $\geq 10\%$ loss of their initial body mass, 46% of them remained free from AF without the use of rhythm control strategies over 5-year follow-up. Furthermore, weight fluctuation of >5% had an adverse effect on overall

freedom from AF, with a 2-fold greater likelihood of recurrent arrhythmia. Weight loss was also associated with beneficial structural remodelling, including substantial decrease in left atrial volumes and left ventricular hypertrophy ²⁹¹.

1.8.5.4 Impact of risk factor modification on AF progression

Higher AF burden is associated with increased morbidity and mortality. Compared with paroxysmal AF, persistent AF is associated with lower success rates for rhythm control strategies. Delaying the natural progression of AF from paroxysmal to more persistent forms is crucial for improving AF outcomes. This has been demonstrated by the REVERSE-AF (The PREVEntion and regReSsive Effect of weight-loss and risk factor modification on Atrial Fibrillation) study which showed that in overweight and obese individuals with symptomatic AF, sustained obesity is associated with progression of the AF disease whereas significant weight loss ($\geq 10\%$) is associated with less progression from paroxysmal to persistent AF and with increased reversal from persistent to paroxysmal AF or no AF ²⁹³. This improvement in AF burden may be due to reversed structural remodelling of the LA with weight loss. Reversal of atrial remodelling and improved outcomes of AF catheter ablation were also observed in patients with OSA treated with continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) ²⁹⁴.

1.8.5.5 Benefits of improvement in cardiorespiratory fitness

Few studies have provided evidence on the impact of exercise and cardiorespiratory fitness in the management of AF. The CARDIO-FIT (Impact of CARDIOrespiratory FITness on Arrhythmia Recurrence in Obese Individuals With Atrial Fibrillation) study evaluated the role of cardiorespiratory fitness and the incremental benefit of cardiorespiratory fitness improvement on rhythm control in obese individuals with AF. It showed that participation in a dedicated risk factor management clinic was associated with increased cardiorespiratory fitness gain. In overweight and obese individuals with symptomatic AF, preserved baseline cardiorespiratory fitness predicts long-term freedom from AF. There was a significant doseresponse relationship between baseline cardiorespiratory fitness with a 20% reduction in the risk of AF recurrence for each metabolic equivalent (MET) increase in baseline cardiorespiratory fitness. Furthermore, cardiorespiratory fitness gain with a structured exercise program has an additive effect to weight loss in improving the long-term outcome of AF. METs gain in cardiorespiratory fitness \geq 2 on top of weight loss was associated with 2fold increased chance of freedom from AF. Another randomised clinical trial demonstrated that aerobic interval training reduces AF symptoms, AF burden, hospital admissions, and cardioversions resulting in improved quality of life. These studies stress the importance of exercise in the management of AF, particularly as a strategy for rhythm control and AF symptoms improvement.

1.8.5.6 Cost-effectiveness of risk factor modification

One study addressed the cost-effectiveness of risk factor modification through face-to-face counselling in a dedicated clinic. The CENT (Cost-Effectiveness and Clinical Effectiveness of the Risk Factor Management Clinic in Atrial Fibrillation) study showed that lifestyle and risk factor modification in a dedicated clinic reduces the need for emergency department attendances, unscheduled specialist appointments, hospitalisations, cardioversions, ablation procedures and additional medications, leading to significant health economic benefits.

1.8.5.7 Implementation of a risk factor modification program

Lifestyle and risk factor modification can be implemented in different ways. When patients are managed in a dedicated risk factor clinic, the results are substantial ^{188, 295}. Patients with AF should be ideally managed in an AF management clinic with a focus on arrhythmia management covering OAC, rate and rhythm control, and a risk factor management clinic focused on risk factors, with a close collaboration between both clinics ¹⁸⁸. A lifestyle and risk factor modification programme should be implemented through a process ¹⁸⁸.

- Initial RFM clinic visit: this should build a good relationship between the caregivers and the patient, assess patient behaviour and motivation, discuss each individual risk factor, and advise to maintain a lifestyle journal.
- Second RFM clinic visit: on this occasion, patient lifestyle journal should be reviewed, and achievable targets set; patient behaviour and motivation should be reassessed, and regular appointments should be established to monitor progress.
- Subsequent RFM clinic visit: the lifestyle journal should be reviewed; medication adherence should be assessed; an evaluation of the progress should be performed to determine barriers and set new goals.
- AF management clinic visit: if symptomatic AF persists, AF ablation and/or AAD as per AF guidelines; if there is no symptomatic AF, consider AAD if required as per AF guidelines.
- Ongoing RFM and AF management: both RFM and AF management teams should continue treating risk factors and help maintaining lifestyle changes and sinus rhythm as much as possible. Clinic visits should be done as required.

Patient education is pivotal to establish importance for the individual in the health behaviour change process, to empower the individual to self-monitor and manage their condition, and ultimately to improve outcomes. There are several tools that can be used to assist in achieving the goals set in the RFM program. These include the use of a food diary, exercise record, home blood pressure monitoring, an AF symptom diary, monitoring of downloads from continuous positive airway pressure machines, and referral to other members of the multidisciplinary team ¹⁸⁸.

1.9 Sex differences in atrial fibrillation

1.9.1 Incidence and prevalence

The development of AF is highly influenced by age and sex. After accounting for age and other risk factors, male sex is associated with a 1.5-fold increased risk of AF ²⁹⁶. For instance, the incidence of AF was 3.8 cases per 1000 person years in men versus 1.6 cases per 1000 person-years in women in FHS ³. Similarly, men had a higher incidence of AF compared with women (4.7 cases per 1000 person years versus 2.7 cases per 1000 person years) in the Olmstead County study ²⁹⁷. This finding has been consistently reported across European and Asian populations ²⁹⁶. In the age groups at higher risk, males also have a higher incidence of AF reaches a peak at 32.9 cases per 1000 person-years in men and 30.4 cases per 1000 person-years in women. Consequently, the age-adjusted prevalence of AF is higher in men compared with women. For example, in US Medicare beneficiaries, the prevalence of AF was reported to be 10.3% in men and 7.4% in women ²⁹⁸. In randomized controlled trial of systematic screening for AF using intermittent ECG recordings among 75- to 76-year-old individuals in Sweden, the prevalence of AF was 15.0% in men and 9.2% in women ²⁹⁹.

Overall, men have a slightly higher lifetime risk of AF compared with women the lifetime (25.8% versus 23.4% at 60 years of age in the FHS ³⁰⁰, and 23.8% versus 22.2% at 55 years of age in the Rotterdam study ³⁰¹). However, because women live much longer, the absolute number of women with AF is higher than that of men, despite the higher incidence, prevalence, and lifetime risk of AF in men ²⁹⁶.

1.9.2 Risk factors

There is conflicting evidence as to whether sex plays a role in the association of various risk factors and the development of AF. The magnitude at which some risk factors increase the risk of AF varies between sexes. The risk of AF attributable to heart failure (OR 5.9 [95% CI: 4.2-8.4] in women and 4.5 [95% CI: 3.1-6.5] in men) and valvular disease (OR 3.4 [95% CI: 2.5-4.5] in women and 1.8 [95% CI: 1.2-2.5] in men) is much higher in women than in men ²³. On the contrary, postoperative AF is more common in men than in women ³⁰². The risk of AF conferred by increased BMI seems to be higher in men ³⁰³. However, there is no substantial difference between the sexes in the risk of AF attributable to diabetes mellitus (OR 1.4 [95% CI: 1.0-2.0]in men and 1.6 [95% CI: 1.1-2.2] in women), hypertension (OR 1.5 [95% CI: 1.2-2.0] in men and 1.4 [95% CI: 1.1-1.8] in women), and myocardial ischemia (OR 1.4 [95% CI: 1.0-2.0] in men and 1.2 [95% CI: 0.8-1.8] in women) ^{23, 296, 304, 305}.

There are data supporting the role of pregnancy in the development of AF. In the Women's Health Study there was a linear increase in the risk of AF with increasing parity, ranging from a hazard ratio of 1.15 (95% CI: 0.87-1.53) for a single pregnancy to 1.46 (95% CI: 1.10-1.94) for \geq 6 pregnancies, as compared to no pregnancies. This association might be due to the impact of hemodynamic, inflammatory, and hormonal stresses on the left atrium during repeated pregnancies ³⁰⁶.

1.9.3 Pathophysiology

Several mechanisms have been postulated to explain the sex-related differences in the development of AF. Men have larger LA dimensions, which have been associated in an increased risk of AF ³⁰⁷. The burden of atrial fibrosis, a structural change that promote AF, is

higher in women than in men, In a study using delayed-enhancement magnetic resonance imaging, left atrial fibrosis was $29.9 \pm 6.2\%$ in women versus $23.0 \pm 7.9\%$ in men $(p=0.003)^{308}$. Men seem to have greater expression of repolarizing ion channel subunits, which could accelerate atrial repolarization and favour re-entry ²⁹⁶ Female sex has been associated with a more negative resting membrane potential in pulmonary vein tissue in rabbit models, as well a preponderance of non-pulmonary vein AF-initiating foci ^{296, 309}.

Sex hormones seem to play a significant role in the development of AF. In a study in castrated mice, testosterone deficiency was associated with increased calcium leak from the sarcoplasmic reticulum leading to enhanced atrial arrhythmogenicity. This was corrected by testosterone replacement ³¹⁰. A human study showed an inverse association between testosterone levels and the risk of AF (HR 3.53, 95% CI: 1.69-6.37, for each SD decrease in testosterone) ³¹¹. Administration of oestrogen has been shown to prolong atrial conduction time, atrioventricular nodal conduction time, action potential duration, and the atrial effective refractory period, possibly through downregulation of potassium channel proteins or increased calcium influx (weaker repolarizing currents), eventually promoting atrial arrhythmogenicity ^{296, 312-315}.

1.9.4 Clinical presentation

There are major sex differences in the clinical profile of AF. Hypertension, heart failure, and valvular disease, seem to be more common in women, whereas obstructive sleep apnoea, diabetes mellitus, vascular disease including coronary artery disease seem more frequent in men ^{296, 316-322}.

Compared with men, women tend to present with higher heart rates in AF, and longer AF episodes ³²³. Women are more symptomatic (~40% difference in symptom frequency and

severity scores); they have more atypical symptoms, more functional impairment, more depression, and worse quality of life (~ reduction in objective quality of life scores) $^{296, 319, 322, 324-327}$. Consequently, women are more likely to seek care for AF 324 . However, quality of life scores have been reported to improve similarly after catheter ablation for AF in men and women 328 .

1.9.5 Outcomes

1.9.5.1 Mortality

Studies investigating sex differences in mortality in patients with AF have yielded contradictory results. In a meta-analysis including 30 studies and a pooled population of 4,371,714 participants, AF was associated with a higher risk of all-cause mortality in women (ratio of relative risks for women compared with men 1.12, 95% CI: 1.07-1.17) and a significantly stronger risk of stroke (1.99, 95% CI: 1.46-2.71), cardiovascular mortality (1.93, 95% CI: 1.44 -2.60), cardiac events (1.55, 95% CI: 1.15-2.08), and heart failure (1.16, 95% CI: 1.07-1.27) ³²⁹.

1.9.5.2 Stroke and systemic embolism

Although some studies have shown that female sex is a risk factor for stroke and systemic embolism in patients with AF, this observation has not been replicated in other studies. For instance, female sex was associated with an increased risk of stroke and systemic embolism in the Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation, the FHS, the Copenhagen City Heart Study, the Swedish Atrial fibrillation Cohort Study, and the ATRIA study^{320, 330-333}. As a result, female sex was included in the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and the ATRIA risk score, whereas it is not a component of the older CHADS₂ score ^{252, 264, 265}. However, the absent significant association of female sex with thromboembolism in other individual studies motivated the
revision of several AF management guidelines, including those of the Japanese Circulation Society, the Canadian Cardiovascular Society, and the National Heart Foundation of Australia Consensus Statement which excluded female sex as a risk factor.²⁶⁷⁻²⁶⁹

Furthermore, strokes due to AF are more severe in women than in men. Indeed, AFrelated stroke in women are of larger size and are associated with higher residual disability ³³⁴.

1.9.5.3 Dementia

In a recent systematic review and meta-analysis AF was associated with increased risk of cognitive impairment in the general population and in stroke survivors. This risk of cognitive impairment might be increased even in the absence of clinical stroke ¹⁷⁷. In an analysis of the Taiwan's National Health Insurance Research Database, female sex increased the risk of developing dementia compared to male sex in patients with AF. However, the magnitude of this association varied according to age groups. The difference was not significant for \leq 55 years (sub distribution hazard ratio (SHR) 0.89, 95% CI: 0.73-1.07), but increased between 56-65 years (SHR 1.13, 95% CI: 1.02-1.25), 66-75 years (SHR 1.14, 95% CI: 1.09-1.20), 75-85 years (SHR 1.11, 95% CI: 1.07-1.15) and >85 years (SHR 1.10, 95% CI: 1.04-1.16) for females.

1.9.5.4 Heart failure

The risk of heart failure attributable to AF seem similar between men and women. Few studies have reported a higher likelihood to develop HFpEF in men compared that women 335 . ³³⁶. In one study in patients who presented to the emergency department due to AF, women exhibited a higher rate of HF events than men (OR 2.73, 95% CI: 1.04-5.89) and shorter mean time-to-HF hospitalization (87.45±8.74 vs 164.5±18.80; HR 5.72, 95% CI: 1.30–25.05) 337 .

1.9.6 Management

1.9.6.1 Stroke prevention

Sex-specific differences have been reported in the patterns of OAC prescription and use. Women tend to receive antiplatelet therapy more commonly than OAC compared to men ³³⁸. Women are also more likely to be prescribed DOAC than VKA ^{339, 340}, and when receiving OAC, it is more frequently lower approved doses compared with men ^{339, 341}.

In terms of effectiveness and safety of OAC, in one meta-analysis of sex differences in residual stroke risk and major bleeding in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation treated with OACs, women with AF treated with warfarin have a greater residual risk of stroke or systemic embolism and an equivalent major bleeding risk. Those treated with DOACs deemed superior to warfarin are at equivalent residual risk of stroke or systemic embolism and less major bleeding risk compared with men ³⁴². Another meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials comparing the efficacy and safety of DOACs with warfarin in patients with AF showed no sex interaction in the superiority of DOACs over warfarin ³⁴³. No sex-specific difference was observed in the overall rates of bleeding with warfarin ³⁴⁴⁻³⁴⁷. However, major and clinically relevant nonmajor bleeding were substantially lower in women with AF treated with DOACs ³⁴⁴⁻³⁴⁷.

1.9.6.2 Rate and rhythm control

Several survey reported that women are treated more conservatively with less rhythm control than men ^{320, 322}. In the Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation, although women received less rhythm control therapy than men, long-term changes in quality of life and other morbidities and mortality were similar ³²⁰. In Rate Control versus Electrical Cardioversion for Persistent Atrial Fibrillation Study (RACE) trial, women treated with rate control had lower

incidence of the composite primary end point (cardiovascular mortality, heart failure, thromboembolism, adverse antiarrhythmic drug effects, and pacemaker implantation) compared with women treated with rhythm control (10.5% vs 32.0%) ²⁷⁶. Similarly finding was observed in the Atrial Fibrillation Follow-up Investigation of Rhythm Management (AFFIRM) trial with the primary endpoint of overall mortality ²⁷⁵. This difference was driven predominantly by the need for pacemaker implantation, and adverse drug effects of AADs.

1.9.6.3 Catheter ablation

Several studies have also shown a lower utilization of rhythm control procedures for AF in women ³⁴⁸⁻³⁵³. In most studies, women represented about only a third of patients who underwent catheter ablation ^{348-350, 352}. Women are more commonly managed with AAD therapy compared with men ^{348-350, 352}. For instance, in the ORBIT-AF registry, despite having more symptoms, more functional impairment, and worse quality of life, women had lower crude rates of catheter ablation ³¹⁹. An analysis of Quebec administrative databases showed that the annual proportion of women who had received AF ablation between 2003 and 2021 had not surpassed 30%, and that men had a 54% higher likelihood of undergoing ablation than did women ³⁴⁸. Women usually undergo catheter ablation after a longer course of disease (with advanced AF), with higher disease burden (higher proportion of persistent AF), higher symptoms burden, after failing larger number of AADs ^{296, 319, 354}. Furthermore, these women are usually older, with more comorbidities, have larger LA dimensions and higher prevalence of non-pulmonary vein triggers compared with men ^{328, 352, 353}. Similar catheter ablation outcomes have been reported between men and women, despite the later having higher-risk clinical profile before ablation ^{296, 354, 355}.

In terms of complications, several studies have suggested that women have higher rates of procedural complications during or following catheter ablation ^{352, 356-358}. Putative explanations for this include smaller cardiac and venous structures making venous access and

catheter manipulation more prone to vascular complications and cardiac perforation with tamponade ³⁵⁵. However, other studies reported no sex difference in catheter ablation complications ^{296, 355}.

1.10 Gaps in knowledge and aims of the thesis

1.10.1 Gaps in knowledge

There are persisting grey areas in the epidemiology and management of AF. This thesis tackles a few knowledge gaps:

- The current screening strategies for AF needs substantial improvement. There is a need to identify new clinical factors and biomarkers that can be incorporated into the current prediction tools to improve their performance.
- The seminal Cryptogenic Stroke and Underlying AF (CRYSTAL AF) trial revealed significantly increased AF detection with prolonged continuous cardiac monitoring with ICM over standard-of-care monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke ¹⁴⁸. Real-world data of AF detection in cryptogenic stroke are needed.
- The current stroke risk stratification tools have modest performance in predicting stroke and systemic embolic events in real-world cohorts. Hence, there is a need for new risk predictor tools incorporating both clinical factors and non-clinical factors such as left atrial imaging features, electrocardiographic markers, and biomarkers.
- Atrial fibrillation is common in patients with acute cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction or pulmonary embolism. The prognostic impact of AF in such patients remain unclear. Indeed, it is uncertain whether AF is a true prognostic factor or just a marker of co-morbidities or myocardial infarction or pulmonary embolism

severity. It is possible that AF could improve risk stratification of patients with these conditions.

• Several studies have shown sex differences in the pathophysiology and clinical patterns of AF. However, the impact of sex on the response to various treatments in patients with AF is largely unknown.

1.10.2 Aims

This thesis aimed to:

- Investigate the risk of AF associated with decline in lung function
- Evaluate the AF diagnostic yield using prolonged cardiac monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke
- Summarize data on clinical, biomarkers and imaging predictors of stroke in patients with AF
- Determine the potential added value of occlusive and non-occlusive carotid artery disease in stroke risk stratification in patients with AF
- Determine the prognostic impact of AF on patients with acute cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction and acute pulmonary embolism
- Identify sex differences in the management and outcomes of AF

1.11 Tables and figures

Table 1. Clinical scores for the prediction of incident atrial fibrillation

Table 2. List of biomarkers with a potential role in atrial fibrillation.

Table 3. MicroRNAs involved in the pathogenesis of atrial fibrillation.

Table 4. Studies comparing the predictive performance of the biomarker-based ABC scores

 with clinical risk scores.

Table 5. Characteristics of the main clinical stroke risk stratification tools in patients with

 non-valvular atrial fibrillation

Table 6. Characteristics of the main clinical bleeding risk stratification tools in patients with

 non-valvular atrial fibrillation

Figure 1 Summary of biomarkers according to mechanistic pathways and clinical utility.

Clinical score	Characteristics of the study	Variables included
	population	
FHS ³⁶	 4,764 individuals Age: 45-95 years Race: Caucasians 10 year-risk score assessment 	Age, sex, body mass index, systolic blood pressure, Pulse pressure, hypertension medication, PR interval duration, ECG left ventricular hypertrophy, heart failure, clinically significant heart murmur
ARIC ¹¹²	 15,792 individuals Aged 45–64 years Race: African descent, Caucasians 10-year risk prediction 	Age, race, height, smoking status, systolic blood pressure, hypertension treatment, diabetes, coronary heart disease, heart failure, left atrial enlargement, cardiac murmur, ECG left ventricular hypertrophy, prolonged P wave duration
CHARGE-AF ¹¹³	 18,556 individuals Age: 6-94 years Race: African descent, Caucasians 5-year risk prediction 	Age, race, anthropometric data, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, smoking status, hypertension medication, diabetes, previous myocardial infarction, heart failure, PR interval duration
MDCS ¹¹⁴	 30,447 individuals Age: 44-73 years Race: Caucasian 	Age, sex, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, antihypertensive treatment, body mass index, low-density lipoprotein, high-density lipoprotein, current smoking, diabetes mellitus, previous myocardial infarction, heart failure
Suita ¹¹⁸	 6,898 individuals Age: 30-79 years Race: Asian 10-year risk prediction model 	Age, sex, systolic hypertension, weight, drinking status, coronary artery disease, smoking status, lipoprotein-cholesterol level, history of arrhythmia, presence of cardiac murmur
HATCH ¹¹⁷	 670,804 individuals Age: >20 years Race: Asian 10-year risk prediction model 	Hypertension, age more than 75 years, stroke or transient ischemic attack, chronic obstructive pulmonary

Table 1. Clinical scores for	the prediction of	f incident atrial fibrillation
------------------------------	-------------------	--------------------------------

		disease, heart failure
C2HEST ¹¹⁹	 471,446 individuals 	Coronary artery disease,
	 Age: 31-63 years 	chronic obstructive
	 Race: Asian 	pulmonary disease,
	 11-year prediction 	hypertension, Age >75 years,
		systolic heart failure,
		hyperthyroidism

Mechanism	Biomarkers
Inflammation	C-reactive protein, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-17A, IL-18, IL-27,
	IL-37, TNF-α, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1),
	Growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF-15)
Oxidative stress	NOX2, NOX4, Small G-protein Rac1, asymmetric
	dimethylarginine, reduced glutathione (Eh GSH), reduced cysteine
	(Eh CySH), isoprostanes, biopyrrin, malondialdehyde (MDA),
	nitrotyrosine, derivatives of reactive oxidative metabolites
	(DROMs), Growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF-15)
Cardiomyocyte	B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP), N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic
stress	peptide (NT-proBNP)
Cardiomyocyte	Cardiac troponin T and I
injury	
Atrial fibrosis	Relaxin, galectin-3, fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23),
	Procollagen type III N-terminal propeptide (PIIINP), type I
	collagen carboxy-terminal telopeptide (ICTP)
Thrombogenesis	D-dimer, von Willebrand factor (vWF), plasminogen activator
	inhibitor-1
	(PAI-1), thrombin-antithrombin (TAT)
Epigenetic	microRNAs, long non-coding RNAs
regulation	

Table 2. List of biomarkers with a potential role in atrial fibrillation

IL: interleukin; RNA: ribonucleic acid

MicroRNA	Source	Target gene	Remodeling mechanism	Regulatory mechanism
miR-1	Right atrial appendage	KCNE1, KCNB2, KCNJ2, HCN2, HCN4	Structural	Up
miR-1	Plasma	KCNE1, KCNB2, KCNJ2, HCN2, HCN4	Electrical	Down
miR-21	Atrial tissue	Spry1, Rac1-GTPase, CTGF	Structural	Up
miR-26a	Right atrial appendage	KCNJ2, NFAT	Electrical	Down
miR-26a	Right atrial appendage	TRPC3	Structural	Down
miR-26a	Right atrial appendage	KIR2.1, KCNJ2	Electrical/structural	Down
miR-29b	Rapid pacing model	COL1A1, COL3A1, fibrillin	Structural	Down
miR-30d	Right atrial appendage	KCNJ3/Kir3.1	Electrical	Up
miR-30	Atrial tissue	I _{KACh} , snail 1	Electrical/structural	Down
miR-31	Right atrial tissue	nNOS	Electrical	Up
miR-34	Right atrial tissue	Ank-B	Structural	Up
miR-106	Atrial tissue, plasma	RYR2, klf2a	Electrical	Down
miR-125	Atrial tissue/plasma	IL-6R, TNFa	Structural	Down
miR-126	Serum	EGFL7	Structural	Down
miR-133	Right atrial appendage	TGF-β1, TGF-β receptor-ll	Structural	Down
miR-138-5p	Right atrial appendage	CYP11B2	Structural	Down
miR-146	Left atrial appendage	TIMP-4	Structural	Up
miR-150	Serum, plasma	IL-6, IL-18, TNF-a/b	Structural	Down
miR-199a	Right atrial appendage	SIRT1	Structural	Down
miR-206	Rapid pacing model	SOD1	Electrical	Up
miR-208a	Plasma	CACNA1C, CACNB2, MYH7, Cx40	Electrical/structural	Up
miR-208b	Right atrial appendage	CACNA1C, CACNB1, SERCA2	Electrical	Up
miR-328	Rapid pacing model	CACNA1C, CACNB1	Electrical	Up
miR-409	Plasma	SMAD2, ITGB3, ACE, CDKN2B	Structural	Down
miR-432	Plasma	SMAD2, ITGB3, ACE, CDKN2B	Structural	Down
miR-499	Right atrial appendage	CACNA1C, CACNB2	Electrical	Up
miR-483	Plasma	IGF2	Structural	Up
miR-590	Right atrial appendage	TGF-β1, TGF-β receptor-ll	Structural	Down

Table 3. MicroRNAs involved in the pathogenesis of atrial fibrillation

Study	Biomarker-	Endpoint	Comparator	Cohort (external)	C-statistics
	based score				
Hijazi Z et	ABC-stroke	Stroke	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -	STABILITY trial: 1400 participants with AF	ABC-stroke score: 0.66
al. ²⁴⁴	score		VASc	or atrial flutter (689 on oral anticoagulation)	(0.58-0.74)
				with a median follow-up was 3.4 years and a	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc: 0.58
				total of 48 events.	(0.49-0.67)
Oldgren et	ABC-stroke	Stroke &	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -	RE-LY trial: 8356 patients with AF	ABC-stroke score: 0.65
al. ²⁴⁷	score	systemic	VASc,	randomized to dabigatran versus warfarin,	(0.61-0.69)
		embolism	ATRIA	median follow-up of 1.9 years and a total of	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc: 0.60
				219 events.	(0.57-0.64)
					ATRIA: 0.61 (0.58-0.65)
Rivera-	ABC-stroke	Ischemic	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -	Murcia AF Project: 1125 consecutive patients	ABC-stroke score: 0.662
Caravaca et	score	stroke	VASc	with AF stable on vitamin K antagonists,	(0.633-0.690)
al. ²⁴⁹				median follow-up of 6.5 years and a total of	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc: 0.620
				114 events.	(0.590-0.648)
Berg et	ABC-stroke	Stroke &	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -	ENGAGE AF-TIMI 48: 8705 patients with	ABC-stroke score: 0.66
al. ²⁴⁸	score	systemic	VASc	AF and CHADS ₂ score ≥ 2 randomized to	(0.63-0.68)
		embolism		edoxaban versus warfarin, median follow-up	CHA_2DS_2 -VASc: 0.59
				of 2.8 years and a total of 139 events.	(0.57-0.62)
Berg et	ABC-	Major	HAS-BLED	ENGAGE AF-TIMI 48: 8705 patients with	ABC-bleeding: 0.67
al. ²⁴⁸	bleeding	bleeding		AF and CHADS2 score ≥ 2 randomized to	(0.65-0.70)
	score			edoxaban versus warfarin, median follow-up	HAS-BLED: 0.62 (0.60-
				of 2.8 years and a total of 251 events.	0.64)
Hijazi et	ABC-	Major	HAS-BLED,	RE-LY trial: 8468 patients with AF	ABC-bleeding: 0.71
al. ²⁴⁵	bleeding	bleeding	ORBIT	randomized to dabigatran versus warfarin,	(0.68-0.73)
	score			median follow-up of 1.9 years and a total of	ORBIT: 0.68 (0.65-0.70)
				463 events.	HAS-BLED: 0.62 (0.59-
					0.64)
Esteve-	ABC-	Major	HAS-BLED	Murcia AF Project: 1120 consecutive patients	ABC-bleeding: 0.518
Pastor et	bleeding	bleeding		with AF stable on vitamin K antagonists,	(0.488 - 0.548)

Table 4. Studies comparing the predictive performance of the biomarker-based ABC scores with clinical risk scores

al. ²⁵⁰	score			median follow-up of 6.5 years and a total of	HAS-BLED: 0.583
				207 events.	(0.554 - 0.612)
Hijazi et	ABC-death	Death	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -	RE-LY trial: 8548 patients with AF	ABC-death: 0.74 (0.72-
al. ²⁴⁶	score		VASc	randomized to dabigatran versus warfarin,	0.76)
				median follow-up of 1.9 years and a total of	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc: 0.58
				594 events.	(0.56-0.61)

ORBIT score: Older age (\geq 75 years), Reduced hemoglobin/hematocrit/history of anemia, Bleeding history, Insufficient kidney function, and Treatment with antiplatelet; and HAS–BLED is Hypertension, Abnormal renal/liver function, Stroke, Bleeding history or predisposition, Labile INR, Elderly (>65), Drugs/alcohol concomitantly)

ATRIA (Anticoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation): prior stroke, age categories (≥ 85 , 75–84, 65–74, <65 years), sex, diabetes mellitus, chronic **CHA2DS2-VASc**: cardiac failure or dysfunction, hypertension, age (≥ 75 , 65 to 74, <65 years) diabetes mellitus, previous stroke, vascular disease and sex **ABC-stroke score**: Age, Biomarkers (high-sensitivity troponin T and N-terminal fragment B-type natriuretic peptide), and Clinical history of prior stroke/transient ischemic attack

ABC-bleeding score: Age, Biomarkers (growth differentiation factor-15, hsTnT, and hemoglobin), and Clinical history (previous bleeding)

ABC-death score: Age, Biomarkers (growth differentiation factor-15, hsTnT, NT-proBNP), Clinical history of heart failure

Score	Data source	Definition	Evidence
CHADS ₂	Medicare	CHF, hypertension, age (≥65	CHADS ₂ was superior to existing risk classification
Gage et al. ²⁵²	Database	$yrs = 1 point, \ge 75 yrs = 2$	schemes
	N = 1,733	points), diabetes, and	AFI scheme: C-statistic = $0.68 (0.65 - 0.71)$
		stroke/TIA (2 points)	SPAF-III scheme: C-statistic = $0.74 (0.71-0.76)$
			CHADS ₂ score: C-statistic = 0.82 ($0.80-0.84$)
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc	Euro Heart	CHF, hypertension, age ≥ 75	C-statistic was 0.606 (0.513–0.699) for CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASs
Lip et al. ²⁵³	Survey for AF	yrs, diabetes, stroke, or TIA,	vs. 0.561 (0.450–0.672) for CHADS ₂ . Patients were
	N = 1,084	vascular disease, age 65–74	classified as low (9.2% vs. 20.4%), intermediate (15.1%
		yrs, sex	vs. 61.9%), or high (75.7% vs. 17.7%) risk with
			CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASs vs. CHADS ₂ .
CHA2DS2-VA	J-RHYTHM	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc excluding	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VA superior to CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc overall [C-
Tomita et al. ³⁵⁹	registry	the sex category	statistic = 0.029; p = 0.02, NRI = 11% (1%–20%)] and in
	N =997		low-risk patients: [C-statistic = 0.053; p < 0.001,
			NRI = 11% (7%–14%)]
ATRIA	ATRIA, ATRIA-	Age $(65-74 \text{ yrs} = 3 \text{ points},$	ATRIA was superior to CHA2DS2-VASc: C-
Singer et al. ²⁵⁴	CVRN cohort	75–84 yrs = 5 points, \geq 85	statistics = 0.708 (0.704–0.713) vs. 694 (0.690–0.700),
	N = 10,927	yrs = 6 points), hypertension,	NRI 16% (14%-17%).
		diabetes, CHF, proteinuria,	
		$GFR < 45 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$,	
		sex	
ABC	ARISTOTLE	Age, biomarkers (hs-troponin	The ABC score yielded higher C-statistics than
Hijazi et al. ²⁴⁴	trial,	T, NT-proBNP), prior history	CHA_2DS_2 -VASs in the derivation cohort (0.68 vs. 0.62;
	STABILITY trial	of stroke	p < 0.001) and the external validation cohort (0.66 vs.
	N = 18,201		0.58; p < 0.001)
GARFIELD-AF	GARFIELD-AF,	Computed machine learning	The GARFIELD-AF score yielded higher C-statistics
Fox et al. ²⁵⁵	ORBIT-AF	model (web-based)	than CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASs 0.69 (0.67–0.71) vs. 0.64 (0.61–
	registry		0.66) in the derivation cohort. In the validation cohort,
	N = 39,898		GARFIELD-AF C-statistic was 0.68 (0.62–0.74)

Table 5. Characteristics of the main clinical stroke risk stratification tools in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation

Modified from ²⁶¹

ABC = age, biomarker, clinical history; AFI = Atrial Fibrillation Investigators; ARISTOTLE = Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromboembolic Events in Atrial Fibrillation; ATRIA = Anticoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation; BNP = B-type natriuretic peptide; CHF = congestive heart failure; CVRN = Cardiovascular Research Network; GARFIELD = Global Anticoagulant Registry in the FIELD; GFR = glomerular filtration rate; hs = high-sensitivity; NRI = net reclassification index; NT-proBNP = N-terminal pro–B-type natriuretic peptide; NVAF = nonvalvular atrial fibrillation; ROCKET-AF = Rivaroxaban versus Warfarin in Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation trial; SPAF III = Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation III trial; STABILITY = The Stabilization of Atherosclerotic Plaque by Initiation of Darapladib Therapy Trial; TIA = transient ischemic attack.

	Risk factors (score for each risk				Bleeding eve	ents in validation	cohort (per
Risk score	factor)		Risk categorie	es	1	00 patient years))
		Low	Intermediate	High	Low	Intermediate	High
ABC ^{1,}	Age(\dagger); biomarkers (\dagger) (GDF-15 or	<1%	1-2%	>3%	0.62	1.67	4.87
Hijazi et al.	cystatin C/CKD-EPI, cTnT-hs, &						
245	Hb); Previous bleed (†)						
ATRIA	Anaemia (3); severe renal disease	0–3	4	5-10	0.83	2.41	5.32
Fang et al.	(3); Age \geq 75 (2); prior bleed (1);						
258	hypertension (1)						
HAS-	\uparrow SBP (1); severe renal/hepatic	0-1	2	≥3	1.02-1.13	1.88	≥3.74
BLED	disease (1 each); stroke (1); bleeding						
Pisters et	history or predisposition (1); labile						
al. ²⁵⁷	INR (1); Age >65 (1); APT/NSAIDs						
	(1); alcohol excess (1)						
ORBIT	Age \geq 75 (1); \downarrow Hb/Hct/anaemia (2);	0–2	3	≥4	2.4*	2.0% ^a	5.4% ^a
O'Brien et	Bleeding history (2); \downarrow renal function						
al. ²⁵⁹	(1); APT (1)						

Table 6. Characteristics of the main clinical bleeding risk stratification tools in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation

Modified from ²⁵⁶

ABC, Age, biomarkers, clinical history; APT, antiplatelet therapy; ATRIA, Anticoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial fibrillation; BP, blood pressure; CKD-EPI, Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration; cTnT-hs, high-sensitivity cardiac troponin T; GDF-15 = growth differentiation factor-15; HAS-BLED, (uncontrolled) hypertension, abnormal renal or liver function, stroke, bleeding, labile international normalized ratio, elderly, drugs/drink (alcohol); HAS-BLED, (uncontrolled) hypertension, abnormal renal or liver function, stroke, bleeding, labile international normalized ratio, elderly, drugs/drink (alcohol); ORBIT-AF, Outcomes Registry for Better Informed Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation; Plt, platelet count or function; SBP, systolic blood pressure. *Bleeding event in original derivation cohort;

^a At 3 months; ↓ reduced/decreased; ↑ elevated/increased;

[†] Score for each variable in ABC score is based on a nonogram

Figure 1. Summary of biomarkers according to mechanistic pathways and clinical utility.



Legend. ADMA: asymmetric dimethylarginine; CRP: C-reactive protein; DROMs: derivatives of reactive oxidative metabolites; EhCySH: reduced cysteine; Eh GSH: reduced glutathione; FGF-23: fibroblast growth factor 23; GDF-15: growth differentiation factor 15; IL-6: interleukin 6; MDA: malondialdehyde; MPO: myeloperoxidase

CHAPTER 2:

Incident atrial fibrillation in relation to ventilatory

parameters: a prospective cohort study

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Incident atrial fibrillation in relation to ventilatory parameters: a prospective cohort study		
	🖾 Published		
	□ Accepted for publication		
Publication Status	□ Submitted for publication		
	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style		
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ , Tu SJ, Emami M, Middeldorp ME, Elliot A, Sanders P. Incident atrial fibrillation in relation to ventilatory parameters: a prospective cohort study		

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, access to data manuscript drafting, manuscript revisi	a, data a ion	nalysis, data interpretation,
Overall percentage (%)	50%		
Certification	This paper reports on original research of my Higher Degree by Research ca any obligations or contractual agreer would constrain its inclusion in this this paper.	ch I con andidatu ments w thesis. I	ducted during the period are and is not subject to ith a third party that am the primary author of
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Samuel J. Tu			
Contribution to the Paper	Access to data, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript revisio (25%)			
Signature			Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Mehrdad Emami
Contribution to the Paper	Access to data, manuscript revision (5%)
Signature	Date 3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/22/2022

Name of Co-Author	Adrian Elliot			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)			
Signature			Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, access to data, manuscript revision (10%)		
Signature	<i>I</i>	Date	3/12/2022

2.1 Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF) has become an important global health problem owing to its increasing prevalence and to its complications including stroke, heart failure, dementia, and death ^{11, 72}. In 2019, nearly 60 million individuals were affected (0.51% of global population), representing about a doubling compared to prevalent cases in 1990 ⁷². This surge in the prevalence of AF is driven mainly by aging, cardiometabolic risk factors such as hypertension, obesity, diabetes mellitus, and cardiac disease ⁵⁵. However, these traditional risk factors represent only about half of the attributable risk of AF ³⁷, indicating that there might be other important factors contributing to the risk of AF.

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) defined by irreversible airflow obstruction is very common in patients with AF, with a prevalence estimated at nearly 25% ⁹⁸. COPD has been shown to be an independent predictor of AF, to promote AF progression from paroxysmal to sustained forms, to increase AF recurrence after electrical cardioversion, and to reduce the efficacy of catheter ablation ⁹⁸. Furthermore, previous studies have shown an association between lung function measured by forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1) and forced vital capacity (FVC) and incident AF, where reduced ventilatory function is associated with increased risk ^{23, 99-102}. However, these studies were mostly based on former cohorts of patients initially recruited several decades ago, in the 1970s and 1980s. Furthermore, these studies used standards of spirometry that differ from the current recommendations ¹⁰³, implying that their findings might not have the external validity of contemporaneous studies.

The UK Biobank (UKB) represents one of the largest contemporaneous cohorts that allow the study of factors associated with the development of disease ³⁶⁰. Its cohort with spirometry is larger than the combined number of participants in previous large studies on the association between lung function and AF ^{23, 99-102}, and is considered the most inclusive

sample with usable spirograms ³⁶¹. In the current study, we assessed the relationship between incident AF and several ventilatory function parameters including FEV1, FVC, FEV1/FVC ratio, and the corresponding Global Lung Initiative 2012 (GLI-2012) z-scores for each of them, in the UKB. We hypothesized that decline in ventilatory function would be associated with incident AF.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study population

The UKB recruited over 500,000 volunteers aged 40-69 years in 22 recruitment centres throughout England, Wales and Scotland between 2006 and 2010. At enrolment, sociodemographic and lifestyle information was collected via a questionnaire; anthropomorphic measurements and verbal interviews for comorbidities were recorded. A various set of investigations including spirometry were also performed. Death and hospital records were available through linkage with national databases. For this analysis, we included all participants with available spirometry measurements, and excluded those with a prior diagnosis of AF. Non-White participants did not have available spirometry data in the UK Biobank data fields utilised for this study and were therefore excluded.

2.2.2 Assessment of ventilatory function

Spirometry was performed using a handheld pneumotachograph spirometer (Pneumotrac 6800) from which volume–time arrays were stored for each blow, and FEV1 and FVC were recorded. The cohort had 81% of participants who performed two blows with acceptable start and measures of FEV1 reproducible within 250 mL, making it the most inclusive sample of usable spirograms ³⁶¹. Furthermore, based on end-blow quality, 58% of the cohort had a good plateau and both FEV1 and FVC reproducible within 150 mL as recommended by the

American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society (ATS/ERS) Task Force on Standardisation of Spirometry ^{103, 361}. UK Biobank data fields 20150 and 20151 were used in the current analysis, which correspond to the best measure of FEV1 and FVC respectively. They were measured at baseline. FEV1/FVC was derived as the ratio between the two values.

The Caucasian-specific GLI-2012 reference equations were used to calculate predicted FEV1, and FEV1, FVC and FEV1/FVC z-scores in this cohort. The GLI-2012 reference equations predict the estimated spirometry values for a standardised person of the same gender, age, ethnicity and height, who has no history of lung disease and is a lifelong non-smoker ³⁶². The z-score corresponds to the relative position of a participant in this standardised distribution.

2.2.3 Covariates

The following covariates were self-reported at baseline: age, sex, race, education, assessment center attended, and smoking status. The Townsend deprivation index, a measure of material deprivation, was calculated based on census data and each participant's postcode ³⁶³. Body mass index (BMI) was measured according to a standard protocol. Total metabolic equivalent of task (MET)-minutes/week was calculated from a modified International Physical Activity Questionnaire ³⁶⁴. As previously described ⁹⁶, comorbidities at baseline were identified from: 1) self-report on the baseline questionnaire; 2) standardized verbal interview at enrolment; 3) hospital inpatient diagnosis codes; or 4) hospital operation/procedure codes.

2.2.4 Outcome

The outcome was incident AF (including atrial flutter), identified by the first occurrence of a relevant: 1) hospital inpatient diagnosis: 2) hospital ablation procedure; or 3) AF-related death, as previously described ³⁶⁵.

2.2.5 Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics were expressed as frequencies and percentages while continuous variables were expressed as mean and standard deviation. We assessed differences between participants with and without incident AF using the Pearson's Chi square test and unpaired ttests as appropriate. Standardised differences between participants with and without incident AF were measured using Cohen's D and Cramer's V for continuous and categorical variables, respectively. The greater the number, the greater the effect size; however, values between the two statistics are not comparable. Cox proportional hazards models were used to assess the association between ventilatory parameters and the first occurrence of AF. Age was used as the timescale, and individuals were considered at risk from the date of enrolment into the UK Biobank, until the: 1) date of incident AF; 2) date of death; 3) date lost to follow-up; or 4) end of available follow-up, whichever came first. Ventilatory parameters including FEV1, FEV1 percentage predicted, FEV1/FVC ratio, FEV1 z-score, FVC z-score, and FEV1/FVC z-score were each included in the model separately as restricted cubic splines with 4 knots placed at the 5th, 35th, 65th, and 95th percentiles, which provided the best fit for most models (Supplementary Table 1). The reference value was defined as the median value of the ventilatory parameter except for the z-scores, where zero (median value in the predicted distribution) was the reference.

The regression model was stratified by sex and assessment centre attended at baseline (1 of 22 centres) and included education (college or university degree, vocational qualifications, optional national examinations at ages 17 to 18 years, national examinations at age 16 years, none of the above, unknown), Townsend deprivation index (in quintiles), lifestyles factors including smoking status (never, past, current, unknown), smoking pack-years (0, 1–10, 10–20, >20, or unknown), alcohol drinker status (never, past, current, unknown), alcohol amount (<7, 7–14, 14–28 or >28 UK standard drinks/week, or unknown),

BMI (<18, 18–25, 25–30, >30 kg/m²), and total MET-minutes/week (<500, 500-1500, >1500, or unknown), and baseline comorbidities including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, heart failure, coronary artery disease, heart failure, valvular disease, obstructive sleep apnoea, and chronic kidney disease. Hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) were estimated by general contrasts of regression coefficients, using the median values of covariates. Furthermore, we assessed the association between COPD, identified by self-report or hospital inpatient diagnosis, and incident AF using multivariable regression analyses in the model defined above (excluding ventilatory parameters due to potential collinearity). The proportional hazards assumption was tested using Schoenfeld residuals and interaction with time, and no major violations were present after stratifying the model by sex and assessment centre. A two-tailed p-value of ≤ 0.05 was considered significant. All analyses were conducted using the R statistical software (version 4.0.2, The R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria).

2.2.6 Ethical considerations

This project was performed under UK Biobank application number 76720. The UKB has ethical approval from the North West Multi-centre Research Ethics Committee. This secondary analysis of de-identified data from the UKB was also granted approval by the Central Adelaide Local Health Network (CAHLN) Human Research Ethics Committee (reference number 16606).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Baseline characteristics

From the 502,490 participants initially recruited in the UKB, after stepwise exclusion of 29,810 non-White participants (spirometry data not available), 119,380 additional participants

who did not have valid spirometry measurements and 5,081 who had AF at baseline, we included a total of 348,219 participants (**Figure 1**). Compared to participants with spirometry data (**Supplementary Table 2**), participants without spirometry data were more likely women (55.9 vs 53.8%, difference in proportion 2.1% [95% CI: 1.8–2.4]), had more cardiovascular risk factors, more likely had AF (1.8 vs 1.4%, difference in proportion 0.3% [95% CI: 0.2–0.4]) and COPD (3.2 vs 1.8%, difference in proportion 1.4% [95% CI: 1.3–1.5]) but not asthma (12.0 vs 12.2%, difference in proportion 0.2% [95% CI: 0.0–0.4]) at baseline.

After a median follow-up of 11.5 years (IQR 11.0-12.6), there were 18,188 cases of incident AF. The baseline characteristics of the study population are summarized in **Table 1**. Compared with participants without incident AF, those that developed incident AF during follow-up were older (62.4 vs 56.6 years, mean difference 5.8 years [95% CI: 5.7–5.9]), had more cardiovascular risk factors, had lower FEV1 (2.74 vs 2.86 L, mean difference 0.12 L [95% CI: 0.11–0.13]), FVC (3.72 vs 3.78 L, mean difference 0.07 L [95% CI: 0.05–0.08]), and FEV1/FVC ratio (0.735 vs 0.756, mean difference 0.020 [95% CI: 0.019–0.022]) at baseline (**Table 1**). FVC between the two groups were materially the same (3.65L) despite statistically significant comparison. The characteristics of the study population by diagnosis of asthma and/or COPD at baseline are presented in **Supplementary Table 3**. Participants with a diagnosis of asthma and/or COPD at baseline were more comorbid and had lower ventilatory parameters compared to those who were disease free.

2.3.2 FEV1, FEV1 percentage predicted, FEV1 z-score and incident AF

There was a U-shaped relationship between FEV1 and AF risk (**Figure 2, Panel A**). The nadir of risk was at an FEV1 value at 2.97L, which was near the median FEV1 value. The point estimates were, for FEV1 of 1.5L, adjusted HR (aHR) 1.36 (95% CI: 1.29-1.43); FEV1 of 3.0L, aHR 0.99 (95% CI: 0.98-1.01); and FEV1 of 4.5L, aHR 1.21 (95% CI: 1.13-1.29).

There was a strong, almost negative linear association between FEV1 percentage predicted and incident AF (**Figure 2, Panel B**). Similarly, the risk of AF increased with decreasing GLI-2012 FEV1 z-score standardized for age, sex, and height (**Figure 2, Panel C**).

2.3.3 FVC, FVC z-score and incident AF

There was a U-shaped relationship between FVC and AF risk, (**Figure 3, Panel A**). The point estimates were, for FVC of 2.0L, 1.27 (95% CI: 1.19-1.35); FVC of 4.0L, 1.01 (95% CI: 0.99-1.03); and FVC of 6.0L, 1.34 (95% CI: 1.26-1.44). For age, sex, and height standardized GLI-2012 FVC z-scores and risk of incident AF, there was a strong, almost negative linear association in those with z-score of less than 0 (**Figure 3, Panel B**). For those with z-scores above 0, there was an association with reduced incident AF, though the association flattened between a z-score of 0 and 1, such that there were no material differences in effect size with increasing z-score above this.

2.3.4 FEV1/FVC, FEV1/FVC z-score and incident AF

There was a near-linear relationship between FEV1/FVC and AF risk (**Figure 4, Panel A**). Every 0.05 decrease in the ratio appeared to be associated with an approximate 10% increase in the risk of AF. The cut-off of < 0.70 of FEV1/FVC is used to define airway obstruction. When this cut off is used to dichotomise FEV1/FVC, those with an FEV1/FVC ratio of < 0.70 had a 23% increased risk of AF (aHR 1.23, 95% CI: 1.19-1.28), compared to those with an FEV1/FVC ratio of \geq 0.70. Regarding age, sex, and height standardized GLI-2012 FEV1/FVC z-score, the risk of incident AF was increased for z-scores < 0, but there was no significant association with incident AF for z-scores > 0 (**Figure 4, Panel B**).

2.3.5 COPD status and incident AF

Participants with baseline COPD and asthma had an increased risk of incident AF. There was a 36% increased risk of AF (aHR 1.40, 95% CI 1.29-1.51) in participants with COPD compared to those without COPD, and an 17% increased risk of incident AF in participants with baseline asthma (aHR 1.17, 95% CI 1.12-1.22) compared to those without asthma (**Table 2**).

2.4 Discussion

In this study we investigated the relationship between several ventilatory function parameters and incident AF. First, we observed a U-shaped relationship between FEV1, FVC and incident AF, with an increased risk of AF for both high and low FEV1 and FVC. However, after standardization to sex, age, and height, we observed that the risk of AF consistently increased with decreasing FEV1 percentage predicted, FEV1 z-score, and FVC z-score (**Figure 5**). Second, the risk of AF almost linearly increased with decreasing FEV1/FVC ratio. When considering the cut-off of < 0.70 of FEV1/FVC to define airway obstruction, we observed that participants with FEV1/FVC < 0.70 had a 23% greater risk of incident AF. Furthermore, patients with FEV1/FVC z-score < 0 had an increased risk of incident AF, whereas there was no significant association with incident AF for FEV1/FVC z-score > 0. Third, patients with identified COPD and asthma had respectively a 40% and a 17% increased risk of incident AF compared to those without these conditions at baseline.

Overall, our observation of increasing risk of AF with declining ventilatory function independent of smoking and other known risk factors for AF is consistent with findings from previous studies such as the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study ⁹⁹, the Malmö Preventive Project ¹⁰⁰, Copenhagen City Heart Study ¹⁰¹, the Cardiovascular Health Study ¹⁰², and the Framingham Heart Study (FHS) ²³. Our study adds to what is already

known by providing contemporaneous and more accurate estimates from a large cohort and with more potential confounders accounted for compared to previous studies. Furthermore, we provide for the first time an analysis of the association of ventilatory function and incident AF using z-scores derived from the GLI-2012 reference equations. These population-standardised comparisons are independent of age, gender, ethnicity, and height, all of which are known strong risk factors for atrial fibrillation ².

Several potential mechanisms contribute to the onset and progression of AF in the setting of decreased lung function or airway obstruction. Hyperinflation which is characteristic in patients with airflow obstruction increases end-expiratory pressures leading to pulmonary vascular resistance and subsequently to left ventricular interventricular septum encroaching and compromised inflow, and to increased left atrial and pulmonary venous pressures ^{98, 366}. Fibrosis and stretching of pulmonary veins due to increased intra-atrial pressure may trigger ectopic beats in the walls of the pulmonary veins where AF frequently originate ³⁶⁷. Hypoxaemia and hypercapnia resulting from impaired gas exchanges can also cause pulmonary vasoconstriction and subsequent pulmonary hypertension and ultimately right ventricular hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction ^{98, 368}. Animal studies have shown that induced right heart disease produced a substrate for AF maintenance prominently involving right atrial fibrosis and atrial arrhythmogenesis conduction ^{369, 370}. In addition, chronic hypoxaemia leads to systemic inflammation and oxidative stress promoting pro-fibrotic remodelling of the atrial tissue ⁹⁸. Individuals with airflow obstruction also have sympathetic overactivity which is involved in AF progression ⁹⁸. In patients with COPD, while atrial structural remodelling provides an AF-maintaining substrate, AF onset and paroxysms are frequently temporally related to acute exacerbations of COPD ^{98, 371}. All these changes induced by reduced lung function may be exacerbated by concomitant conditions such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, obesity, obstructive sleep apnoea, and cardiac disease, and ultimately constitute a complex and dynamic arrhythmogenic substrate for AF ⁹⁸. We also observed an increased risk of AF at high FEV1 and FVC values. This likely due to the confounder effect of height in predicting AF. Indeed, height is a well-known predictor of AF ². This is further supported by the fact that the U shape curves of FEV1 and FVC flatten when using FEV1% predicted and FVC z-score that are both adjusted for height. In addition to these potential mechanisms, genome-wide association studies should explore coheritability between lung function and AF.

The finding of an association between reduced ventilatory function and incident AF implies that ventilatory parameters might be used to improve prediction of AF. Validated clinical risk scores to predict AF include the FHS, ARIC, CHARGE-AF, C2HEST, and HATCH scores ³⁷². They use readily obtainable clinical variables, such as age, ethnicity, height, weight, blood pressure, smoking status, antihypertensive medication use, history of diabetes, heart failure, and myocardial infarction ³⁷². With area under the receiver operator curve (AUC) generally around 0.70 (AUC of 0.5 indicating no discrimination) ³⁷², these scores need to be improved. Among the ventilatory parameters evaluated in our study, those standardized for age, sex, ethnicity, and height had a more consistent relationship with the risk of AF. Because of their U-shape relationship with incident AF, non-standardized FEV1 and FVC are unlikely to fit well in risk prediction models. A similar U-shape relationship was observed between FEV1/FCV z-score and incident AF whereby patients with FEV1/FVC zscore < 0 had an increased risk of incident AF, whereas there was no significant association with incident AF for FEV1/FVC z-score > 0. This also suggests that FEV1/FVC z-score might not be appropriate for risk prediction. However, the ratio FEV1/FVC seem to have the best association with incident AF as suggested by its nearly linear association. This suggest that airway obstruction is more predictive of AF rather than isolated reduced lung volumes. Notably, the significance of airway disease towards AF risk is already appreciated in the C₂HEST and HATCH scores, where a diagnosis of COPD is a variable in these risk stratification models.

Our data also suggest that the FEV1/FVC cut-off of 0.70 which is used to define airway obstruction ³⁷³ does not appropriately predict AF risk as some participants with values ≥ 0.70 would still be at increased risk, compared to those with even higher FEV1/FVC ratios. Further studies are needed to evaluate the added value of ventilatory function parameters in AF risk prediction models.

Considering the increased risk of AF associated with COPD as shown in this study and the reported high prevalence of AF in patients with COPD in some cohorts (up to 25%) ⁹⁸, searching for AF in patients with COPD is crucial. This can be done using 12-lead electrocardiogram during routine clinic visits and hospital admissions. Appropriate rhythm monitoring strategies in patients with COPD should be determined. We also observed an increased risk of AF associated with asthma. There is limited data on potential mechanisms underlying the association between asthma and AF. Proposed mechanisms include shared inflammatory pathways of asthma and AF ³⁷⁴, and dysfunction of the airway autonomic nervous observed in patients with asthma that may induce atrial electrical changes leading to AF ³⁷⁵. A previous study showed that asthma and lack of asthma control were associated with moderately increased risks of AF in a dose-response manner ³⁷⁶. This stress the importance of asthma control for AF prevention. Further investigations should determine whether asthma could have an added value in AF risk prediction.

Our study has some limitations. First, participants included in our analysis were exclusively white and relatively healthy which may compromise its generalizability. However, it offers a cohort of patients with spirometry measurements of an unprecedented size, larger than the combined number of participants in previous major studies on the association between lung function and AF ^{23, 99-102}. A previous study on the association of

ventilatory function with mortality using several British cohorts demonstrated that the findings from the UKB were similar to those from more representative cohorts, hence generalizable to the British population ³⁶¹. Second, although we performed extensive adjustment in multivariable regression analyses, unmeasured and residual confounders may not have been accounted for. Third, because this study was retrospective and the assessment of comorbidities were at least partly done by self-report and ICD code identification, there is a potential of self-report bias and ascertainment bias from coding errors and disease misclassification. Furthermore, the definition of incident AF in our study could have excluded cases of paroxysmal AF that might not have been detected by ECG or by hospital diagnosis.

2.5 Conclusion

Our findings indicate that reduced ventilatory function is associated with increased risk of AF independently of age, sex, smoking, and several other known AF risk factors. However, there was increased risk of AF at high FEV1 and FVC values, likely representing the confounder of height in predicting AF. Future studies should assess the added value of ventilatory parameters in AF risk prediction models. Considering the high risk of AF associated with COPD and the frequent co-existence of these conditions, appropriate rhythm monitoring strategies for AF detection in patients with COPD should be determined.

2.6 Tables and figures

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the study population

Table 2. Association between chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma and incident

 atrial fibrillation

Figure 1. Participant selection

Figure 2. Incidence of AF in relation to FEV1 (Panel A), FEV1 percentage predicted (Panel

B) and GLI-2012 z-score for FEV1 (Panel C)

Figure 3. Incidence of AF in relation to FVC (Panel A) and GLI-2012 z-score for FVC (Panel B)

Figure 4. Incidence of AF in relation to FEV1/FVC (Panel A) and GLI-2012 z-score for

FEV1/FVC (Panel B)

Figure 5. Graphical abstract

Supplementary Table .1. Akaike information criterion (AIC) of the regression model using

different numbers of knots for each ventilatory parameter

Supplementary Table 2. Characteristics of the participants excluded

Supplementary Table 3 Baseline characteristics of study population by asthma and/or

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease diagnosed at baseline

Variables	Total (n = 465225)	Incident AF (n = 25592)	No incident AF (n = 439633)	P value
Sociodemographic				
Age, years	58.5 (50.8, 63.7)	63.9 (59.7, 67.1)	58.0 (50.5, 63.4)	< 0.001
• Females	54.8	38.0	55.8	< 0.001
Lifestyles				
Current smokers	10.5	11.3	10.5	< 0.001
Current alcohol drinkers	93.2	91.5	93.3	< 0.001
• Physical activity (MET-min/week)	1780 (813, 3570)	1790 (756, 3680)	1780 (813, 3570)	< 0.001
Anthropomorphic parameters				
• BMI, kg/m ²	26.7 (24.1, 29.8)	28.2 (25.3, 31.8)	26.6 (24.1, 29.7)	< 0.001
Co-morbidities (in percentage)				
Hypertension	27.8	48.8	26.6	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus	4.9	10.8	4.6	< 0.001
Hyperlipidemia	13.5	24.6	12.8	< 0.001
Chronic kidney disease	0.3	1.0	0.3	< 0.001
Heart failure	0.4	1.8	0.3	< 0.001
Valvular heart disease	1.0	3.7	0.8	< 0.001
Coronary artery disease	5.4	15.6	4.8	< 0.001
Obstructive sleep apnea	0.7	1.5	0.6	< 0.001
• COPD	1.7	3.9	1.5	< 0.001
• Asthma	11.6	12.9	11.5	< 0.001
Ventilatory function				
• FEV1 (L)	2.77 (2.30, 3.36)	2.69 (2.16, 3.27)	2.77 (2.31, 3.36)	< 0.001
• FEV1 percentage predicted (%)	96.6 (85.9, 107)	91.7 (79.0, 103)	96.8 (86.2, 107)	< 0.001

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the study population

• FVC (L)	3.65 (3.06, 4.42)	3.65 (2.97, 4.40)	3.65 (3.06, 4.42)	< 0.001
• FEV1/FVC	0.765 (0.724, 0.798)	0.749 (0.703, 0.785)	0.766 (0.725, 0.799)	< 0.001

Data are expressed as proportions (%) or as median (Q1, Q3) BMI: body mass index; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; FEV1: forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC: forced vital capacity; MET: metabolic equivalent of task

Table 2. Association between chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and incident atrial

fibrillation

Adjusted models	HR	LCL	UCL	P value
Model 1	1.61	1.48	1.75	< 0.001
Model 2	1.45	1.33	1.58	< 0.001
Model 3	1.36	1.24	1.48	< 0.001

HR: hazard ratio; LCL: 95% lower confidence limit; UCL: 95% upper confidence limit Model 1: sex, age, race, education, Townsend deprivation index, and assessment centre Model 2: all variables from model 1, as well as smoking status, smoking pack-years, alcohol drinker status, alcohol amount, BMI, and total MET-minutes/week.

Model 3: all variables from model 2, as well as comorbidities including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, heart failure, coronary artery disease, heart failure, valvular disease, obstructive sleep apnea, and chronic kidney disease




Figure 2. Incidence of AF in relation to FEV1 (Panel A), FEV1 percentage predicted (Panel B) and GLI-2012 z-score for FEV1 (Panel C)



Figure 3. Incidence of AF in relation to FVC (Panel A) and GLI-2012 z-score for FVC



Figure 4. Incidence of AF in relation to FEV1/FVC (Panel A) and GLI-2012 z-score for FEV1/FVC (Panel B)





•

Figure 5. Graphical abstract

2.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Akaike information criteri	on (AIC) of the regression model using different numbers of knots for each
ventilatory parameter	

	Numbers of knots					
	Three	Four	Five	Six		
FEV1	287731.2	287731.0	287731.8	287733.9		
FVC	287767.7	287768.7	287770.5	287771.8		
FEV1:FVC ratio	287647.8	287645.0	287646.2	287646.1		
FEV1 percentage predicted	287490.3	287484.8	287486.2	287486.4		
FEV1 z-score	287481.7	287478.0	287479.7	287480.1		
FVC z-score	287601.9	287595.3	287594.8	287595.7		
FEV1:FVC z-score	287683.0	287679.7	287681.4	287682.6		

The Akaike information criterion (AIC) is used to compare the quality of different models and is an estimator of out-of-sample prediction error. A lower AIC score is generally considered better, and a meaningful difference between two scores is generally considered >2.³⁷⁷ The knots were placed at the following quantiles: for three knots, 0.1, 0.5, 0.9; for four knots, 0.05, 0.35, 0.65, 0.95; for five knots, 0.05, 0.275, 0.5, 0.725, 0.95; for six knots, 0.05, 0.23, 0.41, 0.59, 0.77, 0.95.

Supplementary Table 2. Characteristics of the participants excl	uded	l
---	------	---

				Standardised differences	
Variables	UK Biobank (n = 502490)	Spirometry data available (n = 353000)	Spirometry data not available (n = 149190)	Cohen's D	Cramer's V
Sociodemographic					
Age, years	58.3 (50.6, 63.7)	58.2 (50.7, 63.5)	58.4 (50.2, 64.0)	0.006	_
• Females	54.4	53.8	55.9	_	0.019
• White ethnicity	94.1	100	80.0	_	0.386
Lifestyles					
• Current smokers	10.5	10.2	11.4	_	0.018
Current alcohol drinkers	91.6	93.7	86.6	_	0.117
• Physical activity (MET-min/week)	1770 (798, 3550)	1810 (832, 3600)	1650 (711, 3390)	0.059	-
Anthropomorphic parameters					
• BMI, kg/m ² Co-morbidities (in percentage)	26.7 (24.1, 29.9)	26.7 (24.2, 29.8)	26.9 (24.1, 30.2)	0.036	_
Atrial fibrillation	1.5	1.4	1.8	_	0.012
• Hypertension	28.4	27.2	31.4	_	0.042
Diabetes mellitus	5.5	4.7	7.5	_	0.057
Hyperlipidemia	13.9	13.3	15.5	_	0.029
Chronic kidney disease	0.4	0.3	0.5	_	0.018

Heart failure	0.6	0.5	0.9	_	0.022
Valvular heart disease	1.2	1.1	1.4	_	0.012
Coronary artery disease	5.9	5.1	7.7	_	0.050
Obstructive sleep apnoea	0.7	0.6	0.8	_	0.009
COPD	2.2	1.8	3.2	_	0.044
Asthma	12.1	12.2	12.0	_	0.002

Data are expressed as proportions (%) or as median (Q1, Q3). All comparisons between groups were p<0.001, except for asthma which was p=0.10. BMI: body mass index; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; MET: metabolic equivalent of task

Supplementary Table 3. Baseline characteristics of study population by asthma and/or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease diagnosed at baseline

	Total	Neither	Asthma	COPD	Both
Variables	(n = 348219)	(n = 302275)	(n = 39955)	(n = 3552)	(n = 2437)
Sociodemographic					
• Age, years	58.1 (50.8, 63.5)	58.2 (50.7, 63.5)	56.6 (49.1, 62.8)	62.5 (57.4, 66.2)	61.8 (56.0, 65.8)
• Females	54.1	53.7	58.0	46.6	54.8
Lifestyles					
Current smokers	10.2	10.2	8.3	25.0	22.3
Current alcohol drinkers	93.8	94.0	92.8	89.9	87.9
Physical activity (MET- min/week)	1820 (834, 3610)	1840 (852, 3630)	1720 (758, 3480)	1750 (693, 3870)	1440 (495, 3330)
Anthropomorphic parameters					
• BMI, kg/m ²	26.7 (24.1, 29.8)	26.6 (24.1, 29.6)	27.1 (24.4, 30.5)	27.3 (24.5, 30.6)	28.2 (25.0, 32.2)
Co-morbidities (in percentage)					
Hypertension	26.8	26.4	27.7	39.2	44.0
• Diabetes mellitus	4.6	4.4	5.2	8.2	11.4
Hyperlipidemia	13.0	12.9	12.3	22.4	23.2
Chronic kidney disease	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.7	1.2
Heart failure	0.3	0.3	0.4	1.6	1.9
Valvular heart disease	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.6	1.8

Coronary artery disease	4.8	4.5	4.8	14.7	18.8
Obstructive sleep apnoea	0.6	0.6	0.8	1.6	2.5
Ventilatory function					
• FEV1 (L)	2.77 (2.30, 3.36)	2.81 (2.34, 3.39)	2.56 (2.10, 3.11)	2.25 (1.69, 2.83)	2.00 (1.51, 2.55)
• FEV1 percentage predicted (%)	94.0 (83.7, 104)	95.0 (85.1, 105)	87.8 (76.5, 98.3)	79.4 (63.1, 92.9)	72.6 (56.3, 88.0)
• FVC (L)	3.65 (3.06, 4.42)	3.68 (3.09, 4.45)	3.50 (2.92, 4.27)	3.23 (2.61, 3.96)	2.99 (2.46, 3.68)
• FEV1/FVC	0.765 (0.724, 0.798)	0.768 (0.730, 0.801)	0.738 (0.685, 0.780)	0.705 (0.621, 0.763)	0.677 (0.588, 0.747)

Data are expressed as proportions (%) or as median (Q1, Q3). All comparisons for a difference between groups were p<0.001 with the Kruskal-Wallis or chisquared tests as appropriate.

BMI: body mass index; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; FEV1: forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC: forced vital capacity; MET: metabolic equivalent of task

CHAPTER 3:

Searching for atrial fibrillation after stroke

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Atrial fibrillation detection using insertable cardiac monitor after stroke: a real-word cohort study			
	D Published			
Publication Status				
	□ Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style			
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ, Thomas G, Middeldorp ME, Fitzgerald JL, Harper C, Sanders P. Atrial fibrillation detection using insertable cardiac monitor after stroke: A real-world cohort study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2022 Nov 9. doi: 10.1111/jce.15744. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 36349715.			

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale				
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, access to data, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision				
Overall percentage (%)	50%				
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.				
Signature	~	Date	3/12/2022		

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Gijo Thomas		
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis, data interpretation, man	nuscript	revision (10%)
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author Melissa E. Middeldorp Contribution to the Paper Conception and design, manuscript revision (10%) Signature Date 3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	John L. Fitzgerald		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Curtis Harper		
Contribution to the Paper	Access to data, manuscript revision (10%)		
Signature	·	Date 3/12/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, access to data, manuscript revision (15%)		
Signature	Date 3/12/2022		

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Rhythm monitoring strategies for atrial fibrillation detection in patients with cryptogenic stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis		
	□ Published		
Publication Status	\Box Accepted for publication \Box		
rublication Status	□ Submitted for publication		
	D Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style		
	Noubiap JJ, Agbaedeng TA, Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Fitzgerald JL,		
	Middeldorp ME, Kleinig T, Sanders P. Rhythm monitoring strategies for		
Publication Details	atrial fibrillation detection in patients with cryptogenic stroke: A		
	systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc. 2021		
	Apr 16;34:100780.		

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale				
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, bibliographic searches, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision				
Overall percentage (%)	60%				
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.				
Signature	Date 3/12/2022				

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Fhomas Agbaedeng			
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript revision (10%)			
Signature		Date	3/12/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Joseph Kamtchum-Tatuene			
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, data interpretation, manuscript revision (10%)			
Signature		Date	3/12/2022	

Name of Co-Author	John L. Fitzgerald		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature	- -	Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)			
Signature	· · ·	Date	3/22/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Tim Kleinig		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/23/2022

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%))		
Signature			Date	3/12/2022

Overview

This chapter focuses on AF screening after stroke. It is divided in two sections. The first section reports AF diagnostic yield in a real-world cohort of patients receiving prolonged cardiac monitoring with implantable cardiac monitor (ICM) for stroke. The second section is a systematic review with meta-analysis that summarizes data on AF detection rates across different rhythm monitoring strategies (non-invasive and ICM) at precise time points (e.g. 1 month, 3 months, 6 months, 12 months, 24 months or 36 months) in patients with cryptogenic stroke or ESUS, and explores factors influencing these detection rates.

3.1 Atrial fibrillation detection using insertable cardiac monitor after stroke: a real-word cohort study

3.1.1 Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is a major cause of ischemic stroke ¹⁰⁴. AF-related cardioembolism accounts for up to one-third of all ischemic strokes ¹⁰⁴, and AF increases the risk of recurrent ischemic stroke by 15% during the first year after stroke. Furthermore, the case fatality and disability are worse in ischemic strokes due to AF compared to those from other causes ^{106, 107}. There is also a substantial fraction of ischemic strokes for which the likely cause cannot be identified by routine investigations ¹⁰⁶. A proportion of these embolic strokes of undetermined source could be due to paroxysmal, asymptomatic AF ¹⁰⁴. Searching for AF poststroke is critical because recurrent AF-related stroke can largely be prevented by oral anticoagulation ¹⁰⁴.

The rates of AF detection poststroke vary significantly depending on the population, the monitoring strategy, the length of monitoring, and the duration cut-off to define AF episodes ¹⁰⁴. Insertable cardiac monitors (ICM) have become an important tool for AF diagnosis after stroke ¹⁰⁴. The seminal Cryptogenic Stroke and Underlying AF (CRYSTAL AF) trial revealed significantly increased AF detection with prolonged continuous cardiac monitoring with ICM over standard-of-care monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke ¹⁴⁸. In this trial, the rate of AF detection was 12.4% at 12 months and 30.0% at 36 months of monitoring using ICM ¹⁴⁸. These detection rates in clinical trials might be different in real-word settings. In a real-world cohort of patients receiving prolonged cardiac monitoring with ICM, the current study aimed to report the AF diagnostic yield in patients undergoing monitoring after stroke, and to compare it to the yield in patients with ICM for unexplained syncope.

3.1.2 Methods

3.1.2.1 Study design and data source

This is an investigator-initiated retrospective multicenter observational cohort study including patients from device clinics across multiple states in the United States of America (Alabama, Colorado, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, New Jersey, Ohio, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Texas, Virginia), receiving remote monitoring using ICM via PaceMate[™], a vendor-neutral digital technology software. Data were obtained from PaceMate LIVE[™], a software system that automatically integrates all remote monitoring transmissions from multiple device vendor platforms and streamlines them into a single user interface.

3.1.2.2 Study population and diagnostic ascertainment

We included all patients receiving ICM for stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA) (main group), and unexplained syncope (comparison group). Diagnoses were identified through the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10) codes. Patients with known history of AF or atrial flutter were excluded. We collected data on age, sex, monitoring information including date of ICM implantation, date of AF detection, and duration of the AF episode.

The study outcome was AF defined as an episode of irregular rhythm without detectable P waves, lasting at least 2 minutes, detected by the ICM and adjudicated by a certified cardiac technician.

3.1.2.3 Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were expressed as frequencies and percentages while continuous variables were expressed as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with interquartile

range (IQR) as appropriate. AF detection rates were assessed using the Kaplan-Meier estimator. In addition to detection rates based on the cut-off duration of 2 minutes for an AF episode, rates were also determined for cut-offs of 6 minutes, 30 minutes and 60 minutes. Cox regression analysis was used to evaluate the impact of age and sex on AF detection rate. A p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant. All analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 27.0 (Chicago, Illinois, USA) and STATA 16.1.

3.1.2.4 Ethical considerations

This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Central Adelaide Local Health Network, Adelaide, Australia (CALHN Reference Number: 14583).

3.1.3 Results

3.1.3.1 Sociodemographic and indications for ICM

We included a total of 2469 patients. The indication for ICM was stroke or TIA in 51.1% of them (n = 1262; 19.3% with TIA), and unexplained syncope in 48.9% (n = 1207). Those with ICM for stroke or TIA had a mean age of 69.7 (SD 12.2) years, with 41.1% being females; whereas those with ICM for unexplained syncope had a mean age of 67.0 (SD 17.1) years, with 59.4% being females.

3.1.3.2 AF detection rates

In this study with a median follow-up of 26.0 (IQR 13-29.3) months, AF ($\geq 2 \text{ min}$) was detected in 128 (10.1%) patients with stroke or TIA. The cumulative AF detection rate was 5.5% (95% CI: 4.3-7.0) at 12 months, 8.9% (95% CI: 7.2-10.9) at 24 months, and 14.0% (95% CI: 11.6-17.0) at 36 months (**Figure 1**). The median episode duration was 73 minutes

(IQR 10-456), ranging from 2 minutes to 40.9 days, with 52.3%, 28.6%, and 4.4% of episodes lasting at least 1 hour, 6 hours, and 24 hours, respectively. For comparison, the cumulative detection rate at 12, 24, and 36 months were respectively 2.4% (95% CI: 1.7-3.5), 5.2% (95% CI: 3.9-6.8), and 7.4% (95% CI: 5.7-9.6) in patients with unexplained syncope (**Figure 1**).

3.1.3.3 Impact of age and sex on AF detection

In patients with stroke or TIA, AF detection was increased by age (adjusted hazard ratio [for every 1-year increase] 1.02, 95% CI: 1.01-1.04; p = 0.003), but was not influenced by sex (p = 0.089) (**Table 1**).

3.1.3.4 Impact of AF duration cutoff on detection rates

Using different cutoff durations to define an AF episode resulted in different AF detection rates: $5.5\% (\ge 2 \text{ min})$, $4.4\% (\ge 6 \text{ min})$, $3.5\% (\ge 30 \text{ min})$, and $3.0\% (\ge 60 \text{ min})$ at 12 months; and 14.0% ($\ge 2 \text{ min}$), 12.2% ($\ge 6 \text{ min}$), 8.7% ($\ge 30 \text{ min}$), and 7.5% ($\ge 60 \text{ min}$) at 36 months (**Figure 2**).

3.1.4 Discussion

The main purpose of this study was to report the AF diagnostic yield of ICM in patients with stroke. In this large real-world cohort, we observed a cumulative AF detection rate of 14% at 36 months (**Figure 3**). The detection yield increased with age but did not differ between sexes. The AF diagnostic yield in patients with stroke in our study is lower than that reported in the landmark CRYSTAL AF trial, in which the rate of AF detection was 12.4% at 12 months, and 30.0% at 36 months of monitoring using ICM in patients with cryptogenic stroke ¹⁴⁸. The AF detection rate in our study is also lower than that of most previous studies using

ICM in patients with cryptogenic stroke or embolic stroke of undetermined source ³⁷⁸. However, a similar detection rate to ours has been previously suggested. In a small sample of patients (n=145) who had ICM for cryptogenic stroke between 2014 and 2018 at New York University Langone Health ³⁷⁹, over a mean follow-up of 28 months, AF was diagnosed in 12% of patients, with detection rate being 7.6% at 12 months, 9% at 24 months, and 11.7% at 36 months ³⁷⁹.

There are a few plausible explanations for the lower detection rates in our study. We used a cut-off of 120 sec to define AF due to the reliability of detection documented by the Reveal Linq device. Although the CRYSTAL-AF study used the same device in terms of reliability, the study reports including AF episodes >30 seconds ¹⁴⁸. With a 30 sec cut-off definition, our AF detection yield might have been higher. In fact, we observed increasing AF detection rates with lower cut-offs (from 60 min to 2 min). Furthermore, the proportion of patients with TIA (19.3%), as the indication for monitoring in our study, was higher than what has been reported in several previous studies. For instance, this proportion was 9.5% in the CRYSTAL AF trial¹⁴⁸. It has been shown that AF is more common in patients with ischemic stroke than in those with TIA ³⁸⁰. In the absence of detailed clinical information, it was not possible for us to investigate the association between the clinical profile of patients and AF detection rates.

According to pooled data from previous studies, most cases of AF (about half) are detected in the first six months after ICM implantation following cryptogenic stroke ³⁷⁸. We observed a different pattern in our study in which most cases of AF were detected more than 6 months after implantation. It is uncertain whether AF detected much later is responsible for the index stroke. These cases of AF might represent new onset AF resulting from increasing age and the impact of co-morbidities ¹⁰⁴. Indeed, in our study AF was also detected over time in patients with ICM for unexplained syncope, although the detection rate was almost half the

rate observed in patients with stroke or TIA. Further studies are needed to determine the clinical relevance of such cases of screen-detected AF, especially in view of the findings of the LOOP study in which ICM screening followed by anticoagulation initiation in cases with detected AF (duration ≥ 6 min) did not significantly reduce the risk of stroke or systemic embolism in individuals at high risk of stroke ³⁸¹.

Our finding of higher AF detection with increasing age is consistent with what has been previously reported in patients with cryptogenic stroke or embolic stroke of undetermined source receiving prolonged continuous cardiac monitoring ³⁷⁸. We found no association between sex and AF detection. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis showed an association of female sex with AF detection in patients with cryptogenic stroke ³⁷⁸. However, this finding emerged from univariable pooled analysis that did not account for potential confounders, and the association between female sex and AF detection in this population ³⁷⁸.

Our study has some limitations. First, because this study was retrospective and based on data from a real-world remote monitoring registry using diagnosis codes, there is a potential of selection bias and ascertainment bias. Second, information on the time between stroke and ICM implantation, investigations done before ICM implantation, and clinical characteristics were not available. Such information would have helped understanding the AF detection rates observed in our study. Nevertheless, our study is one of the largest real-world cohorts of patients monitored with ICM after ischemic stroke ³⁷⁸.

3.1.5 Conclusion

This large real-world study shows lower AF detection rates in patients with ischemic stroke compared to what has been reported in most previous studies. The detection of AF increases with age but does not seem to be influenced by sex.

3.1.6 Table and figures

Table 1. Association of age and sex with atrial fibrillation detection in patients with stroke or

 transient ischemic attack

Figure 1. Cumulative atrial fibrillation detection rates in patients with stroke or transient ischemic attack and unexplained syncope

Figure 2. Cumulative atrial fibrillation detection rates in patients with stroke or transient ischemic attack according to different cutoff durations

Figure 3. AF detection yield in a real-word cohort of patients with ICM

Table 1. Association of age and sex	with atrial	fibrillation	detection in	patients [•]	with
stroke or transient ischemic attack					

	Univariable Cox regr	ression	Multivariable Cox regression		
Factors	Crude hazard ratio	P value	Adjusted hazard	P value	
	(95% CI)		ratio (95% CI)		
Age (years)	1.02 (1.01-1.04)	0.007	1.02 (1.01-1.04)	0.003	
Male gender	1.64 (0.85-3.16)	0.143	1.78 (0.92-3.44)	0.089	

CI: confidence interval

Figure 1. Cumulative atrial fibrillation detection rates in patients with stroke or transient ischemic attack and unexplained syncope



Figure 2. Cumulative atrial fibrillation detection rates in patients with stroke or transient ischemic attack according to different cut-off durations



Figure 3. AF detection yield in a real-word cohort of patients with ICM



Legend. AF: atrial fibrillation; SD: standard deviation; TIA: transient ischemic attack

3.2 Rhythm monitoring strategies for atrial fibrillation detection in patients with cryptogenic stroke: A systematic review and metaanalysis

3.2.1 Introduction

Ischemic stroke is a leading cause of mortality and disability globally ^{382, 383}. Identifying stroke etiology is crucial for effective secondary prevention. However, in about one third of ischemic strokes, the likely cause cannot be identified despite extensive investigations according to current protocols ¹⁰⁶. AF-related cardioembolism is responsible for about one third of all ischemic strokes, and could be the underlying cause of a significant proportion of cryptogenic (CS) ¹⁰⁴. Ischemic stroke due to AF is associated with higher mortality and disability compared to stroke of other etiology ^{106, 107}. Because AF-related strokes can largely be prevented by oral anticoagulation, an active search for underlying AF is essential in patients with CS, including those with the more restrictive definition of embolic stroke of undetermined source (ESUS) ¹⁰⁴.

According to the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association (AHA/ASA) guidelines the clinical benefit of prolonged cardiac monitoring to detect atrial fibrillation after acute ischemic stroke is uncertain (Class IIb; Level of Evidence C) and there is no consensus on the most appropriate modality and duration of monitoring ³⁸⁴. The CRYSTAL AF trial was the first to evaluate the utility of prolonged continuous cardiac monitoring with implantable cardiac monitor (ICM) and demonstrated increased AF detection compared to standard-of-care monitoring in patients with CS (12.4% vs 2.0% at 12months) ¹⁴⁸. Several other studies have reported variable AF detection rates with ICM in patients with CS, depending on the length of monitoring or other potential factors such as the duration of qualifying AF episodes, or patient characteristics ¹⁰⁴. The current systematic review and meta-

analysis aimed to summarize data on AF detection rates across different rhythm monitoring strategies (non-invasive and ICM) at precise time points (e.g. 1 month, 12 months or 24 months) in patients with CS or ESUS, and to explore factors influencing these detection rates.

3.2.2 Methods

This review is reported in accordance with the Meta-analyses Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guidelines ³⁸⁵. It was registered with PROSPERO (CRD42020204206).

3.2.2.1 Literature search

PubMed/MEDLINE, Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE), and Web of Science were searched to identify all cohort studies or randomized controlled trials (RCTs) reporting primary data on the rates and predictors of AF detection in patients with CS or ESUS, published by July 6, 2020 (date of the last search), without language restriction. The search strategy used a combination of the following terms or their synonyms "cryptogenic stroke", "embolic stroke of undetermined source", "atrial fibrillation", "implantable cardiac monitor", "holter" or "telemetry" (**Supplementary Table 1**). The reference lists of eligible articles were also scrutinized to identify potential additional data sources.

3.2.2.2 Study selection

We included: (1) cohort studies or RCTs, (2) with more than 30 participants, (3) reporting on rates and predictors of AF in patients with CS or ESUS, or studies with enough data to compute these estimates, (4) using either ICM or a non-invasive cardiac monitoring strategy. We excluded AF screening strategies such as 12-lead electrocardiography (ECG), 24-hour Holter or inpatient telemetry that are normally part of the minimum work-up for patients with acute ischemic stroke. For records/articles reporting data from the same group/cohort of

patients, we included the single most comprehensive report with the largest sample size. Two investigators (JJN and JKT) independently screened records for eligibility based on titles and abstracts. Full texts of articles deemed potentially eligible were retrieved and screened independently by the same investigators for final inclusion. Disagreements were resolved via discussion and consensus.

3.2.2.3 Data extraction and management

Data were extracted using a standard data abstraction form by one investigator (JJN) and cross-checked by second investigator (JKT). We collected data on study characteristics, study population (CS or ESUS), sample size, etiological work-up, definition criteria for CS or ESUS, mean or median time from event to initiation of monitoring, minimal duration of qualifying AF episodes (e.g. 30 sec, 2 min or more), monitoring device, mean or median age, sex proportion , frequency of/prevalence of/proportion of patients with co-morbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, heart failure or previous thromboembolism (stroke or transient ischemic attack [TIA]), number of participants with AF detected at various time points (3 weeks, 1 month, 3 months, 6 months, 9 months, 12 months, 18 months, 24 months and 36 months), and risk estimate (hazard ratio, odds ratio or relative risk) with the 95% confidence interval (95% CI) for each variable assessed as a potential predictor of AF. For each study, the risk of bias was assessed using an adapted version of the tool developed by Hoy et al. ³⁸⁶.

3.2.2.4 Statistical analysis

Analyses were conducted with R statistical software (version 3.6.2, The R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria). We performed random-effects meta-analysis of detection rates using the inverse variance model. Clinical conditions potentially contributing to the variance of the estimates were evaluated by meta-regression, with the proportion of

categorical variables, such as diabetes, fitted on a continuous scale. Heterogeneity was assessed by the χ^2 test on Cochrane's Q statistic ³⁸⁷, which was quantified by I^2 values, assuming that I^2 values of <25%, 50-75%, and >75% respectively represent low, medium, and high heterogeneity ³⁸⁸. Heterogeneity across studies was further explored using the Leave-One-Out influencer analysis model, with the aim of detecting extreme effect sizes and assessing the influence of each study on the overall estimates. We assessed small-study effect by visual inspection of funnel plots and tests of funnel plot asymmetry (Egger's linear regression test). Next, we performed univariable random-effects meta-analyses to assess the association between clinical variables and AF detection rates, reporting this in odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI). For continuous variables, we converted the reported mean and standard deviations (SD) to standardized mean difference and rescaled to OR (95% CI) per SD change in the variable ³⁸⁹. All statistical tests were two-tailed and statistical significance defined as p-value ≤ 0.05 .

3.2.2.5 Ethical approval

This is a systematic review using published data. An ethic approval is not required.

3.2.3 Results

3.2.3.1 Study selection and characteristics

Database and bibliographic searches retrieved 1139 records and 47 articles were finally included (**Supplementary Figure 1**). The list of included studies and their characteristics are presented in the appendix (**Supplementary Table 2-4**). The included studies reported data from a pooled sample of 8,215 patients with CS or ESUS, were conducted between 2003 and 2019, and published between 2008 and 2020. Most studies were conducted in Europe (55.3%,

n = 26) and Northern America (36.2%, n = 17), with the most represented country being the U.S. (34.0%, n = 16). Most studies (59.6%, n = 28) had low risk of bias (**Supplementary Table 3**).

3.2.3.2 AF detection by implantable cardiac monitors

3.2.3.2.1 Rates of AF by duration of monitoring

The pooled rate of AF was 2.0% (95% CI 0.0-5.6, I^2 52%) at 1 week, 4.1% (95% CI 2.8-5.3, I^2 32%) at 1 month, 8.0% (95% CI 0.0-17.6, I^2 82%) at 2 months, 12.2% (95% CI 9.4-15.0, I^2 53%) at 3 months, 16.0% (95% CI 13.2-18.8, I^2 76%) at 6 months, 18.0% (95% CI 13.9-22.1, I^2 32%) at 9 months, 18.7% (95% CI 15.7-21.7, I^2 76%) at 12 months, 23.5% (95% CI 17.4-29.6, I^2 68%) at 18 months, 22.8% (95% CI 19.1-26.5, I^2 79%) at 24 months and 28.5% (95% CI 17.6-39.3, I^2 92%) at 36 months (**Table 1, Figure 1 [Panels A and B]**). Overall, AF detection rates significantly increased with duration of monitoring (*p* <0.001, **Figure 2**).

3.2.3.2.2 Rates of AF in ESUS versus CS

The pooled AF detection rate in ESUS vs CS was 16.4% (95% CI 11.0 – 21.9, I^2 41%) vs 10.7% (95% CI 7.8-13.6, I^2 43%) at 3 months (p = 0.067), 22.0% (95% CI 18.0 – 26.1, I^2 0%) vs 14.2% (95% CI 11.4-17.1, I^2 74%) at 6 months (p < 0.001), 22.1% (95% CI 15.3-28.8, I^2 62%) vs 17.7% (95% CI 14.4 – 21.0, I^2 78%) at 12 months (p = 0.2579), 24.8% (95% CI 16.6 – 33.0, I^2 65%) vs 22.3% (95% CI 18.0 – 26.5, I^2 82%) at 24 months (p = 0.592) (**Table 1**).

3.2.3.2.3 Rates of AF by minimal duration of qualifying episodes

The rate of AF was lower in studies using a cut-off of 30 sec compared to those using a cutoff of 120 sec. The detection rate for the studies using a 30 sec cut-off vs studies using a 120 sec cut-off was 11.1% (95% CI 4.9-17.2, I^2 59%) vs 13.5% (95% CI 9.4-17.6, I^2 50%) at 3 months (p = 0.509), 9.9% (95% CI 6.1-13.7, I^2 59%) vs 19.2% (95% CI 15.5-22.9, I^2 71%) at 6 months (p = 0.001), 13.2% (95% CI 8.1-18.4, I^2 0%) vs 20.7% (95% CI 16.4 – 25.0, I^2 0%) at 9 months (p = 0.03), 12.9% (95% CI 9.8-15.9, I^2 0%) vs 22.2% (95% CI 18.6 – 25.9, I^2 69%) at 12 months (p < 0.001), 17.9% (95% CI 12.5-23.3, I^2 70%) vs 27.0% (95% CI 22.1-31.9, I^2 73%) at 24 months (p = 0.01) (**Table 1**).

3.2.3.2.4 Rates of AF by device type

The pooled AF detection rate was higher in studies using Reveal LINQ compared to those using Reveal XT, although the difference was not significant at all timepoints. The detection rate for Reveal LINQ vs Reveal XT was 15.1% (95% CI 11.8-18.4, I^2 0%) vs 9.7% (95% CI 5.4-14.0, I^2 47%) at 3 months (p = 0.052), 14.7% (95% CI 10.6-18.8, I^2 81%) vs 15.8% (95% CI 10.7-21.0, I^2 73%) at 6 months (p = 0.744), 19.1% (95% CI 14.9-23.3, I^2 82%) vs 13.0% (95% CI 9.7-16.3, I^2 0%) at 12 months (p = 0.001), 25.7% (95% CI 19.5-31.9, I^2 89%) vs 23.3% (95% CI 16.0-30.5, I^2 65%) at 24 months (p = 0.618) (**Table 1**).

3.2.3.2.5 Publication bias, meta-regression, and sensitivity analysis

There was evidence of publication bias by funnel plot analysis and by Egger's test (p < 0.01) only for studies reporting AF detection rates at 6 months (**Table 1, Supplementary Figures 2-5**). We performed meta-regression to assess the source of heterogeneity in the estimation of AF rates (**Supplementary Figures 6-9**). At 3 months of monitoring, history of hypertension accounted for most of the variation in AF detection rate ($r^2=53.3\%$), though it was not significant (p = 0.07). At 6 months of monitoring, no variable significantly explained the variance in AF detection. At 12 months of monitoring, mean age and history of hypertension

explained 21.6% and 35.6% of the variation in AF detection rate, respectively, although it did not reach significance (p = 0.08 and 0.06, respectively). At 24 months of monitoring, history of dyslipidaemia explained most of the variance in the estimation (r^2 44.8%, p = 0.15).

Influencer analysis to ascertain the contribution of each study to the overall heterogeneity showed that no study markedly reduced the overall heterogeneity when its estimate was removed from the overall analysis (**Supplementary Figures 10-13**).

3.2.3.3 Predictors of AF detection

Data from 14 studies contributed to pooled univariable analysis of factors associated with AF detection (**Figure 3**). Age (OR 3.48, 95% CI 2.50 – 4.84), female sex (OR 1.35, 95% CI 1.04 – 1.74), left atrial size (OR 2.42, 95% CI 1.55 – 3.78), left atrial dilatation (>40 mm) (OR 1.55, 95% CI 1.08 – 2.23) and the CHA₂DS₂VASc score (includes age, sex, history of hypertension, diabetes, heart failure, vascular disease and stroke) (OR 1.84, 95% CI 1.00 – 3.38) were positively associated with AF detection.

Eleven studies reported multivariable estimates of potential predictors of AF detection (**Supplementary Table 5**). Due to high heterogeneity in these estimates, a meta-analysis was not performed. Age was consistently reported as a predictor of AF. In studies that used ICMs, other predictors included obesity, infarction in the posterior cerebral artery territory, total atrial conduction time assessed by tissue doppler imaging (PA-TDI Interval), left atrial enlargement, P wave maximal duration, prolonged PR interval and atrial runs (**Supplementary Table 5**).

3.2.3.4 Data on non-invasive cardiac monitoring strategies

Atrial fibrillation detection rates from studies that used non-invasive cardiac monitoring are reported in (**Supplementary Table 6**). A meta-analysis was only feasible for data on mobile cardiac outpatient telemetry (MCOT). The overall pooled AF detection rate (episode lasting at least 30 seconds) using MCOT was 9.5% (95% CI 5.6-13.4, I^2 64%) at 3 weeks and 13.7% (95% CI 10.2 – 17.2, I^2 64%) at 1 month (**Table 1, Figure 4**).

3.2.4 Discussion

This study aimed to summarize data on the rates and predictors of AF across different rhythm monitoring strategies at precise time points in patients with CS or ESUS. We found 1) a steady increase of AF rates with duration of monitoring using ICM; 2) higher rates of AF when the cut off of 120 seconds was used to define an episode of AF compared to 30 seconds; 3) higher rates of AF in patients with ESUS compared to those with CS; 4) association of older age, CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, PA-TDI Interval, left atrial enlargement, P wave maximal duration, prolonged PR interval and atrial runs with higher rates of AF detection.

Although there is still no specific recommendation on the optimal duration of prolonged cardiac monitoring ³⁸⁴, this study confirms that the longer the monitoring, the higher the AF detection rates in patients with CS. Therefore, it might be judicious to continue monitoring as long as possible until AF is detected. Most studies reported data on AF detection up to a maximum duration of ~ 36 months, probably because the current ICMs have about 3-year longevity. Although, as expected, the AF detection rate increases with the duration of monitoring, most of cases of AF (about half) are detected in the first six months (Figure 2). Moreover, it is uncertain whether AF detected much later, after two or three years of monitoring for instance, has any causative role in the index stroke. It is possible that AF detected long after the index stroke is of new onset, as a result of all the risk factors for AF

that patients with stroke usually have, including older age and cardio-metabolic comorbidities ¹⁰⁴. Furthermore, few studies have shown similar yield of new AF on ICM in patients with no stroke history and those with CS ¹⁰⁴. Altogether, these findings highlight the need to rethink the implications of prolonged continuous ECG monitoring after a stroke. Moreover, studies are needed to determine the adequate cutoff for AF burden that is significant and requires anticoagulation prophylaxis, as the current expert consensus to treat as significant any episode of AF \geq 30 seconds detected by continuous monitoring after a stroke is not evidence-based ¹⁰⁴.

The duration of cardiac monitoring to detect AF after an ischemic stroke might be individualized, based on a risk stratification score. The HAVOC score (abbreviation for Hypertension, Age, Valvular heart disease, peripheral Vascular disease, Obesity, Congestive heart failure, and coronary artery disease) was developed based on seven clinical factors to stratify the risk of AF occurrence in patients with CS or TIA. The score showed good discrimination (c-statistic 0.77) of patients into three risk categories (low, medium, and high), with the potential of being used to select patients for prolonged monitoring ³⁹⁰. Imaging parameters such as LA dimension and PA-TDI Interval, or electrocardiographic markers including PR interval and maximum P wave duration, could be combined with clinical risk factors to design efficient risk score to predict the development of AF in patients with CS. Blood biomarkers such as cardiac natriuretic peptides may also be useful to refine AF risk stratification ^{391, 392}.

We found that female sex was a correlate of AF detection in patients with CS. This finding contrasts with evidence of lower AF incidence rates in women in the general population ³⁰³. In fact, in a large multi-country patient-level meta-analysis including 141,220 individuals, the screened-detected AF rates were consistently lower in women across all age strata ³⁹³. The finding of higher AF detection rates in female patients with CS emerged from
univariable analysis and is, therefore, not free from potential confounders. Furthermore, the sensitivity analysis revealed that this association between female sex and AF detection was driven by one study ³⁹⁴. No association between female sex and AF detection was observed after excluding that study (**Supplementary Figure 27**).

Atrial fibrillation detection rates using ICM were somewhat higher in patients with ESUS compared to those with CS across all timepoints, with a marked difference at 6 months. An ischemic stroke is considered cryptogenic when no definite cause is identified during the baseline etiological workup, whereas an ESUS is a clinical construct that refers to non-lacunar non-atherosclerotic ischemic strokes of presumable cardioembolic origin. The relative lower rate of AF in patients with CS highlights the greater heterogeneity of stroke etiologies in this subgroup while ESUS are pre-selected based on their likelihood of being embolic and, therefore, related to covert AF. Moreover, it is known that patients with ESUS who have an ipsilateral mild carotid stenosis are 2 times less likely to develop AF during follow-up ³⁹⁵, and there are evidence to suggest that the mild carotid stenosis instead of AF might be the actual cause of the stroke ³⁹⁶. This further emphasizes the fact that a more comprehensive work-up and classification of stroke cases at baseline is important to increase the yield of ICM and may help optimize the cost-benefit ratio. Because advanced carotid and intracranial vascular imaging was not required for the definition of ESUS in the NAVIGATE-ESUS trial ³⁹⁷, it is possible that the residual heterogeneity of stroke aetiologies contributed to the neutral results of the trial.

This review shows that higher rates of AF were reported by studies using a 2-minute cut off to define an episode of AF on ICM than in those using a 30-second cut off. This observation should not be considered as indicative that AF detection rates are higher with a cut-off of 2 minutes compared to 30-seconds. This is actually counterintuitive, as the lower the cut-off, the higher the yield. In fact, the two cut-offs were not compared in the same

patients using the same devices. This unexpected finding can be partly explained by devices' capabilities to detect AF. While the 30-seconds cut off was established by consensus, the 2-minute cut off is the duration needed for an accurate detection by recent ICM. In fact, the most recent AF detection algorithms have a better episode detection accuracy than the older ones. For instance, the P-wave enhanced AF detection algorithm of Reveal LINQ is based on both R-R interval and a P-wave evidence score. The P-wave evidence score limits inappropriate AF detections in the original R-R interval pattern–based algorithm and leverages the evidence of a single P wave between two R waves using morphologic processing of the ECG signal ¹³¹. The algorithm requires a 2-minute detection window. As a result, Reveal LINQ has better AF detection capabilities compared to the previous generation device Reveal XT ¹³¹. Indeed, the detection rates in our study were higher with Reveal LINQ compared to the Reveal XT, although the difference was significant only at 6 months.

There was a relative high detection rate with 1-month MCOT, highlighting the importance of prolonged non-invasive cardiac monitoring before ICM. This is in keeping with AHA/ASA guidelines for secondary prevention of stroke which considers that cardiac rhythm monitoring for about a month is reasonable in the first six months following CS ³⁸⁴. Although it is striking to see that the detection rate with 1-month MCOT (14.4%) was higher than the detection rate with ICM at the same timepoint (4.1%), these rates are unlikely comparable due to difference in populations' characteristics. In fact, patients who had an ICM were likely a more selected population who had extensive non-invasive monitoring before implantation and therefore, with a lower likelihood of AF detection compared to patients undergoing MCOT.

This study has some limitations. There were differences across studies, in terms of participants' clinical characteristics and extent of etiologic investigations done before reaching the diagnosis of cryptogenic stroke. Even within the same study, the etiologic work-up was not always standardized. For instance, not all stroke units have inpatient telemetry and

when available, only a small proportion of patients receives it ³⁹⁸. The time between the index stroke and the start of monitoring, ICM for instance, was not always reported or when reported, it was done very differently across studies (Supplementary Table 3), making its contribution in interpreting the AF detection rates very limited. Moreover, many studies did not provide the criteria used to define ESUS. Therefore, it was not possible for us to make sure that appropriate criteria were applied. Furthermore, we could not appropriately investigate the predictors of AF detection. A multivariable meta-analysis was not possible due to insufficient data and inconsistent reporting across studies. Nevertheless, our review has important strengths. It has added value compared to previous systematic reviews on AF detection in the broader population of patients with ischemic stroke ^{399, 400}. Our study provides the most up-to-date estimates of AF detection rates and predictors from various rhythm monitoring strategies, specifically in patients with CS. We included only fully published peerreviewed articles, not conference abstracts, to ensure that we have data with the highest possible quality and avoid including duplicates. All analyses were performed at precise timepoints (e.g. 3 months, 6 months, 12 months, 24 months), providing a better appreciation of the trends of AF rates over time.

3.2.5 Conclusion

This study shows that more than one quarter of patients with CS or ESUS will be diagnosed with AF during follow-up and that the yield of ICM increases with the duration of monitoring. About one in seven patients had AF detected within a month of MCOT, suggesting that a non-invasive monitoring strategy should be considered before invasive monitoring. Predictors of AF detection during monitoring include older age, CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, PA-TDI Interval, left atrial enlargement, P wave maximal duration, prolonged PR interval and atrial runs. Such

factors combined in a score might help in risk stratification and selection of patients for extended ICM monitoring.

3.2.6 Tables and Figures

Table 1. Pooled estimates of atrial fibrillation detection using invasive and non-invasive cardiac monitoring strategies

Figure 1. Panel A. Overall pooled atrial fibrillation detection rates on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke (one week to 9 months)

Figure 1. Panel B. Overall pooled atrial fibrillation detection rates on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke (12 months to 36 months)

Figure 2. Relationship of atrial fibrillation detection with duration of monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke. *Legend: the black bold line and dot lines represent the curves of atrial fibrillation detection and the upper and lower limits of the 95% confidence interval.*

Figure 3. Univariable correlates of atrial fibrillation detection on implantable cardiac monitors in patients with cryptogenic stroke

Figure 4. Overall pooled atrial fibrillation detection rates on mobile cardiac outpatient telemetry in patients with cryptogenic stroke

	Number				Hetero		
Subgroup	of	No. of j	patients	Detection rate (95% CI)	I^2 <i>P</i> value		<i>Egger's</i> test (<i>P</i> value)
	Studies	Total	Cases	(******)		I vulue	()
ICM monitoring							
3 months							
• Overall	11	1 098	143	12.19 (9.36 - 15.01)	52.8%	0.0199	0.0692
• Type of stroke							
- ESUS	3	307	51	16.44 (10.99 - 21.90)	41.2%	0.1827	0.0297
- CS	8	791	92	10.68 (7.77 - 13.58)	43.2%	0.0905	0.3490
• Cut off							
- 30 second	3	521	74	11.06 (4.94 - 17.18)	59.3%	0.0857	0.3150
- 120 second	6	255	29	13.54 (9.43 – 17.66)	49.5%	0.0779	0.0651
• Type of device							
- Reveal LINQ	4	447	69	15.07 (11.76 - 18.38)	0.0%	0.4718	0.6839
- Reveal XT	4	340	35	9.69 (5.39 - 14.00)	46.7%	0.1311	0.1187
6 months							
• Overall	18	3 223	476	16.00 (13.21 - 18.79)	76.3%	<.0001	0.0085
• Type of stroke							
- ESUS	4	408	91	22.05 (18.04 - 26.06)	0.0%	0.6027	0.2102
- CS	14	2 815	385	14.25 (11.41 - 17.09)	73.8%	<.0001	0.0864
• Cut off							
- 30 second	5	613	61	9.89 (6.12 – 13.66)	59.1%	0.0444	0.0555
- 120 second	11	2 288	360	19.22 (15.54 - 22.89)	71.1%	0.0001	0.0002
• Type of device							
- Reveal LINQ	7	2 1 3 2	293	14.72 (10.64 - 18.80)	80.8%	<.0001	0.2880
- Reveal XT	7	705	106	15.82 (10.67 - 20.96)	72.8%	0.0012	0.0098
- Reveal LINQ or XT	2	175	45	25.62 (19.16 - 32.08)	0.0%	0.5515	NE
12 months							

 Table 1. Pooled estimates of atrial fibrillation detection using invasive and non-invasive cardiac monitoring strategies

• Overall	16	3 310	603	18.71 (15.71 – 21.70)	76.3%	<.0001	0.1229
• Type of stroke							
- ESUS	4	372	86	22.08 (15.32 - 28.88)	61.8%	0.0492	0.5716
- CS	12	2 938	517	17.74% (14.45 - 21.03)	77.9%	<.0001	0.3224
• Cut off							
- 30 second	4	464	60	12.88 (9.84 - 15.93)	0.0%	0.9598	0.3096
- 120 second	9	2 379	461	22.21 (18.55 - 25.87)	69.0%	0.0011	0.0022
• Type of device							
- Reveal LINQ	8	2 460	448	19.14 (14.95 - 23.34)	82.0%	<.0001	0.2757
- Reveal XT	4	470	63	13.32 (10.25 – 16.39)	0.0%	0.9024	0.0333
- Reveal LINQ or XT	3	240	60	23.86 (11.47 – 36.26)	82.2%	0.0036	0.3252
24 months							
• Overall	13	2 901	661	22.78 (19.90 - 26.47)	78.6%	<.0001	0.4384
• Type of stroke							
- ESUS	3	312	79	24.79 (16.60 - 32.98)	64.7%	0.0586	0.8340
- CS	10	2 589	582	22.27 (18.02 - 26.52)	81.6%	<.0001	0.6144
• Cut off							
- 30 second	7	880	174	19.13 (13.84 – 24.42)	75.3%	0.0005	0.3194
- 120 second	5	1 926	459	26.98 (22.11 - 31.85)	72.5%	0.0057	0.0027
• Type of device							
- Reveal LINQ	7	2 262	530	25.70 (19.53 - 31.87)	89.2%	<.0001	0.2727
- Reveal XT	4	398	93	23.27 (16.00 - 30.54)	65.2%	0.0347	0.5355
MCOT monitoring							
• Overall	13	1745	218	11.76 (9.12 - 14.40)	65.4%	0.0005	0.1203
Duration							
- 3 weeks	6	643	70	9.49 (5.55 - 13.43)	64.0%	0.0164	0.6172
- 1 month	7	1 102	148	13.67 (10.16 – 17.18)	63.8%	0.0110	0.0659

ICM: implantable cardiac monitor; MCOT: mobile cardiac outpatient telemetry

Figure 1. Panel A. Overall pooled atrial fibrillation detection rates on implantable cardiac

monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke (one week to 9 months)

Author and Year	Total Case	Prevalence (95% CI)	Events	95%–Cl
1 week Milstein 2020 Ritter 2013 Random effects model Heterogeneity: I ² = 52%, p	343 3 60 3 403 6 p = 0.18		0.87 5.00 2.01	[0.18; 2.53] [1.04; 13.92] [0.00; 5.62]
1 month Ziegler 2017 Milstein 2020 Chorin 2020 Carrazco 2018 Christensen 2014 Öner 2020 Muller 2017 Random effects model Heterogeneity: I ² = 32%, p	1247 57 343 18 145 4 100 2 85 2 88 5 90 8 2098 96 90 = 0.15 91	* *- * * *	4.57 5.25 2.76 2.00 2.35 5.68 8.89 4.05	[3.48; 5.88] [3.14; 8.17] [0.76; 6.91] [0.24; 7.04] [0.29; 8.24] [1.87; 12.76] [3.92; 16.77] [2.83; 5.27]
2 months Christensen 2014 Muller 2017 Random effects model Heterogeneity: I ² = 82%, p	85 3 90 12 175 15 p = 0.02	<u> </u>	3.53 13.33 7.98	[0.73; 9.97] [7.08; 22.13] [0.00; 17.55]
3 months Asaithambi 2018 Reinke 2018 Öner 2020 Christensen 2014 Israel 2017 Carrazco 2018 Muller 2017 Seow 2018 Ritter 2013 Iwata 2019 De Angelis 2020 Random effects model Heterogenelty: $l^2 = 53\%$, p	234 34 105 7 88 6 85 6 123 15 100 15 71 9 60 7 84 18 58 8 1098 143 p = 0.02		14.53 6.67 6.82 7.06 12.20 18.00 16.67 12.68 11.67 21.43 13.79 12.19	[10.28; 19.71] [2.72; 13.25] [2.54; 14.25] [2.63; 14.73] [6.99; 19.32] [11.03; 26.95] [9.64; 26.00] [5.96; 22.70] [4.82; 22.57] [13.22; 31.74] [6.15; 25.38] [9.36; 15.01]
6 months Ziegler 2017 Chorin 2020 Sanna 2014 Riordan 2020 Asaithambi 2018 Reinke 2018 Öner 2020 Israel 2017 Seow 2018 Christensen 2014 Muller 2017 Carrazco 2018 Rojo-Martinez 2013 Iwata 2019 Ritter 2013 Poli 2016 De Angelis 2020 Cotter 2013 Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 76\%$, p	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		12.19 5.52 8.92 16.04 19.66 8.57 10.23 18.70 12.68 16.47 17.78 24.00 25.74 21.43 15.00 25.74 21.43 15.00 22.41 25.49 16.00	$ \begin{bmatrix} 10.42; 14.13 \\ [2.41; 10.58] \\ [5.46; 13.58] \\ [12.03; 20.75] \\ [14.77; 25.34] \\ [3.99; 15.65] \\ [4.78; 18.53] \\ [12.24; 26.72] \\ [5.96; 22.70] \\ [9.31; 26.09] \\ [10.52; 27.26] \\ [16.02; 33.57] \\ [17.56; 35.40] \\ [13.22; 31.74] \\ [7.10; 26.57] \\ [18.24; 39.56] \\ [12.51; 35.27] \\ [14.33; 39.63] \\ [13.21; 18.79] \\ \end{bmatrix} $
9 months Reinke 2018 Israel 2017 Seow 2018 Ritter 2013 Iwata 2019 De Angelis 2020 Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 32\%$, p	105 13 123 26 71 11 60 9 84 21 58 13 501 93 p = 0.20		12.38 21.14 15.49 15.00 25.00 22.41 17.96	[6.76; 20.24] [14.30; 29.42] [8.00; 26.03] [7.10; 26.57] [16.19; 35.64] [12.51; 35.27] [13.87; 22.05]

Figure 1. Panel B. Overall pooled atrial fibrillation detection rates on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke (12 months to 36 months)

Author and Year	Total Case	Prevalence (95% CI)	Events 95%-CI
12 months Ziegler 2017 Sanna 2014 Chorin 2020 Milstein 2020 Asaithambi 2018 Reinke 2018 Israel 2017 Öner 2020 Victor 2018 Seow 2018 Carrazco 2018 Ritter 2013 Iwata 2019 Poli 2016 De Angelis 2020 Random effects m Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 7$	1247 203 234 29 145 11 328 67 293 59 234 57 105 14 123 29 88 14 65 8 71 11 100 27 60 9 84 22 75 25 58 18 odel 3310 603 6%, p < 0.01		16.28[14.27; 18.45]12.39[8.46; 17.31]7.59[3.85; 13.17]20.43[16.20; 25.20]20.14[15.70; 25.19]24.36[19.00; 30.38]13.33[7.49; 21.36]23.58[16.39; 32.07]15.91[8.98; 25.25]12.31[5.47; 22.82]15.49[8.00; 26.03]27.00[18.61; 36.80]15.00[7.10; 26.57]26.19[17.20; 36.93]33.33[22.86; 45.17]31.03[19.54; 44.54]18.71[15.71; 21.70]
18 months Riordan 2020 Reinke 2018 Öner 2020 Carrazco 2018 De Angelis 2020 Random effects m Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 6$	293 64 105 17 88 16 100 31 58 21 odel 644 149 8%, <i>p</i> = 0.02		21.84[17.25; 27.02]16.19[9.72; 24.65]18.18[10.76; 27.84]31.00[22.13; 41.03]36.21[23.99; 49.88]23.50[17.43; 29.56]
24 months Ziegler 2017 Chorin 2020 Riordan 2020 Watson 2020 Asaithambi 2018 Bettin 2018 Makimoto 2017 Öner 2020 Rojo–Martinez 2013 Ritter 2013 Victor 2018 Pecha 2020 De Angelis 2020 Random effects m Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 7$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		21.49[19.24; 23.88]8.97[4.86; 14.84]26.62[21.65; 32.07]25.11[19.61; 31.28]29.06[23.33; 35.33]19.08[13.51; 25.73]22.60[16.10; 30.25]19.32[11.68; 29.12]33.66[24.56; 43.75]16.67[8.29; 28.52]18.46[9.92; 30.03]25.00[15.02; 37.40]37.93[25.51; 51.63]22.78[19.09; 26.47]
36 months Chorin 2020 Riordan 2020 Sanna 2014 Israel 2017 Victor 2018 Random effects m Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 9$	145 17 293 93 140 42 123 52 65 18 00del 766 222 2%, <i>p</i> < 0.01		11.72 [6.98; 18.11] 31.74 [26.45; 37.41] 30.00 [22.55; 38.32] 42.28 [33.42; 51.51] 27.69 [17.31; 40.19] 28.47 [17.63; 39.31]



Figure 2. Relationship of atrial fibrillation detection with duration of monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke.

Legend: the black bold line and dot lines represent the curves of atrial fibrillation detection and the upper and lower limits of the 95% confidence interval.

Figure 3. Univariable correlates of atrial fibrillation detection on implantable cardiac monitors in patients with cryptogenic stroke

Correlates	Stuc	lies	00	dds Rati	io		OR	[95% CI]	<i>P</i> –value
Age	13					⊢●	- 3 .48	[2.50; 4.84]	0.00
Female sex	14			¦⊢●	1		1.35	[1.04; 1.74]	0.02
Hypertension	14		H		1		1.14	[0.75; 1.72]	0.54
Diabetes	14		⊢	●┼┨			0.84	[0.59; 1.21]	0.36
Smoking status	5		—				0.80	[0.44; 1.44]	0.45
Previous stroke	5		ł				1.53	[0.76; 3.08]	0.23
Heart failure	З			●)	-	1.58	[0.85; 2.93]	0.14
Vascular disease	2		F				1.24	[0.69; 2.22]	0.47
CAD	5			¦ ¦-●-			1.37	[0.89; 2.11]	0.15
LA size	4			¦ F			2.42	[1.55; 3.78]	0.00
LA Dilatation	3						1.55	[1.08; 2.23]	0.02
LV hypertrophy	2				—		1.39	[0.87; 2.23]	0.17
PFO	4		⊢●				0.68	[0.36; 1.29]	0.24
CHA ₂ DS ₂ VASc score	7			 	•		1.84	[1.00; 3.38]	0.05
NIHSS score	2	←					0.58 ר	[0.16; 2.14]	0.41
		0.25	0.5	1	2		5		

CAD: coronary artery disease; LA: left atrial; LV: left ventricular; PFO: persistent foramen ovale; NIHSS: National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale

Figure 4. Overall pooled atrial fibrillation detection rates on mobile cardiac outpatient

telemetry in patients with cryptogenic stroke

Author and Year	Total	Case	Prevalence (95% CI)	Prop (%)	[95% CI]	Weight
3 weeks Gladstone 2014	286	35		12.24	[8.67: 16.61]	10.2%
Miller 2013	118	9		7.63	[3.55: 13.99]	9.1%
Rabenstein 2013	64	3		4.69	[0.98; 13.09]	8.6%
Taval 2008	56	3		5.36	[1.12: 14.87]	7.9%
Lumikari 2019	57	6		10.53	[3.96:21.52]	5.9%
Bhatt 2011	62	14	· →	22.58	[12.93: 34.97]	4.3%
Random effects model	643	70		9.49	5.55: 13.43	46.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 64\%$, p	= 0.02				. , .	
1 month						
Flint 2012	239	18		7.53	[4.52; 11.64]	10.7%
Gladstone 2014	286	42	· · ·	14.69	[10.79; 19.33]	9.9%
Favilla 2015	227	31		13.66	[9.47; 18.82]	9.4%
Kass–Hout 2018	132	17		12.88	[7.68; 19.82]	8.1%
Jordan 2019	99	18	•	18.18	[11.15; 27.20]	6.2%
Lumikari 2019	57	7		12.28	[5.08; 23.68]	5.5%
Bhatt 2011	62	15	+ →	24.19	[14.22; 36.74]	4.2%
Random effects model	1102	148		13.67	[10.16; 17.18]	54.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 64\%$, p	9 = 0.01					
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 65\%$, p	1745 < 0.01	218		11.76	[9.12; 14.40]	100.0%
			5 10 15 20 25 30			

3.2.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Search strategies

	Search strategy for PubMed
#P1	Holter OR electrocardiography OR electrocardiogram OR
	electrocardiographic OR ECG OR EKG OR telemetry OR telemetric
	OR "loop recorder" OR "loop recording" OR "cardiac monitor"
#P2	"cryptogenic stroke" OR "embolic stroke of undetermined source" OR
	ESUS OR "cryptogenic transient ischemic attack" OR "cryptogenic
	transient ischaemic attack" OR "cryptogenic TIA" OR "cryptogenic
	cerebrovascular event" OR "cryptogenic CVA" OR "cryptogenic
	cerebral infarct" OR "cryptogenic brain infarct" OR "stroke of
	undetermined etiology" OR "stroke of undetermined aetiology" OR
	"stroke of undetermined cause"
#P3	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation" OR "AF" OR "Afib" OR
	"atrial flutter" OR tachyarrhythmia OR arrhythmia
#P4	#P1 AND #P2 AND #P3
	Search strategy for EMBASE
#E1	holter:ab,ti OR electrocardiography:ab,ti OR electrocardiogram:ab,ti
	OR electrocardiographic:ab,ti OR ecg:ab,ti OR ekg:ab,ti OR
	telemetry:ab,ti OR telemetric:ab,ti OR loop recorder:ab,ti OR loop
1150	recording :ab,ti OR cardiac monitor :ab,ti
#E2	cryptogenic stroke :ab,ti OR embolic stroke of undetermined
	source ad, if OR esustad, if OR cryptogenic transient ischemic
	attack .ab, ii OK ciyptogenic transfent ischaenne attack .ab, ii OK
	'cryptogenic cya'ab ti OR 'cryptogenic cerebral infarct'ab ti OR
	'cryptogenic brain infarct': ab ti OR 'stroke of undetermined
	etiology': ab ti OR 'stroke of undetermined aetiology': ab ti OR 'stroke of
	undetermined cause' ab ti
#E3	'atrial fibrillation' ab ti OR 'auricular fibrillation' ab ti OR af ab ti OR
1120	afib:ab.ti OR 'atrial flutter':ab.ti OR tachvarrhythmia:ab.ti OR
	arrhythmia:ab.ti
#E4	holter:ab,ti OR electrocardiography:ab,ti OR electrocardiogram:ab,ti
	OR electrocardiographic:ab,ti OR ecg:ab,ti OR ekg:ab,ti OR
	telemetry:ab,ti OR telemetric:ab,ti OR 'loop recorder':ab,ti OR 'loop
	recording':ab,ti OR 'cardiac monitor':ab,ti
#E5	#E1 AND #E2 AND #E3 AND #E4
	Search strategy for Web of Science
#W1	Holter OR electrocardiography OR electrocardiogram OR
	electrocardiographic OR ECG OR EKG OR telemetry OR telemetric
	OR "loop recorder" OR "loop recording" OR "cardiac monitor"
#W2	"cryptogenic stroke" OR "embolic stroke of undetermined source" OR
	ESUS OR "cryptogenic transient ischemic attack" OR "cryptogenic
	transient ischaemic attack" OR "cryptogenic TIA" OR "cryptogenic

	cerebrovascular event" OR "cryptogenic CVA" OR "cryptogenic
	cerebral infarct" OR "cryptogenic brain infarct" OR "stroke of
	undetermined etiology" OR "stroke of undetermined aetiology" OR
	"stroke of undetermined cause"
#W3	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation" OR "AF" OR "Afib" OR
	"atrial flutter" OR tachyarrhythmia OR arrhythmia
#W4	#W1 AND #W2 AND #W3

Characteristics	N = 47
Total population	8 215
Year of publication, range	2008-2020
Period of inclusion of participants, range	2003-2019
Design	
- Cohort	42
- Randomized controlled trial	5
Data collection	
- Prospective	35
- Retrospective	12
Regions	
- Europe	26
- Northern America	17
- Asia	2
- Multiregional	2
Countries	
- United States	16
- Germany	9
- Spain	5
- Italy	4
- France	3
- Multinational	2
- Japan	1
- Canada	1
- Finland	1
- United Kingdom	1
- Portugal	1
- Denmark	1
- Singapore	1
Sampling	
- Consecutive	42
- Random	5
Risk of bias	
- Low	28
- Moderate	18
- High	1

Supplementary Table 2. Summarized study characteristics

Supplementary Table 3. General characteristics of included studies

Part A

Author, year	Country	Design	Population	Etiological investigations	Definition CS	Diagnostic modality (AF)	Device
Chorin, 2020	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	NR	NR	ICM	Reveal LINQ and TruRhythm LINQ
Jordan, 2019	USA	Cohort	ESUS	Neuroimaging, 12-lead EKG, transthoracic echocardiography (TTE), and cardiac telemetry monitoring for at least 24 hours, laboratory testing	NR	МСОТ	NR
Riordan, 2020	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Electrocardiographic and telemetry monitoring, transesophageal echocardiography, laboratory testing for thrombophilia, and imaging studies of the head and neck vasculature often including magnetic resonance imaging	NR	ICM	Reveal LINQ
Tayal, 2008	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	Brain imaging, admission ECG, inpatient cardiac telemetry monitoring or 24-hour Holter, MRA or CTA head and neck, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiography	TOAST criteria	МСОТ	CardioNet
Flint, 2012	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	NR	NR	МСОТ	CardioPAL SAVI
Gaillard, 2010	France	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, 24-hour Holter ECG, cervical artery duplex ultrasound, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiography	NR	Transtelephonic ECG (at least daily ECG)	Cardiomemo
Miller, 2013	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiography	TOAST criteria	МСОТ	CardioNet
Ziegler, 2017	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	NR	NR	ICM	Reveal LINQ
Yayehd, 2015	France	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, 24-hour ECG recording, biological tests, transthoracic echocardiography and carotid Doppler assessment; transoesophageal echocardiography and limb venous Doppler assessment if required.	NR	МСОТ	SpiderFlash

Watson, 2020	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, CTA or MRA of the head and neck by computed, transthoracic/transesophageal echocardiography cardiac telemetry, electrocardiography, and basic lab testing	NR	ICM	Reveal LINQ
Seow, 2018	Singapore	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, 12-lead ECG, 24-hour in- hospital ECG monitoring, 24-hour outpatient ECG Holter, transthoracic echocardiography, ultrasonography of cervical arteries and transcranial Doppler ultrasonography of intracranial vessels	NR	ICM	Reveal LINQ
Sanna, 2014	Europe, USA, Canada	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	Brain imaging, 12-lead ECG, 24 hours or more of ECG monitoring, screening for thrombophilic states (in patients <55 years of age), transesophageal echocardiography, ultrasonography of cervical arteries and transcranial Doppler ultrasonography of intracranial vessels or MRA/CTA of head and neck	NR	ICM	Reveal XT
Rojo- Martinez, 2013	Spain	Cohort	ESUS	24-hours ECG monitoring, transthoracic echocardiography, screening for thrombophilic states (under 55 years of age), transcranial and neck Doppler ultrasound, magnetic resonance angiography, computed tomography angiography of the head and neck	NR	ICM	Reveal XT
Ritter, 2013	Germany	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, Duplex ultrasound, and computed tomography angiography or magnetic resonance angiography of brain-supplying arteries, routine ECG, 72-hour continuous rhythm monitoring on the stroke unit and manual re-evaluation of the signal, and additional 24-h Holter ECG	TOAST criteria	ICM	Reveal XT
Rabenstein, 2013	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	NR	The Causative Classification of Stroke system	МСОТ	CardioNet
Pecha, 2020	Germany	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, vascular ultrasound of carotid arteries, echo and 24 h-Holter ECG	NR	ICM	Reveal XT

Öner, 2020	Germany	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, CT angiography of the head and neck, duplex ultrasonography of extra- and intracranial brain supplying arteries, resting electrocardiogram (ECG), 24-h Holter-ECG, and 72-h ECG-monitoring on the stroke unit, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiography, screening for thrombophilic states or vasculitis	NR	ICM	Biomonitor2- AF, Reveal LINQ, Reveal XT, SJM confirm
Milstein, 2020	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, MRA, transthoracic echocardiogram, and/or transesophageal echocardiogram, in-hospital telemetry	NR	ICM	Reveal LINQ
Manina, 2014	Italy	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	Brain imaging, 12-lead ECG, 24-hour ECG monitoring	NR	96-hour Holter	Spider View recorder
Lumikari, 2019	Finland	Cohort	ESUS	Brain imaging, CT- or MR-angiography, transthoracic/transoesophageal echocardiography, electrocardiography, 24- or 48-hr ECG monitoring	NR	МСОТ	Bittium Faros
Kass-Hout, 2018	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	Brain imaging, non-invasive angiography, echocardiography, electrocardiography, inpatient telemetry, hematologic, and inflammatory tests	TOAST criteria	МСОТ	NR
Kalani, 2015	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, 12-lead ECG, MR angiography or computed tomography angiography of head and neck vessels, transthoracic/transoesophageal echocardiography	TOAST criteria	МСОТ	Lifestar ACT, Lifestar AF Express or Cardiomedix
Jorfida, 2014	Italy	Cohort	ESUS	12-lead ECG, 48 h of inhospital continuous telemetry, 24 h Holter monitoring, transthoracic echocardiography, cerebral computed tomography (CT) or MRI scans, carotid and vertebro-basilar systems ultrasound or angio- MRI, haematological and inflammatory tests	A-S-C-O and TOAST criteria	ICM	Reveal Plus XT 9526
Iwata, 2019	Japan	Cohort	ESUS	Brain imaging, 12-lead ECG, 7 days cardiac monitoring, ambulatory ECG monitoring using a monitor for at least 24 hours, angiography of carotid/intracranial arteries and echocardiography	A-S-C-O classification of stroke	ICM	Reveal LINQ
Israel, 2017	Germany	Cohort	ESUS	Brain imaging, 12-lead electrocardiography,	TOAST	ICM	BioMonitor

				ultrasound of brain-supplying arteries, and transthoracic and transoesophageal echocardiographic, 24-72 hour Holter	criteria		or Reveal XT
Gladstone, 2014	Canada	RCT	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	12-lead ECG, ambulatory ECG monitoring with the use of a Holter monitor for a minimum of 24 hours, brain and neurovascular imaging, and echocardiography	TOAST criteria	МСОТ	ER910AF Cardiac Event Monitor, Braemar
Fonseca, 2013	Portugal	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, 12-lead electrocardiography, transcranial Doppler, carotid and vertebral duplex scanning, and transthoracic echocardiographic, 24-hour Holter	TOAST criteria	Post-stroke F/U with 24-h Holter at 3 and 6 months	NR
De Angelis, 2020	Italy	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	24-hours ECG monitoring, transthoracic echocardiography, screening for thrombophilic states (under 55 years of age), transcranial and neck Doppler ultrasound, magnetic resonance angiography, computed tomography angiography of the head and neck	NR	ICM	Reveal LINQ
Cotter, 2013	UK	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, 12-lead electrocardiography, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiography, and cardiac monitoring at least for 24 hours	TOAST criteria	ICM	Reveal XT
Christensen, 2014	Denmark	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	NR	NR	ICM	Reveal XT
Asaithambi, 2018	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	NR	NR	ICM	Reveal LINQ
Victor, 2018	Spain	Cohort	ESUS	Blood tests, chest X-ray, supra-aortic vessels echo-Doppler, transcranial Doppler, and CT angiography or angio-MRI, if needed. A 12 lead Electrocardiogram (ECG) was also performed, 24-hour Holter monitoring, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiogram or thrombophilia screening (in subjects under 55 years)	NR	ICM	Reveal XT or Reveal LINQ
Thijs, 2016	Multinational	RCT	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	12-lead ECG, 24-hour ECG monitoring (Holter or telemetry), transesophageal echocardiography, screening for thrombophilic states (in patients younger than 55 years), and	NR	ICM	Reveal XT

				detailed vascular imaging			
Poli, 2016	Germany	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	computed tomography, including CT angiography, or magnetic resonance imaging, including MR angiography, neurosonology, transesophageal echocardiography, ECG monitoring for 72 h plus at least one 24 h Holter ECG recording, and screening for thrombophilia (in patients <55 years)	TOAST criteria	ICM	Reveal XT or Reveal LINQ
Pagola, 2020	Spain	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, 12-lead electrocardiography, CT angiography, transthoracic echocardiography	NR	МСОТ	wearable Holter (Nuubo System®)
Mendieta, 2020	Spain	Cohort	ESUS	Brain imaging (CT and MRI), CT/MR angiography or ultrasonography, twelve-lead electrocardiography, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiography, and cardiac monitoring at least for 72 hours	TOAST criteria	Post-stroke F/U (1, 6, 12 by neurologist and every 6 months by GP) with ECG or MCOT	NR
Bugnicourt, 2013	France	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Computed tomography, electrocardiogram, Doppler ultrasonography of neck vessels, transthoracic echocardiography, and standard laboratory tests in all patients; Holter ECG monitoring, magnetic resonance imaging, and/or angiography were performed in selected patients	A-S-C-O classification of stroke	Post-stroke F/U (6, 12 then yearly) with ECG or MCOT	NR
Ntaios, 2020	Greece, Switzerland, UK	Cohort	ESUS	NR	Cryptogenic Stroke/ESUS International Working Group	Post-stroke F/U (6, 12 then yearly) with ECG or MCOT	NR
Muller, 2017	Germany	RCT	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging, 12-lead electrocardiography, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiography, and cardiac monitoring at least for 24 hours	TOAST criteria	ICM	Reveal XT
Makimoto, 2017	Germany	Cohort	ESUS	Brain imaging, twelve-lead electrocardiography, transthoracic or transesophageal echocardiography, and cardiac monitoring at least for 24 hours	Cryptogenic Stroke/ESUS International Working	ICM	NR

					Group		
Favilla, 2015	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	Brain imaging (magnetic resonance imaging [MRI] or computed tomography [CT]), echocardiography	TOAST criteria	МСОТ	CardioNet MCOT
Carrazco, 2018	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	Brain imaging (magnetic resonance imaging [MRI] or computed tomography [CT]), cervical and cerebral vascular imaging (magnetic resonance angiography or computed tomography angiography), echocardiography (transthoracic and/or transesophageal), a minimum of 24 hours of cardiac telemetry monitoring, ECG, and standard poststroke blood work	Patients with non-lacunar strokes and no identifiable stroke source	ICM	Reveal LINQ ICM (90%) and Reveal XT (10%)
Campal, 2020	Spain	Cohort	ESUS	12-lead ECG, brain and neurovascular imaging (magnetic resonance imaging or plain computed tomography scan, angio computed tomography scan when needed, transcranial and supra-aortic vessel Doppler ultrasound), routine transthoracic and transesophageal echocardiography and basic biochemical and hematologic determinations	TOAST criteria	21-days Holter	Textile wearable Holter (Nuubo, Valencia, Spain)
Bhatt, 2011	USA	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	MRI scan with DWI imaging, transesophageal echocardiogram, transthoracic echocardiogram, a CT angiogram, EKG on admission and at least 24 hours of cardiac telemetry	NR	МСОТ	CardioNet MCOT
Bettin, 2018	Germany	RCT	Cryptogenic stroke	cerebral imaging (MRI or CT), a 12-lead ECG recording upon admission, a 24-h-Holter ECG, a duplex and Doppler ultrasound of the carotid and vertebral arteries and a transesophageal echocardiography	TOAST criteria	ICM	Reveal XT
Acampa, 2019	Italy	Cohort	Cryptogenic stroke	neuroimaging examination (brain computed tomography [CT] with angio-CT scan including the aortic arch and intra-extracranial arteries; and/or brain magnetic resonance imaging), extracranial and transcranial arterial ultrasound examination, transthoracic echocardiography, 12-lead resting ECG at admission	TOAST criteria	7-day in- hospital telemetry	NR
Reinke,	Germany	RCT	Cryptogenic	cerebral imaging (MRI or CT), a 12-lead ECG	TOAST	ICM	Reveal XT

2018		stroke	recording upon admission, a 24-h-Holter ECG,	criteria	
			a duplex and Doppler ultrasound of the carotid		
			and vertebral arteries and a transesophageal		
			echocardiography		

NR: not reported; AF: atrial fibrillation; CT: computed tomography; ECG: electrocardiographic; ESUS: embolic stroke of undetermined source; ICM: implantable cardiac monitor; IQR: interquartile range; MCOT: mobile outpatient telemetry; MRI: magnetic resonance imaging; RCT: randomized controlled trial; SD: standard deviation; TIA: transient ischemic attack;

Part B

Author, year	Diagnostic modality (AF)	Device	AF Diagnostic Criteria	Mean/Median time from stroke to monitoring initiation	Mean/Median Recording Duration	Mean/Median Time to AF diagnosis (days)	Sample Size	Risk of bias
Chorin, 2020	ICM	Reveal LINQ and TruRhythm LINQ	AF duration > 30 s	NR	28 (SD 12) months	7.4 (12.3) months	145	Moderate
Jordan, 2019	MCOT	NR	AF duration > 30 s	NR	28 days	NR	99	Moderate
Riordan, 2020	ICM	Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 120 s	Within 30 days	22 (SD 12) months	NR	293	Low
Tayal, 2008	MCOT	CardioNet	AF duration > 30 s	NR	21 (range 5-21) days	NR	56	Moderate
Flint, 2012	МСОТ	CardioPAL SAVI	AF duration > 30 s	NR	28 (IQR 20-30) days	NR	239	Low
Gaillard, 2010	Transtelephonic ECG (at least daily ECG)	Cardiomemo	AF duration > 30 s	NR	1 month	NR	82	Moderate
Miller, 2013	МСОТ	CardioNet	AF duration > 30 s	32.7 (SD 36) days	21 (range 1-20) days	8.8 days	118	Moderate
Ziegler, 2017	ICM	Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 120 s	NR	579 (SD 222) days	NR	1247	Low
Yayehd, 2015	МСОТ	SpiderFlash	AF duration > 30 s	34 (range 22- 57) days	20 (SD 3) days	NR	39	Moderate
Watson, 2020	ICM	Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 120 s	21 days	NR	NR	227	Low

Seow, 2018	ICM	Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 120 s	66 days	345 (SD 229) days	50 days	71	Low
Sanna, 2014	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 30 s	Within 10 days after randomization which occurred at a mean of 38.1 (SD 27.6) days	NR	NR	221	Low
Rojo- Martinez, 2013	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 120 s	NR	281 (212) days	102 (range 26- 240)	101	Low
Ritter, 2013	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 30 s	13 (IQR 10- 67) days	382 (IQR 89-670) days	64 (range 1- 556) days	60	Low
Rabenstein, 2013	МСОТ	CardioNet	AF duration > 30 s	Within about 3 months	21 days	3 (range 0-20) days	64	Moderate
Pecha, 2020	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 30 s	NR	419 (309) days	NR	64	Moderate
Öner, 2020	ICM	Biomonitor2- AF, Reveal LINQ, Reveal XT, SJM confirm	NR	NR	21.5 (range: 1–33) months	NR	88	Low
Milstein, 2020	ICM	Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 120 s	3.7 (SD 1.7) days	30 days	121 (101) days	343	Low
Manina, 2014	96-hour Holter	Spider View recorder	AF of any duration	Within the first 30 days	4 days	NR	114	Low
Lumikari, 2019	МСОТ	Bittium Faros	AF duration > 30 s	8 (IQR 4-44) days	4 weeks	NR	57	Moderate
Kass-Hout, 2018	МСОТ	NR	AF duration > 30 s	NR	25 days	NR	132	Moderate
Kalani, 2015	МСОТ	Lifestar ACT, Lifestar AF Express or Cardiomedix	AF duration > 30 s	10 days	30 days	NR	85	High
Jorfida, 2014	ICM	Reveal Plus XT 9526	AF duration > 300	NR	14.5 (IQR 8.7–22.5) months	NR	54	Low

Iwata, 2019	ICM	Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 120 s	31.5 (range: 1- 318) days	221.5 (range: 93-365) days	NR	84	Low
Israel, 2017	ICM	BioMonitor or Reveal XT	AF duration > 120 s	20 days	12.7 (SD5.5) months	NR	123	Low
Gladstone, 2014	МСОТ	ER910AF Cardiac Event Monitor, Braemar	AF duration > 30 s	NR	90 days	NR	571	Low
Fonseca, 2013	Post-stroke F/U with 24-h Holter at 3 and 6 months	NR	AF duration > 30 s	NR	NR	NR	80	Moderate
De Angelis, 2020	ICM	Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 120 s	83 (SD 64) days	NR	6 months	58	Low
Cotter, 2013	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 120 s	174 (134) days	NR	48 (34-118) days	51	Low
Christensen, 2014	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 120 s	107 (SD 117) days	569 (310) days	NR	87	Low
Asaithambi, 2018	ICM	Reveal LINQ	NR	4 days	536 (282-848) days	94.5 (16-239) days	234	Low
Victor, 2018	ICM	Reveal XT or Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 30 s (Reveal XT) or 120 s (Reveal LINQ)	56 days	17.1 (SD10.7) months	31 days	65	Low
Thijs, 2016	ICM	Reveal XT	NR	NR	NR	NR	221	Low
Poli, 2016	ICM	Reveal XT or Reveal LINQ	AF duration > 120 s	27 (SD 24) days	311 (SD 251) days	105 (SD 135) days	75	Low
Pagola, 2020	МСОТ	wearable Holter (Nuubo System®)	No cut off	2 to 3 days	28 days	NR	264	Moderate
Mendieta, 2020	Post-stroke F/U (1, 6, 12 by neurologist and every 6 months by GP) with ECG or MCOT	NR	AF duration > 30 s	NR	521 (SD306) days	NR	75	Moderate

Bugnicourt, 2013	Post-stroke F/U (6, 12 then yearly) with ECG or MCOT	NR	AF duration > 30 s	NR	352 (SD105) days	806 (SD172) days	164	Moderate
Ntaios, 2020	Post-stroke F/U (6, 12 then yearly) with ECG or MCOT	NR	No cutoff	NR	24.3 months	NR	839	Low
Muller, 2017	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 30 s	NR	331 (SD186) days	30 days	90	Low
Makimoto, 2017	ICM	NR	AF duration > 30 s	NR	387 days	NR	146	Low
Favilla, 2015	МСОТ	CardioNet MCOT	AF duration > 30 s	NR	28 days	NR	227	Moderate
Carrazco, 2018	ICM	Reveal LINQ ICM (90%) and Reveal XT (10%)	AF duration > 120 s	4.2 (SD 2.6) days	NR	108 days	100	Moderate
Campal, 2020	21-days Holter	Textile wearable Holter (Nuubo, Valencia, Spain)	AF duration > 30 s	NR	21 days	NR	100	Moderate
Bhatt, 2011	МСОТ	CardioNet MCOT	AF duration > 30 s	NR	28 days	NR	62	Moderate
Bettin, 2018	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 30 s	35.5 (SD 47.5) days	24.8(SD11.5) months	10.7 (SD11.4) months	173	Low
Acampa, 2019	7-day in- hospital telemetry	NR	irregular tachycardia lasting >5 minutes with no visible P wave or with unorganised F wavelets	NR	7 days	NR	222	Low
Reinke, 2018	ICM	Reveal XT	AF duration > 30 s	Within the first 4 weeks	NR	31 (IQR 72.5- 338) days	105	Low

Author	Year	Mean Age	Male (%)	Index Stroke (%)	Index TIA (%)	Recurrent Stroke/TIA (%)	Hypertension (%)	Diabetes (%)	Dyslipidaemia (%)	Smokers (%)	CAD (%)	Heart Failure (%)
Chorin	2020	67	57	83	17	NR	73	27	NR	NR	26	6
Jordan	2019	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Riordan	2020	68.7	57.3	NR	NR	20.5	75	32.8	NR	NR	23.2	6.5
Tayal	2008	66	51	86	14	NR	77	16	75	36	14	2
Flint	2012	64.6	60.5	NR	NR	18.8	66	14.7	90.8	NR	NR	4.6
Gaillard	2010	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Miller	2013	68.5	50	NR	NR	NR	87	42	63	21	24	8
Ziegler	2017	NR	53	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Yayehd	2015	47	62	NR	NR	8	20.5	3	23	31	3	NR
Watson	2020	64.7	51.5	NR	NR	NR	66.8	NR	54.3	NR	NR	NR
Seow	2018	61.9	77.5	NR	NR	NR	74.7	39.4	NR	NR	NR	NR
Sanna	2014	61.6	64.3	90.5	9.5	16.7	65.2	15.4	56.6	19.5	7.2	NR
Rojo- Martinez	2013	67	46.5	90.1	9.9	NR	55.4	19.8	52.5	23.8	NR	NR
Ritter	2013	63	56.7	NR	NR	NR	70	11.7	NR	NR	NR	NR
Rabenstein	2013	67.9	65.6	NR	NR	31.3	65.6	7.8	81.2	6.3	18.8	6.3
Pecha	2020	65.4	50	NR	NR	NR	75	25	29	NR	14	NR
Öner	2020	66.5	61.4	90.9	9.1	NR	67	22.7	NR	28.4	NR	3.4
Milstein	2020	68.1	55	NR	NR	30	85	38	NR	NR	NR	4
Manina	2014	63.1	NR	91.2	8.8	NR	52.6	9.6	27.2	13.1	NR	NR
Lumikari	2019	64.5	52.6	NR	NR	21.1	61.4	NR	NR	10.5	NR	NR
Kass-Hout	2018	70	50	72	28	NR	75.8	32.6	64.4	NR	NR	NR
Kalani	2015	65.6	50.6	83.5	16.5	18.8	58.8	15.3	50.6	30.6	15.3	2.4
Jorfida	2014	67.8	57.4	NR	NR	27.8	88.7	18.5	NR	NR	NR	NR
Iwata	2019	70	76.2	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

Supplementary Table 4. Clinical characteristics of participants in the included studies

Israel	2017	65	60.2	NR	NR	NR	82.9	24.4	NR	NR	33.3	NR
Gladstone	2014	72.7	55	63	37	14.2	69.2	19.3	64.4	NR	NR	2.1
Fonseca	2013	NR	NR									
De Angelis	2020	68.1	67	NR	NR	14	67	26	62	16	12	NR
Cotter	2013	51.5	54.9	NR	NR							
Christensen	2014	56.7	55.2	72.4	NR	NR	44.8	6.9	NR	NR	NR	NR
Asaithambi	2018	72	55	NR	NR	NR	85	28	NR	44	NR	11
Victor	2018	65.4	55.4	NR	NR	NR	56.9	15.4	26.2	28.2	6.2	NR
Thijs	2016	61.6	64.3	90.5	9.5	16.5	65.2	15.4	56.6	NR	7.2	3.2
Poli	2016	66.4	47	89	11	NR	79	15	NR	NR	NR	NR
Pagola	2020	74.5	50.2	NR	NR	NR	76.7	26.2	NR	NR	NR	NR
Mendieta	2020	73	48	NR	NR							
Bugnicourt	2013	65.4	52	NR	NR	15	60	23	35	NR	16	NR
Ntaios	2020	56.9	NR	NR								
Muller	2017	57.7	52	NR	NR	NR	70	18	NR	NR	7	NR
Makimoto	2017	62.0	57.5	NR	NR	NR	73.3	NR	NR	NR	11.6	NR
Favilla	2015	62.9	41.9	78.9	21.1	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Carrazco	2018	65.8	47.5	NR	NR	15	78	27	78	27	NR	4
Campal	2020	69	56	100	0	NR	72	21	NR	21	NR	NR
Bhatt	2011	61	51.6	80.6	19.4	NR	25.8	4.8	41.9	NR	12.9	NR
Bettin	2018	61.5	57.8	100	0	NR	71.1	17.9	NR	NR	NR	4.1
Acampa	2019	NR	48.6	100	0	6.8	58.1	19.8	37.8	32.9	8.6	NR
Reinke	2018	64.4	46.2	100	0	NR	71.1	17.9	NR	NR	NR	4.1

NR: not reported; TIA: transient ischemic attack; OSA: obstructive sleep apnea; CAD: coronary artery disease

Study	Monitoring	Study	Sample	AF	Mean	Device	Adjustment	Potential	Adjusted risk estimate
	strategy	population	size	cases	duration	used	for	predictors of AF	
					OI IOHOW				
Acampa	7-day in-	Cryptogenic	222	44	7 days	NR	age, atrial	Age (5 years)	OR 1.41 (95% CI 1.15-1.72)
, 2019	hospital telemetry	stroke					size, all ECG parameters (PWD, P max, P min, P- wave index,	Abnormal P wave axis	OR 3.31 (95% CI 1.49-7.35)
								P wave dispersion	OR 1.92 (95% CI 1.45-2.55)
								P wave max	OR 1.01 (95% CI 0.99-1.03)
							PR interval, P-	PR interval	OR 1.00 (95% CI 0.99-1-01)
							wave axis)	Atrial size	OR 1.00 (95% CI 0.93-1.07)
								Smoking	OR 1.52 (95% CI 0.54-4.14)
								C reactive protein	OR 1.06 (95% CI 0.92-1.22)
Ntaios,	Post-stroke	ESUS	839	125	24.3	NR	Age,	Age 60-70 years	OR 1.71 (95% CI 0.96-2.47)
2020	F/U (6, 12 then yearly)				months		hypertension,	Age > 70-80	OR 1.60 (95% CI 0.85-2.35)
	with ECG						L VII, LA diameter	years	OD 1 66 (050) CL0 02 2 50
	or MCOT						LVFF SVF	Age > 80 years	OR 1.66 (95% CI 0.82-2.50)
	or meet						subcortical	Hypertension	OR 0.90 (95% CI 0.33-1.47)
							infarct	LVH	OR -0.65 (95% CI -1.16 to - 0.14)
								LA diameter > 40	OR 0.95 (95% CI 0.46-1.43)
								mm	
								LVEF < 35%	OR -1.34 (95% CI -2.33 to -
									0.34)
								Any SVE	OR 0.64 (95% CI 0.16-1.11)
								Subcortical	OR -0.81 (95% CI -1.30 to -
								infarct	0.33)
								Non-stenotic CP	OR -1.42 (95% CI -1.93 to -
									0.91)

Supplementary Table 5. Potential predictors of atrial fibrillation detection in patients with cryptogenic stroke or ESUS

Campal, 2020	21-day Holter	ESUS	100	22	21 days	Textile wearabl e Holter (Nuubo, Valenci a, Spain)	Age, LA enlargement, renal impairement, CHA ₂ DS ₂ - VASc score	Sinus heart rate ≤ 60	OR 104.9 (95% CI 9.7-1127)
Pagola, 2020	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	264	61	28 days	wearabl e Holter (Nuubo System ®)	Age, large vessel occlusion, hemorrhagic transformation , LAVI, BNP	Age Large vessel occlusion Hemorrhagic transformation LAVI BNP	OR 1.06 (95% CI 1.00-1.16) OR 4.58 (95% CI 2.27-21.38) OR 2.11 (95% CI 0.62-10.84) OR 1.01 (95% CI 0.97-1.05) OR 1.00 (95% CI 0.994-1004)
Favilla, 2015	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	227	31	28 days	CardioN et MCOT	Age, sex, race, previous stroke	Age > 60 years Previous stroke	OR 8.9 (95% CI 1.07-74) OR 5.6 (95% CI 1.4-22)
Carrazc o, 2018	Implantable cardiac monitor	Cryptogenic stroke	100	31	NR	Reveal LINQ ICM (90%) and Reveal XT (10%)	Age	Obesity (BMI ≥ 30)	OR 1.24 (95% CI 1.12-1.36)
Bettin, 2018	Implantable cardiac monitor	Cryptogenic stroke	173	33	24.8 (SD11.5) months	Reveal XT	Age, sex, hypertension, diabetes, CAD	Age Male Hypertension Diabetes CAD	OR 1.06 (95% CI 1.02-1.11) OR 1.31 (95% CI 0.59-2.94) OR 0.96 (95% CI 0.33-2.75) OR 1.55 (95% CI 0.53-4.52) OR 2.23 (95% CI 0.58-8.53)

Makimo to, 2017	Implantable cardiac monitor	ESUS	146	33	387 days	NR	Age, sex, hypertension, diabetes, CAD, PFO, Infarct location,	Posterior cerebral artery territory Age (1 year increase)	OR 2.27 (95% CI 1.09-4.57) OR 1.02 (95% CI 1.00-1.06)
Muller, 2017	Implantable cardiac monitor	Cryptogenic stroke	90	16	331 (SD 186) days	Reveal XT	PA-TDI interval, P wave max, LA diameter, CHA ₂ DS ₂ - VASc score	PA-TDI interval (10 ms increase) P wave max (10 ms increase)	HR 3.51 (95% CI 2.05-6.71) HR 1.64 (95% CI 1.00-2.80)
								CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score (1 point increase)	HR 1.86 (95% CI 1.21-294)
Poli, 2016	Implantable cardiac monitor	Cryptogenic stroke	75	25	311 (SD 251) days	Reveal XT or Reveal LINQ	CHA ₂ DS ₂ - VASc score, LA size, SEC in LAA, atrial runs at baseline	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score (1 point increase)	HR 1 (95% CI 0.8-1.4)
								Atrial runs	HR 2.7 (95% CI 1.2-6.7)
								LA size $> 45 \text{ mm}$	HR 3.6 (95% CI 1.6-8.4)
								SEC in LAA	HR 1.4 (95% CI 0.5-3.8)
Thijs, 2016	Implantable cardiac monitor	plantable Cryptogenic diac stroke nitor	Cryptogenic 221 troke		36	Reveal XT	Age, diabetes, CHADS ₂ score, PAC, PR interval	Age (10 years)	HR 1.84 (95% CI 1.33-2.52)
								PR interval (10 ms)	HR 1.41 (95% CI 1.21-1.64)

95% CI: 95% confidence interval; HR: hazard ratio; OR: odds ratio; SD: standard deviation: ESUS: embolic stroke of undetermined source; F/U: follow-up; MCOT: mobile cardiac outpatient telemetry; SVE: supraventricular extrasystole; CAD: coronary artery disease; LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction; LVH: left ventricular hypertrophy; LA: left atrium; LAA: left atrial appendage; SEC: spontaneous echo-contrast; CP: carotid plaque; LAVI: left atrial volume index; BNP: brain natriuretic peptide; PAC: premature atrial contractions.

Author	Country	Monitoring strategies	Population	Time point (ILR)	AF duration cut-off	Total populati on	AF case s	AF detection rate (%)
Manina, 2014	Italy	Holter	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	4 days	No cut-off	85	29	34.1
Campal, 2020	Spain	Holter	ESUS	3 weeks	> 30 sec	100	14	14.0
Acampa, 2019	Italy	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	1 week	> 300 sec	222	44	19.8
Ritter, 2013	Germany	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	1 week	> 30 sec	60	1	1.7
Tayal, 2008	USA	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	3 weeks	> 30 sec	56	3	5.4
Miller, 2013	USA	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	3 weeks	> 30 sec	118	9	7.6
Lumikari, 2019	Finland	МСОТ	ESUS	3 weeks	> 30 sec	57	6	10.5
Rabenstein	USA	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	3 weeks	> 30 sec	64	3	4.7
Bhatt, 2011	USA	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	3 weeks	> 30 sec	62	14	22.6
Flint, 2012	USA	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	1 month	> 30 sec	239	18	7.5
Lumikari, 2019	Finland	МСОТ	ESUS	1 month	> 30 sec	57	7	12.3
Kass-Hout, 2018	USA	мсот	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	1 month	> 30 sec	132	17	12.9
Kalani, 2015*	USA	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	1 month	> 30 sec	85	4	4.7
Pagola, 2020	Spain	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke	1 month	No cut-off	264	61	23.1
Favilla, 2015	USA	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	1 month	> 30 sec	227	31	13.7
Jordan, 2019	USA	МСОТ	ESUS	1 month	> 30 sec	99	18	18.1
Bhatt, 2011	USA	МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	1 month	> 30 sec	62	15	24.2

Supplementary Table 6. Atrial fibrillation detection rates with non-invasive cardiac monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke

Gladstone, 2014 Canada MCOT		МСОТ	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	3 months	> 30 sec	286	45	15.7
Gladstone, 2014	Canada	Post-stroke F/U with an additional 24-h Holter	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	3 months	> 30 sec	285	9	3.2
Sanna, 2014	Europe, USA, Canada	Post-stroke F/U with ECG at visit	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	6 months	> 30 sec	214	3	1.4
Fonseca, 2013	Portugal	Post-stroke F/U with 24-h Holter at 3 and 6 months	Cryptogenic stroke	6 months	> 30 sec	80	14	17.5
Bugnicourt, 2013	France	Post-stroke F/U	Cryptogenic stroke	12 months	> 30 sec	164	6	3.7
Sanna, 2014	Europe, USA, Canada	Post-stroke F/U with ECG at visit	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	12 months	> 30 sec	200	4	2.0
Bugnicourt, 2013	France	Post-stroke F/U	Cryptogenic stroke	24 months	> 30 sec	164	11	6.7
Sanna, 2013	Europe, USA, Canada	Post-stroke F/U with ECG at visit	Cryptogenic stroke/TIA	36 months	> 30 sec	167	5	3.0
Bugnicourt, 2013	France	Post-stroke F/U	Cryptogenic stroke	36 months	> 30 sec	164	22	13.4
Mendieta, 2020	Spain	Post-stroke F/U	ESUS	NR	> 30 sec	75	14	18.7
Ntaios, 2020	Greece, Switzerland, UK	Post-stroke F/U	ESUS	NR	No cut-off	839	125	14.9

ESUS: embolic stroke of undetermined source; TIA: transient ischemic attack; F/U: follow-up; ECG: electrocardiographic; NR: not reported MCOT = mobile cardiac output telemetry *Some patients discontinued monitoring before 1 month of MCOT, for a reason other than AF detection

Supplementary Figure 1. Study selection



Supplementary Figure 2. Funnel plot for the meta-analysis of rates of atrial fibrillation detected by implantable cardiac monitor at 3 months in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Supplementary Figure 3. Funnel plot for the meta-analysis of rates of atrial fibrillation detected by implantable cardiac monitor at 6 months in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Supplementary Figure 4. Funnel plot for studies reporting atrial fibrillation detection rates by implantable cardiac monitor at 12 months in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Supplementary Figure 5. Funnel plot for studies reporting atrial fibrillation detection rates at 24 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke




Supplementary Figure 6. Meta-regression of atrial fibrillation detection rates at 3 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Supplementary Figure 7. Metaregression of atrial fibrillation detection rates at 6 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke





Supplementary Figure 8. Metaregression of atrial fibrillation detection rates at 12 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Supplementary Figure 9. Metaregression of atrial fibrillation detection rates at 24 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke

Supplementary Figure 10. Influencer analysis of AF detection rates at 3 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Sorted by I-squared

Supplementary Figure 11. Influencer analysis of AF detection rates at 6 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Sorted by I-squared

Supplementary Figure 12. Influencer analysis of AF detection rates at 12 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Supplementary Figure 13. Influencer analysis of AF detection rates at 24 months on implantable cardiac monitor in patients with cryptogenic stroke



Supplementary Figure 14. Influencer analysis of the univariable association between female sex and AF detection in patients with cryptogenic stroke

Study	Odds Ratio	OR [95% C.I.] I2
Omitting Seow 2018	<u> </u>	1.31 [1.02; 1.67] 0.07
Omitting Öner 2020		1.33 [1.01; 1.75] 0.20
Omitting Milstein 2020		1.39 [1.08; 1.81] 0.13
Omitting Jorfida 2014		1.40 [1.09; 1.80] 0.07
Omitting Israel 2017	· · ·	1.33 [1.01; 1.75] 0.20
Omitting De Angelis 2020	- · ·	1.34 [1.02; 1.76] 0.20
Omitting Christensen 2014		1.33 [1.01; 1.74] 0.19
Omitting Asaithambi 2018	+ + + + + - + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	1.21 [0.94; 1.56] 0.00
Omitting Victor 2018		1.33 [1.02; 1.75] 0.20
Omitting Poli 2016		1.42 [1.12; 1.80] 0.00
Omitting Muller 2017		1.36 [1.04; 1.78] 0.20
Omitting Makimoto 2017		1.34 [1.01; 1.78] 0.20
Omitting Carrazco 2018		1.31 [1.00; 1.71] 0.16
Omitting Riordan 2020		1.44 [1.10; 1.89] 0.09
Random effects model		1.35 [1.04; 1.74]
I	I I	I
0.5	1 2	4

List of included studies

1. Acampa M, Lazzerini PE, Guideri F, Tassi R, Andreini I, Domenichelli C, et al. Electrocardiographic Predictors of Silent Atrial Fibrillation in Cryptogenic Stroke. Heart Lung and Circulation. 2019;28(11):1664-9. English.

2. Asaithambi G, Monita JE, Annamalai MR, Ho BM, Marino EH, Hanson SK. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation with insertable cardiac monitors in cryptogenic stroke: A single-center experience. Journal of Electrocardiology. 2018;51(6):973-6. English.

3. Bettin M, Dechering D, Kochhauser S, Bode N, Eckardt L, Frommeyer G, et al. Extended ECG monitoring with an implantable loop recorder in patients with cryptogenic stroke: time schedule, reasons for explantation and incidental findings (results from the TRACK-AF trial). Clinical Research in Cardiology. 2019 Mar;108(3):309-14. PubMed PMID: WOS:000459158700010.

4. Bhatt A, Majid A, Razak A, Kassab M, Hussain S, Safdar A. Predictors of Occult Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation in Cryptogenic Strokes Detected by Long-TermNoninvasive Cardiac Monitoring. Stroke Research and Treatment. 2011;2011. PubMed PMID: WOS:000214672300004.

5. Bugnicourt JM, Flament M, Guillaumont MP, Chillon JM, Leclercq C, Canaple S, et al. Predictors of newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation in cryptogenic stroke: a cohort study. European Journal of Neurology. 2013 Oct;20(10):1352-9. PubMed PMID: WOS:000324304500008.

6. Campal JMR, Torres MAG, Borque PS, Vinagre IN, Capdepon IZ, Blanco AM, et al. Detecting Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With an Embolic Stroke of Undetermined Source (from the DAF-ESUS registry). American Journal of Cardiology. 2020 Feb;125(3):409-14. PubMed PMID: WOS:000510968000016.

7. Carrazco C, Golyan D, Kahen M, Black K, Libman RB, Katz JM. Prevalence and Risk Factors for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation and Flutter Detection after Cryptogenic Ischemic Stroke. Journal of stroke and cerebrovascular diseases : the official journal of National Stroke Association. 2018 Jan;27(1):203-9. PubMed PMID: 29032886. Epub 2017/10/17. eng.

8. Chorin E, Peterson C, Kogan E, Barbhaiya C, Aizer A, Holmes D, et al. Comparison of the Effect of Atrial Fibrillation Detection Algorithms in Patients With Cryptogenic Stroke Using Implantable Loop Recorders. The American journal of cardiology.

9. Christensen LM, Krieger DW, Højberg S, Pedersen OD, Karlsen FM, Jacobsen MD, et al. Paroxysmal atrial fibrillation occurs often in cryptogenic ischaemic stroke. Final results from the SURPRISE study. European Journal of Neurology. 2014;21(6):884-9. English.

10. Cotter PE, Martin PJ, Ring L, Warburton EA, Belham M, Pugh PJ. Incidence of atrial fibrillation detected by implantable loop recorders in unexplained stroke. Neurology. 2013 Apr 23;80(17):1546-50. PubMed PMID: 23535493. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3662328. Epub 2013/03/29. eng.

11. De Angelis MV, Di Stefano V, Franciotti R, Furia N, Di Girolamo E, Onofrj M, et al. Cryptogenic stroke and atrial fibrillation in a real-world population: the role of insertable cardiac monitors. Scientific reports. 2020;10(1):3230. English.

12. Favilla CG, Ingala E, Jara J, Fessler E, Cucchiara B, Messe SR, et al. Predictors of Finding Occult Atrial Fibrillation After Cryptogenic Stroke. Stroke. 2015 May;46(5):1210-5. PubMed PMID: WOS:000353559800026.

13. Flint AC, Banki NM, Ren X, Rao VA, Go AS. Detection of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation by 30-day event monitoring in cryptogenic ischemic stroke: the Stroke and Monitoring for PAF in Real Time (SMART) Registry. Stroke. 2012 Oct;43(10):2788-90. PubMed PMID: 22871679. Epub 2012/08/09. eng.

14. Fonseca AC, Brito D, Melo TPE, Geraldes R, Canhao P, Caplan LR, et al. N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide shows diagnostic accuracy for detecting atrial fibrillation in cryptogenic stroke patients. International Journal of Stroke. 2014 Jun;9(4):419-25. PubMed PMID: WOS:000335664900011.

15. Gaillard N, Deltour S, Vilotijevic B, Hornych A, Crozier S, Leger A, et al. Detection of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation with transtelephonic EKG in TIA or stroke patients. Neurology. 2010 May 25;74(21):1666-70. PubMed PMID: 20498434. Epub 2010/05/26. eng.

16. Gladstone DJ, Spring M, Dorian P, Panzov V, Thorpe KE, Hall J, et al. Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Cryptogenic Stroke. New England Journal of Medicine. 2014 Jun;370(26):2467-77. PubMed PMID: WOS:000337804400004.

17. Israel C, Kitsiou A, Kalyani M, Deelawar S, Ejangue LE, Rogalewski A, et al. Detection of atrial fibrillation in patients with embolic stroke of undetermined source by prolonged monitoring with implantable loop recorders. Thrombosis and haemostasis. 2017 Oct;117(10):1962-9. PubMed PMID: WOS:000412794200017.

18. Iwata T, Todo K, Yamagami H, Morimoto M, Hashimoto T, Doijiri R, et al. High Detection Rate of Atrial Fibrillation With Insertable Cardiac Monitor Implantation in Patients With Cryptogenic Stroke Diagnosed by Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases. 2019;28(9):2569-73. English.

19. Jordan N, Ghosh S, Cunningham J, Alvaro A. Usefulness of Holter monitoring, thrombophilia and vasculitis screening tests in the investigation of a heterogenous group of ischaemic stroke patients. Cerebrovascular Diseases. 2009;27:227. English.

20. Jorfida M, Antolini M, Cerrato E, Caprioli MG, Castagno D, Garrone P, et al. Cryptogenic ischemic stroke and prevalence of asymptomatic atrial fibrillation: A prospective study. Journal of Cardiovascular Medicine. 2016;17(12):863-9. English.

21. Kalani R, Bernstein R, Passman R, Curran Y, Ruff I, Prabhakaran S. Low Yield of Mobile Cardiac Outpatient Telemetry after Cryptogenic Stroke in Patients with Extensive Cardiac Imaging. Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases. 2015;24(9):2069-73. English.

22. Kass-Hout O, Kass-Hout T, Parikh A, Hoskins M, Clements SD, Jr., Rangaraju S, et al. Atrial Fibrillation Predictors on Mobile Cardiac Telemetry in Cryptogenic Ischemic Stroke. The Neurohospitalist. 2018 Jan;8(1):7-11. PubMed PMID: 29276556. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC5734506. Epub 2017/12/26. eng.

23. Lumikari TJ, Putaala J, Kerola A, Sibolt G, Pirinen J, Pakarinen S, et al. Continuous 4-week ECG monitoring with adhesive electrodes reveals AF in patients with recent embolic stroke of undetermined source. Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology. 2019;24(5). English.

24. Makimoto H, Kurt M, Gliem M, Lee JI, Schmidt J, Muller P, et al. High Incidence of Atrial Fibrillation After Embolic Stroke of Undetermined Source in Posterior Cerebral Artery Territory. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2017 Dec;6(12). PubMed PMID: WOS:000418951100067.

25. Manina G, Agnelli G, Becattini C, Zingarini G, Paciaroni M. 96 hours ECG monitoring for patients with ischemic cryptogenic stroke or transient ischaemic attack. Internal and emergency medicine. 2014;9(1):65-7. English.

26. Mendieta G, Guasch E, Weir D, Aristizabal D, Escobar-Robledo LA, Llull L, et al. Advanced interatrial block: A predictor of covert atrial fibrillation in embolic stroke of undetermined source. Journal of Electrocardiology. 2020;58:113-8. English.

27. Miller DJ, Khan MA, Schultz LR, Simpson JR, Katramados AM, Russman AN, et al. Outpatient cardiac telemetry detects a high rate of atrial fibrillation in cryptogenic stroke. Journal of the Neurological Sciences. 2013;324(1-2):57-61. English.

28. Milstein NS, Musat DL, Allred J, Seiler A, Pimienta J, Oliveros S, et al. Detection of atrial fibrillation using an implantable loop recorder following cryptogenic stroke: implications for post-stroke electrocardiographic monitoring. Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrophysiology. 2020;57(1):141-7. English.

29. Muller P, Ivanov V, Kara K, Klein-Wiele O, Forkmann M, Piorkowski C, et al. Total atrial conduction time to predict occult atrial fibrillation after cryptogenic stroke. Clinical Research in Cardiology. 2017 Feb;106(2):113-9. PubMed PMID: WOS:000394132600005.

30. Ntaios G, Perlepe K, Lambrou D, Sirimarco G, Strambo D, Eskandari A, et al. Identification of patients with embolic stroke of undetermined source and low risk of new incident atrial fibrillation: The AF-ESUS score. International journal of stroke : official journal of the International Stroke Society. 2020 May 19:1747493020925281. PubMed PMID: 32423317. Epub 2020/05/20. eng.

31. Öner A, Lips T, Walter U, Storch A, Ince H, Caglayan E, et al. Detection of arrhythmia using an implantable cardiac monitor following a cryptogenic stroke: a single-center observational study. European journal of medical research. 2020 Jun 29;25(1):25. PubMed PMID: 32600384. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7325047. Epub 2020/07/01. eng.

32. Pagola J, Juega J, Francisco-Pascual J, Bustamante A, Penalba A, Pala E, et al. Large vessel occlusion is independently associated with atrial fibrillation detection. European Journal of Neurology. 2020. English.

33. Pecha S, Wilke I, Yildirim Y, Reichenspurner H, Aydin MA. Implantable loop recorder monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke - Detection and treatment of different clinically relevant arrhythmias. Journal of Electrocardiology. 2020;60:102-6. English.

34. Poli S, Diedler J, Hartig F, Gotz N, Bauer A, Sachse T, et al. Insertable cardiac monitors after cryptogenic stroke - a risk factor based approach to enhance the detection rate for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. European Journal of Neurology. 2016 Feb;23(2):375-81. PubMed PMID: WOS:000368797100033.

35. Rabinstein AA, Fugate JE, Mandrekar J, Burns JD, Seet RC, Dupont SA, et al. Paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in cryptogenic stroke: a case-control study. Journal of stroke and cerebrovascular diseases : the official journal of National Stroke Association. 2013 Nov;22(8):1405-11. PubMed PMID: 23791469. Epub 2013/06/25. eng.

36. Reinke F, Bettin M, Ross LS, Kochhauser S, Kleffner I, Ritter M, et al. Refinement of detecting atrial fibrillation in stroke patients: results from the TRACK-AF Study. European Journal of Neurology. 2018 Apr;25(4):631-6. PubMed PMID: WOS:000428397200011.

37. Riordan M, Yoruk A, Younis A, Ali A, Opaskar A, Sahin B, et al. Predictors of atrial fibrillation during long-term arrhythmia monitoring following cryptogenic stroke. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2020;75(11):497. English.

38. Ritter MA, Kochhauser S, Duning T, Reinke F, Pott C, Dechering DG, et al. Occult Atrial Fibrillation in Cryptogenic Stroke Detection by 7-Day Electrocardiogram Versus Implantable Cardiac Monitors. Stroke. 2013 May;44(5):1449-+. PubMed PMID: WOS:000318030000057.

39. Rojo-Martinez E, Sandin-Fuentes M, Calleja-Sanz AI, Cortijo-Garcia E, Garcia-Bermejo P, Ruiz-Pinero M, et al. High performance of an implantable Holter monitor in the detection of concealed paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in patients with cryptogenic stroke and a suspected embolic mechanism. Revista De Neurologia. 2013 Sep;57(6):251-7. PubMed PMID: WOS:000324906200002.

40. Sanna T, Diener HC, Passman RS, Di Lazzaro V, Bernstein RA, Morillo CA, et al. Cryptogenic stroke and underlying atrial fibrillation. New England Journal of Medicine. 2014;370(26):2478-86. English.

41. Seow SC, How AK, Chan SP, Teoh HL, Lim TW, Singh D, et al. High Incidence of Occult Atrial Fibrillation in Asian Patients with Cryptogenic Stroke. Journal of stroke and

cerebrovascular diseases : the official journal of National Stroke Association. 2018 Aug;27(8):2182-6. PubMed PMID: 29678635. Epub 2018/04/22. eng.

42. Tayal AH, Tian M, Kelly KM, Jones SC, Wright DG, Singh D, et al. Atrial fibrillation detected by mobile cardiac outpatient telemetry in cryptogenic TIA or stroke. Neurology. 2008;71(21):1696-701. English.

43. Thijs VN, Brachmann J, Morillo CA, Passman RS, Sanna T, Bernstein RA, et al. Predictors for atrial fibrillation detection after cryptogenic stroke: Results from CRYSTAL AF. Neurology. 2016;86(3):261-9. English.

44. Víctor CU, Carolina PE, Jorge TR, Joaquín CR, Manuel SG, Marta CM, et al. Incidence and Predictive Factors of Hidden Atrial Fibrillation Detected by Implantable Loop Recorder After an Embolic Stroke of Undetermined Source. J Atr Fibrillation. 2018 Oct-Nov;11(3):2078. PubMed PMID: 31139276. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC6533811. Epub 2019/05/30. eng.

45. Watson RA, Wellings J, Hingorani R, Zhan T, Frisch DR, Ho RT, et al. Atrial fibrillation post central retinal artery occlusion:role of implantable loop recorders. Pacing and clinical electrophysiology : PACE. 2020 Jun 21. PubMed PMID: 32567072. Epub 2020/06/23. eng.

46. Yayehd K, Irles D, Akret C, Vadot W, Rodier G, Berremili T, et al. Detection of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation by prolonged electrocardiographic recording after ischaemic stroke in patients aged < 60 years: A study with 21-day recording using the SpiderFlash® monitor. Archives of Cardiovascular Diseases. 2015;108(3):189-96. English.

47. Ziegler PD, Rogers JD, Ferreira SW, Nichols AJ, Richards M, Koehler JL, et al. Long-term detection of atrial fibrillation with insertable cardiac monitors in a real-world cryptogenic stroke population. International Journal of Cardiology. 2017;244:175-9. English.

CHAPTER 4:

Clinical and cardiac predictors of stroke in patients with

atrial fibrillation

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	A meta-analysis of clinical risk factors for stroke in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation.
	Dublished
Delike the Oter	\square Accepted for publication \square
Publication Status	□ Submitted for publication
	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ , Feteh VF, Middeldorp ME, Fitzgerald JL, Thomas G, Kleinig T, Lau DH, Sanders P. A meta-analysis of clinical risk factors for stroke in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation. Europace. 2021 Oct 9;23(10):1528-1538.

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale			
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, literature search, data collection, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision			
Overall percentage (%)	50%			
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.			
Signature		Date	3/12/2022	

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Vitalis F. Feteh		
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection (10%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, manuscript revision (10%)		
Signature		Date	3/22/2022

Name of Co-Author	John L. Fitzgerald		
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature	Date 3/13/2022		3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Gijo Thomas			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)			
Signature	~		Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Tim Kleinig		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Dennis H. Lau			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5	5%)		
Signature			Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design/manuscript revision (10%)		
Signature	Date 3/12/2022		

Publication 2

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Cardiac imaging correlates and predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: A pooled analysis
Publication Status	 Published Accepted for publication Submitted for publication Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ , Nyaga UF, Middledorp ME, Stokes MD, Sanders P. Cardiac imaging correlates and predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: A pooled analysis

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, bibliographic searches, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision		
Overall percentage (%)	65%		
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.		
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Ulrich Flore Nyaga		
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, data interpretation, manuscript revision (10%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)			
		D	3/22/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Michael B. Stokes		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/7/2023

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders			
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, manuscript revision (15%)			
Signature		Date	3/9/2023	

Overview

This chapter covers clinical and cardiac predictors of stroke in patients with AF. It is divided in two sections. The first section is a systematic review and meta-analysis that comprehensively summarizes data from prospective cohort studies on clinical predictors of stroke and systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve AF patients. The ultimate goal of this study is to provide pooled risk estimates that may serve as reference values for the development of future stroke risk prediction schemes combining clinical and non-clinical factors. The second section is a systematic review and meta-analysis that comprehensively summarizes data on potential cardiac imaging correlates and predictors of stroke or systemic embolism in patients with AF. on AF screening after stroke.

4.1 Clinical risk factors for stroke in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

4.1.1 Introduction

According to the data from the Global Burden of Disease 2016, stroke is the second leading cause of death and disability globally, accounting for almost 5% of all disability-adjusted life-years and 10% of all deaths.^{382, 383} Ischemic strokes represent about two-third of all strokes, and atrial fibrillation (AF)-related cardioembolism accounts for up to a third of these ischemic strokes.^{261, 401} Stroke prevention is considered the cornerstone of AF management; the main strategies including oral anticoagulation with either vitamin K antagonists or direct oral anticoagulants, dedicated anticoagulation clinics and percutaneous left atrial appendage occlusion.²⁶¹

Several clinical stroke risk scores have been developed over time to guide pharmacological and interventional stroke prevention strategies in AF patients. The most popular include the CHADS₂ score, the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and the ATRIA stroke risk score, released in 2001, 2010 and 2013, respectively.^{252, 264, 265} The predictors of stroke included in these scores comprise older age, female gender, history of hypertension, diabetes, congestive heart failure, previous stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA), vascular disease and renal disease (reduced glomerular filtration or proteinuria).^{252, 264, 265} More recently, the GARFIELD-AF risk calculator was released. It is a computer-based risk calculator that simultaneously provides risk estimates for mortality, ischemic stroke or systemic embolism and major bleeding for up to 24 months.²⁵⁵ The CHA₂DS₂-VASc score which remains the most commonly used risk stratification tool for AF patients has shown modest performance in predicting stroke and systemic embolic events in real-world cohorts.²⁶¹ This has urged the call

for new risk predictor tools incorporating both clinical factors and non-clinical factors such as left atrial imaging features, electrocardiographic markers and biomarkers.²⁶¹

Stroke risk assessment is required for anticoagulant-naïve patients to guide anticoagulation stroke prevention treatment. Therefore, there is a need for investigation of new stroke prediction tools to be evaluated in anticoagulant-naïve AF populations. Due to greater prevalence of oral anticoagulation in AF patients, it has become challenging to perform further large homogeneous cohort studies of anticoagulant-naïve AF patients with unselected risk profiles. In this context, this systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to comprehensively summarize data from prospective cohort studies on clinical predictors of stroke and systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve AF patients. The pooled risk estimates from this study may serve as reference values for the development of future stroke risk prediction schemes combining clinical and non-clinical factors.

4.1.2 Methods

This review is reported in accordance with the Meta-analyses Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guidelines (MOOSE) and was registered with PROSPERO (CRD42020160572).

4.1.2.1 Literature search

PubMed/MEDLINE, Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE), Global Index Medicus and Web of Science were searched to identify all cohort studies reporting primary data on the incidence and predictors of stroke in patients with non-valvular AF, published and included in these bibliographic databases by November 28, 2019 (date of the last search), irrespective of the language. The search strategy was built based on the combination of relevant terms including "atrial fibrillation", "stroke" and "cohort" and their bibliographic synonyms (**Supplementary**

Table 1). Furthermore, the reference list of eligible articles and relevant reviews were examined to identify potential additional data sources.

4.1.2.2 Selection of studies to include in the review

We included cohort studies reporting on the incidence and predictors of stroke in patients with non-valvular AF who were not on anticoagulation, or studies with enough data to compute these estimates. Because estimates from interventional studies are not always reproducible in real-world settings, we excluded randomized-controlled trials and focused on observational cohort studies. We also excluded articles without primary data. For studies reporting data from the same primary study or registry (duplicates), we included the single most comprehensive reporting the largest sample size, or articles presenting complementary data. Two investigators (JJN and VFF) independently screened records for eligibility based on titles and abstracts, and then full texts for final inclusion. Selection discrepancies were resolved via discussion and consensus.

4.1.2.3 Data extraction and management

Two investigators (JJN and JF) independently extracted data on the general characteristics of each study, the distribution of various co-morbidities, the total sample size, the mean or median follow-up time, the total number of person-years of follow-up, the total number of thromboembolic events (stroke, TIA, systemic embolism) during follow-up, the risk estimate (hazard ratio, odds ratio or relative risk) with the 95% confidence interval (95% CI) for each variable assessed as a potential predictor of stroke. A predefined list of potential predictors of stroke in AF patients was established based on the available literature and included diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, heart failure, chronic kidney disease (estimated glomerular filtration rate [eGFR] < 60 ml/min/1.73 m²), proteinuria, previous stroke/TIA/systemic

embolism, vascular disease, peripheral artery disease, prior myocardial infarction, previous pulmonary embolism, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), female sex, race (Black or Hispanic) and age (\geq 65, 65-74, \geq 75, \geq 85 years). Although vascular disease and peripheral artery disease may be considered as the same entity, in the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, vascular disease is defined as prior myocardial infarction, peripheral artery disease, or aortic plaque.²⁶⁴ Therefore, risk estimates for vascular disease, peripheral artery disease, and prior myocardial infarction were collected separately according to how they were reported in original studies. However, when risk estimates for vascular disease were not provided, we attributed estimates for peripheral artery disease and prior myocardial infarction to vascular disease. Two investigators (JJN and JF) independently assessed the risk of bias in included studies using the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale.⁴⁰² Discrepancies were resolved through discussion and consensus.

4.1.2.4 Statistical analysis

Meta-analyses were conducted using the *meta* packages of the R statistical software (version 3.6.0, The R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria). To describe the overall population, we pooled prevalence estimates of main characteristics related to age, gender and co-morbidities, using a random-effects meta-analysis model with single arcsine transformation. Incidence data were pooled using the inverse variance method. All incidence and prevalence data were reported with their 95% CI. The generic inverse variance method was also used to pool adjusted risk estimates (hazard ratio [HR], odds ratio [OR] and risk ratio [RR]) and their standard errors with the random-effects meta-analysis model using the *metagen* function. Hazard ratio, OR and RR were treated as equivalent measures of risk, as they were all derived from cohort studies. For both incidence and risk estimate analyses, heterogeneity was assessed by the χ^2 test on Cochrane's Q statistic, which was quantified by I²

values, assuming I² values of 25, 50 and 75% respectively representing low, medium and high heterogeneity.³⁸⁸ We calculated R² through meta-regression analysis (with *metareg* function) to identify covariates that explained the heterogeneity in risk estimate analyses, and therefore quantify the heterogeneity accounted for. The Egger test was used to assess the presence of publication bias.⁴⁰³ Because the predictive value of gender for stroke in AF patients has been reported to differ according to race, especially in Asians,⁴⁰⁴ we performed subgroup analysis comparing studies done in Asia to those done outside Asia.

4.1.3 Results

4.1.3.1 Study selection and characteristics

In total, we identified 17,617 records from bibliographic searches, among which 47 eligible studies were finally included (**Figure 1**). The list of included studies is presented at the end of the appendix, and their characteristics are summarized in the **Supplementary Tables 2 and 3**. Forty-four (93.6%) and three (6.4%) studies had a low and moderate risk of bias, respectively (**Supplementary Table 3**). These studies reported data from 1,756,984 participants in 15 countries.

4.1.3.2 Incidence of stroke, TIA, or systemic embolism

The pooled incidence of stroke in anticoagulant-naïve AF patients was 23.8 per 1000 personyears (95% CI: 19.7-28.2) and varied across regions from 20.3 per 1000 person-years (95% CI: 12.9-29.4) in studies done in Asia to 31.7 per 1000 person-years (95% CI: 29.8-33.7) in one study from Middle East (**Supplementary Figure 1**). There was high heterogeneity ($I^2 =$ 99.8%). There was no evidence of publication bias (Egger test, p value = 0.4675). The pooled incidence was 28.7 per 1000 person-years (95% CI: 21.3-37.2) for the composite of stroke and TIA (**Supplementary Figure 2**), and 34.2 per 1000 person-years (95% CI: 12.5-66.7) for the composite of stroke, TIA and systemic embolism (**Supplementary Figure 3**). Additional incidence data are presented in the **Supplementary Table 4**.

4.1.3.3 Potential risk factors for stroke or systemic embolism

4.1.3.3.1 Age

In all studies, most patients were aged ≥ 65 years, with proportions ranging from 55.7% to 87.5%, pooled proportion of 75.6% (15 studies, N = 901,697) (**Supplementary Table 5**). The proportions of patients aged ≥ 75 years ranged from 12.1% to 64.7% with a pooled proportion of 45.1% (15 studies, N = 612,853) (**Supplementary Table 5**). Pooled analyses showed that older age categories were predictors of stroke or systemic embolism with a pooled HR of 2.14 (95% CI 1.85-2.47) for age 65-75 years, 2.83 (95% CI 2.27-3.51) for age ≥ 75 years and 6.87 (95% CI 6.33-7.44) for age ≥ 85 years (**Table 1 and Figure 2**).

4.1.3.3.2 Female sex

Females represented 47% (34 studies, N = 1,639,026) of the pooled population, ranging from 25.6% to 67.5% (**Supplementary Table 5**). In overall studies, female sex was associated with incident stroke or systemic embolism (pooled HR 1.18, 95% CI 1.02-1.36) (Table 1). In subgroup analysis, there was an association for studies done outside Asia (pooled HR 1.33 (95% CI 1.15-1.55), but not in those from Asia (pooled HR 0.95, 95% CI 0.81-1.10) (**Figure 3**).

4.1.3.3.3 Hypertension

Hypertension was the most common cardiovascular risk factors, reported in 59.5% (33 studies, N = 1,413,175; range: 22.8%-85%) of participants (**Supplementary Table 5**). Hypertension was a predictor of stroke or systemic embolism (pooled HR 1.60, 95% CI 1.37-1.86) (**Table 1 and Figure 4**).

4.1.3.3.4 Diabetes mellitus

Diabetes was reported in 18.9% (34 studies, N = 1,415,173), ranging from 8.8% to 38.8% (**Supplementary Table 5**). Diabetes was significantly associated with incident stroke or systemic embolism (pooled HR 1.28, 95% CI 1.20-1.37) (**Table 1 and Figure 4**).

4.1.3.3.5 Heart failure

Heart failure was reported in 25.2% (range: 3.8%-92.5%) of patients (29 studies, N = 1,384,665) (**Supplementary Table 5**). These patients with heart failure had a higher risk of incident stroke or systemic embolism (pooled HR 1.25, 95% CI 1.11-1.40) compared to those without heart failure (**Table 1 and Figure 5**).

4.1.3.3.6 Previous stroke or transient ischemic attack

History of stroke or TIA was reported in 14.0% (range: 1.8%-43.1%) of the pooled population (20 studies, N = 962,533) (**Supplementary Table 5**) and it was a strong predictor of stroke or systemic embolism (pooled HR 2.84, 95% CI 2.19-3.67) (**Table 1 and Figure 6**).

4.1.3.3.7 Vascular disease, peripheral artery disease, and prior myocardial

infarction

The pooled prevalence was 21.3% (12 studies, N = 1,110,724; range: 12.0%-49.7%) for vascular disease, 18.6% (10 studies, N = 53,202; range: 5.1%-63.1%) for coronary artery disease, 8.1% (9 studies; N = 61,985; range 1.3%-28.9%) for peripheral artery disease (**Supplementary Table 5**). Vascular disease (pooled HR 1.21, 95% CI 1.06-1.39), prior myocardial infarction (pooled HR 1.08, 95% CI 1.03-1.14) and peripheral artery disease

(pooled HR 1.35, 95% CI 1.04-1.75) were significantly associated with incident stroke or systemic embolism (**Table 1** and **Figure 5**).

4.1.3.3.8 Other co-morbidities

The pooled prevalence of co-morbidities was 16.6% (range: 3.8%-34.9%) for chronic kidney disease, 16.6% (range: 4.0%-28.2%) for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, 14.9% (9 studies, N = 157,008; range: 1.2%-34.9%) for smoking and 33.9% (6 studies, N = 183,760; range 13.0%-55.4%) for dyslipidemia (**Supplementary Table 5**). Chronic kidney disease (pooled HR 1.06, 95% CI 0.88-1.28), proteinuria (pooled HR 1.22, 95% CI 0.79-1.90), smoking (pooled HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.85-1.15), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (pooled HR 1.02, 95% CI 0.89-1.18) and pulmonary embolism (pooled HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.74-1.06) were not predictors of stroke or systemic embolism (Table 1).

4.1.3.4 Heterogeneity and publication bias

All pooled analyses of prevalence showed high heterogeneity, in keeping with significant variation in the distribution of cardiovascular risk factors across studies from different countries and regions. Exploration of source of heterogeneity was not deemed necessary.

Regarding meta-analyses of risk estimates, according to the Egger test, there was evidence of publication bias for age ≥ 75 years, hypertension, diabetes and vascular disease (**Table 1**). High heterogeneity was found in meta-analyses for age 65-74, age ≥ 75 years, female sex, hypertension, heart failure, previous stroke or systemic embolism and proteinuria. Meta-regression analyses exploring the factors accounting for this heterogeneity are reported in the Appendix (**Supplementary Table 6**).

4.1.4 Discussion

The evidence base that has contributed to the development of stroke risk predictors in AF has been varied. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first meta-analysis of potential clinical predictors of stroke in anticoagulant-naïve AF patients. It shows that increasing age (from \geq 65 years), hypertension, diabetes, heart failure, vascular and previous stroke or TIA are predictors of stroke in anticoagulant-naïve AF patients. In contrast, some factors that are currently utilized for predicting risk such as chronic kidney disease and proteinuria were not shown to predict stroke in this meta-analysis. Although female sex is associated with thromboembolism in general, subgroup analysis shows that there is no association in studies done in Asia, as opposed to those conducted elsewhere.

Our findings confirm older age as the strongest clinical risk factor for stroke in AF patients. The older AF patients are, the higher their stroke risk. While CHADS₂ score only included age \geq 75 years, the relationship between age and risk of stroke in AF as a continuum was recognized in the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score (age 65-74 years and \geq 75 years) and the ATRIA stroke risk score (age 65-74, 75-84 and \geq 85 years).^{252, 264, 265} The markedly higher risk attributed to age \geq 85 years compared to the categories \geq 75 years and 65-74 years (pooled HR of 6.87, 2.83 and 2.14, respectively) should be better reflected in age risk-weighting than in the ATRIA stroke risk score (65–74 years = 3 points, 75-84 years = 5 points, \geq 85 years = 6 points). Furthermore, it has been suggested that stroke risk in AF patients rises from age 55 years upwards. A modified CHA₂DS₂-VASc score which assigns one point for patients aged 50 to 74 years was shown to perform better than the CHA₂DS₂-VASc in an Asian cohort, and would further identify AF patients who may derive a positive net clinical benefit from oral anticoagulation.⁴⁰⁵

There is some controversy regarding whether female sex should be considered as a risk factor for thromboembolism in AF patients, due to inconsistent findings across studies.

For instance, in the Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation and the ATRIA study, female sex increased the risk of thromboembolism.^{320, 330} For this reason, female sex was included in the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and the ATRIA risk score, whereas it is not a component of the older CHADS₂ score ^{252, 264, 265}. However, the absent significant association of female sex with thromboembolism in other individual studies motivated the revision of several AF management guidelines, including those of the Japanese Circulation Society, the Canadian Cardiovascular Society, and the National Heart Foundation of Australia Consensus Statement which excluded female sex as a risk factor.²⁶⁷⁻²⁶⁹ Our subgroup analysis showed that female sex was not associated with thromboembolism in AF patients in studies done in Asia. Indeed, an analysis of data from the Japanese J-RHYTM registry showed that a CHA₂DS₂-VA score, excluding the female sex criterion, had a better performance than the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, especially in identifying truly low-risk patients.⁴⁰⁴ A study based on data from three nationwide Swedish AF registries showed similar findings. Furthermore, the study found that the prognostic power of female sex varied across different CHA2DS2-VASc score levels, with the excess risk for women being significant among those with two or more risk factors other than sex.⁴⁰⁶ Overall, although there is an association between female sex and incident thromboembolism in anticoagulant-naïve AF patients in general (mostly from studies in Caucasian populations), the current body of knowledge suggests that female sex alone is not enough to initiate antithrombotic therapy in contradistinction to current American guidelines.²⁶⁶ According to the 2020 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and management of AF, the simplified CHA₂DS₂-VA score (without the sex component) could guide the initial decision about oral anticoagulation in AF patients, but not considering the sex component would underestimate stroke risk in women with AF, because their risk of stroke is consistently higher in the presence of more than one non-sex stroke risk factor, compared to men.⁴⁰⁷

This meta-analysis confirms hypertension, diabetes, vascular disease and congestive heart failure as prognostic factors for stroke and systemic embolism in patients with AF but suggests differential risk factor potency. Although all three are given 1 point in the $CHADS_{2}$. CHA₂DS₂-VASc and ATRIA stroke risk scores,^{252, 264, 265} the risk attributed to hypertension (HR 1.60) is higher than that of diabetes (HR 1.28), vascular disease (HR 1.21) and heart failure (HR 1.19). Although a narrow-scale score (0 to 9 for the CHA₂DS₂-VASc) is simpler, it underestimates the weight of some score components. Furthermore, one of the major limitations of the abovementioned risk scores is that they only considered history of these factors and do not consider whether they are controlled or not and their severity. For instance, among patients with hypertension, up to 90% of strokes occur in those with uncontrolled blood pressure,⁴⁰⁸ and blood pressure lowering post-stroke lowers cardioembolism risk.²⁵¹ Therefore, as the risk of stroke is certainly much higher in patients with uncontrolled hypertension, poor blood pressure control should be given more weight in risk stratification schemes than just history of hypertension. Furthermore, the dynamic changes in risk profile in AF patients is now well established, with the 2020 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and management of AF recommending that in AF patients initially at low risk of stroke, first reassessment of stroke risk should be made at 4 - 6 months after the index evaluation (Class IIa; Level of Evidence B).⁴⁰⁷

Besides older age, previous stroke or TIA is the most important predictor of thromboembolism in AF patients, conferring almost a two and half fold increased risk. Data from the ATRIA and ATRIA-CVRN cohorts have shown that there is a strong interaction between increased age and prior history of stroke²⁶⁵. As such, the ATRIA stroke risk score confers points to age strata according to history of prior stroke. Besides, including history of TIA as a risk factor for future thromboembolism might lead to significant inaccuracy in risk assessment. Indeed, TIA mimics are common,⁴⁰⁹ and high rates of TIA misdiagnosis, up to

~50%, have been reported in emergency departments.⁴¹⁰ Therefore, a substantial proportion of patients reporting prior TIA potentially did not have it, leading to the inappropriate commencement of oral anticoagulation. It is worth noting that while the CHADS₂ and CHA₂DS₂-VASc scores consider history of stroke or TIA, the more recent ATRIA stroke score only considers prior stroke.^{252, 264, 265}

Proteinuria and chronic kidney disease (eGFR < 45) or end-stage renal disease are included in the ATRIA stroke risk score, based on findings from the ATRIA cohort ^{265, 411}. Only two studies, including the ATRIA cohort study, were included in our meta-analysis for proteinuria, with conflicting results.^{411, 412} Therefore, a definite conclusion cannot be made regarding the risk of stroke attributable to proteinuria. On the other hand, the absence of association between chronic kidney disease (eGFR < 60) and incident stroke in our study is likely due to cut-off differences, with most of studies included in our meta-analysis using a cutoff eGFR of < 60, which is higher than the one used in the ATRIA cohort study and the resultant ATRIA stroke risk score.

The current study focuses on clinical risk factors for thromboembolism in patients with AF. The limited performance of exclusively clinical risk stratification tool in predicting thromboembolism in real-world settings highlights the need for hybrid risk predictor tools incorporating clinical and non-clinical factors such as atrial fibrosis and function, left atrial appendage morphology, electrocardiographic markers and biomarkers.^{261, 392} The ABC (Age, Biomarkers [high-sensitivity troponin and N-terminal fragment B-type natriuretic peptide], and Clinical history of prior stroke/transient ischemic attack)-stroke risk score was shown to outperform the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score.³⁹² However, studies comparing the ABC (Age, Biomarkers [growth differentiation factor-15, hsTnT, and haemoglobin], and clinical history [previous bleeding])-bleeding risk score and the HAS-BLED score (exclusively clinical) have shown inconsistent results,²⁵¹ suggesting that the addition of biomarkers to clinical factors

does not always lead to better accuracy. Studies that provide a holistic assessment of clinical factors, imaging and biomarkers for stroke risk prediction in patients with AF are highly needed. Such studies should incorporate feasibility and cost-effectiveness data to justify the need for additional testing and more complex tools, especially in primary care settings.³⁹² The main limitation of this study is the moderate to high level of heterogeneity in most analyses. Although this heterogeneity is reflective of the reality in routine clinical practice, as risk stratification schemes are used in real-world patients with various risk profiles and from diverse clinical settings, it is also due to differences and weaknesses in the assessment, definition and reporting of some clinical factors across studies. Indeed, in most studies there was no information about whether patients remained or not anticoagulant-free during followup. The absence of censoring for oral anticoagulation initiation in some studies may have biased the estimation of stroke risk.⁴¹³ One study was restricted to patients who did not use anticoagulant therapy, excluding high risk patients initiated on anticoagulation during the follow-up period and therefore, biasing events rates towards lower values.⁴¹⁴ Differences in duration of follow-up across studies are also potential source of bias. Finally, although we included only estimates from multivariable regression analyses, the level of adjustment for confounders was not the same in the included studies.

4.1.5 Conclusion

This study confirms older age and prior stroke as the strongest predictors of stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve AF patients. Although weighted similarly in most risk stratification schemes, the absolute risk of stroke attributable to hypertension, diabetes, vascular, and heart failure may not be the same in individual patients. Female sex seems not to be universally associated with stroke or systemic embolism, suggesting that the decision to initiate anticoagulation should not be made on the sole basis of female sex. Chronic kidney disease, prior pulmonary embolism, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and smoking were not predictors of stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve AF patients.

4.1.6 Tables and figures

Table 1. Meta-analysis of the potential predictors of stroke or systemic embolism in

 anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

Figure 1. Study selection

Figure 2. Association between older age and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation Panel A. 65-74 years; Panel B. Age \geq 74 years; Panel C. Age \geq 85 years

Figure 3. Association between female sex and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation: **Panel A.** From studies done outside Asia;

Panel B. From studies done in Asia

Figure 4. Association between hypertension and diabetes, and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation Panel A. Hypertension; PanelB. Diabetes

Figure 5. Association between heart failure and vascular disease, and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation **Panel A.** Heart failure; **Panel B.** Vascular disease

Figure 6. Association between previous thromboembolism and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

Potential predictors	HR	95%	Ν	Heterogeneity		Egger test,
		confidence	studies	I ² (%)	P value	p value
		interval				
Age 65-74 years	2.14	1.85-2.47	11	75.3	< 0.0001	0.267
Age ≥ 75 years	2.83	2.27-3.51	15	90.5	< 0.0001	0.006
Age ≥ 85 years	6.87	6.33-7.44	3	0.0	0.5033	0.614
Female	1.18	1.02-1.36	17	88.4	< 0.0001	0.941
Diabetes	1.28	1.20-1.37	18	62.4	0.0002	0.008
Hypertension	1.60	1.37-1.86	16	87.7	< 0.0001	0.006
Heart failure	1.25	1.11-1.40	17	88.3	< 0.0001	0.077
Previous stroke or TIA	2.84	2.19-3.67	15	95.3	< 0.0001	0.656
Vascular disease	1.21	1.06-1.39	15	71.0	< 0.0001	0.011
Peripheral artery disease	1.35	1.04-1.75	5	69.8	0.0101	0.423
Prior myocardial infarction	1.08	1.03-1.14	3	29.0	0.2447	0.928
Pulmonary embolism	0.89	0.74-1.06	2	0.0	0.4940	NA
Chronic kidney disease	1.06	0.88-1.28	5	63.1	0.0284	0.999
Proteinuria	1.22	0.79-1.90	2	93.3	0.0001	NA
Smoking	0.99	0.85-1.15	4	27.6	0.2465	0.463
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	1.02	0.89-1.18	2	48.7	0.1628	NA

Table 1. Meta-analysis of the potential predictors of stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

TIA: transient ischemic attack; HR: hazard ratio




Figure 2. Association between older age and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

Study	Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Apostolakis, 2013 Abraham, 2013 Aspberg, 2016 Saliba, 2015 Singer, 2013 Siu, 2014 Suzuki, 2015 van den Ham, 2015 Kang, 2017 Kim, 2017 Lin, 2011 Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 75\%$, $\tau^{2} = 0.0$ 0.8	381, p < 0.01 1 1.25 3.	4.85 1.95 2.59 2.27 2.38 2.09 1.12 2.87 2.14 2.11 1.34 2.14 5	[1.29; 18.25] [1.56; 2.44] [2.33; 2.88] [1.76; 2.92] [1.69; 3.36] [1.59; 2.74] [0.53; 2.37] [2.40; 3.43] [1.80; 2.54] [1.73; 2.58] [1.06; 1.69] [1.85; 2.47]	1.1% 10.5% 13.2% 9.9% 7.8% 9.5% 2.9% 11.7% 11.8% 11.2% 10.4% 100.0%
	Panel B. Age ≥ 75 years			
Study	Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Study Aakre, 2014 Abraham, 2013 Aspberg, 2016 Flegel, 1989 Guo, 2013 Saliba, 2015 Singer, 2013 Siu, 2014 Suzuki, 2015 van den Ham, 2015 Guo, 2016 Kang, 2017 Kim, 2017 Lip, 2010 Olesen, 2011 Bendem offects model	Hazard Ratio	HR 2.08 2.91 5.03 2.40 0.52 3.20 4.46 2.23 2.31 4.80 2.78 2.33 3.11 1.46 3.52	[95% C.I.] [2.19; 3.86] [4.58; 5.53] [1.25; 4.61] [0.22; 1.23] [2.54; 4.04] [3.25; 6.13] [1.72; 2.90] [1.18; 4.52] [4.07; 5.66] [1.53; 5.06] [1.53; 5.06] [1.93; 2.81] [2.51; 3.85] [0.63; 3.37] [3.05; 4.07]	Weight 7.7% 7.4% 8.4% 4.8% 3.6% 7.7% 7.2% 7.6% 4.7% 8.1% 5.2% 8.0% 7.8% 3.8% 8.2%

Panel A. Age 65-74 years



Study	Hazard Ratio		HR	[95%	5 C.I.]	Weight
Aspberg, 2016 Singer, 2013		+	6.86 8 14	[6.24;	7.55]	71.8%
van den Ham, 2015		-	6.55	[5.51;	7.79]	21.8%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0\% \tau^2 < 0.0001$	n = 0.50	÷	6.87	[6.33;	7.44]	100.0%
0.5	, μ = 0.30 2	1	2			

Figure 3. Association between female sex and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation



Panel A. Studies done outside Asia

Panel A. Studies done in Asia

Study		Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Guo, 2013 Siu, 2014 Suzuki, 2015 Guo, 2016 Kang, 2017 Kim, 2017 Komatsu, 2014			\rightarrow 1.92 1.03 1.07 1.18 0.75 0.75 \rightarrow 2.91	[0.66; 5.58] [0.88; 1.20] [0.65; 1.76] [0.65; 2.13] [0.66; 0.86] [0.64; 0.88] [0.99; 8.53]	1.8% 17.7% 6.4% 5.0% 18.7% 17.7% 1.8%
Lan, 2018 Lin, 2011			1.09 0.94	[0.86; 1.39] [0.79; 1.13]	14.1% 16.7%
Random effects mo Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 69^{\circ}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{del} \underbrace{\overset{\vdots}{}}_{\text{\%, } \tau^{2}} = 0.0270, \\ 0.8 1 \end{array}$, p	0.95	[0.82; 1.10]	100.0%

Figure 4. Association between hypertension and diabetes, and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

Panel A. Hypertension

Study		Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Aakre, 2014			3.07	[1.91: 4.93]	4.7%
Abraham, 2013		i	1.55	[1.24; 1.94]	7.3%
Aspberg, 2016		-	1.21	[1.16; 1.26]	8.6%
Guo, 2013	4		0.82	[0.30; 2.24]	1.8%
Saliba, 2015			1.23	[1.02; 1.48]	7.7%
Singer, 2013			1.67	[1.42; 1.96]	7.9%
Siu, 2014			1.34	[1.16; 1.55]	8.0%
Suzuki, 2015			1.69	[1.00; 2.84]	4.3%
van den Ham, 2015			1.14	[1.06; 1.22]	8.5%
Guo, 2016		>	3.30	[1.83; 5.95]	3.8%
Kang, 2017			1.82	[1.49; 2.23]	7.5%
Kim, 2017			1.85	[1.43; 2.40]	6.9%
Lan, 2018			1.48	[1.07; 2.04]	6.2%
Lin, 2011		$ \longrightarrow $	2.66	[2.14; 3.30]	7.4%
Lip, 2010	←	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	· 1.01	[0.38; 2.67]	1.9%
Olesen, 2011			1.45	[1.17; 1.79]	7.4%
Development offension and all			4 60	14 07: 4 001	400.00/
Random effects model			1.60	[1.37; 1.86]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 88\%$, τ^2	'= 0.06	98, <i>p</i> < 0.01	_		
C).8 1	1.25 2	.5		

Panel B. Diabetes

Study		Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Aakre, 2014			1.58	[1.23; 2.02]	4.9%
Abraham, 2013			1.38	[1.04; 1.83]	4.1%
Aspberg, 2016			1.11	[1.06; 1.17]	13.3%
Guo, 2013	←		0.55	[0.25; 1.20]	0.7%
Saliba, 2015			1.26	[1.11; 1.44]	9.3%
Singer, 2013			1.57	[1.32; 1.87]	7.3%
Siu, 2014			1.18	[0.99; 1.40]	7.4%
Suzuki, 2015	←		1.18	[0.64; 2.16]	1.1%
Wang, 2003			→ 1.80	[1.22; 2.66]	2.5%
Van Staa, 2011			1.33	[1.14; 1.55]	8.2%
van den Ham, 2015			1.24	[1.12; 1.37]	10.9%
Guo, 2016			→ 3.07	[1.29; 7.32]	0.6%
Kang, 2017			1.21	[1.04; 1.41]	8.3%
Kim, 2017	-		1.13	[0.96; 1.33]	8.0%
Lan, 2018			1.16	[0.90; 1.50]	4.7%
Lin, 2011			1.34	[1.09; 1.65]	6.1%
Lip, 2010	←	•	→ 1.79	[0.73; 4.39]	0.5%
Olesen, 2011			→ 1.79	[1.16; 2.77]	2.1%
Random effects mode		\diamond	1.28	[1.20: 1.37]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 62\%$	$c^{2} = 0.00$	83. p < 0.01			
• - ,•,	0.8	1 1.25	2.5		

Figure 5. Association between heart failure and vascular disease, and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

Study	Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Aakre, 2014		1.50	[1.10; 2.04]	5.7%
Abraham, 2013	← 1	1.05	[0.68; 1.63]	4.1%
Aspberg, 2016		0.98	[0.94; 1.02]	9.3%
Guo, 2013	←	0.72	[0.34; 1.54]	1.9%
Saliba, 2015		1.29	[1.11; 1.50]	8.1%
Siu, 2014		1.06	[0.87; 1.29]	7.5%
Suzuki, 2015	< I	0.86	[0.45; 1.65]	2.4%
Van Staa, 2011		1.26	[1.11; 1.43]	8.5%
van den Ham, 2015		1.03	[0.94; 1.12]	8.9%
Guo, 2016	←	→ 0.42	[0.06; 3.03]	0.3%
Kang, 2017		1.54	[1.33; 1.78]	8.2%
Kim, 2017		1.23	[1.06; 1.42]	8.2%
Lan, 2018		1.15	[0.88; 1.51]	6.3%
Lin, 2011		1.61	[1.30; 2.00]	7.1%
Lip, 2010	←	0.72	[0.27; 1.90]	1.3%
Olesen, 2011		→ 1.67	[1.06; 2.63]	3.9%
Singer, 2013		1.91	[1.64; 2.23]	8.1%
Random effects mode		1.25	[1.11; 1.40]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 88\%$,	$\tau^{2} = 0.0385, p < 0.01$			
	0.8 1 1.25	2.5		

Panel A. Heart failure



Study	Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.] Weight
Aakre, 2014	- <u>+</u>	1.29	[0.96; 1.73] 7.5%
Abraham, 2013		1.46	[1.15; 1.85	8.4%
Friberg, 2012		1.14	[1.06; 1.23] 10.8%
Guo, 2013	$ $ \longrightarrow	3.07	[1.30; 7.24] 2.1%
Saliba, 2015		1.00	[0.89; 1.13] 10.2%
Siu, 2014	\rightarrow	2.10	[1.15; 3.84] 3.6%
van den Ham, 2015		0.98	[0.91; 1.06] 10.8%
Guo, 2016	\leftarrow	2.80	[0.65; 12.03] 0.8%
Kang, 2017		0.95	[0.81; 1.11] 9.7%
Kim, 2017		0.98	[0.84; 1.15] 9.7%
Lan, 2018	< 1	0.86	[0.65; 1.14] 7.6%
Lin, 2011 (a)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1.81	[1.19; 2.77] 5.4%
Lin, 2011 (b)		1.42	[0.90; 2.23] 5.1%
Lip, 2010	⊥ → ,	2.27	[0.94; 5.47] 2.0%
Singer, 2013	*	1.47	[1.01; 2.13] 6.2%
Random effects model		1.21	[1.06; 1.39] 100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 71\%$, τ	21 = 0.0449, <i>p</i> < 0.01			
().8 1 1.25 2.5	5		

Figure 6. Association between previous thromboembolism and incident stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

Study	Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Apostolakis, 2013 Abraham, 2013 Friberg, 2012 Guo, 2013 Siu, 2014 Suzuki, 2015 Wang, 2003 Van Staa, 2011 Kang, 2017 Kim, 2017 Lan, 2018 Lin, 2011 Lip, 2010 Olesen, 2011 Singer, 2013		3.20 2.13 3.13 1.94 1.28 3.25 1.88 2.86 5.17 2.58 2.75 2.22 3.13 3.28	[1.20; 8.57] [1.60; 2.83] [2.96; 3.31] [0.98; 3.83] [1.07; 1.54] [1.86; 5.67] [1.09; 3.25] [2.54; 3.23] [4.50; 5.93] [2.24; 2.98] [1.57; 2.63] [2.06; 3.68] [0.78; 6.33] [7.55; 11.04] [2.66; 4.04]	3.7% 7.3% 7.9% 5.1% 7.7% 5.8% 7.8% 7.8% 7.8% 7.8% 7.8% 7.4% 3.5% 7.6% 7.6%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 95\%$, $\tau^{2 } = 0.2$ 0.8	2195, <i>p</i> < 0.01 1 1.25 4	2.84	[2.19; 3.67]	100.0%

4.1.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Search strategies

	Search strategy for PubMed
#P1	"stroke" [tiab] OR "cerebrovascular accident" [tiab] OR "CVA" [tiab]
	OR "cerebral infarct" [tiab] OR "brain infarct" [tiab] OR "subcortical
	infarct" [tiab] OR "transient ischaemic attack" [tiab] OR "transient
	ischemic attack" [tiab] OR "TIA" [tiab] OR "apoplexy" [tiab] OR
	"thromboembol*" [tiab] OR "cardioembol*" [tiab] OR "embol*" [tiab]
#P2	"cohort" [tiab] OR "longitudinal" [tiab] OR "prospective" [tiab] OR
	"incidence" [tiab] OR "follow up" [tiab] OR "follow-up" [tiab] OR
	"relative risk" [tiab] OR "risk ratio" [tiab]
#P3	"atrial fibrillation" [tiab] OR "auricular fibrillation" [tiab]
#P4	#P1 AND #P2 AND #P3
	Search strategy for EMBASE
#E1	stroke:ab,ti OR 'cerebrovascular accident*':ab,ti OR 'cva':ab,ti OR
	'cerebrovascular apoplexy':ab,ti OR 'brain vascular accident':ab,ti OR
	'cerebrovascular stroke':ab,ti OR 'cerebral stroke*':ab,ti OR 'acute
	stroke*':ab,ti OR 'acute cerebrovascular accident*':ab,ti OR 'subcortical
	infarct*':ab,ti OR 'posterior choroidal artery infarct*':ab,ti OR 'anterior
	choroidal artery infarct*':ab,ti OR 'transient ischaemic attack':ab,ti OR
	'transient ischemic attack':ab,ti OR 'tia':ab,ti OR 'brain tia':ab,ti OR
	'carotid circulation transient ischemic attack':ab,ti OR 'vertebrobasilar
	circulation transient ischemic attack':ab,ti OR 'crescendo transient
	ischemic attacks':ab,ti OR 'posterior circulation transient ischemic
	attack':ab,ti OR 'anterior circulation transient ischemic attack':ab,ti OR
	'transient brainstem ischemia':ab,ti OR 'brainstem transient ischemic
	attack':ab,ti OR 'brain stem transient ischemic attack':ab,ti OR 'transient
	cerebral ischemia':ab,ti OR 'cerebral infarct*':ab,ti OR
	'thromboembolic':ab,ti OR 'thromboembolism':ab,ti OR
	'cardioembolic':ab,ti OR 'cardioembolism':ab,ti OR 'embolism':ab,ti OR
	'embolic':ab,ti OR 'emboli':ab,ti
#E2	'atrial fibrillation':ab,ti OR 'auricular fibrillation':ab,ti OR 'familial
	atrial fibrillation':ab,ti
#E3	'cohort analysis'/exp OR 'longitudinal study'/exp OR 'prospective
	study'/exp OR 'follow up'/exp OR 'follow-up'/exp OR cohort*
#E4	'article'/it OR 'article in press'/it OR 'letter'/it OR 'short survey'/it
#E5	#E1 AND #E2 AND #E3 AND #E4
	Search strategy for Global Index Medicus
#G1	"stroke" OR "cerebrovascular accident" OR "CVA" OR "cerebral
	infarct" OR "brain infarct" OR "subcortical infarct" OR "transient
	ischaemic attack" OR "transient ischemic attack" OR "TIA" OR
	"apoplexy" OR "thromboembolic"

#G2	"cohort" OR "longitudinal" OR "prospective" OR "incidence" OR
	"follow up" OR "follow-up" OR "relative risk" OR "risk ratio"
#G3	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation"
#G4	#G1 AND #G2 AND #G3
	Search strategy for Web of Science
#W1	"stroke" OR "cerebrovascular accident" OR "CVA" OR "cerebral
	infarct" OR "brain infarct" OR "subcortical infarct" OR "transient
	ischaemic attack" OR "transient ischemic attack" OR "TIA" OR
	"apoplexy" OR "thromboembolic")
#W2	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation"
#W3	Refined by: [excluding] Databases: (MEDLINE) AND
	[excluding] DOCUMENT TYPES: (ABSTRACT OR LETTER OR
	CASE REPORT OR OTHER OR MEETING OR EDITORIAL OR
	BOOK OR RETRACTION OR CORRECTION OR UNSPECIFIED
	OR REPORT OR REVIEW OR NEWS)
	Databases= WOS, CCC, KJD, MEDLINE, RSCI, SCIELO
	Timespan=All years
	Search language=Auto
#W4	#W1 AND #W2 AND #W3

Supplementary Table 2. Summarized study characteristics

Characteristics	N = 47
Total population	1756984
Year of publication, range	1989-2019
Period of inclusion of	1974-2016
participants, range	
Design	
- Hospital-based	38
- Community-based	9
Data source	
- Registry	39
- Directly from patients	8
Regions	
- Asia	15
- Northern America	17
- Europe	14
- Middle East	2
Countries	
- United States	13
- Japan	7
- China	4
- Sweden	3
- Canada	4
- Denmark	2
- Multinational Europe	2
- Taiwan	2
- United Kingdom	2
- Korea	2
- Germany	1
- Israel	1
- The Netherland	1
- Spain	2
- France	1
- Multinational Middle-East	1
Representativeness	
- Local	25
- National	19
- Multinational	3
Risk of bias	
- Low	44
- Moderate	3
	1

Author, year of publication	Country	Study setting	Study level	Timing of data collection	Sample size	Quality*
Aakre, 2014	US	Community	Local	Retrospective	2720	Good
Abraham, 2013	US	Community	National	Retrospective	5981	Good
Aronow, 1996	USA	Hospital	Local	Prospective	283	Fair
Aspberg, 2016	Sweden	Hospital	National	Retrospective	152153	Good
Chao, 2016	Taiwan	Hospital	National	Retrospective	186570	Good
Chen, 2019	US	Hospital	National	Retrospective	267419	Good
Flegel, 1989	Canada	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	91	Good
Friberg, 2012	Sweden	Hospital	National	Retrospective	90490	Good
Gage, 2001	US	Hospital	National	Retrospective	1733	Good
Go, 2008	US	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	13535	Good
Guo, 2013	China	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	885	Good
Guo, 2016	China	Both	Local	Retrospective	880	Good
Hamatani, 2015	Japan	Both	Local	Retrospective	1541	Good
Heeringa, 2006	Netherlands	Community	Local	Retrospective	162	Good
Inoue, 2000	Japan	Both	Local	Retrospective	421	Fair
Kang, 2017	Korea	Both	National	Retrospective	10846	Good
Kim, 2017	Korea	Both	National	Retrospective	5855	Good
Komatsu, 2014	Japan	Community	Local	Retrospective	332	Fair
Kwon, 2016	US	Community	National	Retrospective	1978	Good
Lan, 2018	China	Both	Local	Retrospective	6239	Good
Lin, 2011	Taiwan	Both	National	Retrospective	7920	Good
Lip, 2010	Europe	Both	Multinational	Retrospective	1084	Good
Nielsen, 2018	Denmark	Both	National	Retrospective	239671	Good
Olesen, 2011	Denmark	Both	National	Retrospective	73538	Good
O'Neal, 2016	US	Both	National	Retrospective	1321	Good
Patti, 2017	Europe	Both	Multinational	Retrospective	738	Good
Redfors, 2017	US	Both	National	Retrospective	43248	Good
Renoux, 2017	Canada	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	147622	Good
Ruiz Ortiz, 2008	Spain	Hospital	Local	Prospective	296	Good
Saliba, 2015	Israel	Hospital	National	Retrospective	32912	Good
Singer, 2013	US	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	25 306	Good
Singer, 2013	US	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	10 927	Good
Siu, 2014	China	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	3881	Good
Suzuki, 2015	Japan	Hospital	National	Retrospective	3588	Good
Tohgi, 1991	Japan	Community	Local	Retrospective	3642	Good
Tomasdottir, 2019	Sweden	Hospital	National	Retrospective	231 077	Good

Supplementary Table 3. Individual characteristics of included studies

Tomita, 2020	Japan	Hospital	Local	Prospective	1998	Good
van den Ham, 2015	UK	Hospital	National	Retrospective	60594	Good
Van Staa, 2011	UK	Hospital	National	Retrospective	79844	Good
Wang, 2003	US	Community	National	Prospective	705	Good
Wicke, 2019	Germany	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	30229	Good
Yamaji, 2019	Japan	Hospital	Local	Prospective	80	Good
Yu, 2016	Canada	Community	Local	Retrospective	3387	Good
Banerjee, 2013	France	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	2886	Good
Abu-Assi, 2013	Spain	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	181	Good
Boulanger, 2006	US	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	1787	Good
Apostolakis, 2013	Middle- East	Hospital	Multinational	Prospective	876	Good
Parkash, 2007	Canada	Community	Local	Prospective	130	Good

*Methodological quality assessed using the the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale NR: not reported

Author	Year of publication	Country	Sample size	Mean follow- up (years)	Number of incident stroke	Number of incident TIA	Number of incident systemic embolism	Number of incident stroke or TIA	Number of incident stroke or TIA or systemic embolism
Aakre	2014	United States	2720	4.37	346		6		350
Banerjee	2013	France	2886		154				
Abu-Assi	2013	Spain	186	2.8					10
Parkash	2007	Canada	130	2.0	13				
Boulanger	2006	United States	2658		208				
Tomita	2000	Japan	1998	2	64	14	10	78	88
Tomasdottir	2019	Sweden	231 077	2.5	17540				
Abraham	2013	United States	5981	11.8	420	137		457	
Aspberg	2016	Sweden	152153	2.23	11053				
Aronow	1996	United States	283	3	38				
Aronow	1996	United States	283	5	72				
Chao	2016	Taiwan	186570	3.4	23723				
Chen	2019	United States	267419	1.8	4217				
Chen	2019	United States	267419	1.8				5168	
Flegel	1989	Canada	91	2.2	28				
Guo	2013	China	885	1.9	55				
Gage	2001	United States	1733	1.2	71	23		94	
Yamaji	2019	Japan	80	3	4				
Wang	2003	United States	705	4	83				
Van Staa	2011	United Kingdom	79844	2.4	1233				
van den	2015	United Kingdom	60594	2.81	3751				

Supplementary Table 4. Data on incidence of stroke, transient ischemic attack and systemic embolism

Ham									
Guo	2016	China	880	1.75	52				
Hamatani	2015	Japan	1541	2.03	42		3		61
Heeringa	2006	Netherlands	162	6	24				
Inoue	2000	Japan	421	3.4					35
Kang	2017	Korea	10846	1.17	888				
Kim	2017	Korea	5855	4.22	819				
Komatsu	2014	Japan	332	4.42	35				
Kwon	2016	United States	1978	5.14	205				
Lan	2018	China	6239	2.81	291		33		324
Lin	2011	Taiwan	7920	4.48					
Lip	2010	Europe	1084	1					25
Nielsen	2018	Denmark	239671	5					12278
Nielsen	2018	Denmark	239671	1					7 642
O'Neal	2016	United States	1321	11	633				
Olesen	2011	Denmark	73538	10					
Patti	2017	Europe	738	1					26
Redfors	2017	United States	43248	1	2908		335		3243
Renoux	2017	Canada	147622	3.06	11 326				
Ruiz Ortiz	2008	Spain	296	1.75	15	12	2	27	29

Potential predictors	Prevalence	95%	Ν	Pooled	Hetero	geneity
		confidence	studies	population	I ² (%)	P value
		interval				
Paroxysmal AF	65.1	53.0-76.2	7	13554	99.4	< 0.0001
Chronic AF	31.4	17.9-46.8	5	5774	99.5	< 0.0001
Patients aged ≥ 65 years	75.6	71.1-79.9	15	901697	99.8	< 0.0001
Patients aged \geq 75 years	45.1	37.2-53.1	15	612853	99.9	< 0.0001
Females	47.0	44.5-49.5	34	1639026	99.1	< 0.0001
Diabetes	18.9	16.6-21.4	34	1415173	100	< 0.0001
Hypertension	59.5	54.0-64.9	33	1413175	100	< 0.0001
Heart failure	25.2	19.4-31.5	29	1384665	100	< 0.0001
Dyslipidemia	33.9	22.5-46.4	6	183760	100	< 0.0001
Previous stroke or TIA	14.0	10.3-18.2	20	962533	100	< 0.0001
Vascular disease	21.3	16.5-26.5	13	1110724	100	< 0.0001
Peripheral artery disease	8.1	3.7-13.9	9	61985	99.9	< 0.0001
Coronary artery disease	16.8	8.4-27.2	10	53202	99.7	< 0.0001
Chronic kidney disease	16.6	10.7-23.6	12	481656	100	< 0.0001
Smoking	14.9	9.3-21.6	9	157008	99.9	< 0.0001
COPD	16.6	9.7-24.9	6	191535	99.9	< 0.0001

Supplementary Table 5. Pooled prevalence of clinical factors in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

AF: atrial fibrillation; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; TIA: transient ischemic attack

Supplementary Table 6. Regression analyses of risk estimates for stroke or systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation

Potential predictors	Overall	Heterogeneity	Residual			
	heterogeneity	accounted for	heterogeneity			
	I ² (%)	(R ²)	I ² (%)	P value		
Age 65-74 years	75.3					
Region		44.2	60.9	0.006		
• Setting		0.0	76.6	< 0.0001		
Representativeness		0.0	79.5	< 0.0001		
Age ≥ 75 years	90.5					
Region		32.7	86.0	< 0.0001		
• Setting		9.6	89.6	< 0.0001		
Representativeness		22.4	88.8	< 0.0001		
$Age \ge 85$ years	0.0					
Region		NA	NA	NA		
• Setting		NA	NA	NA		
Representativeness		0.0	0.0	0.647		
Female	88.4					
Region		47.4	79.0	0.002		
• Setting		3.9	88.4	< 0.0001		
Representativeness		4.9	88.3	< 0.0001		
Diabetes	62.4					
Region		0.0	64.7	0.0001		
Setting		26.0	55.7	0.0028		
Representativeness		11.4	60.3	0.0010		
Hypertension	87.7					
Region		35.2	81.3	< 0.0001		
Setting		4.2	87.5	< 0.0001		
Representativeness		2.1	87.7	< 0.0001		
Heart failure	88.4					
Region		6.2	86.8	< 0.0001		
Setting		0.4	88.8	< 0.0001		
Representativeness		4.7	88.3	< 0.0001		
Previous stroke or TIA	95.7					
Region		0.0	95.9	< 0.0001		
• Setting		6.9	95.6	< 0.0001		
Representativeness		20.0	95.9	< 0.0001		
Vascular disease	65.6					
Region		0.0	68.4	0.001		
• Setting		63.0	42.0	0.088		
Representativeness		7.6	67.6	0.003		
Peripheral vascular disease	69.6					
Region		0.0	76.7	0.005		
• Setting		NA	NA	NA		
Representativeness		20.0	66.8	0.029		

Pulmonary embolism	0.0			
Region		NA	NA	NA
Setting		NA	NA	NA
Representativeness		NA	NA	NA
Chronic kidney disease	63.1			
Region		25.5	62.2	0.048
Setting		NA	NA	NA
Representativeness		16.3	61.4	0.051
Proteinuria	93.3			
Region		NA	NA	NA
• Setting		NA	NA	NA
Representativeness		NA	NA	NA
Smoking	27.6			
Region		100.0	0.0	0.658
Setting		0.0	46.9	0.152
Representativeness		100.0	0.0	0.684
Chronic obstructive	48.7			
pulmonary disease				
Region		NA	NA	NA
• Setting		NA	NA	NA
Representativeness		NA	NA	NA

Supplementary Figure 1. Pooled incidence of stroke in anticoagulant-naive patients with atrial fibrillation

Study	Incident cases	TPYFU		Per 1000	person	-years	5	Incidence	[95%	6 C.I.]	Weight
Asia											
Chao	23723	638790.0						37.1	[36.7;	37.6]	4.5%
Guo	52	4643.0	+					11.2	[8.4;	14.5]	4.3%
Hamatani	42	3000.0						14.0	[10.1;	18.6]	4.2%
Kang	888	29466.0		+				30.1	[28.2;	32.2]	4.4%
Kim	819	24669.0		÷				33.2	[31.0;	35.5]	4.4%
Suzuki	69	5188.0						13.3	[10.3;	16.6]	4.3%
Tohgi	43	3903.0						11.0	[8.0;	14.6]	4.2%
			<	\geq				20.3	[12.9;	29.4]	30.2%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 98.7$ %	% [98.3%; 99.1%], p =	: 0									
Europe											
Abu-Assi	10	668.0		<u>.</u>				15.0	[7.1;	25.7]	3.3%
Aspberg	11053	340223.0						32.5	[31.9;	33.1]	4.5%
Heeringa	24	801.0	-					30.0	[19.2;	43.1]	3.5%
Ruiz Ortiz	15	484.0	_					31.0	[17.3;	48.7]	3.1%
Tomasdottir	17540	585944.0		D				29.9	[29.5;	30.4]	4.5%
van Den Ham	3751	125296.0		0				29.9	[29.0;	30.9]	4.5%
Wicke	961	43682.0		E.				22.0	[20.6;	23.4]	4.4%
				\diamond				27.6	[23.6;	32.0]	27.7%
Heterogeneity: I ² = 96.6%	% [94.8%; 97.8%], p <	0.0001									
Middle Fast											
Saliba	982	30961.0		+				31 7	120 8.	33 71	4 4%
Galiba	502	50501.0		•				31.7	[20.0,	33 71	4.4%
Heterogeneity: not applic	able							51.7	[2 3.0,	55.7]	4.470
Northern America											
Aakre	346	11886.0		+				29.1	[26.1;	32.3]	4.4%
Chen	4217	393968.0						10.7	[10.4;	11.0]	4.5%
Flegel	28	355.0				•		- 78.9	[52.4;	110.8]	2.7%
Gage	71	2121.0						33.5	[26.1;	41.7]	4.0%
Go	637	33165.0	+					19.2	[17.7;	20.7]	4.4%
Kwon	205	13758.0	+					14.9	[12.9;	17.0]	4.4%
Renoux	11326	427630.0		B				26.5	[26.0;	27.0]	4.5%
Singer	463	26263.0	÷					17.6	[16.1;	19.3]	4.4%
Yu	263	14611.0	+					18.0	[15.9;	20.2]	4.4%
			<	\sim				23.9	[15.9;	33.7]	37.7%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99.7$ %	% [99.7%; 99.8%], p =	NA									
Overall incidence			<	\diamond				23.8	[19.7:	28.21	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99.7\%$	% [99.7%; 99.8%], p =	0	Г	1	1	1			- ,		
Residual heterogeneity: /	1 ² = 99.5% [99.4%; 99	.5%], $p = 0$	20	0 40	60	80	100				

Residual heterogeneity: $l^2 = 99.5\%$ [99.4%; 99.5%], p = 0Test for subgroup differences: $\chi_3^2 = 9.74$, df = 3 (p = 0.0209)

229

Supplementary Figure 2. Pooled incidence of stroke and transient ischemic attack in anticoagulant-naive patients with atrial fibrillation

Study	Incident cases	TPYFU	Per 1000 person-years	Incidence	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Chen	5168	392701.0 +	_	13.2	[12.8; 13.5]	35.0%
Gage	94	2121.0		44.3	[35.8; 53.7]	34.0%
Ruiz Ortiz	27	484.0	•	55.8	[36.7; 78.8]	31.0%
Overall incidence Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 98.10$	% [96.5%; 99.0%], <i>p</i> <	0.0001	20 30 40 50 60 70	34.2	[12.5; 66.7]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 3. Pooled incidence of stroke, transient ischemic attack and systemic embolism in anticoagulant-naive patients with atrial fibrillation

Study	Incident cases	TPYFU	Pe	er 1000	perso	on-ye	ars	I	ncidence	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Aakre Go Hamatani Nielsen	350 676 61 12278 20	11886.0 33165.0 3000.0 369317.0		•					29.4 20.4 20.3 33.2	[26.4; 32.6] [18.9; 21.9] [15.6; 25.8] [32.7; 33.8]	15.0% 15.2% 14.1% 15.3%
Singer Wicke	496 1553	484.0 26263.0 43682.0	+	+					18.9 35.6	[40.1; 83.7] [17.3; 20.6] [33.8; 37.3]	9.9% 15.2% 15.3%
Overall incidence Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 98.5\%$	6 [98.0%; 98.9%], p <	0.0001	20 30	> 40	50	60	70		28.7	[21.3; 37.2]	100.0%

List of included studies

- 1. Lip GYH, Nieuwlaat R, Pisters R, Lane DA, Crijns HJGM. Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the euro heart survey on atrial fibrillation. Chest. 2010;137(2):263-72. PubMed PMID: 19762550. Epub 09/17. eng.
- 2. Tohgi H, Tajima T, Konno T, Towada S, Kamata A, Yamazaki M. The risk of cerebral infarction in non-valvular atrial fibrillation: effects of age, hypertension and antihypertensive treatment. European neurology. 1991;31(3):126-30. PubMed PMID: 2044624. eng.
- 3. Tomita F, Kohya T, Sakurai M, Kaji T, Yokoshiki H, Sato M, et al. Prevalence and clinical characteristics of patients with atrial fibrillation: analysis of 20,000 cases in Japan. Japanese circulation journal. 2000;64(9):653-8. PubMed PMID: 10981848. eng.
- Tomasdottir M, Friberg L, Hijazi Z, Lindbäck J, Oldgren J. Risk of ischemic stroke and utility of CHA(2) DS(2) -VASc score in women and men with atrial fibrillation. Clinical cardiology. 2019;42(10):1003-9. PubMed PMID: 31490011. Epub 09/06. eng.
- 5. Aakre CA, McLeod CJ, Cha SS, Tsang TS, Lip GY, Gersh BJ. Comparison of clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation. Stroke. 2014 Feb;45(2):426-31. PubMed PMID: 24309585. Epub 2013/12/07. eng.
- Abraham JM, Larson J, Chung MK, Curtis AB, Lakshminarayan K, Newman JD, et al. Does CHA2DS2-VASc improve stroke risk stratification in postmenopausal women with atrial fibrillation? The American journal of medicine. 2013 Dec;126(12):1143 e1-8. PubMed PMID: 24139523. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3883047. Epub 2013/10/22. eng.
- Aspberg S, Chang Y, Atterman A, Bottai M, Go AS, Singer DE. Comparison of the ATRIA, CHADS2, and CHA2DS2-VASc stroke risk scores in predicting ischaemic stroke in a large Swedish cohort of patients with atrial fibrillation. European heart journal. 2016;37(42):3203-10. PubMed PMID: 26941204. Epub 03/03. eng.
- Aronow WS, Ahn C, Gutstein H. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation and association of atrial fibrillation with prior and new thromboembolic stroke in older patients. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1996 May;44(5):521-3. PubMed PMID: 8617899. Epub 1996/05/01. eng.
- Chao T-F, Lip GYH, Liu C-J, Tuan T-C, Chen S-J, Wang K-L, et al. Validation of a Modified CHA2DS2-VASc Score for Stroke Risk Stratification in Asian Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Nationwide Cohort Study. Stroke. 2016;47(10):2462-9. PubMed PMID: 27625386. Epub 09/13. eng.
- Chen LY, Norby FL, Chamberlain AM, MacLehose RF, Bengtson LG, Lutsey PL, et al. CHA(2)DS(2)-VASc Score and Stroke Prediction in Atrial Fibrillation in Whites, Blacks, and Hispanics. Stroke. 2018 Nov 29:STROKEAHA118021453. PubMed PMID: 30580712. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC6541553. Epub 2018/12/26. eng.
- Flegel KM, Hanley J. Risk factors for stroke and other embolic events in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. Stroke. 1989 Aug;20(8):1000-4. PubMed PMID: 2756532. Epub 1989/08/01. eng.

- Friberg L, Rosenqvist M, Lip GY. Evaluation of risk stratification schemes for ischaemic stroke and bleeding in 182 678 patients with atrial fibrillation: the Swedish Atrial Fibrillation cohort study. Eur Heart J. 2012 Jun;33(12):1500-10. PubMed PMID: 22246443. Epub 2012/01/17. eng.
- 13. Guo Y, Apostolakis S, Blann AD, Wang H, Zhao X, Zhang Y, et al. Validation of contemporary stroke and bleeding risk stratification scores in non-anticoagulated Chinese patients with atrial fibrillation. International journal of cardiology. 2013 Sep 30;168(2):904-9. PubMed PMID: 23167998. Epub 2012/11/22. eng.
- 14. Go AS, Fang MC, Udaltsova N, Chang Y, Pomernacki NK, Borowsky L, et al. Impact of proteinuria and glomerular filtration rate on risk of thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: the anticoagulation and risk factors in atrial fibrillation (ATRIA) study. Circulation. 2009 Mar 17;119(10):1363-9. PubMed PMID: 19255343. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2733238. Epub 2009/03/04. eng.
- 15. Saliba W, Barnett-Griness O, Elias M, Rennert G. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and risk of a first episode of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: a cohort study. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH. 2015 Nov;13(11):1971-9. PubMed PMID: 25988740. Epub 2015/05/20. eng.
- Siu C-W, Lip GYH, Lam K-F, Tse H-F. Risk of stroke and intracranial hemorrhage in 9727 Chinese with atrial fibrillation in Hong Kong. Heart rhythm. 2014;11(8):1401-8. PubMed PMID: 24747420. Epub 04/15. eng.
- 17. Suzuki S, Yamashita T, Okumura K, Atarashi H, Akao M, Ogawa H, et al. Incidence of ischemic stroke in Japanese patients with atrial fibrillation not receiving anticoagulation therapy--pooled analysis of the Shinken Database, J-RHYTHM Registry, and Fushimi AF Registry. Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society. 2015;79(2):432-8. PubMed PMID: 25501800. Epub 12/11. eng.
- Yu AYX, Malo S, Wilton S, Parkash R, Svenson LW, Hill MD. Anticoagulation and population risk of stroke and death in incident atrial fibrillation: a population-based cohort study. CMAJ open. 2016;4(1):E1-E6. PubMed PMID: 27280108. eng.
- 19. Yamaji H, Higashiya S, Murakami T, Hina K, Kawamura H, Murakami M, et al. Effects of Oral Anticoagulants on Patients With Atrial Fibrillation Aged 90 Years and Older: Comparison Among Direct Oral Anticoagulant, Warfarin Anticoagulant, and Nonanticoagulation. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology. 2019;74(3):246-54. PubMed PMID: 31498193. eng.
- 20. Wicke FS, Schaller MA, Karymova K, Beyer M, Müller BS. Ischemic stroke risk estimation in patients without oral anticoagulation: an observational cohort study based on secondary data from Germany. BMC cardiovascular disorders. 2019;19(1):94-. PubMed PMID: 31014253. eng.
- 21. Wang TJ, Massaro JM, Levy D, Vasan RS, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, et al. A risk score for predicting stroke or death in individuals with new-onset atrial fibrillation in the community: the Framingham Heart Study. Jama. 2003;290(8):1049-56. PubMed PMID: 12941677. eng.
- 22. Van Staa TP, Setakis E, Di Tanna GL, Lane DA, Lip GYH. A comparison of risk stratification schemes for stroke in 79,884 atrial fibrillation patients in general

practice. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH. 2011;9(1):39-48. PubMed PMID: 21029359. eng.

- 23. van den Ham HA, Klungel OH, Singer DE, Leufkens HGM, van Staa TP. Comparative Performance of ATRIA, CHADS2, and CHA2DS2-VASc Risk Scores Predicting Stroke in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: Results From a National Primary Care Database. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2015;66(17):1851-9. PubMed PMID: 26493655. eng.
- 24. Guo Y, Wang H, Tian Y, Wang Y, Lip GYH. Multiple risk factors and ischaemic stroke in the elderly Asian population with and without atrial fibrillation. An analysis of 425,600 Chinese individuals without prior stroke. Thrombosis and haemostasis. 2016;115(1):184-92. PubMed PMID: 26322338. Epub 08/31. eng.
- 25. Hamatani Y, Yamashita Y, Esato M, Chun Y-H, Tsuji H, Wada H, et al. Predictors for Stroke and Death in Non-Anticoagulated Asian Patients with Atrial Fibrillation: The Fushimi AF Registry. PloS one. 2015;10(11):e0142394-e. PubMed PMID: 26540107. eng.
- 26. Heeringa J, Conway DSG, van der Kuip DAM, Hofman A, Breteler MMB, Lip GYH, et al. A longitudinal population-based study of prothrombotic factors in elderly subjects with atrial fibrillation: the Rotterdam Study 1990-1999. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH. 2006;4(9):1944-9. PubMed PMID: 16824187. Epub 07/05. eng.
- 27. Inoue H, Atarashi H, Research Group for Antiarrhythmic Drug T. Risk factors for thromboembolism in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. The American journal of cardiology. 2000;86(8):852-5. PubMed PMID: 11024400. eng.
- Kang S-H, Choi E-K, Han K-D, Lee S-R, Lim W-H, Cha M-J, et al. Risk of Ischemic Stroke in Patients With Non-Valvular Atrial Fibrillation Not Receiving Oral Anticoagulants - Korean Nationwide Population-Based Study. Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society. 2017;81(8):1158-64. PubMed PMID: 28413184. Epub 04/12. eng.
- 29. Kim T-H, Yang P-S, Uhm J-S, Kim J-Y, Pak H-N, Lee M-H, et al. CHA(2)DS(2)-VASc Score (Congestive Heart Failure, Hypertension, Age ≥75 [Doubled], Diabetes Mellitus, Prior Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack [Doubled], Vascular Disease, Age 65-74, Female) for Stroke in Asian Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Korean Nationwide Sample Cohort Study. Stroke. 2017;48(6):1524-30. PubMed PMID: 28455320. Epub 04/28. eng.
- 30. Kwon Y, Norby FL, Jensen PN, Agarwal SK, Soliman EZ, Lip GY, et al. Association of Smoking, Alcohol, and Obesity with Cardiovascular Death and Ischemic Stroke in Atrial Fibrillation: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study and Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS). PloS one. 2016;11(1):e0147065. PubMed PMID: 26756465. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4710457. Epub 2016/01/13. eng.
- 31. Lin L-Y, Lee C-H, Yu C-C, Tsai C-T, Lai L-P, Hwang J-J, et al. Risk factors and incidence of ischemic stroke in Taiwanese with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation-- a nation wide database analysis. Atherosclerosis. 2011;217(1):292-5. PubMed PMID: 21513938. Epub 04/05. eng.

- 32. Lan D-H, Jiang C, Du X, He L, Guo X-Y, Zuo S, et al. Female Sex as a Risk Factor for Ischemic Stroke and Systemic Embolism in Chinese Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Report From the China-AF Study. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2018;7(19):e009391-e. PubMed PMID: 30371338. eng.
- 33. Nielsen PB, Skjøth F, Overvad TF, Larsen TB, Lip GYH. Female Sex Is a Risk Modifier Rather Than a Risk Factor for Stroke in Atrial Fibrillation: Should We Use a CHA(2)DS(2)-VA Score Rather Than CHA(2)DS(2)-VASc? Circulation. 2018;137(8):832-40. PubMed PMID: 29459469. eng.
- 34. O'Neal WT, Salahuddin T, Broughton ST, Soliman EZ. Atrial Fibrillation and Cardiovascular Outcomes in the Elderly. Pacing and clinical electrophysiology : PACE. 2016;39(9):907-13. PubMed PMID: 27333877. Epub 07/26. eng.
- 35. Olesen JB, Lip GYH, Hansen ML, Hansen PR, Tolstrup JS, Lindhardsen J, et al. Validation of risk stratification schemes for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation: nationwide cohort study. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2011;342:d124-d. PubMed PMID: 21282258. eng.
- 36. Patti G, Lucerna M, Pecen L, Siller-Matula JM, Cavallari I, Kirchhof P, et al. Thromboembolic Risk, Bleeding Outcomes and Effect of Different Antithrombotic Strategies in Very Elderly Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Sub-Analysis From the PREFER in AF (PREvention oF Thromboembolic Events-European Registry in Atrial Fibrillation). J Am Heart Assoc. 2017 Jul 23;6(7). PubMed PMID: 28736385. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC5586290. Epub 2017/07/25. eng.
- 37. Ruiz Ortiz M, Romo E, Mesa D, Delgado M, Anguita M, López Granados A, et al. Predicting embolic events in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: evaluation of the CHADS2 score in a Mediterranean population. Revista espanola de cardiologia. 2008;61(1):29-35. PubMed PMID: 18221688. spa.
- Renoux C, Coulombe J, Suissa S. Revisiting sex differences in outcomes in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a population-based cohort study. Eur Heart J. 2017 May 14;38(19):1473-9. PubMed PMID: 28073863. Epub 2017/01/12. eng.
- 39. Redfors B, Gray WA, Lee RJ, Ellenbogen KA, Bonafede M, Ben-Yehuda O. Patients With Atrial Fibrillation Who Are Not on Anticoagulant Treatment Due to Increased Bleeding Risk Are Common and Have a High Risk of Stroke. JACC Clinical electrophysiology. 2017 Dec 11;3(12):1369-76. PubMed PMID: 29759666. Epub 2018/05/16. eng.
- 40. Abu-Assi E, Otero-Raviña F, Allut Vidal G, Coutado Méndez A, Vaamonde Mosquera L, Sánchez Loureiro M, et al. Comparison of the reliability and validity of four contemporary risk stratification schemes to predict thromboembolism in non-anticoagulated patients with atrial fibrillation. International journal of cardiology. 2013 Jun 5;166(1):205-9. PubMed PMID: 22104995. Epub 2011/11/23. eng.
- 41. Banerjee A, Taillandier S, Olesen JB, Lane DA, Lallemand B, Lip GY, et al. Pattern of atrial fibrillation and risk of outcomes: the Loire Valley Atrial Fibrillation Project. International journal of cardiology. 2013 Sep 10;167(6):2682-7. PubMed PMID: 22795403. Epub 2012/07/17. eng.
- 42. Boulanger L, Hauch O, Friedman M, Foster T, Dixon D, Wygant G, et al. Warfarin exposure and the risk of thromboembolic and major bleeding events among medicaid

patients with atrial fibrillation. The Annals of pharmacotherapy. 2006 Jun;40(6):1024-9. PubMed PMID: 16735649. Epub 2006/06/01. eng.

- 43. Parkash R, Wee V, Gardner MJ, Cox JL, Thompson K, Brownell B, et al. The impact of warfarin use on clinical outcomes in atrial fibrillation: a population-based study. The Canadian journal of cardiology. 2007 May 1;23(6):457-61. PubMed PMID: 17487290. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2650665. Epub 2007/05/10. eng.
- 44. Gage BF, Waterman AD, Shannon W, Boechler M, Rich MW, Radford MJ. Validation of clinical classification schemes for predicting stroke: results from the National Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. Jama. 2001;285(22):2864-70. PubMed PMID: 11401607. eng.
- 45. Komatsu T, Sato Y, Ozawa M, Kunugita F, Yoshizawa R, Morino Y, et al. Comparison between CHADS2 and CHA2DS2-VASc score for risk stratification of ischemic stroke in Japanese patients with non-valvular paroxysmal atrial fibrillation not receiving anticoagulant therapy. Int Heart J. 2014;55(2):119-25. PubMed PMID: 24632957. Epub 2014/03/19. eng.
- 46. Singer DE, Chang Y, Borowsky LH, Fang MC, Pomernacki NK, Udaltsova N, et al. A new risk scheme to predict ischemic stroke and other thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: the ATRIA study stroke risk score. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2013;2(3):e000250-e. PubMed PMID: 23782923. eng.
- 47. Apostolakis S, Zubaid M, Rashed WA, Alsheikh-Ali AA, Almahmeed W, Shehab A, et al. Assessment of stroke risk in Middle Eastern patients with atrial fibrillation: the Gulf SAFE registry. International journal of cardiology. 2013 Sep 30;168(2):1644-6. PubMed PMID: 23481910. Epub 2013/03/14. eng.

4.2 Cardiac imaging correlates and predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis

4.2.1 Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is a major global health problem owing to its increasing incidence and prevalence, and to its complications including impaired quality of life, heart failure, dementia, thromboembolism, and death ^{1, 70, 167}. Stroke is the most common and devastating complication of AF ¹⁶⁷. People with AF have a five-fold increased risk of stroke ¹⁶⁷, and AF-related cardioembolism accounts for up to a third of all ischemic strokes ¹⁴³. Anticoagulation can reduce stroke rate by up to two-third ²⁶², with direct oral anticoagulants slightly more effective and much safer pertaining to the bleeding risk, than the vitamin K antagonist warfarin ²⁶³.

The decision to start anticoagulation in AF patients is guided by risk stratification schemes that help balancing the benefit of anticoagulation for preventing stroke against the risk of bleeding. Several clinical stroke risk scores have been developed over time including the CHADS₂ score, the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, the ATRIA stroke risk score and recently, the GARFIELD-AF risk calculator ^{252, 255, 264, 265}. Unfortunately, these stroke risk stratification scores have shown modest performance in predicting thromboembolism in routine clinical practice, especially in identifying truly low-risk individuals ^{261, 263}. Indeed, most stroke risk scores have a C-statistic of approximately 0.6 to 0.65, with the most commonly used CHA₂DS₂-VASc score having a c-statistic of only 0.6 ^{263, 264}.

The modest performance of the abovementioned stroke risk stratification scores is partially attributed to their lack of specificity for predicting AF-associated versus non-AF-associated ischemic stroke ²⁶¹. For instance, the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score has been shown to have similar predictive value for thromboembolism in patients with and without AF ^{261, 415}. In

fact, these scores are only based on clinical risk factors such as age, hypertension, diabetes or heart failure that increase the risk of stroke irrespective of the presence of AF ²⁶¹. Therefore, it is clinically desirable to identify AF-specific risk factors for stroke including cardiac structural, functional, and electrophysiological parameters, that might substantially improve the performance of the current clinical stroke risk stratification schemes. Hence, this systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to comprehensively summarize data on potential cardiac imaging correlates and predictors of stroke or systemic embolism in AF patients.

4.2.2 Methods

This review is reported in accordance with the Meta-analyses Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guidelines ³⁸⁵. It was registered with PROSPERO (CRD42020203059).

4.2.2.1 Literature search

PubMed/MEDLINE, Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE) and Web of Science were searched to identify all studies reporting primary data on the association between cardiac imaging features and stroke or systemic embolism in patients with non-valvular AF, published and included in these bibliographic databases by November 16, 2022 (date of the last search). No language restriction was applied. We were interested in all cardiac imaging parameters related to the left atrium (LA), left ventricle (LV) and the left atrial appendage (LAA), assessed transthoracic, transoesophageal or speckle tracking echocardiography, computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging. The search strategy was built based on the combination of relevant terms and bibliographic synonyms of atrial fibrillation, stroke, left atrium, left atrial appendage, left ventricle, thrombus, and echo contrast (**Supplementary Table 1**). Potential additional data sources were searched from the reference list of eligible articles and relevant reviews.

4.2.2.2 Selection of studies to include in the review

We included comparative cross-sectional studies, cohort studies and randomized controlled trials reporting on 1) the association between any cardiac imaging features of interest as outlined above, and incident stroke or systemic embolism in patients with non-valvular AF; or 2) the comparison of these cardiac imaging features between patients with and without previous stroke, transient ischemic attack (TIA) or systemic embolism. We excluded letters, editorials, reviews and studies without primary data or clear description of methods, as well as primary studies on patients who underwent rhythm control procedures such as AF catheter ablation. For studies reporting data from the same primary source (duplicates), we included the single most comprehensive reporting the largest sample size, or articles presenting complementary data (each article having original information not included in the others). Because this is specifically a meta-analysis, we excluded studies reporting only parameters that could not be meta-analyzed due to limited or highly heterogeneous data. Two reviewers (JJN and UFN) independently screened the titles and abstracts of identified citations and then performed a detailed review of all selected full texts to ascertain eligibility. Disagreements were resolved through discussion and consensus.

4.2.2.3 Data extraction and management

Data were extracted using a standard data abstraction form by one investigator (JJN) and cross-checked by another investigator (UFN). We collected data on the general characteristics of studies, including first author's surname, year of publication, period and country of recruitment, design (clinical trial, cross-sectional or cohort), timing of data collection (retrospective or prospective), general description of participants, proportion of participants on anticoagulation, mean or median age, proportion of males, median or mean follow-up

period for longitudinal studies. We also gathered data on each imaging parameter and its definition, imaging modality, clinical endpoint (stroke, ischemic stroke, TIA, systemic embolism), total sample size, number of participants with the clinical endpoint (either past history or incident), mean or median value of the imaging parameter in the participants with and without the endpoint, numbers of participants with a cardiac imaging abnormality who developed the endpoint and of those who did not, any risk estimate (hazard ratio or odds ratio or relative risk) reported, with the 95% confidence interval (95% CI). Furthermore, The risk of bias was assessed in cross-sectional studies using an adapted version of the tool developed by Hoy et al. ³⁸⁶, whereas it as assessed in randomized controlled trials and cohort studies using the tools developed by the CLARITY group at McMaster University ^{416, 417}.

4.2.2.4 Statistical analysis

Meta-analyses were conducted using the *meta* packages of the R statistical software (version 3.6.0, The R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria). To investigate cardiac imaging features associated with stroke or systemic embolism, a meta-analysis using the random-effects method of DerSimonian and Laird was performed to pool weighted odds ratios (OR) and weighted mean differences (MD) with *metabin* and *metacont* functions respectively ⁴¹⁸. For studies reporting median and interquartile range (Q1-Q3), the median was considered as an equivalent of the mean, and the standard deviation was derived by dividing the difference between Q3 and Q1 by 1.35 ⁴¹⁹. For studies reporting on risk estimates, the generic inverse variance method was also used to pool unadjusted and adjusted risk estimates (hazard ratio [HR] and OR) and their standard errors with the random-effects meta-analysis model using the *metagen* function. HR and OR are reported as either unadjusted (uHR and uOR) and adjusted (aHR and aOR). The between-study variance was estimated using the restricted maximum-likelihood estimator ⁴²⁰. All strengths of association

were reported with their 95% CI. Heterogeneity was assessed by the χ^2 test on Cochrane's Q statistic ³⁸⁷, which was quantified by I² values, assuming I² values of 25, 50 and 75% respectively representing low, medium and high heterogeneity ³⁸⁸. For analyses including more than 2 studies, the influence of each study on the overall heterogeneity was assessed through *Leave-One-Out* influencer analysis model. The Egger test was used to assess the presence of publication bias ⁴⁰³. A *p* value < 0.10 was considered indicative of a statistically significant publication bias ⁴²¹.

4.2.3 Results

4.2.3.1 Study selection and characteristics

In total, we identified 31,575 records among which 64 studies ⁴²²⁻⁴⁸⁵ were finally included (**Figure 1**). Studies characteristics are summarized in the **Supplementary Tables 2 and 3**. These studies reported data from 56,639 participants in 13 individual countries or in multinational registries. The most represented countries were Japan (15 studies, 23.4%) and South Korea (12 studies, 18.8%). Most studies were cross-sectional (42 studies, 65.6%), with most data collected prospectively (48 studies, 75%). Transthoracic echocardiography was the most used imaging modality (37 studies, 57.8%) followed by cardiac computed tomography (15 studies, 23.4%), transoesophageal echocardiography (9 studies, 14.1%), cardiac magnetic resonance (5 studies, 7.8%), and speckle tracking echocardiography (4 studies; 6.3%). The risk of bias assessment is reported in **Supplementary Tables 4-6**.

4.2.3.2 Left atrial imaging parameters

4.2.3.2.1 Structure

Compared to patients with AF and without stroke, those with previous stroke had higher LA diameter (MD 1.8 mm, 95% CI 0.8-2.9) (**Figure 2**), LA diameter index (MD 1.2 mm/m², 95% CI 0.6-1.8), LA volume (MD 15.0 ml, 95% CI 7.4-22.7), LA volume index (MD 6.3 ml/m², 95% CI 0.8-11.9), and LA sphericity (MD 3.5%, 95% CI 1.2-5.9) (**Table 1, Supplementary Figures 1-4**).

In the meta-analysis of adjusted risk estimates, higher LA diameter (aOR 1.10, 95% CI 1.05-1.15, I² 74%; 11 studies) (**Figure 3. Panel A**), LA enlargement (aOR 2.12, 95% CI 1.45-3.08, I² 85%; 6 studies) (**Figure 3. Panel B**), higher LA volume (aOR 1.03, 95% CI 1.01-1.04, I² 53%; 3 studies) (**Figure 4. Panel A**), higher LA volume index (aOR 1.014, 95% CI 1.004-1.023, I² 19%; 2 studies) (**Supplementary Figure 5**), and higher LA sphericity (aOR 1.14, 95% CI 1.01-1.29, I² 50%; 2 studies) (**Supplementary Figure 6**) were associated with an increased risk of stroke (**Table 2**). Left atrial diameter index was a predictor of incident stroke (aHR 1.08, 95% CI 1.05-1.10, I² 70%; 3 studies) (**Figure 4. Panel B**). Considering the high heterogeneity in these analyses (except for LA volume index), we performed influencer analysis when more than 2 studies were included. The omission of none of the studies significantly reduced the level of heterogeneity in the pooled analyses for LA diameter and LA enlargement (**Supplementary Figures 7 and 8**). For LA diameter index, the omission of the study by Ogata et al. reduced the heterogeneity from 70% to 23%. (**Supplementary Figure 9**), whereas for LA volume, the omission of the study by Ogata et al. reduced the heterogeneity from 70% to 23%.

4.2.3.2.2 Function

There was no difference in LA ejection fraction between AF patients with previous stroke and those without (MD -7.6%, 95% CI -16 to 0.8), whereas LA reservoir strain was lower in AF patients with previous stroke (MD -3.9%, 95% CI -6.0 to -1.8) (**Table 1 and Supplementary Figures 11 and 12**).

In a pooled analysis of adjusted risk estimates, lower LA reservoir strain was associated with an increased risk of stroke (aHR 0.86, 95% CI 0.76–0.98, I² 73%; 4 studies) (**Figure 4. Panel C**). In the influencer analysis to explore the source of heterogeneity, the omission of the study by Liai et al. reduced the heterogeneity from 73% to 0% (**Supplementary Figure 13**).

4.2.3.3 Left atrial appendage imaging parameters

4.2.3.3.1 Structure

Compared to AF patients without stroke, those with stroke had higher LAA depth (MD 3.0 mm, 95% CI 1.9-4.1), higher LAA orifice area (MD 1.0 cm², 95% CI 0.7-1.2, I² 0%), higher LAA volume (MD 1.9 ml, 95% CI 0.1-3.6), but there was no difference regarding LAA length (MD -3.3 mm, 95% CI -7.6-1.1) and LAA orifice diameter (MD 0.7 mm, 95% CI -2.4-3.7) (Table 1, **Supplementary Figures 14-18**).

Left atrial appendage orifice diameter was associated with an increased risk of stroke (aOR 1.56, 95% CI 1.18-2.05, I² 74%; 4 studies) whereas LAA volume was not (aOR 1.37, 95% CI 0.85-2.21, I² 79%; 2 studies) (**Figure 5. Panels A and B**). The study by Huang et al. partly explained the high heterogeneity in the meta-analysis of risk estimates for LAA orifice diameter, as its exclusion reduced the heterogeneity from 74% to 57% (**Supplementary Figure 19**). Furthermore, compared to chicken wing morphology, non-chicken wing morphology of the LAA was associated with an increased risk of stroke (aOR 2.15, 95% CI

1.11-4.18, I² 84%; 6 studies) (**Figure 5. Panel C**). In influencer analysis, the omission of none of the studies reduced the level of heterogeneity (**Supplementary Figure 20**).

4.2.3.3.2 Function

Left atrial appendage ejection fraction (MD -12%, 95% CI -22.0 to -1.9), LAA filling velocity (MD -6.8 cm/sec, 95% CI -10.0 to -3.6), LAA emptying velocity (MD -8.7 cm/sec, 95% CI - 11.8 to -5.5), and LAA average flow velocity (MD -5.3 cm/sec, 95% CI -8.0 to -2.6) were significantly lower in patients with stroke compared to those without (**Table 1**, **Supplementary Figures 21-25**). There was not enough data on these parameters to perform a pooled analysis of risk estimates.

4.2.3.4 Left ventricular imaging parameters

4.2.3.4.1 structure

Atrial fibrillation patients with stroke, compared to those without, had significantly higher interventricular wall thickness (MD 1.0 mm, 95% CI 0.7-1.3) and LV mass index (MD 6.0 g/m², 95% CI 1.8-10.2), and lower LV end-diastolic volume (MD -9.9 ml, 95% CI -17.8 to - 2.0) (**Table 1, Supplementary Figures 26-28**). There was no difference for LV end-diastolic diameter (MD 0.2 mm, 95% CI -0.6-1.0), LV end-systolic diameter (MD 0.4 mm, 95% CI - 1.4-2.2), LV end-diastolic volume index (MD 2.8 ml/m², 95% CI -1.4-6.9), LV end-systolic volume index (MD 2.3 ml/m², 95% CI -1.0-5.7) and LV end-systolic volume (MD -3.5 mm, 95% CI -12.3-5.3) (**Table 1, Supplementary Figures 29-33**).

In a pooled analysis of risk estimates, LV mass index was associated with an increased risk of stroke (aOR 1.010, 95% CI 1.005-1.015, I² 0%; 2 studies) (**Table 2, Supplementary Figure 34**).

4.2.3.4.2 Function

Left ventricular ejection fraction was significantly lower (MD -8%, 95% CI -1.4 to -0.2) and the E/e' ratio higher (MD 2.2%, 95% CI 1.5 to 2.9) in AF patients with stroke compared to those without (**Table 1, Supplementary Figures 35 and 36**). The E/e' ratio was associated with an increased risk of stroke (aOR 1.12, 95% CI 1.07-1.16, I² 0%; 6 studies) (**Figure 6. Panel A**).

4.2.3.5 Spontaneous echo-contrast

Meta-analysis of adjusted risk estimates showed that patients with LA or LAA spontaneous echo-contrast had increased risk of stroke (aOR 3.32, 95% CI 1.98-5.49, I² 0%; 5 studies) (**Table 2, Figure 6. Panel B**).

4.2.4 Discussion

This systematic review with meta-analysis aimed to summarize available data on potential cardiac imaging correlates and predictors of stroke or systemic embolism in AF patients. We observed significant mean differences in several imaging parameters related to LA, LAA, and LV structure and function between AF patients with and without stroke. A pooled analysis of adjusted risk estimates identified several parameters associated with stroke or systemic embolism, including LA diameter, LA diameter index, LA enlargement, LA volume, LA volume index, LA sphericity, LA reservoir strain, LAA orifice diameter, non-chicken wing LAA morphology, LV mass index, E/e' ration and LA spontaneous echo-contrast (**Figure 7**).

Most of left ventricular imaging features on echocardiography have not shown significant association with thromboembolism in AF patients. The pooled mean difference in

LV end-diastolic volume, LV mass index and interventricular wall thickness between AF patients with and without prior stroke was statistically significant. However, the clinical significance of this difference is uncertain, in the absence of proper association studies. Although heart failure is a well-recognized predictor of stroke in this population ^{252, 264}, there is marked inconsistency in findings from various studies regarding the association of reduced LV ejection fraction and thromboembolism ⁴⁷⁹. We could not obtain enough data to pool adjusted estimates on the association of reduced LV ejection fraction with thromboembolism because in most studies, there was no significant association in multivariable regression analysis and hence, risk estimates were not reported. However, this review shows that the E/e' ratio, a ratio between early mitral inflow velocity and mitral annular early diastolic velocity that is a surrogate of LV filling pressure, is associated with thromboembolism. This suggests that among LV anatomic and functional parameters, E/e' ratio can have an added value in risk stratification in AF patients.

There was a significant difference between AF patients with and without prior stroke pertaining to echocardiographic LA anatomical parameters including LA diameter, diameter index, volume, volume index, sphericity, and LA functional parameters such as LA ejection fraction and reservoir strain. Pooled analyses adjusted risk estimates confirmed the association between most of these parameters and stroke. In fact, there are convincing evidence demonstrating that echocardiographic LA dimensions are predictors of major adverse cardiovascular events in both patients with and without AF ⁴⁸⁶. Importantly, two studies showed that LA reservoir strain assessed by speckle-tracking echocardiography is independently associated with prior stroke or predictor of incident stroke ^{436, 464}, with a higher predictive value than the CHA₂DS₂VASc score ⁴³⁶, stressing its potential benefit in improving current stroke risk stratification schemes. However, speckle tracking analysis is challenging, especially during AF because of irregular cardiac cycles ⁴⁸³. In fact, most studies using

speckle tracking echocardiography in patients with AF reported an association between LA strain and incident stroke during sinus rhythm, with only few studies that were performed exclusively during AF ⁴⁸³.

We found an association between non-chicken wing LAA morphology (windsock, cactus, or cauliflower) and stroke. Although this finding suggests that LAA morphology might improve stroke risk stratification in patients with AF, there is a controversy regarding its reproducibility between different observers ⁴³². There is a need for a clear and rigorous classification of LAA morphology to reduce the subjectivity in its assessment. LAA function in terms of LAA spontaneous echo-contrast and LAA emptying velocity have been correlated with stroke risk following cardioversion ⁴⁸⁷. Importantly, these have been demonstrated to be impaired at the time of cardioversion, to be functionally improved and improve with time ⁴⁸⁸⁻ ⁴⁹⁰. LAA function parameters such as ejection fraction, filling, emptying and average flow velocities demonstrated marked difference between AF patients with and without stroke are also potential prognostic factors that need further investigation. Unsurprisingly, the presence of spontaneous echo-contrast or thrombus in the LAA or LA was associated with previous or future stroke. Although LA/LAA thrombus is a contraindication for immediate cardioversion or catheter ablation and should be first treated to achieve thrombus resolution ⁴⁹¹, there is no clear recommendation on long-term oral anticoagulation in AF patients with LA/LAA thrombus or spontaneous echo-contrast and not eligible based on the CHA2DS2VASc score for instance ⁴⁹¹.

The findings from this review have important implications. The need for improved stroke risk stratification tools to determine eligibility for stroke prevention strategies in AF patients is of utmost importance. This review suggests some promising structural and functional cardiac factors that might improve this risk stratification. Large prospective studies assessing concurrent clinical, cardiac imaging and biomarkers (serum brain natriuretic peptides, cardiac troponins, etc.) are highly needed to derive and validate new holistic risk stratification tools. From a cardiac imaging perspective, priority should be placed on more accessible and affordable modalities such as speckle-tracking and measurements obtained on transthoracic echocardiography. Although transesophageal echocardiography is more accurate for some cardiac parameters compared to transthoracic echocardiography, it is less readily accessible and is not tolerable by many patients. The scaling up of the use of handheld echocardiography can be capitalized for this purpose, and the use of artificial intelligence for interpretation may ease the use of this technology and be cost-saving ²⁶¹. Although cardiac CT and MRI can provide very useful information, they have a high cost and limited accessibility. An alternative approach may be the selective use of cardiac CT and cardiac MRI only in a subset of patients who have a low embolic score and in whom additional information might improve risk discrimination and confirmation of truly low risk profile.

This review has some limitations. Firstly, most data came from comparative crosssectional studies or retrospective cohort studies, leading to selection bias and an inability to establish causality for most associations shown in our analyses. Only few studies provided adjusted risk estimates from prospective cohort studies. Therefore, instead of drawing definitive conclusions, this review highlights imaging parameters that might potentially predict thromboembolism in AF patients, and accordingly, warrant further investigation. Secondly, there was significant heterogeneity and due to the limited number of available studies for several analyses, it was not possible to adequately explore sources of heterogeneity. However, this heterogeneity is likely attributed to differences across studies in terms of the overall risk profile of the study populations. For instance, the proportion of AF patients on anticoagulation varied significantly across studies. Furthermore, there was incluctably some difference in the assessment of the various reported imaging parameters within and across studies, due to interobserver variability and the use of different imaging modalities and devices. Thirdly, in the absence of established cutoff values for many imaging parameters, only a meta-analysis of standardized mean differences between patients with and without stroke was possible for those parameters. Fourthly, we only included parameters for which we had enough data to perform meta-analysis. As a result, parameters related to epicardial adipose tissue and left atrial fibrosis were not covered. Finally, although we did a careful screening of bibliographic databases and supplementary manual searches, due to the broad scope of this review, there is a chance that few studies might have been missed. Despite these limitations, this review is the first to compile evidence in patients with AF on the association of thromboembolism with a broad spectrum of cardiac imaging parameters using robust statistical methods.

4.2.5 Conclusion

This study suggests an association between stroke or systemic embolism and several structural and functional cardiac imaging parameters including LA diameter, LA diameter index, LA enlargement, LA volume, LA volume index, LA sphericity, LA reservoir strain, LAA orifice diameter, non-chicken wing LAA morphology, LV mass index, E/e' ration, LA spontaneous echo-contrast. These imaging factors should be tested with established clinical risk factors and biomarkers in large prospective cohort studies, to develop and validate holistic stroke risk stratification schemes with better prognosis performance compared to the existing clinical scores.
4.2.6 Figures and tables

Figure 1. Study selection

Figure 2. Meta-analysis of mean differences in left atrial diameter between AF patients with and without stroke

Figure 3. Association of left atrial diameter and left atrial enlargement with stroke

Figure 4. Association of left atrial volume, diameter index, and reservoir strain with stroke

Figure 5. Association of left atrial appendage parameters with stroke

Figure 6. Association of E/e' ratio and spontaneous echo-contrast with stroke

Figure 7. Graphical abstract

Table 1. Meta-analysis of mean difference in cardiac imaging features between atrial

 fibrillation patients with and without stroke

Table 2. Meta-analysis of the association between cardiac imaging parameters and stroke in

 patients with atrial fibrillation





Figure 2. Meta-analysis of mean differences in left atrial diameter between AF patients with and without stroke

		S	Stroke		Nos	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% - Cl	Weight
Azemi, 2012	57	41.0	7.0	57	37.0	6.0		4.0	[1.6; 6.4]	3.5%
Bayar, 2015	31	40.0	0.5	59	41.0	0.5	+	-1.0	[-1.2; -0.8]	4.2%
Bisbal, 2016	29	42.3	4.6	29	42.9	5.6		-0.6	[-3.2; 2.0]	3.4%
Gupta, 2016	48	35.0	3.0	923	36.0	3.0	-	-1.0	[-1.9; -0.1]	4.1%
Gustafsson, 1992	20	47.0	11.1	20	47.0	5.9		0.0	[-5.5; 5.5]	2.0%
Jankajova, 2019	22	41.2	13.3	58	39.0	17.0		2.2	[-5.7; 10.1]	1.3%
Kamp, 1999	18	46.0	5.0	70	45.0	7.0		1.0	[-2.4; 4.4]	3.0%
Kaneko, 2003	16	42.0	6.0	14	38.0	7.0		4.0	[-0.7; 8.7]	2.4%
Khurram, 2013	65	46.4	6.4	613	46.5	6.8		-0.1	[-1.8; 1.6]	3.8%
Kim, 2019	231	42.3	5.4	2570	41.1	6.1	-	1.2	[0.4; 2.0]	4.1%
Kimura, 2013	30	40.0	5.0	50	39.0	8.0		1.0	[-2.2; 4.2]	3.1%
Kong, 2014	26	39.9	4.8	193	38.4	5.8		1.5	[-0.9; 3.8]	3.5%
Kwon, 2021	44	48.0	11.5	220	49.7	9.8		-1.7	[-5.0; 1.6]	3.1%
Lee, 2014	138	46.2	7.4	138	41.4	5.9		4.8	[3.2; 6.4]	3.9%
Lee, 2017	85	39.3	5.6	85	39.9	5.5		-0.6	[-2.3; 1.1]	3.8%
Leung, 2018	100	46.0	7.0	1261	45.0	8.0		1.0	[-0.6; 2.6]	3.9%
Miyasaka, 2000	30	42.0	5.0	143	41.0	8.0		1.0	[-2.0; 4.0]	3.2%
Miyazaki, 2001	7	49.0	7.0	81	49.0	7.0		0.0	[-5.4; 5.4]	2.1%
Moon, 2014	211	46.0	7.0	347	41.0	6.0		5.0	[3.9; 6.1]	4.1%
Okuyama, 2008	19	48.0	6.0	173	44.0	7.0		4.0	[0.7; 7.3]	3.0%
Park, 2012	17	40.4	4.6	159	38.5	5.2		1.9	[-0.7; 4.5]	3.4%
Park, 2012	14	43.6	7.4	74	45.1	7.5		-1.5	[-5.8; 2.8]	2.5%
Sakabe, 2009	26	45.0	7.0	50	43.0	5.0		2.0	[-0.7; 4.7]	3.3%
Shen, 2022	136	43.7	4.7	309	37.6	6.2		6.1	[4.9; 7.3]	4.0%
Takashima, 2012	42	42.5	8.3	448	41.3	8.3		1.2	[-1.4; 3.8]	3.4%
Wu, 2019	86	40.3	6.3	569	39.5	5.7		0.8	[-0.5; 2.1]	4.0%
Xu, 2015	57	44.0	2.2	57	36.0	7.8		8.0	[5.9; 10.1]	3.7%
Yan, 2018	68	42.4	9.1	527	36.8	6.1		5.6	[4.0; 7.2]	3.9%
Yang, 2019	157	39.8	6.6	157	38.0	6.2		1.8	[0.4; 3.2]	3.9%
Yoshida, 1996	18	44.1	6.8	104	42.8	9.7		1.3	[-3.4; 6.0]	2.4%
Random effects model	1848			9558				1.8	[0.8; 2.9]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 93.5\%$, $\tau^2 =$	= 7.1604,	p < 0.000	1							
Test for overall effect: $z = 3.36$	(p = 0.00)	08)					-10 -5 0 5 10			

Figure 3. Association of left atrial diameter and left atrial enlargement with stroke

Study	Cases	Sample		Odd	s Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Ahn, 2017	47	237		<u> </u>		1.07	[1.00; 1.15]	12.1%
Dudzińska-Szczerba, 2021	74	157		+ -		1.24	[1.06; 1.45]	6.1%
Khurram, 2013	65	678	←	-		1.04	[0.64; 1.70]	0.9%
Kong, 2014	26	219				1.07	[0.95; 1.21]	8.0%
Lee, 2014	67	218				→→ 2.21	[1.05; 4.65]	0.4%
Leung, 1994	25	233		÷.		1.00	[0.95; 1.05]	13.7%
Moon, 2014	211	558				1.10	[1.06; 1.14]	15.0%
Nakagami, 1998	68	290		-		1.06	[0.75; 1.49]	1.7%
Shen, 2022	136	445				1.21	[1.14; 1.29]	12.8%
Wu, 2019	86	655		÷.		1.02	[0.98; 1.07]	14.4%
Yan, 2019	68	595		+		1.13	[1.09; 1.18]	14.8%
Random effects model				<		1.10	[1.05; 1.15]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 74\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$	0.0036, p	< 0.01	1	1	1	I		
		0	.75	1	1.5	2.5		

Panel A. Left atrial diameter

Panel B. Left atrial enlargement

Study	Cases	Sample	Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Affan, 2019	1587	8679	+	1.19	[0.91; 1.55]	18.4%
Cho, 2021 (1) Cho, 2021 (2)	163	8159		2.54 1.57	[1.05; 3.91]	17.6%
Hamatani, 2016 Shin. 2019	154 583	2713 1181	— • — •	1.74 4.01	[1.25; 2.42] [2.70; 5.96]	17.5% 16.5%
Xu, 2015	57	172		3.20	[1.85; 5.54]	14.1%
Random effects mo	del	-		2.12	[1.45; 3.08]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 85$	%, τ ^ε = 0.181	1, p < 0.01 0.7	5 1 1.5	7		

Figure 4. Association of left atrial volume, diameter index, and reservoir strain with stroke

Panel A. Left atrial volume Study Cases Sample Odds Ratio OR [95% C.I.] Weight Lee, 2014 138 276 1.09 [1.02; 1.17] 4.2% Moon, 2014 221 558 1.03 [1.02; 1.04] 76.4% Park, 2013 14 88 1.01 [0.98; 1.04] 19.4% Random effects model Ò 1.03 [1.01; 1.04] 100.0% Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 53\%$, $\tau^2 < 0.0001$, p = 0.120.75 1 1.5

Panel B. Left atrial diameter index

Study	Cases Sample	Hazard Ratio	HR [95% C.I.] Weight
Hamatani, 2016	154 2713		1.08 [1.06; 1.11] 76.5%
Leung, 2018	100 1361	<u>-</u>	1.05 [1.01; 1.10] 22.7%
Ogata, 2017	251 1611		1.40 [1.12; 1.75] 0.8%
Random effects mo	odel		1.08 [1.05; 1.10] 100.0%
Heterogeneity: I ² = 70	%, $\tau^2 = 0$, $p = 0.04$ '	1 1	1
	0.75	1 1.5	2

Panel C. Left atrial reservoir strain

Study	Cases	Sample	Hazard Ratio	HR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Hsu, 2016	15	190		0.84	[0.75; 0.96]	29.1%
Leung, 2018	100	1361		0.73	[0.56; 0.96]	14.6%
Liai, 2020	111	1457	*	0.98	[0.93; 1.04]	36.4%
Shih, 2011	20	66		0.79	[0.64; 0.97]	19.9%
Random effects model	2	_	\sim	0.86	[0.76; 0.98]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 73\%$, π	² = 0.011	5, p = 0.01	1 1	I		
		0.5	0.75 1	1.5		

Figure 5. Association of left atrial appendage parameters with stroke

Study	Cases	Sample	Odds Ra	atio OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Huang, 2022 Kong, 2014 Lee. 2017 Sakr, 2015	61 26 86 26	509 219 255 50		· 2.16 1.25 1.94 1.27	[1.54; 3.03] [1.05; 1.49] [1.34; 2.80] [1.01; 1.61]	22.3% 29.6% 20.9% 27.2%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 74\%$, τ	² = 0.058	2, p < 0.01 0.75	1 1.5	1.56 4	[1.18; 2.05]	100.0%

Panel A. Left atrial appendage orifice diameter

Panel B. Left atrial appendage volume

Study	Cases	Sample		Odds Ratio		OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Burrell, 2013 Park, 2013	48 14	96 88	+-	_		1.82 1.11	[1.21; 2.75] [0.95; 1.29]	42.2% 57.8%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $i^2 = 79\%$, τ	² = 0.097	1, p = 0.03	+		_	1.37	[0.85; 2.21]	100.0%
		0.75	1	1.5		5		

Panel C. Left atrial appendage non-chicken wing morphology

Study	Cases	Sample	•	Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Di Biase, 2012 Huang, 2022 Kimura, 2013	78 61 30	932 509 80		*	2.95 1.16 3.36	[1.75; 4.98] [1.10; 1.23] [1.24; 9.08]	19.0% 21.6% 14.5%
Kong, 2014 Lee, 2017 Wu, 2019	26 86 86	219 255 655	(1	+	 > 5.82 > 4.53 0.72 	[1.61; 21.03] [1.53; 13.42] [0.44; 1.18]	11.9% 13.7% 19.3%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 84\%$, τ	² = 0.530	04, p < 0.0	01 0.5	1 2	2.15	[1.11; 4.18]	100.0%

Figure 6. Association of E/e' ratio and spontaneous echo-contrast with stroke

Study	Cases	Samp	le		Odds Rat	io	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Kang, 2016	23	161				-	1.19	[1.01; 1.41]	5.6%
Lee, 2008	50	330					1.21	[1.07; 1.36]	11.0%
Moon, 2014	211	558					1.10	[1.04; 1.16]	52.3%
Shih, 2011	20	66		_	-		1.13	[0.94; 1.35]	4.9%
Yang, 2018	22	252			-		1.09	[1.01; 1.18]	26.1%
Random effects mode	I				Ò		1.12	[1.07; 1.16]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, τ^2	= 0, p =	0.57	Γ						
			0.75	1	1	1.5	2		

Panel A. E/e' ratio

Panel B. Spontaneous echo-contrast

Study	Cases	Sample	•	Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Leung, 1994	25	233	1		→ 3.50	[1.13; 10.81]	22.3%
Okuyama, 2008	19	192			- 2.91	[1.29; 6.57]	42.8%
Stoddard, 2003	46	261	-		→ 4.90	[1.04; 22.98]	11.9%
Vinereanu, 2017	11	1026	<	E	1.09	[0.21; 5.63]	10.5%
Zhac, 2016	20	206			≖ → 6.59	[1.46; 29.73]	12.5%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, τ^2	= 0, p =	0.57			3.22	[1.89; 5.49]	100.0%
		(0.75 1	1.5	10		

Figure 7. Graphical abstract



Cardiac imaging features	Mean	95%	P value	Number	Number	Number	Hete	rogeneity	Egger
(measurement unit)	difference	confidence		of	of cases	of	I ²	P value	test, p
		interval		studies		controls	(%)		value
LV anatomy									
• LV end-diastolic diameter (mm)	0.2	-0.6 to 1.0	0.621	10	586	3150	44.4	0.061	0.807
• LV end-systolic diameter (mm)	0.4	-1.4 to 2.0	0.660	4	172	1562	52.8	0.096	0.151
• LV end-diastolic volume (ml)	-9.9	-17.8 to -2.0	0.014	4	258	1794	70.2	0.018	0.636
• LV end-systolic volume (ml)	-3.5	-12.3 to 5.3	0.439	2	150	1541	83.8	0.013	NA
• LV end-diastolic volume index (ml/m ²)	2.8	-1.4 to 6.9	0.196	2	42	276	0.0	0.870	NA
• LV end-systolic volume index (ml/m ²)	2.3	-1.0 to 5.7	0.175	2	42	276	0.0	0.603	NA
• LV mass index (g/m ²)	6.0	1.8 to 10.2	0.005	5	260	1601	44.6	0.125	0.310
• Interventricular wall thickness (mm)	1.0	0.7 to 1.3	< 0.0001	3	200	1568	0.0	1.000	0.976
LV function									
• LV ejection fraction (%)	-0.8	-1.4 to -0.2	0.014	32	2489	10999	57.6	< 0.0001	0.129
• E/e' ratio	2.2	1.5 to 2.9	< 0.0001	10	838	4240	75.8	< 0.0001	0.459
LA anatomy									
• LA volume (ml)	15.0	7.4 to 22.7	0.0001	10	795	2426	81.5	< 0.0001	0.542
• LA volume index (ml/m ²)	6.3	0.8 to 11.9	0.026	6	329	908	78.2	0.0004	0.435
• LA sphericity (%)	3.5	1.2 to 5.9	0.003	2	186	186	77.5	0.035	NA
• LA diameter(mm)	1.8	0.8 to 2.9	0.0008	30	1848	9558	93.5	< 0.0001	0.0016
• LA diameter index (mm/m ²)	1.2	0.6 to 1.8	0.0001	2	257	1418	0.0	0.515	NA
LA function									
• LA ejection fraction (%)	-7.6	-16.0 to 0.8	0.074	5	132	1480	92.3	< 0.0001	0.164
• LA reservoir strain (%)	-3.9	-6.0 to -1.8	0.003	3	142	1537	41.0	0.184	0.101
LAA anatomy									
• LAA depth (mm)	3.0	1.9 to 4.1	< 0.0001	4	209	559	0.0	0.464	0.962
• LAA length (mm)	-3.3	-7.6 to 1.1	0.140	2	91	806	77.4	0.035	NA
• LAA orifice area (cm ²)	1.0	0.7 to 1.2	< 0.0001	4	274	453	0.0	0.622	0.255
• LAA orifice diameter (mm)	0.7	-2.4 to 3.7	0.664	6	307	1025	95.3	< 0.0001	0.269
• LAA volume (ml)	1.9	0.1 to 3.6	0.034	9	457	1563	83.2	< 0.0001	0.394

Table 1. Meta-analysis of mean difference in cardiac imaging features between atrial fibrillation patients with and without stroke

LAA function									
• LAA ejection fraction (%)	-12.0	-22.0 to -1.9	0.020	4	84	385	87.1	< 0.0001	0.902
• LAA filling velocity (cm/sec)	-6.8	-10.0 to -3.6	< 0.0001	2	257	2594	16.9	0.273	NA
• LAA emptying velocity (cm/sec)	-8.7	-11.8 to -5.5	< 0.0001	4	349	2760	61.5	0.051	0.747
• LAA average flow velocity (cm/sec)	-5.3	-8.0 to -2.6	0.0001	2	261	2620	0.0	0.388	NA

LV: left ventricular; LA: left atrial; LAA: left atrial appendage; NA: not applicable (when only 2 studies included)

Cardiac imaging features	Туре	RE	95%	P value	Number	Heter	ogeneity	Egger
(measurement unit)	of RE		confidence		of	I ² (%)	P value	test, p
			interval		studies			value
• LV mass index (g/m ²)	aOR	1.010	1.005 to 1.015	0.0001	2	0.0	0.480	NA
• E/e' ratio	aOR	1.12	1.07 to 1.16	< 0.0001	5	0.0	0.57	0.185
• LA diameter (mm)	aOR	1.10	1.05 to 1.15	0.010	11	74.0	< 0.01	0.535
• LA diameter index (mm/m ²)	aHR	1.08	1.05 to 1.10	< 0.0001	3	70.0	0.035	0.563
LA enlargement	aOR	2.12	1.45 to 3.08	< 0.01	6	85.0	< 0.01	0.035
• LA volume (ml)	aOR	1.03	1.01 to 1.04	0.0001	3	53.0	0.120	0.827
• LA volume index (ml/m ²)	aOR	1.014	1.004 to 1.023	0.004	2	19.0	0.27	NA
• LA sphericity (%)	aOR	1.14	1.01 to 1.29	0.028	2	50.0	0.16	NA
• LA reservoir strain (%)	aOR	0.86	0.76 to 0.98	0.026	4	73.0	0.01	0.029
• LAA volume (ml)	aOR	1.37	0.85 to 2.21	0.199	2	79.0	0.03	NA
• LAA orifice diameter (mm)	aOR	1.56	1.18 to 2.05	0.0016	4	74.0	< 0.01	0.068
LAA non-CW morphology	aOR	2.15	1.11 to 4.18	0.0234	6	84.0	< 0.01	0.132
Spontaneous echo-contrast	aOR	3.22	1.89 to 5.49	< 0.0001	5	0.0	0.570	0.919

Table 2. Meta-analysis of the association between cardiac imaging parameters and stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation

LV: left ventricular; LA: left atrial; LAA: left atrial appendage; NA: not applicable (when only 2 studies included); RE: risk estimate; aOR: adjusted odds ratio; aHR: adjusted hazard ratio

Non-chicken wing morphology: cactus, cauliflower, windsock

4.2.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 4. Search strategy

		Search strategy
#1	Cardiac	(((((("Left ventricular" OR "left ventricle") OR ("E/e")) OR ((("left
	imaging	atrium" OR "left atrial") AND ("echo contrast" OR "echo dense"
	parameters	OR "echo density" OR "thrombus")))) OR ("left atrium appendage"
		OR "left atrial appendage")) OR ((("left atrium" OR "left atrial")
		AND ("function" OR "ejection fraction" OR emptying OR strain))))
		OR ((("left atrium" OR "left atrial") AND (fibrosis OR stiffness))))
		OR ((("left atrium" OR "left atrial") AND (enlargement OR
		dilatation OR dilated OR hypertrophy OR size OR volume OR
		dimension OR volume OR diameter OR sphericity OR width OR
		length OR area))))
#2	Atrial	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation" OR "AF" OR "Afib"
	fibrillation	
#3	Stroke	"stroke" OR "cerebrovascular accident" OR "CVA" OR "cerebral
		infarct" OR "brain infarct" OR "subcortical infarct" OR "transient
		ischaemic attack" OR "transient ischemic attack" OR "TIA" OR
		"apoplexy" OR "thromboembolism" OR "cardioembolism" OR
		"emboli" OR "thrombus"
#4	Final search	#1 AND #2 AND #3

Characteristics	N = 64				
Total population	56639				
Year of publication, range	1992-2022				
Period of inclusion of participants, range	1987-2022				
Design					
- Cohort	18				
- Randomized controlled trial	4				
- Cross-sectional	42				
Timing of data collection					
- Prospective	48				
- Retrospective	16				
Cardiac imaging modality					
- Transthoracic echocardiography	37				
- Transoesophageal echocardiography	9				
- Speckle tracking echocardiography	4				
- Cardiac computed tomography	15				
- Cardiac magnetic resonance	5				
Regions					
- Asia	41				
- Northern America	8				
- Interregional	5				
- Europe	5				
- Oceania	1				
- Africa	1				
Countries					
- Japan	15				
- South Korea	12				
- US	7				
- China	10				
- Multinational	5				
- Taiwan	7				
- The Netherland	2				
- Australia	1				
- Egypt	1				
- Poland	1				
- Slovakia	1				
- Sweden	1				
- Turkey	1				
Methodological quality					
- Good	30				
- Fair	33				
- Poor	1				

Supplementary Table 5. Summarized study characteristics

First author, year of publ	Period of recruitment	Country	Study design	Data collection	Characteristics of study population	OAC (%)	Mean or median age	Proportion of male (%)	Cardiac imaging modality	Endpoint	Sample size
Affan, 2019	2016	USA	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	17.7	65	46	TTE	Stroke	1920
Ahn, 2019	2000-2016	Korea	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF post- ablation	~ 30	67.2 for the stroke group and 66.7 for the non- stroke group	68.1 for the stroke group and 61.6 for the non-stroke group	СТ	Cardio- embolic stroke	237
Al-Issa, 2016	2005-2007	USA	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF referred for catheter ablation	86.1	Cases: 67.4; controls: 67.7	66.7	TOE	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	36
Azemi, 2012	NR	USA	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF, and CHADS2 score ≤ 1 before their thromboembolic events	0	65	53	TTE	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	114
Bayar, 2015	2012-2014	Turkey	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF with and without prior stroke/TIA	NR	Cases: 67.3; controls: 63.4	48.9	TTE	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	90
Beinart, 2011	2002-2008	USA	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF referred for catheter ablation	0	54.5	75	CMR	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	144

Supplementary Table 6. Individual characteristics of included studies

Bisbal, 2016	2000-2009	USA & Spain	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF with and without prior stroke/TIA	NR	Cases: 61; controls: 61	Cases: 79; controls: 79	CMR or CT	Ischemic stroke	58
Burrell, 2013	2003-2011	USA	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF	NR	Cases: 70.0; controls: 64.8	71.9	CMR	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	96
Cho, 2021	2006-2016	Korea	Cohort	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF and low thromboembolic risk	16.5	55.9	70	TTE	Ischemic stroke and systemic embolism	6602
Cho, 2021	2016-2020	Korea	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF and low thromboembolic risk	71.5	67	64.5	TTE	Stroke and systemic embolism	8159
Chu, 2016	2010-2012	Taiwan	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	29	70	67.4	TTE	Composite of stroke, myocardial infarction, hospitalization for heart failure and cardiovascular mortality	190
Di Biase, 2012	NR	Italy, USA	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF undergoing catheter ablation	NR	Cases: 62; controls: 58	78.6	CMR or CT	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	932
Dudziñska- Szczerba, 2021	2014-2016	Poland	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	63.1	66.1	56.7	СТ	Stroke	157
Fukushima, 2016	2010-2014	Japan	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing catheter ablation	100	59	75	СТ	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	96

Gupta, 2016	2008-2013	Multinational	RCT	Prospective	Patients with NVAF and a CHADS2 index score of at least 2	100	71	62.7	TTE	Ischemic stroke, transient ischemic attack or systemic embolic event	971
Gustafsson, 1992	NR	Sweden	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	0	77	Not reported	TTE	Stroke	40
Hamatani, 2016	2011-2012	Japan	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	54.5	73	60.2	TTE	Stroke or systemic embolism	2713
Huang, 2022	2014-2018	China	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF and CHA2DS2- VASc score of 0 or 1	0.0	48.9	65.2	СТ	Ischemic stroke	509
Hsu, 2016	2010-2012	Taiwan	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with persistent NVAF	13.6	70	67	TTE	Stroke	190
Inoue, 2019	NR	Japan	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF undergoing catheter ablation or cardiac surgery	40.1	69.9	82	СТ	Stroke	147
Jankajova, 2019	2017	Slovakia	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	81.3	65	76.3	TTE	Ischemic stroke or systemic embolism	80
Kamp, 1999	1989-1994	Netherlands	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	15.9	Cases: 71; controls: 67	65.9	TTE	Stroke or systemic embolism	88
Kaneko, 2003	2000-2001	Japan	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	NR	72	67.7	TTE	Cardioembolic stroke	31

Kang, 2016	2010-2016	Japan	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF with or without prior stroke	3.7	Cases: 62; controls: 59	Cases: 82; controls: 68	TTE	Stroke	161
Khurram, 2013	2001-2012	USA	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF undergoing catheter ablation	NR	59.5	74.8	СТ	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	678
Kim, 2019	1998-2018	Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF with or without prior stroke underdoing catheter ablation	NR	55.6	79.2	CMR, TTE and TOE	Ischemic stroke, transient ischemic attack or systemic embolic event	2801
Kimura, 2013	2008-2011	Japan	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF underdoing catheter ablation	NR	58.6	82.5	СТ	Stroke	80
Kong, 2014	2012-2013	China	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF underdoing catheter ablation	NR	Cases: 62.04; controls: 58.24	64.8	СТ	Stroke	219
Kwon, 2021	2004-2016	Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF	0	54.2	34.1	TTE	Stroke	264
Lee, 2014	2008-2011	South Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	0	Stroke: 66; Non- stroke: 65	68.8	TTE	Stroke	276
Lee, 2014	2008-2011	South Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	0	64	68.3	TTE	Stroke	360

Lee, 2017	2011-2015	South Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	12.9	Cases: 68.3; controls: 62.1	57.6	TOE	Cardioembolic stroke	170
Lee, 2008	2005-2006	South Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with persistent NVAF	37.9	66	65.5	TTE	Ischemic stroke	330
Leung, 1994	1989-1993	Australia	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	16.5	68	68.0	TOE	Ischemic stroke, transient ischemic attack or systemic embolic event	233
Leung, 2018	1995-2015	Netherlands	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	71.7	65	74	TTE	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	1361
Liai, 2020	2009-2015	Taiwan	Cohort	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF	36.0	71.6	55.5	STE	Ischemic stroke	1457
Mao, 2020	2019	China	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	91	63	62.9	STE	Stroke and systemic embolism	116
McMurray, 2013	2006-2011	Multinational (44 countries)	RCT	Prospective	Patients with NVAF and at least one CHADS2 risk factor	100	70	64.4	TTE	Stroke and systemic embolism	14671
Miyasaka, 2000	1996-1997	Japan	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with chronic NVAF	33.2	Cases: 66; controls: 64	67	TTE	Stroke, transient ischemic attack and systemic embolism	173

Miyazaki, 2001	1996-1999	Japan	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	75	66.9	67.0	TOE	Stroke, transient ischemic attack and systemic embolism	264
Moon, 2014	NR	South Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	15	60	75	TTE	Stroke	558
Nakagami, 1998	1987-1995	Japan	Cohort	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF	0	68	60.3	TTE	Stroke	290
Obokota, 2014	2011-2013	Japan	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	58.1	Cases: 79; controls: 72	62.8	STE	Stroke or systemic embolism	285
Ogata, 2017	2007-2014	Japan	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF and previous stroke	62	77.8	55.6	TTE	Recurrent stroke	1611
Okuyama, 2008	2003-2006	Japan	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF and acute stroke	92	70	74	TTE	Recurrent stroke	192
Park, 2012	2007-2010	South Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF who underwent catheter ablation	55.7	56.9	84	СТ	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	88
Sakabe, 2009	NR	Japan	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with paroxysmal NVAF	40	72	52	TTE	Stroke	76
Sakr, 2015	2012-2014	Egypt	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	50	63.7	44	TOE	Ischemic stroke	50
Shen, 2022	2020-2022	China	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF	27.6	71.3	55.5	TTE	Stroke	445

Shih, 2011	2009	Taiwan	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF	29	Stroke: 78; Non- stroke: 75	57.6	STE	Stroke	66
Shin, 2019	2013-2016	South Korea	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF and CHA2DS2-VA score of 0 or 1, with or without previous stroke	0	Cases: 59.8; controls: 51.3	87.8	TTE	Stroke	970
Stoddard, 2003	NR	USA	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	54.8	66	84.3	TTE	Stroke, transient ischemic attack and systemic embolism	261
Stollberger, 1998	1990-1994	Austria & Slovakia	RCT	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	NR	62	64	TTE	Stroke or systemic embolism	409
Takashima, 2012	1994-2007	Japan	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	70.7	67.0	72.9	TOE	Ischemic stroke	490
Tsao, 2016	2012-2013	Taiwan	Comparative cross- sectional	Prospective	Patients with NVAF with or without previous cardioembolic stroke	~64	70.1 for the stroke group and 76.5 for the non- stroke group	NR	СТ	cardioembolic stroke	95
Tsao, 2017	NR	Taiwan	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	8.2	Cases: 69.6; controls: 57.1	Cases: 60.7; controls: 68.1	СТ	Ischemic stroke	97
Vinereanu, 2017	2006-2011	Multinational (44 countries)	RCT	Prospective	Patients with NVAF and at least one CHADS2 risk factor for stroke	100	70	64.4	TTE or TOE	Ischemic stroke	1005

					or systemic embolism						
Wang, 2020	2014-2017	China	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF	10.6	63.9	57	СТ	Cardioembolic stroke	179
Wu, 2019	2011-2017	China	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	NR	Cases: 58.8; controls: 56.6	63.3	СТ	Stroke	655
Xu, 2015	2012-2014	China	Cross- sectional comparative	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	~ 17	67.0	51.2	TOE	Stroke or transient ischemic attack	114
Yan, 2018	2009-2016	China	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF and CHA2DS2- VASc score of 0 (male) or 1 (female)	0	55.1	69.6	TTE	Ischemic stroke and systemic embolism	595
Yang, 2019	2011-2018	China	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with NVAF	NR	65	58.6	TTE	Stroke	314
Yang, 2018	2010-2014	Taiwan	Cross- sectional comparative	Retrospective	Patients with permanent NVAF	25	67.8	68	TTE	Ischemic stroke	252
Yoshida, 1996	NR	Japan	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF and no previous stroke	NR	61.7	76.2	TTE	Stroke	122
Zhao, 2016	2008-2014	China	Cohort	Prospective	Patients with NVAF	NR	54	68	TTE or TOE	Stroke	206

CMR: cardiac magnetic resonance; CT: cardiac computed tomography; NR: not reported; NVAF: non-valvular atrial fibrillation; OAC: anticoagulation; TTE: transthoracic echocardiography; TOE: transoesophageal echocardiography

Author	Selection	Selection	Selection	Selection	Comparability	Outcome	Outcome	Outcome	Final assessment
	1	2	3	4	1	1	2	3	
Affan	1	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Al-Issa	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Azemi	1	1	0	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Bayar	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	Poor quality
Beinart	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Bisbal	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	Fair quality
Burrell	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Di Biase	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Dudziñska- Szczerba	0	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Poor quality
Fukushima	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Gustafsson	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	Poor quality
Inoue	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Jankajova	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Kaneko	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	Fair quality
Kang	0	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Kang	0	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Khurram	1	1	0	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Kim	1	1	0	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Kimura	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Kong	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Kwon	0	0	1	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Lee	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Lee	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Lee	1	0	0	1	2	0	1	1	Fair quality
Lee	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality

Supplementary Table 4. Risk of bias assessment in cross-sectional studies

Mao	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Miyasaka	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Moon	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Nakagami	0	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Okuyama	0	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Park	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Sakabe	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Sakr	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Shen	0	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Shih	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Shin	1	1	0	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Tezuka	1	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	Good quality
Tsao	0	0	1	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Tsao	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Wang	1	0	0	1	2	1	2	1	Fair quality
Wu	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Xu	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Yan	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Yang	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality
Yang	1	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	Fair quality

Assessment done using the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale The SPAFI: The Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators

Author, year of	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 8
publication								
Ahn, 2019	Definitively yes							
Cho, 2021	Definitively yes							
Chu, 2016	Probably yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Probably yes	Probably yes	Probably yes
Hamatani, 2016	Definitively yes							
Hsu, 2016	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes
Huang, 2022	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes
Kamp, 1999	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes
Leung, 1994	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes
Leung, 2018	Definitively yes							
Liao, 2020	Definitively yes							
Miyazaki, 2001	Definitively yes	Probably yes						
Obokata, 2014	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Probably yes
Ogata, 2017	Definitively yes							
Stoddard, 2003	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes
Takashima, 2012	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Probably yes
Yoshida, 1996	Definitively yes	Probably yes						
Zhao, 2016	Definitively yes	Probably yes						

Supplementary Table 5. Risk of bias assessment in cohort studies

Question 1: Was selection of exposed and non-exposed cohorts drawn from the same population?

Question 2: Can we be confident in the assessment of exposure?

Question 3: Can we be confident that the outcome of interest was not present at start of study?

Question 4: Did the study match exposed and unexposed for all variables that are associated with the outcome of interest or did the statistical analysis adjust for these prognostic variables?

Question 5: Can we be confident in the assessment of the presence or absence of prognostic factors?

Question 6: Can we be confident in the assessment of outcome?

Question 7: Was the follow up of cohorts adequate?

Question 8: Were co-interventions similar between groups?

Potential answers: Definitely yes (low risk of bias); Probably yes; Probably no; Definitely no (high risk of bias)

CLARITY group. Tool to Assess Risk of Bias in cohort Studies [Accessed 2022 December 14]. Available from:

https://www.distillersr.com/resources/methodological-resources/tool-to-assess-risk-of-bias-in-cohort-studies-distillersr

Author, year of publication	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Question 3a	Question 3b	Question 3c	Question 3d	Question 3e
Gupta, 2016	Not applicable	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Probably yes	Probably yes
McMurray, 2013	Not applicable	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Probably yes	Probably yes
Stollberger, 1998	Not applicable	Probably yes	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively no	Definitively no	Probably no	Probably no
Vinereanu, 2017	Not applicable	Probably yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Probably yes	Probably yes	Probably yes

Supplementary Table 6. Risk of bias assessment in randomized control trials

Author, year of publication	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6
Gupta, 2016	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes
McMurray, 2013	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes
Stollberger, 1998	Probably yes	Probably yes	Probably yes
Vinereanu, 2017	Definitively yes	Definitively yes	Definitively yes

Question 1: Was the allocation sequence adequately generated?*

Question 2: Was the allocation adequately concealed?

Question 3: Blinding: Was knowledge of the allocated interventions adequately prevented? *

Question 3a: Were patients blinded?

Question 3b: Were healthcare providers blinded?

Question 3c: Were data collectors blinded?

Question 3d: Were outcome assessors blinded?

Question 3e: Were data analysts blinded?

Question 4: Was loss to follow-up (missing outcome data) infrequent?

Question 5: Are reports of the study free of selective outcome reporting?*

Question 6: Was the study apparently free of other problems that could put it at a risk of bias?*

*Option to omit this item

Potential answers: Definitely yes (low risk of bias); Probably yes; Probably no; Definitely no (high risk of bias)

CLARITY group. Tool to Assess Risk of Bias in randomized controlled trials [Accessed 2022 December 14]. Available from: https://www.distillersr.com/resources/methodological-resources/tool-to-assess-risk-of-bias-in-randomized-controlled-trials-distillers

Supplementary Figure 1. Mean differences in left atrial diameter index between AF patients with and without stroke

		St	roke		No st	roke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Leung, 2018	100	23.0	4.0	1261	22.0	4.0		1.0	[0.2; 1.8]	54.2%
rang, 2019	157	22.5	4.2	157	21.1	3.8		1.4	[0.5; 2.3]	45.8%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0.0\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = 3.87$	257 0, p = 0.5 (p = 0.00	148 01)		1418			-2 -1 0 1 2	1.2	[0.6; 1.8]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 2. Mean differences in left atrial volume between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	stroke		Nos	troke						
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD		Mean D	ifference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Beinart, 2011	18	143.1	48.0	126	138.7	38.3				4.4	[-15.2; 24.0]	7.1%
Bisbal, 2016	29	94.9	24.6	29	95.1	31.0			•	-0.2	[-14.6; 14.2]	9.1%
Lee, 2014	138	163.0	53.0	138	143.0	43.0				20.0	[8.6; 31.4]	10.3%
Lee, 2017	85	107.4	32.7	85	96.9	30.1				10.5	[1.1; 19.9]	11.1%
Leung, 2018	100	91.0	35.0	1261	95.0	41.0			+ :	-4.0	[-12.3; 4.3]	11.6%
Moon, 2014	211	79.0	30.0	347	58.0	20.0				21.0	[16.8; 25.2]	12.9%
Park, 2012	17	101.0	20.1	159	79.1	24.3				21.9	[9.9; 33.9]	10.1%
Park, 2012	14	125.9	44.8	74	114.0	24.9		-	-	11.9	[-4.6; 28.4]	8.3%
Sakabe, 2009	26	129.0	34.0	50	96.0	19.0				- 33.0	[21.1;44.9]	10.1%
Yang, 2019	157	168.2	68.1	157	139.4	48.6				- 28.8	[15.7; 41.9]	9.6%
Random effects model	795			2426					\diamond	15.0	[7.4; 22.7]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 81.5\%$, $\tau^2 =$	= 113.862	2, <i>p</i> < 0.00	001				ſ		1	I		
Test for overall effect: z = 3.86	(p = 0.00	01)					-40	-20	0 20 4	40		

Supplementary Figure 3. Mean differences in left atrial volume index between AF patients with and without stroke

		S	Stroke		No s	stroke							
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD		Mean I	Differenc	e	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Azemi, 2012	57	32.3	13.3	57	24.4	11.9					7.9	[3.3; 12.5]	20.1%
Kang, 2016	23	25.3	8.9	138	26.5	9.2		_	+		-1.2	[-5.2; 2.8]	20.8%
Lee, 2008	50	47.0	21.0	280	43.0	19.0			+++-		4.0	[-1.8; 9.8]	18.7%
Shih, 2011	20	75.0	22.0	46	71.0	35.0			-		4.0	[-12.6; 20.6]	7.6%
Yang, 2018	22	51.8	13.7	230	45.9	18.3			+ •	_	5.9	[-2.0; 13.8]	16.0%
Yang, 2019	157	94.8	38.5	157	76.9	25.7			-	•	17.9	[10.7; 25.1]	16.8%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 78.2\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = 2.22$	329 34.7507 (p = 0.02	, p = 0.00(61)	04	908			-20	-10	0 10	20	6.3	[0.8; 11.9]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 4. Mean differences in left atrial sphericity between AF patients with and without stroke

		St	roke		No st	roke								
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD		Me	ean D	ifferend	e	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Bisbal, 2016 Yang, 2019	29 157	82.5 87.5	3.2 7.1	29 157	80.2 82.8	3.2 6.1				-	-	2.3 - 4.7	[0.7; 4.0] [3.2; 6.2]	48.6% 51.4%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 77.5\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = 2.98$	186 2.1956, (p = 0.00	p = 0.034 29)	9	186			-6	-4	-2	0 2		3.5	[1.2; 5.9]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 5. Association of left atrial volume index with stroke

		St	roke		No st	roke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Bisbal, 2016	29	82.5	3.2	29	80.2	3.2		2.3	[0.7; 4.0]	48.6%
Yang, 2019	157	87.5	7.1	157	82.8	6.1		4.7	[3.2; 6.2]	51.4%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 77.5\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = 2.98$ (186 2.1956, j (p = 0.00)	p = 0.0349 29)	9	186				3.5	[1.2; 5.9]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 6. Association of left atrial sphericity with stroke

Study	Cases	Sample	Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Yang, 2018	22	252		1.020	[1.006; 1.035]	36.0%
Yang, 2019	157	314	+	1.010	[1.000; 1.020]	64.0%
Random effects mo	odel		÷ ♦	1.014	[1.004; 1.023]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 19$	%, τ ² < 0.000	1, p = 0.27	I	I		
		0.75	1	1.5		

Supplementary Figure 7. Influencer analysis for the association between left atrial diameter and stroke



Supplementary Figure 8. Influencer analysis for the association between left atrial enlargement and stroke

Study	Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	12
Omitting Hamatani, 2016 Omitting Affan, 2019 Omitting Cho, 2021 (1) Omitting Cho, 2021 (2) Omitting Shin, 2019 Omitting Xu, 2015		2.22 2.40 2.05 2.26 1.84 1.98	[1.41; 3.49] [1.67; 3.43] [1.32; 3.21] [1.46; 3.52] [1.32; 2.55] [1.31; 2.99]	0.88 0.77 0.87 0.87 0.74 0.86
Random effects model	1.5	2.12	[1.45; 3.08]	

Supplementary Figure 9. Influencer analysis for the association between left atrial diameter index and stroke



Supplementary Figure 10. Influencer analysis for the association between left atrial volume and stroke

Study	Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	12
Omitting Lee, 2014 Omitting Moon, 2014 Omitting Park, 2013		1.03 1.04 1.05	[1.01; 1.04] [0.97; 1.12] [1.00; 1.10]	0.34 0.75 0.61
Random effects model	÷ ♦	1.03	[1.01; 1.04]	
0.75	5 1 1.	.5		

Supplementary Figure 11. Mean differences in left atrial ejection fraction between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	Stroke		Nos	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Gupta, 2016	48	40.0	11.8	923	38.0	11.1		2.0	[-1.2; 5.2]	21.3%
Mao, 2020	17	29.8	15.3	99	39.2	15.4		-9.4	[-17.3; -1.5]	18.4%
Park, 2012	17	38.9	8.4	159	51.1	12.2		-12.2	[-18.2; -6.2]	19.8%
Tsao, 2017	28	17.0	12.0	69	36.0	13.0	.	-19.0	[-24.6; -13.4]	20.1%
Yang, 2018	22	23.4	11.2	230	23.9	11.8		-0.4	[-5.6; 4.7]	20.4%
Random effects model	132			1480				-7.6	[-16.0; 0.8]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 92.3\%$, $\tau^2 =$	83.0094	, p < 0.00	01							
Test for overall effect: z = -1.78	B (p = 0.0	743)					-20 -10 0 10 20			

Supplementary Figure 12. Mean differences in left atrial reservoir strain between AF patients with and without stroke

		S	troke		No s	troke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Leung, 2018	100	14.5	10.0	1261	18.9	13.0		-4.4	[-7.0; -1.8]	36.0%
Shih, 2011	20	10.4	4.2	46	15.7	5.1		-5.2	[-7.8; -2.7]	37.0%
Yang, 2018	22	14.1	5.0	230	15.5	7.7		-1.4	[-4.7; 1.9]	27.0%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 41.0\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = -3.63$	142 = 1.4088, 5 (<i>p</i> = 0.0	p = 0.1837 003)	7	1537			-5 0 5	-3.9	[-6.0; -1.8]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 13. Influencer analysis for the association between left atrial reservoir strain and stroke

Study	Hazard Ratio	HR [95% C.I.] I2
Omitting Leung, 2018 Omitting Hsu, 2016 Omitting Shih, 2011 Omitting Liai, 2020		0.89 [0.78; 1.02] 0.75 0.86 [0.71; 1.04] 0.75 0.88 [0.75; 1.03] 0.76 0.81 [0.74; 0.90] 0.00
Random effects model		0.86 [0.76; 0.98]
0.5	0.75 1	1.5

Supplementary Figure 14. Mean differences in left atrial appendage depth between AF patients with and without stroke

		St	roke		Nos	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Beinart, 2011	18	37.6	9.0	126	32.1	8.0		5.5	[1.5; 9.5]	6.4%
Lee, 2014	160	28.0	7.0	200	25.0	5.0		3.0	[1.8; 4.2]	57.5%
Park, 2012	17	43.3	6.6	159	42.5	8.7		0.8	[-3.5; 5.1]	5.7%
Park, 2012	14	45.1	9.7	74	42.8	10.9		2.3	[-3.8; 8.4]	2.8%
Wang, 2020	87	46.1	5.6	92	44.5	7.1	-	1.6	[-0.3; 3.5]	27.5%
Random effects model	296			651			<	2.6	[1.6; 3.7]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 4.2\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = 5.02$	0.0759, p (p < 0.00	0 = 0.3828 01)					-5 0 5			

Supplementary Figure 15. Mean differences in left atrial appendage orifice area between AF patients with and without stroke

		St	roke		No st	roke						
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Ν	Mean Di	ifference	М	D 95%	-CI Weight
Kimura, 2013	30	4.9	2.7	50	4.5	1.7			-	0	4 [-0.5;	1.4] 7.9%
Lee, 2014	138	5.6	2.2	138	4.7	1.7				0	9 [0.4;	1.4] 34.2%
Okuyama, 2008	19	6.5	3.9	173	5.7	3.1				0	8 [-0.7;	2.3] 3.2%
Wang, 2020	87	5.9	1.4	92	4.8	1.1				1	1 [0.7;	1.5] 54.7%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0.0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0\%$	274 0, p = 0.6	220		453				1		1	0 [0.7;	1.2] 100.0%
Test for overall effect: z = 7.01	(p < 0.00	01)					-2 ·	-1 (0 1	2		

Supplementary Figure 16. Mean differences in left atrial appendage volume between AF patients with and without stroke

	s	troke	e No stroke							
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Beinart, 2011	18	22.9	9.6	126	14.5	7.1		8.4	[4.7; 12.1]	8.8%
Bisbal, 2016	29	8.2	3.0	29	9.6	3.9		-1.4	[-3.2; 0.4]	12.6%
Burrell, 2013	48	28.8	13.5	48	21.7	8.3		7.1	[2.6; 11.6]	7.4%
Di Biase, 2012	78	15.0	7.1	854	14.1	6.0		0.9	[-0.5; 2.3]	13.2%
Kimura, 2013	30	15.1	5.2	50	16.7	8.6		-1.6	[-5.0; 1.8]	9.4%
Lee, 2014	138	17.0	8.8	138	12.9	5.4		4.1	[2.4; 5.8]	12.7%
Lee, 2017	85	10.8	4.5	85	9.6	4.1		1.2	[-0.1; 2.5]	13.4%
Park, 2012	17	23.5	3.5	159	21.0	5.2		2.5	[0.0; 5.0]	11.1%
Park, 2012	14	23.9	4.0	74	25.1	4.3		-1.2	[-3.6; 1.2]	11.3%
Random effects model	457			1563				1.9	[0.1; 3.6]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 83.2\%$, $\tau^2 =$	5.4599,	p < 0.0001	1							
Test for overall effect: z = 2.12	(p = 0.03	40)					-10 -5 0 5 10			

Supplementary Figure 17. Mean differences in left atrial appendage length between AF patients with and without stroke

		Stroke			No stroke					
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Khurram, 2013	65	50.6	11.7	613	56.1	11.7		-5.5	[-8.5; -2.5]	49.4%
Kong, 2014	26	34.2	5.2	193	35.3	7.1		-1.1	[-3.9; 1.7]	50.6%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 77.4\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = -1.4\%$	91 = 7.5631, 8 (p = 0.1	p = 0.0353 399)	3	806			-5 0 5	-3.3	[-7.6; 1.1]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 18. Mean differences in left atrial appendage orifice diameter between AF patients with and without stroke

		St	roke		No st	roke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Al-Issa, 2016	18	19.0	5.0	18	22.0	5.0		-3.0	[-6.3; 0.3]	15.0%
Khuram, 2013	65	22.6	5.2	613	27.8	7.1		-5.2	[-7.0; -3.4]	17.0%
Kong, 2014	26	26.6	3.6	193	25.0	4.9		1.7	[-0.3; 3.6]	16.8%
Lee. 2017	85	26.9	1.6	85	21.7	4.8		5.2	[4.1; 6.3]	17.7%
Sakr, 2015	26	21.7	3.9	24	19.4	5.8		2.3	[-0.4; 5.0]	15.8%
Wang, 2020	87	21.8	3.2	92	19.3	3.3		2.5	[1.5; 3.5]	17.8%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 95.3\%$, $\tau^2 =$	307 13.3348	, p < 0.00	01	1025				0.7	[-2.4; 3.7]	100.0%
Test for overall effect: z = 0.43	(p = 0.66	48)					-6 -4 -2 0 2 4 6			

Supplementary Figure 19. Influencer analysis for the association between left atrial appendage orifice diameter and stroke

Study	C	Odds Ratio	•	OR	[95% C.I.]	12
Omitting Sakr, 2015 Omitting Lee. 2017 Omitting Kong, 2014 Omitting Huang, 2022			-	1.69 1.47 1.71 1.39	[1.18; 2.40] [1.06; 2.03] [1.22; 2.39] [1.11; 1.74]	0.81 0.76 0.74 0.57
Random effects model]	1.56	[1.18; 2.05]	
0.75	1	1.5	4			

Supplementary Figure 20. Influencer analysis for the association between non-chicken wing left atrial appendage morphology and stroke

Study		C	Odds Ra	tio	OR	[95% C.I.]	12
Omitting Di Biase, 2012 Omitting Kimura, 2013 Omitting Kong, 2014 Omitting Wu, 2019 Omitting Lee, 2017 Omitting Huang, 2022	2	+		 	2.05 2.03 1.87 2.68 1.91 2.57	[0.92; 4.59] [0.94; 4.34] [0.95; 3.69] [1.43; 5.03] [0.94; 3.91] [1.18; 5.60]	0.80 0.86 0.85 0.86 0.85 0.83
Random effects mode	el 0.5			>	2.15 10	[1.11; 4.18]	

Supplementary Figure 21. Mean differences in left atrial appendage ejection fraction between AF patients with and without stroke

		S	Stroke		No s	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Jankajova, 2019	22	24.7	10.7	58	28.2	13.1		-3.6	[-9.7; 2.6]	20.6%
Mao, 2020	17	53.0	15.5	99	56.4	18.1		-3.4	[-12.6; 5.7]	16.9%
Park, 2012	17	50.0	11.0	159	65.7	13.4		-15.7	[-22.3; -9.1]	20.0%
Tsao, 2017	28	23.0	15.0	69	48.0	18.0		-25.0	[-32.6; -17.4]	18.8%
Wang, 2020	87	36.2	10.5	92	45.2	10.1	-	-9.0	[-12.1; -6.0]	23.7%
Random effects model	171			477				-11.3	[-17.9; -4.7]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 83.7\%$, $\tau^2 =$	46.1906	, p < 0.000	01							
Test for overall effect: z = -3.33	3 (p = 0.0	009)					-30 -20 -10 0 10 20 30			

Supplementary Figure 22. Mean differences in left atrial appendage filling velocity between AF patients with and without stroke

		S	Stroke		No s	stroke					
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Di	fference	M	95%-CI	Weight
Kim, 2019	231	44.0	20.9	2570	49.8	23.0			-5.	3 [-8.9; -2.7]	73.4%
Sakr, 2015	26	21.7	11.3	24	31.2	9.5			-9.	5 [-15.3; -3.7]	26.6%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 16.9\%$, $\tau^2 =$	257 1.1439,	p = 0.272	7	2594				1	-6.	8 [-10.0; -3.6]	100.0%
Test for overall effect: $z = -4.18$	B (p < 0.0	001)					-15 -10 -5 0) 5 1	10 15		

Supplementary Figure 23. Mean differences in left atrial appendage emptying velocity between AF patients with and without stroke

		S	Stroke		Nos	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Kim, 2019	231	42.7	19.7	2570	48.3	21.9	÷=	-5.5	[-8.5; -2.6]	34.5%
Lee, 2017	85	39.0	3.7	85	49.0	4.8	+	-10.0	[-11.3; -8.7]	45.6%
Miyazaki, 2001	7	22.0	12.0	81	32.0	20.0		-10.0	[-25.1; 5.1]	3.9%
Sakr, 2015	26	22.2	9.7	24	33.4	13.4		-11.2	[-17.6; -4.8]	15.9%
Random effects model	349			2760				-8.7	[-11.8; -5.5]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 61.5\%$, $\tau^2 =$	5.1409,	p = 0.050	5							
Test for overall effect: $z = -5.4$	3 (p < 0.0	001)					-20 -10 0 10 20			

Supplementary Figure 24. Mean differences in left atrial appendage average flow velocity between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	stroke		Nos	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C l	Weight
Kim, 2019	231	43.3	19.3	2570	49.0	21.4		-5.7	[-8.5; -2.8]	90.6%
Kimura, 2013	30	51.0	20.4	50	52.6	19.0		-1.6	[-10.4; 7.2]	9.4%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0.0\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = -3.8\%$	261 0, p = 0.3 3 (p = 0.0	882 001)		2620			-10 -5 0 5 10	-5.3	[-8.0; -2.6]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 25. Mean differences in left atrial appendage orifice diameter between AF patients with and without stroke

		St	roke	No stroke						
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Al-Issa, 2016	18	19.0	5.0	18	22.0	5.0		-3.0	[-6.3; 0.3]	15.0%
Khuram, 2013	65	22.6	5.2	613	27.8	7.1		-5.2	[-7.0; -3.4]	17.0%
Kong, 2014	26	26.6	3.6	193	25.0	4.9	+ <u>+</u> • • •	1.7	[-0.3; 3.6]	16.8%
Lee. 2017	85	26.9	1.6	85	21.7	4.8		5.2	[4.1; 6.3]	17.7%
Sakr, 2015	26	21.7	3.9	24	19.4	5.8		2.3	[-0.4; 5.0]	15.8%
Wang, 2020	87	21.8	3.2	92	19.3	3.3	-	2.5	[1.5; 3.5]	17.8%
Random effects model	307			1025				0.7	[-2.4; 3.7]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 95.3\%$, $\tau^2 =$	= 13.3348	, p < 0.00	01							
Test for overall effect: z = 0.43	(p = 0.66)	48)					-6 -4 -2 0 2 4 6			

Supplementary Figure 26. Mean differences in interventricular wall tickness between AF patients with and without stroke

		St	roke		No st	roke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -CI	Weight
Leung, 2018	100	13.0	3.0	1261	12.0	3.0		1.0	[0.4; 1.6]	32.7%
Obokota, 2014	82	11.0	2.0	203	10.0	2.0		1.0	0.5; 1.5]	46.4%
Yoshida, 1996	18	10.2	1.7	104	9.2	1.5		1.0	[0.2; 1.8]	20.8%
Random effects model	200			1568				1.0	[0.7; 1.3]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0.0\%$, $\tau^2 =$	0, p = 1.0	0000								
Test for overall effect: $z = 5.61$ ($p < 0.0001$)							-1.5 -1 -0.5 0 0.5 1 1.5			

Supplementary Figure 27. Mean differences in left ventricular mass index between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	Stroke		No s	troke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Azemi, 2012	57	106.0	44.0	57	94.0	34.0		12.0	[-2.4; 26.4]	7.2%
Gupta, 2016	48	68.0	22.2	923	59.0	5.9	-+-	9.0	[6.8; 11.2]	42.5%
Kang, 2016	23	97.2	25.0	138	91.0	24.4		6.2	[-4.6; 17.0]	11.5%
Lee, 2008	50	103.0	26.0	280	100.0	23.0		3.0	[-4.1; 10.1]	20.4%
Obokota, 2014	82	111.0	33.0	203	111.0	29.0		0.0	[-7.7; 7.7]	18.3%
Random effects model	260	n = 0.124	0	1601				6.0	[1.8; 10.2]	100.0%
Test for overall effect: $z = 2.81$	(p = 0.00)	p – 0.1248 50)	D			-20 -10 0 10 20				

Supplementary Figure 28. Mean differences in left ventricular end-diastolic volume between AF patients with and without stroke

		S	Stroke		Nos	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Lee, 2008	50	88.0	35.0	280	86.0	29.0		2.0	[-7.0; 11.0]	24.5%
Leung, 2018	100	103.0	34.1	1261	114.0	40.7		-11.0	[-19.2; -2.8]	25.9%
Obokota, 2014	82	56.0	28.0	203	72.0	28.0		-16.0	[-23.2; -8.8]	27.7%
Sakabe, 2009	26	67.0	15.0	50	81.0	25.0		-14.0	[-24.5; -3.5]	22.0%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 70.2\%$, $\tau^2 =$	258 45.1953	, p = 0.018	80	1794				-9.9	[-17.8; -2.0]	100.0%
Test for overall effect: $z = -2.45$	143)					-20 -10 0 10 20				

Supplementary Figure 29. Mean differences in left ventricular end-diastolic diameter between AF patients with and without stroke

		S	troke		No st	roke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-Cl	Weight
Bayar, 2015	31	49.3	7.0	59	46.0	4.4		3.3	[0.9; 5.7]	8.3%
Kaneko, 2003	16	44.0	7.0	14	45.0	8.0		-1.0	[-6.4; 4.4]	2.1%
Kang, 2016	23	49.7	4.7	138	50.3	3.9		-0.6	[-2.4; 1.2]	11.9%
Leung, 2018	100	49.0	9.0	1261	50.0	8.0		-1.0	[-2.6; 0.6]	13.0%
Miyazaki, 2001	7	52.0	10.0	81	52.0	7.0		0.0	[-5.6; 5.6]	2.0%
Moon, 2014	211	50.0	5.0	347	50.0	4.0		0.0	[-0.8; 0.8]	22.4%
Sakabe, 2009	26	47.0	5.0	50	49.0	5.0		-2.0	[-4.4; 0.4]	8.3%
Wu, 2019	86	48.4	3.3	569	47.9	4.8		0.5	[-0.6; 1.6]	18.9%
Yan, 2018	68	51.3	8.6	527	49.4	8.4		1.9	[-0.2; 4.0]	9.6%
Yoshida, 1996	18	52.8	10.2	104	51.6	7.7		1.2	[-2.9; 5.3]	3.5%
Random effects model	586			3150				0.2	[-0.6; 1.0]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 44.4\%$, $\tau^2 =$	= 0.6221,	p = 0.063	1							
Test for overall effect: $z = 0.49$ ($p = 0.6214$)							-6 -4 -2 0 2 4 6			

Supplementary Figure 30. Mean differences in left ventricular end-systolic diameter between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	stroke		No s	troke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Bayar, 2015	31	32.9	8.9	59	29.6	6.4		3.3	[0.1; 6.5]	19.2%
Kang, 2016	23	32.1	4.1	138	32.7	3.7		-0.6	[-2.3; 1.1]	34.6%
Leung, 2018	100	33.0	11.0	1261	34.0	10.0		-1.0	[-3.1; 1.1]	29.9%
Yoshida, 1996	18	37.2	8.3	104	35.5	7.1		1.7	[-1.9; 5.3]	16.2%
Random effects model	172			1562				0.4	[-1.4; 2.2]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 52.8\%$, $\tau^2 =$	1.7061,	p = 0.0958	3							
Test for overall effect: z = 0.44	(p = 0.65	96)					-6 -4 -2 0 2 4 6			

Supplementary Figure 31. Mean differences in left ventricular end-diastolic volume index between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	stroke		Nos	troke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Shih, 2011 Yang, 2018	20 22	36.0 43.2	13.0 13.1	46 230	33.0 40.9	8.0 16.8		3.0 2.3	[–2.1; 8.1] [–4.9; 9.5]	66.4% 33.6%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0.0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$	42 0, <i>p</i> = 0.8	697		276				2.8	[-1.4; 6.9]	100.0%
Test for overall effect: z = 1.29	(p = 0.19	64)					-5 0 5			

Supplementary Figure 32. Mean differences in left ventricular end-systolic volume index between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	troke		Nos	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Shih, 2011	20	16.0	10.0	46	13.0	7.0		3.0	[-1.2; 7.2]	64.0%
fang, 2016	22	20.2	10.5	230	19.0	13.0		1.1	[-4.5; 6.7]	36.0%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $J^2 = 0.0\%$ $\tau^2 = 0.0\%$	42	027		276				2.3	[-1.0; 5.7]	100.0%
Test for overall effect: $z = 1.36$ ($p = 0.1745$)							-6 -4 -2 0 2 4 6			
Supplementary Figure 33. Mean differences in left ventricular end-systolic volume between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	troke		No s	troke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -C I	Weight
Lee, 2008	50 100	38.0 43.0	19.0 21 5	280 1261	37.0 51.0	16.0 25.2		1.0 -8.0	[-4.0; 6.0] [-13 1: -2 9]	50.2% 49.8%
Random effects model	150	40.0	21.0	1541	01.0	20.2		-3.5	[-12.3: 5.3]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 83.8\%$, $\tau^2 =$ Test for overall effect: $z = -0.77$	33.9389 7 (p = 0.4	, p = 0.013 390)	30				-10 -5 0 5 10		[,]	,0

Supplementary Figure 34. Association of left ventricular mass index with stroke

Study	Cases	Sample	Odds R	Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Chu, 2016 Yang, 2018	15 22	190 252	+		1.011 1.007	[1.005; 1.017] [0.998; 1.016]	71.3% 28.7%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, τ^2	= 0, p =	0.48 [[] 0.9	95 1	÷ 1	1.010 .05	[1.005; 1.015]	100.0%

Supplementary Figure 35. Mean differences in left ventricular ejection fraction between AF patients with and without stroke

		s	stroke		Nos	stroke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Ahn, 2019	47	57.7	4.5	190	58.9	7.7		-1.2	[-3.5; 1.1]	3.5%
Al-Issa, 2016	18	61.7	10.5	18	59.1	11.0		- 2.6	[-4.4; 9.6]	0.7%
Azemi, 2012	57	61.0	9.0	57	65.0	7.0		-4.0	[-7.0; -1.0]	2.6%
Bayar, 2015	31	60.0	3.7	59	62.0	3.7		-2.0	[-3.6; -0.4]	4.6%
Beinart, 2011	18	61.6	9.3	126	64.4	8.7		-2.8	[-7.1; 1.5]	1.5%
Bisbal, 2016	29	56.8	10.6	29	59.2	5.0		-2.4	[-6.7; 1.9]	1.6%
Di Biase, 2012	78	60.0	7.0	854	58.0	8.0		2.0	[0.2; 3.8]	4.2%
Gupta, 2016	48	59.0	3.0	923	59.0	5.9		0.0	[-1.7; 1.7]	4.5%
Inoue, 2019	58	59.0	12.0	89	56.0	12.0		3.0	[-1.0; 7.0]	1.8%
Jankajova, 2019	22	45.0	14.7	58	43.8	12.8		1.2	[-5.3; 7.8]	0.8%
Khurram, 2013	65	57.4	7.8	613	56.6	8.4		0.8	[-1.3; 2.9]	3.7%
Kim, 2019	231	53.8	6.6	2570	54.9	6.0	-	-1.1	[-1.9; -0.2]	6.1%
Kwon, 2021	44	57.2	10.7	220	55.0	9.3		2.2	[-0.9; 5.3]	2.5%
Lee, 2008	50	61.0	11.0	280	60.0	9.0		1.0	[-1.8; 3.8]	2.8%
Lee, 2014	138	62.8	11.0	138	63.3	7.8		-0.5	[-2.7; 1.7]	3.5%
Lee, 2017	85	55.7	4.7	85	55.7	5.6		0.0	[-1.6; 1.6]	4.7%
Leung, 2018	100	55.0	15.6	1261	54.0	13.3		1.0	[-1.7; 3.7]	2.9%
Mao, 2020	17	61.1	6.3	99	65.2	8.6		-4.2	[-8.4; 0.1]	1.6%
Moon, 2014	211	63.0	10.0	347	64.0	7.0		-1.0	[-2.4; 0.4]	5.0%
Obokota, 2014	82	55.0	12.0	203	54.0	11.0		1.0	[-1.9; 3.9]	2.7%
Park, 2012	17	56.7	5.0	159	56.0	5.4		0.7	[-2.0; 3.4]	3.0%
Park, 2012	14	53.9	9.7	74	52.8	6.6		1.1	[-3.0; 5.2]	1.7%
Sakabe, 2009	26	66.0	6.0	50	64.0	6.0		2.0	[-0.8; 4.8]	2.8%
Sakr, 2015	26	52.0	5.2	24	55.0	4.9		-3.0	[-5.8; -0.2]	2.8%
Shen, 2022	136	56.8	5.0	309	59.1	6.8		-2.3	[-3.6; -1.0]	5.3%
Shin, 2019	462	59.0	11.0	508	62.5	7.5		-3.5	[-4.7; -2.3]	5.4%
Tsao, 2017	28	63.0	11.0	69	66.0	12.0		-3.0	[-8.1; 2.1]	1.2%
Wu, 2019	86	61.1	6.8	569	62.5	6.7		-1.4	[-2.9; 0.1]	4.8%
Yan, 2018	68	59.3	5.8	527	61.5	6.6		-2.2	[-3.8; -0.6]	4.6%
Yang, 2018	22	54.7	11.5	230	55.5	12.8		-0.7	[-6.3; 4.8]	1.0%
Yang, 2019	157	60.3	6.9	157	61.3	3.8		-1.0	[-2.2; 0.2]	5.3%
Yoshida, 1996	18	62.1	11.9	104	64.0	12.1		-1.9	[-7.9; 4.1]	0.9%
Random effects model	2489			10999				-0.8	[-1.4; -0.2]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 57.6\%$, $\tau^2 =$	= 1.4329,	p < 0.000°	1							
Test for overall effect: $z = -2.4$	6 (p = 0.0	140)					-5 0 5			

Supplementary Figure 36. Mean differences in E/e' ratio between AF patients with and without stroke

		St	roke		No st	roke				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95% -CI	Weight
Ahn, 2019	47	10.8	3.7	190	10.5	5.2		0.3	[-1.3; 1.9]	8.7%
Kang, 2016	23	11.6	3.9	138	9.5	3.8		2.1	[0.4; 3.8]	8.2%
Kim, 2019	231	10.0	4.2	2570	8.7	3.3		1.3	[0.9; 1.8]	14.7%
Lee, 2008	50	13.5	5.1	280	11.3	4.3		2.2	[0.9; 3.5]	10.0%
Lee, 2014	67	12.6	4.6	151	9.9	4.1	· · · ·	2.7	[1.5; 3.9]	10.6%
Lee, 2017	85	12.6	2.3	85	10.5	1.6		2.1	[1.5; 2.7]	14.1%
Moon, 2014	211	14.0	6.0	347	10.0	4.0		4.0	[3.2; 4.8]	12.8%
Obokota, 2014	82	17.3	7.1	203	15.2	6.6		2.1	[0.4; 3.8]	8.0%
Shih, 2011	20	15.2	4.6	46	12.4	4.7		2.8	[0.3; 5.3]	5.4%
Yang, 2018	22	12.7	4.9	230	10.2	4.2		2.5	[0.7; 4.4]	7.4%
Random effects model	838			4240				2.2	[1.5; 2.9]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 75.8\%$, $\tau^2 =$	= 0.8112,	p < 0.000	1							
Test for overall effect: $z = 6.21$	(p < 0.00	01)					-4 -2 0 2 4			

CHAPTER 5:

Carotid and aortic atherosclerotic disease and stroke risk

stratification in patients with atrial fibrillation

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Meta-Analysis Comparing the Frequency of Carotid Artery Stenosis in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Vice Versa
Publication Status	 Published Accepted for publication Submitted for publication Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ , Agbaedeng TA, Tochie JN, Nkeck JR, Ndoadoumgue AL, Fitzgerald JL, Kleinig T, Thomas G, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Meta- Analysis Comparing the Frequency of Carotid Artery Stenosis in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Vice Versa. <u><i>Am J Cardiol</i></u> . 2021 Jan 1;138:72-79.

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	lean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale				
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, literature search, data collection, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision				
Overall percentage (%)	50%				
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.				
Signature		Date	3/12/2022		

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Thomas A. Agbaedeng				
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision (10%)				
Signature		Date	3/12/2022		

Name of Co-Author	Joel N. Tochie					
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, manuscript revision (Data collection, manuscript revision (5%)				
Signature		Date	3/12/2022			

Name of Co-Author	Jan Rene Nkeck				
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, manuscript revision (5%)				
Signature		Date	3/13/2022		

Name of Co-Author	Aude Laetitia Ndoadoumgue				
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, manuscript revision (5%)				
Signature		Date	3/13/2022		

Name of Co-Author	John L. Fitzgerald				
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, manuscript revision (5%)				
Signature	Ĩ	Date	3/13/2022		

Name of Co-Author	Tim Kleinig		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Gijo Thomas		
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature	~	Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorj	р		
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manuscrij	pt revision (5%))	
Signature	-		Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders		
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manuscript revision (5%)		
	,		
Signature		Date	3/4/2023

Publication 2

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Stroke risk associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review.
	⊠ Published
Publication Status	\Box Accepted for publication \Box
	□] Submitted for publication
	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ , Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Fitzgerald JL, Sanders P. Stroke risk associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review. <u>J Neurol Sci</u> . 2021 Jun 15;425:117444.

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale			
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, bibliographic searches, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision			
Overall percentage (%)	65%			
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.			
Signature		Date	3/12/2022	

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Joseph Kamtchum-Tatuene		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, manuscript revision (20%)		
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	John L. Fitzgerald		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, manuscript revision (10%)		
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Publication 3

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	High-risk carotid plaques and incident stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation in the Cardiovascular Health Study			
Publication Status	 □ Published □ Accepted for publication □ Submitted for publication 			
	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style			
Publication Details	Sanders P. High-risk carotid plaques and incident stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation in the Cardiovascular Health Study			

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale			
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, access to data, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision			
Overall percentage (%)	50%			
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.			
Signature		Date	3/12/2022	

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Gijo Thomas		
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript revision (20%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Joseph Kamtchum-Tatuene		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, access to data, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript revision (15%)		
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp					
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)					
Signature			Date	3/22/2022		
	V			·		

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders
Contribution to the Paper	Access to data, manuscript revision (10%)
Signature	Date 3/12/2022

Overview

This chapter explores the contributions of carotid and aortic atherosclerotic disease to stroke risk stratification in patients with AF. It is divided into three sections. The first section is a systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to summarize data on the prevalence of carotid stenosis in patients with AF, and of AF in patients with carotid stenosis or carotid plaques. The second section the evidence on the risk of thromboembolism associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patients with AF, and the impact of their inclusion in current stroke risk stratification scores. The third section is a prospective cohort study that investigates 1) the prevalence of occlusive and non-occlusive carotid disease in patients with AF; 2) the distribution of non-occlusive carotid disease and high-risk features (plaque irregularity, ulceration, and echolucency) in patients with AF; 3) the risk of stroke associated with occlusive and non-occlusive carotid disease in patients with AF; 4) and the potential added value of high-risk carotid plaques on stroke risk stratification compared to the classical CHA₂DS₂-VASc score.

5.1 Meta-analysis comparing the frequency of carotid artery stenosis in patients with atrial fibrillation and vice versa

5.1.1 Introduction

Ischemic stroke is the fourth leading cause of death globally, accounting for about 5% of all deaths in 2017.³⁸³ Atrial fibrillation (AF) and carotid stenosis (CS) are major causes of ischemic stroke. Atrial fibrillation is associated with up to a third of all ischemic strokes.^{167, 401} Carotid stenosis accounted for 11.5% of ischemic stroke in one study in the US.⁴⁹² The coexistence of AF and CS is associated with a much higher risk of stroke than what is attributed by each condition alone. For instance, CS doubles the risk of stroke recurrence and is also a predictor of death in AF patients despite anticoagulation.⁴⁹³ It was shown that ischemic stroke in AF patients is not always cardioembolic.⁴⁹⁴ Indeed, severe CS was reported to account for a fourth of ischemic strokes in AF patients, and to be associated with larger cortical infarction, hemorrhagic transformation and worse clinical outcome.⁴⁹⁴ This systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to summarize data on the prevalence of CS in AF patients, and of AF in patients with CS or carotid plaques (CP).

5.1.2 Methods

PubMed/MEDLINE, Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE) and Web of Science were searched to identify all studies reporting primary data of the prevalence of CS in AF patients, and of AF in patients with CS or CP, published until February 27, 2020, irrespective of the language. The search strategy was built based on the combination of relevant terms including "carotid artery stenosis", "atrial fibrillation" and their bibliographic synonyms (**Supplementary Table 1**). Furthermore, the reference list of eligible articles and relevant reviews were examined to identify potential additional data sources.

We included cohort or cross-sectional studies, reporting on the prevalence of CS in AF patients, and of AF in patients with CS or CP, or enough data to compute these estimates. We excluded articles that did not include primary data, such as editorials, case reports, and reviews. For studies reporting data from the same primary study or registry (duplicates), we included the single most comprehensive reporting the largest sample size

Two investigators (JJN and TAA) independently screened records for eligibility based on titles and abstracts. Full texts of articles deemed potentially eligible were retrieved and screened by the same investigators for final inclusion. Selection discrepancies were solved through discussion and consensus.

Data were extracted using a standardized data abstraction form. Three investigators (JRN, ALN, and JNT) independently extracted data including: name of the first author, year of publication, study design, period of recruitments of participants, country of recruitment, proportion of participants with various cardiovascular risk factors including hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, obesity, smoking, proportion of males, mean or median age, type of carotid disease (CS, carotid occlusive disease, CP), diagnostic cut-offs (\geq 50% or \geq 70% stenosis for instance), method used to diagnosed carotid artery disease, any carotid procedure done (carotid artery stenting [CAS] or endarterectomy [CEA]) in case participants were included on this basis, presence or absence of symptomatic disease, total sample size of either participants with AF or CS, number of cases of AF or CS/CP. CP was defined as non-stenotic carotid atherosclerosis; details on diagnostic criteria are reported in the appendix (**Supplementary Table 2**). Data were collected to compute subgroup analysis according to geographic region (Europe, Asia, Northern America), carotid procedure (carotid artery stenting or carotid artery endarterectomy), presence of symptoms or not and diagnostic cut-off. One investigator (JJN) crosschecked all the data.

We used an adapted version of the tool developed by Hoy et al. to assess the risk of bias in included studies ³⁸⁶. Three investigators (JRN, ALN, and JNT) independently ran and then crosschecked the assessment. Discrepancies were discussed and resolved through consensus.

All analyses were conducted using the R statistical software (version 3.5.03, The R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria). We performed random-effects metaanalysis of proportion using the inverse variance model. Heterogeneity was assessed by the χ^2 test on Cochrane's Q statistic, which was quantified by I² values, assuming I² values of 25, 50 and 75% respectively representing low, medium and high heterogeneity ³⁸⁸. Heterogeneity across studies was further explored using the mixed-effects multiple meta-regression model. Publication year, recruitment period (1990-1999, 2000-2009, and 2010-2019), region, and study design were fitted as moderators in the meta-regression model. The influence of each study on the overall estimates and heterogeneity was assessed through *Leave-One-Out* influencer analysis model. We assessed small-study effect by funnel plots and tests of funnel plot asymmetry. We identified statistical significance using a two-tailed p-value of ≤ 0.05 .

5.1.3 Results

In total, we identified 6202 records among which 46 articles were finally included,⁴⁹³⁻⁵³⁸ providing data for 48 studies (**Figure 1**). Of the included studies, 20 reported on the prevalence of carotid disease from a pooled population of 49,070 AF patients.^{493, 494, 523-538} Studies were conducted between 1990 and 2017, most of them being cross-sectional (45%) and cohort (45%), hospital-based (85%); and predominantly came from the U.S. (30%). Six (30%) and 11 (55%) had a low and moderate risk of bias, respectively. General and individual characteristics of included studies are presented in **Supplementary Tables 3-6**.

A total of 11 studies reported on the prevalence of CS in a pooled sample of 3919 AF patients. The pooled prevalence of CS was 12.4%, ranging from 4.4% to 24.3% (**Figure 2**). In AF patients with a previous cerebrovascular event (transient ischemic stroke or ischemic stroke), the pooled prevalence of CS was 13.5%, ranging from 5.5% to 24.3%, compared to a pooled prevalence of 10.5%, ranging from 4.4% to 20.9%, in AF patients with no history of cerebrovascular event (**Table 1**). However, the difference was not significant (p = 0.411). Most studies (9 out 10) used a diagnostic cut-off of \geq 50% stenosis, and in those studies the pooled prevalence of CS was 13.9%. In the sole study using a diagnosis cut-off of \geq 70% stenosis, the prevalence was 5.8% (**Table 1**).

Ten studies reported on the prevalence of CP in AF patients, with rates ranging from 16.6% to 71.0% (**Figure 3**). The pooled prevalence was 48.4%.

We performed funnel plot analysis to assess whether there was any selective publication of large studies. We found no statistical evidence of publication bias in the CS analysis (p = 0.150, **Supplementary Figure 1**) nor in the analysis of CP (p = 0.304, Supplementary Figure 2). Given the high level of heterogeneity in the pooled prevalence rates, we next investigated the contribution of each study to the overall heterogeneity. No study markedly reduced the overall heterogeneity when its estimate was removed from the overall analysis (**Supplementary Figures 3 and 4**).

Four studies reported on the prevalence of either carotid occlusion or carotid occlusive disease in AF patients, and were not eligible for the meta-analysis.^{494, 524, 537, 538} Following an acute ischemic stroke in AF patients, a complete carotid occlusion (100% stenosis) was found in 11 (8 ipsilateral and 3 contralateral to the infarct) out of 103 AF patients, giving a frequency of 10.7%.⁴⁹⁴ In another study, 37 out of 221 (16.7%) AF patients had an occluded internal carotid artery. ⁵²⁴ Two studies reported carotid occlusion in AF, with 221 and 103 patients evaluated. In the GARFIELD-AF and ROCKET-AF registries, the prevalence of

carotid occlusive disease (no specific threshold of stenosis) was 2.4% (95% CI 2.2-2.6; n = 24,436) and 4.2% (95% CI 3.8-4.5; n = 14,263), respectively.^{537, 538}

Of the included studies, 28 reported on the prevalence of AF from a pooled population of 2,288,265 patients with carotid disease. ⁴⁹⁵⁻⁵²² Studies were conducted between 1990 and 2018, most of them being cohort (64.3%), hospital-based (96.4%); and predominantly came from the U.S. (35.7%). Nine (32.1%) and 18 (64.3%) had a low and moderate risk of bias, respectively. General and individual characteristics of included studies are presented in **Supplementary Tables 3-6**.

A total of 25 studies reported on the prevalence of AF in a pooled population of 2,286,518 patients with CS. The pooled prevalence of AF was 9.3%, ranging from 3.6% to 10.0% (**Figure 4**). There was no difference (p = 0.137) between patients with CS and a previous cerebrovascular event (pooled prevalence 11.7%) and those without prior history of cerebrovascular event (pooled prevalence 12.2%) (**Table 2**). The pooled prevalence of AF in patients with CS undergoing CAS was almost double that in those undergoing CEA (p < 0.001, Table 2). The pooled prevalence of AF was almost 3% higher, but not significantly (p = 0.277), in studies with a diagnostic cutoff of \geq 50% for CS compared to those in which a cutoff of \geq 70% was used (**Table 2**).

We performed funnel plot analysis to assess publication bias in AF prevalence rate analyses. There was no evidence of publication bias in the analysis (p > 0.05, **Supplementary Figure 5**). Investigation of potential source of heterogeneity did not reveal any study that markedly reduced the overall heterogeneity when its estimate was removed (**Supplementary Figure 6**). Additionally, meta-regression was performed to assess the effects of publication year, recruitment period, study region, and study design on AF prevalence in patients with CS. The meta-regression model explained 56.2% AF prevalence rates estimation (p < .001). More recent publication years and recruitment periods significantly predicted higher AF prevalence (p <.001 for both). On the other hand, the region that the primary study was conducted and study design were not significantly associated with AF prevalence rates (p >.05).

Three studies reporting on the prevalence of AF in various populations with carotid disease were not eligible for meta-analysis due to non-reconcilable diagnostic cut-offs ^{510, 514, 516}. One of them reported an AF prevalence of 35.3% (95% CI 27.7-43.4; n = 153) in patients who had a stroke due to internal carotid occlusion ⁵¹⁰. In the Bruneck study in Italy, the prevalence of AF was 3.5% (95% CI 2.4-4.9; n = 923) in patients with CP ⁵¹⁶, compared to 13.1% (95% CI 10.6-15.9, n = 671) in a similar population in Israel ⁵¹⁴.

5.1.4 Discussion

According to recent data, carotid stenosis doubles the risk of stroke in AF patients, after adjustment for classical clinical risk factors and antithrombotic therapy (8.1 vs. 3.6 events/100 follow-up years; p = 0.005).⁴⁹³ Our study suggests that about 12% of patients with AF have significant CS (\geq 50%), with prevalence rates reaching about 25% in some settings. This means that, considering the significant prevalence of CS in AF patients, along with its high attributed stroke risk, CS should be a major component of stroke risk stratification in the AF population. In fact, most stroke risk stratification schemes have shown modest performance in predicting thromboembolism in real-world settings, with C-statistics between 0.60 and 0.65.²⁵³ One of the reasons for this limited performance is that these stroke risk stratification tools do not appropriately take into account competing causes of stroke such as carotid or intracranial arterial stenosis. ²⁶¹ For instance, the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, which is the most commonly used stroke risk stratification tool, allocates one point (over a total of nine points) to vascular disease, an umbrella risk component including prior myocardial infarction, peripheral artery disease, and aortic plaque.²⁵³ Indeed, this score, which was released about

ten years ago, does not take into account carotid disease. Future stroke risk stratification scores in AF patients should integrate carotid disease.

Atrial fibrillation and atherosclerosis have similar risk factors including obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, diabetes and age, amongst others. This explains why carotid atherosclerosis is very common in AF patients. While significant CS (\geq 50%) is a well-recognized risk factor for stroke, plaques that do not significantly occlude the carotid lumen have been long neglected. ^{492, 539} We found that about half of AF patients had CP. None of the studies included in this subgroup analysis reported on high-risk CP. High-risk imaging features of CP such as echolucency, lipid-rich necrotic core, intraplaque hemorrhage, or ulcerations are associated with an increased risk of ipsilateral embolic stroke in non-stenotic carotid disease. In a recent study we have shown that high-risk plaques are common in asymptomatic CS and are associated with a significant risk of cerebrovascular events.⁵⁴⁰ Similarly, in the Athens Stroke Registry, non-stenotic atherosclerotic plaques with ulceration represent ~15% of potential causes of embolic stroke of undetermined source.⁵⁴¹ These findings together with the high frequency of CP in AF patients call for an investigation of the risk of stroke conferred by high-risk CP in the AF population. Such information might be very useful in refining risk stratification for predicting thromboembolism in AF.

From a therapeutic perspective, it is uncertain whether AF patients with concomitant CS should receive additional treatment such as antiplatelet therapy, besides anticoagulation. No clinical trials have addressed this question. In fact, CS doubles the risk of stroke recurrence and increases the risk of death in AF patients despite anticoagulation.⁴⁹³ This suggests that additional therapies might be needed to address the residual atherosclerotic risk of stroke associated with CS in AF patients. For instance, in the context of coronary artery disease, antiplatelet therapy may be combined with oral anticoagulant following percutaneous coronary intervention, to prevent stent thrombosis, or after acute coronary syndromes.¹⁶⁵

Considering the significant frequency of CS in AF patients, it is important to conduct clinical trials in order to determine whether antiplatelet therapy in combination with oral anticoagulants can provide an additional benefit for stroke prevention, when balancing the risk of bleeding in patients with concomitant AF and CS. Other crucial questions include whether dual antiplatelet and anticoagulant therapy should be considered in AF patients after CEA; and following CES, for how long should this combination therapy be given? Importantly, the commonness of concomitant AF and CS highlights the need to intervene on common risk factors to reduce the development and progression of other conditions.

Carotid atherosclerosis is a strong predictor of AF. In the Bruneck Study, individuals with carotid atherosclerosis, compared to those without, had an almost two-fold increased risk of incident AF after adjusting for common cardiovascular risk factors ⁵¹⁶. We found that one in ten patients with CS had AF. Interestingly, AF was much more frequent in patients undergoing CAS (12.7%) compared to CEA (6.9%). Although real-world data have shown that the cardiovascular risk profile of patients undergoing CAS and CEA are usually similar, the higher prevalence of AF in patients undergoing CAS can be explained by a possible tendency of vascular surgeons to do CAS in patients who have a higher perioperative risk of stroke, such as patients with AF. This hypothesis is supported by the results of a representative nationwide observational study in the U.S. that explored the impact of AF on outcomes in patients undergoing CAS or CEA in general practice ⁵⁰⁵. The study revealed that AF was associated with a 57% increased risk of postoperative stroke in patients undergoing CEA, but not in patients undergoing CAS. Furthermore, the risk of a composite of postoperative stroke, cardiac complications, and mortality in AF patients was 31% higher following CEA than CAS. An opposite relationship was seen in patients without AF, in whom the composite endpoint was significantly lower in patients undergoing CEA.⁵⁰⁵ This suggests that CEA might be a better option for the treatment of CS in the $\sim 10\%$ of AF patients who have this condition as shown by our study.

The findings of this review should be interpreted with caution. There was marked heterogeneity across studies; we found recruitment period and publication year explained a significant amount of this heterogeneity, possibly because the recent studies had better reporting. Besides, this high heterogeneity is also explained by significant variations of baseline characteristics of participants across these studies done in various clinical settings. Furthermore, ineluctably there was a difference in the diagnosis of both AF and carotid disease between studies. As most patients did not have enhanced long-term electrocardiographic monitoring for the detection of AF, with implantable loop recorder or prolonged Holter for example, the prevalence of AF reported is likely underestimated in most studies, hence in our meta-analysis.

5.1.5 Conclusion

This systematic review shows that AF and CS frequently co-exist. About one in ten patients with AF has CS, and vice versa; and non-stenotic carotid disease is much more frequent. The commonness of concomitant AF and CS calls for investigations to appropriately address the important residual risk of thromboembolism in patients with both conditions, despite anticoagulation. The benefit of aggressive lipid-lowering therapy and antiplatelets in this specific population needs to be clarified. Furthermore, considering that half of AF patients were found to have CP, the prevalence and prognostic value of high-risk CP in AF should be studied. Finally, these findings have important implications for AF screening in patients with CS, stroke prevention and the opportunities to intervene on common risk factors to reduce the development and progression of other conditions.

5.1.6 Tables and figures

Table 1. Summary prevalence rates of carotid stenosis in atrial fibrillation by subgroups

Table 2. Summary prevalence rates of atrial fibrillation in carotid stenosis by subgroups

Figure 1. Study selection

Figure 2. The prevalence of carotid stenosis in patients with atrial fibrillation

The prevalence of any carotid disease has been presented as a proportion (prop, %) of the overall AF population. The shaded squares indicate the prevalence rates for each study, with the 95% confidence interval (95% CI) shown as horizontal lines traversing each square. The pooled estimate is presented as a shaded diamond, with horizontal line indicating the 95% CI. The plot has been ordered by the weight of each study.

Figure 3. The prevalence of carotid plaque in patients with atrial fibrillation

The summary forest plot, with similar notes as in Figure 1.

Figure 4. The prevalence of AF in patients with carotid stenosis

Summary forest plot of AF prevalence in patients diagnosed with carotid stenosis, with

similar notes as in Figure 1.

i i	Studios	Participants	Prevalence			Heteroger	neity	Egger's
Subgroup	(N)	(N)	Rate	95% CI (LL)	95% CI (UL)	I^2	<i>P</i> -value	test (P-value)
By Region								
Asia	5	1357	14.22%	7.4	21.04	93.3%	< 0.001	0.1898
Europe	4	1893	12.85%	6.03	19.67	95.3%	< 0.001	0.6179
North America	2	669	8.24%	0.79	15.69	91.8%	< 0.001	ND
By Presence of Stroke								
Yes	7	1402	13.53%	8.12	18.93	94.4%	< 0.001	0.3572
No	4	2517	10.5%	5.73	15.27	88.7%	< 0.001	0.3855
By Cut-off								
≥50%	9	3457	13.89%	9.59	18.2	93.4%	< 0.001	0.1393
≥70%	1	259	5.79%	3.28	9.37	NA	NA	NA

Table 1. Summary prevalence rates of carotid stenosis in atrial fibrillation by subgroups

95% CI: 95 percent confidence interval; NA: not applicable; LL: lower limit of 95% CI; UL: upper limit of 95% CI

Studies Participants Prevalence				Heterog	- Fagar's tost			
Subgroup	(N)	(N)	Rate	95% (LL)	CI 95% (UL)	CI I^2	<i>P</i> -value	(P-value)
By Region								
Asia	3	734	11.11%	2.9	19.32	90.8%	< 0.001	0.7412
Europe	10	4 561	10.69%	7.38	14.0	93.4%	< 0.001	0.0468
North America	12	2 281 223	9.14%	8.33	9.96	99.6%	< 0.001	0.3190
By Procedure								
CAS and CEA	7	2 255 771	9.34%	8.29	10.39	99.7%	< 0.001	0.3397
CEA	10	17 113	6.85%	5.31	8.39	94.1%	< 0.001	0.1259
CAS	4	11 700	12.67%	11.32	14.02	38.3%	0.1823	0.2600
Symptomatic								
Asymptomatic	3	25 366	12.23%	9.99	14.46	89.7%	< 0.001	0.0965
Symptomatic	5	2 164	11.68%	6.04	17.32	93.7%	< 0.001	0.2836
Asymptomatic or Symptomatic	13	697 639	9.41%	7.66	11.15	97.9%	<0.001	0.8399
By cut-off								
≥50%	6	5 524	12.65%	9.12	16.18	93.7%	< 0.001	0.3079
≥70%	7	2 286 518	9.75%	5.89	13.61	90.4%	< 0.001	0.0566

Table 2. Summary prevalence rates of atrial fibrillation in carotid stenosis by subgroups

Symptomatic: patients with prior cerebrovascular event; Asymptomatic: patients without prior cerebrovascular event; LL: lower limit of 95% CI; UL: upper limit of 95% CI





AF F	Prop (%)	050/ 01	
		95%-01	Weight
	7.67 [5.49 [18.35 [1 12.01 [5.79 [4.40 [17.95 [1 6.90 [20.95 [1 19.81 [1	5.65; 10.12] 3.47; 8.19] 5.87; 21.04] 9.31; 15.16] 3.28; 9.37] 1.79; 8.86] 4.82; 21.43] 3.82; 11.30] 4.70; 28.39] 2.70; 28.68]	10.0% 10.0% 9.9% 9.8% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.5% 7.8% 7.2%
*>	24.27 [1	6.36; 33.71]	6.8%
20 25	12.38 [8.73; 16.03]	100.0%
	20 25	7.67 [5.49 [18.35 [1 12.01 [5.79 [4.40 [17.95 [1 6.90 [20.95 [1 19.81 [1 24.27 [1 12.38 [20 25	$\begin{array}{c} 7.67 [5.65; 10.12] \\ 5.49 [3.47; 8.19] \\ 18.35 [15.87; 21.04] \\ 12.01 [9.31; 15.16] \\ 5.79 [3.28; 9.37] \\ 4.40 [1.79; 8.86] \\ 17.95 [14.82; 21.43] \\ 6.90 [3.82; 11.30] \\ \hline \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} 12.095 [14.70; 28.39] \\ 19.81 [12.70; 28.68] \\ 24.27 [16.36; 33.71] \\ \hline \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} 12.38 [8.73; 16.03] \\ 20 25 \end{array}$

Figure 2. The prevalence of carotid stenosis in patients with atrial fibrillation

The prevalence of any carotid disease has been presented as a proportion (prop, %) of the overall AF population. The shaded squares indicate the prevalence rates for each study, with the 95% confidence interval (95% CI) shown as horizontal lines traversing each square. The pooled estimate is presented as a shaded diamond, with horizontal line indicating the 95% CI. The plot has been ordered by the weight of each study.

Figure 3. The prevalence of carotid plaque in patients with atrial fibrillation

		Pre	valen	ce of	Carot	id			
Author, Year			Plaq	ue in	AF		Prop (%)	[95% CI]	Weight
Basili, 2017							16.58	[14.98; 18.27]	10.1%
Shang, 2019							52.49	[50.80; 54.17]	10.1%
Chen 1, 2016			+	+			45.80	[43.36; 48.25]	10.1%
Proietti, 2015						\rightarrow	71.03	[67.44; 74.43]	10.1%
Becattini, 2018				-			64.74	[60.72; 68.60]	10.1%
Chen 2, 2016							27.74	[22.83; 33.08]	10.0%
Chen 3, 2016					- +	-	60.87	[55.09; 66.44]	10.0%
Cho, 2019			-	+			48.71	[43.02; 54.42]	10.0%
Bougousslavsky, 1990				÷	+		55.97	[47.89; 63.83]	9.8%
Siegler, 2019			;				40.40	[30.66; 50.74]	9.6%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 99\%$, p	9 = 0 □						48.43	[35.20; 61.66]	100.0%
······································	20	30	40	50	60	70			

The prevalence of any carotid plaque has been presented as a proportion (prop, %) of the overall AF population. The shaded squares indicate the prevalence rates for each study, with the 95% confidence interval (95% CI) shown as horizontal lines traversing each square. The pooled estimate is presented as a shaded diamond, with horizontal line indicating the 95% CI. The plot has been ordered by the weight of each study.

AFF	Prevalence i	n Car	otid					
Author, Year	Stenos	s			F	Prop (%) 95%–Cl	Weight
Choi, 2013						7.06	[7.01; 7.10]	7.1%
Watanabe, 2015						8.78	[8,71: 8,84]	7.1%
Siddiq, 2015						8.44	[8.33; 8.56]	7.1%
Qureshi, 2015	+					10.38	[9.98; 10.79]	7.0%
Tu, 2003	+					5.12	[4.58; 5.70]	6.8%
Kapral, 2002	-+-					5.32	[4.76; 5.91]	6.8%
Giri, 2015		-+-				13.20	[12.55; 13.87]	6.7%
Keyhani, 2019	-	÷				12.00	[10.71; 13.39]	5.6%
Riera-Vázquez, 2006	*					3.59	[2.31; 5.29]	5.4%
Doig, 2014	-					5.53	[4.06; 7.33]	5.1%
Mudra, 2018	-					13.65	[11.48; 16.07]	4.0%
Shah, 2017			-			15.16	[12.83; 17.73]	3.7%
Ogata, 2014	- 18					6.09	[3.71; 9.35]	3.4%
Mazzaccaro, 2019						11.42	[8.69; 14.63]	3.1%
Paciaroni, 2014						16.67	[13.88; 19.76]	3.1%
Tsialtasa, 2018						7.78	[5.15; 11.20]	3.1%
Stanziale, 2006						10.99	[8.04; 14.57]	2.8%
Rong, 2016						7.78	[4.88; 11.64]	2.7%
Roussopoulou, 2018		-				8.93	[5.86; 12.90]	2.6%
Chen CY, 2019						17.20	[13.51; 21.43]	2.1%
Colussi, 2018						9.36	[5.44; 14.75]	1.8%
Cheng, 2017		_	-			20.59	[15.64; 26.29]	1.4%
Tedesco, 2007						10.94	[4.51;21.25]	0.7%
Dharmasaroja, 2010						10.00	[3.33; 21.81]	0.6%
Pûcîte, 2015					_	12.12	[3.40; 28.20]	0.3%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 99\%$, p	0=0 5 10	15	20	25	30	9.34	[8.68; 10.01]	100.0%
	0 10				00			

Figure 4. The prevalence of AF in patients with carotid stenosis

The prevalence of atrial fibrillation has been presented as a proportion (prop, %) of the overall population with carotid stenosis. The shaded squares indicate the prevalence rates for each study, with the 95% confidence interval (95% CI) shown as horizontal lines traversing each square. The pooled estimate is presented as a shaded diamond, with horizontal line indicating the 95% CI. The plot has been ordered by the weight of each study

5.1.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Search strategy

	Search strategy
#1	carotid
#2	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation" OR "AF" OR "Afib"
#3	#1 AND #2

Supplementary Table 2. Definition of carotid plaque in included studies

Study	Imaging	Definition of carotid plaque				
	modality					
Shang, 2019	Ultrasonography	A focal structure that uplifted into the arterial				
		lumen at least 0.5 mm or 50% of the				
		surrounding intima-media thickness (IMT)				
		value; or an IMT greater than 1.5 mm				
Siegler, 2019	Computed	$Plaque \ge 3 mm$				
	tomography	-				
Proietti, 2015	Ultrasonography	cIMT ≥1.5 mm				
Becattini, 2018	Ultrasonography	A protrusion into the vessel lumen of at least 2				
,		mm, as measured from the border between the				
		adventitial and medial layer				
Cho, 2020	Ultrasonography	Abnormal wall thickness ($cIMT > 1.5$ mm); or				
		a focal lesion measuring at least 0.5 mm or 50%				
		of the surrounding cIMT value and protruding				
		into the lumen.				
Basili, 2017	Ultrasonography	Focal wall thickening that is at least 50% or				
,		greater than that of the surrounding vessel wall;				
		or focal region with carotid intima media				
		thickness >1.5 mm that protrudes into the				
		lumen that is distinct from the adjacent				
		boundary				
Chen, 2016	Ultrasonography	Two of these three criteria: abnormal wall				
(ARIC)		thickness (defined as cIMT >1.5 mm),				
× ,		abnormal shape and abnormal wall texture				
		1 I				
Chen, 2016	Ultrasonography	$\geq 25\%$ of the surrounding CIMT value and				
(MESA)		protruding into the lumen				
, ,						
Chen, 2016	Ultrasonography	Protrusion into the lumen				
(Rotterdam						
study)						
Bogousslavsky,	Ultrasonography	Protrusion into the lumen; <50% stenosis				
1990	•					

cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness

Supplementary Table 3. Summarized study characteristics

Characteristics	N = 20
Total population	49 070
Year of publication, range	1990-2019
Period of inclusion of	1990-2017
participants, range	1,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
Design	
- Cohort	9
- Cross-sectional	9
- Case-control	1
- Clinical trial	1
Setting	
- Hospital-based	17
- Community-based	3
Data source	
- Registry	13
- Directly from patients	7
Timing of data collection	
- Prospective	9
- Retrospective	11
- Both	0
Regions	
- Asia	7
- Northern America	6
- Europe	6
- Multinational	1
Countries	
- US	6
- Italy	2
- Japan	2
- Korea	2
- China	1
- Finland	1
- Germany	1
- India	1
- Multinational	1
- Taiwan	1
- The Netherland	1
- Turkey	1
Representativeness	
- Local	13
- National	5
- Multinational	2
Type of carotid disease	
- Carotid stenosis	10
- Carotid occlusion	1

A.	Carotid	disease	in	atrial	fibrillation
	Car oura				

B. Atrial fibrillation in carotid disease

B. Atrial fibrillation in carotid disease						
Characteristics	N = 28					
Total population	2 288 265					
Year of publication, range	2002-2019					
Period of inclusion of	1990-2018					
participants, range						
Design						
- Cohort	18					
- Cross-sectional	6					
- Clinical trial (RCT)	1					
- Clinical trial (non-RCT)	1					
Setting						
- Hospital-based	27					
- Community-based	1					
Data source						
- Registry	17					
- Directly from patients	10					
Timing of data collection						
- Prospective	12					
- Retrospective	16					
- Both	1					
Regions	1					
- Furone	12					
Northern America	12					
	12					
- Asia	4					
- Countries						
	10					
	10 5					
- Italy	5					
- Canada	2					
- Spain	2					
- UK	2					
- Germany	1					
- Israel	1					
- Japan	1					
- Latvia	1					
- Multinational (Europe)	1					
- Taiwan	1					
- Thailand	1					
Representativeness						
- Local	20					
- National	5					
- Multinational	1					
Type of carotid disease						
- Carotid stenosis	23					
- Carotid occlusion	2					
	· ·					

- Carotid plaque	7
- Stenosis and plaque	1
- Carotid occlusive disease	1
Risk of bias	
- Low	6
- Moderate	11
- High	3

- Carotid plaque	2
- Stenosis and occlusion	1
Diagnostic cutoff	
- ≥50%	4
- ≥70%	4
- Not reported	20
Risk of bias	
- Low	9
- Moderate	18
- High	1

ND, not determined; RCT, randomized controlled trial

Supplementary Table 4. Individual characteristics of included studies

A. Studies reporting on the prevalence of carotid disease in patients with atrial fibrillation

Author	Year	Country	Design	Setting	Study Level	Data Collection	Data Source	Type of Carotid Disease	Method of AF Diagnosis	Type of Carotid Disease	Carotid Disease Diagnosis	Sample Size
Rizos et al	2016	Germany	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	12-lead ECG, 24-h Holter, and continuous ECG	Carotid stenosis	NR	320
Shibazaki et al	2010	Japan	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Occlusion	12-lead ECG, 24-h Holter, and continuous ECG	NR	IS and TIA patients with AF within 24 h of onset	221
Yang et al	2018	Korea	Cross- Sectional	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	12-lead ECG and 24-h Holter	Carotid stenosis	Carotid Duplex Sonography	401
Shang et al	2019	China	Cross- Sectional	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Plaques	NR	Carotid plaques	Carotid Ultrasound Examination	3435
Siegler et al	2019	USA	Cross- Sectional	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Plaques	ECG	Carotid plaques	СТА	99
Akanksha et al	2017	India	Cohort	Hospital	National		Registry	Carotid Stenosis	ECG	Carotid stenosis	NR	203
Kanter et al	1994	USA	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	NR	Carotid stenosis	Carotid Ultrasonogra phy	508

Lehtola et al	2017	Finland	Cohort	Hospital	National	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	NR	Carotid stenosis	Angiography + CTA	899
Paciaroni et al	2010	Italy	Case- Control	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Atheroscle rosis	NR	Atherosclerosis	NR	148
Proietti et al	2015	Italy	Cross Sectional	Hospital	National	Prospective	Registry	Increased cIMT	NR	Increased cIMT	Ultrasonogra phy	673
Chen et al (1)	2016	USA	Cohort	Commu nity	National	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Plaque	ECG	Carotid plaque	Ultrasound	1631
Chen et al (2)	2016	USA	Cohort	Commu nity	National	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Plaque	ECG	Carotid plaque	Ultrasound	310
Chen et al (3)	2016	Netherla nds	Cohort	Commu nity	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Plaque	ECG	Carotid plaque	Ultrasound	299
Benbir et al	2007	Turkey	Cross- Sectional	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	ECG	Carotid stenosis	Doppler- ultrasonogra phy	106
Bogousslavs ky et al	1990	USA	Cross- Sectional	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis and Plaque	ECG	Carotid stenosis and plaque	Doppler- ultrasonogra phy	159
Chang et al	2002	Taiwan	Cross- Sectional	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	ECG	Carotid stenosis	Doppler- ultrasonogra phy	103
Cho et al	2019	Korea	Cross- Sectional	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Plaque	NR	Carotid plaque	Ultrasonogra phy	310
Deguchi et al	2014	Japan	Cross- Sectional	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	ECG and 24-h Holter	Carotid stenosis	MRI and MRA	546
Fox et al	2020	USA, UK, France, Netherla nds, Germany	Cohort	Hospital	Multinat ional	Prospective	Registry	Carotid Occlusive Disease	NR	Carotid occlusive disease	NVAF	24436

		, Canada										
Kochar et al	2017	USA	Clinical Trial	Hospital	Multinat ional	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	NR	Carotid stenosis	NR	14263

Author	Year	Country	Design	Setting	Study Level	Data Collection	Data Source	Type of Carotid Disease	Method of Carotid Disease Diagnosis	Diagnos tic Cut- Off	Type of Carotid Procedure	Sample Size
Qureshi et al	2015	USA	Cohort	Hospital	National	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	ICD Codes (9th Revision)	NR	CAS	22,177
Riera- Vázquez et al	2006	Spain	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	NR	NR	CEA	669
Rong et al	2016	USA	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	NR	NR	CEA	270
Roussopou lou et al	2018	Greece, Germany	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Prospective	NR	Carotid Stenosis	Carotid Duplex Ultrasound	≥70%	CEA	280
Shah et al	2017	USA	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	NR	Carotid Stenosis	Duplex Sonography	≥50%	NR	864
Siddiq et al	2015	USA	Cross- Sectio nal	Hospital	National	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	ICD-9-CM codes 433.10 and 433.11	NR	CAS & CEA	225,191
Stanziale et al	2006	USA	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	СТА	≥50%	CAS	360
Tedesco et al	2007	USA	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	NR	NR	CAS & CEA	64
Tsialtasa et al	2018	Italy	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	NR	≥75%	CEA	334
Tu et al	2003	Canada	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	Cerebral Angiography and Carotid Doppler	NR	CEA	6038
Watanabe et al	2015	USA	Cohort	Hospital	National	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	ICD-9- CM code 433.11	NR	CAS & CEA	672074

B. Studies reporting on the prevalence of atrial fibrillation in patients with carotid disease

									or without 433.10			
Chen et al	2019	Taiwan	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	Bilateral Carotid Duplex Scan	70-99%	NR	372
Cheng et al	2017	UK	Cross- Sectio nal	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	CTA, MRA or Duplex Ultrasonography	50%	CAS & CEA	238
Choi et al	2013	USA	Cross- Sectio nal	Hospital	National	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis and Occlusion	NR	NR	CAS & CEA	1335554
Dharmasar oja et al	2010	Thailand	Cross- Sectio nal	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	Carotid Duplex	NR	NR	50
Diaz-Perez et al	2018	Spain	Cross- Sectio nal	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Artery Occlusion	CT, Angiography, and CTP	NR	Mechanical Thrombect omy	153
Doig et al	2014	UK	RCT	Hospital- Based	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	NR	>50%	CEA	814
Pûcîte et al	2015	Latvia	Cross- Sectio nal	Hospital- Based	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	СТА	≥70%	CEA	33
Colussi et al	2018	Italy	Cohort	Hospital Based	Local	Retrospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	CTA and MRA	NR	CAS	171
Telman et al	2012	Israel	Cohort	Hospital Based	Local	Retrospective and Prospective	Registry	Carotid Plaques	Duplex Ultrasound	NR	NR	671
Giri et al	2015	USA	Cohort	Hospital Based	National	NR	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	NR	NR	NR	10246
Willeit et al	2013	Italy	NR	Populati on	NR	Retrospective	NR	Carotid Atherosclero sis	NR	NR	NR	900
Kapral et al	2002	Canada	NR	NR	Local	Retrospective	Registry	Carotid Stenosis	NR	NR	NR	6038
----------------------	------	---------	---	----------	-------------------	---------------	----------	---	---	----	--------------	------
Keyhani et al	2019	USA	Cohort	Hospital	NR	NR	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	Carotid Ultrasonography, MRA, and CTA	NR	NR	2325
Mazzaccar o et al	2019	Italy	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Retrospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	Duplex Ultrasound	NR	CEA & CAS	473
Mudra et al	2018	Germany	Cohort	Hospital	Local	Prospective	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	NR	NR	CAS	901
Ogata et al	2014	Japan	Cohort	Hospital	Local	NR	Patients	Carotid Stenosis	Ultrasound	NR	CEA	312
Paciaroni et al	2014	Italy	Therap eutic Trial (non- RCT)	Hospital	Multinati onal	Retrospective	Registry	Extracranial Internal Artery Occlusion	CTA, MRA, and Carotid Ultrasound & Angiography	NR	NR	648

cIMT, carotid intima-media thickness; CT, computed tomography; CAS, carotid artery stenting; CEA, carotid endarterectomy; CTA, CT angiography; CTP, CT perfusion; ECG, electrocardiography; IS, ischemic stroke; MRA, magnetic resonance angiography; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; NR, not reported; NVAF, nonvalvular atrial fibrillation; PAF, paroxysmal atrial fibrillation; RCT, randomized controlled trial; TIA, transient ischemic accident

Supplementary Table 5. Clinical characteristics of included studies

Author	Year	Mean Age	Percent Male	Percent Stroke	Percent Hypertension	Percent Diabetes	Percent Smokers	Percent Dyslipidemia	Percent CAD
Rizos et al	2016	77.0	51.6	27.8	88.4	28.8	NR	NR	2.6
Shibazaki et al	2010	76.5	54.8	30.0	67.4	26.7	41.6	20.8	7.2
Yang et al	2018	68.6	65.6	16.5	78.5	29.4	42.6	53.1	NR
Shang et al	2019	NR	38.2	NR	NR	NR	17.1	NR	NR
Siegler et al	2019	78.0	52.0	21.0	76.0	31.0	12.0	45.0	33.0
Akanksha et al	2017	62.0	59.0	NR	87.0	41.0	5.0	32.0	30.0
Kanter et al	1994	77.0	63.0	NR	50.0	15.0	8.0	NR	21.0
Lehtola et al	2017	NR	56.6	20.0	64.6	21.0	NR	47.4	31.4
Paciaroni et al	2010	76.0	47.9	NR	83.8	21.6	21.6	31.1	NR
Proietti et al	2015	72.0	54.0	14.0	80.0	23.0	18.0	37.0	12.0
Chen et al (1)	2016	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Chen et al (2)	2016	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Chen et al (3)	2016	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Benbir et al	2007	68.8	38.7	NR	66.1	25.3	18.9	8.4	ND
Bougousslavsky et al	1990	68.6	56.0	20.0	48.0	14.0	26.0	9.0	55.0
Chang et al	2002	69.0	62.0	28.2	45.6	21.4	42.7	33	NR

A. Studies reporting on the prevalence of carotid disease in patients with atrial fibrillation

Cho et al	2019	67.8	67.1	15.8	67.1	26.5	NR	16.5	9.0
Deguchi et al	2014	75.8	59.3	NR	68.7	21.8	NR	NR	NR
Fox et al	2020	71.0	55.0	9.8	76.8	21.1	NR	37.9	13.5
Kochar et al	2017	74.0	72.0	72.0	93.0	40.0	NR	NR	32.0

CAD, coronary artery disease; NR, not reported

B. Studies reporting on the prevalence of atrial fibrillation in patients with carotid disease

Author	Year	Mean Age	Percent Male	Percent Stroke	Percent Hypertension	Percent Diabetes	Percent Smoking	Percent Dyslipidemia	Percent CAD
Qureshi et al	2015	75.1	57.8	NR	76.5	28.2	NR	31.9	46.7
Riera-Vázquez et al	2006	68.1	86.1	53.4	62.3	33.2	77.4	44.1	9.6
Rong et al	2016	67.2	61.1	NR	81.5	27.8	64.1	45.2	47.4
Roussopoulou et al	2018	68.5	73.2	100.0	86.8	30.4	45.5	62.0	29.6
Shah et al	2017	72	51.5	NR	89.0	24.0	45.0	56.3	62.0
Siddiq et al	2015	70.8	58.2	NR	81.1	28.9	19.6	16	44.6
Stanziale et al	2006	76	59.7	NR	100.0	33.0	65.2	NR	64.6
Tedesco et al	2007	69.5	100.0	41.0	87.5	39.1	82.8	87.5	59.4
Tsialtasa et al	2018	72.6	67.1	14.5	95.2	21.3	57.4	86.2	NR
Tu et al	2003	68.3	65.3	5.7	64.4	23.1	23.1	NR	35.7
Watanabe et al	2015	73.2	39.3	NR	78.4	30.6	NR	NR	1.5

Chen et al	2019	72	73.4	19.4	83.6	47	66.1	NR	20.2
Cheng	2017	74.6	62.2	26.9	68.9	33.2	42.4	65.5	19.3
Choi	2013	70.6	30.7	NR	66.9	26.7	NR	36.4	41.4
Dharmasaroja	2010	70.0	60.0	18.0	60.0	28.0	28.0	88.0	12
Diaz-perez	2018	71.0	59.5	NR	71.9	26.8	26.1	45.8	NR
Doig	2014	NR	71.0	NR	70.3	21.4	23.3	66.2	18.4
Pûcîte	2015	68.5	48.5	NR	NR	24.2	39.4	NR	NR
Colussi	2018	72.0	73.0	NR	85.0	46.0	67.0	71.0	36.0
Telman	2012	70.6	63.0	100.0	80.2	38.8	22.5	45.3	32.5
Giri	2015	70.0	62.4	14.9	91.7	38.3	73.9	89.0	52.7
Willeit	2013	58.0	50.9	NR	65.6	6.6	24.0	NR	4.3.0
Kapral	2002	68.0	65.0	NR	66.0	23.0	69.5	36.0	35.0
Keyhani	2019	73.74	98.8	NR	93.3	40.1	33.5	NR	53.5
Mazzaccaro	2019	84.2	63.0	NR	70.2	44.4	61.3	57.5	34.2
Mudra	2018	71.0	63.3	NR	90.8	32.7	21.5	78.8	63.2
Ogata	2014	70.2	81.7	NR	72.8	41.0	33.4	45.7	18.9
Paciaroni	2014	63.0	63.3	9.9	61.4	21.5	34.3	30.7	NR
CAD,	cord	onary		artery	,	disease;		NR,	n

reported

Supplementary Table 6. Risk of bias assessment

Author	Publication	Externa	al Validity	y		Interna	l Validity	7			Score	RoB
1 unior	Year	Item 1	Item 2	Item 3	Item 4	Item 5	Item 6	Item 7	Item 8	Item 9		Level
Rizos et al	2016	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Yang et al	2018	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	5	Moderate
Shibazak et al	2010	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	7	Low
Shang et al	2019	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	3	High
Siegler et al	2019	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	4	Moderate
Basili et al	2017	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	5	Moderate
Becattini et al	2018	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	5	Moderate
Chen et al (1)	2016	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	5	Moderate
Chen et al (2)	2016	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	6	Moderate
Chen et al (3)	2016	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	5	Moderate
Benbir et al	2007	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	6	Moderate
Bogousslavsky et al	1990	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	6	Moderate
Chang et al	2002	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	6	Moderate
Cho et al	2019	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	3	High
Deguchi et al	2014	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	5	Moderate
Fox et al	2020	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	3	High

A. Assessment of studies reporting carotid disease in AF

Akanksha et al	2017	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	5	Moderate
Kanter et al	1994	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8	Low
Lehtola et al	2017	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	7	Low
Paciaroni et al	2010	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	8	Low
Proietti et al	2015	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	7	Low
Kochar et al	2017	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	8	Low

B. Assessment of studies reporting AF in carotid disease

Author	Publication	Externa	al Validity	y		Interna	l Validity	,			Score	RoB
Author	Year	Item 1	Item 2	Item 3	Item 4	Item 5	Item 6	Item 7	Item 8	Item 9		Level
Qureshi	2015	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	6	Low
Riera-Vázquez	2006	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	4	Moderate
Rong	2015	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	2	High
Roussopoulou	2018	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	4	Moderate
Shah	2017	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	4	Moderate
Siddiq	2015	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	4	Moderate
Stanziale	2006	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Tedesco	2007	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	6	Moderate
Tsialtasa	2018	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	8	Low
Tu	2003	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	6	Moderate

Watanabe	2015	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Yue	2016	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Chen	2019	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	6	Moderate
Cheng	2017	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	5	Moderate
Choi	2013	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	5	Moderate
Dharmasaroja	2010	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	5	Moderate
Diaz-Perez	2018	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	4	Moderate
Doig	2014	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Pûcîte	2015	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	4	Moderate
Colussi	2018	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Telman	2012	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8	Low
Giri	2015	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Willeit	2013	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	4	Moderate
Kapral	2002	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Keyhani	2019	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	8	Low
Mazzaccaro	2019	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9	Low
Mudra	2018	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	7	Low
Ogata	2014	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	7	Low
Paciaroni	2014	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8	Low

RoB: risk of bias

Interpretation of the score

7 – 9: Low Risk of Bias / High-quality study; 4 – 6: Moderate Risk of Bias / Moderate-quality study; 3 or less: High Risk of Bias / Low-quality study.

Supplementary Figure 1. Funnel plot of studies reporting on the prevalence of carotid stenosis in patients with atrial fibrillation



Supplementary Figure 2. Funnel plot of studies reporting on the prevalence of carotid plaque in patients with atrial fibrillation



Proportion

Supplementary Figure 3. The influence of studies on the estimated prevalence rates of carotid stenosis



Supplementary Figure 4. The influence of studies on the estimated prevalence rates of carotid plaque



Supplementary Figure 5. Funnel plot of studies reporting on the prevalence of atrial fibrillation in patients with carotid stenosis



Supplementary Figure 6. The influence of studies on the estimated prevalence rates of atrial fibrillation and between study heterogeneity



5.2 Stroke risk associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review

5.2.1 Introduction

Stroke prevention is the pillar of atrial fibrillation (AF) management. Currently, this is mainly achieved through oral anticoagulation (OAC) with either vitamin K antagonists, direct oral anticoagulants, or percutaneous left atrial appendage occlusion ²⁶¹. The decision to start OAC is guided by an assessment of the risk of stroke and the risk of bleeding. The current stroke risk stratification schemes have limited performance for predicting thromboembolism, especially in AF patients with low-risk ^{253, 261}. This is partly explained by the fact that these stroke risk prediction tools do not appropriately account for non-cardioembolic causes of stroke such as aortic or carotid atherosclerosis ²⁶¹. A recent meta-analysis showed that AF and carotid stenosis frequently coexist, with about one in ten patients with AF having carotid stenosis, and vice versa. Furthermore, about half of patients with AF have non-stenotic carotid disease ⁵⁴². Interestingly, severe carotid stenosis accounted for about one fourth of ischemic strokes in a cohort of 103 patients with AF ⁴⁹⁴. The CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, which is the most popular stroke risk prediction tool, does not include carotid disease as a risk factor ²⁵³. Although carotid occlusive disease is included in the new GARFIELD-AF risk calculator, its weight in the risk calculation remains unclear ²⁵⁵. Similar uncertainty remains for aortic atherosclerosis which is included in the CHA2DS2-VASc score with peripheral vascular disease and myocardial infarction as a single composite item referred to as vascular disease 253

This review aimed to summarize the evidence on the risk of thromboembolism associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patients with AF, and the impact of their inclusion in current stroke risk stratification scores.

5.2.2 Methods

5.2.2.1 Literature search

We searched PubMed/MEDLINE, Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE) and Web of Science to identify all studies reporting primary data on risk of thromboembolism associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patients with AF, published until February 28, 2021, without language restriction. The search strategy is available in the appendix (Supplementary Table 1). The reference lists of eligible articles were also scrutinized to identify potential additional data sources.

5.2.2.2 Selection of studies to include in the review

We included cohort studies or randomized controlled trials (RCT) reporting relevant information. We excluded case reports and articles without primary data, such as editorials and reviews. After screening the titles and abstracts of records from bibliographic searches, the full texts of articles deemed potentially eligible were reviewed for final inclusion.

5.2.2.3 Data extraction and charting

We extracted data on first author, year of publication, study design, mean or median duration of follow-up, mean age and proportion of women in the study population, antithrombotic drugs, proportions of patients with various cardiovascular risk factors and co-morbidities and how they were assessed (imaging modality and definition), type and incidence of the outcomes of interest (stroke or systemic embolism), and risk estimates in the form of hazard ratio (HR) or risk ratio (RR). The risk of bias of included studies was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale ⁴⁰².

Due to the high heterogeneity across studies, we opted for a narrative summary of our findings.

5.2.3 Results

5.2.3.1 Study selection and characteristics

We identified 3474 records from bibliographic searches, of which 10 are included in this review ^{471, 535, 538, 543-549} (Figure 1). The characteristics of the included studies are presented in Table 1. There were four retrospective cohorts, three prospective cohorts, and three RCTs. Uptake of different antithrombotic medications and the distribution of risk factors for thromboembolism varied widely across studies. In general, hypertension and heart failure were the most prevalent risk factors in most populations. The risk of bias was low for seven studies and intermediate for three studies. Supplementary Table 2 presents the definitions of carotid and aortic parameters and imaging modalities used in the included studies. In most studies, carotid stenosis was defined as a \geq 50 % narrowing of the lumen of one segments of the common carotid artery, its bifurcation or the proximal internal carotid artery. Carotid plaque was defined as a protrusion into the vessel lumen with variable cutoffs of carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT) used across studies. Complex aortic plaque defined as \geq 4-mm-thick, ulcerated or containing mobile thrombi.

5.2.3.2 Carotid stenosis and risk of thromboembolism

Five studies reported on the association of carotid stenosis with stroke, transient ischemic attack (TIA) or systemic embolism ^{538, 543-546}. In the Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation (SPAF) II Study, an RCT comparing 508 elderly (age \geq 70 years) with AF randomly assigned to warfarin or aspirin, carotid stenosis was not associated with incident stroke (adjusted RR 1.3, 95% CI 0.5-3.6) after a mean follow-up of 2.6 years ⁵⁴³. Data from the ROCKET-AF trial (14263 patients with AF randomly assigned to rivaroxaban or warfarin, CHADS₂ score \geq 2) showed that, after a mean follow-up of 2.5 years, carotid stenosis was not associated with ischemic stroke (adjusted HR 0.93, 95% CI 0.57–1.48) or the composite endpoint of stroke and systemic embolism (adjusted HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.66–1.48) ⁵³⁸. In patients with AF treated with anticoagulants and followed-up prospectively for a mean of 3.4 years in a hospital in Italy, carotid stenosis was not associated with incident ischemic stroke or TIA (adjusted HR 1.03, 95% CI 0.30-3.45), and not associated with stroke, TIA or systemic embolism (adjusted HR 1.31, 95% CI 0.45-3.81) ⁵⁴⁴.

In a retrospective cohort of AF patients with and without carotid disease (unspecified) matched for age, sex, hypertension, diabetes, coronary artery disease, and prior stroke, carotid disease was associated with stroke or TIA after a mean follow-up of 5.3 years (adjusted HR 1.49, 95% CI 1.30-1.71)⁵⁴⁵. Another retrospective cohort of patients with AF and a previous stroke or TIA (about half on OAC) showed that carotid stenosis was associated with recurrent stroke (adjusted HR 2.02, 95% CI 1.37–3.01)⁵⁴⁶.

5.2.3.3 Carotid plaque and risk of thromboembolism

Four studies reported on the association of carotid plaque with stroke, TIA or systemic embolism ^{535, 544, 547, 548}. A prospective cohort study of patients with AF on OAC from Italy (mean follow-up of 3.4 years) showed no association between carotid plaque and incident

ischemic stroke or TIA (adjusted HR 1.19, 95% CI 0.52-2.72), and no association with ischemic stroke, TIA or systemic embolism (adjusted HR 1.29, 95% CI 0.53-2.79). In the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study, a population-based prospective cohort of unselected patients with AF (mean follow-up of 8.5 years), carotid plaque was associated with a 56% increase in the risk of incident ischemic stroke (adjusted HR 1.56, 95% CI 1.00-2.54). In the same study, each one standard deviation increase in carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT) was associated with a 23% higher risk of stroke (adjusted HR 1.23, 95% CI 1.04-1.46). The addition of carotid plaque and cIMT to a model including race and CHA₂DS₂-VASc score increased the C-statistic from 0.685 to 0.698, with a significant net reclassification improvement, 0.091 (95% CI 0.012-0.170) ⁵⁴⁷. Similarly, in a retrospective analysis of an unselected cohort of patients with AF followed for a mean of 2.6 years, carotid plaque was associated with an increased risk of incident ischemic stroke (adjusted HR 1.1, 95% CI 1.0-1.2). The C-statistic increased from 0.648 (95% CI 0.538-0.757) to 0.716 (95% CI 0.628-0.804) in the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score model after the addition of cIMT and carotid plaque as vascular components (p = 0.013)⁵³⁵. Another retrospective cohort study (mean follow-up of 3 years) showed that carotid plaque was more frequent in patients in incident stroke or TIA (31.6% vs 16.1%, p = 0.002) and discriminated patients who experienced stroke/TIA during the follow-up (Log-Rank: 8.61, p = 0.003). The combination of carotid plaque and vascular disease was associated with a 78% higher risk of stroke or TIA (adjusted HR 1.78, 95% CI 1.05-3.01), and had significantly greater C-statistic than conventional vascular disease alone at 24 months (0.609 vs 0.553, p < 0.001) and 36 months (0.626 vs $0.591, p < 0.001)^{548}.^{548}.$

5.2.3.4 Aortic plaque and risk of thromboembolism

Two studies reported on the association of complex aortic plaque with stroke, TIA or systemic embolism ^{471, 549}. Data from the Apixaban for Reduction In Stroke and Other Thromboembolic Events in Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) trial involving 1251 patients with AF and a CHADS₂ score \geq 1, randomly assigned to apixaban or warfarin ⁴⁷¹, showed that after a mean follow-up of 1.8 years, complex aortic plaque did not predict ischemic stroke or systemic embolism (adjusted HR 2.21, 95% CI 0.71–6.85). In a prospective cohort study (mean follow-up of 6.4 years) including patients with AF patients at lower risk (CHADS₂ score 0 or 1), a combination of complex aortic plaque with left atrial/left atrial appendage abnormalities (thrombi, spontaneous echo-contrast or reduced flow velocity), referred to as transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) risk, was associated with an increased risk of incident ischemic stroke (adjusted HR 4.0, 95% CI 1.4-11.4) ⁵⁴⁹.

5.2.4 Discussion

This review shows inconsistent findings across studies reporting on the association of carotid and aortic atherosclerosis with thromboembolism is patients with AF. This might be explained by significant differences in the characteristics of the study populations in terms of risk profiles and use of OAC. On one hand, a comparison of two cohorts of patients with AF with and without carotid stenosis, matched for important stroke predictors and with a relatively low rate of OAC use, showed that carotid stenosis predicts cerebrovascular events ⁵⁴⁵. On the other hand, the use of OAC was much higher in the three studies that showed no association between carotid stenosis and incident stroke or TIA ^{538, 543, 544}. For instance, in the ORBIT trial, all patients received OAC, either warfarin or rivaroxaban ⁵³⁸. This suggest that OAC might reduce the risk of ischemic stroke associated with carotid stenosis in patients with AF.

(COMPASS) trial support this hypothesis and raise the question of whether patients with AF already taking OAC should be switched to a Rivaroxaban-Aspirin combination if they have a carotid atherosclerosis provided that their bleeding risk is low ⁵⁵⁰. Further trials would be needed to answer the question and determine how the characteristics of the carotid atherosclerosis (e.g., grade of stenosis, presence of high-risk features) modulate the risk-benefit of the combination therapy ⁵⁵¹. Although aortic atherosclerosis is a recognized independent risk factor for stroke ^{552, 553}, data on the association of aortic plaque with thromboembolism in patients with AF is scarce. This results from the fact that assessment of the aortic arch is limited with transthoracic echocardiography and transesophageal echocardiography is not routinely performed since it is a technically complex and less well-tolerated procedure ²⁶¹. Moreover, advanced exploration of alternative embolic sources, including aortic plaques, might often be overlooked in patients for whom AF is perceived by the clinician as the obvious cause of the stroke.

The evidence suggesting that carotid plaque predicts stroke or transient ischemic attack in AF patients are more consistent ^{535, 547, 548}. The inclusion of carotid plaque and cIMT into stroke risk stratification tools for AF patients could significantly improve their performance. However, it remains unclear whether there are specific features in carotid plaque that are more predictive of cerebrovascular events in AF patients. In fact, carotid plaques with high-risk features such as echolucency, lipid-rich necrotic core, neovascularization, intraplaque hemorrhage or ulcerations, are associated with an increased risk of ipsilateral embolic stroke in non-stenotic carotid atherosclerosis ⁵⁵¹. Data are needed to evaluate whether high-risk carotid plaques could improve stroke risk prediction in AF patients.

From a practical perspective, in patients with AF and peripheral artery diseases including extracranial carotid atherosclerotic disease, current guidelines recommend OAC

when the CHA₂DS₂-VASc is \geq 2 (Class I, level A), whereas OAC should be considered in all other patients (Class IIa, level B) 554. However, OAC does not significantly mitigate the risk of ischemic stroke and other adverse cardiovascular events in patients with carotid artery disease ^{555, 556}. Furthermore, DOAC alone do not reduce the risk of stroke in patients with AF and severe carotid disease ⁵⁵⁶⁻⁵⁵⁸. Antiplatelet therapy is recommended for all patients with carotid atherosclerotic disease ⁵⁵⁴. Therefore, a combination of OAC and single antiplatelet therapy should be considered in patients with AF and carotid atherosclerotic disease to mitigate the risk of stroke attributable to both conditions. However, the concomitant use of OAC and antiplatelet in patients with AF increases the risk of bleeding. There is no practical recommendation on how to approach the combination of OAC and antiplatelet therapy to balance the risk of stroke and the risk of bleeding. Data from both randomized controlled trials and real word settings have shown that the DOAC-antiplatelet use is associated with lower risk of major bleeding, especially intracranial hemorrhage, than vitamin K antagonist (VKA)-antiplatelet combination therapy in patients with AF ^{559, 560}. Considering that DOAC is either non-inferior or superior to VKA for stroke prevention ^{343, 559}, DOAC should therefore be preferred to VKA when combined with antiplatelet in these patients. Besides OAC, other stroke-reduction strategies should be considered in patients with AF and carotid 554 atherosclerotic disease whenever indicated Such strategies include carotid revascularization by endarterectomy or carotid stenting for symptomatic carotid stenosis ⁵⁵⁴. Rhythm control also has an important role. Indeed, a study showed that AF ablation lowers the risk of stroke or TIA by 64% and the risk of dementia by 49% in patients with AF and carotid stenosis 545.

The main limitations of the evidence presented in this review are the heterogeneity in the composition of study populations and the proportion of OAC users, and the predominance of retrospective and post-hoc analyses with potential reporting bias. This heterogeneity across studies precluded a meta-analysis. Furthermore, the clinical significance of carotid atherosclerosis and its causal relationship to incident ischemic events remains uncertain in patients with AF treated with anticoagulation. It is also worth mentioning that most of the studies included in this review were conducted in patients on OAC. Because stroke risk stratification is mainly intended to help in the decision to initiate OAC, prediction tools should ideally be derived in patients with AF who are OAC-naïve. However, with the scaling up of the use of OAC in patients with AF, it might be difficult to have unselected cohort of AF patients who remain OAC-naïve for periods long enough to have statistically appropriate rates of incident thromboembolic events.

5.2.5 Conclusion

Available data suggest an association of carotid atherosclerosis with the risk of stroke and transient ischemic attack in patients with AF. Future studies should evaluate whether incorporating cIMT and characteristics of carotid plaques into scoring systems would improve stroke prediction and prevention in patients with AF.

5.2.6 Tables

Table 1. Characteristics of included studies

Table 2. Association between aortic plaque, carotid plaque, carotid stenosis and risk of stroke

 in patients with atrial fibrillation

Table 1. Characteristics of included studies

Part A

Study	Country	Study design	Study population	Mean or median follow- up (years)	Antithrombotic patterns
Basili, 2017	Italy	Retrospective, hospital- based cohort	Unselected cohort	3.0	None: 15.6%; APT: 19.2%; VKA: 60.7%; APT+VKA: 4.5%
Becattini, 2018	Italy	Prospective, hospital- based cohort study	All patients on OAC	3.4	APT: 7.8% VKA: 100%
Bekwelem, 2016	USA	Prospective, community- based cohort study	Unselected cohort	8.5	VKA: 0%
Bunch, 2020	USA	Retrospective, hospital- based cohort*	Matched for baseline risk factors*	5.3	APT: 48.1% OAC: 36.4%
Cho, 2020	Korea	Retrospective, hospital- based cohort	Unselected cohort	2.6	None: 56.5%; APT: 23.5%; VKA: 13.5%; DOAC: 6.5%
Kanter, 1994	USA	Randomized clinical trial	Age \geq 70 years	2.6	Randomly assigned to aspirin or warfarin
Kochar, 2018	International	Randomized clinical trial	CHADS2 score ≥ 2	2.5	Randomly assigned to rivaroxaban or warfarin
Lehtola, 2017	Finland	Retrospective, hospital- based cohort	Previous stroke or TIA	2.5	VKA: 46.3%
Sasahara, 2012	Japan	Prospective, hospital- based cohort study	CHADS2 score 0 or 1	6.4	None: 12.1%; APT: 17.9%; VKA: 70.0%;

APT: antiplatelet drug; VKA: vitamin K antagonists; OAC: oral anticoagulant; DOAC: direct oral anticoagulant; NR: not reported;

*Cohort divided in 4 groups matched for cardiovascular risk factors: Atrial fibrillation (AF) and carotid disease (CD), AF and No CD, CD and no AF, no CD and no AF; only the groups AF and CD and AF with no CD were included

Part B

Study	Sample	Mean age	Male	HPT	DIAB	DYSL	ТЕ	PAD	CAD	HF	Risk of bias
	size	(years)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
Basili, 2017	2027	73.3	54.7	82.5	27.9	38.5	11.6	NR	NR	20.3	Low
Becattini, 2018	587	74.5	58.6	75.5	17.2	27.6	16.9	NR	14.7	18.5	Low
Bekwelem, 2016	724	63.3	59.9	51.8	23.1	NR	0.0	6.8	4.8	3.2	Low
Bunch, 2020	5786	73	17.8	78.3	28.4	58.5	16.9	26.9	36.7	40.1	Intermediate
Cho, 2020	310	67.8	67.1	67.1	26.5	16.5	15.8	6.8	9.0	31.9	Intermediate
Kanter, 1994	508	77	63	50	15	NR	9	8	21	22	Low
Kochar, 2018	14263	73	60.3	90.5	39.9	NR	54.8	6.0	17.3	62.5	Low
Lehtola, 2017	899	74.3	55.6	64.6	21.0	47.4	20.0	7.9	31.4	15.2	Low
Sasahara, 2012	280	64	71.8	20.4	4.3	NR	NR	NR	NR	12.8	Intermediate
Vinereanu, 2017	1251	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	Low

HPT: hypertension; DIAB: diabetes mellitus; DYSL: dyslipidemia; TE : previous thromboembolism (stroke or TIA); PAD : peripheral artery disease; CAD : coronary artery disease; HF: heart failure; APT: antiplatelet drug; VKA: vitamin K antagonists; OAC: oral anticoagulant; DOAC: direct oral anticoagulant; NR: not reported;

*Cohort divided in 4 groups matched for cardiovascular risk factors: Atrial fibrillation (AF) and carotid disease (CD), AF and No CD, CD and no AF, no CD and no AF; only the groups AF and CD and AF with no CD were included

Study	Carotid or aortic parameter	Sample size	Cases of aortic or carotid plaque or stenosis	Mean or median Follow-up (years)	Outcome	Number of events (entire cohort)	Incidence rate (per 100 patient- years)	Adjusted Hazard Ratio (95% CI)*
Basili, 2017	Carotid plaque and vascular disease**	2027	336	3	Stroke and TIA	56	1.17	1.78 (95% CI 1.05-3.01)
Bunch, 2020	Carotid disease	5786	2893	5.3	Stroke or TIA	NR	NR	1.49 (95% CI 1.30-1.71)
Lehtola, 2017	Carotid stenosis $\geq 50 \%$	899	165	2.5 vs 3.7 (CS vs no CS)	Recurrent stroke	128	8.1 vs 3.6 (CS vs no CS)	2.02 (95% CI 1.37–3.01)
Kanter, 1994	Carotid stenosis $\geq 50 \%$	508	61	2.6	Stroke	34	NR	1.3 (95% CI 0.5–3.6)
Kochar, 2018	Carotid stenosis $\geq 50 \%$	14263	493	2.5	Stroke or systemic embolism	575	2.95 vs 2.24 (CS vs no CS)	0.99 (95% CI 0.66–1.48)
					Ischemic stroke	414	2.08 vs 1.61 (CS vs no CS)	0.93 (95% CI 0.57–1.48)
Becattini, 2018	Carotid stenosis $\geq 50 \%$	587	45	3.4	Ischemic stroke or TIA	30	1.49 (95% CI 0.96- 2.03)	1.03 (95% CI 0.30-3.45)
					Ischemic stroke or TIA or systemic embolism	35	1.59 (95% CI 1.05- 2.14)	1.31 (95% CI 0.45-3.81)
Becattini, 2018	Carotid plaque	587	380	3.4	Ischemic stroke or TIA	30	1.49 (95% CI 0.96- 2.03)	1.19 (95% CI 0.52-2.72)
					Ischemic stroke or TIA or systemic embolism	35	1.59 (95% CI 1.05- 2.14)	1.29 (95% CI 0.54-2.79)
					Ischemic stroke or TIA or death	NR	NR	1.73 (95% CI 1.07-2.79)
					Death	30	1.49 (95% CI	1.99 (95% CI 1.12-3.51)

Table 2. Association between aortic plaque, carotid plaque, carotid stenosis and risk of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation

							0.96-2.03)	
Bekwelem,	Carotid plaque	724	276	8.5	Ischemic stroke	81	1.09 vs 1.76 (CP	1.56 (95% CI 1.00–2.45)
2016							vs no CP)	
	Carotid	724	NA	8.5	Ischemic stroke	81	0.88 vs 2.25	1.23 (95% CI 1.04–1.46)
	intima-media						(lowest vs highest	per 1 SD increase
	thickness						cIMT quintiles)	
	(cIMT)							
Cho, 2020	Carotid plaque	310	151	2.6	Ischemic stroke	18	NR	3.75 (95% CI 1.11–12.69)
Sasahara,	TEE risk (Left	280	143	6.4	Ischemic stroke	20	2.0 vs 0.5 (TEE	4.0 (95% CI 1.4-11.4)
2012	atrial						risk vs no TEE	
	abnormality						risk)	
	with/without							
	CAP)							
Vinereanu,	Complex aortic	1251	241	1.8	Stroke or	21	1.76 vs 0.76	2.21 (95% CI 0.71–6.85)
2017	plaque				systemic		(CAP vs no CAP)	
					embolism			

cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; TIA: transient ischemic attack; NA: not applicable; TEE: transoesophageal echocardiography; CAP: complex aortic plaque; CS: carotid stenosis

* For the association with the outcome (stroke, TIA, or death). None of the studies included the use of OAC as a covariate in the Cox regression analysis

**Vascular disease: myocardial infarction, aortic plaque or symptomatic peripheral artery disease;

95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Definitions of carotid and aortic parameters are presented in the Supplementary Table 2

5.3 High-risk carotid plaques and stroke risk stratification in patients with atrial fibrillation: the Cardiovascular Health Study

5.3.1 Introduction

Stroke prevention is one of the pillars of atrial fibrillation (AF) management. Currently, this is mainly achieved through oral anticoagulation (OAC) with either vitamin K antagonists, direct oral anticoagulants, or percutaneous left atrial appendage occlusion ²⁶¹. The decision to start OAC is guided by an assessment of the risk of stroke and the risk of bleeding. The current stroke risk stratification schemes have limited performance for predicting thromboembolism, especially in patients with AF with low risk ^{253, 261}. This is partly explained by the fact that these stroke risk prediction tools do not appropriately account for non-cardioembolic causes of stroke such as carotid atherosclerosis ^{261, 561}. A recent meta-analysis showed that AF and carotid stenosis frequently coexist, with about one in ten patients with AF having carotid disease ⁵⁴². Interestingly, severe carotid stenosis accounted for about one fourth of ischemic strokes in a cohort of 103 patients with AF ⁴⁹⁴. The CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, which is the most popular stroke risk prediction tool, does not include carotid disease as a risk factor ²⁵³. Although carotid occlusive disease is included in the new GARFIELD-AF risk calculator, its weight in the risk calculation remains unclear ²⁵⁵.

There is some evidence suggesting that carotid plaque predicts stroke or transient ischemic attack in patients with AF ^{535, 547, 548}. The inclusion of carotid plaque and carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT) into stroke risk stratification tools for patients with AF could significantly improve their performance. However, it remains unclear whether there are specific features in carotid plaque that are more predictive of cerebrovascular events in

patients with AF. In fact, carotid plaques with high-risk features such as echolucency, lipidrich necrotic core, neovascularization, intraplaque hemorrhage or ulcerations, are associated with an increased risk of ipsilateral embolic stroke in non-stenotic carotid atherosclerosis ⁵⁵¹.

To the best of our knowledge, no previous study has evaluated whether high-risk carotid plaques could improve stroke risk prediction in patients with AF. This study aimed to determine 1) the prevalence of occlusive and non-occlusive carotid disease in patients with and without AF; 2) the distribution of non-occlusive carotid disease and high-risk features (plaque irregularity, ulceration, and echolucency) in patients with and without AF; 3) the risk of stroke associated with occlusive and non-occlusive carotid disease in patients with and without AF; 4) the added value of high-risk carotid plaques on stroke risk stratification compared to the classical CHA₂DS₂-VASc score. We hypothesized that carotid plaques with high-risk features such as plaque irregularity, ulceration, and echolucency, are associated with an increased risk of stroke in patients with AF, and that high-risk carotid plaques could improve stroke risk prediction in patients with AF.

5.3.2 Methods

5.3.2.1 Study design

This study was performed using data from the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS). The CHS prospectively enrolled and continues to follow a community-dwelling cohort of men and women aged ≥ 65 years randomly selected from Medicare eligibility lists in four counties in the USA, California, Maryland, North Carolina, and Pennsylvania. An initial cohort of 5,201 participants was recruited in 1989-1990 and a supplemental cohort of 687 predominantly African American participants was recruited in 1992-1993. Participants returned for annual in-person study visits until 1998-1999 and again in 2005-2006. Throughout follow-up,

participants were contacted via semi-annual telephone calls, and data were linked with Medicare claims. Carotid ultrasound scans were performed at baseline, year 5, and year 11.

5.3.2.2 Participants

For this study, we included all participants with AF and available carotid ultrasound data. Atrial fibrillation was identified from 3 sources: i) participant's self-report; ii) outpatient ECGs obtained yearly at study examinations; iii) hospital discharge primary diagnoses with ICD-9 codes for AF (427.31), excluding diagnosis assigned during the same hospitalization for a cardiac surgery (ICD-9 codes of 35.x, 36.x, or 37.x). Eligible participants were divided in 2 groups depending on when they had AF: Group 1 included participants with AF at baseline; Group 2 included participants without AF at baseline but who developed AF by year 5 (**Figure 1. Panels A and B**). Year 5 was selected because participants had follow-up carotid ultrasound at this time, allowing us to have baseline ultrasound data for participants who developed AF by year 5. The follow-up started at baseline for Group 1 and at year 5 for Group 2 (**Figure 1. Panel B**). Baseline characteristics of each group correspond to their characteristics at the beginning of their specific follow-up period.

5.3.2.3 Exposure variables

The main exposure variables were carotid ultrasound features including the percentage of stenosis, plaque irregularity, and plaque echogenicity. Duplex ultrasonography of both carotid arteries was performed at baseline and at Year 5 with a Toshiba SSA-270A ultrasound device (Toshiba American Medical Systems, Tustin, CA) equipped with 5.0 MHz transducer. We considered carotid ultrasound measurements done at baseline for Group 1 and at Year 5 for Group 2.

- Percentage stenosis was classified as: 0% or Normal, 1-24%, 25-49%, 50-74%, 75-99%, and 100% ⁵⁶².
- Plaque irregularity was classified as: smooth, mildly irregular, markedly irregular, and ulcerated ⁵⁶².
- Plaque irregularly was further dichotomized as low-risk (smooth and mildly irregular) and high-risk (markedly irregular and ulcerated).
- Plaque echogenicity was classified as: no lesion, hypoechoic, isoechoic, hyperechoic, and calcified ⁵⁶².
- Plaque echogenicity was further dichotomized as low-risk (no lesion, isoechoic, hyperechoic, and calcified) and high-risk (hypoechoic).
- Vulnerable plaque was defined as the presence of plaques in either of the carotid arteries with the following high-risk features: hypoechoic, markedly irregular, or ulcerated.

Plaques that were hypoechoic, markedly irregular, or ulcerated are considered of high-risk based on previous studies which showed that these ultrasound features were associated with an increased risk of stroke ^{551, 563}.

Other variables of interest included sociodemographic characteristics; cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, obesity, dyslipidemia (**Supplementary Table 1**), heart failure, coronary artery disease, peripheral artery disease, prior stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA), chronic kidney disease, smoking, alcohol consumption, and use of antithrombotic medication. The CHA₂DS₂-VASc score was calculated for each participant (**Supplementary Table 2**).

5.3.2.4 Outcome variable

The outcome was incident ischemic stroke. Stroke was defined as the rapid onset of focal neurological deficit lasting more than 24 hours or until death, a lesion on computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging, with the exclusion of brain concussion, tumor, or infection as the cause of the deficit. Ischemic stroke was further defined as: i) a focal neurological deficit without evidence of intracranial hemorrhage on computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, or cerebrospinal fluid analysis or ii) imaging evidence of brain ischemia in a location compatible with the presenting symptoms ⁵⁶⁴. We consider the start of follow-up as baseline for Group 1, and Year 5 for Group 2.

5.3.2.5 Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were expressed as frequencies and percentages while continuous variables were expressed as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with interquartile range (IQR) as appropriate. We assessed differences between groups using the Student's t-test for continuous variables and the Pearson Chi square test for categorical variables. Time to incident ischemic stroke was assessed using survival analysis. Participants were censored at the time of ischemic stroke, last follow-up, or death. Factors associated with incident ischemic stroke were assessed using univariable and multivariable cox regression analysis, with risk estimates reported as hazard ratio (HR) along with 95% confidence interval (CI). A two-tailed p-value of less than 0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance. All analyses were performed using Stata 16.1 statistical package (Stata Corp, College Station, TX).

5.3.2.6 Ethical considerations

The CHS received approval from institutional review boards of all participating centers and all participants provided written informed consent. In addition, prior to receiving the CHS data, the current study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Central Adelaide Local Health Network, Adelaide, Australia (CALHN Reference Number: 15839).

5.3.3 Results

5.3.3.1 General characteristics of the study population

Out of 5888 participants in CHS, 1398 with AF were included in the analysis. There were 266 (19.0%) participants with AF at baseline (Group 1) and 1132 (81.0%) without AF at baseline but who developed AF by Year 5 (Group 2) (**Figure 1. Panels A and B**). The general characteristics of the study population are presented in **Table 1**. There were more females (55.2%) than males, and participants aged 65-74 years (61.7%) than those aged \geq 75 years. The prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors was 81.4% for dyslipidemia, 62.3% for hypertension, 31.8% for vascular disease, 21.9% for chronic kidney disease, 16.4% for diabetes mellitus, 6.4% for heart failure and, 6.1% for previous stroke or TIA. The median CHA₂DS₂-VASc score was 3 (IQR 2-4).

5.3.3.2 Carotid ultrasound features

5.3.3.2.1 Carotid artery stenosis

Most participants had a normal ultrasound examination or carotid artery stenosis <50% (96.6% on the right and 96.5% on the left). On either the left or the right carotid arteries, the maximum stenosis was <50% in 94.5% of participants, 50-99% in 5% of participants, and 0.5% had carotid occlusion (**Table 2**).

5.3.3.2.2 Carotid plaques

Regarding plaque irregularity, most participants had either smooth carotid arteries (69.3% on the right and 69.6% on the left) or mildly irregular plaques (25.8% and 25.2% on the right side and left side, respectively). Markedly irregular (4.4% and 4.9% on the right side and left side, respectively) and ulcerated plaques (0.4% and 0.3% on the right and left sides, respectively) were much less frequent (**Table 2**). Regarding echogenicity, most participants had either no lesion (32.0% and 33.3% on the right side and left side, respectively) or isoechoic lesion (35.0% and 30.9% on the right side and left side, respectively) (**Table 2**).

The proportion of participants with high-risk plaques was 25.6% based on echogenicity and 8.9% based on plaque irregularity. When considering both irregularity and echogenicity, 33.6% of participants had vulnerable plaques (**Table 2**).

5.3.3.3 Incidence of ischemic stroke according to carotid plaque characteristics

After a median follow-up of 10.9 years (IQR 7.5-15.6), 298 ischemic strokes occurred. There was no difference in the incidence of ischemic stroke according to the degree of carotid artery stenosis (p=0.44, **Figure 2. Panel A**), the echogenicity of plaque (low risk versus high risk, p=0.68, **Figure 2. Panel B**), the irregularity of plaque (low risk versus high risk, p=0.55, **Figure 2. Panel C**), and the vulnerability of the plaque (p=0.86, **Figure 2. Panel D**).

5.3.3.4 Predictors of ischemic stroke

Factors associated with incident ischemic stroke in univariable cox regression analysis included aged \geq 75 years, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, vascular disease, previous stroke or TIA, and chronic kidney disease. In multivariable analysis, predictors of ischemic stroke included aged \geq 75 years (adjusted hazard ratio [aHR] 1.35, 95% CI: 1.05-1.71, p=0.015),

hypertension (aHR 1.37, 95% CI: 1.06-1.76, p=0.016), diabetes mellitus (aHR 1.95, 95% CI: 1.46-2.62, p<0.001), previous stroke or TIA (aHR 1.59, 95% CI: 1.01-2.51, p=0.045), and chronic kidney disease (aHR 1.33, 95% CI: 1.01-1.76, p=0.043) (**Table 3**). The CHA₂DS₂-VASc score was associated with an increased risk of ischemic stroke (aHR 1.28, 95% CI: 1.18-1.40, p<0.001) (**Table 4**). Both maximum grade of stenosis and plaque vulnerability were not associated with incident ischemic stroke (all p>0.05) (**Tables 3 and 4**).

5.3.3.6 Added value of high-risk carotid plaques to stroke risk stratification

In the absence of an association between all carotid artery ultrasound parameters with incident ischemic stroke, logically these parameters could not improve stroke risk stratification in our cohort. Therefore, the planned receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis to compare the performance in predicting incident ischemic stroke of the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and of a combination of high-risk carotid plaques with the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score was futile.

5.3.4 Discussion

This study aimed to determine the pattern of occlusive and non-occlusive carotid artery disease in patients with AF and assess whether prediction of their stroke risk could be improved by considering the presence of carotid stenosis or vulnerable carotid plaque. We observed that 1) moderate to severe carotid stenosis (\geq 50%) was uncommon, affecting only 5.5% of participants; 2) a third of patients had carotid plaques considered vulnerable or high-risk; 3) the degree of carotid stenosis and the presence of vulnerable plaques were not associated with incident ischemic stroke and therefore, could not have any added value in stroke risk stratification in this cohort of patients.

The prevalence of carotid stenosis in this cohort of patients with AF is much lower than was reported in several previous study. In fact, a meta-analysis of prevalence rates of carotid stenosis in patients with AF showed a pooled prevalence of 13.9% ⁵⁴², much higher than the 5.5% prevalence in our study. There are few potential explanations for this difference. There was a wide variation in the prevalence of carotid stenosis across the studies included in the meta-analysis, ranging from 4.4% to 24.3% ⁵⁴². Subgroup analysis by geographic region showed that the pooled prevalence was 8.2% in studies done in Northern America, an estimate closer to our observation in this cohort from the US, compared with 14.2% and 12.9% in studies done in Asia and Europe, respectively. Hence, variations in the prevalence of carotid stenosis in patients with AF might be partly related to geographic regions. These geographic differences in prevalence rates might be due to variations in the genetic predisposition to risk factors of atherosclerosis, to differences in primary prevention or disease detection. Furthermore, our cohort is quite old, with the first participants enrolled in 1989-1990 (three decades ago). It is possible that the burden of carotid artery disease has increased over time, with recent studies reporting higher prevalence rates. Finally, our cohort consists of people recruited from the general population who likely had a better cardiovascular risk profile than that of patients with AF recruited in hospital settings, hence a lower burden of atherosclerosis including in the carotid arteries. Indeed, the proportions of people with cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, previous stroke, or smoking were lower in our cohort compared to other studies on carotid artery disease in patients with AF 542.

Contrary to our hypothesis, the degree of carotid stenosis was not associated with incident ischemic stroke. Studies on the association of carotid stenosis with thromboembolism in patients with AF have shown inconsistent results ⁵⁶¹. Carotid stenosis was found to be associated with stroke or TIA in one retrospective study (aHR 1.49, 95% CI 1.30-1.71, mean

follow-up 5.3 years) ⁵⁴⁵, and with recurrent stroke in another retrospective cohort of patients with AF and a previous stroke or TIA (aHR 2.02, 95% CI 1.37–3.01) ⁵⁴⁶. Dissimilarly, a prospective cohort study in Italy showed no association between carotid stenosis and ischemic stroke or TIA (adjusted HR 1.03, 95% CI 0.30-3.45), and a composite of stroke, TIA, or systemic embolism (adjusted HR 1.31, 95% CI 0.45-3.81, mean follow-up of 3.4 years) ⁵⁴⁴. Some inconsistencies have also been reported in studies on the association of carotid plaque with thromboembolism in patients with AF, although most studies suggested an association ⁵⁶¹.

In a meta-analysis of 64 studies that enrolled 20751 participants, high-risk plaques were common in patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis, and the associated annual incidence of ipsilateral ischemic events was higher than the currently accepted estimates ⁵⁵¹. These findings suggested that extending the assessment of asymptomatic carotid stenosis beyond the grade of stenosis is needed in routine practice to improve risk stratification ⁵⁵¹. In the current study, we hypothesized that carotid plaques with high-risk features such as plaque irregularity, ulceration, and echolucency, are associated with an increased risk of stroke in patients with AF, and that high-risk carotid plaques could improve stroke risk prediction in patients with AF. Contrary to our hypothesis, vulnerable plaques defined as the presence of hypoechoic, markedly irregular, or ulcerated plaques were not associated with incident ischemic stroke. Yet, a previous analysis of the CHS showed that risk of incident stroke was associated with two ultrasound features: presence of a hypoechoic plaque in the internal carotid artery and an estimated grade of stenosis \geq 50% ⁵⁶³. Importantly, this previous analysis of the CHS was not restricted to patients with AF, and it excluded all strokes of cardiac origin ⁵⁶³. Therefore, the absence of association between grade of carotid stenosis or presence of high-risk carotid plaques and incident stroke suggests that carotid disease was probably not an important cause of the stroke events in our cohort of patients with AF. These findings indicate that vulnerable carotid plaques might not improve stroke risk stratification in patients with AF.

This study has some limitations. First, our study population included only patients aged ≥ 65 years and mostly whites, hence limiting its generalizability. Second, data was not available for systemic embolism which is a relevant endpoint for our study hypothesis. Third, several parameters could not be considered in our analysis, notably changes in medical therapy over time (antiplatelet, antihypertensive, and lipid-lowering drugs), vascular interventions (endarterectomy because of TIA or amaurosis fugax), and localization of the ischemic stroke that might not be in the relevant territory. Fourth, there was a small proportion of participants with AF affected by moderate to severe carotid stenosis. Hence, the study might have limited power to detect an association between moderate to severe carotid stenosis and incident stroke in this population. Strengths of our study include a well-characterized population and larger than those from previous studies on the association of carotid disease with thromboembolism in patients with AF ⁵⁶¹, as well as a meticulous adjudication of the outcome of stroke ⁵⁶⁴.

5.3.5 Conclusion

Moderate to severe carotid stenosis (\geq 50%) was uncommon, affecting only 5.5% of participants with AF, whereas a third of patients with carotid atherosclerosis had plaques considered vulnerable or high-risk. Neither the degree of carotid stenosis nor the presence of vulnerable plaques was associated with incident ischemic stroke. This suggests that carotid disease was probably not a significant contributor to ischemic stroke in this population of patients with AF and, therefore, vulnerable carotid plaques might not improve stroke risk stratification in patients with AF.
5.3.6 Tables and figures

Table 1. General characteristics of the study population

Table 2. Carotid artery ultrasound features

Table 3. Association between clinical and carotid ultrasound features and incident ischemic

 stroke

Table 4. Association between CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and carotid ultrasound features and incident ischemic stroke

Figure 1. Participant selection and follow-up

Figure 2. Incidence of ischemic stroke according to carotid ultrasound features

Variables	Group 1	Group 2	Total
	(n = 266)	(n =1132)	(n = 1398)
A a a			
Age			
65-74 years	145 (54.5%)	718 (63.4%)	863 (61.7%)
≥75 years	121 (45.5%)	414 (36.6%)	535 (38.3%)
Sex			
Male	135 (50.8%)	492 (43.5%)	627 (44.8%)
Female	131 (49.2%)	640 (56.5%)	771 (55.2%)
Body mass index			
<25	120 (45.1%)	405 (35.8%)	525 (37.6%)
25-29.9	101 (38.0%)	464 (41.0%)	565 (40.4%)
≥30	45 (16.9%)	263 (23.2%)	308 (22.0%)
Cardiovascular risk factors			
Hypertension	182 (68.4%)	689 (60.9%)	871 (62.3%)
Diabetes mellitus	59 (22.2%)	170 (15.0%)	229 (16.4%)
Dyslipidemia	221 (83.1%)	917 (81.0%)	1138 (81.4%)
Heart failure	44 (16.5%)	46 (4.1%)	90 (6.4%)
Previous stroke or TIA	28 (10.5%)	57 (5.0%)	85 (6.1%)
Current smoking	20 (7.5%)	14 (1.2%)	34 (2.4%)
CAD	114 (42.9%)	307 (21.7%)	421 (30.1%)
PAD	15 (5.6%)	29 (2.6%)	44 (3.1%)
Vascular disease	121 (45.5%)	323 (28.5%)	444 (31.8%)
Chronic kidney disease	88 (33.1%)	218 (19.3%)	306 (21.9%)
CHA2DS2-VASc score			
Median (IQR)	4 (3-5)	3 (2-4)	3 (2-4)
Antithrombotic medication			
Antiplatelet	15 (5.6)	30 (2.7)	45 (3.2)
Oral anticoagulant	30 (11.3)	34 (3.0)	64 (4.6)

Table 1. General characteristics of the study population

CAD: coronary artery disease; IQR: interquartile range; PAD: peripheral artery disease; TIA: transient ischemic attack

Variables	Group 1	Group 2	Total
	(n = 266)	(n =1132)	(n = 1398)
Parcontaga stanosis DICHT			
Tercentage stenosis, KIGHT	70 (20 7%)	366 (32 30/)	115 (31 80/)
Normal	73(23.1%)	300(32.3%)	443(31.8%)
1-24%	107(40.20%)	300(31.8%)	433 (31.0%)
25-49%	107 (40.2%)	366 (32.3%)	473 (33.8%)
50-74%	5 (1.9%)	30 (2.7%)	35 (2.5%)
75-99%	1 (0.4%)	8 (0.7%)	9 (0.6%)
100%	1 (0.4%)	2 (0.2%)	3 (0.2%)
Percentage stenosis, LEFT		200 (25 20)	1.5.5 (0.0.0.1)
Normal	68 (25.6%)	398 (35.2%)	466 (33.3%)
1-24%	81 (30.5%)	334 (29.5%)	415 (29.7%)
25-49%	111 (41.7%)	358 (31.6%)	469 (33.5%)
50-74%	5 (1.9%)	30 (2.7%)	35 (2.5%)
75-99%	0 (0.0%)	8 (0.7%)	8 (0.6%)
100%	1 (0.4%)	4 (0.4%)	5 (0.4%)
Percentage stenosis, MAX			
Normal	37 (13.9%)	220 (19.4%)	257 (18.4%)
1-24%	81 (30.5%)	357 (31.5%)	438 (31.3%)
25-49%	137 (51.5%)	489 (43.2%)	626 (44.8%)
50-74%	9 (3.4%)	44 (3.9%)	53 (3.8%)
75-99%	1 (0.4%)	16 (1.4%)	17 (1.2%)
100%	1 (0.4%)	6 (0.5%)	7 (0.5%)
Plaque irregularity, RIGHT			
No lesion	79 (29.7%)	366 (32.3%)	445 (31.8%)
Smooth	127 (47.7%)	397 (35.1%)	524 (37.5%)
Mildly irregular	55 (20.7%)	306 (27.0%)	361 (25.8%)
Markedly irregular	5 (1.9%)	57 (5.0%)	62 (4.4%)
Ulcerated	0 (0.0%)	6 (0.5%)	6 (0.4%)
Plaque irregularity, LEFT			
No lesion	68 (25.6%)	398 (35.2%)	466 (33.3%)
Smooth	143 (53.8%)	365 (32.2%)	508 (36.4%)
Mildly irregular	54 (20.3%)	297 (26.2%)	351 (25.1%)
Markedly irregular	1 (0.4%)	68 (6.0%)	69 (4.9%)
Ulcerated	0 (0.0%)	4 (0.4%)	4 (0.3%)
Plaque echogenicity. RIGHT			
No lesion	80 (30.1%)	369 (32.6%)	449 (32.1%)
Hypoechoic	44 (16.5%)	167 (14.8%)	211 (15.1%)
Isoechoic	94 (35.3%)	394 (34.8%)	488 (34.9%)
Hyperechoic	42 (15.8%)	161 (14.2%)	203 (14.5%)

Table 2. Carotid artery ultrasound features

Calcified	6 (2.3%)	41 (3.6%)	47 (3.4%)
Plaque echogenicity, LEFT			
No lesion	68 (25.6%)	398 (35.2%)	466 (33.3%)
Hypoechoic	52 (19.5%)	152 (13.4%)	204 (14.6%)
Isoechoic	99 (37.2%)	333 (29.4%)	432 (30.9%)
Hyperechoic	45 (16.9%)	195 (17.2%)	240 (17.2%)
Calcified	2 (0.8%)	54 (4.8%)	56 (4.0%)
Plaque irregularity			
Low risk	260 (97.7%)	1013 (89.5%)	1273 (91.1%)
High risk	6 (2.3%)	119 (10.5%)	125 (8.9%)
Plaque echogenicity			
Low risk	185 (69.5%)	855 (75.5%)	1040 (74.4%)
High risk	81 (30.5%)	277 (24.5%)	358 (25.6%)
Vulnerable plaque			
No	180 (67.7%)	748 (66.1%)	928 (66.4%)
Yes	86 (32.3%)	384 (33.9%)	470 (33.6%)

 Table 3. Association between clinical and carotid ultrasound features and incident

 ischemic stroke

Variables		Univariabl	e		Multivarial	ole
	HR	95% CI	P value	HR	95% CI	P value
Age						
65-74 years	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	-
≥75 years	1.40	1.11-1.78	0.005	1.35	1.05-1.71	0.015
Sex						
Female	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	-
Male	0.92	0.72-1.16	0.457	0.91	0.71-1.16	0.430
Current smoker						
No	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	-
Yes	1.05	0.39-2.83	0.922	1.22	0.45-3.32	0.697
Body mass index						
<25	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	_
25-29.9	0.92	0.71-1.19	0.503	0.89	0.68-1.17	0.414
≥30	0.96	0.71-130	0.791	0.79	0.58-1.09	0.154
Hypertension						
No	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	-
Yes	1.55	1.22-198	< 0.001	1.37	1.06-1.76	0.016
Diabetes mellitus						
No	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	-
Yes	1.96	1.48-2.58	< 0.001	1.95	1.46-2.62	< 0.001
Dyslipidemia						
No	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	-
Yes	1.20	0.87-1.65	0.261	1.18	0.86-1.63	0.301
Heart failure						
No	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	-
Yes	1.58	0.94-2.67	0.085	1.27	0.74-2.17	0.390
Vascular disease						
No	Ref	-	-	Ref	-	-
Yes	1.30	1.01-1.67	0.044	1.07	0.82-1.40	0.616
Previous stroke or TIA						
No	Ref	_	-	Ref	_	-
Yes	1.81	1.16-2.82	0.009	1.59	1.01-2.51	0.045
Chronic kidney disease				,		
No	Ref	_	_	Ref	_	_
Yes	1.42	1.09-1.86	0.011	1.33	1.01-1.76	0.043
Percentage stenosis		1.07 1.00	01011	1.00	1101 1170	010.10
Normal	Ref	-	_	Ref	_	_
1-49%	1.21	0.90-1.61	0.202	1.22	0.89-1.67	0.210
50-100%	1.14	0.61-2.13	0.685	1.02	0.53-1.96	0.956
Vulnerable plaque		5.01 2.10	0.000	1.02	5.22 1.70	0.700
No	Ref	_	_	Ref	_	_
Yes	1.02	0.80-1.30	0.867	0.94	0.72-1.22	0.619

95% CI: 95% confidence interval; HR: hazard ratio; Ref: reference category; TIA: transient ischemic attack

Table 4. Association between CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and carotid ultrasound features and

incident ischemic stroke

Variables	HR	95% CI	P value
Model 1			
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score (per 1 unit)	1.29	1.18-141	< 0.001
Maximum percentage stenosis			
• Normal	Ref	-	-
• 1-49%	1.24	0.93-1.66	0.151
• 50-100%	1.04	0.56-1.95	0.898
Model 2			
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score (per 1 unit)	1.28	1.18-1.40	< 0.001
Vulnerable plaque			
• No	Ref	-	-
• Yes	1.00	0.79-1.28	0.972

LCL: 95% lower confidence limit; HR: hazard ratio; TIA: transient ischemic attack; UCL: 95% upper confidence limit

Figure 1. Participant selection and follow-up





Figure 2. Incidence of ischemic stroke according to carotid ultrasound features



Figure 3. Association of the degree of maximum carotid stenosis with incident ischemic

stroke

5.3.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Definition of variables

Condition	Score
Hypertension	Blood pressure > 140/90 mmHg or medical history of hypertension or
	ongoing
	antihypertensive treatment
Diabetes	Fasting blood glucose > 7 mmol/L or history of diabetes
	mellitus or ongoing treatment with insulin or oral antidiabetic drugs
Dyslipidemia	at least one of the followings: LDL-C > 100 mg/dL (2.6 mmol/L),
	HDL-C $< 50 \text{ mg/dL}$ (1.26 mmol/L), triglycerides $> 150 \text{ mg/dL}$ (1.7
	mmol/L), total cholesterol > 200 mg/dL (5.2 mmol/L), treatment with
	lipid-lowering drugs.
Obesity	Body mass index $\ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$

Supplementary Table 2. CHA2DS2VASc Comorbidity Point Values

Condition	Score
Sex Category (female)	1
Age 65-74 years	1
Age ≥75 years	2
Stroke, transient ischemic attack,	2
or systemic thromboembolism	
Vascular disease	1
Congestive Heart Failure	1
Hypertension	1
Diabetes mellitus	1
Maximum Score	9

CHAPTER 6:

Prognostic impact of atrial fibrillation on acute

cardiovascular events

Publication 1

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Atrial fibrillation incidence, prevalence, predictors, and adverse outcomes in acute coronary syndromes: A pooled analysis of data from 8 million patients
Publication Status	 Published Accepted for publication Submitted for publication Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ , Agbaedeng TA, Nyaga UF, Lau DH, Worthley MI, Nicholls SJ, Sanders P. Atrial fibrillation incidence, prevalence, predictors, and adverse outcomes in acute coronary syndromes: A pooled analysis of data from 8 million patients. <u>J Cardiovasc</u> <u>Electrophysiol</u> . 2022 Mar;33(3):414-422.

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale			
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, literature search, data collection, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision			
Overall percentage (%)	50%			
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper			
Signature		Date	3/12/2022	

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Thomas A. Agbaedeng		
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision (20%)		
Signature		Date	3/12/2022

Name of Co-Author	Ulrich Flore Nyaga		
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Dennis H. Lau		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/18/2022

Name of Co-Author	Matthew I. Worthley				
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manuscript revision (5%)				
Signature		Date	3/12/2022		

Name of Co-Author	Stephen J. Nicholls				
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manuscript revision (5%)				
Signature		Date	3/20/2022		

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders
Contribution to the Paper	Knowledge, manuscript revision (10%)
Signature	Date 3/21/2022

Publication 2

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: a pooled analysis				
Publication Status	 Published Accepted for publication Submitted for publication Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style 				
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ , Nyaga UF, Middeldorp ME, Fitzgerald JL, Ariyaratnam JP, Thomas G, Sanders P. Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: A pooled analysis. Respir Med. 2022 Aug;199:106862. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2022.106862.				

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale						
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, bibliographic searches, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision						
Overall percentage (%)	60%						
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper						
Signature		Date	3/12/2022				

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Ulrich Flore Nyaga			
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, data interpretation, manuscript revision (10%)			
Signature	N	Date	3/13/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (10%)			
Signature		Date	3/22/2022	

Name of Co-Author	John L. Fitzgerald			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)			
Signature		Date	3/13/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Jonathan P. Ariyaratnam				
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)				
Signature		Date	3/13/2022		

Name of Co-Author	Gijo Thomas				
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)				
Signature		Date	3/13/2022		

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders	
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision/(5%)	
Signature		Date 3/13/2022

Overview

This chapter explores the prognostic impact of AF in patients with two major acute cardiovascular events: acute coronary syndromes and acute pulmonary embolism. It is divided into two sections. The first section is a systematic review and meta-analysis that summarizes data on the overall prevalence of AF in patients with acute coronary syndromes (ACS) in general, and specifically the prevalence of pre-existing AF, and the incidence proportion of newly diagnosed AF; 2) determine the predictors of newly diagnosed AF and; 3) assess the risk of various short-term and long-term adverse outcomes (e.g. death, stroke, re-infarction, heart failure, major bleeding) attributable to AF, according to its temporal patterns in patients with ACS in general. The second section is on acute pulmonary embolism (aPE). It is a systematic review and meta-analysis that summarizes data on 1) the prevalence of pre-existing AF and the incidence proportion of newly diagnosed AF; 2) the predictors of newly diagnosed AF; 3) the risk of short-term and long-term mortality attributable to AF, according to its temporal patterns of pre-existing AF and the incidence proportion of newly diagnosed AF; 2) the predictors of newly diagnosed AF; 3) the risk of short-term and long-term mortality attributable to AF, according to its temporal patterns in patients.

6.1 Atrial fibrillation incidence, prevalence, predictors, and adverse outcomes in acute coronary syndromes: a pooled analysis of data from 8 million patients.

6.1.1 Introduction

Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and atrial fibrillation (AF) are two major contributors to the global burden of cardiovascular disease (CVD). Acute myocardial infarction is the most severe manifestation of ischemic heart disease, which is the leading cause of mortality and disability worldwide ⁵⁶⁵. Atrial fibrillation, the most prevalent sustained cardiac arrhythmia ¹, frequently co-exists with AMI ⁵⁶⁶, either as a pre-existing condition resulting from their similar risk factors, or as an acute complication due to several mechanisms including ischemia, systemic inflammation, neurohormonal activation, increased ventricular, and atrial pressures on the background of chronic structural atrial changes ^{566, 567}.

Several studies have suggested that in the setting of AMI, AF is associated with an increased risk of adverse outcomes such as heart failure, ventricular tachyarrhythmias, and death ⁵⁶⁶. However, it remains uncertain whether AF is a true prognostic factor or is just a marker of co-morbidities or AMI severity ⁵⁶⁸. Furthermore, the risk of adverse outcomes attributable to AF might differ depending on the temporal pattern of AF ⁵⁶⁸. For instance, some studies demonstrated that newly diagnosed AF at the time of AMI is associated with higher mortality, whereas pre-existing AF does not increase mortality, or does but to a lesser extent ⁵⁶⁹⁻⁵⁷².

To the best of our knowledge, there is no recent review that provides a comprehensive summary of key aspects of the epidemiology of AF in AMI or acute coronary syndromes (ACS) in general. Therefore, the current systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to: 1) summarize data on the overall prevalence of AF in patients with AMI or ACS in general, and specifically the prevalence of pre-existing AF, and the incidence proportion of newly diagnosed AF; 2) determine the predictors of newly diagnosed AF and; 3) assess the risk of various short-term and long-term adverse outcomes (e.g. death, stroke, re-infarction, heart failure, major bleeding) attributable to AF, according to its temporal patterns in patients with AMI or ACS in general.

6.1.2 Methods

This review is reported in accordance with the Meta-analyses Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guidelines ³⁸⁵ and was prospectively registered on PROSPERO (CRD42020210310).

6.1.2.1 Literature search

PubMed/MEDLINE, Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE), and Web of Science were searched to identify all eligible studies published through August 23, 2020 (date of the last search), without language restriction. The search strategy used a combination of the following terms or their synonyms: "atrial fibrillation", "myocardial infarction", or "acute coronary syndrome" (**Supplementary Table 1**). The reference lists of eligible articles were also scrutinized to identify potential additional data sources.

6.1.2.2 Study selection

We included: (1) cross-sectional studies, cohort studies, or RCTs, (2) with more than 100 participants, (3) reporting primary data on the prevalence or incidence of AF, its risk factors, or its association with adverse outcomes in patients with AMI (either ST-elevation myocardial infarction [STEMI] or non-ST myocardial infarction [NSTEMI]) or ACS, irrespective of the treatment received (medical or percutaneous coronary intervention), or studies with enough

data to compute these estimates. Although our primary population of interest was patients with AMI, we extended the study population to ACS that include STEMI, NSTEMI, and unstable angina to cover the maximum number of studies including patients with AMI. We excluded studies including patients with stable coronary artery disease without ACS, or patients who underwent coronary artery bypass graft surgery (to exclude post-operative AF). We also excluded studies in which participants were recruited before the year 2000. The year 2000 was chosen as the cutoff because it almost corresponds to the introduction of the first-generation drug-eluting stent ⁵⁷³. For studies reporting data from the same primary study or registry (duplicates), we included the single most comprehensive one reporting the largest sample size, or articles presenting complementary data (each article having original information not included in any of the others). Two investigators (JJN and UFN) independently screened records for eligibility based on titles and abstracts. Full texts of articles deemed potentially eligible were retrieved and screened independently by the same investigators for final inclusion. Disagreements were resolved via discussion and consensus.

6.1.2.3 Data extraction and management

Data were extracted using a standard data abstraction form by one investigator (JJN) and cross-checked by second investigator (UFN). We collected data on study characteristics, study population (AMI, STEMI, NSTEMI, ACS), sample size, mean or median age, proportion of males, proportion of patients with co-morbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, heart failure, prior stroke or TIA, or prior AMI, number of participants with various types of AF. We also gathered information on risk estimate (hazard ratio, odds ratio, or relative risk) with the 95% confidence interval (CI) for each variable assessed as a potential predictor of AF, and risk estimate with the 95% CI for the association of AF with various adverse outcomes such as death, stroke, re-infarction, heart failure, sudden cardiac death, or readmission. For each

study, the risk of bias was assessed using an adapted version of the tool developed by Hoy et al. ³⁸⁶.

6.1.2.4 Definitions

The following definitions of type of AF were used:

- Pre-existing AF: AF diagnosed before the index AMI;
- Newly diagnosed AF: AF diagnosed for the first time during the index presentation for AMI (on admission or during hospitalization), in the absence of a prior history of AF;
- Prevalent AF: total cases of any form of AF (pre-existing or newly diagnosed).

The following definitions of outcomes were used:

- Short-term outcomes: outcomes occurring within 1 month from the index AMI, including in-hospital outcomes;
- Long-term outcomes: outcomes occurring beyond 1 month from the index AMI.

6.1.2.5 Statistical analysis

We performed random-effects meta-analysis of proportions using the inverse variance model. For comparisons with low proportions, we performed variance stabilizing transformation using the Freeman-Tukey double-arcsine transformation ⁵⁷⁴. Heterogeneity was assessed by the χ^2 test on Cochran's Q statistic ³⁸⁷, which was quantified by I^2 values, assuming that I^2 values of <25%, 50 – 75%, and >75% respectively represent low, medium, and high heterogeneity ³⁸⁸. We assessed small-study effect or publication bias by funnel plots and tests of funnel plot asymmetry (Egger's linear regression test). Next, we performed random-effects meta-analyses of unadjusted estimates to assess the association between clinical variables and AF incidence or prevalence, reporting this in odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI. For categorical variables, number of AF events and non-events were used to calculate OR and 95% CI. For continuous variables, we converted the reported mean and standard deviations (SD) to standardized mean difference and rescaled as OR (95% CI) per SD change in the variable ³⁸⁹. We then performed random-effects meta-analyses using the most adjusted risk estimates associating clinical variables and AF detection, reporting the results in adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) and 95% CI. Hazard ratio and OR were treated as equivalent measures of risk, as they were all derived from cohort studies. Finally, we analyzed the association of AF on short- and long-term outcomes in ACS. All statistical tests were two-tailed and statistical significance defined as p-value ≤ 0.05 . All analyses were conducted with R version 3.6.2 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). Some of the forest plots were exported from R software to Adobe Illustrator (Adobe Inc., San Jose, CA, USA) for editing.

6.1.2.6 Ethical approval

This is a systematic review using published data. Therefore, an ethical clearance is not required.

6.1.3 Results

6.1.3.1 Study selection and characteristics

Database and bibliographic searches retrieved 17,816 records from which 109 articles were finally included (**Figure 1**). The list of included studies and their characteristics are presented in the appendix (**Supplementary Tables 2–4**). The included studies reported data from a pooled sample of 8,239,364 patients, were conducted between 2000 and 2019, and published between 2007 and 2020. Most studies were conducted in Europe (52.3%, n = 57), Asia (17.4%, n = 19), and Northern America (11.9%, n = 13), with the most represented country

being the U.S. (11.0%, n = 12). Most studies had low (50.9%, n = 56) or moderate (46.4%, n = 51) risk of bias (**Supplementary Table 4**).

6.1.3.2 Prevalence/incidence of AF according to temporal patterns

6.1.3.2.1 Pre-existing AF

Thirty-three studies reported on pre-existing AF from a pooled population of nearly half a million patients with ACS (**Table 1**). The overall prevalence of pre-existing AF was 5.8%. The prevalence was 5.5% and 3.7% in patients with AMI and STEMI respectively (**Table 1**).

6.1.3.2.2 Newly diagnosed AF

Sixty-two studies reported on newly diagnosed AF from a pooled population of 501,513 patients with ACS (**Table 1**). The overall prevalence of newly diagnosed AF was 7.3% (**Supplementary Figure 4**). The prevalence was 7.4%, 6.9% and 8.6% in patients with AMI, STEMI, and NSTEMI respectively (**Table 1**).

6.1.3.2.3 Prevalent AF

We obtained data on prevalent (total) AF from 7.2 million participants from 58 studies (**Table 1**). The prevalence of any type of AF was 11.3% in all studies. It was 10.9% and 10.7% in patients with AMI and STEMI (**Table 1**).

6.1.3.2.4 Publication bias, sensitivity analysis, and meta-regression

There was no evidence of publication bias or small-study effect in the pooled analysis of prevalent AF detection (funnel plot asymmetry: p > 0.05). However, we detected publication

bias or small study-effect in the analyses for pre-existing and newly diagnosed (funnel plot was asymmetrical: p = 0.03, **Supplementary Figures 1–3**). After correction for publication bias or small-study effect, the prevalence of pre-existing AF increased to 7.9% (missing studies identified: 11, *Egger's* p = 0.95, **Supplementary Figure 4**). In contrast, the prevalence of newly diagnosed AF decreased to 5.3% after bias correction (missing studies identified: 23, *Egger's* p = 0.89, **Supplementary Figure 5**). Bias-corrected funnel plots for pre-existing and newly diagnosed AF are presented in the appendix (**Supplementary Figures 6 and 7**)

Given the high heterogeneity in the pooled analyses, we performed a meta-regression to determine factors influencing the pooled prevalence of AF. We identified prior history of stroke or TIA, diabetes, and hypertension as the predictors of higher pooled prevalence of newly diagnosed AF, accounting for 30.8%, 12.4%, and 9.9% variances in the pooled results, whereas RoB was negatively predictive of the proportion of patients with AF, with a variance of 18.5% (**Supplementary Figure 8**). For pre-existing AF, hypertension and RoB positively predicted the pooled results, whereas male sex negatively predicted prevalence (**Supplementary Figure 9**). Mean age, history of dyslipidemia, and hypertension positively predicted prevalent AF prevalence, explaining 7.6% to 20.8% variances; RoB was not predictive of prevalent AF (**Supplementary Figure 10**). Additionally, we performed subgroup analyses by the quality of each study, with the scores categorized into: Low or Moderate (**Table 1**). The heterogeneity remained high, but lower in the sub-analyses of studies with moderate quality versus low.

6.1.3.3 Predictors of AF in AMI

6.1.3.3.1 Meta-analysis of univariable estimates

Univariable analysis of factors associated with newly diagnosed AF was performed using data from 38 studies reporting data on from a total of 322,711 patients (**Supplementary Figure 11**). The following variables were significantly associated with newly diagnosed AF (p <0.05): age (per yearly increase), LA diameter, LVEF (per unit decrement), estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR, per unit decrement), C-reactive protein (CRP), CHA₂DS₂Vasc score, N-terminal proBNP, heart rate, female sex, hypertension, diabetes, previous stroke, heart failure, chronic kidney disease (CKD), previous AMI, cardiac arrest, Killip 2, and Killip 3 or 4 as positive predictors; and smoking history and dyslipidemia the sole negative predictors.

Factors associated with pre-existing and prevalent AF are presented in the appendix (Supplementary Figures 12 and 13).

6.1.3.3.2 Meta-analysis of multivariable estimates

We performed a meta-analysis of predictors of newly diagnosed AF from multivariable analysis in 20 studies with a pooled sample of 60,404 patients. Pooled predictors included age (per year increase) (aOR 1.05, 95% CI 1.04–1.06), CRP (aOR 1.49, 95% CI 1.03–2.16), left atrial (LA) diameter (aOR 1.08, 95% CI 1.05–1.11), LA dilatation (aOR 2.32, 95% CI 1.67–3.22), LVEF <40% (aOR 1.82, 95% CI 1.38–2.39), hypertension (aOR 1.87, 95% CI 1.09–3.21), and Killip >1 (aOR 1.85, 95% CI 1.47–2.33) (**Figure 2**).

6.1.3.4 Association of AF with adverse outcomes in AMI

6.1.3.4.1 Short-term outcomes

Newly diagnosed AF was associated with an increased risk of acute heart failure (aHR 3.20, 95% CI 2.91–3.51), acute kidney injury (aHR 3.09, 95% CI 2.73–3.50), re-infarction (aHR 1.96, 95% CI 1.00–3.83), stroke (aHR 2.15, 95% CI 1.67–2.78), major bleeding (aHR 2.93, 95% CI 2.00–4.29), and mortality (aHR 1.82, 95% CI 1.43–2.31). The risks of short-term outcomes were consistently higher for newly diagnosed AF compared to pre-existing AF or prevalent AF (**Figure 3**). Pre-existing AF did not increase the risk of acute heart failure, major bleeding, and stroke (all p > 0.05).

6.1.3.4.2 Long-term outcomes

Newly diagnosed AF was associated with an increased risk of heart failure (aHR 2.21, 95% CI 1.47–3.31), stroke (aHR 1.75, 95% CI 1.44–2.12), mortality (aHR 1.67, 95% CI 1.52–1.84), CV mortality (aHR 2.09, 95% CI 1.52–2.88), sudden cardiac death (aHR 1.53, 95% CI 1.24–1.89), and a composite of major adverse cardiovascular events (aHR 1.54, 95% CI 1.30–1.82). Pre-existing AF did not increase the risk of stroke and of a composite of major cardiovascular events (all p > .05) (**Figure 4**).

6.1.4 Discussion

Atrial fibrillation and AMI are known to co-exist, and AF has prognostic implications in patients with AMI or ACS in general. To the best of our knowledge, no prior review has provided a comprehensive summary of key aspects of the epidemiology of AF in AMI. Using a meta-analysis, the current review demonstrates that: 1) the prevalence of pre-existing AF, newly diagnosed AF and prevalent AF are 5.8%, 7.3% and 11.3%, respectively, in patients

with ACS; 2) predictors of newly diagnosed AF include older age, hypertension, diabetes, CKD, heart failure at presentation, reduced LVEF and LA dilatation; 3) AF markedly increases the risk of short-term and long-term adverse outcomes, but this varies according to the timing of AF (**Figure 5**).

This study shows that AF is a common arrhythmia in the setting of AMI, and ACS in general. Some patients have pre-existing AF, but a higher proportion of patients are diagnosed for the first time with AF during the index presentation for AMI. This stresses the importance of continuous electrographic monitoring following AMI to identify AF alongside ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Although the intensity of electrographic monitoring was not reported in most studies, continuous monitoring at least during the acute phase and in the coronary care unit is now considered as standard of care ⁵⁷⁵. Considering the high incidence of AF after AMI and its poor prognosis, prolonged outpatient monitoring after hospitalization might be beneficial in high-risk patients. In fact, one study using implantable cardiac monitors revealed an AF incidence of 28% after an average follow-up of 1.9 years among patients who had an AMI and a LVEF $\leq 40\%$ ⁵⁷⁶. Predictors of newly diagnosed AF identified in our study (older age, hypertension, diabetes, CKD, heart failure, reduced LVEF and LA enlargement) could be used to select a subset of patients that have an increased risk of developing AF and who may benefit from intensified clinical follow-up and implantable cardiac monitoring. In view of the increasing availability and ease of use of implantable cardiac monitor in one hand, and the effectiveness of oral anticoagulation in reducing thromboembolic events and mortality in patients with AF on the other hand ⁴⁰⁷, studies should be conducted to develop and validate AF screening strategies based on risk-stratification that would be cost-effective in patients with AMI.

Indeed, AF was associated with a higher risk of short-term (in-hospital and within 30 days after AMI) adverse outcomes such as death, re-infarction, stroke, acute kidney injury,

acute heart failure, cardiogenic shock and bleeding. There are several potential mechanisms explaining the association of AF with these poor outcomes in the setting of AMI. Hemodynamic derangement induced by AF such as poor atrial contraction, rapid and irregular ventricular rates, and atrioventricular desynchrony lead to reduced cardiac output, and ultimately to acute heart failure, cardiogenic shock, and acute kidney injury ^{566, 577, 578}. These mechanisms also contribute to further impairment in coronary circulation resulting in worsening myocardial ischemia and eventually re-infarction ^{566, 577, 578}. These hemodynamic changes, especially blood stasis in the LA, also promote thrombogenesis and cardioembolic stroke ^{578, 579}. The increased risk of bleeding in AF patients might be due to a higher utilization of antithrombotic therapies ⁵⁸⁰. The harmful impact of AF following an AMI extends beyond the index hospitalization, remaining significant even after several years. Considering the strong prognostic impact of AF in the setting of AMI, its incorporation into risk stratification schemes such as the GRACE and TIMI scores should be considered.

This study shows that all types of AF, whether pre-existing or newly diagnosed, might increase the risk of death in patients with AMI. However, newly diagnosed AF seems to be associated with higher risk. Furthermore, unlike newly diagnosed AF, pre-existing AF does not increase the risk of stroke, re-infarction, or acute heart failure (in-hospital). A potential explanation is that a large proportion of patients with pre-existing AF are already receiving oral anticoagulation at the time of the AMI unlike patients with newly diagnosed AF ⁵⁸⁰. The anticoagulation probably reduces the extent of acute ischemia and infarction, leading to lower rates of and less severe adverse outcomes in patients with pre-existing AF ⁵⁸⁰. Indeed, compared with patients with newly diagnosed AF, those with pre-existing AF have been shown to have lower infarct size as estimated by serum creatinine kinase levels, and lower NT-proBNP levels, an indicator of cardiac strain and left ventricular dysfunction ⁵⁸⁰.

Our findings highlight the need for effective AF management as part of secondary cardiovascular prevention in AMI survivors, in which antithrombotic therapy is an important aspect. To-date, there is no well-established optimal antithrombotic strategy in patients with AF and AMI. Some RCTs (AUGUSTUS, ENTRUST-AF PCI, WOEST, PIONEER AF-PCI and RE-DUAL PCI) have demonstrated that dual antithrombotic therapy (DAT) is associated with lower bleeding events compared to triple antithrombotic therapy (TAT) in AF patients with AMI and/or undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), with similar rates of thromboembolic events (although underpowered) ⁵⁸¹⁻⁵⁸⁵. A recent meta-analysis confirmed that DAT significantly reduces bleeding events compared with TAT and probably has a similar effect in preventing ischemic events in AF patients post-PCI or ACS ⁵⁸⁶. However, studies are still needed to determine whether the efficacy of DAT is not inferior specifically in patients at high risk of ischemic events. Another important question is whether pre-existing AF and newly diagnosed AF should be managed similarly. In fact, an observational study showed that DAT had a survival benefit in patients with pre-existing AF but not in those with newly diagnosed AF, whereas it showed the opposite scenario for TAT, suggesting that TAT might be more appropriate in patients with newly diagnosed AF ⁵⁸⁰. Future studies should also determine the best timing for rhythm control therapy in patients with newly diagnosed AF after AMI, in view of the superiority of early rhythm control therapy over usual care in reducing adverse cardiovascular outcomes among patients with recently diagnosed AF (≤ 1 year) and cardiovascular co-morbidities demonstrated by the recent EAST-AFNET 4 Trial ²⁸¹.

This study has some limitations. First, there was marked heterogeneity in pooled prevalence estimates. The marked difference in the distribution of risk factors for AF (**Supplementary Table 4**) across studies was likely the main source of this heterogeneity. The prevalence rates were also lower in studies done after year 2000, suggesting that the period of recruitment could be a potential source of heterogeneity, although most of the

included studies (85.5%) were conducted after year 2000. Second, AF burden that has been suggested as a specific prognostic factor was not reported in included primary studies and therefore, not considered in our analysis, as well as information on cardioversion of AF especially in patients with newly diagnosed AF. Furthermore, it is unknown whether a proportion of patients initially in sinus rhythm developed AF during follow-up. However, this scenario would be in favour of a more deleterious effect of AF, hence supporting the conclusion of our study. Third, data used in our analysis span two decades and therefore might not totally reflect contemporary practice. Finally, although primary estimates included in analyses of AF predictors and prognosis were adjusted for potential confounders, there remains a possibility of reverse causation and residual confounding.

Nevertheless, our study has important strengths. It is the most comprehensive and upto-date summary of data on the incidence, risk factors, and prognosis of AF in AMI. We used more precise definitions of AF according to timing (pre-existing, newly diagnosed, and prevalent AF) than previously reported. We covered several major outcomes categorized as short-term or long-term. We performed robust quantitative synthesis on a large dataset from a population of nearly 9 million individuals.

6.1.5 Conclusion

This study shows that about one in nine patients with AMI has AF, with a high proportion of newly diagnosed AF. Predictors of newly diagnosed AF identified in our study could be used to select high-risk patients who may benefit from prolonged cardiac monitoring. Atrial fibrillation, in particular newly diagnosed AF, is associated with poor short-term and longterm outcomes in patients with ACS. Considering this strong prognostic impact of AF, its incorporation into risk stratification schemes for patients with AMI should be considered. Studies are needed to determine the benefit of prolonged cardiac monitoring for AF detection in patients with ACS and the optimal antithrombotic strategy in patients with ACS and AF.

6.1.6 Tables and figures

Table 1. Pooled estimates of atrial fibrillation occurrence in acute coronary syndromes**Figure 1.** Study selection

Figure 2. Summarized predictors of newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation. Each point estimate represents a pooled result of studies reporting the association between that predictor and AF.

Legend: AF: atrial fibrillation; eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate; LA: left atrial; LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction; STEMI: ST elevation myocardial infarction;

Figure 3. Association of atrial fibrillation types with short-term outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction

Figure 4. Association of atrial fibrillation types with long-term outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction

Figure 5. Central illustration.

Legend: ACS: acute coronary syndrome; AF: atrial fibrillation; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; STEMI: ST elevation myocardial infarction

Subgroup of studies	Number	No. of par	tients	Detection rate	Heterog	eneity	<i>Egger's</i> test
	of studies	Total	Cases	(95% CI)	I ²	P value	(P value)
Pre-existing AF							
• Overall	33	485,573	38,123	5.75 (7.58 – 7.73)	99.2%	<.001	0.032
• Type of ACS*							
- AMI	24	336,721	27,274	5.41 (4.42 - 6.50)	99.2%	<.001	0.056
- STEMI	6	13,593	500	3.73 (2.34 - 5.42)	95.3%	<.001	0.697
• Level of RoB [#]							
- Low	21	467,921	37,434	6.59 (5.65 - 7.56)	99.4%	<.001	0.257
- Moderate	12	17,652	689	4.32 (3.12 – 5.70)	94.1%	<.001	0.088
Newly diagnosed AF							
• Overall	62	501,513	31,059	7.30 (6.67 – 7.92)	98.8%	<.001	0.037
• Type of ACS*							
- AMI	46	296,827	20,598	7.44 (6.84 - 8.03)	96.7%	<.001	0.658
- STEMI	18	39,465	2,496	6.87 (5.92 - 7.82)	93.3%	<.001	0.025
- NSTEMI	3	13,315	755	8.57 (3.80 - 15.01)	98.9%	<.001	0.654
• Level of RoB [#]							
- Low	35	407,855	24,718	5.89 (5.20 - 6.62)	98.7%	<.001	0.342

 Table 1. Pooled estimates of atrial fibrillation occurrence in acute coronary syndromes

- Moderate	27	93,658	6,341	9.03 (8.08 - 10.03)	94.8%	<.001	<.001
Prevalent AF							
• Overall	58	7,235,380	1,072,605	11.25 (9.81 – 12.70)	100.0%	<.001	0.151
• Type of ACS*							
- AMI	38	1,881,503	178,422	10.86 (9.57 – 12.14)	99.7%	<.001	0.245
- STEMI	12	1,515,685	131,718	10.72 (9.26 – 12.19)	96.4%	<.001	0.132
• Level of RoB [#]							
- Low	29	7,139,199	1,064,554	11.02 (9.24 – 12.94)	100.0%	<.001	0.186
- Moderate	28	96,013	8,031	10.9 (9.02 - 12.99)	98.9%	<.001	0.002





Figure 2. Summarized predictors of newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation. Each point estimate represents a pooled result of studies reporting the association between that predictor and AF.

Variables	Studies	Patients	Hazard Ratio	OR	95% CI	P value	I-square
Demographic Cha	aracterist	tics					
Age (per vear)	12	49.144	•	1.05	[1.04: 1.06]	0.00	26.8%
Female sex	3	45,940	⊢ ∎-I	1.13	[0.73; 1.76]	0.58	77.6%
Chronic Diseases	5						
Hypertension	3	3.570	⊢ ∎-1	1.87	[1.09: 3.21]	0.02	59.6%
Heart Failure	2	38,484	⊢ ↓ ● 1	2.26	[0.61: 8.39]	0.22	0.0%
eGFR <60	4	5,636	⊢ ∎_1	2.15	[0.97; 4.78]	0.06	0.0%
Acute Clinical Fe	atures						
STEMI	2	8,391	H B I	1.22	[0.92; 1.63]	0.17	0.0%
Killip >1	4	4,400	Hei	1.85	[1.47; 2.33]	0.00	0.0%
Non-clinical Fact	ors						
Statin use	2	1,724	⊢	0.33	[0.02; 4.97]	0.42	0.0%
LVEF <40%	5	9,926	Hei	1.82	[1.38; 2.39]	0.00	35.3%
LA diameter	6	3,558	•	1.08	[1.05; 1.11]	0.00	0.0%
LA dilatation	2	6,553	HeH	2.32	[1.67; 3.22]	0.00	0.0%
NT-proBNP	2	2,308	⊢ I	2.38	[0.67; 8.47]	0.18	80.0%
C-reactive protein	3	1,039		1.49	[1.03; 2.16]	0.03	92.3%
			0.1 0.5 1 2 10				

Legend. AF: atrial fibrillation; eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate; LA: left atrial; LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction; STEMI: ST elevation myocardial infarction
Figure 3. Association of atrial fibrillation types with short-term outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction

AF Subtype	Studies	Patients	Hazard Ratio	HR	95% CI	P value	l-square
A outo Hoort Failuro							
Acute neart railure			_				
Pre–existing AF	2	62,262	▶ ● 1	1.17	[0.70; 1.95]	0.55	62.8%
Newly diagnosed AF	2	62,262	H	3.20	[2.91; 3.51]	0.00	0.0%
Acute Kidney Infect	ion						
Pre-existing AF	2	62,262	⊢∎-1	1.56	[1.25; 1.93]	0.00	8.0%
Newly diagnosed AF	2	62,262	H	3.09	[2.73; 3.50]	0.00	0.0%
Bleeding							
Pre-existing AF	2	93,409	I ∎ I	1.14	[0.97; 1.33]	0.11	0.0%
Newly diagnosed AF	6	110,502	⊢ ∎⊸i	2.93	[2.00; 4.29]	0.00	72.4%
Prevalent AF	3	1,962,320	⊢⊕ 1	1.36	[1.18; 1.58]	0.00	86.8%
MI							
Newly diagnosed AF	3	11,367	 −−−−1	1.96	[1.00; 3.83]	0.05	68.1%
Mortality							
Pre-existing AF	5	110,818	H#H	1.34	[1.19; 1.52]	0.00	0.0%
Newly diagnosed AF	12	223,713	⊢ ∎-1	1.82	[1.43; 2.31]	0.00	71.9%
Prevalent AF	8	2,071,220	H	1.42	[1.23; 1.64]	0.00	95.9%
Stroke							
Pre-existing AF	2	62,262	⊢ ∎_1	1.18	[0.86; 1.61]	0.31	0.0%
Newly diagnosed AF	3	73,558	⊢∎-1	2.15	[1.67; 2.78]	0.00	0.0%
Prevalent AF	3	2,007,937	⊢ ∎−i	1.63	[1.25; 2.14]	0.00	92.0%
			0.0 1 2				

Figure 4. Association of atrial fibrillation types with long-term outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction

AF Subtype	Studies	Patients	Hazard	Ratio	HR	95% CI	P value	I-square
CV Death								
Newly diagnosed AF	2	3,661		⊢	2.09	[1.52; 2.88]	0.00	0.0%
Heart Failure								
Pre-existing AF	2	9,836		⊢	1.84	[1.19; 2.84]	0.01	50.6%
Newly diagnosed AF	3	10,324		⊢ – •	2.21	[1.51; 3.25]	0.00	75.7%
MACE								
Pre-existing AF	2	9,333	H-		1.67	[0.97; 2.87]	0.06	82.1%
Newly diagnosed AF	3	12,614		⊢€⊣	1.54	[1.30; 1.82]	0.00	0.0%
Mortality								
Pre-existing AF	8	40,088		⊢-●1	1.46	[1.15; 1.85]	0.00	76.1%
Newly diagnosed AF	21	237,730		H	1.67	[1.52; 1.83]	0.00	63.3%
Prevalent AF	10	255,717		⊢●─1	1.63	[1.34; 1.98]	0.00	78.4%
Myocardial Infarctio	n							
Prevalent AF	2	164,172	ŀ	-€-I	1.15	[1.03; 1.27]	0.01	0.0%
Stroke								
Pre-existing AF	2	9,893	⊢+	●	1.12	[0.82; 1.51]	0.48	0.0%
Newly diagnosed AF	3	18,929		⊢∎⊣	1.73	[1.47; 2.05]	0.00	16.2%
Prevalent AF	3	275,195		⊢ +	1.81	[1.31; 2.50]	0.00	82.2%
Sudden Cardiac Dea	ath							
Newly diagnosed AF	2	22,512		⊢● −1	1.53	[1.24; 1.89]	0.00	0.0%
			0.5 1	2				





Legend. ACS: acute coronary syndrome; AF: atrial fibrillation; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; STEMI: ST elevation myocardial infarction

6.1.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Search strategies

	Search strategy for PubMed
#P1	"myocardial infarction" OR "STEMI" OR "NSTEMI" OR "acute coronary"
#P2	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation" OR "AF" OR "Afib"
#P3	#P1 AND #P2
	Search strategy for EMBASE
#E1	'myocardial infarction':ab,ti OR 'STEMI':ab,ti OR 'STEMI':ab,ti OR 'NSTEMI':ab,ti OR 'acute coronary':ab,ti
#E2	'atrial fibrillation':ab,ti OR 'auricular fibrillation':ab,ti OR 'AF':ab,ti OR 'AFib':ab,ti
#E3	#E1 AND #E2
#E4	#E3 AND ('article'/it OR 'article in press'/it)
	Search strategy for Web of Science
#W1	"myocardial infarction" OR "STEMI" OR "NSTEMI" OR "acute coronary"
#W2	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation" OR "AF" OR "Afib"
#W3	#1 AND #2
#W4	#3 AND limit to articles

Characteristics	N = 109
Total population	8,239,364
Year of publication, range	2007-2020
Period of inclusion of participants, range	2000-2019
Design	
- Cohort	102
- Randomized controlled trial	7
Data collection	
- Prospective	63
- Retrospective	46
Regions	
- Europe	57
- Asia	19
- Northern America	13
- Middle East	8
- Multiregional	7
- Oceania	3
- South America	2
Countries	
- US	12
- Multinational	9
- Turkey	9
- Spain	8
- China	7
- France	6
- Italy	5
- Israel	5
- Taiwan	5
- Egypt	3
- Korea	3
- Portugal	3
- The Netherlands	3
- Germany	3
- United Kingdom	3
- Japan	2
- Australia	2
- Sweden	2
- Cuba	2
- Pakistan	2
- Poland	2
- Russia	2
- Serbia	2
- Switzerland	2
- Denmark	1
- Austria	1
- Mexico	1

Supplementary Table 2. Summarized study characteristics

- Montenegro	1
- New Zealand	1
- Norway	1
- Romania	1
Sampling	
- Non-probability	102
- Random	7
Risk of bias	
- Low	56
- Moderate	51
- High	2

	Year					Timing of			Methods of	
Author	of pub	Period of recruitment	Country	Study design	Sampling	data collection	Study population	Components of diagnosis of AMI	diagnosis of AF	AF definition
Aksoy	2019	2014-2015	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, troponin	ECG	AF episode > 30 s during hospitalization
Al Khdair	2012	1999-2008	Multinational	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Alasady	2011	2004-2009	Australia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ESC/ACC 2003	72-hour telemetry post-MI and then daily ECG	AF episode > 30 s during hospitalization
Alexander	2017	2013-2015	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	NSTEMI	NR	ECG	NR
Almendro- Delia	2014	2001-2011	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Álvarez- Álvarez	2014	2004-2010	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Antoni	2010	2004-2005	Netherlands	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Ariyarajah	2008	2004-2005	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	NSTEMI	ESC/ACC 2003	ECG	NR
Aronson	2007	2001-2005	Israel	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ESC/ACC 2000	ECG	NR
Athar	2011	2003-2007	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Axelrod	2020	2002-2014	Israel	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	AF episode > 30 s during hospitalization
Barra	2013	2006-2011	UK	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ESC/ACCF/AHA/WHF 2007	24-hour Holter, ECG	NR
Batra	2016	2000-2009	Sweden	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	NR	ECG	NR
Bejot	2011	2005-2008	France	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	NR	ECG	NR
Biasco	2019	2004-2015	Switzerland	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	NR	ECG	NR
Bloch Thomsen	2010	2001-2009	Europe	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	Low LVEF (<40) AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ICM	NR

Supplementary Table 3. General characteristics of included studies

r									1	
Braga	2014	2009-2011	Portugal	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Butala	2011	2009-2010	Egypt	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	NR	NR
Calabro	2018	2016-2017	Italy	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	NR	NR
Cerrato	2017	2007-2013	Italy	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	NR	NR
Chen HY	2016	2000-2011	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	NR	NR	NR
Chen SY	2014	2002-2006	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	NR	NR	NR
Cinier	2018	2015-2016	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Cirakoglu	2019	2015-2017	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	NR	NR
Congo	2019	2010-2017	Portugal	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	NR	NR
Cordero	2019	2003-2016	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Cosentino	2020	2010-2018	Italy	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	AF episode > 30 s during hospitalization
									Telemetry	
Dai	2017	2013-2014	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	FCG cardiac biomarkers	or 12-lead	NR
Danchin	2010	2005	France	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
De Luca	2017	2001-2014	Italy	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Dorie	2013	2008-2011	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Erez	2017	2000-2013	Israel	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	NR	ECG	NR
Gal	2016	2006-2007	Netherlands	RCT	Random	Prospective	AMI	ECG. cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Gal	2015	2006-2007	Netherlands	RCT	Random	Prospective	AMI	ECG cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Garg	2018	2003-2013	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Gonzalez- Pacheco	2015	2006-2013	Mexico	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Gourronc	2019	2004-2015	France	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Green	2016	2009-2012	Denmark	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	NR	NR	NR
Guenancia	2018	2012-2015	France	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	Telemetry, 12-lead ECG	AF episode > 30 s
Hachet	2014	2001-2010	France	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR

Hersi	2012	2008-2009	Multinational	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Но	2020	2017-2018	New Zealand	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Huang SS	2013	2002-2005	Taiwan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Hwang	2011	2005-2007	Korea	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Ibrahim	2019	After 2016	Egypt	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Iqbal	2019	2014-2015	Pakistan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	Telemetry, 12-lead ECG	AF episode > 30 s
Jackson	2016	2008-2012	Multinational	RCT	Random	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Jortveit	2019	2013-2016	Norway	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	NR	NR
Karatas	2016	2009-2013	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Kayapinar	2018	2009-2014	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Khalfallah	2020	2017-2019	Egypt	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Khan	2017	2016	Pakistan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Kim	2018	2010-2014	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Koracevic	2008	2000-2005	Serbia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Kundu	2016	1999-2011	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Lau DH	2009	2005-2007	Australia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	Telemetry, 12-lead ECG	NR
Li CY	2018	2008-2012	Taiwan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Li K	2008	2001-2006	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Lin	2011	2005-2009	Taiwan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Liu	2011	2009-2010	Taiwan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Lopes	2013	2004-2008	Multinational	RCT	Random	Prospective	NSTEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Lopes	2012	2008-2009	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	NR	ECG	NR
Lopes	2009	2004-2006	Multinational	RCT	Random	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Loudon	2016	2000-2013	UK	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Luca	2020	2005-2010	Italy	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Luo	2020	2014-2018	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	AF episode >

										30 s
Maagh	2010	2004-2007	Germany	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Mai	2019	2013-2018	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	Holter, ECG	NR
Maier	2014	2008-2012	Germany	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Malay	2017	2014	Russia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Manzano- Fernández	2016	2012-2015	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Martsevich	2014	2005-2007	Russia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
McManus	2012	2000-2007	Multinational	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Melendo- Viu	2020	2011-2015	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Mohamed	2019	2004-2014	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	NSTE- ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Moss	2019	2009-2014	UK	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Mrdovic	2011	2006-2009	Serbia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Nagai	2019	2008-2012	Japan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Ozaydin	2010	2004-2007	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Parashar	2013	2005-2008	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	Telemetry, 12-lead ECG	AF episode > 30 s
Pilgrim	2013	2002-2009	Switzerland	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Podolecki	2017	2004-2014	Poland	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Ramani	2007	2001-2006	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Raposeiras Roubín	2015	2008-2012	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Reinstadler	2018	2008-2011	Germany	RCT	Random	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Rene	2014	2005-2007	Multinational	RCT	Random	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Rhyou	2018	2009-2015	Korea	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Ribeiro	2014	2008-2010	Portugal	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Rodríguez- Jiménez	2020	2013-2018	Cuba	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR

Rodríguez-										
Jiménez	2017	2013-2015	Cuba	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Rohla	2015	2003-2012	Austria	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
									Telemetry,	
Sagnard	2020	2001 2014	Franco	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECC cardiac biomarkars	12-lead	AF episode $>$
	2020	2001-2014		Collott	N 1 1 1	D	AMI		ECO	30 8
	2010	2005-2006	Poland	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NK
Serban	2019	2011-2016	Romania	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
										AF episode >
Shiyovich	2019	2002-2012	Israel	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	hospitalization
Topaz	2017	2008-2014	Israel	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Torres	2008	2003-2005	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Ulvenstam	2018	2009-2013	Sweden	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	NR	NR
Viliani	2012	2004-2008	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Vukmirović	2017	2009-2010	Montenegro	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Wang	2019	2005-2009	Taiwan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Wi	2016	2005-2012	Korea	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
									24-hour	
			~	~ .					Holter and	
Xue	2019	2014-2017	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
Yesin	2018	2016-2017	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
V:14:							NOTE		Telemetry,	
Frkan	2019	2018	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	FCG cardiac biomarkers	T2-lead ECG	AF episode >
Yildirim,	2017	2010	Turkey	Colloit	Ttomprobability	Trospective	neb		Leo	50 8
Ersin	2019	2017-2018	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	STEMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
									Telemetry	
Yoshizaki	2012	2005-2010	Japan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	, ECG	NR
Zeymer	2019	2010-2011	Multinational	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	ACS	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	NR
									500	AF episode >
Zhang	2014	2005-2007	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	AMI	ECG, cardiac biomarkers	ECG	30 s

ACS: acute coronary syndromes; AF: atrial fibrillation; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ECG: electrocardiogram; LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction; NR: not reported; NSTEMI: non-ST elevation myocardial infarction; pub: publication; RCT: randomized controlled trial; STEMI: ST elevation myocardial infarction;

	Year of										Prior stroke					Risk of bias
	Publ		Mean				DUG			ave	or	Heart	Prior	a i b		
Author		Total sample	age (years)	Males (%)	HPT (%)	Diabetes (%)	DYSL (%)	Obesity (%)	Smokers (%)	CKD (%)	TIA (%)	failure (%)	MI (%)	CAD (%)	STEMI	
Aksoy	2019	696	62.6	80	51	25.1	21.7		56							Low
Al Khdair	2012	14285	67	66.6	59.9	27.2	53.2		26.7				32.6		28.1	Low
Alasady	2011	2460														Low
Alexander	2017	322	65.4	72.3	72	32.3	56.5		63.4		10.9			36.6		High
Almendro- Delia	2014	39237	64.3	73.8	52.2	31.8		10.8	36.4			4.6	17.6		59.9	Low
Álvarez- Álvarez	2014	4229	66.9	62.1	57.1	26.5	45.2				6.8			23.1	35.1	Low
Antoni	2010	613	60	78	29	10	20		51				7			Moderate
Ariyarajah	2008	462														Moderate
Aronson	2007	1209	61.9	77.4	52.6	29			15.8				22.6		70.4	Low
Athar	2011	1594	62.1													Moderate
Axelrod	2020	12535														Low
Barra	2013	1852	68.3	65.7		33.7					8.9					Moderate
Batra	2016	155071	70.5	64.1	51.4	22.2					7.8	12.2	26.2		37.1	Low
Bejot	2011	525419														Low
Biasco	2019	34377														Moderate
Bloch Thomsen	2010	297	64	77	43.4	19.9										Moderate
Braga	2014	902	64	77.5	61.5	25.8	53		28.9	7						Moderate
Butala	2011	1177		79	51.8	44	20.7					4.6	16.8		70.6	Moderate
Calabro	2018	1171		72.3	69.7	26.3	52.1		47.7		6.5		18.2		48.4	Moderate
Cerrato	2017	1372	66.6	70.4	51.9	17.4			25.1						100	Moderate
Chen HY	2016	4810	68.9	58.2												Moderate

Supplementary Table 4. Clinical characteristics of participants in the included studies

Chen SY	2014	795	76	49.2	68.1											Moderate
Cinier	2018	198	57	87.4	40.4	30.8		20.2	66.7							Moderate
Cirakoglu	2019	692	63.1	74	76.6	22.4	74.9		45.7					49.6	46.1	Moderate
Congo	2019	6325		75.8	59.6	23.7	51.1	20.1	38.6	2.9	5.4	1.4	10.1	8.5		Low
Cordero	2019	8771	66.9	62.5	57.9	28.2	48		30.6	23.5	6.4	4		21.3	35.3	Moderate
Cosentino	2020	244	68	73.9	65.1	22.4	50		52.7				26.5		47	Low
Dai	2017	24658	63	74.2	51.5	20	8		54.7	1.4	9.5		7.7	28.2	75.7	Moderate
Danchin	2010	3396	66.5	68.9	58.3	35.5	48.4		30.3						51.9	Low
De Luca	2017	16803														Low
Dorje	2013	268	64.2	83.6	67.5	26.5	13.1		49.6							Moderate
Erez	2017	13297	63	76.8	50	35			36.6				30			Moderate
Gal	2016	830														Low
Gal	2015	861														Low
Garg	2018	1493859	61.2													Low
Gonzalez- Pacheco	2015	6705														Low
Gourronc	2019	3173	65	72.8	50.7	22.2	51.2		37.2	3.3	4.6			10.7		Low
Green	2016	7104														Moderate
Guenancia	2018	1282	65.6	67.8	52.7	20	43.6	17.9			5			13		Low
Hachet	2014	8485	70	29.8	53.4	22.8	44.8		27.8		5.8		13.1			Moderate
Hersi	2012	7930	56.8	78.7	47.2	39.5	37.5		52.9		4.3	6.7	19.2	38.4	45.6	Low
Но	2020	9489	66.1	68.9		23.2			22.5			4.1	23.7		27.7	Low
Huang SS	2013	724	67	80.4	64.1	36.6					12.2	5.9	10.9			Moderate
Hwang	2011	401	62	73												Moderate
Ibrahim	2019	440	56.6	65.9	46.6	61.4	50		54.5							Moderate
Iqbal	2019	216	50.8	54.2	75.9	64.5			28.2						44.9	Moderate
Jackson	2016	9101	65.5	60.9	81.7	37.9	56		19.9			17.4	42.6			Low
Jortveit	2019	47204	69.3	63.1	47	18.6			27.7		8.7	8.5	23.7			Low
Karatas	2016	621	57	74.7	41.7	19.3			65.9							Moderate

Kayapinar	2018	4086														Moderate
Khalfallah	2020	530	62.3	56.2	31.3	41.5	41.7		20.2				10.6			Moderate
Khan	2017	207	59.09	74.7	55.1	35.6	36.2	15.5	22.2						51.7	Moderate
Kim	2018	709548	62.9	69	65.1	28.2	63.1		46.5	9.7		19.6	8.4	84.9	100	Low
Koracevic	2008	543	63.8	54.9	69.9	25.8			59.4				45.6		53.8	Moderate
Kundu	2016	6384	70.2	56												Moderate
Lau DH	2009	3230	64.9	64.1	64.3	26.7	60.5				6.8					Low
Li CY	2018	29452	66.5	74	65.5	37.8	37.7			10.6	19.5	14.9	8.6			Low
Li K	2008	967	74	63												Moderate
Lin	2011	783	61.3	83.1	55.3	36.2	57.2		56.1		7.9		7.9			Moderate
Liu	2011	6663	63	74.5												High
Lopes	2013	9242	67.5	69	71	30.5			26.5		5.1	12.2	27.6	30		Low
Lopes	2012	69255	64.1													Low
Lopes	2009	5726	61.1	77	49.4	15.8			43.3			3.6		16.4		Low
Loudon	2016	25287	66.6	64.2	45.1	21.6	24.8					18.4		48.9		Low
Luca	2020	12288	66.9	70.2	56.2	26.4			31.4	36.7	6	3.3	19.9			Low
Luo	2020	2075	65.2	77.3	63	36.8	26.4		44.7	8.4	11.3	5.3	6.5		60.8	Low
Maagh	2010	375	64	73.9												Moderate
Mai	2019	3612	61.6	60.9	37	17.9	35.3		22	2.6	2.4					Moderate
Maier	2014	11068														Moderate
Malay	2017	321			80	22	67									Moderate
Manzano-												_				
Fernández	2016	1587	67	72	73	46			31		10	5	34			Moderate
Martsevich	2014	1133		54.5												Moderate
McManus	2012	59032	66	67	61.9	25	48.3		57.2			10	29.7		37	Low
Melendo-Viu	2020	2158	63.3	76.2	59.1	26.3				6.6					41.8	Moderate
Mohamed	2019	4668737	69	56.9	69.9	30	48.8	12.5			3.4	0.8	9.6			Low
Moss	2019	1645	62	71.7	32.5	12.9	40.1		58.7		4		9.8			Moderate
Mrdovic	2011	2096	59.6	72.6	65.2	18.1	48.4		53.8				9.5			Low

Nagai	2019	648	67.9	78	70.4	37.5	57.6		37.2	33	11.6		10.6		69.3	Moderate
Ozaydin	2010	1000	61.1	75.5	55	23.6			54.3							Moderate
Parashar	2013	2370	57.8	68.3	65.3	31.1	46.9		42.4	6.4	4.5			30	44.5	Low
Pilgrim	2013	6041	63.9	75.4	57.6	17.7	53.5		51.4						47.6	Low
Podolecki	2017	4099	61.7	69.6	54.3	32.6	49.1				4.7		20.1			Moderate
Ramani	2007	1526	66	96	69.4	39.8	50.3		68.6		11.4	17.6		50.5		Low
Raposeiras Roubín	2015	1520	67.1	69.9	57.4	25.1									34.4	Low
Reinstadler	2018	786	61.5	75.7	68.1	20.2	38.6		46.7				6			Low
Rene	2014	3281	59.8	77.2	52.4	16	42.9						10.4			Low
Rhyou	2018	527	60.6	80.6	50.3	29	75.7									Low
Ribeiro	2014	2334														Low
Rodríguez- Jiménez	2020	667	67.4	66.1	79.3	30	14.4	27.4	57							Moderate
Rodríguez- Jiménez	2017	326		55.2												Moderate
Rohla	2015	1456	61.8	68	77	25	83						13			Low
Sagnard	2020	2040														Low
Sandowski	2010	26035	64.7	65.5	59.8	20.5	39.5	17	37.2				15			Moderate
Serban	2019	629	60.8	70.4	63.6	21.3				22.6		7.5	0			Moderate
Shiyovich	2019	5946	64.8	70	48.3	36	65.1	21.1	42.8					73.9	56.2	Low
Topaz	2017	1657	61.4	80.3	42.8	21.7	46.9		50.2			8.1	10.7			Low
Torres	2008	1183	64.5	72.4	58.2	25.9	42.8	16.9	24		6.1		17.2			Low
Ulvenstam	2018	34931	67	72	50	19			26.5		5.5	4				Low
Viliani	2012	913	62.9	77.7	49	22.9	39									Low
Vukmirović	2017	600	63.6	70.3	49	27.8	32.8		49.3	31.2		6.5	22.3		48.3	Moderate
Wang	2019	6663	66.6	67.8	71.7	40.2	41.9			10.6	10.6	11.2				Low
Wi	2016	2105	63.8	73	55	31			42		6		7	18	46	Low
Xue	2019	985	63.4	79.9	49.8	19.5				1.4	5.6		3.3			Low
Yesin	2018	171	63	83	52	35.7			64.3							Moderate

Yildirim, Frkan	2019	118	61 7	60.7	68 5	/0 1	34.8									Moderate
Vildirim Frein	2019	706	57.4	80.5	39.1	24.5	15.6		32.3		37					Low
Yoshizaki	2012	176	57.4	00.5	57.1	24.3	15.0		52.5		5.7					Moderate
Zevmer	2012	10568														Low
Zhang	2014	1035	65.2	70	51.9	23.8			38.4		12.3	25.7	9.6		85.3	Low
Aksov	2019	696	62.6	80	51	25.1	21.7		56		12.0		710		0010	Low
Al Khdair	2012	14285	67	66.6	59.9	27.2	53.2		26.7				32.6		28.1	Low
Alasady	2011	2460														Low
Alexander	2017	322	65.4	72.3	72	32.3	56.5		63.4		10.9			36.6		High
Almendro- Delia	2014	39237	64.3	73.8	52.2	31.8		10.8	36.4			4.6	17.6		59.9	Low
Álvarez-																
Alvarez	2014	4229	66.9	62.1	57.1	26.5	45.2				6.8			23.1	35.1	Low
Antoni	2010	613	60	78	29	10	20		51				7			Moderate
Ariyarajah	2008	462														Moderate
Aronson	2007	1209	61.9	77.4	52.6	29			15.8				22.6		70.4	Low
Athar	2011	1594	62.1													Moderate
Axelrod	2020	12535														Low
Barra	2013	1852	68.3	65.7		33.7					8.9					Moderate
Batra	2016	155071	70.5	64.1	51.4	22.2					7.8	12.2	26.2		37.1	Low
Bejot	2011	525419														Low
Biasco	2019	34377														Moderate
Bloch Thomsen	2010	297	64	77	43.4	19.9										Moderate
Braga	2014	902	64	77.5	61.5	25.8	53		28.9	7						Moderate
Butala	2011	1177		79	51.8	44	20.7					4.6	16.8		70.6	Moderate
Calabro	2018	1171		72.3	69.7	26.3	52.1		47.7		6.5		18.2		48.4	Moderate
Cerrato	2017	1372	66.6	70.4	51.9	17.4			25.1						100	Moderate
Chen HY	2016	4810	68.9	58.2												Moderate

Chen SY	2014	795	76	49.2	68.1											Moderate
Cinier	2018	198	57	87.4	40.4	30.8		20.2	66.7							Moderate
Cirakoglu	2019	692	63.1	74	76.6	22.4	74.9		45.7					49.6	46.1	Moderate
Congo	2019	6325		75.8	59.6	23.7	51.1	20.1	38.6	2.9	5.4	1.4	10.1	8.5		Low
Cordero	2019	8771	66.9	62.5	57.9	28.2	48		30.6	23.5	6.4	4		21.3	35.3	Moderate
Cosentino	2020	244	68	73.9	65.1	22.4	50		52.7				26.5		47	Low
Dai	2017	24658	63	74.2	51.5	20	8		54.7	1.4	9.5		7.7	28.2	75.7	Moderate
Danchin	2010	3396	66.5	68.9	58.3	35.5	48.4		30.3						51.9	Low
De Luca	2017	16803														Low
Dorje	2013	268	64.2	83.6	67.5	26.5	13.1		49.6							Moderate
Erez	2017	13297	63	76.8	50	35			36.6				30			Moderate
Gal	2016	830														Low
Gal	2015	861														Low
Garg	2018	1493859	61.2													Low
Gonzalez- Pacheco	2015	6705														Low
Gourronc	2019	3173	65	72.8	50.7	22.2	51.2		37.2	3.3	4.6			10.7		Low
Green	2016	7104														Moderate
Guenancia	2018	1282	65.6	67.8	52.7	20	43.6	17.9			5			13		Low
Hachet	2014	8485	70	29.8	53.4	22.8	44.8		27.8		5.8		13.1			Moderate

CKD; chronic kidney disease; HPT: hypertension; STEMI: ST elevation myocardial infarction; TIA: transient ischemic attack Risk of bias assessed using an adapted version of the tool developed by Hoy et al. Supplementary Figure 1. Funnel plot for the meta-analysis of prevalence of pre-existing atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes



Supplementary Figure 2. Funnel plot for the meta-analysis of prevalence of newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes







Supplementary Figure 4. Bias-corrected rate of pre-existing atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes

Author and Year	Total	Case	Prevalence (95% CI)	Prop (%)	[95% CI]	Weight
Batra 2016	155071	12281		7.87	[7.74; 8.01]	2.4%
Lopes 2012	69255	4947		7.03	[6.84; 7.22]	2.4%
McManus 2012	59032	4494		7.57	7.36; 7.79	2.4%
Jortveit 2019	46311	5393		11.64	[11.35; 11.93]	2.4%
Almendro-Delia 2014	39237	2851		7.27	[7.01; 7.53]	2.4%
De Luca 2017	16803	1019		6.06	[5.71; 6.43]	2.4%
Al Khdair 2012	14285	1333		9.31	[8.84; 9.79]	2.4%
Axelrod 2020	12535	1842		14.65	[14.03; 15.27]	2.4%
Zeymer 2019	10568	497		4.69	[4.29; 5.10]	2.3%
Ho 2020	9489	908		9.53	[8.95; 10.13]	2.3%
Hersi 2012	7930	166		2.03	[1.72; 2.35]	2.3%
Filled: Hersi 2012	7930	166		17.50	[16.67; 18.35]	2.3%
Wang 2019	6663	488		7.29	[6.68; 7.93]	2.3%
Kayapinar 2018	4086	160		3.91	[3.34; 4.53]	2.3%
Filled: Kayapinar 2018	4086	160	+	13.61	[12.57; 14.68]	2.3%
Mai 2019	3612	48		1.34	[0.99; 1.74]	2.3%
Filled: Mai 2019	3612	48	\rightarrow	19.79	[18.51; 21.11]	2.3%
Gonzalez-Pacheco 2015	3611	101		2.80	[2.28; 3.36]	2.3%
Filled: Gonzalez-Pacheco 2015	3611	101		15.81	[14.63; 17.01]	2.3%
Lau DH 2009	3230	387		11.94	[10.84; 13.09]	2.3%
Gourronc 2019	3173	158		4.99	[4.26; 5.77]	2.3%
Gonzalez-Pacheco 2015	3094	39		1.25	[0.88; 1.67]	2.3%
Filled: Gonzalez-Pacheco 2015	3094	39	\rightarrow	20.03	[18.63; 21.45]	2.3%
Parashar 2013	2582	212	<u> </u>	8.22	[7.19; 9.31]	2.3%
Topaz 2017	1657	77		4.66	[3.70; 5.73]	2.3%
Moss 2019	1645	64		3.87	[2.98; 4.86]	2.3%
Filled: Moss 2019	1645	64		13.62	[12.01; 15.32]	2.3%
Guenancia 2018	1621	185		11.40	[9.90; 13.00]	2.3%
Athar 2011	1594	98		6.18	[5.05; 7.41]	2.3%
Butala 2011	1177	20	+	1.74	[1.07; 2.56]	2.2%
Filled: Butala 2011	1177	20	+ >	18.53	[16.36; 20.80]	2.2%
Martsevich 2014	1133	66		5.86	[4.57; 7.30]	2.2%
Ozaydin 2010	1000	69		6.92	[5.42; 8.57]	2.2%
Li K 2008	967	37		3.86	[2.74; 5.17]	2.2%
Filled: Li K 2008	967	37	— · —	13.68	[11.59; 15.92]	2.2%
Viliani 2012	913	25	-	2.74	[1.77; 3.91]	2.2%
Filled: Viliani 2012	913	25	.	15.81	[13.51; 18.25]	2.2%
Gal 2015	861	31		3.59	[2.44; 4.95]	2.2%
Filled: Gal 2015	861	31	· _	14.09	[11.85; 16.49]	2.2%
Huang SS 2013	745	21		2.83	[1.75; 4.15]	2.2%
Filled: Huang SS 2013	745	21		15.65	[13.13; 18.34]	2.2%
Serban 2019	670	41		6.15	[4.45; 8.10]	2.1%
Nagai 2019	648	43		6.69	[4.90; 8.74]	2.1%
Maagh 2010	375	22		5.97	[3.80; 8.59]	2.0%
Random effects model			÷	7.87	[6.94; 8.86]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$, $p = 0$						
			0 5 10 15 20			

Supplementary Figure 5. Bias-corrected funnel plot for the meta-analysis of rate of newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes

Author and Year	Total	Case	Prevalence (95% CI)	Prop (%)	[95% CI]	Weight
Batra 2016	155071	11742	_ : : •	7.57	[7.44; 7.70]	1.4%
Hersi 2012	7930	51	- <u>-</u>	0.64	[0.47; 0.82]	1.4%
McManus 2012 Almendro-Delia 2014	37954	3112		5.27	[5.09; 5.45] [3.93· 4.33]	1.4%
Jortveit 2019	40918	2144		5.24	[5.02; 5.46]	1.4%
Biasco 2019	34377	1953		5.68	[5.44; 5.93]	1.4%
Sandowski 2010	26035	1593		6.12	[5.83; 6.41]	1.4%
Leymer 2019	9489	382 421		3.61	[3.26; 3.97] $[4.02 \cdot 4.85]$	1.4%
Axelrod 2020	7061	305		4.32	[3.85; 4.79]	1.4%
Lopes 2013	9242	551		5.96	[5.48; 6.44]	1.4%
Gonzalez-Pacheco 2015	3611	103		2.85	[2.31; 3.40]	1.4%
Congo 2019	6325	365		5.77	[4.78, 5.91]	1.4%
Hachet 2014	8485	768		9.05	[8.44; 9.66]	1.4%
Filled: Hachet 2014	8485	768		1.16	[0.55; 1.77]	1.4%
Lopes 2009 Wang 2019	5726	342		5.97	[5.36; 6.59]	1.4%
Gonzalez-Pacheco 2015	3094	117	-	3.78	[3.11; 4.45]	1.3%
Podolecki 2017	4099	225		5.49	[4.79; 6.19]	1.3%
Rene 2014	3281	147		4.48	[3.77; 5.19]	1.3%
Danchin 2010	3396	159		4.68	[3.97; 5.39]	1.3%
Mai 2019	3612	238		6.59	[5.78; 7.40]	1.3%
Topaz 2017	1580	47	-	2.97	[2.14; 3.81]	1.3%
Kayapinar 2018	4086	344		8.42	[7.57; 9.27]	1.3%
Parashar 2013 Alasady 2011	2370	114		4.81	[3.95; 5.67]	1.3%
Gourronc 2019	3173	278		8.76	[7.78; 9.75]	1.3%
Mrdovic 2011	2096	129		6.15	[5.13; 7.18]	1.3%
Raposeiras Roubín 2015	1381	56		4.06	[3.01; 5.10]	1.3%
Wi 2016 Moss 2019	2105	150		7.13	[6.03; 8.22]	1.3%
Ribeiro 2014	2334	208	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	8.91	[7.76; 10.07]	1.3%
Filled: Ribeiro 2014	2334	208	-	1.30	[0.14; 2.45]	1.3%
Cosentino 2020	2445	241	_ =	9.86	[8.68; 11.04]	1.3%
Filled: Cosentino 2020	2445	241	-	0.35	[0.00; 1.53]	1.3%
Filled: Luo 2020	2075	228	-	-0.78	[0.00; 0.57]	1.3%
Lin 2011	783	35		4.47	[3.02; 5.92]	1.3%
Ramani 2007	1526	164		10.75	[9.19; 12.30]	1.2%
Filled: Ramani 2007	1526 967	164	-	-0.54	[0.00; 1.01]	1.2%
Ozaydin 2010	1000	68		6.80	[5.24; 8.36]	1.2%
Yildirim, Ersin 2019	706	34		4.82	[3.24; 6.40]	1.2%
Zhang 2014	1035	77		7.44	[5.84; 9.04]	1.2%
Aronson 2007	985	137		8.22 11.33	[0.51; 9.94] [0.54: 13.12]	1.2%
Filled: Aronson 2007	1209	137	-	-1.12	[0.00; 0.66]	1.2%
Gal 2015	830	73		8.80	[6.87; 10.72]	1.2%
Filled: Gal 2015	830	73		1.41	[0.00; 3.34]	1.2%
Viliani 2012	021 913	40 92		6.44 10.08	[4.51; 8.37] [8.12:12.03]	1.2%
Filled: Viliani 2012	913	92	-	0.13	[0.00; 2.08]	1.2%
Braga 2014	902	91		10.09	[8.12; 12.05]	1.2%
Filled: Braga 2014	902 275	91		0.12	[0.00; 2.08]	1.2%
Vukmirovi., 2017	600	48		8.00	[5.83: 10.17]	1.2%
Huang SS 2013	724	78	.	10.77	[8.52; 13.03]	1.1%
Filled: Huang SS 2013	724	78		-0.57	[0.00; 1.69]	1.1%
Nagai 2019 Filled: Nagai 2019	648	67		10.34	[8.00; 12.68]	1.1%
Serban 2019	629	66	,	10.49	[8.10; 12.89]	1.1%
Filled: Serban 2019	629	66		-0.29	[0.00; 2.11]	1.1%
Cirakoglu 2019	692	82	— • —	11.85	[9.44; 14.26]	1.1%
Filled: Cirakogiu 2019 Khalfallah 2020	692 530	82 70	-	-1.64	[0.00; 0.77]	1.1%
Filled: Khalfallah 2020	530	49		0.96	[0.00; 3.43]	1.1%
Rodríguez-Jiménez 2020	667	81		12.14	[9.67; 14.62]	1.1%
Filled: Rodríguez-Jiménez 2020	667	81	-	-1.94	[0.00; 0.54]	1.1%
Filled: Yildirim, Erkan 2019	448 448	51	_	11.38	[8.44; 14.33] [0.00 [,] 1.76]	1.0%
Ibrahim 2019	440	80	_	18.18	[14.58; 21.79]	0.9%
Filled: Ibrahim 2019	440	-80-	-	-7.97	[0.00; -4.37]	0.9%
Ariyarajah 2008	462	101	\rightarrow	21.86	[18.09; 25.63]	0.9%
Dorie 2013	462 268	36		13.43	[9.35; 17.52]	0.9%
Filled: Dorje 2013	268	36		-3.23	[0.00; 0.86]	0.8%
lqbal 2019	216	27		12.50	[8.09; 16.91]	0.8%
Filled: Iqbal 2019 Yashizaki 2012	216	27		-2.29	[0.00; 2.12]	0.8%
Filled: Yoshizaki 2012	176	24 24		-3.43	[0.00; 1.64]	0.7%
Yesin 2018	171	24		14.04	[8.83; 19.24]	0.6%
Filled: Yesin 2018	171	24	—	-3.83	[0.00; 1.38]	0.6%
Random effects model				5.31	[4.73· 5 80]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$, $p = 0$				0.01		
			0 5 10 15 2	0		

Supplementary Figure 6. Bias-corrected funnel plot for the meta-analysis of rate of preexisting atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes



Supplementary Figure 7. Bias-corrected funnel plot for the meta-analysis of rate of newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes





Supplementary Figure 8. Meta-regression plots of newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes



Supplementary Figure 9. Meta-regression plots of pre-existing atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes



Supplementary Figure 10. Meta-regression plots of prevalent atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes

Variables	Studies	Patients	Odds Ratio	OR	95% CI	P value	l–square
Age	35	321,480		3.24	[2.99; 3.51]	0.00	77.2%
LVEF	21	121,271	нен	14.73	[12.01; 18.07]	0.00	92.4%
LA diameter	9	6,656	+●+	2.90	[2.12; 3.96]	0.00	73.3%
BMI	10	88,080	r ↓ ● _ 1	2.22	[0.75; 6.61]	0.15	99.6%
eGFR	5	16,126	⊢∎-	16.28	[10.48; 25.30]	0.00	92.6%
CHA ₂ DS ₂ VASc score	3	17,578	⊢ ∎⊣	2.81	[1.94; 4.07]	0.00	88.5%
C-reactive protein	10	11,542	⊢ ∎⊸i	3.98	[1.97; 8.06]	0.00	96.8%
NT–proBNP	5	4,771	⊢∎1	3.60	[2.04; 6.35]	0.00	86.3%
Heart Rate	13	121,266	Hei	2.38	[1.91; 2.97]	0.00	92.9%
Cardiac arrest	2	3,719	⊢ €-I	2.01	[1.42; 2.84]	0.00	0.0%
Anterior MI	9	65,779	•	1.07	[0.95; 1.21]	0.25	46.6%
Female sex	35	321,480	•	1.31	[1.19; 1.45]	0.00	81.2%
Hypertension	34	310,610	•	1.46	[1.36; 1.57]	0.00	55.1%
Diabetes	36	321,480		1.29	[1.19; 1.41]	0.00	69.4%
Smokers	26	165,641	•	0.61	[0.53; 0.69]	0.00	82.4%
Previous stroke	16	222,172	•	1.72	[1.53; 1.92]	0.00	32.2%
Heart failure	16	286,162	I B I	2.15	[1.78; 2.59]	0.00	86.4%
СКD	12	70,649	I ⊕I	2.25	[1.80; 2.81]	0.00	68.8%
Dyslipidaemia	21	114,315	•	0.85	[0.78; 0.93]	0.00	44.8%
Previous MI	23	294,050	0	1.21	[1.10; 1.33]	0.00	61.3%
Obesity	3	10,366	⊢ ∎∔1	0.51	[0.17; 1.50]	0.22	98.4%
STEMI	14	266,177	н <mark>е</mark> н	1.05	[0.85; 1.29]	0.65	95.0%
Killip 1	10	70,100	⊢ ∎–∤	0.53	[0.26; 1.08]	0.08	97.6%
Killip 2	6	56,603	⊢∎	3.87	[1.90; 7.90]	0.00	94.1%
Killip 3 or 4	11	120,341	⊢∎-1	3.97	[2.44; 6.48]	0.00	90.6%

Supplementary Figure 11. Pooled univariable correlates of newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes

Supplementary Figure 12. Pooled univariable correlates of pre-existing atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes

Variables	Studies	Patients		Odds	Ratio		OR	95% CI	P value	I-square
Age	7	83,892			н	€I	4.58	[3.93; 5.34]	0.00	80.6%
LVEF	3	62,853				H	10.39	[7.57; 14.25]	0.00	75.2%
BMI	3	71,751		H	H		0.91	[0.70; 1.20]	0.51	93.8%
Heart Rate	3	73,408			⊢∎⊣		2.01	[1.45; 2.78]	0.00	95.7%
Female sex	7	83,892			HH I		1.37	[1.18; 1.60]	0.00	72.0%
Hypertension	6	74,403			⊢₽⊣		2.73	[1.92; 3.88]	0.00	88.9%
Diabetes	7	83,892			•		1.31	[1.20; 1.42]	0.00	24.4%
Smokers	6	77,229		⊢∎⊣			0.37	[0.26; 0.52]	0.00	89.9%
Previous stroke	4	13,714			⊢ –	4	3.05	[2.05; 4.53]	0.00	74.6%
Heart failure	4	76,841			ŀ	H	5.13	[3.99; 6.59]	0.00	82.2%
CKD	2	10,137			H		2.71	[2.37; 3.11]	0.00	0.0%
Dyslipidaemia	6	74,403		н	H		1.00	[0.86; 1.18]	0.95	64.5%
Previous MI	4	64,567					1.89	[1.79; 2.00]	0.00	0.0%
STEMI	3	69,169		•			0.59	[0.56; 0.63]	0.00	0.0%
				1	1					
			0.1	0.5	12	10				

Supplementary Figure 13. Pooled univariable correlates of prevalent atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndromes

Variables	Studies	Patients	Odds Ratio		OR	95% CI	P value	I–square
Age	18	2,103,705	•		2.92	[2.62; 3.26]	0.00	99.3%
LVEF	8	50,735		H€H	12.29	[10.02; 15.07]	0.00	86.9%
LA diameter	2	1,325	⊢₽⊣		2.26	[1.64; 3.13]	0.00	0.0%
BMI	4	14,399			0.94	[0.83; 1.07]	0.37	6.3%
eGFR	2	12,383		H€H	12.13	[10.09; 14.58]	0.00	57.4%
CHADS2 score	2	2,548	H	I	3.17	[2.59; 3.89]	0.00	0.0%
CHA2DS2VASc Score	2	2,548	H	н	3.69	[2.48; 5.47]	0.00	60.9%
Heart Rate	3	13,770	⊢-●-		2.80	[1.31; 5.99]	0.01	92.6%
Anterior MI	5	9,685	IBI		0.80	[0.70; 0.91]	0.00	0.0%
Female sex	19	2,109,431	•		1.40	[1.27; 1.54]	0.00	98.7%
Hypertension	18	2,107,579	•		1.53	[1.40; 1.67]	0.00	98.5%
Diabetes	19	2,109,431	•		1.19	[1.11; 1.27]	0.00	95.9%
Smokers	15	2,030,294	•		0.51	[0.47; 0.55]	0.00	97.0%
Previous stroke	15	2,082,983	H∯H		2.16	[1.88; 2.48]	0.00	96.7%
Heart failure	8	1,605,859	l III		3.28	[2.88; 3.74]	0.00	85.9%
CKD	6	1,536,971	H		2.47	[1.87; 3.27]	0.00	95.2%
Dyslipidaemia	12	2,014,969	•		0.80	[0.74; 0.87]	0.00	97.5%
Previous MI	15	2,079,309	•		1.12	[1.02; 1.24]	0.02	95.7%
Obesity	2	1,960,733	•		0.79	[0.72; 0.86]	0.00	98.7%
STEMI	4	33,611	IÐI		0.61	[0.54; 0.70]	0.00	0.0%
Killip 1	3	14,442	H#H		0.40	[0.34; 0.48]	0.00	0.0%
Killip 2	2	6,512	Hei		2.04	[1.61; 2.58]	0.00	0.0%
Killip 3 or 4	6	43,495			2.51	[1.66; 3.80]	0.00	86.4%
			0.1 0.5 1 2	10				

List of included studies

1. Aksoy F, Bas HA, Bagci A, Oskay T. The CHA(2)DS(2)-VASc score for predicting atrial fibrillation in patients presenting with ST elevation myocardial infarction: prospective observational study. Sao Paulo Medical Journal 2019; 137(3): 248-54.

2. Al khdair D, Alshengeiti L, Elbarouni B, et al. Management and Outcome of Acute Coronary Syndrome Patients in Relation to Prior History of Atrial Fibrillation. Canadian Journal of Cardiology 2012; 28(4): 443-9.

3. Alasady M, Abhayaratna WP, Leong DP, et al. Coronary artery disease affecting the atrial branches is an independent determinant of atrial fibrillation after myocardial infarction. Heart Rhythm 2011; 8(7): 955-60.

4. Alexander B, Haseeb S, Van Rooy H, et al. Reduced P-wave voltage in lead I is associated with development of atrial fibrillation in patients with coronary artery disease. Journal of Atrial Fibrillation 2017; 10(4).

5. Almendro-Delia M, Valle-Caballero MJ, Garcia-Rubira JC, et al. Prognostic impact of atrial fibrillation in acute coronary syndromes: Results from the ARIAM registry. European Heart Journal: Acute Cardiovascular Care 2014; 3(2): 141-8.

Alvarez-Alvarez B, Raposeiras-Roubin S, Abu-Assi E, et al. Is 6-month GRACE risk score a useful tool to predict stroke after an acute coronary syndrome? Open Heart 2014; 1(1).

7. Antoni ML, Bertini M, Atary JZ, et al. Predictive value of total atrial conduction time estimated with tissue Doppler imaging for the development of new-onset atrial fibrillation after acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2010; 106(2): 198-203.

8. Ariyarajah V, Malinski M, Khadem A, Harizi R, Wolfe K, Spodick DH. Relation of Recurrence of Atrial Fibrillation After Non-ST-Elevation Acute Myocardial Infarction to Left Atrial Abnormality. American Journal of Cardiology 2008; 101(1): 30-4.

9. Aronson D, Boulos M, Suleiman A, et al. Relation of C-Reactive Protein and New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction. American Journal of Cardiology 2007; 100(5): 753-7.

10. Athar MK, Bagga S, Nair N, et al. Risk of cardiac arrhythmias and conduction abnormalities in patients with acute myocardial infarction receiving packed red blood cell transfusions. Journal of Critical Care 2011; 26(4): 335-41.

11. Axelrod M, Gilutz H, Plakht Y, Greenberg D, Novack L. Early Atrial Fibrillation During Acute Myocardial Infarction May Not Be an Indication for Long-Term Anticoagulation. Angiology 2020; 71(6): 559-66.

12. Barra S, Providência R, Paiva L, et al. Mid-term Risk Stratification of Patients with a Myocardial Infarction and Atrial Fibrillation: Beyond GRACE and CHADS. J Atr Fibrillation 2013; 6(4): 897.

13. Batra G, Svennblad B, Held C, et al. All types of atrial fibrillation in the setting of myocardial infarction are associated with impaired outcome. Heart 2016; 102(12): 926-33.

14. Bejot Y, Benzenine E, Lorgis L, et al. Comparative Analysis of Patients with Acute Coronary and Cerebrovascular Syndromes from the National French Hospitalization Health Care System Database. Neuroepidemiology 2011; 37(3-4): 143-52.

15. Biasco L, Radovanovic D, Moccetti M, et al. New-onset or Pre-existing Atrial Fibrillation in Acute Coronary Syndromes: Two Distinct Phenomena With a Similar Prognosis. Revista Espanola de Cardiologia 2019; 72(5): 383-91.

16. Bloch Thomsen PE, Jons C, Pekka Raatikainen MJ, et al. Long-term recording of cardiac arrhythmias with an implantable cardiac monitor in patients with reduced ejection fraction after acute myocardial infarction: The Cardiac Arrhythmias and Risk Stratification after Acute Myocardial Infarction (CARISMA) study. Circulation 2010; 122(13): 1258-64.

17. Braga CG, Ramos V, Vieira C, et al. New-onset atrial fibrillation during acute coronary syndromes: Predictors and prognosis. Revista Portuguesa De Cardiologia 2014; 33(5): 281-7.

18. Butala NM, Desai MM, Linnander EL, et al. Gender differences in presentation, management, and in-hospital outcomes for patients with ami in a lower-middle income country: Evidence from egypt. PLoS ONE 2011; 6(10).

19. Calabrò P, Gragnano F, Di Maio M, et al. Epidemiology and Management of Patients With Acute Coronary Syndromes in Contemporary Real-World Practice: Evolving Trends From the EYESHOT Study to the START-ANTIPLATELET Registry. Angiology 2018; 69(9): 795-802.

20. Cerrato E, Forno D, Ferro S, Chinaglia A. Characteristics, in-hospital management and outcome of late acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction presenters. Journal of Cardiovascular Medicine 2017; 18(8): 567-71.

21. Chen SY, Crivera C, Stokes M, Boulanger L, Schein J. Outcomes associated with comorbid atrial fibrillation and heart failure in Medicare beneficiaries with acute coronary syndrome. BMC health services research 2014; 14: 80.

22. Chen HY, Tisminetzky M, Yarzebski J, Gore JM, Goldberg RJ. Decade-long trends in the frequency of 90-day rehospitalizations after hospital discharge for acute myocardial infarction. American Journal of Cardiology 2016; 117(5): 743-8.

23. Çinier G, Tekkeşin A, Genç D, et al. Interatrial block as a predictor of atrial fibrillation in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Clin Cardiol 2018; 41(9): 1232-7.

24. Cirakoglu OF, Aslan AO, Akyuz AR, et al. The value of syntax score to predict newonset atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology 2019; 24(4).

25. Congo KH, Belo A, Carvalho J, et al. New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in St-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction: Predictors and Impact on Therapy And Mortality. Arquivos Brasileiros De Cardiologia 2019; 113(5): 948-57.

26. Cordero A, Rodriguez-Manero M, Garcia-Acuna JM, et al. Incidence and predictors of stroke in patients discharged with the diagnosis of acute coronary syndrome. International Journal of Cardiology 2019; 276: 20-5.

27. Cosentino N, Ballarotto M, Campodonico J, et al. Impact of glomerular filtration rate on the incidence and prognosis of new-onset atrial fibrillation in acute myocardial infarction. Journal of Clinical Medicine 2020; 9(5).

28. Dai Y, Yang J, Gao Z, et al. Atrial fibrillation in patients hospitalized with acute myocardial infarction: Analysis of the china acute myocardial infarction (CAMI) registry. BMC Cardiovascular Disorders 2017; 17(1).

29. Danchin N, Fauchier L, Marijon E, et al. Impact of early statin therapy on development of atrial fibrillation at the acute stage of myocardial infarction: Data from the FAST-MI register. Heart 2010; 96(22): 1809-14.

30. De Luca L, Casella G, Rubboli A, et al. Recent trends in management and outcome of patients with acute coronary syndromes and atrial fibrillation. International Journal of Cardiology 2017; 248: 369-75.

31. Dorje T, Wang X, Shao M, et al. Plasma N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide levels predict new-onset atrial fibrillation in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 2013; 168(3): 3135-7.

32. Erez A, Goldenberg I, Sabbag A, et al. Temporal trends and outcomes associated with atrial fibrillation observed during acute coronary syndrome: Real-world data from the Acute Coronary Syndrome Israeli Survey (ACSIS), 2000–2013. Clinical Cardiology 2017; 40(5): 275-80.

33. Gal P, Parlak E, Demirel F, et al. Prognostic significance of incident atrial fibrillation following STEMI depends on the timing of atrial fibrillation. Netherlands heart journal : monthly journal of the Netherlands Society of Cardiology and the Netherlands Heart Foundation 2015; 23(9): 430-5.

34. Gal P, Parlak E, Schellings D, et al. Association of serial high sensitivity troponin T with onset of atrial fibrillation in ST elevation myocardial infarction patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. European Heart Journal-Acute Cardiovascular Care 2016; 5(1): 33-42.

35. Garg L, Agrawal S, Agarwal M, et al. Influence of Atrial Fibrillation on Outcomes in Patients Who Underwent Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention for ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. American Journal of Cardiology 2018; 121(6): 684-9.

36. Gonzalez-Pacheco H, Marquez MF, Arias-Mendoza A, et al. Clinical features and inhospital mortality associated with different types of atrial fibrillation in patients with acute

coronary syndrome with and without ST elevation. Journal of Cardiology 2015; 66(1-2): 148-54.

37. Gourronc Y, Grall S, Ingremeau D, et al. De novo atrial fibrillation as an independent prognostic marker after ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: Results from the RIMA registry. Journal of Cardiology 2019; 74(2): 123-9.

38. Green A, Pottegard A, Broe A, et al. Initiation and persistence with dual antiplatelet therapy after acute myocardial infarction: a Danish nationwide population-based cohort study. Bmj Open 2016; 6(5).

39. Guenancia C, Toucas C, Fauchier L, et al. High rate of recurrence at long-term follow-up after new-onset atrial fibrillation during acute myocardial infarction. Europace : European pacing, arrhythmias, and cardiac electrophysiology : journal of the working groups on cardiac pacing, arrhythmias, and cardiac cellular electrophysiology of the European Society of Cardiology 2018; 20(12): e179-e88.

40. Hachet O. Frequency and predictors of stroke after acute myocardial infarction: specific aspects of in-hospital and postdischarge events. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation 2014; 45(12): 3514-20.

41. Hersi A, Alhabib KF, Alsheikh-Ali AA, et al. Prognostic significance of prevalent and incident atrial fibrillation among patients hospitalized with acute coronary syndrome: findings from the Gulf RACE-2 Registry. Angiology 2012; 63(6): 466-71.

42. Ho CY, Nunn C, White J, Kerr A, Lee M. Atrial fibrillation in acute coronary syndrome: patient characteristics and appropriate utilisation of anti-thrombotic therapy in New Zealand (ANZACS-QI 39). N Z Med J 2020; 133(1519): 41-54.

43. Huang SS, Chan WL, Leu HB, Huang PH, Chen JW, Lin SJ. Association between CHADS2 Score and the Preventive Effect of Statin Therapy on New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction. PLoS ONE 2013; 8(8).

44. Hwang HJ, Ha JW, Joung B, et al. Relation of inflammation and left atrial remodeling in atrial fibrillation occurring in early phase of acute myocardial infarction. International Journal of Cardiology 2011; 146(1): 28-31.

45. Ibrahim IM, Hassanin MT, El Zaki MM. Tissue Doppler-derived atrial dyssynchrony predicts new-onset atrial fibrillation during hospitalization for ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Echocardiography-a Journal of Cardiovascular Ultrasound and Allied Techniques 2019; 36(10): 1799-805.

46. Iqbal Z, Mengal MN, Badini A, Karim M. New-onset Atrial Fibrillation in Patients Presenting with Acute Myocardial Infarction. Cureus 2019; 11(4): e4483.

47. Jackson LR, 2nd, Piccini JP, Cyr DD, et al. Dual Antiplatelet Therapy and Outcomes in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Acute Coronary Syndromes Managed Medically Without Revascularization: Insights From the TRILOGY ACS Trial. Clin Cardiol 2016; 39(9): 497-506.

48. Jortveit J, Pripp AH, Langorgen J, Halvorsen S. Poor adherence to guideline recommendations among patients with atrial fibrillation and acute myocardial infarction. European Journal of Preventive Cardiology 2019; 26(13): 1373-82.

49. Karatas MB, Canga Y, Ipek G, et al. Association of admission serum laboratory parameters with new-onset atrial fibrillation after a primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Coronary Artery Disease 2016; 27(2): 128-34.
50. Kayapinar O, Kaya A, Keskin M, Tatlisu MA. Antithrombotic Therapy and Outcomes of Patients With New-Onset Transient Atrial Fibrillation After ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Am J Ther 2018.

51. Khalfallah M, Elsheikh A. Incidence, predictors, and outcomes of new-onset atrial fibrillation in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology 2020; 25(4).

52. Khan I, Dar MH, Khan A, Iltaf K, Khan S, Falah SF. Frequency of acute kidney injury and its short-term effects after acute myocardial infarction. Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association 2017; 67(11): 1693-7.

53. Kim LK, Yeo I, Cheung JW, et al. Thirty-day readmission rates, timing, causes, and costs after stsegment-elevation myocardial infarction in the united states: A national readmission database analysis 2010-2014. Journal of the American Heart Association 2018; 7(18).

54. Koracevic GP, Petrovic S, Damjanovic M, Stanojlovic T. Association of stress hyperglycemia and atrial fibrillation in myocardial infarction. Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift 2008; 120(13-14): 409-13.

55. Kundu A, O'Day K, Shaikh AY, et al. Relation of Atrial Fibrillation in Acute Myocardial Infarction to In-Hospital Complications and Early Hospital Readmission. American Journal of Cardiology 2016; 117(8): 1213-8.

56. Lau DH, Huynh LT, Chew DP, Astley CM, Soman A, Sanders P. Prognostic Impact of Types of Atrial Fibrillation in Acute Coronary Syndromes. American Journal of Cardiology 2009; 104(10): 1317-23.

57. Li CY, Chang CJ, Chung WJ, et al. Assessment of CHA2DS2-VASc score for predicting cardiovascular and cerebrovascular outcomes in acute myocardial infarction patients. Medicine (United States) 2018; 97(28).

58. Li K, Huo Y, Ding YS. Clinical profile and outcomes of atrial fibrillation in elderly patients with acute myocardial infarction. Chin Med J (Engl) 2008; 121(23): 2388-91.

59. Lin CJ, Liu CF, Kung CT, et al. The prognostic value of atrial fibrillation on 30-day clinical outcome in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. International Heart Journal 2011; 52(3): 153-8.

60. Liu CH, Huang YC. Comparison of STEMI and NSTEMI patients in the emergency department. Journal of Acute Medicine 2011; 1(1): 1-4.

61. Lopes RD, Elliott LE, White HD, et al. Antithrombotic therapy and outcomes of patients with atrial fibrillation following primary percutaneous coronary intervention: Results from the APEX-AMI trial. European Heart Journal 2009; 30(16): 2019-28.

62. Lopes RD, Li L, Granger CB, et al. Atrial fibrillation and acute myocardial infarction: Antithrombotic therapy and outcomes. American Journal of Medicine 2012; 125(9): 897-905.

63. Lopes RD, White JA, Atar D, et al. Incidence, treatment, and outcomes of atrial fibrillation complicating non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndromes. International Journal of Cardiology 2013; 168(3): 2510-7.

64. Loudon BL, Gollop ND, Carter PR, Uppal H, Chandran S, Potluri R. Impact of cardiovascular risk factors and disease on length of stay and mortality in patients with acute coronary syndromes. International Journal of Cardiology 2016; 220: 745-9.

65. Luca F, Caretta G, Vagnarelli F, et al. Clinical characteristics, management and outcomes of patients with acute coronary syndrome and atrial fibrillation: real-world data

from two nationwide registries in Italy. Journal of Cardiovascular Medicine 2020; 21(2): 99-105.

66. Luo J, Xu S, Li H, et al. Long-term impact of new-onset atrial fibrillation complicating acute myocardial infarction on heart failure. ESC Heart Failure 2020.

67. Maagh P, Butz T, Wickenbrock I, et al. New-onset versus chronic atrial fibrillation in acute myocardial infarction: Differences in short- and long-term follow-up. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2011; 100(2): 167-75.

68. Mai L, Wu Y, Luo J, et al. A retrospective cohort study of oral anticoagulant treatment in patients with acute coronary syndrome and atrial fibrillation. BMJ Open 2019; 9(9).

69. Maier B, Hegenbarth C, Theres H, Schoeller R, Schuehlen H, Behrens S. Antithrombotic therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation and acute coronary syndrome in the real world: Data from the Berlin AFibACS registry. Cardiology Journal 2014; 21(5): 465-73.

70. Malay LN, Martsevich SY, Solokhina LV, et al. Evaluation of treatment of patients with acute myocardial infarction before reference event and before discharge from the hospital: Register data (Khabarovsk City). Part 2. Rational Pharmacotherapy in Cardiology 2017; 13(1): 55-62.

71. Manzano-Fernández S, Sánchez-Martínez M, Flores-Blanco PJ, et al. Comparison of the global registry of acute coronary events risk score versus the can rapid risk stratification of unstable angina patients suppress adverse outcomes with early implementation of the ACC/AHA guidelines risk score to predict in-hospital mortality and major bleeding in acute coronary syndromes. American Journal of Cardiology 2016; 117(7): 1047-54.

72. Martsevich SY, Kutishenko NP, Gynzburg ML, Drozdova LY, Deev AD, Smirnov VP. Impact of atrial fibrillation on the near and long-term prognosis of life after acute myocardial infarction. The data of the LIS-1 study (Lyubertsy mortality study of patients with acute myocardial infarction). Rational Pharmacotherapy in Cardiology 2014; 10(2): 170-3.

73. McManus DD, Huang W, Domakonda KV, et al. Trends in atrial fibrillation in patients hospitalized with an acute coronary syndrome. American Journal of Medicine 2012; 125(11): 1076-84.

74. Melendo-Viu M, Abu-Assi E, Manzano-Fernández S, et al. Incidence, prognosis and predictors of heart failure after acute myocardial infarction. REC: CardioClinics 2020; 55(1):
8-14.

75. Mohamed MO, Kirchhof P, Vidovich M, et al. Effect of Concomitant Atrial Fibrillation on In-Hospital Outcomes of Non–ST-Elevation-Acute Coronary Syndrome-Related Hospitalizations in the United States. American Journal of Cardiology 2019; 124(4): 465-75.

76. Moss AJ, Shah ASV, Zuling ET, et al. Left Ventricular Thrombus After Primary PCI for ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction: 1-Year Clinical Outcomes. American Journal of Medicine 2019; 132(8): 964-9.

77. Mrdovic I, Savic L, Krljanac G, et al. Incidence, predictors, and 30-day outcomes of new-onset atrial fibrillation after primary percutaneous coronary intervention: Insight into the RISK-PCI trial. Coronary Artery Disease 2012; 23(1): 1-8.

78. Nagai M, Itoh T, Ishida M, et al. New-onset atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndrome may be associated with worse prognosis and future heart failure. Journal of Arrhythmia 2019; 35(2): 182-9.

79. Ozaydin M, Turker Y, Erdogan D, et al. The association between previous statin use and development of atrial fibrillation in patients presenting with acute coronary syndrome. International Journal of Cardiology 2010; 141(2): 147-50.

80. Parashar S, Kella D, Reid KJ, et al. New-onset atrial fibrillation after acute myocardial infarction and its relation to admission biomarkers (from the TRIUMPH Registry). American Journal of Cardiology 2013; 112(9): 1390-5.

81. Pilgrim T, Kalesan B, Zanchin T, et al. Impact of atrial fibrillation on clinical outcomes among patients with coronary artery disease undergoing revascularisation with drug-eluting stents. Eurointervention 2013; 8(9): 1061-71.

82. Podolecki T, Lenarczyk R, Kowalczyk J, et al. Significance of Atrial Fibrillation Complicating ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. American Journal of Cardiology 2017; 120(4): 517-21.

83. Ramani G, Zahid M, Good CB, Macioce A, Sonel AF. Comparison of Frequency of New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation or Flutter in Patients on Statins Versus Not on Statins Presenting With Suspected Acute Coronary Syndrome. American Journal of Cardiology 2007; 100(3): 404-5.

84. Raposeiras Roubín S, Abellas-Sequeiros RA, Abu Assi E, et al. Relation of contrast induced nephropathy to new onset atrial fibrillation in acute coronary syndrome. American Journal of Cardiology 2015; 115(5): 587-91.

85. Reinstadler SJ, Stiermaier T, Eitel C, et al. Impact of Atrial Fibrillation during ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction on Infarct Characteristics and Prognosis. Circulation: Cardiovascular Imaging 2018; 11(2).

86. Rene AG, Généreux P, Ezekowitz M, et al. Impact of atrial fibrillation in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction treated with percutaneous coronary intervention (from the HORIZONS-AMI [Harmonizing Outcomes with Revascularization and Stents in Acute Myocardial Infarction] trial). American Journal of Cardiology 2014; 113(2): 236-42.

87. Rhyou HI, Park TH, Cho YR, et al. Clinical factors associated with the development of atrial fibrillation in the year following STEMI treated by primary PCI. Journal of Cardiology 2018; 71(2): 125-8.

88. Ribeiro V, Pereira M, Melão F, et al. Determinants and outcomes of atrial fibrillation complicating myocardial infarction: The EURHOBOP study in Portugal. International Journal of Cardiology 2014; 176(3): 1426-8.

89. Rodriguez-Jimenez AE, Negrin-Valdes T, Cruz-Inerarity H, Castellano-Gallo LA, Chavez-Gonzalez L. Prognostic Scale to Stratify Risk of Intrahospital Death in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction with ST-Segment Elevation. Medicc Review 2020; 22(3): 46-53.

90. Jimenez AER, Inerarity HC, Rodriguez ET, Canizares GQ. De Novo Atrial Fibrillation Increases Intra-hospital Mortality in Myocardial Infarction with ST Elevation? Finlay 2017; 7(4): 240-9.

91. Rohla M, Vennekate CK, Tentzeris I, et al. Long-term mortality of patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention with stent implantation for acute and stable coronary artery disease. International journal of cardiology 2015; 184: 108-14.

 Sadowski M, Gąsior M, Gierlotka M, Janion M, Poloński L. Clinical characteristics of Polish women with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Kardiologia Polska 2010; 68(6): 627-34.

93. Sagnard A, Guenancia C, Mouhat B, et al. Involvement of autonomic nervous system in new-onset atrial fibrillation during acute myocardial infarction. Journal of Clinical Medicine 2020; 9(5).

94. Şerban RC, Şuş I, Lakatos EK, et al. Chronic kidney disease predicts atrial fibrillation in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction treated by primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Acta Cardiologica 2019; 74(6): 472-9.

95. Shiyovich A, Axelrod M, Gilutz H, Plakht Y. Early Versus Late New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Acute Myocardial Infarction: Differences in Clinical Characteristics and Predictors. Angiology 2019; 70(10): 921-8.

96. Topaz G, Flint N, Steinvil A, et al. Long term prognosis of atrial fibrillation in STelevation myocardial infarction patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. International Journal of Cardiology 2017; 240: 228-33.

97. Torres M, Rocha S, Marques J, et al. Impact of atrial fibrillation in acute coronary syndromes. Revista Portuguesa de Cardiologia 2008; 27(11): 1407-18.

98. Ulvenstam A, Henriksson R, Söderström L, Mooe T. Ischemic stroke rates decrease with increased ticagrelor use after acute myocardial infarction in patients treated with percutaneous coronary intervention. European Journal of Preventive Cardiology 2018; 25(11): 1219-30.

99. Viliani D, Vivas D, Chung M, et al. Prognosis of different types of atrial fibrillation in the primary angioplasty era. Coronary Artery Disease 2012; 23(8): 511-6.

100. Vukmirović M, Bošković A, Bukumirić Z, Vukmirović IT, Vukmirović F. Predictors and outcomes of new-onset atrial fibrillation in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Vojnosanitetski Pregled 2017; 74(8): 742-8.

101. Wang CL, Chen PC, Juang HT, Chang CJ. Adverse Outcomes Associated with Pre-Existing and New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Cardiology and Therapy 2019; 8(1): 117-27.

102. Wi J, Shin DH, Kim JS, et al. Transient new-onset atrial fibrillation is associated with poor clinical outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Circulation Journal 2016; 80(7): 1615-23.

103. Xue YZ, Zhou Q, Shen J, et al. Lipid Profile and New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Acute ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction (An Observational Study in Southwest of China). American Journal of Cardiology 2019; 124(10): 1512-7.

104. Yesin M, Kalçık M, Çağdaş M, et al. Fragmented QRS may predict new onset atrial fibrillation in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Journal of Electrocardiology 2018; 51(1): 27-32.

105. Yildirim E, Turkkan C, Ozcan KS, Ceylan US, Zengin A. The predictive value of PRECISE-DAPT score for arrhythmic complications in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Coronary Artery Disease 2019; 30(7): 499-504.

106. Yildirim E, Ermis E, Allahverdiyev S, Ucar H, Cengiz M. Value of Syntax Score II in Prediction of New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With NSTE-ACS Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. Angiology 2019; 70(9): 860-6.

107. Yoshizaki T, Umetani K, Ino Y, et al. Activated inflammation is related to the incidence of atrial fibrillation in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Internal Medicine 2012; 51(12): 1467-71.

108. Zeymer U, Annemans L, Danchin N, et al. Impact of known or new-onset atrial fibrillation on 2-year cardiovascular event rate in patients with acute coronary syndromes:

results from the prospective EPICOR Registry. European Heart Journal: Acute Cardiovascular Care 2019; 8(2): 121-9.

109. Zhang X, Li G, Zhao Z, Xu Y, Liu T. The value of CHADS2 score in predicting newonset atrial fibrillation in Chinese patients with acute myocardial infarction. International Journal of Cardiology 2014; 176(3): 1235-7.

6.2 Frequency and prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: a pooled analysis

6.2.1 Introduction

Acute pulmonary embolism (aPE) and atrial fibrillation (AF) are common cardiovascular conditions with substantial mortality and disability. In Europe and the United States, there are an estimated one million cases of aPE, leading to approximately 0.3 million deaths annually ⁵⁸⁷⁻⁵⁸⁹. Atrial fibrillation is the most common arrhythmia, affecting more than 38 million individuals (0.51% of global population) ¹, and is associated with markedly increased risk of stroke, systemic embolism, and death ^{70, 167}. Due to shared risk factors such as ageing, obesity, hypertension, and heart failure, AF and aPE frequently co-exist ¹⁷². Atrial fibrillation is strongly associated with an increased risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE) including aPE, especially during the first months after AF diagnosis ^{173, 174}. Conversely, multiple arrhythmias including new-onset AF occur after an aPE ¹⁷².

Atrial fibrillation affects the prognosis of patients with a wide range of cardiovascular events. For instance, AF, especially newly diagnosed AF, is associated with poor short-term and long-term outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndromes ⁵⁹⁰. This observation has led to the development of tailored interventions to address the thromboembolic and hemorrhagic risk in patients with AF ^{582, 583}. Studies investigating the prognostic impact of AF in patients with aPE have shown conflicting results ⁵⁹¹⁻⁵⁹⁴. Indeed, whether AF truly increases the risk of death in patients with aPE or is just a marker of co-morbidities or aPE severity remain uncertain. Furthermore, similar to acute myocardial infarction, the prognostic value of AF might differ depending on the temporal pattern of AF, either pre-existing or newly diagnosed ⁵⁹⁰. Hence, the current systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to summarize data on 1) the prevalence of pre-existing AF and the incidence proportion of newly diagnosed

AF; 2) the predictors of newly diagnosed AF and; 3) the risk of short-term and long-term mortality attributable to AF, according to its temporal patterns in patients with aPE.

6.2.2 Methods

This review is reported in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) 2020 statement ⁵⁹⁵. A protocol was prospectively registered on PROSPERO (CRD42022299194).

6.2.2.1 Literature search

We searched Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE), PubMed/MEDLINE, and Web of Science to identify relevant studies published through December 12, 2021 (date of the last search), without language restriction. The search strategy used a combination of "atrial fibrillation", "pulmonary embolism", or their synonyms (**Supplementary Table 1**). Additional hand searches were also carried out by tracking citations and reference chaining of identified studies.

6.2.2.2 Study selection

We included cross-sectional studies, cohort studies, or RCTs reporting primary data on the prevalence or incidence of AF (or atrial flutter), its risk factors, or its association with mortality in patients with aPE. We excluded studies with less than 100 participants. For articles reporting data from the same primary study or registry (duplicates), we included the single most comprehensive one reporting the largest sample size. Two reviewers (JJN and UFN) independently screened the titles and abstracts of identified citations and then performed a detailed review of all selected full texts to ascertain eligibility. Disagreements were resolved through discussion and consensus.

6.2.2.3 Data extraction and management

Data were extracted using a standard data abstraction form by one investigator (JJN) and cross-checked by another investigator (UFN). We collected data on study characteristics including sample size, mean or median age, proportion of males, proportion of patients with co-morbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, obesity, heart failure, previous stroke or transient ischemic attack, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and risk factors for VTE such as cancer, recent surgery, immobilization, previous VTE. We also gathered information on total sample size and number of participants with various types of AF to compute prevalence or incidence proportion; on risk estimate (hazard ratio [HR], odds ratio [OR], or risk ratio [RR]) with the 95% confidence interval (CI) for each variable assessed as a potential predictor of AF and; on risk estimate with the 95% CI for the association of AF with mortality. Each study was evaluated for risk of bias using an adapted version of the tool developed by Hoy et al. ³⁸⁶.

6.2.2.4 Definitions

AF was classified as:

- Pre-existing AF: AF diagnosed before the index aPE;
- Newly diagnosed AF: AF diagnosed for the first time during the index presentation for aPE (on admission or during hospitalization), in the absence of a prior history of AF;
- Prevalent AF: total cases of any form of AF (pre-existing or newly diagnosed).

Mortality was classified as:

• Short-term mortality: death occurring within 3 months from the index aPE, including in-hospital mortality;

• Long-term mortality: death occurring beyond 3 months from the index aPE.

6.2.2.5 Statistical analysis

All analyses were conducted using the R statistical software (version 3.5.03, The R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria). We performed random-effects metaanalysis of proportions using the inverse variance model. We then performed both randomeffects meta-analyses using the most adjusted risk estimates associating AF and mortality, reporting the results in adjusted odds ratio (aOR) and 95% CI. Hazard ratio, OR, and RR were treated as equivalent measures of risk, as they were all derived from cohort studies. In case a study did not find a significant association between AF and mortality in univariable analysis and therefore did not report an adjusted risk estimate, we considered the unadjusted risk estimate to avoid biasing the analysis with the inclusion of only significant estimates. All statistical tests were two-tailed and statistical significance defined as p-value ≤ 0.05 . Heterogeneity was assessed by the χ^2 test on Cochran's Q statistic ³⁸⁷, which was quantified by I^2 values, assuming that I^2 values of <25%, 50 - 75%, and >75% respectively represent low, medium, and high heterogeneity ³⁸⁸. The influence of each study on the overall estimates and heterogeneity was assessed through Leave-One-Out influencer analysis model. We assessed small-study effect or publication bias by funnel plots and tests of funnel plot asymmetry (Egger's linear regression test).

6.2.2.6 Ethical approval

This is a systematic review using published data. Therefore, an ethical clearance is not required.

6.2.3 Results

6.2.3.1 Study selection and characteristics

Bibliographic searches retrieved 7126 records and reference scanning identified 13 additional records, from which 27 articles were finally included ^{591-594, 596-618}. The study selection is summarized in **Figure 1**. The list of included studies and their characteristics are presented in the appendix (**Supplementary Tables 2–4**). The included studies reported data from a pooled sample of 819,380 patients with aPE, were conducted between 2000 and 2020 (except for one study) and published between 1999 and 2021. Most studies were conducted in Europe (59.3%, n = 16). Most studies had low (63.0%, n = 17) or moderate (25.9%, n = 7) risk of bias (**Supplementary Table 5**).

6.2.3.2 Prevalence/incidence of AF according to temporal patterns

6.2.3.2.1 Pre-existing AF

Four studies reported on pre-existing AF from a pooled population of 17,661 patients with aPE. The overall prevalence of pre-existing AF was 11.3% (95% CI: 6.2-17.7), ranging from 4.8% to 21.1% (**Figure 2, Panel A**). Considering the high heterogeneity (I^2 97.4%), we performed influencer analysis using a leave-one-out approach. The omission of none of the studies significantly reduced the level of heterogeneity (**Supplementary Figure 1**). There was publication bias or small-study effect (*Egger's* p = 0.029).

6.2.3.2.2 Newly diagnosed AF

Six studies reported on newly diagnosed AF from a pooled population of 18,604 patients with aPE. The overall prevalence of newly diagnosed AF was 4.7% (95% CI: 3.3-6.2), ranging

from 2.7% to 7.2% (**Figure 2, Panel B**). There was high heterogeneity between studies (I^2 90.4%). Leave-one-out influencer showed that the omission of the study by Bikeli et al. reduced the level of heterogeneity from 90.4% to 43% (**Supplementary Figure 2**). There was no evidence of publication bias or small-study effect (*Egger's* p = 0.066).

6.2.3.2.3 Prevalent AF

Twenty-one studies reported on prevalent AF from a pooled population of 815,010 patients with aPE. The overall prevalence of pre-existing AF was 13.2% (95% CI: 11.5-14.9) ranging from 7.5% to 23.5% (**Figure 3**). Considering the high heterogeneity (I^2 99.5%), we performed influencer analysis. The omission of none of the studies significantly reduced the level of heterogeneity (**Supplementary Figure 3**). There was no evidence publication bias or small-study effect (*Egger's* p = 0.472).

6.2.3.3 Predictors of AF in aPE

Only one study reported on predictors of newly diagnosed AF after aPE from multivariable analysis 610 . These predictors included congestive heart failure (aOR 3.33, 95% CI: 1.81-6.12, p <0.001), ischemic heart disease (aOR 3.25, 95% CI: 1.65-6.39, p <0.001), massive PE (aOR 2.67, 95% CI: 1.19-5.99, p = 0.017).

6.2.3.4 Association of AF with mortality in patients with aPE

6.2.3.4.1 Short-term mortality

Overall, AF was associated with increased risk of short-term mortality (aOR 1.54, 95% CI: 1.44-1.64). There was low heterogeneity (I^2 6%). There was no evidence publication bias or small-study effect (*Egger's* p = 0.846). In subgroup analyses, all types of AF were associated

with increased risk of short-term mortality: pre-existing AF (aOR 1.90, 95% CI: 1.59-2.27), newly diagnosed AF (aOR 1.51, 95% CI: 1.18-1.93), and prevalent AF (aOR 1.50, 95% CI: 1.42-1.60). There was low heterogeneity in all subgroup analyses (all $I^2 < 5\%$).

6.2.3.4.2 Long-term mortality

AF increased the risk of long-term mortality (aOR 1.58, 95% CI: 1.26-1.97). There was moderate heterogeneity between studies (I^2 60%). In leave-one-out influencer analysis, the omission of none of the studies reduced the level of heterogeneity below 50% (**Supplementary Figure 4**). There was no evidence of publication bias or small-study effect (*Egger 's* p = 0.854). In subgroup analyses, pre-existing AF (aOR 2.08, 95% CI: 1.27-3.42) and prevalent AF (aOR 1.29, 95% CI: 1.02-1.63) were associated with higher long-term mortality, whereas for newly diagnosed AF there was a trend towards a higher risk of mortality (aOR 1.46, 95% CI: 0.96-2.22).

6.2.4 Discussion

This review aimed to summarize data on the prevalence/incidence, risk factors and prognosis of AF in patients with aPE. We found that: 1) the prevalence of pre-existing AF, newly diagnosed AF and prevalent AF were 11.3%, 4.7% and 13.2%, respectively 2) predictors of newly diagnosed AF from one study included congestive heart failure, ischemic heart disease, and massive aPE; 3) irrespective of its timing, AF markedly increased the risk of short-term and long-term mortality in patients with aPE (**Figure 6**).

According to this study, AF is frequent in patients with aPE. AF might be the cause of aPE in a significant proportion of cases. Embolization of thrombi from veins in the lower legs to the pulmonary arteries is the main mechanism of aPE. However, it has been shown that

only 50%-70% of patients with aPE have concomitant deep vein thrombosis ⁶¹⁹. This suggests that there are aetiopathogenic mechanisms other than VTE, including AF, in about 30%-50% of cases of aPE. In fact, one study reported a 53.8% proportion of AF in patients with aPE and no history of VTE ⁶¹⁹. Some studies have suggested that isolated aPE may be due to right atrial thrombus caused by AF ^{608, 620, 621}. In one study, the prevalence of right atrial or ventricular thrombus was markedly higher in patients with paroxysmal or permanent AF compared to those in sinus rhythm ⁶⁰⁸.

Atrial fibrillation is newly diagnosed in about 5% of patients with aPE. This newly diagnosed AF might be new onset, triggered by acute precipitants such as right ventricular failure or stretch injuries ⁶²². Only one study reported on risk factors for newly diagnosed AF based on multivariable analysis. It identified massive aPE, congestive heart failure, and ischemic heart disease as predictors of new-onset AF ⁶¹⁰. In view of the poor prognosis associated with AF, continuous electrographic monitoring to identify AF alongside ventricular tachyarrhythmias might be beneficial in patients with aPE, especially in those with risk factors such as massive aPE, acute heart failure, or history of ischemic heart disease. It is worth mentioning that none of the studies that contributed to the pooled estimate of newly diagnosed AF reported the use of continuous electrocardiographic monitoring ^{592, 593, 596, 608, 610, 617}. This means that the incidence of new-onset AF might have been underestimated by 12-lead ECG done only at admission or few times during the hospital stay. Further studies are needed to explore predictors of new-onset or newly diagnosed AF, and adequate electrocardiographic monitoring strategies in patients with aPE.

This review shows that AF is associated with increased risk of mortality in the shortand long-term. There are several potential mechanisms underlying the adverse impact of AF in the setting of aPE. AF induces hemodynamic disturbances such as poor atrial contraction, rapid and irregular ventricular rates, and atrioventricular desynchrony that reduce cardiac output and ultimately cause acute heart failure, cardiogenic shock, and acute kidney injury ^{577, 578, 623}. This hemodynamic instability also results in blood stasis and possibly thrombus formation in both atria, with a risk of embolization to the brain or the lungs ^{578, 594, 624, 625}. The simplified PE severity index (sPESI) which is used for the risk stratification of patients with aPE includes heart rate \geq 110 as a severity criterion, but not AF ⁶²⁶. However, the addition of AF to the sPESI was shown to increase the predictive value of sPEPI for adverse in-hospital outcomes ⁶²⁶. This finding should be explored in other cohorts of patients with aPE.

All types of AF, whether pre-existing or newly diagnosed, were found to increase the risk of death in patients with aPE. No information was provided on the use of oral anticoagulation in patients with AF who had an aPE. Atrial fibrillation is strongly associated with an increased risk of VTE including aPE, especially during the first months after AF diagnosis, suggesting that the introduction of oral anticoagulation soon after AF diagnosis might reduce the risk of both VTE and ischemic stroke ^{173, 174}. The CHA₂DS₂-VASc does not take into consideration previous PE in the risk stratification of patients with AF who are candidates for oral anticoagulation. However, oral anticoagulation might be beneficial in low-risk AF patients (based on a low CHA₂DS₂-VASc score) with unprovoked aPE, beyond the duration of anticoagulation recommended for aPE alone. Additionally, patients with newly diagnosed AF after aPE might also be good candidates for early rhythm control therapy, considering the lower adverse cardiovascular outcomes associated with early rhythm control therapy than usual care among patients recently diagnosed with AF (≤ 1 year) and cardiovascular conditions ²⁸¹. These hypotheses need to be investigated.

This study has some limitations. First, data synthesized in this review span two decades and therefore might not be fully representative of the current clinical epidemiology of aPE. Second, there was high heterogeneity in pooled prevalence estimates. This might be due to substantial difference in patients' risk profile across studies. Unfortunately, the limited

number of studies reporting pre-existing and newly diagnosed AF, and the infrequent reporting of key risk factors for AF in the included studies (**Supplementary Table 4**) precluded meta-regression analysis to explore sources of prevalence variability across studies. Third, AF burden that is increasingly considered as a stronger predictor of adverse outcomes than AF as a binary entity (present vs absent) was not reported in the included studies and therefore not examined in this review. Finally, in some primary studies, AF was not included in multivariable regression analysis when there was no significant association of AF with mortality in univariable analysis. In such studies only unadjusted risk estimates were available. We included these estimates to avoid excluding systematically studies showing no association between AF and mortality. Although, this allowed to have more realistic estimates, it increased the likelihood of residual confounding.

6.2.5 Conclusion

About one in eight patients with aPE has AF, with a significant proportion of newly diagnosed AF. Irrespective of its temporal patterns, AF is associated with increased short- and long-term mortality. Searching for AF is therefore crucial in the context of aPE. Studies are needed to determine the appropriate rhythm monitoring strategies in patients with aPE. In view of the strong prognostic value of AF, its incorporation into risk stratification schemes for patients with aPE should be considered.

6.2.6 Figures

Figure 1. Study selection

Figure 2. Proportion of patients with pre-existing and newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation

Figure 3. Proportion of patients with prevalent atrial fibrillation

Figure 4. Association of atrial fibrillation types with short-term mortality

Figure 5. Association of atrial fibrillation types with long-term mortality

Figure 6. Graphical abstract

Figure 1. Study selection



Figure 2. Proportion of patients with pre-existing and newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation

Author, Year	Cases	Sample	Prevalence (%)	[95% C.I.]	Weight					
Barra, 2014 Bikdeli, 2021 Ebner, 2020 Krajewska, 2017	57 792 52 48	270 16497 528 366	21.1 4.8 9.8 13.1	[16.2; 26.0] [4.5; 5.1] [7.3; 12.4] [9.7; 16.6]	23.9% 26.5% 25.1% 24.5%		-*	_		
Pooled proportion Prediction interval Heterogeneity: <i>1</i> ² = 97.4%	ő, p < 0.00	17661	11.3	[6.2; 17.7] [0.0; 49.4]	100.0%	0 10	20	30	40	

Panel A. Pre-existing atrial fibrillation

Panel B. Newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation



Author, Year	Cases	Sample	Prevalence (%)	[95% C.I.]	Weight	Prevalence (%)
Bikdeli, 2021	1237	16497	7.5	[7.1; 7.9]	5.3%	+
Bing, 2016	258	2306	11.2	[9.9; 12.5]	5.2%	
Bolt, 2019	31	390	7.9	[5.3; 10.6]	4.4%	
de-Miguel-Diez, 2016	12966	123872	10.5	[10.3; 10.6]	5.3%	•
de-Miguel-Diez, 2021	4490	47190	9.5	[9.2; 9.8]	5.3%	+
Ebner, 2020	86	528	16.3	[13.1; 19.4]	4.6%	
Escobar, 2008	70	644	10.9	[8.5; 13.3]	4.7%	
Geibel, 2005	75	508	14.8	[11.7; 17.8]	4.6%	
Goldhaber, 1999	213	1547	13.8	[12.1; 15.5]	5.1%	
Huang, 2011	29	150	19.3	[13.0; 25.7]	3.5%	
Ji, 2016	48	342	14.0	[10.4; 17.7]	4.3%	
Keller, 2015	53093	346586	15.3	[15.2; 15.4]	5.3%	
Koracevic, 2010	22	140	15.7	[9.7; 21.7]	3.4%	
Krajewska, 2017	63	366	17.2	[13.3; 21.1]	4.4%	
Kukla, 2011	62	292	21.2	[16.5; 25.9]	4.2%	
Kukla, 2015	229	975	23.5	[20.8; 26.1]	4.9%	— · —
Mullova, 2019	68	472	14.4	[11.2; 17.6]	4.6%	— · —
Ösken, 2021	57	635	9.0	[6.8; 11.2]	4.7%	+
Percy, 2010	7661	58974	13.0	[12.7; 13.3]	5.3%	+
Prandoni, 2009	1177	11236	10.5	[9.9; 11.0]	5.3%	+
Yang, 2020	23398	201360	11.6	[11.5; 11.8]	5.3%	•
Pooled proportion		815010	13.2	[11.5; 14.9]	100.0%	~
Prediction interval				[6.2; 22.2]		
Heterogeneity: I ² = 99.5%, p	= 0					
						5 10 15 20 25 30

Figure 3. Proportion of patients with prevalent atrial fibrillation

Figure 4. Association of atrial fibrillation types with short-term mortality

Author	Type of AF	Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Barra, 2014 Bikdeli, 2021 Kukla, 2015 Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0\%$, $p = 0$	Pre-existing AF Pre-existing AF Pre-existing AF			[1.14; 4.64] [1.57; 2.32] [0.91; 2.82] [1.59; 2.27]	0.8% 8.1% 1.2% 10.1%
Bikdeli, 2021 Escobar, 2008 Kukla, 2015 Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 4\%$, $p = 0$	Newly diagnosed AF Newly diagnosed AF Newly diagnosed AF < 0.35		1.61 1.40 0.80 1.51	[1.23; 2.10] [0.67; 2.95] [0.32; 2.01] [1.18; 1.93]	4.8% 0.7% 0.5% 6.0%
de-Miguel-Diez, 2021 de-Miguel-Diez, 2016 (1) de-Miguel-Diez, 2016 (2) Ebner, 2020 Huang, 2011 Mameli, 2016 Ösken, 2021 Percy, 2010 Yang, 2020 Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0\%$, $p = 0$	Prevalent AF Prevalent AF Prevalent AF Prevalent AF Prevalent AF Prevalent AF Prevalent AF Prevalent AF Prevalent AF		1.51 1.44 1.49 0.74 1.56 1.34 	[1.17; 1.94] [1.31; 1.59] [1.38; 1.60] [0.17; 3.23] [0.56; 4.37] [0.50; 4.39] [1.21; 1.65] [1.50; 1.79] [1.42; 1.60]	5.3% 19.8% 24.6% 0.2% 0.4% 0.7% 0.3% 11.4% 21.4% 84.0%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 6\%$, $p = 0$ Test for subgroup differences	0.39 Г : <i>p</i> = 0.05 0.4	5 1 2	1.54 5	[1.44; 1.64]	100.0%

Figure 5. Association of atrial fibrillation types with long-term mortality

Author	Type of AF		Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	Weight
Barra, 2014 Bikdeli, 2021 Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 53\%$, p	Pre-existing AF Pre-existing AF = 0.14			→ 3.09 1.77 2.08	[1.49; 6.39] [1.50; 2.09] [1.27; 3.42]	7.4% 29.7% 37.1%
Bikdeli, 2021 Ebner, 2020 Liu, 2021 Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 45\%$, p	Newly diagnosed AF Newly diagnosed AF Newly diagnosed AF = 0.16	* *	- <u>+</u>	1.34 0.79 2.36 1.46	[1.05; 1.71] [0.27; 2.31] [1.22; 4.56] [0.96; 2.22]	25.0% 3.8% 8.6% 37.4%
Ng, 2016 Random effects model Heterogeneity: not applicat	Prevalent AF		+	1.29 1.29	[1.02; 1.63] [1.02; 1.63]	25.6% 25.6%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 60\%$, <i>p</i> Test for subgroup differenc	es: p = 0.23 0	0.5 1	2	1.58	[1.26; 1.97]	100.0%

Figure 6. Graphical abstract



6.2.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Search strategies

	PUBMED
#P1	"deep vein thrombosis" OR "venous thrombosis" OR "pulmonary
	embolism" OR "venous thromboembolism" OR "pulmonary
	thromboembolism" OR "venous thromboembol*"
#P2	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation" OR "AF" OR "Afib"
#P3	#P1 AND #P2
	EMBASE
#E1	'deep vein thrombosis':ab,ti OR 'venous thrombosis':ab,ti OR
	'pulmonary embolism':ab,ti OR 'venous thromboembolism':ab,ti OR
	'pulmonary thromboembolism':ab,ti
#E2	'atrial fibrillation':ab,ti OR 'auricular fibrillation':ab,ti OR 'AF':ab,ti OR
	'AFib':ab,ti
#E3	#E1 AND #E2
#E4	#E3 AND ('article'/it OR 'article in press'/it)
	WEB OF SCIENCE
#W1	"deep vein thrombosis" OR "venous thrombosis" OR "pulmonary
	embolism" OR "venous thromboembolism" OR "pulmonary
	thromboembolism"
#W2	"atrial fibrillation" OR "auricular fibrillation" OR "AF" OR "Afib"
#W3	#1 AND #2
#W4	#3 AND limit to articles

Characteristics	N = 27
Total population	819,380
Year of publication, range	1999-2021
Period of inclusion of participants, range	1995-2020
Design	
- Cohort	27
Data collection	
- Prospective	8
- Retrospective	19
Regions	
- Europe	16
- Asia	4
- Northern America	3
- Multiregional	2
- Oceania	2
Countries	
- US	3
- Spain	3
- Germany	3
- Poland	3
- Multinational	2
- China	2
- Italy	2
- Australia	2
- Russia	1
- Serbia	1
- Switzerland and Germany	1
- Taiwan	1
- Turkey	1
- Portugal	1
Sampling	
- Non-probability	27
- Random	0
Risk of bias	
- Low	17
- Moderate	7
- High	3

Supplementary Table 2. Summarized study characteristics

	Year						Methods of diagnosis	
	of	Year of		Study		Data	of pulmonary	Arrhythmia
Author	publ	recruitment	Country	design	Sampling	collection	embolism	type
							CT pulmonary	
Bajaj	2014	2007-2010	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Barra	2014	2007-2011	Portugal	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Bikdeli	2021	2014-2020	Multinational	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	angiography	AF
							V/Q scan or CT	
Bing	2016	2000-2012	Australia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	pulmonary angiography	AF or AFl
			Switzerland				V/Q scan or CT	
Bolt	2019	2009-2013	and Germany	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	pulmonary angiography	AF or AFl
de-Miguel-Diez	2016	2004-2013	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	NR	AF
de-Miguel-Diez	2021	2016-2018	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	NR	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Ebner	2020	2008-2017	Germany	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	angiography	AF
							CT pulmonary	Atrial
Escobar	2008	2003-2006	Spain	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	angiography	arrhythmias
							V/Q scan or CT	
Geibel	2005	NR	Germany	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	pulmonary angiography	AF or AFl
							V/Q scan or CT	
Goldhaber	1999	1995-1996	Multinational	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	pulmonary angiography	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Huang	2011	2004-2009	Taiwan	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	angiography	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Ji	2016	2012-2015	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF
Keller	2015	2011-2013	Germany	Cohort	Nonprobability	Prospective	NR	AF or AFl
Koracevic	2010	2003-2008	Serbia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	NR	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Krajewska	2017	2004-2013	Poland	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Kukla	2011	NR	Poland	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF
Kukla	2015	2004-2012	Poland	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	CT pulmonary	AF

Supplementary Table 3. General characteristics of included studies

							angiography	
							CT pulmonary	
Liu	2021	2017-2019	China	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF
							V/Q scan or CT	
Mameli	2016	2009-2011	Italy	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	pulmonary angiography	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Mullova	2019	2003-2014	Russia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF
							CT pulmonary	
Ng	2016	2001-2012	Australia	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF or AFl
							CT pulmonary	
Ösken	2021	2014-2020	Turkey	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	angiography	AF
Percy	2010	2010-2014	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	NR	AF
Prandoni	2009	2000-2006	Italy	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	NR	AF or AFl
							V/Q scan or CT	
Ryu	2010	2001-2008	Korea	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	pulmonary angiography	AF or AFl
Yang	2020	2012-2014	USA	Cohort	Nonprobability	Retrospective	NR	AF or AFl

AF: atrial fibrillation; AFI: atrial flutter; CT: computed tomography; ECG: electrocardiogram; NR: not reported; Publ: publication; V/Q: ventilation/perfusion scan

	Year		Mean or							Heart		Recent	Previous	
	of	Total	median	Males	НРТ	Diabetes	Obesity	Smoking	COPD	failure	Cancer	Surgery	DVT/PE	Stroke
Author	publ	sample	age	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(5)	(%)	(%)
Bajaj	2014	334	65.8	46			37.4	27.2	10.5	9.3	27	14.7	19.2	3.9
Barra	2014	270	70.1	40.1						23.3	22.2		23.3	16.7
Bikdeli	2021	16497												
Bing	2016	2306			25.5	14		12.8	11.1	9.3	49.3			2.3
Bolt	2019	390	74	54					13	12	15			
de-Miguel-Diez	2016	123872	70.34	45.5	40									
de-Miguel-Diez	2021	47190	73	46.6	42.4	16.5	12.5				18.6	1.8		
Ebner	2020	528	70	46.8	63.6	17.6			15.3	14.5	14.4			
Escobar	2008	644		43					8.2	7.6	21.3	9.6	10.1	
Geibel	2005	508	63	42.1					10		12.4		28.9	4.9
Goldhaber	1999	2454	62.3	45										
Huang	2011	150	71.3	64	47.3	20			14	15.3	30.7	6.7	10	
Ji	2016	342	71.4	58.5	44.2	8.2		34.2	36.8		12	15.2		
Keller	2015	346586	72	46.7	45	16.1	8.7		18.5	21.9	20	51.1		
Koracevic	2010	140	63.2	31.4										
Krajewska	2017	366	66.1	45.9	55.2	14.5	36.9		5.5		17.2		5.7	
Kukla	2011	292	65.4	37.3			31.5		8.2	12.3	7.5			
Kukla	2015	1006	66	41			19		10	12	13			
Liu	2021	590	67	48.6		4.7			8	21	11.2		30.5	13.4
Mameli	2016	971	71.5	36.8										
Mullova	2019	472	58.1	49.6										
Ng	2016	1142	67.2	45	22.3	13.1		8.4	9.8	10	21.6			
Ösken	2021	635	61.8	45.8	55	28		40.8	15.3	10.6	5.8	10.7	5.7	
Percy	2010	58974	59	50.6	52	19	25	27	19	14	11			

Supplementary Table 4. Clinical characteristics of participants in the included studies

Prandoni	2009	11236	70	39	14	1.3		9			
Ryu	2010	125	62.7	45	28	18			28	14	
Yang	2020	201360	61	48							

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DVP: deep vein thrombosis; HPT: hypertension; PE: pulmonary embolism; Publ: publication

Supplementary Table 5. Risk of bias assessment

Author	Year of publication	Item 1	Item 2	Item 3	Item 4	Item 5	Item 6	Item 7	Item 8	Item 9	Total score	Level of bias
Bajaj	2014	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Barra	2014	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Bikdeli	2021	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9	Low
Bing	2016	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Bolt	2019	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	7	Low
de-Miguel-Diez	2016	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	4	High
de-Miguel-Diez	2021	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	4	High
Ebner	2020	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	8	Low
Escobar	2008	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	6	Moderate
Geibel	2005	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Goldhaber	1999	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	8	Low
Huang	2011	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Ji	2016	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	5	Moderate
Keller	2015	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8	Low
Koracevic	2010	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	4	High
Krajewska	2017	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Kukla	2011	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Kukla	2015	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Liu	2021	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Mameli	2016	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	5	Moderate
Mullova	2019	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Ng	2016	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Ösken	2021	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	7	Low
Percy	2010	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	6	Moderate
Prandoni	2009	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8	Low

Ryu	2010	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	6	Moderate
Yang	2020	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	6	Moderate

RoB: risk of bias

Interpretation of the score

7-9: Low Risk of Bias / High-quality study. Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate.

4 - 6: Moderate Risk of Bias / Moderate-quality study. Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate and may change the estimate.

3 or less: High Risk of Bias / Low-quality study. Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate and is likely to change the estimate. Further research is mandatory.

Supplementary Figure 1. Influencer analysis for studies reporting on pre-existing atrial fibrillation



Supplementary Figure 2. Influencer analysis for studies reporting on newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation



Supplementary Figure 3. Influencer analysis for studies reporting on prevalent atrial fibrillation

Study		Ρ	revale	nce (%	5)		Prevalence (%)	[95% C.I.] I2
Omitting Bikdeli, 2021		_		-			13.	.52	[11.89; 15.24] 0.99
Omitting Bills, 2019	-						13.	.30	[11.30, 15.15] 1.00
Omitting de-Miguel-Diez 2016				-			13.	25	[11.70, 15.21] 1.00
Omitting de Miguel-Diez, 2010				_			13	40	[11.69: 15.21] 0.99
Omitting Ebner 2020	_		<u> </u>				13	04	[11 34 14 84] 1 00
Omitting Escobar, 2008							13	31	[11.57: 15.14] 1.00
Omitting Geibel, 2005	-	- 1	i				13.	.11	[11.39; 14.94] 1.00
Omitting Goldhaber, 1999	-	-					13.	.16	[11.42; 15.01] 1.00
Omitting Huang, 2011	-		<u> </u>				12.	.97	[11.32; 14.72] 1.00
Omitting Ji, 2016	-	-	•				13.	.15	[11.42; 14.98] 1.00
Omitting Keller, 2015	-	- 1	<u> </u>				13.	.07	[11.35; 14.90] 0.98
Omitting Koracevic, 2010	-	- 1					13.	.10	[11.40; 14.90] 1.00
Omitting Krajewska, 2017	-	-					13.	.01	[11.32; 14.79] 1.00
Omitting Kukla, 2011	-		-				12.	.85	[11.25; 14.53] 1.00
Omitting Kukla, 2015	_						12.	.63	[11.21; 14.13] 1.00
Omitting Mullova, 2019	-	-	•				13.	.13	[11.40; 14.96] 1.00
Omitting Osken, 2021				-			13.	.41	[11.70; 15.20] 1.00
Omitting Percy, 2010	-	-					13.	.20	[11.45; 15.06] 1.00
Omitting Prandoni, 2009			•	-			13.	.35	[11.61; 15.18] 1.00
Omitting Yang, 2020	-			-			13.	.28	[11.53; 15.13] 0.99
Random effects model	-	\leq	-				13.	.18	[11.52; 14.93]
1	_	10	44	10	10				
10	J	12	14	16	18	20			

Supplementary Figure 4. Influencer analysis for studies reporting on the association between atrial fibrillation and long-term mortality

Study	Odds Ratio	OR	[95% C.I.]	12
Omitting Barra, 2014 Omitting Bikdeli, 2021 Omitting Bikdeli, 2021 Omitting Ebner, 2020		1.50 1.55 1.69 1.63	[1.23; 1.83] [1.12; 2.13] [1.24; 2.29] [1.29: 2.06]	0.56 0.54 0.63 0.64
Omitting Liu, 2021 Omitting Ng, 2016		1.52 1.70	[1.20; 2.00] [1.21; 1.90] [1.29; 2.24]	0.64 0.57
Random effects model		1.58	[1.26; 1.97]	
C	0.5 1 2	3		
CHAPTER 7:

Sex disparities in enrolment and reporting of outcomes by

sex in contemporary clinical trials of atrial fibrillation

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Sex disparities in enrolment and reporting of outcomes by sex in contemporary clinical trials of atrial fibrillation				
	⊠ Published				
Derbling there Otation	\Box Accepted for publication \Box				
Publication Status	\Box Submitted for publication				
	□ Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style				
	Noubiap JJ, Thomas G, Nyaga UF, Fitzgerald JL, Gallagher C,				
Dublication Dataila	Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Sex disparities in enrolment and reporting				
Publication Details	of outcomes by sex in contemporary clinical trials of atrial fibrillation. \underline{J}				
	Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2022. doi: 10.1111/jce.15421.				

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale				
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, bibliographic searches, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision				
Overall percentage (%)	50%				
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper				
Signature		Date	3/12/2022		

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Gijo Thomas			
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript revision (10%)			
Signature		Date	3/13/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Ulrich Flore Nyaga		
Contribution to the Paper	Data collection, data interpretation, m	anuscrij	pt revision (10%)
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	John L. Fitzgerald		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature	r —	Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Celine Gallagher			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)			
Signature		Date	3/14/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)			
Signature	•	Date	3/12/2022	
	V			

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022
	r		

7.1 Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF), the most common sustained arrhythmia, is an increasingly important threat to global health owing to its rapidly growing prevalence ¹ and associated devastating complications including stroke, heart failure, and death ^{70, 167}. There are significant sex differences in the epidemiology of AF ⁶²⁷. Women have a lower prevalence of AF compared to men: of the 37.6 million individuals with AF globally in 2017, 17.8 million (47.3%) were women ¹. Furthermore, AF has been shown to be a stronger risk factor for stroke, cardiovascular mortality, and all-cause mortality in women compared with men ³²⁹.

Sex differences in disease pathophysiology, clinical patterns and response to treatment should be considered in the design, analysis, and reporting of research studies ^{628, 629}. Recent analyses have shown inadequate enrolment of women in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of various cardiovascular diseases ⁶³⁰⁻⁶³². Given the well-established importance of sex in the epidemiology of AF ⁶²⁷, the underrepresentation of women in RCTs of therapies for patients with AF might undermine their generalizability and consequently the validity of the evidence guiding treatment of women. Furthermore, reporting of trial results in women and men separately is essential to determine when sex-specific therapeutic strategies should be applied. Despite the call for reporting of trial results by sex made by several initiatives over more than a decade ^{633, 634}, a number of previous studies have observed that results of most trials are not reported according to sex ^{631, 635-637}. The current study, which focuses on recent RCTs of AF, aims to measure the sex disparities in participants' recruitment, determine associated factors, and describe the frequency of reporting of primary endpoint results by sex.

7.2 Methods

This project was registered with PROSPERO (CRD42021291258).

7.2.1 Literature search

PubMed/MEDLINE was searched to identify all RCTs of AF published between January 1, 2011, and November 20, 2021 in top journals (based on Clarivate Analytics impact factor 2020) of general medicine (New England Journal of Medicine [NEJM], The Lancet, Journal of the American Medical Association [JAMA], JAMA Internal Medicine and British Medical Journal [BMJ]), of general cardiology (European Heart Journal [EHJ], Circulation, Journal of the American College of Cardiology [JACC], and JAMA Cardiology), and of cardiac electrophysiology (JACC Clinical Electrophysiology [JACC CE], Circulation Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology [Circ AE], Hearth Rhythm, Europace, and Journal of Cardiac Electrophysiology [JCE]). The search strategy was built based on the combination of relevant terms related to atrial fibrillation, clinical trials, and the names of the targeted journals (**Supplementary Table 1**). One investigator (JJN) conducted the bibliographic searches. The reference lists of eligible articles were also scrutinized and ClinicalTrial.gov to identify additional relevant RCTs.

7.2.2 Selection of studies to include in the review

The inclusion criteria were: 1) studies reporting final primary results of an RCT; 2) published in one of the 12 abovementioned target journals between January 1, 2011, and November 20, 2021; 3) trial population consisting of patients with atrial fibrillation. The exclusion criteria were: 1) sample size of less than 100 participants; 2) articles not reporting primary results such as subsequent analyses of trial data; 3) RCTs of AF screening or detection in at risk populations such as elderly or patients with stroke. Two investigators (JJN and UFN) independently selected records from bibliographic searches based on title and abstract screening. Full texts of articles deemed potentially eligible were retrieved and screened independently by the same investigators for final inclusion. Selection discrepancies were solved through discussion and consensus.

7.2.3 Data extraction and management

Data were extracted using a standardized data abstraction form and included: name of the first author, year of publication, period of participants' recruitment, whether it was a single or multicenter trial, total trial population size, whether participants were recruited in one or multiple countries, trial name, trial registration number, trial phase (as reported by the investigators), masking (unmasked, single-blinded, or double-blinded trial), type of intervention, primary outcome, involvement of industry, involvement of 1 or more females represented in trial leadership, total sample size, number of enrolled females, whether trial results were reported by sex, and whether there was a sex difference in the trial results. Detailed variable definitions are provided in the appendix (**Supplementary Table 2**). Data were extracted by one investigator (JJN). This study did not aim to assess treatment efficacy in the included RCTs. Therefore, we did not assess risk of bias.

7.2.4 Assessment of sex enrolment disparities

To measure enrolment of females, we used a modified version of the enrolment disparity difference (EDD), a metric which accounts for sex prevalence inequalities in the general population, initially developed to characterize enrolment disparities in lung cancer treatment RCTs ⁶³⁸, and also used in a recent study of sex enrolment disparities in RCTs of acute stroke therapies ⁶³⁰. For each RCT, we calculated the proportion of females enrolled in the trial (PFT), and estimated the proportion of females with AF among the general population (PFG) Burden using data from the Global of Disease (GBD) database (https://gbd2017.healthdata.org/gbd-search/). Each trial was matched to GBD prevalence data on the basis of the approximate median year of the trial recruitment period and geographic area. Because data in the GBD database were available up to year 2017, data for 2017 were attributed to all trials in which participants were recruited from 2017 onward. For trials conducted in one country, we considered the GBD estimates of that country. For trials conducted in two or more countries, if they were in the same GBD region, we included estimates for the corresponding region, otherwise we considered the global estimates. We abstracted the number of people with AF and associated 95% uncertainty interval for females, males, and both.

The EDD was calculated as the difference between the PFT and PFG. We also calculated the standard errors (SE) of the PFT, PFG, and EDD. The following calculations were performed:

$$PFT = \frac{\text{Number of females in the trial}}{\text{Number of participants in the trial}}$$

 $PFG = \frac{\text{Number of females with AF in the general population}}{\text{Number of people (males and females) with AF in the general population}}$

 $SE(PFT) = \sqrt{PFT \times \frac{(1 - PFT)}{Number of participants in the trial}}$

EDD = PFT - PFG

$$SE(EDD) = \sqrt{SE(PFT)^2 + SE(PFG)^2}$$

To calculate the standard error of the PFG, we accounted for the uncertainty of the estimates from the GBD. For each trial, we used the matched number of males and females with AF and the associated 95% uncertainty intervals from the GBD to fit γ distributions and drew 100,000 samples from each of the γ distributions to compute the corresponding PFG and its standard error.

7.2.5 Statistical analysis

Sex disparities in enrolment across RCTs were summarized using a random-effects metaanalysis of the EDDs. We conducted subgroup analyses according to trial characteristics including journal categories (general medicine, general cardiology, and cardiac electrophysiology), period of publication, sample size category, geographical region, type of trial intervention, presence of females in a leadership position, and industry involvement. Heterogeneity was assessed by the χ^2 test on Cochrane's Q statistic ³⁸⁷, which was quantified by I² values, assuming *I*² values of 25, 50 and 75% respectively representing low, medium and high heterogeneity ³⁸⁸. We performed univariable and multivariable meta-regression to explore factors associated with enrolment of females. Analyses were conducted using the R statistical software (version 3.5.03, The R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria) and IBM SPSS Statistics version 27.0 (Chicago, Illinois, USA).

7.3 Results

7.3.1 Study selection and characteristics

From 1133 records identified from bibliographic search and additional sources, we finally included 142 articles reporting trial data from a total of 133,532 participants (Figure 1). The list of included trials and their individual characteristics (**Supplementary Tables 3 and 4**) are presented in the appendix. These articles were most frequently published in Circ AE (14.8%), EHJ (14.1%), Europace (12.7%), NEJM (11.3%), and Heart Rhythm (10.6%). Most RCTs were conducted in multiple centers (71.8%), or in one country (59.2%). About a third of RCTs were conducted in several regions, whereas the single most represented region was Europe (31.0%). Most RCTs did not have a woman in a leadership role (86.6%), and industry (for-profit entity) was involved in 46.5% of them. The number of participants enrolled in the

included trials ranged from 100 to 21,105, with a median of 222 (interquartile range 150-501.5). The most common interventions evaluated in the RCTs were catheter ablation (49.3%), any adjuvant therapy to catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion (12.7%), preprocedural oral anticoagulation (9.9%), long-term oral anticoagulation (7.7%), and risk factor management or integrated care (7.7%) (**Table 1**).

7.3.2 Enrolment disparity differences

There were wide variations in the PFT and PFG across studies (**Figure 1**). The PFT ranged from 10.0% to 72.8% (median 30.9%, interquartile range 24.6%-38.1%), whereas the PFG ranged from 34.7% to 55.9% (median 45.3%, interquartile range 40.6%-47.2%). The randomeffects pooled EDD of the 142 trials was -0.125 (95% CI, -0.143 to -0.108), representing an under-enrollment of females by an absolute difference of 12.5 percentage points relative to their representation in the general populations of people with AF. Female enrolment varied significantly across trials (I^2 88%). The results of subgroup analysis according to journals, publication period, sample size, region, type of intervention tested in the trial, industry involvement, and whether female(s) had a leadership role in the trial are presented in **Figure 2** and the appendix (**Supplementary Table 5**).

In univariable meta-regression analysis, an age limit for participants' inclusion in the trial, the mean age of participants, and the period of publication of the trial's results were associated with female enrolment, whereas a trend towards an association was noted for sample size, and industry involvement (**Table 3**). In multivariable analysis (Model 1), larger sample sizes were associated with an increased likelihood of female enrolment (categories <250 vs >750: adjusted odds ratio [aOR] 1.065, 95% CI: 1.008-1.125). Compared to trials conducted in Europe, those in North America (USA or Canada) were associated with lower female enrolment (aOR 0.945, 95% CI: 0.898-0.995). Because the periods of recruitment of

trials were very heterogeneous and difficult to categorize, we used the period of publication of the trial results as a surrogate of the period of recruitment. The participation of females was higher in trials published in 2020 or 2021 compared to those published between 2011 and 2013 (aOR 1.058, 95% CI: 1.004-1.115). Higher mean age of the trial population was also significantly associated with a greater likelihood of female enrolment (aOR 1.006, 95% CI: 1.002-1.009; Model 2).

7.3.3 Reporting of results by sex

Out of 142 trials, 36 (25.4%) reported primary endpoint results by sex. Reporting by sex was higher (p < 0.001) in general medicine journals (64.5%), compared to general cardiology journals (27.3%) and cardiac electrophysiology journals (7.5%). The NEJM (87.5%) and Lancet (50.0%) had the highest reporting rates. Reporting also differed by period of publication, geographic region, sample size, intervention, and industry involvement. Trials published in 2020 and 2021 were more commonly reported by sex compared to those published between 2011 and 2019 (40.0% vs 21.4%, p = 0.038). Reporting rates were higher in trials conducted in more than one country or more than one region compared to those conducted in a single country (36.2% vs 17.9%, p = 0.013) or a single region (43.5% vs 16.7, p < 0.001). Increased sample size was associated with more frequent reporting, with 66.6% of trials with more than 750 participants reporting compared to only 32.4% of trials with less than 250 participants (p < 0.001). Trials evaluating long-term oral anticoagulation (81.8%), left atrial appendage occlusion (75.0%), and risk factor management or integrated care interventions (63.6%) had significantly higher reporting rates compared to trials on other interventions (p < 0.001). Reporting was higher in trials with industry involvement compared to those with no industry involvement (34.5% vs 15.8%, p = 0.007). Twenty-nine of the 36 trials (80.6%) that reported results by sex performed statistical testing of the sex-by-treatment interaction (**Supplementary Table 4**).

7.4 Discussion

This study aimed to describe sex disparities in participants' recruitment and associated factors, and to describe the frequency of primary endpoint results reported by sex in contemporaneous RCTs of AF. Our major findings are: i) females were substantially less represented, with an absolute difference of 12.5 percentage points relative to their representation in the general populations of people with AF; ii) more recently published trials, those conducted in Europe, with larger sample sizes, and with a higher mean age of participants were associated with a greater likelihood of female enrolment; iii) only one quarter of trials reported sex-specific primary endpoint results; reporting by sex was more common in general medicine journals (mainly NEJM and Lancet), in multinational trials, those with higher sample sizes, those with industry involvement, those evaluating long-term oral anticoagulation, left atrial appendage occlusion, and risk factor management or integrated care interventions, and in the most recently published trials (2020 and 2021) (**Figure 4**).

The marked underrepresentation of females in RCTs of AF is a major issue considering that females have poor AF-related outcomes including more frequent strokes, cardiovascular and all-cause deaths compared with men ³²⁹. This underrepresentation of females also raises concerns about the applicability and generalizability of trial results to females. For instance, the enrolment of females was lowest in RCTs of catheter ablation. A recent analysis of the Get With The Guidelines-AF registry in the United States found sex differences in AF ablation strategies that are not supported by current evidence ⁶³⁹,

highlighting the need for data to inform optimal ablation strategies by sex. This requires an appropriate representation of females in clinical trials.

We observed that trials with an upper age limit of 80 years or less had lower female representation in their study population. Furthermore, a younger mean age was associated with a reduced likelihood of female enrolment. Because females with AF are generally older than their male counterparts and diagnosed later in life ³¹⁷, trials that include younger patients by chance or by design are likely to recruit fewer females. Therefore, an upper age limit as a selection criterion in trials of AF should be considered only if medically indicated. If age is used as a surrogate of age-related health condition such as frailty, it would be desirable to exclude participants based on a formal assessment of the condition rather than age ^{630, 640}. We also observed that smaller trials enrolled fewer females. Special attention is required to ensure appropriate female representation in such trials. Overall, trials published in 2020 and 2021 had enrolled significantly more females compared to those published in 2011-2013. Although the recruitment in these trials might have occurred several years before publication of their results, it is likely that the enrolment of females in RCTs of AF has increased in recent years. More efforts are needed to further increase the enrolment of females in future trials.

Reporting of sex-specific endpoint results has increased in recent years. This may be due to growing awareness of sex disparities in the epidemiology of disease in general, and particularly AF. Indeed, the number of publications on sex differences in diseases has substantially increased in the last decade (trends data from PubMed). Similar increasing temporal trends were observed in two recent analyses of reporting of results by sex in clinical trials of acute stroke therapies and Alzheimer's disease ^{635, 641}. However, the reporting of outcomes by sex is still largely suboptimal as only 40% of RCTs of AF published in 2020 and 2021 reported sex-specific outcomes. We observe higher rates of reporting in NEJM (87.5%) and Lancet (50.0%), in keeping with a 2016 review on sex-related reporting in RCTs in the

NEJM and Lancet journals in which 48% of trials reported results by sex ⁶³⁷, and with a more recent review on trials of acute stroke therapies which showed 61% and 40% sex-specific reporting in trials published in the NEJM and Lancet, respectively ⁶³⁵. This likely reflects editorial policies in these journals that strongly recommend reporting sex-specific outcomes. Consideration of such reporting recommendations should be strongly encouraged among authors and journals, especially those with lower rates of sex-specific reporting. This can be achieved by including reporting by sex as a requirement in journals' reporting guidelines as recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors ⁶⁴². We also observed that increased sample size was associated with more frequent sex-specific reporting. This suggests that perhaps trials that are more statistically powered are more likely to have sex-stratified data reported. Indeed, potential sex differences in endpoints should be considered early in the design of trials.

The findings of this study should be interpreted with caution. Because we focused on trials published in selected high-impact journals, some important RCTs could have been missed. However, RCTs with the greatest impact of AF management are more likely to be published in journals we selected. Furthermore, the precision of the measurement of enrolment disparities might have been influenced by the source of data for the representation of females in the general population. Indeed, data from the GBD are estimates derived from modeling analysis and therefore have some degree of imprecision. Nevertheless, the GBD data were the most suitable for this study considering their disaggregation by year and geographic areas. Our study is an important contribution as it is the first description of the frequency of reporting by sex in RCTs of AF. Furthermore, we used a strong metric to measure sex enrolment disparities, accounting for the sex distribution of people with AF in the general population. We also provide important information on factors associated with female enrolment in these trials using adjusted meta-regression analysis.

7.5 Conclusion

Despite recent progress, females remain substantially less represented in RCTs of AF. This calls into question the generalizability of these trials and the validity of the evidence guiding the treatment of females. More efforts are needed to increase female enrolment, with a special attention in trials conducted in Northern America and those with lower sample size. Avoiding the exclusion of older individuals may also improve female representation. Furthermore, sexstratified reporting of primary outcomes infrequently occurs in RCTs of AF, with the exception of top tier general medical journals. Reporting by sex should become a requirement in journals' reporting guidelines in a bid to reduce the sex disparity observed in enrolment and reporting of major trials in AF.

7.6 Tables and figures

- Table 1. Characteristics of included trials
- Table 2. Study-level characteristics associated with reporting of sex-specific trial results
- **Table 3.** Random-effects multivariable meta-regression analysis of the enrolment disparity

 difference in trials of atrial fibrillation
- Figure 1. Study selection
- **Figure 2.** Proportions of females in trials and matched Global Burden of Disease populations with atrial fibrillation
- Figure 3. Random-effects pooled enrolment disparity difference in trials of atrial fibrillationFigure 4. Graphical abstract

Characteristics		Number	Percentage
Journ	al		
•	NEJM	16	11.3
•	Lancet	6	4.2
•	JAMA	8	5.6
•	JAMA Internal Medicine	1	0.7
•	European Heart Journal	20	14.1
•	Circulation	14	9.9
•	JACC	9	6.3
•	JAMA Cardiology	1	0.7
•	JACC Clinical Electrophysiology	7	4.9
•	Circulation Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology	21	14.8
•	Heart Rhythm	15	10.6
•	Europace	18	12.7
•	Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology	6	4.2
Journ	al category		
•	General medicine	31	21.8
•	General cardiology	44	40.0
•	Cardiac electrophysiology	67	47.2
Year	of publication		
•	2011-2013	27	19.0
•	2014-2015	34	23.9
•	2016-2017	24	16.9
•	2018-2019	27	19.0
•	2020-2021	30	21.1
Samp	le size		
•	Less than 250	81	57.0
•	250 to 750	37	26.1
•	More than 750	24	16.9
Cente	ers		
•	Multicenter	102	71.8
•	Single center	40	28.2
Multi	national		10.0
•	Yes	58	40.8
•	No	84	59.2
Regio	n	26	10.2
•	Asia Pacific	26	18.3
•	Europe	44	31.0
•	North America	25	17.6
•	South America	1	0.7
•	Multiregional	46	32.4
Interv	vention	70	40.2
•	Catheter ablation	/0	49.3
•	Electrical cardioversion	3	2.1
•	Surgical ablation	2	1.4

Table 1. Characteristics of included trials

• Adjuvant to catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion	18	12.7
• Periprocedural oral anticoagulation	14	9.9
Long-term oral anticoagulation	11	7.7
Left atrial appendage occlusion	4	2.8
Antiarrhythmic drugs	4	2.8
RFM/integrated care	11	7.7
Others	5	3.5
Industry involvement		
• Yes	66	46.5
• No	76	53.5
Female(s) in trial leadership role		
• Yes	19	13.4
• No	123	86.6

RFM: risk factor management

Characteristics	Number of	Results reported	No results	P value
	trials	by sex, n (%)	reported by sex,	
	(N)		n (%)	
Total	142	36 (25.4)	106 (74.6)	
Journal				< 0.001
• NEJM	16	14 (87.5)	2 (12.5)	
• Lancet	6	3 (50.0)	3 (50.0)	
• JAMA	8	3 (37.5)	5 (62.5)	
JAMA Internal Medicine	1	0 (0.0)	1 (100.0)	
European Heart Journal	20	5 (25.0)	15 (75.0)	
Circulation	14	5 (28.6)	10 (71.4)	
• JACC	9	2 (22.2)	7 (77.8)	
JAMA Cardiology	1	0 (0.0)	1 (100.0)	
JACC Clinical Electrophysiology	7	0 (0.0)	7 (100.0)	
 Circulation Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology 	21	2 (9.5)	19 (90.5)	
Heart Rhythm	15	0 (0.0)	15 (100.0)	
• Europace	18	3 (16.7)	15 (83.3)	
• Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology	6	0 (0.0)	6 (100.0)	
Journal category				< 0.001
General medicine	31	20 (64.5)	11 (35.5)	
General cardiology	44	12 (27.3)	32 (72.7)	
Cardiology electrophysiology	67	5 (7.5)	62 (92.5)	
Year of publication				0.133
• 2011-2013	27	6 (22.2)	21 (77.8)	
• 2014-2015	34	4 (11.8)	30 (88.2)	
• 2016-2017	24	7 (29.3)	17 (70.8)	
• 2018-2019	27	7 (25.9)	20 (74.1)	

Table 2. Study-level characteristics associated with reporting of sex-specific trial results

• 2020-2021	30	12 (40.0)	18 (60.0)	
Year of publication (Binary)				0.038
• 2011-2019	112	24 (21.4)	88 (78.6)	
• 2020-2021	30	12 (40.0)	18 (60.0)	
Sample size				
• Less than 250	81	12 (32.4)	25 (67.6)	< 0.001
• 250 to 750	37	8 (9.9)	73 (90.1)	
• More than 750	24	16 (66.6)	8 (33.3)	
Centers				
Multicenter	102	30 (29.4)	72 (70.6)	0.076
Single center	40	6 (15.0)	34 (85.0)	
Multinational				0.013
• Yes	58 (40.8)	21 (36.2)	37 (63.8)	
• No	84 (59.2)	15 (17.9)	69 (82.1)	
Region				0.003
Asia Pacific	26 (18.3)	4 (15.4)	22 (84.6)	
• Europe	44 (31.0)	6 (13.6)	38 (86.4)	
North America	25 (17.6)	5 (20.0)	20 (80.0)	
South America	1 (0.7)	1 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	
Multiregional	46 (32.4)	20 (43.5)	26 (56.5)	
Region (Binary)				< 0.001
Single region	96	16 (16.7)	80 (83.3)	
Multiregional	46 (32.4)	20 (43.5)	26 (56.5)	
Intervention				< 0.001
Catheter ablation	70 (49.3)	9 (12.9)	61 (87.1)	
Electrical cardioversion	3 (2.1)	0 (0.0)	3 (100.0)	
Surgical ablation	2 (1.4)	0 (0.0)	2 (100.0)	
Adjuvant to catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion	18 (12.7)	3 (16.7)	15 (83.3)	
Periprocedural oral anticoagulation	14 (9.9)	3 (21.4)	11 (78.6)	

Long-term oral anticoagulation	11 (7.7)	9 (81.8)	2 (18.2)	
Left atrial appendage occlusion	4 (2.8)	3 (75.0)	1 (25.0)	
Antiarrhythmic drugs	4 (2.8)	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	
RFM/integrated care	11 (7.7)	7 (63.6)	4 (36.4)	
Others	5 (3.5)	1 (20.0)	4 (80.0)	
Industry involvement				0.007
• Yes	66 (46.5)	24 (36.4)	42 (63.6)	
• No	76 (53.5)	12 (15.8)	64 (84.2)	
Female(s) in a trial leadership role				0.258
• Yes	19 (13.4)	7 (36.8)	12 (63.2)	
• No	123 (86.6)	29 (23.6)	94 (76.4)	

RFM: risk factor management

	Univar	riable			Multivariable model 1				Multivariable model 2			
		95%		Р		95%		P		95%		Р
	OR	CI		value	OR	CI		value	OR	CI		value
		LCL	UCL			LCL	UCL			LCL	UCL	
Upper age limit												
• ≤ 80 years	Ref											
• > 80 years or no limit	1.045	1.007	1.086	0.021	1.036	0.995	1.078	0.083				
Mean age (per 1 year												
increase)	1.007	1.004	1.010	< 0.001					1.006	1.002	1.009	0.002
Sample size												
• < 250	Ref											
• 250 to 750	1.041	1.000	1.084	0.052	1.054	1.012	1.097	0.011	1.041	1.000	1.084	0.050
• >750	1.047	0.999	1.097	0.054	1.065	1.008	1.125	0.025	1.042	0.986	1.102	0.144
Female(s) in a leadership												
role												
• No												
• Yes	1.006	0.956	1.059	0.814	0.983	0.933	1.034	0.502	0.976	0.928	1.026	0.340
Industry involvement												
• No	Ref											
• Yes	0.966	0.933	1.000	0.050	0.968	0.928	1.010	0.138	0.960	0.922	1.000	0.053
Intervention												
Non-invasive	Ref											
• Invasive	0.961	0.925	0.999	0.043	0.971	0.927	1.017	0.211	0.986	0.941	1.032	0.542
Region												
• Europe	Ref											
Asia Pacific	0.994	0.944	1.046	0.813	0.981	0.932	1.032	0.448	0.990	0.942	1.040	0.681

Table 3. Random-effects multivariable meta-regression analysis of the enrolment disparity difference in trials of atrial fibrillation

•	North America	0.961	0.912	1.013	0.138	0.945	0.898	0.995	0.033	0.958	0.912	1.007	0.091
٠	Multiple region	0.964	0.923	1.007	0.100	0.939	0.890	0.991	0.023	0.951	0.903	1.001	0.055
Perio	d of publication												
٠	2011-2013	Ref											
•	2014-2015	0.997	0.946	1.050	0.901	1.017	0.965	1.071	0.537	1.018	0.968	1.071	0.483
•	2016-2017	0.975	0.921	1.032	0.39	0.994	0.939	1.051	0.829	0.993	0.940	1.049	0.793
•	2018-2019	0.987	0.934	1.043	0.644	0.999	0.946	1.056	0.982	1.003	0.951	1.057	0.923
•	2020-2021	1.057	1.001	1.115	0.046	1.058	1.004	1.115	0.035	1.047	0.994	1.103	0.081
CI:	confidence interval;	LCL:	lower	· cont	fidence	limit;	OR:	odds	ratio;	UCL	: upp	ber co	onfidence

CI: confidence interval; LCL: lower confidence limit; OR: odds ratio; UCL: upper confidence limit. Due to collinearity, the variables "highest permitted age of participants" and "mean age" could not be analyzed together. Therefore, two separate multivariable models including each of these variables were conducted. Model 1 and Model 2 are fully adjusted, with Model 1 including "highest permitted age of participants" whereas Model 2 includes "mean age".







Figure 2. Proportions of females in trials and matched Global Burden of Disease populations with atrial fibrillation

Figure 3. Random-effects pooled enrolment disparity difference in trials of atrial fibrillation

Subgroup	Enrolment disparity difference (95%	6)	Trials
Overall	−0.125 (−0.143 to −0.108)	-	142
Journal category General medicine General cardiology Cardiac electrophysiology	-0.12 (-0.155 to -0.085) -0.138 (-0.169 to -0.107) -0.119 (-0.146 to -0.093)	ŧ	31 44 67
Publication period 2011-2016 2017-2021	−0.136 (−0.157 to −0.115) −0.112 (−0.141 to −0.083)	*	78 64
Sample size < 250 250 to 750 > 750	-0.144 (-0.169 to -0.119) -0.104 (-0.135 to -0.074) -0.099 (-0.132 to -0.065)	*	81 37 24
Region Asia Pacific Europe North America South America Multiple	-0.112 (-0.160 to -0.064) -0.106 (-0.138 to -0.074) -0.146 (-0.182 to -0.110) -0.013 (-0.081 to 0,055) -0.142 (-0.171 to -0.114)		26 44 25 1 46
Intervention Catheter ablation Electrical cardioversion Adjuvant to CA and ECV Antiarrhythmic drugs Surgical ablation LAA occlusion Periprocedural OAC Long term OAC RFM/Integrated care Others	$\begin{array}{c} -0.149 \ (-0.173 \ \text{to} \ -0.124) \\ -0.016 \ (-0.378 \ \text{to} \ 0.346) \\ -0.144 \ (-0.175 \ \text{to} \ -0.112) \\ -0.033 \ (-0.094 \ \text{to} \ 0.028) \\ -0.007 \ (-0.063 \ \text{to} \ 0.049) \\ -0.125 \ (-0.174 \ \text{to} \ -0.077) \\ -0.121 \ (-0.158 \ \text{to} \ -0.085) \\ -0.14 \ (-0.186 \ \text{to} \ -0.094) \\ -0.074 \ (-0.147 \ \text{to} \ -0.002) \\ 0.002 \ (-0.083 \ \text{to} \ 0.086) \end{array}$		70 3 18 4 2 4 14 11 11 5
Women in a leadership role Yes No	-0.12 (-0.170 to -0.070) -0.126 (-0.145 to -0.107)	+	19 123
Industry involvement Yes No	−0.143 (−0.143 to −0.169) −0.109 (−0.132 to −0.085)		66 76
		<favors favors<="" men="" td=""><td>women></td></favors>	women>

Figure 4. Graphical abstract



7.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Search strategy

	PUBMED
#P1	"atrial fibrillation" [tiab]
#P2	"controlled trial" [tiab] OR "clinical trial" [tiab] OR "randomized trial"
	[tiab] OR randomized [tiab]
#P3	JAMA [journal] OR "N Engl J Med" [journal] OR Lancet [journal] OR
	"BMJ" [journal] OR "Ann Intern Med" [journal] OR "JAMA Intern
	Med" [journal] OR Circulation [journal] OR "Eur Heart J" [journal] OR
	"J Am Coll Cardiol" [journal] OR "JAMA Cardiol" [journal] OR
	"Heart Rhythm" [journal] OR "Europace" [journal] OR "JACC Clin
	Electrophysiol" [journal] OR "Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol" [journal]
	OR "J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol" [journal]
#P4	#P1 AND #P2 AND #P3
#P5	Limit #P4: Publication date [2011 to 2021]

Variables Definitions General medicine New England Journal of Medicine, The Lancet, British Medical journals Journal, JAMA Internal Medicine General cardiology European Heart Journal, Circulation, Journal of American journals College of Cardiology, JAMA Cardiology JACC Clinical Electrophysiology, Circulation Arrhythmia and Cardiac Electrophysiology, Hearth Rhythm, Europace, Journal of electrophysiology journals Cardiac Electrophysiology The year when participants' recruitment started and the year Period of recruitment when it stopped. This information was collected from the published article, or from the trial registration web page if not available in the article. Multinational Whether (yes) or not (no) the trial was conducted in more than one country The region of the country where the trial was conducted. If the Region trial was conducted in several countries: it was classified in a specific region if all the countries involved were from that same region, or classified as multiregional if the countries were from several regions. Trials were classified into one of 10 types based on the primary Intervention type intervention tested: catheter ablation, surgical ablation, electrical cardioversion, adjuvant therapies to catheter ablation and electrical cardioversion, antiarrhythmic drugs, left atrial appendage occlusion, oral anticoagulation, risk factor modification/integrated care, and others Intervention: catheter If the treatment tested was any form of catheter ablation for ablation atrial fibrillation If the treatment tested was an oral anticoagulant given around Intervention: periprocedural either catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion for stroke oral anticoagulation prevention Intervention: long-term If the treatment tested was an oral anticoagulant given for long oral anticoagulation term stroke prevention Intervention: adjuvant to If the treatment tested was given in patients undergoing catheter ablation ablation or electrical cardioversion to enhance their efficacy catheter or electrical cardioversion Intervention: risk factor If the intervention tested was aimed at: i) controlling the modification comorbid cardiovascular risk factors of patients with atrial or integrated care fibrillation; ii) improving adherence to therapies or monitoring, and health-related outcomes or; ii) providing a holistic approach to chronic management of patients with atrial fibrillation Any intervention that did not fall into the categories: catheter Intervention: others ablation, surgical ablation, electrical cardioversion, adjuvant therapies to catheter ablation and electrical cardioversion, antiarrhythmic drugs, left atrial appendage occlusion, oral anticoagulation, and risk factor modification/integrated care Invasive intervention If the therapy tested was either an invasive procedure (e.g., catheter ablation, surgical ablation) or a therapy associated with

Supplementary Table 2. Definitions of variables

	an invasive procedure (e.g., periprocedural oral anticoagulation
	for catheter ablation)
Non-invasive	If the therapy tested was not directly associated with a break in
intervention	the skin or a contact with an internal body cavity beyond a
	natural or artificial body orifice (e.g., oral medications,
	behavioral therapies, risk factor modification)
Female(s) in a trial	At least one female listed as first or last author (including joint
leadership role	authorship) on the article reporting trial results. Determination
	of the sex of first and last authors was based given names or on
	profile pictures available via internet.
Industry involvement	Provision of financial support (funding) and/or of material (e.g.,
	drug, device) used in the trial by a for-profit entity such as a
	pharmaceutic or medical device company.
Highest permitted age	Any upper limit on the age of participants that defined
for participant inclusion	eligibility. For the purpose of meta-regression analysis, this
	variable was categorized as upper age limit ≤ 80 years (e.g., 80)
	years, 75 years or 65 years) and > 80 years or no upper age limit
Reporting by sex	Whether or not the primary endpoint results were reported by
	sex (males versus females) in the main article or in the appendix
Test of sex-by-treatment	Whether a formal test of interaction between the treatment and
interaction	sex was performed and reported in the main article or in the
	appendix, with a p value or a statement that no interaction was
	found

First author	Journal	Year of publ	Period of	Center	Country	Multinational	Region	Trial name	Trial registration	Intervention
1 list author	Journar	publ	Teeruntinent	Center	Country		Asia		ACTDN	Diala
Abed	JAMA	2013	2010-2011	Single	Australia	No	Pacific	None	12610000497000	modification
ACTIVE I investigators	NEJM	2011	2003-2009	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	ACTIVE I	NCT00249795	Angiotensin receptor antagonist
Ahmed	JACC CE	2020	2018-2019	Single	USA	No	North America	ABCD-AF		No urinary catheter peri-catheter ablation
Andrade	Circulation	2019	2014-2018	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	CIRCA- DOSE	NCT01913522	Catheter ablation
Atienza	JACC	2014	2009-2012	Multiple	Spain	No	Europe	RADAR-AF	NCT00674401	Catheter ablation
Bisbal	Circ AE	2020	2016-2019	Single	Spain	No	Europe	ALICIA	NCT02698631	Catheter ablation
Blomström- Lundqvist	JAMA	2019	2008-2017	Multiple	Finland and Sweden	Yes	Europe	CAPTAF	EudraCT Number:2008- 001384-11	Catheter ablation
Boersma	Circulation	2012	2007-2011	Multiple	Netherlands and Spain	Yes	Europe	FAST	NCT00662701	Catheter ablation
Boersma	Circ AE	2016	2011-2014	Multiple	Netherlands	No	Europe	MYSTIC-PAF	NCT01696136	Catheter ablation
Brignole	ЕНЈ	2021	2014-2021	Single	Italy	No	Europe	APAF-CRT	NCT02137187	Atrioventricular junction ablation and cardiac resynchronization therapy
Budera	EHJ	2012	2007-2012	Multiple	Czech Republic	No	Europe	PRAGUE-12	NCT00665587	Surgical ablation
Cannon	NEJM	2017	2014-2017	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	RE-DUAL PCI	NCT02164864	Long term OAC
Cappato	EHJ	2015	2013-2014	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	VENTURE- AF	NCT01729871	Periprocedural OAC (catheter ablation)
Cappato	EHJ	2014	2012-2014	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	X-VeRT	NCT01674647	Periprocedural OAC (electrical

Supplementary Table 3. Characteristics of included studies (Part 1)

										cardioversion)
Chun	Circ AE	2021	2017-2020	Single	Germany	No	Europe	None		Catheter ablation
Connolly	EHJ	2013	NR	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	Explore-Xa	NCT00742859	Long term OAC
Connolly	NEJM	2011	2007-2010	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	AVERROES	NCT00496769	Long term OAC
Conti	Heart Rhythm	2018	NR	Multiple	Canada	No	North America	TOUCH AF	NCT01851525	Catheter ablation
Damiano	Heart	2014	2007 2011	Multiple	US	No	North	CURE AE	NCT00431834	Surgical ablation
Daimano	Kiiyuiiii	2014	2007-2011	wiumpie	05	NO	America	CURE-AP	NC100431834	Antiarrhythmic
Darkner	EHJ	2014	2009-2014	Multiple	Denmark	No	Europe	AMIO-CAT	NCT00826826	drug
De Ferrari	Heart Rhythm	2015	2012-2014	Multiple	International	Yes	Europe	RAFFAELLO	NCT01534962	Adjuvant to electrical cardioversion
Deftereos	Heart Rhythm	2014	2009-2012	Multiple	Greece	No	Europe	None		Adjuvant to Catheter ablation
DeLurgio	Circ AE	2020	2013-2019	Multiple	UK and USA	Yes	Multiple	CONVERGE	NCT01984346	Catheter ablation
Di Biase	JACC	2016	2010-2014	Multiple	USA	No	North America	BELIEF	NCT01362738	Catheter ablation
Di Biase	Circulation	2014	2010-2013	Multiple	USA	No	North America	COMPARE	NCT01006876	Periprocedural OAC (catheter ablation)
Di Biase	Circulation	2016	2008-2014	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	AATAC	NCT00729911	Catheter ablation
Dittrich	Heart	2015	2012-2013	Multiple	Israel and	Ves	Multiple	COR-ART	NCT01691313	Pharmacological cardioversion
Divit	Circ AE	2013	2006 2009	Single		No	North	PASTA	NCT00379301	Catheter ablation
Dukkipati		2012	2012-2014	Multiple	USA	No	North America	HeartLight	NCT01456000	Catheter ablation
Efremedis	JCE	2015	2012-2011	Single	Greece	No	Europe	None		Adjuvant to Catheter ablation
Ezekowitz	EHJ	2018	2014-2017	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	EMANATE	NCT02100228	Periprocedural OAC (electrical cardioversion)
Faustino	Heart Rhythm	2015	2007-2013	Single	Italy	No	Europe	PAFA-SP	ACTRN 12614001231639	Catheter ablation

Ferrero-de-										
Loma-Osorio	Circ AE	2017	2015-2016	Single	Spain	No	Europe	plusONE	NCT02789358	Catheter ablation
Gallagher	Europace	2021	2012-2016	Single	UK	No	Europe	None		Catheter ablation
	Heart						North			Adjuvant to
Ghanbari	Rhythm	2016	2011-2013	Single	USA	No	America	None		catheter ablation
	TT .						NT .1			Periprocedural
Ghannam	Heart Phythm	2018	2017 2018	Single	USA	No	North	Nona	NCT03140631	OAC reversal
Onaimain	Kiiyuiiii	2018	2017-2018	Single	USA	NO	America	None	NC103140031	Adjuvant to
Giannopoulos	Circulation	2014	2012-2013	Multiple	Greece	No	Europe	None	NCT01791699	Catheter ablation
Giannopoulos	JCE	2019	2017-2017	Multiple	Greece	No	Europe	Cryo-LAEF	NCT02611869	Catheter ablation
							1	PIONEER		
Gibson	NEJM	2016	2013-2016	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	AF-PCI	NCT01830543	Long term OAC
					Canada and		North			Surgical ablation of
Gillinov	NEJM	2015	2010-2015	Multiple	USA	Yes	America	CTSN	NCT00903370	atrial fibrillation
								ENGAGE AF-		
Giugliano	NEJM	2013	2008-2013	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	TIMI 48	NCT00781391	Long term OAC
										Periprocedural
										OAC (electrical
Goette	Lancet	2016	2014-2016	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	ENSURE-AF	NCT02072434	cardioversion)
Granger	NEJM	2011	2006-2011	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	ARISTOTLE	NCT00412984	Long term OAC
Haldar	EHJ	2020	2015-2019	Multiple	UK	No	Europe	CASA-AF	NCT02755688	Catheter ablation
							Asia			Antiarrhythmic
Hayashi	Europace	2014	2010-2013	Single	Japan	No	Pacific	None		drug
										Risk factor
Handriks	FHI	2012	2006 2010	Multiple	Netherlands	No	Furone	AEClinic	NCT00301872	/integrated care
Ticliuliks		2012	2000-2010	winnpie	Inculeitallus	NO	Luiope	AlClinic	INC100391872	Periprocedural
								ELIMINATE-		OAC (catheter
Hohnloser	EHJ	2019	2017-2018	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	AF	NCT02942576	ablation)
										Left atrial
							North			appendage
Holmes	JACC	2014	2010-2013	Multiple	USA	No	America	PREVAIL	NCT01182441	occlusion
	Heart	2014	2007 2010	N 1/1	USA and	X7	North		NGT00514725	
Hummel	Rhythm	2014	2007-2010	Multiple	Netherlands	Yes	America	TTOP-AF	NCT00514735	Catheter ablation
Kaitani	EHJ	2016	2011-2014	Multiple	Japan	No	Asia	EAST-AF		Antiarrhythmic

							Pacific			drug
								DIAMOND-		
Kautzner	JACC CE	2021	2017-2019	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	AF	NCT03334630	Catheter ablation
							Asia			
Kim	Europace	2015	NR	Single	Korea	No	Pacific	None		Catheter ablation
										Periprocedural
Vim		2016	2012 2015	Single	Varaa	No	Asia Decifie	COLIEDE	NCT01025557	OAC (catheter
KIIII	JACC CE	2010	2012-2013	Single	Korea	NO	Pacific	COHEKE	NC101955557	Addition)
							Asia			$\Omega A C$ (catheter
Kimura	IACC CE	2018	2014-2016	Multiple	Ianan	No	Pacific	ASCERTAIN		ablation)
Kircher	Europace	2018	2010-2011	Single	Germany	No	Europe	None		Catheter ablation
Trifelier	Luiopace	2010	2010 2011	biligie	Germany	110	Lutope	TUNE		Post-cardioversion
										antiarrhythmic
Kirchhof	Lancet	2012	2007-2010	Multiple	Germany	No	Europe	Flec-SL	ISRCTN62728742	drug
							•			Periprocedural
								AXAFA-		OAC (catheter
Kirchhof	EHJ	2018	2015-2017	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	AFNET 5	NCT02227550	ablation)
										Early rhythm
										control (catheter
								EACT		ablation and
Kirchhof	NEIM	2020	2011 2020	Multiple	International	Vas	Multiple	EASI- AENET 4	NCT01288352	drug)
Kitchiloi	INEJIVI	2020	2011-2020	Multiple	USA and	105	North	STOP AF	NC101200332	uiug)
Knight	JACC CE	2019	2012-2017	Multiple	Canada	Yes	America	PAS	NCT01456949	Catheter ablation
8										Rate control
Kotecha	JAMA	2020	2016-2019	Multiple	UK	No	Europe	RATE-AF	NCT02391337	therapy
								FIRE AND		
Kuck	NEJM	2016	2011-2016	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	ICE	NCT01490814	Catheter ablation
								AFNET-B04-		
Kuck	Circ AE	2016	2006-2010	Multiple	Germany	No	Europe	1	NCT00293943	Catheter ablation
Kuck	Europace	2021	2012-2018	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	ATTEST	NCT01570361	Catheter ablation
										Implantable cardiac
										defibrillator/cardiac
					Hungary,					resynchronization
Kuck	Circ AF	2019	2008-2017	Multiple	Spain, Germany	Ves	Furone	AMICA	NCT00652522	catheter ablation
INUCA		- 4017	2000-2017	munple	Gormany	100			110100000000000000000000000000000000000	

										Adjuvant to
	Heart						Asia			electrical
Kumar	Rhythm	2012	NR	Single	Australia	No	Pacific	None		cardioversion
Kuniss	Europace	2021	2014-2019	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	Cryo-FIRST	NCT01803438	Catheter ablation
	JAMA Int						North			Behavioral
Kunneman	Med	2020	2016-2021	Multiple	USA	No	America	SDM4Afib	NCT02905032	(decision aid)
										Periprocedural
							Asia			OAC (catheter
Kuwahara	JCE	2016	NR	Multiple	Japan	No	Pacific	None		ablation)
										Left atrial
										appendage
Lakkireddy	Circulation	2021	2016-2020	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	Amulet IDE	NCT02879448	occlusion
							Asia			
Lau	Circulation	2013	2005-2012	Multiple	International	Yes	Pacific	SAFETY	NCT00419640	Pacing
							Asia			
Lee	Europace	2019	2009-2011	Single	Korea	No	Pacific	None		Catheter ablation
							North			Antiarrhythmic
Leong-Sit	Circ AE	2011	2006-2009	Multiple	USA	No	America	5A study	NCT00408200	drug
							Asia		ACTRN	
Lim	Circ AE	2012	NR	Single	Australia	No	Pacific	None	12606000467538	Catheter ablation
.	LOD.			a. 1		N	Asia			
Lin	JCE	2012	NR	Single	Korea	No	Pacific	None		Catheter ablation
-		2010	2015 2010			.				Antithrombotic
Lopes	NEJM	2019	2015-2018	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	AUGUSTUS	NC102415400	(OAC, antiplatelet)
Luik	Circulation	2015	2008-2014	Single	Germany	No	Europe	FreezeAF	NCT00774566	Catheter ablation
					Australia			Cologne		
					and			Cardioversion		Electrical
Lüker	Circulation	2019	2014-2018	Multiple	Germany	Yes	Multiple	Study	NCT02241382	cardioversion
										Adjuvant to
							South			electrical
Macchia	JACC	2013	2008-2011	Multiple	Argentina	No	America	FORWARD	NCT00597220	cardioversion
	_									Adjuvant to
Macle	Lancet	2015	2009-2013	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	ADVICE	NCT01058980	Catheter ablation
Malmborg	Europace	2013	NR	Single	Sweden	No	Europe	AF-COR		Catheter ablation
	JAMA						North			
Marcus	Cardiol	2021	2018-2020	Single	USA	No	America	I-STOP-Afib	NCT03323099	Behavioral

Marrouche	NEJM	2018	2008-2017	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	CASTLE-AF		Catheter ablation
Masuda	Europace	2018	2014-2015	Single	Japan	No	Asia Pacific	DRAGON	UMIN000015332	Catheter ablation
Matsumura- Nakano	Circulation	2019	2013-2017	Single	Japan	No	Asia Pacific	OAC-ALONE	NCT01962545	Long term OAC
McCready	Europace	2014	2007-2013	Single	UK	No	Europe	None	NCT00678340	Catheter ablation
McLellan	ЕНЈ	2015	NR	Multiple	Australia, New Zealand, UK	Yes	Multiple	MINIMAX	ACTRN 12610000863033	Catheter ablation
Mohanty	Circulation	2013	2011-2013	Multiple	USA and Italy	Ves	Multiple	ΔΡΡΡΟΥΔΙ	NCT01//39386	Catheter ablation
Mohanty	Heart Rhythm	2015	2010-2014	Multiple	USA	No	North America	SPECULATE	NCT01173809	Antiarrhythmic drug
Mont	EHJ	2014	2009-2011	Multiple	Spain	No	Europe	SARA	NCT00863213	Catheter ablation
Morillo	JAMA	2014	2006-2012	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	RAAFT	NCT00392054	Catheter ablation
Mörtsell	Europace	2018	2014-2016	Single	Sweden	No	Europe	None		Catheter ablation
Nakamura	Europace	2019	2015-2017	Single	Japan	No	Asia Pacific	None		Periprocedural OAC (catheter ablation)
Nodari	Circulation	2011	2006-2008	Single	Italy	No	Europe	None	NCT01198275	Adjuvant to electrical cardioversion
Nölker	JCE	2016	2012-2013	Multiple	USA, Belgium, Germany	Yes	Multiple	VERSATILE	NCT01656772	Catheter ablation
Osmancik	JACC	2020	2015-2019	Multiple	Czech Republic	No	Europe	PRAGUE-17	NCT02426944	Left atrial appendage occlusion
Packer	JAMA	2019	2009-2017	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	CABANA	NCT00911508	Catheter ablation
Packer	JACC	2013	2006-2010	Multiple	USA and Canada	Yes	North America	STOP AF	NCT00523978	Catheter ablation
Pak	Circ AE	2021	NR	Single	Korea	No	Asia Pacific	CRAFT	NCT03920917	Catheter ablation
Pappone	Circ AE	2011	2005-2010	Single	Italy	No	Europe	APAF	NCT00340314	Catheter ablation
Parkash	Circulation	2017	2009-2016	Single	Canada	No	North	SMAC AF	NCT00438113	Risk factor

							America			modification
Patel	NEJM	2011	2006-2010	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	ROCKET AF	NCT00403767	Long term OAC
Petra Wijtvliet	ЕНЈ	2020	2012-2018	Multiple	Netherlands	No	Europe	RACE 4	NCT01740037	Integrated care
Pokushalov	Circ AE	2013	2007-2012	Single	Russia	No	Europe	None	NCT01709682	Catheter ablation
Rajagopalan	Circ AE	2016	2012-2014	Single	USA	No	North America	MICA	NCT01597557	Adjuvant to electrical cardioversion
Reddy	JAMA	2014	2005-2012	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	PROTECT AF	NCT00129545	Left atrial appendage occlusion
Reddy	Circulation	2015	2011-2013	Multiple	USA	No	North America	TOCCASTAR	NCT01278953	Catheter ablation
Reiffel	Circ AE	2015	2012-2014	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	HARMONY	NCT01522651	Antiarrhythmic drug
Reynolds	JACC CE	2018	2015-2017	Multiple	USA	No	North America	AEIOU	NCT02608099	Periprocedural OAC (catheter ablation)
Rienstra	ЕНЈ	2018	2009-2018	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	RACE 3	NCT00877643	Risk factor modification
Rillig	JACC CE	2017	2009-2018	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	The Man and Machine Trial	NCT00982475	Catheter ablation
Rónaszéki	Europace	2011	2009	Multiple	International	Yes	Europe	None	NCT00915356	Pharmacological cardioversion
Rostock	Circ AE	2013	2009-2013	Single	Germany	No	Europe	None	NCT01896570	Catheter ablation
Schmidt	Circ AE	2017	2013-2016	Multiple	Czech Republic, Spain, Germany	Yes	Europe	None	NCT01863472	Catheter ablation
Shoene	Europace	2020	2017-2019	Single	Germany	No	Europe	OPERA	NCT03246594	Intra-esophageal temperature monitoring (catheter ablation)
Singh	EHJ	2016	2009-2015	Multiple	USA, Canada, Korea	Yes	Multiple	MAGIC-AF	NCT01014741	Catheter ablation
							Asia			
------------------------------------	-----------------	------	-----------	----------	---------------	------------	----------	---------------	----------------	-------------------
Sohara	JACC	2016	NR	Multiple	Japan	No	Pacific	None		Catheter ablation
	Heart									Electrical
Squara	Rhythm	2021	2017-2020	Multiple	France	No	Europe	None		cardioversion
					USA and			ERADICATE-		Adjuvant to
Steinberg	JAMA	2020	2013-2019	Multiple	Russia	Yes	Multiple	AF	NCT01873352	catheter ablation
							Asia		ANZCTR	
Steward	Lancet	2015	2010-2012	Multiple	Australia	No	Pacific	SAFETY	12610000221055	Integrated care
a	Heart	2020	2017 2010	26.1.2.1	USA, Japan,	X 7	26.12.1	STOP	NGT02012041	
Su	Rhythm	2020	2017-2019	Multiple	and Canada	Yes	Multiple	Persistent AF	NC103012841	Catheter ablation
Sulaiman	Heart Dhuthm	2012	2008 2000	Sinala		No	North	None		Adjuvant to
Suleiman	Knyunn	2012	2008-2009	Single	USA	INO	America	None		catheter ablation
Theis	Circ AE	2015	2012-2014	Single	Germany	No	Europe	None	NCT02238392	Catheter ablation
** 11 /1			2012 2010				North			Adjuvant to
Valderrábano	JAMA	2020	2013-2019	Multiple	USA	No	America	VENUS	NCT01898221	Catheter ablation
van den Dries	EHJ	2020	2016-2019	Multiple	Netherlands	No	Europe	ALL-IN	NL5407	Integrated care
Von								ENVISACE		
Mieghem	NEIM	2021	2017-2021	Multiple	International	Ves	Multiple	TAVI AF	NCT02943785	Long term OAC
Wilegheim	I (LOIVI	2021	2017 2021	manipie	Australia	105	manipie	1111111	110102918705	Long term of te
Verma	NEJM	2015	2010-2014	Multiple	and Canada	Yes	Multiple	STAR AF II	NCT01203748	Catheter ablation
										Educational
Vinereanu	Lancet	2017	2014-2017	Multiple	International	Yes	Multiple	IMPACT-AF	NCT02082548	support
Vogler	JACC	2015	2010-2014	Single	Germany	No	Europe	CHASE-AF	NCT01580124	Catheter ablation
										Dil C.
X7 1 1 ¹ ¹ .		2020	2016 2019	M 1d 1	A	NT.	Asia		ACTRN	Risk factor
VOSKODOINIK	NEJM	2020	2016-2018	Multiple	Australia	NO	Pacific	EIOH-AF	12616000256471	modification
Voskohojnik	ICE	2018	2016 2018	Multiple	Australia	No	Asia	Nona		erdioversion
VOSKODOIIIIK	JCE	2018	2010-2018	Multiple	Australia	NO	racific	FNTRUST		cardioversion
Vrancky	Lancet	2019	2017-2019	Multiple	International	Ves	Multiple	AF PCI	NCT02866175	Long term OAC
Viuliekx	Lancet	2017	2017 2017	withipic	International	103	withipic	MANTRA-	1102000175	
Walfridsson	Europace	2015	2005-2014	Multiple	Denmark	No	Europe	PAF	NCT00133211	Catheter ablation
	Heart						Asia		ChiCTR-TRC-	Adjuvant to
Wang	Rhythm	2016	NR	Multiple	China	No	Pacific	None	14004841	Catheter ablation
Wazni	NEJM	2021	2017-2020	Multiple	USA	No	North	STOP AF	NCT03118518	Catheter ablation

							America	First		
		2021	2015 2010		Germany and		F	GOLD		
Wintgens	Europace	2021	2015-2018	Multiple	Netherlands	Yes	Europe	FORCE		Catheter ablation
Wong	Circ AE	2015	2010-2013	Multiple	UK	No	Europe	BOCA	NCT01711047	Catheter ablation
							Asia			
Wu	Europace	2021	NR	Multiple	China	No	Pacific	CAPA		Catheter ablation
					Czech					Real-time
					Republic			ULTRA-		ultrasound-guided
Yamagata	Europace	2018	2016	Multiple	and Japan	Yes	Multiple	FAST	NCT02834221	puncture
							Asia			
Yang	Circ AE	2017	2013-2014	Multiple	International	Yes	Pacific	STABLE-SR	NCT01761188	Catheter ablation
							Asia			
Yu	Circ AE	2020	NR	Multiple	Korea	No	Pacific	None	NCT02176616	Catheter ablation
										Periprocedural
							Asia			OAC (catheter
Yu	EHJ	2019	2015-2019	Multiple	Korea	No	Pacific	None	NCT02504177	ablation)
							Asia			
Zhang	EHJ	2014	NR	Single	China	No	Pacific	None		Catheter ablation

Circ AE: Circulation Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology; EHJ: European Heart Journal; JACC: Journal of the American College of Cardiology; JCE: Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology; NEJM; New England Journal of Medicine; OAC: oral anticoagulation; Publ: publication

			Female(s)			Highest permitted			Test of
			in a		Number	age for	Mean		sex-by-
	Year of	Industry	leadership	Sample	of	inclusion	age	Reporting	treatment
First author	publication	involvement	position	size	females	(years)	(years)	by sex	interaction
Abed	2013	No	No	150	49	75	60	No	
ACTIVE I									
investigators	2013	Yes	No	9016	3541	None	69.5	No	
Ahmed	2011	No	No	160	53	None	63	No	
Andrade	2020	Yes	No	346	115	None	59	No	
Atienza	2019	No	No	230	46	None	53	No	
Bisbal	2014	No	No	155	44	None	59	Yes	Yes
Blomström-									
Lundqvist	2020	Yes	Yes	155	35	70	56	No	
Boersma	2019	Yes	No	124	24	70	56	No	
Boersma	2012	No	No	120	30	70	56.5	No	
Brignole	2016	No	No	133	62	None	73.05	Yes	Yes
Budera	2021	No	No	224	94	None	70.4	No	
Cannon	2012	Yes	No	3489	825	None	70.8	Yes	Yes
Cappato	2017	Yes	No	248	72	None	59.6	No	
Cappato	2015	Yes	No	1504	410	None	64.8	No	
Chun	2014	No	No	200	88	80	65.75	No	
Connolly	2021	Yes	No	508	170	None	73	No	
Connolly	2013	Yes	No	5599	2322	None	70	Yes	Yes
Conti	2011	No	No	128	19	None	61	No	
Damiano	2018	Yes	No	150	66	None	70	No	
Darkner	2014	No	Yes	212	36	None	61	No	
De Ferrari	2014	Yes	No	238	54	None	65	No	

Supplementary Table 4. Characteristics of included studies (Part 2)

Deftereos	2015	No	No	206	62	80	62.2	No	
DeLurgio	2014	Yes	No	153	56	80	64.2	No	
Di Biase	2020	No	No	173	25	None	61.5	No	
Di Biase	2016	No	No	1584	392	None	61	Yes	Yes
Di Biase	2014	No	No	203	52	75	63.9	No	
Dittrich	2016	Yes	No	104	41	None	66.5	No	
Dixit	2015	No	No	156	20	None	59	No	
Dukkipati	2012	Yes	No	353	115	75	60	No	
Efremedis	2015	No	No	161	51	None	55.42	No	
Ezekowitz	2016	Yes	No	1500	498	None	64.6	No	
Faustino	2018	No	No	150	58	None	62.8	No	
Ferrero-de-									
Loma-Osorio	2015	No	No	140	45	75	56	No	
Gallagher	2017	No	No	100	22	None	63	No	
Ghanbari	2021	No	No	129	49	None	59.3	No	
Ghannam	2016	No	No	150	56	None	63	No	
Giannopoulos	2018	No	No	291	88	80	60	No	
Giannopoulos	2014	No	No	120		80	60.4	No	
Gibson	2019	Yes	No	2124	543	None	70	Yes	Yes
Gillinov	2016	No	No	260	120	None	69.5	No	
Giugliano	2015	Yes	No	21105	8040	None	72	Yes	Yes
Goette	2013	Yes	No	2199	756	None	64	Yes	No
Granger	2016	Yes	No	18201	6416	None	70	Yes	Yes
Haldar	2011	No	No	120	31	None	62.3	No	
Hayashi	2020	No	No	126	29	None	63	No	
Hendriks	2014	No	No	712	294	None	66.5	Yes	Yes
Hohnloser	2012	Yes	No	614	175	None	60.5	No	
Holmes	2019	Yes	No	407	122	None	74.3	No	
Hummel	2014	Yes	No	210	35	70	60	No	

Kaitani	2014	No	No	2038	508	80	63.3	No	
Kautzner	2016	Yes	No	482	203	None	62.5	No	
Kim	2021	No	No	100	25	None	56.38	No	
Kim	2015	No	No	333	106	None	61.5	No	
Kimura	2016	No	No	127	21	80	60	No	
Kircher	2018	No	No	124	47	None	62.5	No	
Kirchhof	2018	Yes	No	635	217	None	63.7	No	
Kirchhof	2012	Yes	No	633	309	None	70.3	Yes	Yes
Kirchhof	2018	Yes	No	2789	1293	None	64	Yes	No
Knight	2020	Yes	No	344	116	None	60.2	No	
Kotecha	2019	No	No	160	74	None	76	No	
Kuck	2020	Yes	No	762	293	85	62.4	Yes	Yes
Kuck	2016	Yes	No	233	61	75	65.8	No	
Kuck	2016	Yes	No	255	148	75	60	Yes	Yes
Kuck	2021	Yes	No	140	14	None	67.7	No	
Kumar	2019	Yes	No	178	40	None	62	No	
Kuniss	2012	Yes	No	218	70	75	52.3	No	
Kunneman	2021	No	Yes	922	363	None	71	No	
Kuwahara	2020	No	No	200	53	None	65.5	No	
Lakkireddy	2016	Yes	No	1878	750	None	75	Yes	Yes
Lau	2021	Yes	No	385	224	None	70	No	
Lee	2013	No	No	150	22	None	55.9	Yes	Yes
Leong-Sit	2019	No	No	110	32	None	55	No	
Lim	2011	No	No	220	40	None	58	No	
Lin	2012	No	No	126	45	None	54.5	No	
Lopes	2012	Yes	No	4614	1337	None	64	Yes	Yes
Luik	2019	No	No	315	124	75	61	No	
Lüker	2015	Yes	No	213	28	None	69	No	
Macchia	2019	No	No	586	265	None	66.1	Yes	Yes

Macle	2013	Vac	No	534	156	None	50	No	
	2013	105	INU IV	110	150	None	59	NU	
Malmborg	2015	No	Yes	110	27	None	60.5	No	
Marcus	2013	No	No	446	157	None	58	No	
Marrouche	2021	Yes	No	363	52	None	64	Yes	Yes
Masuda	2018	No	No	156	48	None	67.4	No	
Matsumura-									
Nakano	2018	Yes	Yes	690	102	None	75	Yes	Yes
McCready	2019	No	No	188	72	None	62	No	
McLellan	2014	No	No	234	80	None	59	No	
Mohanty	2015	No	Yes	360	87	75	62	No	
Mohanty	2013	No	Yes	112	32	75	61	No	
Mont	2015	Yes	No	146	33	70	55	No	
Morillo	2014	Yes	No	127	31	75	55	No	
Mörtsell	2014	No	Yes	139	37	75	65.1	No	
Nakamura	2018	No	No	844	248	None	65	No	
Nodari	2019	No	Yes	199	66	80	69	No	
Nölker	2011	Yes	No	120	27	80	62.54	No	
Osmancik	2016	No	No	402	138	None	73	Yes	Yes
Packer	2020	Yes	No	2204	819	75	57	Yes	Yes
Packer	2019	Yes	No	245	56	None	68	No	
Pak	2013	No	No	314	90	80	59.9	No	
Pappone	2021	No	No	198	65	70	56	No	
Parkash	2011	No	Yes	184	49	None	60	Yes	Yes
Patel	2017	Yes	No	14264	5663	None	73	Yes	Yes
Petra Wijtvliet	2011	Yes	Yes	1354	463	None	64	Yes	Yes
Pokushalov	2020	No	No	154	39	65	66.5	No	
Rajagopalan	2013	No	Yes	261	81	None	65.5	Yes	Yes
Reddy	2016	Yes	No	707	210	None	71	Yes	No
Reddy	2014	Yes	No	295	104	None	60.3	No	

Reiffel	2015	Yes	No	131	68	None	72	No	
Reynolds	2015	Yes	No	590	191	None	63.5	No	
Rienstra	2018	Yes	Yes	245	52	None	64.5	Yes	Yes
Rillig	2018	Yes	No	258	78	75	63	No	
Rónaszéki	2017	Yes	No	171	62	80	65	No	
Rostock	2011	No	No	110	32	85	63	No	
Schmidt	2013	No	No	134	49	80	65.5	No	
Shoene	2017	No	Yes	180	61	85	63	No	
Singh	2020	Yes	No	200	44	None	60	No	
Sohara	2016	No	No	143	28	75	59.2	No	
Squara	2016	No	No	100	44	None	70.2	No	
Steinberg	2021	No	No	302	120	None	60	No	
Steward	2020	No	Yes	335	161	None	72	Yes	No
Su	2015	Yes	No	165	49	None	65	No	
Suleiman	2020	Yes	No	125	27	None	57	No	
Theis	2012	No	Yes	152	74	None	64	No	
Valderrábano	2015	No	No	343	82	85	66.5	Yes	Yes
van den Dries	2020	Yes	Yes	1240	613	None	77	No	
Van Mieghem	2020	Yes	No	1426	678	None	82.1	Yes	No
Verma	2021	Yes	No	589	128	None	60	Yes	Yes
Vinereanu	2015	Yes	No	2281	1079	None	70	Yes	Yes
Vogler	2017	Yes	Yes	153	37	80	61.7	No	
Voskoboinik	2015	No	No	140	21	85	62.3	Yes	No
Voskoboinik	2020	No	No	125	91	85	60.5	No	
Vranckx	2018	Yes	No	1506	386	None	69.5	No	
Walfridsson	2019	No	No	294	88	70	55	No	
Wang	2015	No	No	256	94	80	60	No	
Wazni	2016	Yes	No	203	83	80	61	Yes	No
Wintgens	2021	Yes	Yes	208	56	75	60.4	Yes	Yes

Wong	2021	No	No	131	32	75	61	No
Wu	2015	No	No	648	227	75	64.1	No
Yamagata	2021	No	No	319	123	None	63	No
Yang	2018	Yes	No	229	53	80	57	No
Yu	2017	No	No	113	28	None	60.4	No
Yu	2020	No	No	326	83	80	58	No
Zhang	2019	No	No	201	63	None	59.1	No

Supplementary Table 5. Overall and subgroup random-effects pooled enrolment disparity differences

	Number	Envoluent dianomite	Hetero	ogeneity	Between
Subgroup	of Studies	difference (95% CI)	<i>I</i> ² (%)	P value	group difference
Overall	142	-0.125 [-0.143; - 0.108]	88.0	< 0.0001	NA
Period of publication		-			0.1975
• 2011-2016	78	-0.136 [-0.157; - 0.115]	84.6	< 0.0001	
• 2017-2021	64	-0.112 [-0.141; - 0.083]	90.5	< 0.0001	
Period of publication					0.0171
• 2011-2013	27	-0.129 [-0.169; - 0.090]	87.4	< 0.0001	
• 2014-2015	34	-0.133 [-0.166; - 0.100]	84.2	< 0.0001	
• 2016-2017	24	-0.154 [-0.187; - 0.122]	82.6	< 0.0001	
• 2018-2019	27	-0.141 [-0.191; - 0.091]	91.7	< 0.0001	
• 2020-2021	30	-0.074 [-0.109; - 0.040]	84.8	< 0.0001	
Journals					0.1573
• NEJM	16	-0.128 [-0.180; - 0.075]	92.4	< 0.0001	
• Lancet	6	-0.093 [-0.174; - 0.013]	91.1	< 0.0001	
• JAMA	8	-0.134 [-0.202; - 0.067]	83.5	< 0.0001	
• JAMA IM	1	-0.048 [-0.103; 0.007]	NA	NA	
• EHJ	20	-0.120 [-0.168; - 0.072]	90.0	< 0.0001	
Circulation	14	-0.148 [-0.206; - 0.089]	90.3	< 0.0001	
• JACC	9	-0.168 [-0.228; - 0.108]	84.8	< 0.0001	
JAMA Cardiology	1	-0.090 [-0.153; - 0.027]	NA	NA	
• JACC CE	7	-0.110 [-0.151; - 0.069]	57.4	0.0288	
Circ AE	21	-0.147 [-0.199; - 0.095]	88.5	< 0.0001	
Heart Rhythm	15	-0.147 [-0.197; - 0.096]	81.5	< 0.0001	
• Europace	18	-0.102 [-0.138; - 0.065]	74.3	< 0.0001	
• JCE	6	-0.013 [-0.158; 0.133]	93.3	< 0.0001	0.6257
General medicine	31	-0.120 [-0.155; -	90.3	< 0.0001	0.6257
General	44	0.085] -0.138 [-0.169; -	89.2	< 0.0001	
cardiologyCardiac EP	67	0.107] -0.119 [-0.146; -	85.8	< 0.0001	
Multinational	07	0.093]	05.0		0.0327
• Yes	58	-0.148 [-0.175; - 0.121]	90.0	< 0.0001	
• No	84	-0.109 [-0.132; - 0.087]	85.6	< 0.0001	
Number of sites		0.110		0.005	0.3700
Single center	40	-0.113 [-0.143; - 0.084]	81.3	< 0.0001	
Multicenter	102	-0.130 [-0.151; - 0.108]	89.5	< 0.0001	
Region			ļ		0.0053
Asia Pacific	26	-0.112 [-0.160; -	89.4	< 0.0001	

509

		0.0641					
• Europe	44	-0.106 0.0741	[-0.138;	-	86.9	< 0.0001	
North America	25	-0.146	[-0.182;	-	83.6	< 0.0001	
South America	1	-0.013 [-	0.081; 0.05	55]	NA	NA	
Multiregional	46	-0.142	[-0.171;	-	89.3	< 0.0001	
Highest permitted age							0.0119
of participants							
• 80 years or less	43	-0.157 0.129]	[-0.184;	-	81.9	< 0.0001	
• > 80 years or no limit	99	-0.112 0.108]	[-0.143;	-	89.2	< 0.0001	
Sample size							0.0486
• Less than 250	81	-0.144 0.119]	[-0.169;	-	86.4	< 0.0001	
• 250 to 750	37	-0.104 0.074]	[-0.135;	-	87.6	< 0.0001	
• More than 750	24	-0.099 0.065]	[-0.132;	-	89.7	< 0.0001	
Intervention							< 0.0001
• Catheter ablation	70	-0.149 0.124]	[-0.173;	-	85.8	< 0.0001	
• Electrical cardioversion	3	-0.016 [-	-0.378; 0.34	16]	98.4	< 0.0001	
Surgical ablation	2	-0.007 [-	0.063; 0.04	19]	0.0	0.4499	
• Adjuvant to CA or ECV	18	-0.144 0.112]	[-0.175;	-	70.7	< 0.0001	
Periprocedural OAC	14	-0.121 0.085]	[-0.158;	-	79.8	< 0.0001	
Long-term OAC	11	-0.140 0.094]	[-0.186;	-	89.1	< 0.0001	
LAA occlusion	4	-0.125 0.077]	[-0.174;	-	62.6	0.0454	
• AAD	4	-0.033 [-	0.094; 0.02	28]	54.6	0.0853	
• RFM/integrated care	11	-0.074 0.002]	[-0.147;	-	91.7	< 0.0001	
Others	5	0.002 [-0	0.083; 0.08	6]	83.7	< 0.0001	
Type of intervention							0.0595
• Invasive	102	-0.137 0.118]	[-0.156;	-	85.2	< 0.0001	
• Non-invasive	40	-0.097 0.060]	[-0.134;	-	91.5	< 0.0001	
Industry involvement							0.0503
• Yes	66	-0.143 0.118]	[-0.169;	-	90.2	< 0.0001	
• No	76	-0.109 0.085]	[-0.132;	-	84.9	< 0.0001	
Female(s) in a leadership role							0.8203
• Yes	19	-0.120 0.070]	[-0.170;	-	89.6	< 0.0001	
• No	123	-0.126 0.107]	[-0.145;	-	87.8	< 0.0001	

AAD: antiarrhythmic drugs; CA: catheter ablation; CI: confidence interval; Circ AE: Circulation Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology; ECV: electrical cardioversion; EHJ: European Heart Journal; JACC: Journal of the American College of Cardiology; JCE: Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology; LAA: left atrial appendage; NEJM; New England Journal of Medicine; OAC: oral anticoagulation; RFM: risk factor modification

510

List of included trials

1. Abed HS, Wittert GA, Leong DP, Shirazi MG, Bahrami B, Middeldorp ME, Lorimer MF, Lau DH, Antic NA, Brooks AG, Abhayaratna WP, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Effect of weight reduction and cardiometabolic risk factor management on symptom burden and severity in patients with atrial fibrillation: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2013;**310**(19):2050-60.

2. Yusuf S, Healey JS, Pogue J, Chrolavicius S, Flather M, Hart RG, Hohnloser SH, Joyner CD, Pfeffer MA, Connolly SJ. Irbesartan in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011;**364**(10):928-38.

3. Ahmed AS, Clark BA, Joshi SA, Nair GV, Olson JA, Padanilam BJ, Patel PJ. Avoiding Bladder Catheters During Atrial Fibrillation Ablation. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2020;**6**(2):185-190.

4. Andrade JG, Champagne J, Dubuc M, Deyell MW, Verma A, Macle L, Leong-Sit P, Novak P, Badra-Verdu M, Sapp J, Mangat I, Khoo C, Steinberg C, Bennett MT, Tang ASL, Khairy P. Cryoballoon or Radiofrequency Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation Assessed by Continuous Monitoring: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Circulation 2019;**140**(22):1779-1788.

5. Atienza F, Almendral J, Ormaetxe JM, Moya A, Martínez-Alday JD, Hernández-Madrid A, Castellanos E, Arribas F, Arias M, Tercedor L, Peinado R, Arcocha MF, Ortiz M, Martínez-Alzamora N, Arenal A, Fernández-Avilés F, Jalife J. Comparison of radiofrequency catheter ablation of drivers and circumferential pulmonary vein isolation in atrial fibrillation: a noninferiority randomized multicenter RADAR-AF trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;**64**(23):2455-67.

6. Bisbal F, Benito E, Teis A, Alarcón F, Sarrias A, Caixal G, Villuendas R, Garre P, Soto N, Cozzari J, Guasch E, Juncà G, Prat-Gonzalez S, Perea RJ, Bazán V, Tolosana JM, Arbelo E, Bayés-Genís A, Mont L. Magnetic Resonance Imaging-Guided Fibrosis Ablation for the Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation: The ALICIA Trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2020;**13**(11):e008707.

7. Blomström-Lundqvist C, Gizurarson S, Schwieler J, Jensen SM, Bergfeldt L, Kennebäck G, Rubulis A, Malmborg H, Raatikainen P, Lönnerholm S, Höglund N, Mörtsell D. Effect of Catheter Ablation vs Antiarrhythmic Medication on Quality of Life in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: The CAPTAF Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2019;**321**(11):1059-1068.

8. Boersma LV, Castella M, van Boven W, Berruezo A, Yilmaz A, Nadal M, Sandoval E, Calvo N, Brugada J, Kelder J, Wijffels M, Mont L. Atrial fibrillation catheter ablation versus surgical ablation treatment (FAST): a 2-center randomized clinical trial. Circulation 2012;**125**(1):23-30.

9. Boersma LV, van der Voort P, Debruyne P, Dekker L, Simmers T, Rossenbacker T, Balt J, Wijffels M, Degreef Y. Multielectrode Pulmonary Vein Isolation Versus Single Tip Wide Area Catheter Ablation for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: A Multinational Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2016;**9**(4):e003151.

10. Brignole M, Pentimalli F, Palmisano P, Landolina M, Quartieri F, Occhetta E, Calò L, Mascia G, Mont L, Vernooy K, van Dijk V, Allaart C, Fauchier L, Gasparini M, Parati G,

Soranna D, Rienstra M, Van Gelder IC. AV junction ablation and cardiac resynchronization for patients with permanent atrial fibrillation and narrow QRS: the APAF-CRT mortality trial. Eur Heart J 2021.

11. Budera P, Straka Z, Osmančík P, Vaněk T, Jelínek Š, Hlavička J, Fojt R, Červinka P, Hulman M, Šmíd M, Malý M, Widimský P. Comparison of cardiac surgery with left atrial surgical ablation vs. cardiac surgery without atrial ablation in patients with coronary and/or valvular heart disease plus atrial fibrillation: final results of the PRAGUE-12 randomized multicentre study. Eur Heart J 2012;**33**(21):2644-52.

12. Cannon CP, Bhatt DL, Oldgren J, Lip GYH, Ellis SG, Kimura T, Maeng M, Merkely B, Zeymer U, Gropper S, Nordaby M, Kleine E, Harper R, Manassie J, Januzzi JL, Ten Berg JM, Steg PG, Hohnloser SH. Dual Antithrombotic Therapy with Dabigatran after PCI in Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2017;**377**(16):1513-1524.

13. Cappato R, Ezekowitz MD, Klein AL, Camm AJ, Ma CS, Le Heuzey JY, Talajic M, Scanavacca M, Vardas PE, Kirchhof P, Hemmrich M, Lanius V, Meng IL, Wildgoose P, van Eickels M, Hohnloser SH. Rivaroxaban vs. vitamin K antagonists for cardioversion in atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2014;**35**(47):3346-55.

14. Cappato R, Marchlinski FE, Hohnloser SH, Naccarelli GV, Xiang J, Wilber DJ, Ma CS, Hess S, Wells DS, Juang G, Vijgen J, Hügl BJ, Balasubramaniam R, De Chillou C, Davies DW, Fields LE, Natale A. Uninterrupted rivaroxaban vs. uninterrupted vitamin K antagonists for catheter ablation in non-valvular atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2015;**36**(28):1805-11.

15. Chun JKR, Bordignon S, Last J, Mayer L, Tohoku S, Zanchi S, Bianchini L, Bologna F, Nagase T, Urbanek L, Chen S, Schmidt B. Cryoballoon Versus Laserballoon: Insights From the First Prospective Randomized Balloon Trial in Catheter Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2021;**14**(2):e009294.

16. Connolly SJ, Eikelboom J, Joyner C, Diener HC, Hart R, Golitsyn S, Flaker G, Avezum A, Hohnloser SH, Diaz R, Talajic M, Zhu J, Pais P, Budaj A, Parkhomenko A, Jansky P, Commerford P, Tan RS, Sim KH, Lewis BS, Van Mieghem W, Lip GY, Kim JH, Lanas-Zanetti F, Gonzalez-Hermosillo A, Dans AL, Munawar M, O'Donnell M, Lawrence J, Lewis G, Afzal R, Yusuf S. Apixaban in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011;**364**(9):806-17.

17. Connolly SJ, Eikelboom J, Dorian P, Hohnloser SH, Gretler DD, Sinha U, Ezekowitz MD. Betrixaban compared with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: results of a phase 2, randomized, dose-ranging study (Explore-Xa). Eur Heart J 2013;**34**(20):1498-505.

18. Conti S, Weerasooriya R, Novak P, Champagne J, Lim HE, Macle L, Khaykin Y, Pantano A, Verma A. Contact force sensing for ablation of persistent atrial fibrillation: A randomized, multicenter trial. Heart Rhythm 2018;**15**(2):201-208.

19. Damiano RJ, Jr., Badhwar V, Acker MA, Veeragandham RS, Kress DC, Robertson JO, Sundt TM. The CURE-AF trial: a prospective, multicenter trial of irrigated radiofrequency ablation for the treatment of persistent atrial fibrillation during concomitant cardiac surgery. Heart Rhythm 2014;**11**(1):39-45.

20. Darkner S, Chen X, Hansen J, Pehrson S, Johannessen A, Nielsen JB, Svendsen JH. Recurrence of arrhythmia following short-term oral AMIOdarone after CATheter ablation for

atrial fibrillation: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study (AMIO-CAT trial). Eur Heart J 2014;**35**(47):3356-64.

21. De Ferrari GM, Maier LS, Mont L, Schwartz PJ, Simonis G, Leschke M, Gronda E, Boriani G, Darius H, Guillamón Torán L, Savelieva I, Dusi V, Marchionni N, Quintana Rendón M, Schumacher K, Tonini G, Melani L, Giannelli S, Alberto Maggi C, Camm AJ. Ranolazine in the treatment of atrial fibrillation: Results of the dose-ranging RAFFAELLO (Ranolazine in Atrial Fibrillation Following An ELectrical CardiOversion) study. Heart Rhythm 2015;**12**(5):872-8.

22. Deftereos S, Giannopoulos G, Efremidis M, Kossyvakis C, Katsivas A, Panagopoulou V, Papadimitriou C, Karageorgiou S, Doudoumis K, Raisakis K, Kaoukis A, Alexopoulos D, Manolis AS, Stefanadis C, Cleman MW. Colchicine for prevention of atrial fibrillation recurrence after pulmonary vein isolation: mid-term efficacy and effect on quality of life. Heart Rhythm 2014;**11**(4):620-8.

23. DeLurgio DB, Crossen KJ, Gill J, Blauth C, Oza SR, Magnano AR, Mostovych MA, Halkos ME, Tschopp DR, Kerendi F, Taigen TL, Shults CC, Shah MH, Rajendra AB, Osorio J, Silver JS, Hook BG, Gilligan DM, Calkins H. Hybrid Convergent Procedure for the Treatment of Persistent and Long-Standing Persistent Atrial Fibrillation: Results of CONVERGE Clinical Trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2020;**13**(12):e009288.

24. Di Biase L, Burkhardt JD, Santangeli P, Mohanty P, Sanchez JE, Horton R, Gallinghouse GJ, Themistoclakis S, Rossillo A, Lakkireddy D, Reddy M, Hao S, Hongo R, Beheiry S, Zagrodzky J, Rong B, Mohanty S, Elayi CS, Forleo G, Pelargonio G, Narducci ML, Dello Russo A, Casella M, Fassini G, Tondo C, Schweikert RA, Natale A. Periprocedural stroke and bleeding complications in patients undergoing catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation with different anticoagulation management: results from the Role of Coumadin in Preventing Thromboembolism in Atrial Fibrillation (AF) Patients Undergoing Catheter Ablation (COMPARE) randomized trial. Circulation 2014;**129**(25):2638-44.

25. Di Biase L, Mohanty P, Mohanty S, Santangeli P, Trivedi C, Lakkireddy D, Reddy M, Jais P, Themistoclakis S, Dello Russo A, Casella M, Pelargonio G, Narducci ML, Schweikert R, Neuzil P, Sanchez J, Horton R, Beheiry S, Hongo R, Hao S, Rossillo A, Forleo G, Tondo C, Burkhardt JD, Haissaguerre M, Natale A. Ablation Versus Amiodarone for Treatment of Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Congestive Heart Failure and an Implanted Device: Results From the AATAC Multicenter Randomized Trial. Circulation 2016;**133**(17):1637-44.

26. Di Biase L, Burkhardt JD, Mohanty P, Mohanty S, Sanchez JE, Trivedi C, Güneş M, Gökoğlan Y, Gianni C, Horton RP, Themistoclakis S, Gallinghouse GJ, Bailey S, Zagrodzky JD, Hongo RH, Beheiry S, Santangeli P, Casella M, Dello Russo A, Al-Ahmad A, Hranitzky P, Lakkireddy D, Tondo C, Natale A. Left Atrial Appendage Isolation in Patients With Longstanding Persistent AF Undergoing Catheter Ablation: BELIEF Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;**68**(18):1929-1940.

27. Dittrich HC, Feld GK, Bahnson TD, Camm AJ, Golitsyn S, Katz A, Koontz JI, Kowey PR, Waldo AL, Brown AM. COR-ART: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled dose-ranging study to evaluate single oral doses of vanoxerine for conversion of recent-onset atrial fibrillation or flutter to normal sinus rhythm. Heart Rhythm 2015;**12**(6):1105-12.

28. Dixit S, Marchlinski FE, Lin D, Callans DJ, Bala R, Riley MP, Garcia FC, Hutchinson MD, Ratcliffe SJ, Cooper JM, Verdino RJ, Patel VV, Zado ES, Cash NR, Killian T, Tomson TT, Gerstenfeld EP. Randomized ablation strategies for the treatment of persistent atrial fibrillation: RASTA study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2012;**5**(2):287-94.

29. Dukkipati SR, Cuoco F, Kutinsky I, Aryana A, Bahnson TD, Lakkireddy D, Woollett I, Issa ZF, Natale A, Reddy VY. Pulmonary Vein Isolation Using the Visually Guided Laser Balloon: A Prospective, Multicenter, and Randomized Comparison to Standard Radiofrequency Ablation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;**66**(12):1350-60.

30. Efremidis M, Letsas KP, Lioni L, Vlachos K, Georgopoulos S, Saplaouras A, Geladari E, Giannopoulos G, Liu T, Deftereos S, Sideris A. Adenosine-Guided Pulmonary Vein Antral Isolation for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: A Randomized Study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2016;**27**(11):1288-1292.

31. Ezekowitz MD, Pollack CV, Jr., Halperin JL, England RD, VanPelt Nguyen S, Spahr J, Sudworth M, Cater NB, Breazna A, Oldgren J, Kirchhof P. Apixaban compared to heparin/vitamin K antagonist in patients with atrial fibrillation scheduled for cardioversion: the EMANATE trial. Eur Heart J 2018;**39**(32):2959-2971.

32. Faustino M, Pizzi C, Agricola T, Xhyheri B, Costa GM, Flacco ME, Capasso L, Cicolini G, Di Girolamo E, Leonzio L, Manzoli L. Stepwise ablation approach versus pulmonary vein isolation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: Randomized controlled trial. Heart Rhythm 2015;**12**(9):1907-15.

33. Ferrero-de-Loma-Osorio Á, García-Fernández A, Castillo-Castillo J, Izquierdo-de-Francisco M, Ibáñez-Críado A, Moreno-Arribas J, Martínez A, Bertomeu-González V, López-Mases P, Ajo-Ferrer M, Núñez C, Bondanza-Saavedra L, Sánchez-Gómez JM, Martínez-Martínez JG, Chorro-Gascó FJ, Ruiz-Granell R. Time-to-Effect-Based Dosing Strategy for Cryoballoon Ablation in Patients With Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: Results of the plusONE Multicenter Randomized Controlled Noninferiority Trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2017;**10**(12).

34. Gallagher MM, Yi G, Gonna H, Leung LWM, Harding I, Evranos B, Bastiaenen R, Sharma R, Wright S, Norman M, Zuberi Z, Camm AJ. Multi-catheter cryotherapy compared with radiofrequency ablation in long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation: a randomized clinical trial. Europace 2021;**23**(3):370-379.

35. Ghanbari H, Jani R, Hussain-Amin A, Al-Assad W, Huether E, Ansari S, Jongnarangsin K, Crawford T, Latchamsetty R, Bogun F, Morady F, Oral H, Chugh A. Role of adenosine after antral pulmonary vein isolation of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: A randomized controlled trial. Heart Rhythm 2016;**13**(2):407-15.

36. Ghannam M, Chugh A, Dillon P, Alyesh D, Kossidas K, Sharma S, Coatney J, Atreya A, Yokokawa M, Saeed M, Cunnane R, Ghanbari H, Latchamsetty R, Crawford T, Jongnarangsin K, Bogun F, Pelosi F, Jr., Morady F, Oral H. Protamine to expedite vascular hemostasis after catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: A randomized controlled trial. Heart Rhythm 2018;**15**(11):1642-1647.

37. Giannopoulos G, Kossyvakis C, Efremidis M, Katsivas A, Panagopoulou V, Doudoumis K, Raisakis K, Letsas K, Rentoukas I, Pyrgakis V, Manolis AS, Tousoulis D, Stefanadis C, Deftereos S. Central sympathetic inhibition to reduce postablation atrial

fibrillation recurrences in hypertensive patients: a randomized, controlled study. Circulation 2014;**130**(16):1346-52.

38. Giannopoulos G, Kossyvakis C, Vrachatis D, Aggeli C, Tsitsinakis G, Letsas K, Tsiachris D, Tsoukala S, Efremidis M, Katritsis D, Deftereos S. Effect of cryoballoon and radiofrequency ablation for pulmonary vein isolation on left atrial function in patients with nonvalvular paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: A prospective randomized study (Cryo-LAEF study). J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2019;**30**(7):991-998.

39. Gibson CM, Mehran R, Bode C, Halperin J, Verheugt FW, Wildgoose P, Birmingham M, Ianus J, Burton P, van Eickels M, Korjian S, Daaboul Y, Lip GY, Cohen M, Husted S, Peterson ED, Fox KA. Prevention of Bleeding in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation Undergoing PCI. N Engl J Med 2016;**375**(25):2423-2434.

40. Gillinov AM, Gelijns AC, Parides MK, DeRose JJ, Jr., Moskowitz AJ, Voisine P, Ailawadi G, Bouchard D, Smith PK, Mack MJ, Acker MA, Mullen JC, Rose EA, Chang HL, Puskas JD, Couderc JP, Gardner TJ, Varghese R, Horvath KA, Bolling SF, Michler RE, Geller NL, Ascheim DD, Miller MA, Bagiella E, Moquete EG, Williams P, Taddei-Peters WC, O'Gara PT, Blackstone EH, Argenziano M. Surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation during mitral-valve surgery. N Engl J Med 2015;**372**(15):1399-409.

41. Giugliano RP, Ruff CT, Braunwald E, Murphy SA, Wiviott SD, Halperin JL, Waldo AL, Ezekowitz MD, Weitz JI, Špinar J, Ruzyllo W, Ruda M, Koretsune Y, Betcher J, Shi M, Grip LT, Patel SP, Patel I, Hanyok JJ, Mercuri M, Antman EM. Edoxaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2013;**369**(22):2093-104.

42. Goette A, Kwong WJ, Ezekowitz MD, Banach M, Hjortshoj SP, Zamoryakhin D, Lip GYH. Edoxaban therapy increases treatment satisfaction and reduces utilization of healthcare resources: an analysis from the EdoxabaN vs. warfarin in subjectS UndeRgoing cardiovErsion of atrial fibrillation (ENSURE-AF) study. Europace 2018;**20**(12):1936-1943.

43. Granger CB, Alexander JH, McMurray JJ, Lopes RD, Hylek EM, Hanna M, Al-Khalidi HR, Ansell J, Atar D, Avezum A, Bahit MC, Diaz R, Easton JD, Ezekowitz JA, Flaker G, Garcia D, Geraldes M, Gersh BJ, Golitsyn S, Goto S, Hermosillo AG, Hohnloser SH, Horowitz J, Mohan P, Jansky P, Lewis BS, Lopez-Sendon JL, Pais P, Parkhomenko A, Verheugt FW, Zhu J, Wallentin L. Apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011;**365**(11):981-92.

44. Haldar S, Khan HR, Boyalla V, Kralj-Hans I, Jones S, Lord J, Onyimadu O, Satishkumar A, Bahrami T, De Souza A, Clague JR, Francis DP, Hussain W, Jarman JW, Jones DG, Chen Z, Mediratta N, Hyde J, Lewis M, Mohiaddin R, Salukhe TV, Murphy C, Kelly J, Khattar RS, Toff WD, Markides V, McCready J, Gupta D, Wong T. Catheter ablation vs. thoracoscopic surgical ablation in long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation: CASA-AF randomized controlled trial. Eur Heart J 2020;**41**(47):4471-4480.

45. Hayashi M, Miyauchi Y, Iwasaki YK, Yodogawa K, Tsuboi I, Uetake S, Hayashi H, Takahashi K, Shimizu W. Three-month lower-dose flecainide after catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. Europace 2014;**16**(8):1160-7.

46. Hendriks JM, de Wit R, Crijns HJ, Vrijhoef HJ, Prins MH, Pisters R, Pison LA, Blaauw Y, Tieleman RG. Nurse-led care vs. usual care for patients with atrial fibrillation: results of a randomized trial of integrated chronic care vs. routine clinical care in ambulatory patients with atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2012;**33**(21):2692-9.

47. Hohnloser SH, Camm J, Cappato R, Diener HC, Heidbüchel H, Mont L, Morillo CA, Abozguia K, Grimaldi M, Rauer H, Reimitz PE, Smolnik R, Mönninghoff C, Kautzner J. Uninterrupted edoxaban vs. vitamin K antagonists for ablation of atrial fibrillation: the ELIMINATE-AF trial. Eur Heart J 2019;**40**(36):3013-3021.

48. Holmes DR, Jr., Kar S, Price MJ, Whisenant B, Sievert H, Doshi SK, Huber K, Reddy VY. Prospective randomized evaluation of the Watchman Left Atrial Appendage Closure device in patients with atrial fibrillation versus long-term warfarin therapy: the PREVAIL trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;**64**(1):1-12.

49. Hummel J, Michaud G, Hoyt R, DeLurgio D, Rasekh A, Kusumoto F, Giudici M, Dan D, Tschopp D, Calkins H, Boersma L. Phased RF ablation in persistent atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2014;**11**(2):202-9.

50. Kaitani K, Inoue K, Kobori A, Nakazawa Y, Ozawa T, Kurotobi T, Morishima I, Miura F, Watanabe T, Masuda M, Naito M, Fujimoto H, Nishida T, Furukawa Y, Shirayama T, Tanaka M, Okajima K, Yao T, Egami Y, Satomi K, Noda T, Miyamoto K, Haruna T, Kawaji T, Yoshizawa T, Toyota T, Yahata M, Nakai K, Sugiyama H, Higashi Y, Ito M, Horie M, Kusano KF, Shimizu W, Kamakura S, Morimoto T, Kimura T, Shizuta S. Efficacy of Antiarrhythmic Drugs Short-Term Use After Catheter Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation (EAST-AF) trial. Eur Heart J 2016;**37**(7):610-8.

51. Kautzner J, Albenque JP, Natale A, Maddox W, Cuoco F, Neuzil P, Poty H, Getman MK, Liu S, Starek Z, Dukkipati SR, Colley BJ, 3rd, Al-Ahmad A, Sidney DS, McElderry HT. A Novel Temperature-Controlled Radiofrequency Catheter Ablation System Used to Treat Patients With Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2021;**7**(3):352-363.

52. Kim TH, Park J, Park JK, Uhm JS, Joung B, Hwang C, Lee MH, Pak HN. Linear ablation in addition to circumferential pulmonary vein isolation (Dallas lesion set) does not improve clinical outcome in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a prospective randomized study. Europace 2015;**17**(3):388-95.

53. Kim TS, Kim SH, Kim BK, Kim JY, Kim JH, Jang SW, Lee MY, Rho TH, Oh YS. Randomized Comparison of Continuous Versus Intermittent Heparin Infusion During Catheter Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2016;**2**(3):319-326.

54. Kimura T, Kashimura S, Nishiyama T, Katsumata Y, Inagawa K, Ikegami Y, Nishiyama N, Fukumoto K, Tanimoto Y, Aizawa Y, Tanimoto K, Fukuda K, Takatsuki S. Asymptomatic Cerebral Infarction During Catheter Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation: Comparing Uninterrupted Rivaroxaban and Warfarin (ASCERTAIN). JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2018;**4**(12):1598-1609.

55. Kircher S, Arya A, Altmann D, Rolf S, Bollmann A, Sommer P, Dagres N, Richter S, Breithardt OA, Dinov B, Husser D, Eitel C, Gaspar T, Piorkowski C, Hindricks G. Individually tailored vs. standardized substrate modification during radiofrequency catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation: a randomized study. Europace 2018;**20**(11):1766-1775.

56. Kirchhof P, Andresen D, Bosch R, Borggrefe M, Meinertz T, Parade U, Ravens U, Samol A, Steinbeck G, Treszl A, Wegscheider K, Breithardt G. Short-term versus long-term antiarrhythmic drug treatment after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation (Flec-SL): a prospective, randomised, open-label, blinded endpoint assessment trial. Lancet 2012;**380**(9838):238-46.

57. Kirchhof P, Haeusler KG, Blank B, De Bono J, Callans D, Elvan A, Fetsch T, Van Gelder IC, Gentlesk P, Grimaldi M, Hansen J, Hindricks G, Al-Khalidi HR, Massaro T, Mont L, Nielsen JC, Nölker G, Piccini JP, De Potter T, Scherr D, Schotten U, Themistoclakis S, Todd D, Vijgen J, Di Biase L. Apixaban in patients at risk of stroke undergoing atrial fibrillation ablation. Eur Heart J 2018;**39**(32):2942-2955.

58. Kirchhof P, Camm AJ, Goette A, Brandes A, Eckardt L, Elvan A, Fetsch T, van Gelder IC, Haase D, Haegeli LM, Hamann F, Heidbüchel H, Hindricks G, Kautzner J, Kuck KH, Mont L, Ng GA, Rekosz J, Schoen N, Schotten U, Suling A, Taggeselle J, Themistoclakis S, Vettorazzi E, Vardas P, Wegscheider K, Willems S, Crijns H, Breithardt G. Early Rhythm-Control Therapy in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2020;**383**(14):1305-1316.

59. Knight BP, Novak PG, Sangrigoli R, Champagne J, Dubuc M, Adler SW, Svinarich JT, Essebag V, Hokanson R, Kueffer F, Jain SK, John RM, Mansour M. Long-Term Outcomes After Ablation for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation Using the Second-Generation Cryoballoon: Final Results From STOP AF Post-Approval Study. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2019;**5**(3):306-314.

60. Kotecha D, Bunting KV, Gill SK, Mehta S, Stanbury M, Jones JC, Haynes S, Calvert MJ, Deeks JJ, Steeds RP, Strauss VY, Rahimi K, Camm AJ, Griffith M, Lip GYH, Townend JN, Kirchhof P. Effect of Digoxin vs Bisoprolol for Heart Rate Control in Atrial Fibrillation on Patient-Reported Quality of Life: The RATE-AF Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2020;**324**(24):2497-2508.

61. Kuck KH, Hoffmann BA, Ernst S, Wegscheider K, Treszl A, Metzner A, Eckardt L, Lewalter T, Breithardt G, Willems S. Impact of Complete Versus Incomplete Circumferential Lines Around the Pulmonary Veins During Catheter Ablation of Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: Results From the Gap-Atrial Fibrillation-German Atrial Fibrillation Competence Network 1 Trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2016;**9**(1):e003337.

62. Kuck KH, Brugada J, Fürnkranz A, Metzner A, Ouyang F, Chun KR, Elvan A, Arentz T, Bestehorn K, Pocock SJ, Albenque JP, Tondo C. Cryoballoon or Radiofrequency Ablation for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2016;**374**(23):2235-45.

63. Kuck KH, Merkely B, Zahn R, Arentz T, Seidl K, Schlüter M, Tilz RR, Piorkowski C, Gellér L, Kleemann T, Hindricks G. Catheter Ablation Versus Best Medical Therapy in Patients With Persistent Atrial Fibrillation and Congestive Heart Failure: The Randomized AMICA Trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2019;**12**(12):e007731.

64. Kuck KH, Lebedev DS, Mikhaylov EN, Romanov A, Gellér L, Kalējs O, Neumann T, Davtyan K, On YK, Popov S, Bongiorni MG, Schlüter M, Willems S, Ouyang F. Catheter ablation or medical therapy to delay progression of atrial fibrillation: the randomized controlled atrial fibrillation progression trial (ATTEST). Europace 2021;**23**(3):362-369.

65. Kumar S, Sutherland F, Morton JB, Lee G, Morgan J, Wong J, Eccleston DE, Voukelatos J, Garg ML, Sparks PB. Long-term omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation reduces the recurrence of persistent atrial fibrillation after electrical cardioversion. Heart Rhythm 2012;**9**(4):483-91.

66. Kuniss M, Pavlovic N, Velagic V, Hermida JS, Healey S, Arena G, Badenco N, Meyer C, Chen J, Iacopino S, Anselme F, Packer DL, Pitschner HF, Asmundis C, Willems S,

Di Piazza F, Becker D, Chierchia GB. Cryoballoon ablation vs. antiarrhythmic drugs: firstline therapy for patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Europace 2021;**23**(7):1033-1041.

67. Kunneman M, Branda ME, Hargraves IG, Sivly AL, Lee AT, Gorr H, Burnett B, Suzuki T, Jackson EA, Hess E, Linzer M, Brand-McCarthy SR, Brito JP, Noseworthy PA, Montori VM. Assessment of Shared Decision-making for Stroke Prevention in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Intern Med 2020;**180**(9):1215-1224.

68. Kuwahara T, Abe M, Yamaki M, Fujieda H, Abe Y, Hashimoto K, Ishiba M, Sakai H, Hishikari K, Takigawa M, Okubo K, Takagi K, Tanaka Y, Nakajima J, Takahashi A. Apixaban versus Warfarin for the Prevention of Periprocedural Cerebral Thromboembolism in Atrial Fibrillation Ablation: Multicenter Prospective Randomized Study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2016;**27**(5):549-54.

69. Lakkireddy D, Thaler D, Ellis CR, Swarup V, Sondergaard L, Carroll J, Gold MR, Hermiller J, Diener HC, Schmidt B, MacDonald L, Mansour M, Maini B, O'Brien L, Windecker S. AMPLATZER[™] AMULET[™] LEFT ATRIAL APPENDAGE OCCLUDER VERSUS WATCHMAN[™] DEVICE FOR STROKE PROPHYLAXIS (AMULET IDE): A RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL. Circulation 2021.

70. Lau CP, Tachapong N, Wang CC, Wang JF, Abe H, Kong CW, Liew R, Shin DG, Padeletti L, Kim YH, Omar R, Jirarojanakorn K, Kim YN, Chen MC, Sriratanasathavorn C, Munawar M, Kam R, Chen JY, Cho YK, Li YG, Wu SL, Bailleul C, Tse HF. Prospective randomized study to assess the efficacy of site and rate of atrial pacing on long-term progression of atrial fibrillation in sick sinus syndrome: Septal Pacing for Atrial Fibrillation Suppression Evaluation (SAFE) Study. Circulation 2013;**128**(7):687-93.

71. Lee KN, Choi JI, Kim YG, Oh SK, Kim DH, Lee DI, Roh SY, Ahn JH, Shim J, Park SW, Kim YH. Comparison between linear and focal ablation of complex fractionated atrial electrograms in patients with non-paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a prospective randomized trial. Europace 2019;**21**(4):598-606.

72. Leong-Sit P, Roux JF, Zado E, Callans DJ, Garcia F, Lin D, Marchlinski FE, Bala R, Dixit S, Riley M, Hutchinson MD, Cooper J, Russo AM, Verdino R, Gerstenfeld EP. Antiarrhythmics after ablation of atrial fibrillation (5A Study): six-month follow-up study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2011;**4**(1):11-4.

73. Lim TW, Koay CH, See VA, McCall R, Chik W, Zecchin R, Byth K, Seow SC, Thomas L, Ross DL, Thomas SP. Single-ring posterior left atrial (box) isolation results in a different mode of recurrence compared with wide antral pulmonary vein isolation on long-term follow-up: longer atrial fibrillation-free survival time but similar survival time free of any atrial arrhythmia. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2012;**5**(5):968-77.

74. Lin YJ, Chang SL, Lo LW, Hu YF, Suenari K, Li CH, Chao TF, Chung FP, Liao JN, Hartono B, Tso HW, Tsao HM, Huang JL, Kao T, Chen SA. A prospective, randomized comparison of modified pulmonary vein isolation versus conventional pulmonary vein isolation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2012;**23**(11):1155-62.

75. Lopes RD, Heizer G, Aronson R, Vora AN, Massaro T, Mehran R, Goodman SG, Windecker S, Darius H, Li J, Averkov O, Bahit MC, Berwanger O, Budaj A, Hijazi Z, Parkhomenko A, Sinnaeve P, Storey RF, Thiele H, Vinereanu D, Granger CB, Alexander JH.

Antithrombotic Therapy after Acute Coronary Syndrome or PCI in Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2019;**380**(16):1509-1524.

76. Luik A, Radzewitz A, Kieser M, Walter M, Bramlage P, Hörmann P, Schmidt K, Horn N, Brinkmeier-Theofanopoulou M, Kunzmann K, Riexinger T, Schymik G, Merkel M, Schmitt C. Cryoballoon Versus Open Irrigated Radiofrequency Ablation in Patients With Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: The Prospective, Randomized, Controlled, Noninferiority FreezeAF Study. Circulation 2015;**132**(14):1311-9.

77. Lüker J, Kuhr K, Sultan A, Nölker G, Omran H, Willems S, Andrié R, Schrickel JW, Winter S, Vollmann D, Tilz RR, Jobs A, Heeger CH, Metzner A, Meyer S, Mischke K, Napp A, Fahrig A, Steinhauser S, Brachmann J, Baldus S, Mahajan R, Sanders P, Steven D. Internal Versus External Electrical Cardioversion of Atrial Arrhythmia in Patients With Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillator: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Circulation 2019;**140**(13):1061-1069.

78. Macchia A, Grancelli H, Varini S, Nul D, Laffaye N, Mariani J, Ferrante D, Badra R, Figal J, Ramos S, Tognoni G, Doval HC. Omega-3 fatty acids for the prevention of recurrent symptomatic atrial fibrillation: results of the FORWARD (Randomized Trial to Assess Efficacy of PUFA for the Maintenance of Sinus Rhythm in Persistent Atrial Fibrillation) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;**61**(4):463-468.

79. Macle L, Khairy P, Weerasooriya R, Novak P, Verma A, Willems S, Arentz T, Deisenhofer I, Veenhuyzen G, Scavée C, Jaïs P, Puererfellner H, Levesque S, Andrade JG, Rivard L, Guerra PG, Dubuc M, Thibault B, Talajic M, Roy D, Nattel S. Adenosine-guided pulmonary vein isolation for the treatment of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: an international, multicentre, randomised superiority trial. Lancet 2015;**386**(9994):672-9.

80. Malmborg H, Lönnerholm S, Blomström P, Blomström-Lundqvist C. Ablation of atrial fibrillation with cryoballoon or duty-cycled radiofrequency pulmonary vein ablation catheter: a randomized controlled study comparing the clinical outcome and safety; the AF-COR study. Europace 2013;**15**(11):1567-73.

81. Marcus GM, Modrow MF, Schmid CH, Sigona K, Nah G, Yang J, Chu TC, Joyce S, Gettabecha S, Ogomori K, Yang V, Butcher X, Hills MT, McCall D, Sciarappa K, Sim I, Pletcher MJ, Olgin JE. Individualized Studies of Triggers of Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: The I-STOP-AFib Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Cardiol 2021.

82. Marrouche NF, Brachmann J, Andresen D, Siebels J, Boersma L, Jordaens L, Merkely B, Pokushalov E, Sanders P, Proff J, Schunkert H, Christ H, Vogt J, Bänsch D. Catheter Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation with Heart Failure. N Engl J Med 2018;**378**(5):417-427.

83. Masuda M, Fujita M, Iida O, Okamoto S, Ishihara T, Nanto K, Kanda T, Sunaga A, Tsujimura T, Matsuda Y, Ohashi T, Uematsu M. Pace-capture-guided ablation after contact-force-guided pulmonary vein isolation: results of the randomized controlled DRAGON trial. Europace 2018;**20**(9):1451-1458.

84. Matsumura-Nakano Y, Shizuta S, Komasa A, Morimoto T, Masuda H, Shiomi H, Goto K, Nakai K, Ogawa H, Kobori A, Kono Y, Kaitani K, Suwa S, Aoyama T, Takahashi M, Sasaki Y, Onishi Y, Mano T, Matsuda M, Motooka M, Tomita H, Inoko M, Wakeyama T, Hagiwara N, Tanabe K, Akao M, Miyauchi K, Yajima J, Hanaoka K, Morino Y, Ando K, Furukawa Y, Nakagawa Y, Nakao K, Kozuma K, Kadota K, Kimura K, Kawai K, Ueno T,

Okumura K, Kimura T. Open-Label Randomized Trial Comparing Oral Anticoagulation With and Without Single Antiplatelet Therapy in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Stable Coronary Artery Disease Beyond 1 Year After Coronary Stent Implantation. Circulation 2019;**139**(5):604-616.

85. McCready J, Chow AW, Lowe MD, Segal OR, Ahsan S, de Bono J, Dhaliwal M, Mfuko C, Ng A, Rowland ER, Bradley RJ, Paisey J, Roberts P, Morgan JM, Sandilands A, Yue A, Lambiase PD. Safety and efficacy of multipolar pulmonary vein ablation catheter vs. irrigated radiofrequency ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a randomized multicentre trial. Europace 2014;**16**(8):1145-53.

86. McLellan AJ, Ling LH, Azzopardi S, Lee GA, Lee G, Kumar S, Wong MC, Walters TE, Lee JM, Looi KL, Halloran K, Stiles MK, Lever NA, Fynn SP, Heck PM, Sanders P, Morton JB, Kalman JM, Kistler PM. A minimal or maximal ablation strategy to achieve pulmonary vein isolation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a prospective multi-centre randomized controlled trial (the Minimax study). Eur Heart J 2015;**36**(28):1812-21.

87. Mohanty S, Mohanty P, Di Biase L, Bai R, Santangeli P, Casella M, Dello Russo A, Tondo C, Themistoclakis S, Raviele A, Rossillo A, Corrado A, Pelargonio G, Forleo G, Natale A. Results from a single-blind, randomized study comparing the impact of different ablation approaches on long-term procedure outcome in coexistent atrial fibrillation and flutter (APPROVAL). Circulation 2013;**127**(18):1853-60.

88. Mohanty S, Di Biase L, Mohanty P, Trivedi C, Santangeli P, Bai R, Burkhardt JD, Gallinghouse JG, Horton R, Sanchez JE, Hranitzky PM, Zagrodzky J, Al-Ahmad A, Pelargonio G, Lakkireddy D, Reddy M, Forleo G, Rossillo A, Themistoclakis S, Hongo R, Beheiry S, Casella M, Dello Russo A, Tondo C, Natale A. Effect of periprocedural amiodarone on procedure outcome in patients with longstanding persistent atrial fibrillation undergoing extended pulmonary vein antrum isolation: results from a randomized study (SPECULATE). Heart Rhythm 2015;**12**(3):477-483.

89. Mont L, Bisbal F, Hernández-Madrid A, Pérez-Castellano N, Viñolas X, Arenal A, Arribas F, Fernández-Lozano I, Bodegas A, Cobos A, Matía R, Pérez-Villacastín J, Guerra JM, Ávila P, López-Gil M, Castro V, Arana JI, Brugada J. Catheter ablation vs. antiarrhythmic drug treatment of persistent atrial fibrillation: a multicentre, randomized, controlled trial (SARA study). Eur Heart J 2014;**35**(8):501-7.

90. Morillo CA, Verma A, Connolly SJ, Kuck KH, Nair GM, Champagne J, Sterns LD, Beresh H, Healey JS, Natale A. Radiofrequency ablation vs antiarrhythmic drugs as first-line treatment of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (RAAFT-2): a randomized trial. JAMA 2014;**311**(7):692-700.

91. Mörtsell D, Malmborg H, Lönnerholm S, Jansson V, Blomström-Lundqvist C. Acute and long-term efficacy and safety with a single cryoballoon application as compared with the standard dual application strategy: a prospective randomized study using the second-generation cryoballoon for pulmonary vein isolation in patients with symptomatic atrial fibrillation. Europace 2018;**20**(10):1598-1605.

92. Nakamura K, Naito S, Sasaki T, Take Y, Minami K, Kitagawa Y, Motoda H, Inoue M, Otsuka Y, Niijima K, Yamashita E, Sugai Y, Kumagai K, Koyama K, Funabashi N, Oshima S. Uninterrupted vs. interrupted periprocedural direct oral anticoagulants for catheter

ablation of atrial fibrillation: a prospective randomized single-centre study on post-ablation thrombo-embolic and haemorrhagic events. Europace 2019;**21**(2):259-267.

93. Nodari S, Triggiani M, Campia U, Manerba A, Milesi G, Cesana BM, Gheorghiade M, Dei Cas L. n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in the prevention of atrial fibrillation recurrences after electrical cardioversion: a prospective, randomized study. Circulation 2011;**124**(10):1100-6.

94. Nölker G, Schwagten B, Deville JB, Burkhardt JD, Horton RP, Sha Q, Tomassoni G. Vdrive Evaluation of Remote Steering and Testing in Lasso Electrophysiology Procedures Study: The VERSATILE Study in Atrial Fibrillation Ablation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2016;**27 Suppl 1**:S17-22.

95. Osmancik P, Herman D, Neuzil P, Hala P, Taborsky M, Kala P, Poloczek M, Stasek J, Haman L, Branny M, Chovancik J, Cervinka P, Holy J, Kovarnik T, Zemanek D, Havranek S, Vancura V, Opatrny J, Peichl P, Tousek P, Lekesova V, Jarkovsky J, Novackova M, Benesova K, Widimsky P, Reddy VY. Left Atrial Appendage Closure Versus Direct Oral Anticoagulants in High-Risk Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020;**75**(25):3122-3135.

96. Packer DL, Kowal RC, Wheelan KR, Irwin JM, Champagne J, Guerra PG, Dubuc M, Reddy V, Nelson L, Holcomb RG, Lehmann JW, Ruskin JN. Cryoballoon ablation of pulmonary veins for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: first results of the North American Arctic Front (STOP AF) pivotal trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;**61**(16):1713-23.

97. Packer DL, Mark DB, Robb RA, Monahan KH, Bahnson TD, Poole JE, Noseworthy PA, Rosenberg YD, Jeffries N, Mitchell LB, Flaker GC, Pokushalov E, Romanov A, Bunch TJ, Noelker G, Ardashev A, Revishvili A, Wilber DJ, Cappato R, Kuck KH, Hindricks G, Davies DW, Kowey PR, Naccarelli GV, Reiffel JA, Piccini JP, Silverstein AP, Al-Khalidi HR, Lee KL. Effect of Catheter Ablation vs Antiarrhythmic Drug Therapy on Mortality, Stroke, Bleeding, and Cardiac Arrest Among Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: The CABANA Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2019;**321**(13):1261-1274.

98. Pak HN, Park JW, Yang SY, Kim TH, Uhm JS, Joung B, Lee MH, Yu HT. Cryoballoon Versus High-Power, Short-Duration Radiofrequency Ablation for Pulmonary Vein Isolation in Patients With Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: A Single-Center, Prospective, Randomized Study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2021;**14**(9):e010040.

99. Pappone C, Vicedomini G, Augello G, Manguso F, Saviano M, Baldi M, Petretta A, Giannelli L, Calovic Z, Guluta V, Tavazzi L, Santinelli V. Radiofrequency catheter ablation and antiarrhythmic drug therapy: a prospective, randomized, 4-year follow-up trial: the APAF study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2011;**4**(6):808-14.

100. Parkash R, Wells GA, Sapp JL, Healey JS, Tardif JC, Greiss I, Rivard L, Roux JF, Gula L, Nault I, Novak P, Birnie D, Ha A, Wilton SB, Mangat I, Gray C, Gardner M, Tang ASL. Effect of Aggressive Blood Pressure Control on the Recurrence of Atrial Fibrillation After Catheter Ablation: A Randomized, Open-Label Clinical Trial (SMAC-AF [Substrate Modification With Aggressive Blood Pressure Control]). Circulation 2017;**135**(19):1788-1798.

101. Patel MR, Mahaffey KW, Garg J, Pan G, Singer DE, Hacke W, Breithardt G, Halperin JL, Hankey GJ, Piccini JP, Becker RC, Nessel CC, Paolini JF, Berkowitz SD, Fox

KA, Califf RM. Rivaroxaban versus warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011;**365**(10):883-91.

102. Wijtvliet E, Tieleman RG, van Gelder IC, Pluymaekers N, Rienstra M, Folkeringa RJ, Bronzwaer P, Elvan A, Elders J, Tukkie R, Luermans J, Van Asselt A, Van Kuijk SMJ, Tijssen JG, Crijns H. Nurse-led vs. usual-care for atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2020;**41**(5):634-641.

103. Pokushalov E, Romanov A, De Melis M, Artyomenko S, Baranova V, Losik D, Bairamova S, Karaskov A, Mittal S, Steinberg JS. Progression of atrial fibrillation after a failed initial ablation procedure in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a randomized comparison of drug therapy versus reablation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2013;6(4):754-60.

104. Rajagopalan B, Shah Z, Narasimha D, Bhatia A, Kim CH, Switzer DF, Gudleski GH, Curtis AB. Efficacy of Intravenous Magnesium in Facilitating Cardioversion of Atrial Fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2016;**9**(9).

105. Reddy VY, Sievert H, Halperin J, Doshi SK, Buchbinder M, Neuzil P, Huber K, Whisenant B, Kar S, Swarup V, Gordon N, Holmes D. Percutaneous left atrial appendage closure vs warfarin for atrial fibrillation: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2014;**312**(19):1988-98.

106. Reddy VY, Dukkipati SR, Neuzil P, Natale A, Albenque JP, Kautzner J, Shah D, Michaud G, Wharton M, Harari D, Mahapatra S, Lambert H, Mansour M. Randomized, Controlled Trial of the Safety and Effectiveness of a Contact Force-Sensing Irrigated Catheter for Ablation of Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: Results of the TactiCath Contact Force Ablation Catheter Study for Atrial Fibrillation (TOCCASTAR) Study. Circulation 2015;**132**(10):907-15.

107. Reiffel JA, Camm AJ, Belardinelli L, Zeng D, Karwatowska-Prokopczuk E, Olmsted A, Zareba W, Rosero S, Kowey P. The HARMONY Trial: Combined Ranolazine and Dronedarone in the Management of Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: Mechanistic and Therapeutic Synergism. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2015;**8**(5):1048-56.

108. Reynolds MR, Allison JS, Natale A, Weisberg IL, Ellenbogen KA, Richards M, Hsieh WH, Sutherland J, Cannon CP. A Prospective Randomized Trial of Apixaban Dosing During Atrial Fibrillation Ablation: The AEIOU Trial. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2018;**4**(5):580-588.

109. Rienstra M, Hobbelt AH, Alings M, Tijssen JGP, Smit MD, Brügemann J, Geelhoed B, Tieleman RG, Hillege HL, Tukkie R, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Crijns H, Van Gelder IC. Targeted therapy of underlying conditions improves sinus rhythm maintenance in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation: results of the RACE 3 trial. Eur Heart J 2018;**39**(32):2987-2996.

110. Rillig A, Schmidt B, Di Biase L, Lin T, Scholz L, Heeger CH, Metzner A, Steven D, Wohlmuth P, Willems S, Trivedi C, Galllinghouse JG, Natale A, Ouyang F, Kuck KH, Tilz RR. Manual Versus Robotic Catheter Ablation for the Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation: The Man and Machine Trial. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2017;**3**(8):875-883.

111. Rónaszéki A, Alings M, Egstrup K, Gaciong Z, Hranai M, Király C, Sereg M, Figatowski W, Bondarov P, Johansson S, Frison L, Edvardsson N, Berggren A. Pharmacological cardioversion of atrial fibrillation--a double-blind, randomized, placebo-

controlled, multicentre, dose-escalation study of AZD1305 given intravenously. Europace 2011;**13**(8):1148-56.

112. Rostock T, Salukhe TV, Hoffmann BA, Steven D, Berner I, Müllerleile K, Theis C, Bock K, Servatius H, Sultan A, Willems S. Prognostic role of subsequent atrial tachycardias occurring during ablation of persistent atrial fibrillation: a prospective randomized trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2013;**6**(6):1059-65.

113. Schmidt B, Neuzil P, Luik A, Osca Asensi J, Schrickel JW, Deneke T, Bordignon S, Petru J, Merkel M, Sediva L, Klostermann A, Perrotta L, Cano O, Chun KRJ. Laser Balloon or Wide-Area Circumferential Irrigated Radiofrequency Ablation for Persistent Atrial Fibrillation: A Multicenter Prospective Randomized Study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2017;**10**(12).

114. Schoene K, Arya A, Grashoff F, Knopp H, Weber A, Lerche M, König S, Hilbert S, Kircher S, Bertagnolli L, Dinov B, Hindricks G, Halm U, Zachäus M, Sommer P. Oesophageal Probe Evaluation in Radiofrequency Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation (OPERA): results from a prospective randomized trial. Europace 2020;**22**(10):1487-1494.

115. Singh SM, d'Avila A, Kim YH, Aryana A, Mangrum JM, Michaud GF, Dukkipati SR, Barrett CD, Heist EK, Parides MK, Thorpe KE, Reddy VY. The modified stepwise ablation guided by low-dose ibutilide in chronic atrial fibrillation trial (The MAGIC-AF Study). Eur Heart J 2016;**37**(20):1614-21.

116. Sohara H, Ohe T, Okumura K, Naito S, Hirao K, Shoda M, Kobayashi Y, Yamauchi Y, Yamaguchi Y, Kuwahara T, Hirayama H, YeongHwa C, Kusano K, Kaitani K, Banba K, Fujii S, Kumagai K, Yoshida H, Matsushita M, Satake S, Aonuma K. HotBalloon Ablation of the Pulmonary Veins for Paroxysmal AF: A Multicenter Randomized Trial in Japan. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;**68**(25):2747-2757.

117. Squara F, Elbaum C, Garret G, Liprandi L, Scarlatti D, Bun SS, Mossaz B, Rocher M, Bateau J, Moceri P, Ferrari E. Active compression versus standard anterior-posterior defibrillation for external cardioversion of atrial fibrillation: A prospective randomized study. Heart Rhythm 2021;**18**(3):360-365.

118. Steinberg JS, Shabanov V, Ponomarev D, Losik D, Ivanickiy E, Kropotkin E, Polyakov K, Ptaszynski P, Keweloh B, Yao CJ, Pokushalov EA, Romanov AB. Effect of Renal Denervation and Catheter Ablation vs Catheter Ablation Alone on Atrial Fibrillation Recurrence Among Patients With Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation and Hypertension: The ERADICATE-AF Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2020;**323**(3):248-255.

119. Stewart S, Ball J, Horowitz JD, Marwick TH, Mahadevan G, Wong C, Abhayaratna WP, Chan YK, Esterman A, Thompson DR, Scuffham PA, Carrington MJ. Standard versus atrial fibrillation-specific management strategy (SAFETY) to reduce recurrent admission and prolong survival: pragmatic, multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2015;**385**(9970):775-84.

120. Su WW, Reddy VY, Bhasin K, Champagne J, Sangrigoli RM, Braegelmann KM, Kueffer FJ, Novak P, Gupta SK, Yamane T, Calkins H. Cryoballoon ablation of pulmonary veins for persistent atrial fibrillation: Results from the multicenter STOP Persistent AF trial. Heart Rhythm 2020;**17**(11):1841-1847.

121. Suleiman M, Koestler C, Lerman A, Lopez-Jimenez F, Herges R, Hodge D, Bradley D, Cha YM, Brady PA, Munger TM, Asirvatham SJ, Packer DL, Friedman PA. Atorvastatin

for prevention of atrial fibrillation recurrence following pulmonary vein isolation: a doubleblind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial. Heart Rhythm 2012;**9**(2):172-8.

122. Theis C, Konrad T, Mollnau H, Sonnenschein S, Kämpfner D, Potstawa M, Ocete BQ, Bock K, Himmrich E, Münzel T, Rostock T. Arrhythmia Termination Versus Elimination of Dormant Pulmonary Vein Conduction as a Procedural End Point of Catheter Ablation for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: A Prospective Randomized Trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2015;**8**(5):1080-7.

123. Valderrábano M, Peterson LE, Swarup V, Schurmann PA, Makkar A, Doshi RN, DeLurgio D, Athill CA, Ellenbogen KA, Natale A, Koneru J, Dave AS, Giorgberidze I, Afshar H, Guthrie ML, Bunge R, Morillo CA, Kleiman NS. Effect of Catheter Ablation With Vein of Marshall Ethanol Infusion vs Catheter Ablation Alone on Persistent Atrial Fibrillation: The VENUS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2020;**324**(16):1620-1628.

124. van den Dries CJ, van Doorn S, Rutten FH, Oudega R, van de Leur S, Elvan A, Oude Grave L, Bilo HJG, Moons KGM, Hoes AW, Geersing GJ. Integrated management of atrial fibrillation in primary care: results of the ALL-IN cluster randomized trial. Eur Heart J 2020;**41**(30):2836-2844.

125. Van Mieghem NM, Unverdorben M, Hengstenberg C, Möllmann H, Mehran R, López-Otero D, Nombela-Franco L, Moreno R, Nordbeck P, Thiele H, Lang I, Zamorano JL, Shawl F, Yamamoto M, Watanabe Y, Hayashida K, Hambrecht R, Meincke F, Vranckx P, Jin J, Boersma E, Rodés-Cabau J, Ohlmann P, Capranzano P, Kim HS, Pilgrim T, Anderson R, Baber U, Duggal A, Laeis P, Lanz H, Chen C, Valgimigli M, Veltkamp R, Saito S, Dangas GD. Edoxaban versus Vitamin K Antagonist for Atrial Fibrillation after TAVR. N Engl J Med 2021.

126. Verma A, Jiang CY, Betts TR, Chen J, Deisenhofer I, Mantovan R, Macle L, Morillo CA, Haverkamp W, Weerasooriya R, Albenque JP, Nardi S, Menardi E, Novak P, Sanders P. Approaches to catheter ablation for persistent atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2015;**372**(19):1812-22.

127. Vinereanu D, Lopes RD, Bahit MC, Xavier D, Jiang J, Al-Khalidi HR, He W, Xian Y, Ciobanu AO, Kamath DY, Fox KA, Rao MP, Pokorney SD, Berwanger O, Tajer C, de Barros ESPGM, Roettig ML, Huo Y, Granger CB. A multifaceted intervention to improve treatment with oral anticoagulants in atrial fibrillation (IMPACT-AF): an international, cluster-randomised trial. Lancet 2017;**390**(10104):1737-1746.

128. Vogler J, Willems S, Sultan A, Schreiber D, Lüker J, Servatius H, Schäffer B, Moser J, Hoffmann BA, Steven D. Pulmonary Vein Isolation Versus Defragmentation: The CHASE-AF Clinical Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;**66**(24):2743-2752.

129. Voskoboinik A, Moskovitch J, Plunkett G, Bloom J, Wong G, Nalliah C, Prabhu S, Sugumar H, Paramasweran R, McLellan A, Ling LH, Goh CY, Noaman S, Fernando H, Wong M, Taylor AJ, Kalman JM, Kistler PM. Cardioversion of atrial fibrillation in obese patients: Results from the Cardioversion-BMI randomized controlled trial. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2019;**30**(2):155-161.

130. Voskoboinik A, Kalman JM, De Silva A, Nicholls T, Costello B, Nanayakkara S, Prabhu S, Stub D, Azzopardi S, Vizi D, Wong G, Nalliah C, Sugumar H, Wong M, Kotschet E, Kaye D, Taylor AJ, Kistler PM. Alcohol Abstinence in Drinkers with Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2020;**382**(1):20-28.

131. Vranckx P, Valgimigli M, Eckardt L, Tijssen J, Lewalter T, Gargiulo G, Batushkin V, Campo G, Lysak Z, Vakaliuk I, Milewski K, Laeis P, Reimitz PE, Smolnik R, Zierhut W, Goette A. Edoxaban-based versus vitamin K antagonist-based antithrombotic regimen after successful coronary stenting in patients with atrial fibrillation (ENTRUST-AF PCI): a randomised, open-label, phase 3b trial. Lancet 2019;**394**(10206):1335-1343.

132. Walfridsson H, Walfridsson U, Nielsen JC, Johannessen A, Raatikainen P, Janzon M, Levin LA, Aronsson M, Hindricks G, Kongstad O, Pehrson S, Englund A, Hartikainen J, Mortensen LS, Hansen PS. Radiofrequency ablation as initial therapy in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: results on health-related quality of life and symptom burden. The MANTRA-PAF trial. Europace 2015;**17**(2):215-21.

133. Wang Q, Shang Y, Wang Z, Zhou D, Dong F, Qiu Y, Li H, Zheng L. Perindopril for the prevention of atrial fibrillation recurrence after radiofrequency catheter ablation: One-year experience. Heart Rhythm 2016;**13**(10):2040-7.

134. Wazni OM, Dandamudi G, Sood N, Hoyt R, Tyler J, Durrani S, Niebauer M, Makati K, Halperin B, Gauri A, Morales G, Shao M, Cerkvenik J, Kaplon RE, Nissen SE. Cryoballoon Ablation as Initial Therapy for Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2021;**384**(4):316-324.

135. Wintgens LIS, Klaver MN, Maarse M, Spitzer SG, Langbein A, Swaans MJ, Van Dijk VF, Balt JC, Wijffels M, Tijssen JGP, Elvan A, Boersma LVA. Efficacy and safety of the GOLD FORCE multicentre randomized clinical trial: multielectrode phased radiofrequency vs. irrigated radiofrequency single-tip catheter with contact force ablation for treatment of symptomatic paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Europace 2021.

136. Wong KC, Paisey JR, Sopher M, Balasubramaniam R, Jones M, Qureshi N, Hayes CR, Ginks MR, Rajappan K, Bashir Y, Betts TR. No Benefit of Complex Fractionated Atrial Electrogram Ablation in Addition to Circumferential Pulmonary Vein Ablation and Linear Ablation: Benefit of Complex Ablation Study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2015;**8**(6):1316-24.

137. Wu G, Huang H, Cai L, Yang Y, Liu X, Yu B, Tang Y, Jiang H, Huang C. Long-term observation of catheter ablation vs. pharmacotherapy in the management of persistent and long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation (CAPA study). Europace 2021;**23**(5):731-739.

138. Yamagata K, Wichterle D, Roubícek T, Jarkovský P, Sato Y, Kogure T, Peichl P, Konecný P, Jansová H, Kucera P, Aldhoon B, Cihák R, Sugimura Y, Kautzner J. Ultrasound-guided versus conventional femoral venipuncture for catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: a multicentre randomized efficacy and safety trial (ULTRA-FAST trial). Europace 2018;**20**(7):1107-1114.

139. Yang B, Jiang C, Lin Y, Yang G, Chu H, Cai H, Lu F, Zhan X, Xu J, Wang X, Ching CK, Singh B, Kim YH, Chen M. STABLE-SR (Electrophysiological Substrate Ablation in the Left Atrium During Sinus Rhythm) for the Treatment of Nonparoxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: A Prospective, Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2017;**10**(11).

140. Yu HT, Shim J, Park J, Kim IS, Kim TH, Uhm JS, Joung B, Lee MH, Kim YH, Pak HN. Pulmonary Vein Isolation Alone Versus Additional Linear Ablation in Patients With Persistent Atrial Fibrillation Converted to Paroxysmal Type With Antiarrhythmic Drug

Therapy: A Multicenter, Prospective, Randomized Study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2017;**10**(6).

141. Yu HT, Shim J, Park J, Kim TH, Uhm JS, Kim JY, Joung B, Lee MH, Kim YH, Pak HN. When is it appropriate to stop non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants before catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation? A multicentre prospective randomized study. Eur Heart J 2019;**40**(19):1531-1537.

142. Zhang XD, Gu J, Jiang WF, Zhao L, Zhou L, Wang YL, Liu YG, Liu X. Optimal rhythm-control strategy for recurrent atrial tachycardia after catheter ablation of persistent atrial fibrillation: a randomized clinical trial. Eur Heart J 2014;**35**(20):1327-34.

CHAPTER 8:

Sex differences in outcomes of an intensive risk factor modification program in patients with atrial fibrillation

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Sex differences in outcomes of an intensive risk factor modification program in patients with atrial fibrillation					
	□ Published					
Publication Status	\boxtimes Submitted for publication					
	□ Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style					
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ , Pathak RK, Thomas G, Elliot A, Gallagher C, Lau DH, Sanders P, Middeldorp ME. Sex differences in outcomes of an intensive risk factor modification program in patients with atrial fibrillation					

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Jean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale						
Contribution to the Paper	ibution to the Paper Conception and design, bibliographic searches, data collection, dat analysis, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, manuscript revision						
Overall percentage (%)	50%						
Certification	ch I con andidatu nents w thesis. I	ducted during the period are and is not subject to ith a third party that am the primary author of					
Signature		Date	3/12/2022				

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Rajeev K. Pathak			
Contribution to the Pape	Data collection, manuscript	revision (5	5%)	
Signature			Date	3/4/2023
	Gijo Thomas			

Name of Co-Author	Gijo Thomas	
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript revision (10%)	
Contribution to the Luper		

Signature		Date	3/14/2022
Name of Co-Author	Adrian Elliott		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/4/2023
Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders		
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, data collectio revision (10%)	n, data i	interpretation, manuscript
Signature		Date	3/4/2023
	,		
	Maliaa E. Middaldam		
Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp Conception and design, data collection, data interpretation, manuscript		
Contribution to the Paper	revision (15%)	Ι	
C! (-	3/22/2022
Signature		Date	512212022
Signature	V	Date	512212022
Signature	V	Date	5/22/2022
Signature	V	Date	5/22/2022
Signature	V	Date	5/22/2022
Signature	V	Date	5/22/2022
Signature	V	Date	5/22/2022
Signature	V	Date	5/22/2022
Signature	V	Date	5/22/2022
Signature		Date	
Signature		Date	5/22/2022
Signature		Date	

8.1 Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common sustained arrhythmia seen in clinical practice.¹ Cardiometabolic risk factors such as obesity, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obstructive sleep apnea are important drivers of the development of AF and its progression from paroxysmal to more persistent forms.⁵⁵ The control of these risk factors is now recognized in major clinical guidelines as a pillar of AF management.^{144, 288} Indeed, several studies have shown a substantial impact of risk factor modification on AF outcomes.^{144, 288, 290, 291, 293} Notably, we previously showed in the LEGACY (Long-Term Effect of Goal-Directed Weight Management in an Atrial Fibrillation Cohort: A Long-Term Follow-Up), the CARDIO-FIT (Impact of CARDIOrespiratory FITness on arrhythmia Recurrence in obese individuals with AF), and the REVERSE-AF (PREVEntion and regReSsive Effect of weight-loss and risk factor modification on Atrial Fibrillation) studies that aggressive management of obesity and other risk factors reduces AF symptoms, reverses the type and natural progression of AF, and improves long-term freedom from AF.^{291, 293}

Sex differences have been shown in the incidence and outcomes of AF.^{3, 303, 643} AF is about 1.5 times more common in men than women of middle age or older.³ In an analysis from the BiomarCaRE Consortium (Biomarker for Cardiovascular Risk Assessment in Europe), the higher risk of AF in men was partially explained by factors such as body mass index (BMI) and total cholesterol.³⁰³ This suggests that the impact of BMI on AF incidence might be higher in men than in women. However, no previous study has assessed whether there is a sex difference in the impact of weight-loss on AF outcomes. Hence, in a cohort of patients with AF undergoing intensive weight and risk factor modification, the current study aimed to assess the association between sex and weight-loss, cardiorespiratory fitness gain, AF symptoms, progression and recurrence of AF.

8.2 Methods

8.2.1 Study population

This is an ancillary analysis of data from the LEGACY study whose methods have been previously presented in details.²⁹¹ Patients referred to the Centre for Heart Rhythm Disorders at The University of Adelaide for the management of symptomatic AF, with a BMI ≥ 27 kg/m², in the study were included. They were excluded if they had a history of myocardial infarction or cardiac surgery in the previous 12 months, significant cardiac valvulopathy or ventricular dysfunction, active malignancy, autoimmune or systemic inflammatory diseases, severe renal or hepatic failure, and <24 months of follow-up.

8.2.2 Weight-loss and risk factor management

All participants were enrolled in a physician-led clinic devoted to weight reduction and control of cardiovascular risk factors. Details on our personalized, goal-directed, motivational weight and risk factor modification program are presented elsewhere.^{290, 291} In brief, patients received face-to-face counseling with regular visits, every 3 months initially or more frequently if needed. An initial goal of >10% weight-loss was first attempted. Advice initially utilized the individuals own diet with a gradual change as required to a meal plan consisting of high protein and low glycemic index, calorie-controlled foods, and behavioral changes. After a >10% weight reduction was achieved, the next goal was a BMI \leq 25 kg/m². Hypertension was managed with salt restriction and pharmacotherapy as required. Homebased blood pressure monitoring was performed by patients, with 2–3 measurements daily. In addition, exercise-induced hypertension was assessed by exercise stress testing. Blood pressure targets were: <130/80 mmHg for at least 80% of home blood pressure readings; <130/80 mmHg and <200/100 mmHg during rest and exercise, respectively. This was corroborated by in office blood pressure readings, and 24-h ambulatory monitoring if needed.

Dyslipidemia and glucose intolerance were managed with lifestyle measures and pharmacotherapy as required. Patients were screened for obstructive sleep apnea and offered therapy with continuous positive airway pressure if the apnea–hypopnea index was \geq 30/h or if AHI \geq 20/h with hypertension. Smoking cessation was encouraged and alcohol reduction to \leq 30 g/week was advised.

8.2.3. Exercise program and evaluation of cardiorespiratory fitness

An individualized, structured exercise program was designed in accordance with the American Heart Association guidelines.⁶⁴⁴ Details on the program have been presented previously.⁶⁴⁵ In brief, after a baseline exercise stress test to ascertain cardiorespiratory fitness, patients were proposed a tailored exercise program with safely achievable goals considering patient's age and physical ability. The program was a combination of aerobic and resistance/strength exercises for progressive fitness gain, consisting of 20 min low-intensity exercise thrice weekly initially, and progressively increased to moderate intensity activity of at least 200 min weekly.

Cardiorespiratory fitness, in sex-specific metabolic equivalents (METs), was evaluated at baseline and final follow-up using the Bruce protocol treadmill exercise test. Test time was used to calculate METs.⁶⁴⁶ If patients achieved only a fraction of the stage of exercise, credit for exercise capacity was "pro-rated." Age- and sex-predicted peak METs were calculated using the Veterans Affairs referral model (METs = $18 - [0.15 \times age]$) for men, and the St. James model (METs = $14.7 - [0.13 \times age]$) for women.⁶⁴⁷

8.2.4. Arrhythmia management

Management of AF was done in a concurrently conducted arrhythmia clinic which was separate from the risk factor management clinic. The use of rate and rhythm control strategies was at the discretion of the treating physician according to guidelines. Atrial fibrillation was assessed at least annually by clinical review, 12-lead electrocardiogram, and 7-day Holter monitoring. Catheter ablation was offered to patients who remained symptomatic despite antiarrhythmic drugs and risk factor modification. The ablation protocol used at our institution has been previously described.⁶⁴⁸ Procedural success was determined after a 3-month blanking period, with recurrent arrhythmia defined as any atrial arrhythmia \geq 30s and the data of recurrence corresponding to the earliest date of documented atrial arrhythmia. Repeat ablation was offered in case of recurrent symptomatic AF. Patients received oral anticoagulation according to guidelines. All patients had serial echocardiographic examinations. To assess AF symptom burden in all patients at baseline and final follow-up we used the AF Severity Scale (AFSS, University of Toronto, Canada) that quantitates 3 domains of AF-related symptoms (frequency, duration, and severity), and provides a symptom subscale and global well-being score.⁶⁴⁹

8.2.5 Outcomes

The primary outcome was freedom from AF ascertained with 7-day Holter monitoring, including freedom from AF without the use of rhythm control strategies ("ablation and drug free" AF freedom) and total arrhythmia-free survival. Secondary outcomes included weight-loss, cardiorespiratory fitness gain, AF symptom burden assessed with the AFSS questionnaire, change in AF type, change in AF risk factors, change in left atrial volume, left ventricular wall thickness, and diastolic function from echocardiographic studies.

8.2.6 Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were expressed as frequencies and percentages while continuous variables were expressed as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with interquartile

range (IQR) as appropriate. Differences between women and men at baseline and follow-up were assessed using paired t-test for continuous variables, and the chi-squared test for categorical variables. The interaction between sex and time was assessed using analysis of variance. Time-to-recurrence following the last ablation procedure between men and women was assessed using survival analysis. The association between weight-loss, fitness gain and outcomes of AF freedom was assessed using cox regression analysis. For this purpose, the study population was divided in groups according to the percentage of weight-loss (\geq 10% weight-loss [WL] versus <10% WL) and the cardiorespiratory fitness gain (\geq 2 MET gain versus <2 MET gain), as previously reported.^{291, 645} Variables with p < 0.1 in univariable analyses were included in the multivariable cox regression models. A two-tailed p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant. All analyses were performed using Stata 15 statistical package (Statacorp, College Station, TX).

8.2.7 Ethical approval and registration

The LEGACY study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Royal Adelaide Hospital (reference number: HREC/13/RAH/158). and registered with the Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR Clinical Trial Registration: ACTRN12614001123639). The current secondary analysis of data from the LEGACY study was also granted approval by the Central Adelaide Local Health Network (CAHLN) Human Research Ethics Committee (reference number 16784).

8.3 Results

8.3.1 Baseline characteristics

From 1,415 consecutive patients with symptomatic AF, of which 825 patients had a BMI \geq 27 kg/m², 355 patients were included in the current analysis (**Figure 1**). There were 234 males

(65.9%). Compared to males, females were older (65.5 \pm 10.4 vs 62.5 \pm 10.6 years, p=0.013), had had higher BMI (34.1 \pm 5.4 vs 32.6 \pm 4.1 kg/m², p=0.003) but were less likely to consume alcohol in excess (5.8% vs 44.4%, p<0.001) and were less likely to have a smoking history (24.8% vs 38.0%, p=0.012). This was associated with more frequent paroxysmal AF (67.8% vs 48.3%, p<0.001) and more severe symptoms (7.22 \pm 1.49 vs 6.81 \pm 1.74, p=0.041) in females. There was no sex difference in baseline cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, hypercholesterolemia, coronary artery disease, and obstructive sleep apnea (**Table 1**). There was similar risk factor clinic attendance between males and females (58.7% vs 60%, p=0.820).

8.3.2 Impact of the aggressive risk factor management program

8.3.2.1 Changes in risk factor profile

There were significant changes in most parameters between baseline and final follow-up (**Table 2**). Weight decreased in males (104.7 ± 14.6 to 97.3 ± 15.7 kg, p<0.001) and females (91.4 ± 17.2 to 84.4 ± 17.2 kg, p<0.001), with no sex differences (p for group-time interaction = 0.86) (**Table 2, Figure 2A and 2B**). Cardiorespiratory fitness increased in males (7.09 ± 1.72 to 8.74 ± 2.42 MET, p<0.001) and females (6.11 ± 1.98 to 7.48 ± 2.51 kg, p<0.001), with no sex differences (p=0.44) (**Table 2, Figure 2C and 2D**). Systolic blood pressure significantly decreased in males (p<0.001) and females (p<0.001), with no sex difference (p=0.55). The proportion of patients with excessive alcohol consumption significantly decreased in males (p<0.001), but more in males (p=0.01). There was significantly less smokers at the end of follow-up than at baseline in males (p<0.001) and females (p<0.001), with no sex difference (p=0.76). The proportion of patients with OSA also significantly decreased in males (p<0.001) and females (p<0.001), with no sex difference (p=0.97). Low-density Lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol significantly decreased whereas high-density

lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol increased in both sexes, but significantly more females than males (p=0.020 and p=0.001, respectively) (**Table 2**). Indexed left atrial volume increased, left ventricular end-diastolic diameter, and E/E' ratio decreased in both males and females, with no sex difference (all p>0.05). In terms of treatment, the number of antihypertensive and antiarrhythmic drugs taken by patients, as well as the number of patients on statins were reduced between baseline and final follow-up in both males and females, with no sex difference (all p >0.05). There was no difference in electrical cardioversion utilization between baseline and final follow-up in males (p=0.211) and females (p=0.168). The number of catheter ablation was similar between males and females (p=0.86) (**Table 2**).

8.3.2.2 Changes in atrial fibrillation symptoms

On the AFSS, frequency, duration, severity and symptoms significantly improved for males and females between baseline and final follow-up, with no between sex difference (all p >0.05, **Table 2**).

8.3.2.3 Changes in atrial fibrillation type

At baseline, paroxysmal AF was significantly more common in females than males (67.8% vs 48.3%, p<0.001) (**Figure 3**). Although more females progressed from paroxysmal to persistent AF, the difference was not significant (26.4% vs 22.6%, p=0.427). There was a trend towards more common reversal from persistent to paroxysmal AF in males compared to females (21.8% vs 14.0%, p=0.079). There no sex difference in AF freedom at the end of follow-up (p=0.877) (**Figure 3**).
8.3.3 Association of weight loss and fitness gain with atrial fibrillation freedom outcomes

8.3.3.1 Total arrhythmia-free survival

There was no sex difference in total AF freedom (p=0.47) (**Supplementary Figure 1A**). Weight-loss was associated with AF recurrence for both sexes in univariable analysis (**Supplementary Table 1, Figure 4A and 4B**). In multivariable analysis (**Table 3**), weight-loss (\geq 10% compared with <10%) was associated with lower AF recurrence in males (HR 0.41, 95% CI: 0.23-0.73, p=0.002) and females (HR 0.41, 95% CI: 0.20-0.83, p=0.010), with no sex difference (p=0.980). Fitness gain was associated with lower risk of AF recurrence in both sex in univariable regression analysis (**Supplementary Table 1, Figure 4C and 4D**). In multivariable analysis, fitness gain (\geq 2 MET compared with <2 MET) was associated with lower AF recurrence in females (HR 0.13, 95% CI: 0.05-0.30, p<0.001) but not in males (HR 0.63, 95% CI: 0.38-1.04, p=0.07) (p for sex difference = 0.002). When analyzing fitness as a continuous variable (**Table 3**), fitness gain was associated with lower AF recurrence in females (HR 0.69, 95% CI: 0.59-0.81, p<0.001) and males (HR 0.88, 95% CI: 0.78-0.98, p=0.02) but the association was stronger in females (p for sex difference = 0.019).

8.3.3.2 Freedom from AF without the use of rhythm control strategies

There was no sex difference in "ablation and drug free" AF freedom (p=0.49) (**Supplementary Figure 1, Panel B**). Weight-loss was associated with "ablation and drug free" AF freedom for both sexes in univariable analysis (**Supplementary Table 1, Figure 5A and 5B**). In multivariable analysis (**Table 3**), weight-loss (\geq 10% compared with <10%) was associated with lower AF recurrence in males (HR 0.45, 95% CI: 0.26-0.76, p=0.003) and females (HR 0.30, 95% CI: 0.14-0.67, p=0.003) (p for sex difference = 0.449). Fitness gain was not associated with a decrease in AF recurrence in both males (p=0.23) and females

(p=0.28) in univariable regression analysis (**Supplementary Table 1, Figure 5C and 5D**). However, in multivariable analysis (**Table 3**), fitness gain (\geq 2 MET compared with <2 MET) was associated with lower AF recurrence in males (HR 0.57, 95% CI: 0.35-0.93, p=0.02) but not in females (HR 1.36, 95% CI: 0.65-2.86, p=0.41) (p for sex difference = 0.056).

8.4 Discussion

In this study we investigated sex differences in weight-loss, risk factors, cardiorespiratory fitness gain, AF symptoms, progression and recurrence of AF in a cohort of patients undergoing intensive weight and risk factor modification. Four important findings emerge (**Figure 6**):

- 1. First, although females were older, with greater BMI and normalized cardiorespiratory fitness at baseline, there was no sex difference in weight-loss or fitness gain at follow-up.
- Second, weight-loss and fitness gain were associated with a significant increase in "ablation and drug free" AF freedom and total AF freedom in both males and females.
- 3. Third, improvement in fitness had a much greater benefit for total arrhythmia freedom for females than males.
- 4. Fourth, there was a trend towards higher rates of AF reversal from persistent AF to paroxysmal AF in males compared to females.

Differences in outcomes of risk factor modification between males and females with AF might be influenced by differences in their risk profiles and the way they are managed. For instance, in patients hospitalized for AF in the United States, females were reported to be older, with higher prevalence of hypertension and heart failure. Whereas, diabetes mellitus, vascular disease, and obstructive sleep apnea were more common in males.³¹⁶ Furthermore,

lower utilization of rhythm control strategies in females, especially electrical cardioversion and catheter ablation, has been reported in multiple studies across the globe.^{316, 348-350} These differences between males and females with AF have been shown to impact their outcomes.³¹⁶ In the current study, besides older age and higher BMI in females, and excess alcohol consumption in males, there was no other substantial differences in cardiovascular risk factors between sexes. In addition, there was no difference in clinic attendance, in the use of antiarrhythmic drugs, electrical cardioversion, and catheter ablation during follow-up between sexes.

Several studies have suggested a difference in weight-loss and maintenance between males and females. Data from older adults with obesity from two studies in the US and the UK showed that females had generally better weight control than males.⁶⁵⁰ In contrast, in a meta-analysis of 49 randomized controlled trials of weight-loss interventions, males showed greater weight-loss than females.⁶⁵¹ This inconsistency regarding sex difference in weight control could be partially explained by differences in weight-loss interventions (diet alone, exercise alone, or diet + exercise), durations of programs, and baseline characteristics such as age, BMI status, and co-morbidities between males and females.⁶⁵³ Our study demonstrates that individualized, structured, goal-directed, motivational weight reduction and exercise programs are equally effective in reducing weight and improving cardiorespiratory fitness in males and females with AF.

Atrial fibrillation is a progressive disease determined by continuous atrial remodeling resulting from various underlying risk factors. Without appropriate intervention, most patients progress from paroxysmal to persistent and then permanent AF over time. In the REVERSE-AF study, we demonstrated that aggressive weight-loss and risk factor modification may reverse the natural progression of AF. In the current analysis, we observed a trend towards higher rates of AF reversal from persistent AF to paroxysmal AF in males compared with females (p=0.079). This might be explained by differences in AF mechanisms or AF substrate between males and females. Tissue fibrosis plays a major role in the development and progression of AF. It has been shown that female sex is independently associated higher left atrial fibrosis burden in patients with AF.^{308, 627, 654} Furthermore, epicardial fat is associated with decreased left atrial voltage and left atrial transport function, and AF substrate remodeling.^{627, 655} Hence, the increase in epicardial fat resulting from post-menopausal hormonal changes⁶⁵⁵ could also explain the higher left atrial fibrosis burden and a lower tendency to reverse from persistent AF to paroxysmal AF in females with AF compared with males, as observed in our study. We could not perform multivariable regression analysis to account for potential confounders due to limited number of individuals in the subgroups and a high number of co-variates. It is possible that female sex is not truly associated with a lower reversal from persistent AF to paroxysmal AF, and that this apparent association is driven by the older age and more co-morbidities in females than in males.

In the LEGACY and the Cardiorespiratory Fitness (CARDIO-FIT) studies^{291, 645}, we demonstrated that long-term sustained weight-loss and cardiorespiratory fitness are associated with significant reduction of AF burden and maintenance of sinus rhythm. The current analysis shows that weight-loss and fitness gain have beneficial effects in males and females. Specifically, "ablation and drug free" AF freedom the overall freedom from AF did not differ in males and females. Several studies have shown sex differences in outcomes of catheter ablation. A meta-analysis of 19 observational studies (151,370 patients; 34% women) showed a 25% increased likelihood of atrial arrhythmias recurrence after catheter ablation in females compared with males.³⁴⁹ The reason for this difference in outcomes is not entirely clear. One potential reason is that females who undergo catheter ablation usually have higher CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and longer duration of AF, both of which have been shown to directly correlate

with a higher atrial arrhythmia recurrence after catheter ablation.⁶⁵⁶ Furthermore, during ablation, females have more non-pulmonary vein triggers than males.^{352, 656} The presence of non-pulmonary vein triggers, especially those that are unable to be mapped and cannot be ablated, is a risk factor for atrial arrhythmia recurrence.^{656, 657} Our study suggests that the reversal of the structural and electrical remodeling of the atria that forms the AF with aggressive weight-loss, physical exercise and control of other risk factors might be an important strategy to reduce the sex disparity in the outcomes of catheter ablation, as both males and females experienced benefit from our dedicated risk factor modification program. Moreover, early and aggressive weight and risk factor intervention could halt the progression of the AF disease and prevent the need for catheter ablation. Nevertheless, it is worth noting that improvement in fitness had a much greater benefit for total arrhythmia freedom for females than males. This reinforces the crucial role of fitness gain in females.

Our study has some limitations. First, the study was not designed and powered to detect sex differences in the study outcomes. Hence, the absence of statistical significance does not necessarily imply a lack of association but may rather signal an indeterminate result. Larger studies are needed to confirm our findings. Second, we did not perform prolonged continuous rhythm monitoring using implantable monitoring devices. With the higher prevalence of paroxysmal AF in females compared with males at baseline, AF burden assessment using 7-day Holter monitoring may have resulted in imprecise quantification of AF burden, especially in females. Third, changes in AF types between baseline and final follow-up could not be investigated with multivariable analysis due to limited numbers of individuals in each subgroup and a high number of co-variates.

8.5 Conclusion

Despite sex differences at baseline with regards to age, AF type, BMI, and cardiorespiratory fitness, the benefits of weight-loss and fitness gain were favorable for both males and females. However, improvement in fitness had a much greater benefit for total arrhythmia freedom for females, whereas there was a trend towards more common regression from persistent to paroxysmal AF in males. This study reinforces the need to address lifestyle risk factors to minimize arrhythmia recurrence and reduce symptom severity for all individuals.

8.6 Tables and figures

Table 1. Baseline characteristics

Table 2. Parameters changes between baseline and final follow-up

Table 3. Association between cardiorespiratory fitness gain, weight loss, and atrial fibrillation

 recurrence (multivariable analysis)

Figure 1. CONSORT diagram of participant selection

Figure 2. Weight and cardiorespiratory fitness changes in males and females

Figure 3. Changes in atrial fibrillation type

Figure 4. Total atrial fibrillation freedom in males and females according to weight-loss and fitness gain categories

Figure 5. Freedom from AF ablation and drugs in males and females according to weight loss and fitness gain categories

Figure 6. Graphical abstract

	Males	Females			
Variable	(n = 234)	(n = 121)	P value		
Age, years	62.5 (10.6)	65.5 (10.4)	0.013		
Anthropomorphic parameters					
• Weight, kg	104.7 (14.6)	91.4 (17.2)	< 0.001		
• BMI, kg/m^2	32.6 (4.1)	34.1 (5.4)	0.003		
• SBP, mm Hg	145.3 (17.0)	145.1 (18.4)	0.92		
Atrial fibrillation					
Paroxysmal	113 (48.3%)	82 (67.8%)	< 0.001		
Non-paroxysmal	121 (51.7%)	39 (32.2%)			
Cardiometabolic risks					
Hypertension	175 (75.1%)	99 (82.5%)	0.11		
Diabetes mellitus	63 (29.4%)	35 (31.0%)	0.69		
Glucose intolerance	26 (12.1%)	8 (7.1%)	0.17		
Hyperlipidemia	100 (43.5%)	56 (46.7%)	0.57		
Coronary artery disease	32 (13.7%)	12 (9.9%)	0.3		
Valvulopathy	14 (6.0%)	5 (4.1%)	0.46		
• AHI >30	32 (30.8%)	10 (20.4%)	0.18		
• Alcohol excess (>30 g/week)	104 (44.4%)	7 (5.8%)	< 0.001		
Current smoker	15 (6.4%)	4 (3.3%)	0.22		
• Ex-smoker	89 (38.0%)	30 (24.8%)	0.012		
Medication use					
• Median number of AAD (IQR)	1 (0, 1)	1 (0, 1)	0.34		
• Median number of anti-HTN drugs (IQR)	1 (0, 1)	1 (0, 1)	0.32		
• Patients on statins	100 (46.7%)	52 (46.4%)	0.96		
Lipid profile					
• LDL, mg/L	2.80 (0.93)	3.01 (1.01)	0.084		
• HDL, mg/L	1.16 (0.33)	1.28 (0.37)	0.005		
• Total cholesterol, mg/L	4.67 (1.07)	5.01 (1.05)	0.01		
• Triglycerides, mg/L	1.59 (0.73)	1.57 (0.61)	0.76		
Echocardiographic parameters					
• LAVI, mL/m^2	37.61 (7.62)	37.84 (6.65)	0.83		
• LV IVS, cm	1.28 (0.63)	1.10 (0.44)	0.009		
• LVEDD, cm	5.06 (0.86)	4.69 (0.75)	< 0.001		
• E/E' ratio	1.06 (0.16)	0.99(0.19)	< 0.001		
Atrial Fibrillation Severity Scale					
• Frequency (1-10)	6.96 (1.58)	7.10 (1.51)	0.47		
• Duration (1-10)	6.96 (1.92)	7.00 (1.51)	0.84		
• Severity (1-10)	6.81 (1.74)	7.22 (1.49)	0.041		
• Symptoms (0-35)	15.46 (7.44)	17.24 (6.66)	0.081		
Values are expressed as mean with standard deviati	on (SD), median	with interquarti	le range		
(IQR), or frequency with percentage (%)					

AAD: anti-arrhythmic drugs; AHI: apnea–hypopnea index; Anti-HPT drugs: antihypertensive drugs; BMI: body mass index; HDL: high-density lipoprotein; IQR: interquartile range; LAVI: left atrium volume indexed; LDL: low-density lipoprotein; LVEDD: left ventricular end-diastolic diameter; LV IVS: left ventricular interventricular septum; SBP: systolic blood pressure; TG: triglyceride.

	Males (n=234)		Fen	nales (n=121)			
	Baseline	Follow-up		Baseline	Follow-up		
Variable	Mean (SD) or median (IQR) or n (%)	Mean (SD) or median (IQR) or n (%)	P value	Mean (SD) or median (IQR) or n (%)	Mean (SD) or median (IQR) or n (%)	P value	P value for sex difference
Anthropomorphic parameters	· · · · ·	·`				<u>.</u>	
• Weight, kg	104.7 (14.6)	97.3 (15.7)	< 0.001	91.4 (17.2)	84.4 (17.2)	< 0.001	0.86
• BMI, kg/m^2	32.5 (4.2)	30.6 (4.6)	< 0.001	34.2 (5.5)	31.6 (5.7)	< 0.001	0.53
• SBP, mm Hg	145.3 (17.0)	133.6 (15.9)	< 0.001	145.1 (18.4)	134.8 (13.5)	< 0.001	0.55
Lifestyle factors							
• Cardiorespiratory fitness, MET	7.09 (1.72)	8.74 (2.42)	< 0.001	6.11 (1.98)	7.48 (2.51)	< 0.001	0.44
Alcohol excess	103 (44.40)	63 (27.16)	< 0.001	7 (5.83)	5 (4.17)	< 0.001	0.01
• Current smoker	15 (6.47)	7 (3.02)	< 0.001	4 (3.31)	1 (0.83)	< 0.001	0.76
• OSA	115 (54.50)	82 (38.86)	< 0.001	54 (49.09)	36 (32.73)	< 0.001	0.97
Treatment							
• Number of anti-HTN	1 (0,1)	0 (0, 1)	0.04	1 (0, 1)	0(0, 1)	0.03	0.54
Number of AAD	1 (0, 1)	0 (0, 1)	< 0.001	1 (0, 1)	0 (0, 1)	< 0.001	0.67
Patients on statins	100 (46.5)	109 (51.57)	< 0.001	52 (46.43)	60 (53.57)	< 0.001	0.808
Cardioversion (yes)	55 (35.48)	21 (13.55)	0.211	15 (20.83)	11 (15.28)	0.168	0.164
• Catheter ablation (yes)	-	106 (49.53)		-	59 (52.21)		0.64
• Number of ablations	-	1 (0, 1)		-	1 (0, 1)		0.86
Lipid profile							
• LDL, mg/L	2.82 (0.94)	2.53 (0.86)	0.001	3.06 (1.05)	2.40 (0.70)	< 0.001	0.020
• HDL, mg/L	1.14 (0.30)	1.22 (0.33)	0.03	1.29 (0.35)	1.60 (0.43)	< 0.001	0.001
• Triglycerides, mg/L	1.55 (0.74)	1.34 (0.78)	0.01	1.53 (0.61)	1.27 (0.66)	0.009	0.52
Echocardiographic parameters							
• LAVI, mL/m ²	37.66 (7.62)	34.85 (9.50)	< 0.001	37.84 (6.65)	33.63 (8.69)	< 0.001	0.98

Table 2. Parameters changes between baseline and final follow-up

• LV IVS, cm	1.28 (0.63)	1.08 (0.17)	< 0.001	1.10 (0.44)	1.02 (0.16)	0.09	0.08
• LVEDD, cm	5.06 (0.85)	4.90 (0.88)	0.001	4.69 (0.75)	4.54 (0.76)	0.01	0.95
• E/E' ratio	11.54 (3.94)	9.74 (4.49)	0.001	12.78 (4.67)	10.33 (4.21)	< 0.001	0.39
Atrial Fibrillation Severity Scale							
• Frequency (1-10)	6.96 (1.53)	3.54 (1.88)	< 0.001	7.17 (1.32)	4.03 (1.77)	< 0.001	0.21
• Duration (1-10)	6.92 (1.91)	4.68 (2.37)	< 0.001	6.98 (1.50)	5.01 (2.30)	< 0.001	0.63
• Severity (1-10)	6.81 (1.72)	4.17 (2.16)	< 0.001	7.24 (1.49)	4.35 (1.86)	< 0.001	0.49
• Symptoms (0-35)	16.24 (7.08)	9.40 (6.04)	< 0.001	17.4 (6.60)	11.3 (6.54)	< 0.001	0.37
Values are expressed as mean with stan	dard deviation (SI)) median with in	nterquartil	e range (IOR) or	frequency with n	ercentage	(%)

Values are expressed as mean with standard deviation (SD), median with interquartile range (IQR), or frequency with percentage (%) AAD: anti-arrhythmic drugs; anti-HTN: antihypertensive medications; BMI: body mass index; Excess alcohol: consumption >30 g/week; HDL: high-density lipoprotein; LAVI: left atrium volume indexed; LDL: low-density lipoprotein; LVEDD: left ventricular end-diastolic diameter; LV IVS: left ventricular interventricular septum; MET: metabolic equivalent; OSA: obstructive sleep apnea; SBP: systolic blood pressure; TG: triglyceride.

	Overall		Females		Males		
	HR (95% CI)	P value	HR (95% CI)	P value	HR (95% CI)	P value	P value for sex difference
Total AF freedom*							
Fitness gain (per 1 MET)	0.83 (0.76-0.91)	< 0.001	0.69 (0.59-0.81)	< 0.001	0.88 (0.78-0.98)	0.02	0.019
Fitness gain (≥2 MET vs <2MET)	0.44 (0.29-0.67)	< 0.001	0.13 (0.05-0.30)	< 0.001	0.63 (0.38-1.04)	0.07	0.002
Weight loss (per 1 kg)	0.96 (0.94-0.98)	< 0.001	0.97 (0.94-1.01)	0.09	0.95 (0.92-0.97)	< 0.001	0.278
Weight loss ($\geq 10\%$ kg vs $< 10\%$ kg)	0.45 (0.29-0.69)	< 0.001	0.41 (0.20-0.83)	0.01	0.41 (0.23-0.73)	0.002	0.980
"Ablation and drug free" AF freedom **							
Fitness gain (per 1 MET)	0.93 (0.84-1.03)	0.19	1.05 (0.88-1.25)	0.01	0.88 (0.76-1.02)	0.09	0.132
Fitness gain (≥2 MET vs <2MET)	0.72 (0.49-1.06)	0.09	1.36 (0.65-2.86)	0.41	0.57 (0.35-0.93)	0.02	0.056
Weight loss (per 1 kg)	0.95 (0.93-0.97)	< 0.001	0.94 (0.89-0.98)	0.008	0.95 (0.93-0.98)	0.001	0.506
Weight loss (≥10% kg vs <10% kg)	0.39 (0.25-0.60)	< 0.001	0.30 (0.14-0.67)	0.003	0.45 (0.26-0.76)	0.003	0.449

 Table 3. Association between cardiorespiratory fitness gain, weight loss, and atrial fibrillation recurrence (multivariable analysis)

Atrial fibrillation; MET: metabolic equivalents; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval; HR: hazard ratio

Variables with p<0.1 in univariable analyses were included in the multivariable cox regression models.

* Adjusted for: hypertension, diabetes mellitus, tobacco use, baseline left ventricular interventricular septum

** Adjusted for: hypertension, obstructive sleep apnea, tobacco use, number of antiarrhythmic drugs, baseline left ventricular interventricular septum, and E/E' ratio

Figure 1. CONSORT diagram of participant selection





Figure 2. Weight and cardiorespiratory fitness changes in males and females

Figure 3. Changes in atrial fibrillation type





Figure 4. Total atrial fibrillation freedom in males and females according to weight loss and fitness gain categories



Figure 5. Freedom from AF ablation and drugs in males and females according to weight loss and fitness gain categories

Figure 6. Graphical abstract



8.7 Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Association between cardiorespiratory fitness gain, weight loss, and atrial fibrillation recurrence (univariable analysis)

	Overall		Females		Males	
	HR (95% CI)	P value	HR (95% CI)	P value	HR (95% CI)	P value
Total AF freedom*						
Fitness gain (per 1 MET)	0.85 (0.78-0.92)	< 0.001	0.80 (0.70-0.92)	0.002	0.88 (0.79-0.98)	0.02
Fitness gain (≥2 MET vs <2MET)	0.45 (0.30-0.67)	< 0.001	0.24 (0.11-0.54)	0.001	0.60 (0.37-0.98)	0.04
Weight loss (per 1 kg)	0.96 (0.94-0.97)	< 0.001	0.97 (0.94-1.04)	0.232	0.95 (0.92-0.97)	< 0.001
Weight loss ($\geq 10\%$ kg vs $< 10\%$ kg)	0.44 (0.29-0.67)	< 0.001	0.48 (0.25-0.95)	0.036	0.40 (0.23-0.70)	0.001
"Ablation and drug free" AF freedom **						
Fitness gain (per 1 MET)	0.96 (0.90-1.02)	0.19	0.95 (0.86-1.05)	0.315	0.96 (0.88-1.05)	0.35
Fitness gain (≥2 MET vs <2MET)	0.81 (0.62-1.05)	0.115	0.79 (0.51-1.22)	0.284	0.82 (0.59-1.13)	0.233
Weight loss (per 1 kg)	0.97 (0.96-0.98)	< 0.001	0.98 (0.96-1.01)	0.159	0.96 (0.95-0.98)	< 0.001
Weight loss ($\geq 10\%$ kg vs $< 10\%$ kg)	0.58 (0.42-0.74)	< 0.001	0.52 (0.33-0.82)	0.005	0.58 (0.41-0.83)	0.003
AF: atrial fibrillation; MET: metabolic equivalents; LCL: 95% lower confidence limit; HR: hazard ratio; UCL: 95% upper						
confidence limit						



Supplementary Figure 1. Outcomes of AF freedom in males and females

CHAPTER 9:

Sex differences in clinical profile, management, and

outcomes of patients hospitalized for atrial fibrillation in

the United States

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Sex differences in clinical profile, management, and outcomes of patients hospitalized for atrial fibrillation in the United States
Publication Status	 Published Accepted for publication Submitted for publication Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Noubiap JJ, Thomas G, Agbaedeng TA, Fitzgerald JL, Gallagher C, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Sex differences in clinical profile, management, and outcomes of patients hospitalized for atrial fibrillation in the United States. <u>Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes</u> . 2021 Dec 21:qcab096. doi: 10.1093/ehjqcco/qcab096.

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	ean Jacques Noubiap Nzeale				
Contribution to the Paper	Conception and design, access to data, data analysis, data interpretation, nanuscript drafting, manuscript revision				
Overall percentage (%)	60%				
Certification	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.				
Signature		Date	3/12/2022		

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Gijo Thomas		
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript revision (10%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Thomas A. Agbaedeng			
Contribution to the Paper	Access to data, data interpretation, manuscript revision (10%)			
Signature		Date	3/12/2022	

Name of Co-Author	John L. Fitzgerald		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/13/2022

Name of Co-Author	Celine Gallagher			
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)			
Signature		Date	3/14/2022	

Name of Co-Author	Melissa E. Middeldorp		
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)		
Signature		Date	3/22/2022

V

Name of Co-Author	Prashanthan Sanders	
Contribution to the Paper	Manuscript revision (5%)	
Signature		Date 3/14/2022

9.1 Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common sustained arrhythmia, affecting more than 38 million individuals (0.51% of global population)¹. The occurrence of AF is driven mainly by aging, and cardiometabolic risk factors such as obesity, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obstructive sleep apnea⁵⁵. AF substantially increases the risk of stroke, systemic embolism, heart failure, and death ^{70, 167}. Some studies have shown sex differences in the incidence of AF and related adverse outcomes. For instance, AF is about 1.5 to 2 times more frequent in middle-aged and older men compared with women of the same age group ^{3, 303, 643}. Furthermore, AF has been shown to be a stronger risk factor for stroke, cardiovascular mortality, and all-cause mortality in women compared with men ³²⁹. Hence, female sex is a component in several cardioembolic risk scores for patients with non-valvular AF including the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score ²⁶⁴. However, some studies, especially in Asian populations, have shown a similar risk of stroke in women and men with AF ⁶⁵⁸. Moreover, results from the BiomarCaRE Consortium (Biomarker for Cardiovascular Risk Assessment in Europe) that includes four community-based European studies (FINRISK, DanMONICA, Molisani, Northern Sweden), confirmed the increased risk of AF in men, and showed that this sex difference in the risk of AF was partially explained by factors such as body mass index and total cholesterol ³⁰³. However, there was no significant sex difference in mortality associated with incident AF 303.

These conflicting data highlight the need for more studies to explore sex differences in various aspects of the epidemiology of AF and unravel the potential underlying mechanisms. The current study aimed to investigate the impact of sex on the clinical profile, utilization of rhythm control therapies, in-hospital mortality, length of stay (LOS), and cost of hospitalization in patients admitted for AF in the United States. We hypothesized that there are sex differences in outcomes of hospital admissions for AF.

9.2 Methods

9.2.1 Study design and data source

We conducted a cohort-based observational study using data from the Nationwide Inpatient Sample (NIS) for the year 2018. The NIS is the largest publicly available inpatient healthcare dataset in the United States. It is part of the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) developed by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) ⁶⁵⁹. The NIS records approximately 35 million weighted hospitalizations per year, which represents a 20% stratified systemic sample of all discharges from urban and rural US community hospitals from the 46 participating states, with the exclusion of rehabilitation centers and long-term care facilities ⁶⁵⁹. It is representative of more than 97% of the US population ⁶⁵⁹.

9.2.2 Study population and diagnosis ascertainment

Diagnoses and procedures were identified through the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10) codes. The list of codes used in the study is presented in the appendix (**Supplementary Table 1**). We included all patients aged 18 years or more, admitted with a primary diagnosis of AF. We excluded patients with known AF but not admitted specially for AF (AF listed as secondary diagnoses), and patients admitted for a primary diagnosis of atrial flutter. Because the ICD-10 codes for ablation are not specific to catheter ablation and may represent atrioventricular nodal ablation and pacemaker implantation, we excluded patients with ICD-10 codes of ablation and pacemaker

9.2.3 Study variables and outcomes

We gathered information on patients' demographics including age, sex, race, admission type, median household income, primary expected payer and comorbidities. Comorbidities of interest included hypertension, diabetes mellitus, obesity, dyslipidemia, heart failure [including the categories heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) and heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) whenever available], vascular disease, obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), chronic kidney disease (CKD), and previous stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA). We also retrieved data on tobacco smoking and alcohol abuse. The CHA₂DS₂-VASc score was calculated for each patient (**Supplementary Table 2**). The primary outcome of interest was in-hospital mortality. Secondary outcomes included the use of rhythm control therapies (electrical cardioversion and ablation), LOS, and cost of hospitalization.

9.2.4 Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were expressed as frequencies and percentages (excluding missing data) while continuous variables were expressed as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with interquartile range (IQR) as appropriate. We assessed differences between men and women using the Student's t-test for continuous variables and the Pearson Chi square test for categorical variables. For the primary outcome, in-hospital mortality, we performed univariable and multivariable logistic regression analysis in the entire population. To assess any difference in factors associated with in-hospital mortality, we also performed univariable and multivariable regression analysis in men and women separately. In multivariable regression analysis, we reported a full model adjusted for age, sex (for the analysis on the entire population), race, median household income, co-morbidities, tobacco smoking and alcohol abuse, and rhythm control procedures (catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion).

Similar logistic regression analyses were performed for the secondary outcomes including LOS (> median), cost of hospitalization (> median), and use of catheter ablation and electrical cardioversion. For these analyses on secondary outcomes, we only reported measures of association for sex (male versus female). Associations between outcomes and explanatory variables were presented as odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence interval (95% CI). A p-value of ≤ 0.05 was considered significant. All analyses were performed using Stata 15 statistical package (Statacorp, College Station, TX).

9.2.5 Ethical considerations

This study used de-identified patient information from the NIS. Therefore, ethical approval was not required.

9.3 Results

9.3.1 Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics

We included 82592 patients aged 18 years or more admitted with a primary diagnosis of AF during the year 2018 of the NIS database. Women represented 50.8% (n = 41971) of the cohort. Women were significantly older than men (mean age 74 (SD 12) years vs 67 (SD 13) years, p < 0.001, had lower household income (p = 0.033), and were more likely to have Medicare insurance (p < 0.001) (**Table 1**).

There were sex differences in the prevalence of most risk factors (**Table 2**). Tobacco smoking and alcohol abuse were more frequent in men (both p < 0.001). Hypertension and heart failure were more common in women (both p < 0.001), whereas diabetes mellitus, obesity, vascular disease, OSA (all p < 0.001), and CKD (p = 0.007) were more frequent in men. Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction was more common in women (p < 0.001), with no difference for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (p = 0.290). There was no

difference with respect to COPD (p = 0.960) and history of stroke or TIA (p = 0.670). Overall, women had a higher CHA₂DS₂-VASc score (median 4 [IQR 3,5] vs 2 (IQR 1,4), p <0.001). Furthermore, women had more paroxysmal AF than men (p <0.001).

9.3.2 In-hospital mortality

Women had a trend towards higher in-hospital mortality (0.9% vs 0.8%, p = 0.070) (**Table 3**). In multivariable regression analysis female sex was not associated with an increased risk of in-hospital mortality (adjusted OR [aOR] 1.11, 95% CI 0.95-1.30). (Table 4). In sex-specific univariable logistic regression analysis, in-hospital mortality was influenced by age, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, OSA, COPD, previous stroke or TIA, heart failure, vascular disease, chronic kidney disease, and use of electrical cardioversion and catheter ablation in both men and women (Table 5). In multivariable regression analysis, regarding women, increased age (adjusted OR [aOR] 1.05, 95% CI 1.04-1.07; per one year increase), COPD (aOR 1.44, 95% CI 1.13-1.85), previous stroke or TIA (aOR 5.17, 95% CI 3.52-7.61), heart failure (aOR 2.04, 95% CI 1.53-2.71), vascular disease (aOR 1.42, 95% CI 1.15-1.77), CKD (2.11, 95% CI 1.65-2.70), and chronic AF (aOR 1.50, 95% CI 1.07-2.11) were associated with risk of in-hospital mortality, whereas dyslipidemia (aOR 0.70, 95% CI 0.56-0.86) and OSA (aOR 0.47, 95% CI 0.27-0.80) were associated with a lower risk (Table 6). Specifically in men, the likelihood of in-hospital mortality was increased by increased age (adjusted OR [aOR] 1.05, 95% CI 1.04-1.06; per one year increase), Black race (aOR 2.19, 95% CI 1.53, 3.16) and Asian or Pacific Islander ethnicity (aOR 3.37, 95% CI 1.89-6.00), alcohol abuse (aOR 1.57, 95% CI 1.03-2.38), COPD (aOR 1.64, 95% CI 1.26-2.12), previous stroke or TIA (aOR 3.57, 95% CI 2.19-5.84), heart failure (aOR 2.16, 95% CI 1.61-2.90), CKD (aOR 2.15, 95% CI 1.63-2.83) and was decreased by dyslipidemia (aOR 0.59, 95% CI 0.46-0.75) (Table 6).

9.3.3 Utilization of rhythm control therapies

Women were less likely to receive catheter ablation (3.7% vs 5.2%, p < 0.001) and electrical cardioversion (16.0% vs 21.4%, p < 0.001) (**Table 3**). After adjusting for potential confounders, female sex was associated with lower likelihood of receiving catheter ablation (aOR 0.69, 95% CI 0.64-0.74) and electrical cardioversion (aOR 0.69, 95% CI 0.67-0.72) (**Table 4**).

9.3.4 Length of stay and costs

Women had longer duration of hospitalization (3 [IQR 2,4] days vs 2 [IQR 1,4] days, p <0.001) but lower cost of hospitalization (25036 [IQR 14442, 47034] vs 25839 [IQR 14675, 52877] US dollars, p <0.001) compared with men (**Table 3**). After adjusting for confounders, female sex was associated with a longer length of stay (aOR 1.33, 95% CI 1.28-1.37), whereas sex had no influence of hospitalization costs (p = 0.339) (**Table 4**).

9.4 Discussion

In this study we investigated sex differences in the clinical profile, utilization of rhythm control therapies, in-hospital mortality, LOS, and cost of hospitalization among patients admitted for AF in the United States. We observed significant disparities in risk factors between men and women. Women were older and with significantly higher CHA₂DS₂-VASc score. Although women had a trend towards higher crude mortality rate, after adjusting for confounders, female sex was not associated with increased in-hospital mortality. Both sexes shared numerous risk factors for in-hospital mortality including increased age, COPD, previous stroke, heart failure, and CKD (**Figure 1**). However, some factors were sex-specific, such as vascular disease in women, race and alcohol abuse in men. Dyslipidemia was

associated with a lower risk of in-hospital mortality in both sexes, whereas OSA was associated with a lower risk only in women. Women were significantly less likely to receive catheter ablation and electrical cardioversion, and had a longer hospital stay.

The higher CHA₂DS₂-VASc score in women likely stems from the inclusion of female sex in this score, the older age of women (especially the proportion of those aged \geq 75 years) and their higher prevalence of risk factors such as hypertension and heart failure. One of the most striking differences between women and men is age. The mean age on admission was 74 years in women and 67 years in men. Similar age distribution between women and men was reported in other studies in people with AF including the Global Anticoagulant Registry in the FIELD-Atrial Fibrillation (GARFIELD-AF) registry (72 vs 68 years)³¹⁷, the Outcomes Registry for Better Informed Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation (ORBIT-AF) registry (77 vs 73 years) ³¹⁹, and the Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation (70 vs 64 years) ³²⁰, the Monitoring and Observing the Value of Exercise (MOVE) study (67 vs 71 years) ³²¹, and the RAte Control versus Electrical cardioversion for persistent atrial fibrillation (RACE) study (67 vs 71 years) ³¹⁸. Furthermore, the differences in co-morbidities burden between men and women in our study were similar to what was reported in various studies ³¹⁷⁻³²¹.

In our study, women had a 27% reduced likelihood to have catheter ablation for AF. Several studies have also shown a lower utilization of rhythm control procedures for AF in women ³⁴⁸⁻³⁵⁰. In most studies, women represented about only a third of patients who underwent catheter ablation ³⁴⁸⁻³⁵⁰. However, these studies have shown conflicting results on whether women are less likely to undergo catheter ablation when accounting for potential confounders. For instance, in the ORBIT-AF registry, despite having more symptoms, more functional impairment, and worse quality of life, women had lower crude rates of catheter ablation ³¹⁹. Nevertheless, after risk adjustment similar rates of AF ablation were observed between women and men ³¹⁹. An analysis of Quebec administrative databases showed that the

annual proportion of women who had received AF ablation between 2003 and 2021 had not surpassed 30%, and that men had a 54% higher likelihood of undergoing ablation than did women ³⁴⁸. Consistent with our findings, lower rates of electrical cardioversion in women compared with men have been reported in several studies ^{319, 320, 350}.

We observed a trend toward a higher crude in-hospital mortality rate in women. However, after risk adjustment female sex did not emerge as a predictor of in-hospital mortality in this large cohort of patients with AF. This suggests that the relatively higher mortality rate in women was due to their higher comorbidity burden and older age. Our sexspecific regression analyses showed similarities and disparities in risk factors for mortality in men and women. This highlights the importance of disaggregating data to better explore predictors of outcomes in specific groups, and that prediction of outcomes using sex-specific risk stratification tools might be more efficient than tools that do not differentiate women from men. A notable finding is the association of dyslipidemia with lower risk of in-hospital mortality in both sexes. This might be due to the benefit of statin therapy in patients with AF. A meta-analysis showed 41 % and 25 % reduction in all-cause and cardiovascular mortality, respectively, in patients with AF ⁶⁶⁰. Furthermore, the absence of a significant impact of catheter ablation on in-hospital mortality might be due to the fact that its survival benefit is apparent in the long-term ⁶⁶¹. Another striking finding is the substantially higher risk of inhospital mortality associated with Black and Asian or Pacific Islander races in men, whereas there was no effect of race of in-hospital mortality in females. It is well-established that Black populations in the US have significantly higher risk of all-cause mortality compared to White populations,⁶⁶² due to a worse risk profile and lower access to healthcare in Black people.⁶⁶³ However, the sex disparity in the impact of race on in-hospital mortality in patients hospitalized for AF deserves further investigation.

We found that women had a longer hospital stay. This might be due to more common frailty in women due to their higher comorbidity burden and older age. Frailty is a well-known predictor of long hospital stay ⁶⁶⁴. The cost of hospitalization was higher in men compared with women. However, after adjusting for potential confounders, the difference was no longer significant, suggesting that the sex-disparity in cost of hospitalization might be due to procedures such as catheter ablation that were more commonly performed in men.

Our findings have some clinical implications. Women have a more conservative treatment, with significantly less rhythm control than men. The criteria underpinning the decision to perform catheter ablation for AF in many centers might preclude women from having appropriate therapy. In fact, patients undergoing catheter ablation tend to be younger and have fewer baseline comorbidities ³⁴⁸; hence, women who are usually older and with higher comorbidities might be less frequently offered catheter ablation. Catheter ablation should be considered more often in women, especially in view of their higher symptom burden and functional impairment, and worse quality of life than men ^{319, 320}. Furthermore, the disparities in the risk profile and predictors of outcomes between men and women highlight the need for more consideration of sex specificities in the risk stratification and management of patients with AF.

Our study has some limitations. First, because this study was retrospective and was based on an administrative database using diagnosis codes, there is a potential of selection bias and ascertainment bias from coding errors and disease misclassification. Second, it was not possible to obtain some information including whether AF was non-valvular or valvular, the duration of AF or when AF was diagnosed, key drug therapies for AF such as anticoagulant, rate and rhythm control medications. These factors are known to impact outcomes in patients with AF, and could have influenced our estimates. Third, this study only examined in-hospital outcomes; therefore, it could not capture the full extent of the impact of sex on AF outcomes, especially long-term outcomes. Finally, although we performed multivariable analysis to assess factors independently associated with in-hospital mortality, hidden confounders may not have all been accounted for.

9.5 Conclusion

There were differences in the risk profile, management, and outcomes between men and women hospitalized for AF. Women were older, with a higher comorbidity burden, and were less likely to undergo catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion. Although women had a relatively higher mortality rate, after risk adjustment, female sex was not a predictor of mortality. There were similarities and disparities in risk factors for mortality between men and women. Finally, women also had significantly longer hospital stay. Sex specificities need more consideration in research in the AF population.

9.6 Tables and figures

 Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the study population

Table 2. Clinical profile of the study population

 Table 3. Management and outcomes

Table 4. Outcomes of atrial fibrillation hospitalization among women compared with men

Table 5. Factors associated with in-hospital mortality among women and men in univariable
 logistic regression analysis

Table 6. Factors associated with in-hospital mortality among women and men in

 multivariable logistic regression analysis

Figure 1. Graphical abstract

Variables	Women	Men	P value
	(N = 41971)	(N = 40621)	
Age at admission (years)*	74 (12)	67 (13)	< 0.001
• <45	689 (1.6%)	2122 (5.2%)	
• 45-64	7127 (17.0%)	13727 (33.8%)	
• 65-74	11280 (26.9%)	12004 (29.6%)	< 0.001
• >=75	22875 (54.5%)	12768 (31.4%)	
Race			
• White	33557 (81.6%)	32536 (81.9%)	
Black	3316 (8.1%)	2984 (7.5%)	
Hispanic	2599 (6.3%)	2579 (6.5%)	
Asian or Pacific Islander	674 (1.6%)	598 (1.5%)	0.002
Native American	141 (0.3%)	170 (0.4%)	
• Other	813 (2.0%)	872 (2.2%)	
Household income (national			
quartile)			
• Quartile 1	11172 (27.0%)	10442 (26.2%)	
• Quartile 2	11514 (27.8%)	11138 (27.9%)	
• Quartile 3	10385 (25.1%)	10039 (25.2%)	0.033
• Quartile 4	8320 (20.1%)	8257 (20.7%)	
Primary expected payer (uniform)			
Medicare	33177 (79.1%)	24299 (59.9%)	
Medicaid	1895 (4.5%)	3076 (7.6%)	
Private insurance	5869 (14.0%)	10547 (26.0%)	
• Self-pay	603 (1.4%)	1378 (3.4%)	< 0.001
No charge	62 (0.1%)	121 (0.3%)	
• Other	332 (0.8%)	1146 (2.8%)	
Census Division of hospital			
New England	2206 (5.3%)	2060 (5.1%)	
Middle Atlantic	5774 (13.8%)	5735 (14.1%)	
East North Central	7320 (17.4%)	6866 (16.9%)	

 Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the study population

West North Central	2957 (7.0%)	2868 (7.1%)	
• South Atlantic	9758 (23.2%)	9429 (23.2%)	0.046
East South Central	3030 (7.2%)	2791 (6.9%)	
West South Central	4550 (10.8%)	4450 (11.0%)	
Mountain	2268 (5.4%)	2281 (5.6%)	
Pacific	4108 (9.8%)	4141 (10.2%)	

*Expressed as mean (standard deviation)
Variables	Women	Men	P value
	(N = 41971)	(N = 40621)	
Tobacco smoking	3185 (7.6%)	5830 (14.4%)	< 0.001
Alcohol abuse	682 (1.6%)	3543 (8.7%)	< 0.001
Hypertension	18577 (44.3%)	17064 (42.0%)	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus	11627 (27.7%)	12089 (29.8%)	< 0.001
Obesity	9077 (21.6%)	9441 (23.2%)	< 0.001
Dyslipidemia	21598 (51.5%)	21227 (52.3%)	0.022
Chronic kidney disease	7627 (18.2%)	7676 (18.9%)	0.007
COPD	7548 (18.0%)	7300 (18.0%)	0.960
Obstructive sleep apnea	4505 (10.7%)	7467 (18.4%)	< 0.001
Previous stroke or TIA	685 (1.6%)	648 (1.6%)	0.67
Vascular disease	15099 (36.0%)	18394 (45.3%)	< 0.001
Heart failure	17283 (41.2%)	16079 (39.6%)	< 0.001
HFrEF	5542 (13.2%)	5466 (13.5%)	0.290
HFpEF	5785 (13.8%)	5114 (12.6%)	< 0.001
Atrial fibrillation type			
Paroxysmal	18112 (43.2%)	15673 (38.6%)	
• Persistent	5185 (12.4%)	6599 (16.2%)	
Chronic	4025 (9.6%)	3978 (9.8%)	< 0.001
• Unspecified	14649 (34.9%)	14371 (35.4%)	
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score*	4 (3, 5)	2 (1, 4)	< 0.001

Table 2. Clinical profile of the study population

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; HFpEF: heart failure with preserved ejection fraction; HFrEF: heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; TIA: transient ischemic attack

*Expressed as median (interquartile range)

Table 3. Management and outcomes

Variables	Women	Men	Р
	(N = 41971)	(N = 40621)	value
Catheter ablation	1556 (3.7%)	2093 (5.2%)	< 0.001
Electrical cardioversion	6731 (16.0%)	8712 (21.4%)	< 0.001
Length of stay, median (IQR)	3 (2, 4)	2 (1, 4)	< 0.001
Cost (US dollar), median (IQR)	25036 (14442, 47034)	25839 (14675, 52877)	< 0.001
Died during hospitalization	376 (0.9%)	317 (0.8%)	0.070

IQR: interquartile range

Outcomes	Unadjusted				Adju	sted		
	OR	LCL	UCL	P value	OR	LCL	UCL	P value
Mortality	1.15	0.99	1.33	0.070	1.11	0.95	1.30	0.199
$LOS \ge median$	1.24	1.20	1.27	< 0.001	1.33	1.28	1.37	< 0.001
Cost ≥ Median	0.94	0.92	0.97	< 0.001	1.01	0.98	1.04	0.339
Catheter ablation	0.71	0.66	0.76	< 0.001	0.69	0.64	0.74	< 0.001
Electrical cardioversion	0.70	0.68	0.72	< 0.001	0.69	0.67	0.72	< 0.001

Table 4. Outcomes of atrial fibrillation hospitalization among women compared with men

LCL: 95% lower confidence limit; LOS: length of stay; OR: odds ratio; UCL: 95% upper confidence limit

Outcome variables adjusted for: age, sex, race, income, tobacco smoking, alcohol abuse, obesity, diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, OSA, COPD, heart failure, vascular disease, CKD, catheter ablation, and electrical cardioversion

Variables		Female			Male			
	OR	LCL	UCL	P value	OR	LCL	UCL	P value
Age	1.07	1.05	1.08	< 0.001	1.05	1.04	1.07	< 0.001
Race								
• White (reference)	1.00							
Black	0.78	0.52	1.19	0.253	1.97	1.40	2.76	< 0.001
Hispanic	0.79	0.50	1.26	0.327	1.07	0.67	1.72	0.763
Asian or Pacific Islander	0.48	0.15	1.50	0.208	3.22	1.83	5.67	< 0.001
Native American	2.34	0.74	7.38	0.147	3.49	1.28	9.49	0.014
• Other	1.07	0.53	2.16	0.853	0.84	0.34	2.03	0.691
Household income								
Quartile 1	1.03	0.76	1.40	0.827	1.44	1.02	2.04	0.038
Quartile 2	1.10	0.81	1.48	0.552	1.43	1.01	2.01	0.042
• Quartile 3	1.05	0.77	1.42	0.773	1.28	0.90	1.83	0.168
• Quartile 4 (reference)	1.00							
Tobacco smoking	0.90	0.61	1.35	0.621	0.89	0.64	1.23	0.469
Alcohol abuse	1.15	0.54	2.44	0.716	1.02	0.69	1.50	0.940
Obesity	0.54	0.40	0.73	< 0.001	0.57	0.42	0.78	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus	1.05	0.84	1.32	0.656	1.12	0.88	1.42	0.345
Hypertension	2.46	1.98	3.05	< 0.001	2.05	1.64	2.57	< 0.001
Dyslipidemia	0.80	0.65	0.98	0.034	0.68	0.54	0.84	0.001
Obstructive sleep apnea	0.34	0.20	0.58	< 0.001	0.58	0.41	0.82	0.002
COPD	1.66	1.32	2.09	< 0.001	2.06	1.62	2.61	< 0.001
Previous stroke or TIA	5.62	3.86	8.19	< 0.001	3.79	2.34	6.14	< 0.001
Heart failure	2.60	2.11	3.22	< 0.001	2.39	1.91	3.00	< 0.001
Vascular disease	1.77	1.44	2.17	< 0.001	1.37	1.09	1.70	0.006
Chronic kidney disease	2.73	2.21	3.37	< 0.001	2.90	2.31	3.64	< 0.001
Atrial fibrillation type								

Table 5. Factors associated with in-hospital mortality among women and men in univariable logistic regression analysis

Paroxysmal (reference)	1.00				1.00			
• Persistent	1.17	0.81	1.69	0.407	1.00	0.70	1.44	0.984
Chronic	2.43	1.74	3.41	< 0.001	1.57	1.05	2.33	0.027
Unspecified	1.99	1.57	2.51	< 0.001	1.56	1.21	2.02	0.001
Catheter ablation	0.42	0.19	0.94	0.035	0.54	0.28	1.04	0.065
Electrical cardioversion	0.67	0.49	0.93	0.015	0.62	0.45	0.85	0.003

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; Household income categorized in national quartiles; LCL: 95% lower confidence limit; OR: odds ratio; UCL: 95% upper confidence limit; TIA: transient ischemic attack

Variables		Female				Μ	lale	
	OR	LCL	UCL	P value	OR	LCL	UCL	P value
Age	1.05	1.04	1.07	< 0.001	1.05	1.04	1.06	< 0.001
Race								
• White (reference)	1.00							
Black	0.84	0.55	1.30	0.441	2.19	1.53	3.16	< 0.001
Hispanic	0.86	0.53	1.37	0.518	1.22	0.76	1.97	0.408
Asian or Pacific Islander	0.53	0.17	1.66	0.276	3.37	1.89	6.00	< 0.001
Native American	2.58	0.80	8.37	0.113	2.94	0.91	9.48	0.071
• Other	1.07	0.53	2.20	0.844	0.93	0.38	2.28	0.879
Household income								
• Quartile 1	0.97	0.71	1.33	0.869	1.22	0.85	1.76	0.287
Quartile 2	1.05	0.78	1.42	0.746	1.33	0.94	1.90	0.111
• Quartile 3	0.98	0.71	1.33	0.886	1.21	0.84	1.74	0.313
Quartile 4 (reference)	1.00							
Tobacco smoking	1.12	0.72	1.75	0.602	1.01	0.70	1.47	0.947
Alcohol abuse	1.56	0.72	3.39	0.262	1.57	1.03	2.38	0.036
Obesity	0.92	0.67	1.28	0.638	0.89	0.63	1.26	0.518
Diabetes mellitus	1.04	0.82	1.33	0.745	0.98	0.76	1.27	0.908
Hypertension	0.96	0.70	1.32	0.822	0.77	0.56	1.07	0.121
Dyslipidemia	0.70	0.56	0.86	0.001	0.59	0.46	0.75	< 0.001
Obstructive sleep apnea	0.47	0.27	0.80	0.005	0.83	0.57	1.19	0.307
COPD	1.44	1.13	1.85	0.003	1.64	1.26	2.12	< 0.001
Previous stroke or TIA	5.17	3.52	7.61	< 0.001	3.57	2.19	5.84	< 0.001
Heart failure	2.04	1.53	2.71	< 0.001	2.16	1.61	2.90	< 0.001
Vascular disease	1.42	1.15	1.77	0.001	1.01	0.79	1.29	0.939
Chronic kidney disease	2.11	1.65	2.70	< 0.001	2.15	1.63	2.83	< 0.001
Atrial fibrillation type								

 Table 6. Factors associated with in-hospital mortality among women and men in multivariable logistic regression analysis

Paroxysmal (reference)	1.00				1.00			
• Persistent	1.28	0.87	1.87	0.210	1.06	0.71	1.57	0.787
Chronic	1.50	1.07	2.11	0.02	1.21	0.83	1.76	0.312
• Unspecified	1.85	1.45	2.37	< 0.001	1.41	1.07	1.85	0.014
Catheter ablation	0.56	0.25	1.27	0.165	0.71	0.36	1.41	0.267
Electrical cardioversion	0.88	0.63	1.24	0.475	0.83	0.59	1.16	0.267

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; Household income categorized in national quartiles; LCL: 95% lower confidence limit; OR: odds ratio; UCL: 95% upper confidence limit; TIA: transient ischemic attack

Graphical abstract



9.7 Appendix

Diagnoses	ICD-10
Heart Failure	I11.0, I13.0, I13.2, I09.81, I09.9, I25.5,
	I42.0, I425-I42.9, I43.x, I50.x
Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction	150.3
Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction	150.2, 150.4
Atrial fibrillation*	I48.0, I48.1, I48.11, I48.19, I48.2, I48.20,
	I48.21, I48.91
Atrial flutter*	I48.3, I48.4, I48.92
Vascular Disease (peripheral vascular disease,	I20.x-I25.x, I70.x-I71.x, I73.1-I73.9,
coronary artery disease/ischemic heart disease,	I77.1, I79.0, K55.1, K55.8-9, Z951,
carotid artery disease, or atherosclerotic aortic	Z95.8-9
disease)	
Diabetes mellitus	E10.x-E13.x
Hypertension	I10.x-I15.x, I67.4
Stroke, Transient Ischemic	I63.x, I69.3, I69.9, I74.x, I97.8, G45.x,
Attack (TIA) or Systemic Thromboembolism	G46.x, H34.0-H34.2, H34.9
History of stroke	Z86.7
Obstructive sleep apnea	G47.33
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	J44.x
Chronic kidney disease and end stage renal disease	N18.x
Obesity	E66.1, E66.01, E66.2, E66.8, E66.9,
	Z68.30, Z68.31, Z68.32, Z68.33, Z68.34,
	Z68.35, Z68.36, Z68.37, Z68.38, Z68.39,
	Z68.40, Z68.41,
	Z68.42, Z68.43, Z68.44, Z68.45
Dyslipidemia	E78.x
Tobacco smoking	Z72.0, F17.210, F17.200
Alcohol abuse	F10.x
Catheter ablation	02583ZZ, 02563ZZ, 02553ZZ, 02573ZZ,
	025T3ZZ, 025S3ZZ
Electrical cardioversion	5A2204Z
Pacemaker implantation	Z95.0

Supplementary Table 1. List of ICD-10 codes used for the study

Condition	Score
Sex Category	1
(female)	
Age 65-74 years	1
Age ≥75 years	2
Stroke, transient	2
ischemic attack, or	
systemic	
thromboembolism	
Vascular disease	1
Congestive Heart	1
Failure	
Hypertension	1
Diabetes mellitus	1
Maximum Score	9

Supplementary Table 2. CHA2DS2VASc Comorbidity Point Values

CHAPTER 10:

Conclusions of the thesis

This thesis provides contributions to important knowledge gaps related to the risk factors, screening, prognosis, risk stratification, and management of AF.

10.1 Risk factors and screening for atrial fibrillation

This work shows that reduced ventilatory function is associated with an increased risk of AF independent of age, sex, smoking, and several other known AF risk factors. This suggests that ventilatory parameters might improve AF risk prediction models. Furthermore, considering the high risk of AF associated with COPD and the frequent co-existence of these conditions, individuals with airway obstruction might represent an appropriate population for targeted AF screening. Future studies are needed to assess the added value of ventilatory function to AF prediction and the appropriate rhythm monitoring strategies for AF detection in patients with COPD.

Another group of individuals with high risk of AF are patients with cryptogenic stroke. Although landmark clinical trials revealed significantly increased AF detection with prolonged continuous cardiac monitoring with implantable cardiac monitors (ICM) over standard-of-care monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke, real-world data from various populations are still needed. This thesis provides further insight emphasizing that AF diagnostic yield in a real-world cohort of patients receiving prolonged cardiac monitoring with ICM have significantly lower AF detection rates to what has been previously reported. These rates are even much lower when considering a cutoff duration (6 min) that is higher than the usual 2 min cutoff. A recent LOOP study which used a cutoff duration of 6 min to define an AF episode showed that in individuals with stroke risk factors, screening of AF with ICM resulted in higher AF detection and anticoagulation initiation but no significant reduction in the risk of stroke or systemic arterial embolism. This suggests that not all screendetected AF merits anticoagulation. Furthermore, a meta-analysis of previous studies shows that about one in seven patients had AF detected within a month of mobile cardiac outpatient telemetry, suggesting that a non-invasive rhythm monitoring strategy should be considered before invasive monitoring.

10.2 Risk stratification

This thesis provides a couple of important contributions with respect to risk stratification. First, it shows that the weights of various risk factors included in risk stratification schemes such as the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score are not consistent with their attributable risk of stroke from cohort studies. Furthermore, it shows that female sex seems not to be universally associated with stroke or systemic embolism, suggesting that the decision to initiate anticoagulation should not be made on the sole basis of female sex as done according to recommendations by some scientific societies. To improve stroke risk stratification, future schemes should consider various non-clinical risk factors for stroke in patients with AF. This thesis shows an association between stroke and some anatomic and functional cardiac imaging parameters such as left atrial (LA) dimensions and ejection fraction, left atrial appendage (LAA) morphology, ejection fraction, flow velocities, and LA/LAA spontaneous echo-contrast and thrombus. Left atrial fibrosis, LA diameter index and LA reservoir strain are predictors of stroke in patients with AF. These imaging factors should be tested in large prospective cohort studies with established clinical risk factors and biomarkers to develop and validate holistic stroke risk stratification schemes with better prognosis performance compared to the existing limited clinical scores.

Carotid disease is an overlooked risk factor for stroke in patients with AF. It is not considered in most risk stratification schemes including the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score. However, AF and carotid artery disease frequently co-exist, with about one in ten patients with AF who has carotid stenosis, and vice versa; and non-stenotic carotid disease being much more frequent. Moreover, there is an association between carotid atherosclerosis and the risk of stroke in patients with AF, suggesting that the incorporation of carotid atherosclerosis and characteristics of carotid plaques into scoring systems might improve stroke prediction in patients with AF. This hypothesis was tested using data from the Cardiovascular Health Study, a prospective cohort study. Moderate to severe carotid stenosis (\geq 50%) was uncommon, affecting only 5.5% of participants, whereas a third of patients had carotid plaques considered vulnerable or high-risk. Neither the degree of carotid stenosis nor the presence of vulnerable plaques was associated with incident ischemic stroke. This suggests that carotid disease was probably not an important cause of ischemic stroke in this population of patients with AF and therefore, vulnerable carotid plaques might not improve stroke risk stratification in patients with AF.

10.3 Prognostic impact of atrial fibrillation on acute cardiovascular events

This thesis demonstrates that AF is common in patients with acute coronary syndromes (one in nine) and acute pulmonary embolism (one in eight), and that AF is associated with poor short-term and long-term outcomes including re-infarction, heart failure, stroke, acute kidney injury, heart failure, major bleeding, and death. These findings have important implications.

Considering this strong prognostic impact of AF in patients with acute coronary syndrome and acute pulmonary embolism, its incorporation into risk stratification schemes for these patients should be considered. Furthermore, considering the significant incidence of AF in these patients, appropriate rhythm monitoring strategies are needed. Such strategies should be investigated in future studies.

10.4 Sex differences in atrial fibrillation management and outcomes

This thesis also makes important contributions to knowledge on sex differences in the management and outcomes of AF. First, by analysing data from 142 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of AF published in top tiers cardiovascular journals, it shows that despite recent progress, females remain substantially less represented in RCTs of AF management. This calls into question the generalizability of these trials and the validity of the evidence guiding the treatment of females. More efforts are needed to increase female enrolment, with a special attention in trials conducted in Northern America and those with lower sample size. Avoiding the exclusion of older individuals may also improve female representation. Furthermore, sexstratified reporting of primary outcomes infrequently occurs in RCTs of AF. Reporting by sex should become a requirement in journals' reporting guidelines in a bid to reduce the sex disparity observed in enrolment and reporting of major trials in AF.

Second, although several studies showed sex differences in the pathophysiology and clinical patterns of AF, the impact of sex on the response to various treatments in patients with AF remained largely unknown. This thesis assessed sex differences in weight-loss, cardiorespiratory fitness gain, and progression and recurrence of AF in patients undergoing aggressive risk factor modification. It shows that despite sex differences at baseline with regards to age, AF type, BMI, and cardiorespiratory fitness, the benefits of weight-loss and fitness gain were favorable for both males and females. However, improvement in fitness had a much greater benefit for total arrhythmia freedom for females, whereas there was a trend towards more common regression from persistent to paroxysmal AF in males. These findings reinforce the need to address lifestyle risk factors to minimize arrhythmia recurrence and reduce symptom severity for all individuals.

Finally, this work also investigated the impact of sex on the clinical profile, utilization of rhythm control therapies, in-hospital mortality, length of stay (LOS), and cost of hospitalization in patients admitted for AF in the United States. Women were older, with a higher comorbidity burden, and were less likely to undergo catheter ablation or electrical cardioversion. There were similarities and disparities in risk factors for mortality between males and females. Women had a relatively higher mortality rate, although after risk adjustment, female sex was not a predictor of mortality. Women also had significantly longer hospital stay. This shows that sex specificities need more consideration in research in the AF population.

REFERENCES

1. Lippi G, Sanchis-Gomar F, Cervellin G. Global epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: An increasing epidemic and public health challenge. Int J Stroke 2020:1747493019897870.

2. Lip GY, Fauchier L, Freedman SB, Van Gelder I, Natale A, Gianni C, Nattel S, Potpara T, Rienstra M, Tse HF, Lane DA. Atrial fibrillation. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2016;**2**:16016.

3. Schnabel RB, Yin X, Gona P, Larson MG, Beiser AS, McManus DD, Newton-Cheh C, Lubitz SA, Magnani JW, Ellinor PT, Seshadri S, Wolf PA, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ, Levy D. 50 year trends in atrial fibrillation prevalence, incidence, risk factors, and mortality in the Framingham Heart Study: a cohort study. Lancet 2015;**386**(9989):154-62.

4. Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby JV, Singer DE. Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. JAMA 2001;**285**(18):2370-5.

 Kornej J, Börschel CS, Benjamin EJ, Schnabel RB. Epidemiology of Atrial Fibrillation in the 21st Century: Novel Methods and New Insights. Circ Res 2020;**127**(1):4-20.

6. Zhou Z, Hu D. An epidemiological study on the prevalence of atrial fibrillation in the Chinese population of mainland China. J Epidemiol 2008;**18**(5):209-16.

7. Tse HF, Wang YJ, Ahmed Ai-Abdullah M, Pizarro-Borromeo AB, Chiang CE, Krittayaphong R, Singh B, Vora A, Wang CX, Zubaid M, Clemens A, Lim P, Hu D. Stroke

prevention in atrial fibrillation--an Asian stroke perspective. Heart Rhythm 2013;**10**(7):1082-8.

8. Chiang CE, Wang KL, Lip GY. Stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: an Asian perspective. Thromb Haemost 2014;**111**(5):789-97.

9. Krijthe BP, Kunst A, Benjamin EJ, Lip GY, Franco OH, Hofman A, Witteman JC, Stricker BH, Heeringa J. Projections on the number of individuals with atrial fibrillation in the European Union, from 2000 to 2060. Eur Heart J 2013;**34**(35):2746-51.

10. Noubiap JJ, Nyaga UF. A review of the epidemiology of atrial fibrillation in sub-Saharan Africa. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2019;**30**(12):3006-3016.

 Rahman F, Kwan GF, Benjamin EJ. Global epidemiology of atrial fibrillation. Nat Rev Cardiol 2014;11(11):639-54.

12. Moran A, Forouzanfar M, Sampson U, Chugh S, Feigin V, Mensah G. The epidemiology of cardiovascular diseases in sub-Saharan Africa: the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries and Risk Factors 2010 Study. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2013;**56**(3):234-9.

13. Wang L, Ze F, Li J, Mi L, Han B, Niu H, Zhao N. Trends of global burden of atrial fibrillation/flutter from Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Heart 2021;**107**(11):881-887.

14. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Atrial fibrillation in Australia*. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/heart-stroke-vascular-diseases/atrial-fibrillation-in-

australia/contents/how-many-australians-have-atrial-fibrillation.

15. McGrady M, Krum H, Carrington MJ, Stewart S, Zeitz C, Lee GA, Marwick TH, Haluska BA, Brown A. Heart failure, ventricular dysfunction and risk factor prevalence in Australian Aboriginal peoples: the Heart of the Heart Study. Heart 2012;**98**(21):1562-7.

16. Gallagher C, Hendriks JM, Giles L, Karnon J, Pham C, Elliott AD, Middeldorp ME, Mahajan R, Lau DH, Sanders P, Wong CX. Increasing trends in hospitalisations due to atrial fibrillation in Australia from 1993 to 2013. Heart 2019;**105**(17):1358-1363.

17. Wong CX, Brooks AG, Lau DH, Leong DP, Sun MT, Sullivan T, Roberts-Thomson KC, Sanders P. Factors associated with the epidemic of hospitalizations due to atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2012;**110**(10):1496-9.

18. Weber C, Hung J, Hickling S, Li I, McQuillan B, Briffa T. Drivers of hospitalisation trends for non-valvular atrial fibrillation in Western Australia, 2000-2013. Int J Cardiol 2019;**276**:273-277.

19. Briffa T, Hung J, Knuiman M, McQuillan B, Chew DP, Eikelboom J, Hankey GJ, Teng TH, Nedkoff L, Weerasooriya R, Liu A, Stobie P. Trends in incidence and prevalence of hospitalization for atrial fibrillation and associated mortality in Western Australia, 1995-2010. Int J Cardiol 2016;**208**:19-25.

20. Chiang CE, Naditch-Brûlé L, Murin J, Goethals M, Inoue H, O'Neill J, Silva-Cardoso J, Zharinov O, Gamra H, Alam S, Ponikowski P, Lewalter T, Rosenqvist M, Steg PG. Distribution and risk profile of paroxysmal, persistent, and permanent atrial fibrillation in routine clinical practice: insight from the real-life global survey evaluating patients with atrial fibrillation international registry. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2012;**5**(4):632-9.

21. Lip GY, Hee FL. Paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. QJM 2001;94(12):665-78.

22. Healey JS, Connolly SJ, Gold MR, Israel CW, Van Gelder IC, Capucci A, Lau CP, Fain E, Yang S, Bailleul C, Morillo CA, Carlson M, Themeles E, Kaufman ES, Hohnloser SH. Subclinical atrial fibrillation and the risk of stroke. N Engl J Med 2012;**366**(2):120-9.

23. Benjamin EJ, Levy D, Vaziri SM, D'Agostino RB, Belanger AJ, Wolf PA. Independent risk factors for atrial fibrillation in a population-based cohort. The Framingham Heart Study. JAMA 1994;**271**(11):840-4.

24. Alkhouli M, Friedman PA. Ischemic Stroke Risk in Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019;**74**(24):3050-3065.

25. Ball J, Carrington MJ, McMurray JJ, Stewart S. Atrial fibrillation: profile and burden of an evolving epidemic in the 21st century. Int J Cardiol 2013;**167**(5):1807-24.

26. Dewland TA, Olgin JE, Vittinghoff E, Marcus GM. Incident atrial fibrillation among Asians, Hispanics, blacks, and whites. Circulation 2013;**128**(23):2470-7.

27. Rodriguez CJ, Soliman EZ, Alonso A, Swett K, Okin PM, Goff DC, Jr., Heckbert SR. Atrial fibrillation incidence and risk factors in relation to race-ethnicity and the population attributable fraction of atrial fibrillation risk factors: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Ann Epidemiol 2015;**25**(2):71-6, 76 e1.

28. Borzecki AM, Bridgers DK, Liebschutz JM, Kader B, Kazis LE, Berlowitz DR. Racial differences in the prevalence of atrial fibrillation among males. J Natl Med Assoc 2008;**100**(2):237-45.

29. Soliman EZ, Alonso A, Goff DC, Jr. Atrial fibrillation and ethnicity: the known, the unknown and the paradox. Future Cardiol 2009;**5**(6):547-56.

30. Marcus GM, Olgin JE, Whooley M, Vittinghoff E, Stone KL, Mehra R, Hulley SB, Schiller NB. Racial differences in atrial fibrillation prevalence and left atrial size. Am J Med 2010;**123**(4):375 e1-7.

31. Tsang TS, Barnes ME, Bailey KR, Leibson CL, Montgomery SC, Takemoto Y, Diamond PM, Marra MA, Gersh BJ, Wiebers DO, Petty GW, Seward JB. Left atrial volume: important risk marker of incident atrial fibrillation in 1655 older men and women. Mayo Clin Proc 2001;**76**(5):467-75.

32. Roberts JD, Hu D, Heckbert SR, Alonso A, Dewland TA, Vittinghoff E, Liu Y, Psaty BM, Olgin JE, Magnani JW, Huntsman S, Burchard EG, Arking DE, Bibbins-Domingo K, Harris TB, Perez MV, Ziv E, Marcus GM. Genetic Investigation Into the Differential Risk of Atrial Fibrillation Among Black and White Individuals. JAMA Cardiol 2016;**1**(4):442-50.

33. Marcus GM, Alonso A, Peralta CA, Lettre G, Vittinghoff E, Lubitz SA, Fox ER, Levitzky YS, Mehra R, Kerr KF, Deo R, Sotoodehnia N, Akylbekova M, Ellinor PT, Paltoo DN, Soliman EZ, Benjamin EJ, Heckbert SR. European ancestry as a risk factor for atrial fibrillation in African Americans. Circulation 2010;**122**(20):2009-15.

34. World Health Organization. *Hypertension. Key facts*. https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/hypertension.

35. Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, Chamberlain AM, Chang AR, Cheng S, Das SR, Delling FN, Djousse L, Elkind MSV, Ferguson JF, Fornage M, Jordan LC, Khan SS, Kissela BM, Knutson KL, Kwan TW, Lackland DT, Lewis TT, Lichtman JH, Longenecker CT, Loop MS, Lutsey PL, Martin SS, Matsushita K, Moran AE, Mussolino ME, O'Flaherty M, Pandey A, Perak AM, Rosamond WD, Roth GA, Sampson UKA, Satou GM, Schroeder EB, Shah SH, Spartano NL, Stokes A, Tirschwell DL, Tsao CW, Turakhia MP, VanWagner LB, Wilkins JT, Wong SS, Virani SS. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2019;**139**(10):e56-e528.

36. Schnabel RB, Sullivan LM, Levy D, Pencina MJ, Massaro JM, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Newton-Cheh C, Yamamoto JF, Magnani JW, Tadros TM, Kannel WB, Wang TJ, Ellinor PT, Wolf PA, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ. Development of a risk score for atrial fibrillation (Framingham Heart Study): a community-based cohort study. Lancet 2009;**373**(9665):739-45.

37. Huxley RR, Lopez FL, Folsom AR, Agarwal SK, Loehr LR, Soliman EZ, Maclehose R, Konety S, Alonso A. Absolute and attributable risks of atrial fibrillation in relation to optimal and borderline risk factors: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Circulation 2011;**123**(14):1501-8.

38. Cullen MW, Kim S, Piccini JP, Sr., Ansell JE, Fonarow GC, Hylek EM, Singer DE, Mahaffey KW, Kowey PR, Thomas L, Go AS, Lopes RD, Chang P, Peterson ED, Gersh BJ. Risks and benefits of anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation: insights from the Outcomes Registry for Better Informed Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation (ORBIT-AF) registry. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2013;**6**(4):461-9.

39. Bassand JP, Accetta G, Camm AJ, Cools F, Fitzmaurice DA, Fox KA, Goldhaber SZ, Goto S, Haas S, Hacke W, Kayani G, Mantovani LG, Misselwitz F, Ten Cate H, Turpie AG, Verheugt FW, Kakkar AK. Two-year outcomes of patients with newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation: results from GARFIELD-AF. Eur Heart J 2016;**37**(38):2882-2889.

40. Proietti M, Laroche C, Nieuwlaat R, Crijns H, Maggioni AP, Lane DA, Boriani G, Lip GYH. Increased burden of comorbidities and risk of cardiovascular death in atrial fibrillation patients in Europe over ten years: A comparison between EORP-AF pilot and EHS-AF registries. Eur J Intern Med 2018;**55**:28-34.

41. Nabauer M, Gerth A, Limbourg T, Schneider S, Oeff M, Kirchhof P, Goette A, Lewalter T, Ravens U, Meinertz T, Breithardt G, Steinbeck G. The Registry of the German Competence NETwork on Atrial Fibrillation: patient characteristics and initial management. Europace 2009;**11**(4):423-34.

42. Lau YF, Yiu KH, Siu CW, Tse HF. Hypertension and atrial fibrillation: epidemiology, pathophysiology and therapeutic implications. J Hum Hypertens 2012;**26**(10):563-9.

43. Schotten U, Verheule S, Kirchhof P, Goette A. Pathophysiological mechanisms of atrial fibrillation: a translational appraisal. Physiol Rev 2011;**91**(1):265-325.

44. Dzeshka MS, Lip GY, Snezhitskiy V, Shantsila E. Cardiac Fibrosis in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: Mechanisms and Clinical Implications. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;**66**(8):943-59.

45. Goette A, Lendeckel U. Electrophysiological effects of angiotensin II. Part I: signal transduction and basic electrophysiological mechanisms. Europace 2008;**10**(2):238-41.

46. Ehrlich JR, Hohnloser SH, Nattel S. Role of angiotensin system and effects of its inhibition in atrial fibrillation: clinical and experimental evidence. Eur Heart J 2006;**27**(5):512-8.

47. World Health Organization. *Obesity and overweight. Key facts.* https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight.

48. Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, Reitsma MB, Sur P, Estep K, Lee A, Marczak L, Mokdad AH, Moradi-Lakeh M, Naghavi M, Salama JS, Vos T, Abate KH, Abbafati C, Ahmed MB, Al-Aly Z, Alkerwi A, Al-Raddadi R, Amare AT, Amberbir A, Amegah AK, Amini E, Amrock SM, Anjana RM, Ärnlöv J, Asayesh H, Banerjee A, Barac A, Baye E, Bennett DA, Beyene AS, Biadgilign S, Biryukov S, Bjertness E, Boneya DJ, Campos-Nonato I, Carrero JJ, Cecilio P, Cercy K, Ciobanu LG, Cornaby L, Damtew SA, Dandona L, Dandona R, Dharmaratne SD, Duncan BB, Eshrati B, Esteghamati A, Feigin VL, Fernandes JC, Fürst T, Gebrehiwot TT, Gold A, Gona PN, Goto A, Habtewold TD, Hadush KT, Hafezi-Nejad N, Hay SI, Horino M, Islami F, Kamal R, Kasaeian A, Katikireddi SV, Kengne AP, Kesavachandran CN, Khader YS, Khang YH, Khubchandani J, Kim D, Kim YJ, Kinfu Y, Kosen S, Ku T, Defo BK, Kumar GA, Larson HJ, Leinsalu M, Liang X, Lim SS, Liu P, Lopez AD, Lozano R, Majeed A, Malekzadeh R, Malta DC, Mazidi M, McAlinden C, McGarvey ST, Mengistu DT, Mensah GA, Mensink GBM, Mezgebe HB, Mirrakhimov EM, Mueller UO, Noubiap JJ, Obermeyer CM, Ogbo FA, Owolabi MO, Patton GC, Pourmalek F, Qorbani M, Rafay A, Rai RK, Ranabhat CL, Reinig N, Safiri S, Salomon JA, Sanabria JR, Santos IS, Sartorius B, Sawhney M, Schmidhuber J, Schutte AE, Schmidt MI, Sepanlou SG, Shamsizadeh M, Sheikhbahaei S, Shin MJ, Shiri R, Shiue I, Roba HS, Silva DAS, Silverberg JI, Singh JA, Stranges S, Swaminathan S, Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Tadese F, Tedla BA,

Tegegne BS, Terkawi AS, Thakur JS, Tonelli M, Topor-Madry R, Tyrovolas S, Ukwaja KN, Uthman OA, Vaezghasemi M, Vasankari T, Vlassov VV, Vollset SE, Weiderpass E, Werdecker A, Wesana J, Westerman R, Yano Y, Yonemoto N, Yonga G, Zaidi Z, Zenebe ZM, Zipkin B, Murray CJL. Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries over 25 Years. N Engl J Med 2017;**377**(1):13-27.

49. Wong CX, Sullivan T, Sun MT, Mahajan R, Pathak RK, Middeldorp M, Twomey D, Ganesan AN, Rangnekar G, Roberts-Thomson KC, Lau DH, Sanders P. Obesity and the Risk of Incident, Post-Operative, and Post-Ablation Atrial Fibrillation: A Meta-Analysis of 626,603 Individuals in 51 Studies. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2015;**1**(3):139-152.

50. Hruby A, Hu FB. The Epidemiology of Obesity: A Big Picture. Pharmacoeconomics 2015;**33**(7):673-89.

51. Chatterjee NA, Giulianini F, Geelhoed B, Lunetta KL, Misialek JR, Niemeijer MN, Rienstra M, Rose LM, Smith AV, Arking DE, Ellinor PT, Heeringa J, Lin H, Lubitz SA, Soliman EZ, Verweij N, Alonso A, Benjamin EJ, Gudnason V, Stricker BHC, Van Der Harst P, Chasman DI, Albert CM. Genetic Obesity and the Risk of Atrial Fibrillation: Causal Estimates from Mendelian Randomization. Circulation 2017;**135**(8):741-754.

52. Abed HS, Samuel CS, Lau DH, Kelly DJ, Royce SG, Alasady M, Mahajan R, Kuklik P, Zhang Y, Brooks AG, Nelson AJ, Worthley SG, Abhayaratna WP, Kalman JM, Wittert GA, Sanders P. Obesity results in progressive atrial structural and electrical remodeling: implications for atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2013;**10**(1):90-100.

53. Mahajan R, Lau DH, Brooks AG, Shipp NJ, Manavis J, Wood JP, Finnie JW, Samuel CS, Royce SG, Twomey DJ, Thanigaimani S, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Electrophysiological, Electroanatomical, and Structural Remodeling of the Atria as Consequences of Sustained Obesity. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;**66**(1):1-11.

54. Mahajan R, Lau DH, Brooks AG, Shipp NJ, Wood JPM, Manavis J, Samuel CS, Patel KP, Finnie JW, Alasady M, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Atrial Fibrillation and Obesity: Reverse Remodeling of Atrial Substrate With Weight Reduction. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2021;7(5):630-641.

55. Lau DH, Nattel S, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Modifiable Risk Factors and Atrial Fibrillation. Circulation 2017;**136**(6):583-596.

56. Lau DH, Schotten U, Mahajan R, Antic NA, Hatem SN, Pathak RK, Hendriks JM, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Novel mechanisms in the pathogenesis of atrial fibrillation: practical applications. Eur Heart J 2016;**37**(20):1573-81.

57. Lin YK, Chen YC, Chang SL, Lin YJ, Chen JH, Yeh YH, Chen SA, Chen YJ. Heart failure epicardial fat increases atrial arrhythmogenesis. Int J Cardiol 2013;**167**(5):1979-83.

58. Hatem SN, Sanders P. Epicardial adipose tissue and atrial fibrillation. Cardiovasc Res 2014;**102**(2):205-13.

59. International Diabetes Federation (IDF). IDF diabetes atlas: 10th edition. In; 2021.

60. Aune D, Feng T, Schlesinger S, Janszky I, Norat T, Riboli E. Diabetes mellitus, blood glucose and the risk of atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Diabetes Complications 2018;**32**(5):501-511.

61. Rutter MK, Parise H, Benjamin EJ, Levy D, Larson MG, Meigs JB, Nesto RW, Wilson PW, Vasan RS. Impact of glucose intolerance and insulin resistance on cardiac structure and function: sex-related differences in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2003;**107**(3):448-54.

62. Odegaard AO, Jacobs DR, Jr., Sanchez OA, Goff DC, Jr., Reiner AP, Gross MD. Oxidative stress, inflammation, endothelial dysfunction and incidence of type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2016;**15**:51.

63. Zhang X, Zhang Z, Zhao Y, Jiang N, Qiu J, Yang Y, Li J, Liang X, Wang X, Tse G, Li G, Liu T. Alogliptin, a Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 Inhibitor, Alleviates Atrial Remodeling and Improves Mitochondrial Function and Biogenesis in Diabetic Rabbits. J Am Heart Assoc 2017;**6**(5).

64. Mitašíková M, Lin H, Soukup T, Imanaga I, Tribulová N. Diabetes and thyroid hormones affect connexin-43 and PKC-epsilon expression in rat heart atria. Physiol Res 2009;**58**(2):211-217.

65. Karam BS, Chavez-Moreno A, Koh W, Akar JG, Akar FG. Oxidative stress and inflammation as central mediators of atrial fibrillation in obesity and diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2017;**16**(1):120.

66. Kato T, Yamashita T, Sekiguchi A, Tsuneda T, Sagara K, Takamura M, Kaneko S, Aizawa T, Fu LT. AGEs-RAGE system mediates atrial structural remodeling in the diabetic rat. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2008;**19**(4):415-20.

67. Liu C, Fu H, Li J, Yang W, Cheng L, Liu T, Li G. Hyperglycemia aggravates atrial interstitial fibrosis, ionic remodeling and vulnerability to atrial fibrillation in diabetic rabbits. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg 2012;**12**(7):543-50.

68. Fu H, Liu C, Li J, Zhou C, Cheng L, Liu T, Li G. Impaired atrial electromechanical function and atrial fibrillation promotion in alloxan-induced diabetic rabbits. Cardiol J 2013;**20**(1):59-67.

69. Lee JZ, Cha YM. Atrial fibrillation and heart failure: A contemporary review of current management approaches. Heart Rhythm O2 2021;**2**(6Part B):762-770.

70. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, Leip EP, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, Murabito JM, Kannel WB, Benjamin EJ. Temporal relations of atrial fibrillation and congestive heart failure and their joint influence on mortality: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2003;**107**(23):2920-5.

71. Kotecha D, Piccini JP. Atrial fibrillation in heart failure: what should we do? Eur Heart J 2015;**36**(46):3250-7.

72. Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, Barengo NC, Beaton AZ, Benjamin EJ, Benziger CP, Bonny A, Brauer M, Brodmann M, Cahill TJ, Carapetis J, Catapano AL, Chugh SS, Cooper LT, Coresh J, Criqui M, DeCleene N, Eagle KA, Emmons-Bell S, Feigin VL, Fernández-Solà J, Fowkes G, Gakidou E, Grundy SM, He FJ, Howard G, Hu F, Inker L, Karthikeyan G, Kassebaum N, Koroshetz W, Lavie C, Lloyd-Jones D, Lu HS, Mirijello A, Temesgen AM, Mokdad A, Moran AE, Muntner P, Narula J, Neal B, Ntsekhe M, Moraes de Oliveira G, Otto C, Owolabi M, Pratt M, Rajagopalan S, Reitsma M, Ribeiro ALP, Rigotti N, Rodgers A, Sable C, Shakil S, Sliwa-Hahnle K, Stark B, Sundström J, Timpel P, Tleyjeh IM, Valgimigli M, Vos T, Whelton PK, Yacoub M, Zuhlke L, Murray C, Fuster V. Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases and Risk Factors, 1990-2019: Update From the GBD 2019 Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020;**76**(25):2982-3021.

73. Liang F, Wang Y. Coronary heart disease and atrial fibrillation: a vicious cycle. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2021;**320**(1):H1-H12.

74. Kralev S, Schneider K, Lang S, Süselbeck T, Borggrefe M. Incidence and severity of coronary artery disease in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing first-time coronary angiography. PLoS One 2011;6(9):e24964.

75. Shiba T, Kondo Y, Senoo K, Nakano M, Okubo K, Ishio N, Shikama N, Kobayashi Y. Proximal Occlusion in the Right Coronary Artery Involving the Atrial Branch as a Strong Predictor of New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Acute Myocardial Infarction. Int Heart J 2019;**60**(6):1308-1314.

76. Yaroslavskaya EI, Kuznetsov VA, Gorbatenko EA, Marinskikh LV. [Association of Atrial Fibrillation with Coronary Lesion in Ischemic Heart Disease Patients]. Kardiologiia 2019;**59**(9):5-12.

Tau DH, Huynh LT, Chew DP, Astley CM, Soman A, Sanders P. Prognostic impact of types of atrial fibrillation in acute coronary syndromes. Am J Cardiol 2009;**104**(10):1317-23.

78. Shiyovich A, Axelrod M, Gilutz H, Plakht Y. Early Versus Late New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Acute Myocardial Infarction: Differences in Clinical Characteristics and Predictors. Angiology 2019;**70**(10):921-928.

79. Nucifora G, Schuijf JD, Tops LF, van Werkhoven JM, Kajander S, Jukema JW, Schreur JH, Heijenbrok MW, Trines SA, Gaemperli O, Turta O, Kaufmann PA, Knuuti J, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ. Prevalence of coronary artery disease assessed by multislice computed tomography coronary angiography in patients with paroxysmal or persistent atrial fibrillation. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2009;**2**(2):100-6.

80. Schnohr P, Marott JL, Kristensen TS, Gyntelberg F, Grønbæk M, Lange P, Jensen MT, Jensen GB, Prescott E. Ranking of psychosocial and traditional risk factors by importance for coronary heart disease: the Copenhagen City Heart Study. Eur Heart J 2015;**36**(22):1385-93.

81. Janse MJ, Capucci A, Coronel R, Fabius MA. Variability of recovery of excitability in the normal canine and the ischaemic porcine heart. Eur Heart J 1985;6 Suppl D:41-52.

82. Chen PS, Tan AY. Autonomic nerve activity and atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2007;**4**(3 Suppl):S61-4.

83. Chao TF, Liu CJ, Chen SJ, Wang KL, Lin YJ, Chang SL, Lo LW, Hu YF, Tuan TC, Chen TJ, Chiou CW, Chen SA. Incidence and risk of atrial fibrillation in sleep-disordered breathing without coexistent systemic disease. Circ J 2014;**78**(9):2182-7.

84. Linz D, McEvoy RD, Cowie MR, Somers VK, Nattel S, Lévy P, Kalman JM, Sanders
P. Associations of Obstructive Sleep Apnea With Atrial Fibrillation and Continuous Positive
Airway Pressure Treatment: A Review. JAMA Cardiol 2018;3(6):532-540.

85. Gami AS, Hodge DO, Herges RM, Olson EJ, Nykodym J, Kara T, Somers VK. Obstructive sleep apnea, obesity, and the risk of incident atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;**49**(5):565-71.

86. Gami AS, Pressman G, Caples SM, Kanagala R, Gard JJ, Davison DE, Malouf JF, Ammash NM, Friedman PA, Somers VK. Association of atrial fibrillation and obstructive sleep apnea. Circulation 2004;**110**(4):364-7.

87. Yaranov DM, Smyrlis A, Usatii N, Butler A, Petrini JR, Mendez J, Warshofsky MK. Effect of obstructive sleep apnea on frequency of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2015;**115**(4):461-5.

88. Neilan TG, Farhad H, Dodson JA, Shah RV, Abbasi SA, Bakker JP, Michaud GF, van der Geest R, Blankstein R, Steigner M, John RM, Jerosch-Herold M, Malhotra A, Kwong RY. Effect of sleep apnea and continuous positive airway pressure on cardiac structure and recurrence of atrial fibrillation. J Am Heart Assoc 2013;**2**(6):e000421.

89. Ng CY, Liu T, Shehata M, Stevens S, Chugh SS, Wang X. Meta-analysis of obstructive sleep apnea as predictor of atrial fibrillation recurrence after catheter ablation. Am J Cardiol 2011;**108**(1):47-51.

90. Monahan K, Brewster J, Wang L, Parvez B, Goyal S, Roden DM, Darbar D. Relation of the severity of obstructive sleep apnea in response to anti-arrhythmic drugs in patients with atrial fibrillation or atrial flutter. Am J Cardiol 2012;**110**(3):369-72.

91. Shukla A, Aizer A, Holmes D, Fowler S, Park DS, Bernstein S, Bernstein N, Chinitz
L. Effect of Obstructive Sleep Apnea Treatment on Atrial Fibrillation Recurrence: A Meta-Analysis. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2015;1(1-2):41-51.

92. Alcohol use and burden for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2018;**392**(10152):1015-1035.

93. Mittal R, Su L, Ramgobin D, Garg A, Jain R, Jain R. A narrative review of chronic alcohol-induced atrial fibrillation. Future Cardiol 2022;**18**(1):27-34.

94. Ettinger PO, Wu CF, De La Cruz C, Jr., Weisse AB, Ahmed SS, Regan TJ. Arrhythmias and the "Holiday Heart": alcohol-associated cardiac rhythm disorders. Am Heart J 1978;**95**(5):555-62.

95. Samokhvalov AV, Irving HM, Rehm J. Alcohol consumption as a risk factor for atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2010;**17**(6):706-12.

96. Tu SJ, Gallagher C, Elliott AD, Linz D, Pitman BM, Hendriks JML, Lau DH, Sanders P, Wong CX. Risk Thresholds for Total and Beverage-Specific Alcohol Consumption and Incident Atrial Fibrillation. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2021;**7**(12):1561-1569.

97. Voskoboinik A, Kalman JM, De Silva A, Nicholls T, Costello B, Nanayakkara S, Prabhu S, Stub D, Azzopardi S, Vizi D, Wong G, Nalliah C, Sugumar H, Wong M, Kotschet E, Kaye D, Taylor AJ, Kistler PM. Alcohol Abstinence in Drinkers with Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2020;**382**(1):20-28.

98. Simons SO, Elliott A, Sastry M, Hendriks JM, Arzt M, Rienstra M, Kalman JM, Heidbuchel H, Nattel S, Wesseling G, Schotten U, van Gelder IC, Franssen FME, Sanders P, Crijns H, Linz D. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and atrial fibrillation: an interdisciplinary perspective. Eur Heart J 2021;**42**(5):532-540.

99. Li J, Agarwal SK, Alonso A, Blecker S, Chamberlain AM, London SJ, Loehr LR, McNeill AM, Poole C, Soliman EZ, Heiss G. Airflow obstruction, lung function, and incidence of atrial fibrillation: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Circulation 2014;**129**(9):971-80.

100. Johnson LS, Juhlin T, Engström G, Nilsson PM. Reduced forced expiratory volume is associated with increased incidence of atrial fibrillation: the Malmo Preventive Project. Europace 2014;**16**(2):182-8.

101. Buch P, Friberg J, Scharling H, Lange P, Prescott E. Reduced lung function and risk of atrial fibrillation in the Copenhagen City Heart Study. Eur Respir J 2003;**21**(6):1012-6.

102. Psaty BM, Manolio TA, Kuller LH, Kronmal RA, Cushman M, Fried LP, White R, Furberg CD, Rautaharju PM. Incidence of and risk factors for atrial fibrillation in older adults. Circulation 1997;**96**(7):2455-61.

103. Miller MR, Crapo R, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Coates A, Enright P, van der Grinten CP, Gustafsson P, Jensen R, Johnson DC, MacIntyre N, McKay R, Navajas D, Pedersen OF, Pellegrino R, Viegi G, Wanger J. General considerations for lung function testing. Eur Respir J 2005;**26**(1):153-61.

104. Schnabel RB, Haeusler KG, Healey JS, Freedman B, Boriani G, Brachmann J, Brandes A, Bustamante A, Casadei B, Crijns H, Doehner W, Engstrom G, Fauchier L, Friberg L, Gladstone DJ, Glotzer TV, Goto S, Hankey GJ, Harbison JA, Hobbs FDR, Johnson LSB, Kamel H, Kirchhof P, Korompoki E, Krieger DW, Lip GYH, Lochen ML, Mairesse GH, Montaner J, Neubeck L, Ntaios G, Piccini JP, Potpara TS, Quinn TJ, Reiffel JA, Ribeiro ALP, Rienstra M, Rosenqvist M, Sakis T, Sinner MF, Svendsen JH, Van Gelder IC, Wachter R, Wijeratne T, Yan B. Searching for Atrial Fibrillation Poststroke A White Paper of the AF-SCREEN International Collaboration. Circulation 2019;**140**(22):1834-1850.

105. Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Desvigne-Nickens P, Anderson CD, Casadei B, Chen LY, Crijns H, Freedman B, Hills MT, Healey JS, Kamel H, Kim DY, Link MS, Lopes RD, Lubitz SA, McManus DD, Noseworthy PA, Perez MV, Piccini JP, Schnabel RB, Singer DE, Tieleman RG, Turakhia MP, Van Gelder IC, Cooper LS, Al-Khatib SM. Research Priorities in Atrial Fibrillation Screening: A Report From a National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Virtual Workshop. Circulation 2021;**143**(4):372-388.

106. Li L, Yiin GS, Geraghty OC, Schulz UG, Kuker W, Mehta Z, Rothwell PM. Incidence, outcome, risk factors, and long-term prognosis of cryptogenic transient ischaemic attack and ischaemic stroke: a population-based study. Lancet Neurol 2015;**14**(9):903-913.

107. Kaarisalo MM, Immonen-Räihä P, Marttila RJ, Salomaa V, Kaarsalo E, Salmi K, Sarti C, Sivenius J, Torppa J, Tuomilehto J. Atrial fibrillation and stroke. Mortality and causes of death after the first acute ischemic stroke. Stroke 1997;**28**(2):311-5.

108. Lowres N, Neubeck L, Redfern J, Freedman SB. Screening to identify unknown atrial fibrillation. A systematic review. Thromb Haemost 2013;**110**(2):213-22.

109. Schnabel RB, Larson MG, Yamamoto JF, Sullivan LM, Pencina MJ, Meigs JB, Tofler GH, Selhub J, Jacques PF, Wolf PA, Magnani JW, Ellinor PT, Wang TJ, Levy D, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ. Relations of biomarkers of distinct pathophysiological pathways and atrial fibrillation incidence in the community. Circulation 2010;**121**(2):200-7.

110. Louka AM, Tsagkaris C, Stoica A. Clinical risk scores for the prediction of incident atrial fibrillation: a modernized review. Rom J Intern Med 2021;**59**(4):321-327.

111. Schnabel RB, Aspelund T, Li G, Sullivan LM, Suchy-Dicey A, Harris TB, Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Levy D, Kannel WB, Wang TJ, Kronmal RA, Wolf PA, Burke GL, Launer LJ, Vasan RS, Psaty BM, Benjamin EJ, Gudnason V, Heckbert SR. Validation of an atrial fibrillation risk algorithm in whites and African Americans. Arch Intern Med 2010;**170**(21):1909-17.

112. Chamberlain AM, Agarwal SK, Folsom AR, Soliman EZ, Chambless LE, Crow R, Ambrose M, Alonso A. A clinical risk score for atrial fibrillation in a biracial prospective cohort (from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities [ARIC] study). Am J Cardiol 2011;**107**(1):85-91.

113. Alonso A, Krijthe BP, Aspelund T, Stepas KA, Pencina MJ, Moser CB, Sinner MF, Sotoodehnia N, Fontes JD, Janssens AC, Kronmal RA, Magnani JW, Witteman JC, Chamberlain AM, Lubitz SA, Schnabel RB, Agarwal SK, McManus DD, Ellinor PT, Larson MG, Burke GL, Launer LJ, Hofman A, Levy D, Gottdiener JS, Kääb S, Couper D, Harris TB, Soliman EZ, Stricker BH, Gudnason V, Heckbert SR, Benjamin EJ. Simple risk model predicts incidence of atrial fibrillation in a racially and geographically diverse population: the CHARGE-AF consortium. J Am Heart Assoc 2013;**2**(2):e000102.

114. Smith JG, Platonov PG, Hedblad B, Engström G, Melander O. Atrial fibrillation in the Malmö Diet and Cancer study: a study of occurrence, risk factors and diagnostic validity. Eur J Epidemiol 2010;**25**(2):95-102.

115. Chao TF, Liu CJ, Chen SJ, Wang KL, Lin YJ, Chang SL, Lo LW, Hu YF, Tuan TC, Wu TJ, Chen TJ, Chen SA. CHADS2 score and risk of new-onset atrial fibrillation: a nationwide cohort study in Taiwan. Int J Cardiol 2013;**168**(2):1360-3.

116. de Vos CB, Pisters R, Nieuwlaat R, Prins MH, Tieleman RG, Coelen RJ, van den Heijkant AC, Allessie MA, Crijns HJ. Progression from paroxysmal to persistent atrial fibrillation clinical correlates and prognosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;**55**(8):725-31.

117. Suenari K, Chao TF, Liu CJ, Kihara Y, Chen TJ, Chen SA. Usefulness of HATCH score in the prediction of new-onset atrial fibrillation for Asians. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017;**96**(1):e5597.

118. Kokubo Y, Watanabe M, Higashiyama A, Nakao YM, Kusano K, Miyamoto Y.
Development of a Basic Risk Score for Incident Atrial Fibrillation in a Japanese General
Population - The Suita Study. Circ J 2017;81(11):1580-1588.

119. Li YG, Pastori D, Farcomeni A, Yang PS, Jang E, Joung B, Wang YT, Guo YT, Lip GYH. A Simple Clinical Risk Score (C(2)HEST) for Predicting Incident Atrial Fibrillation in

Asian Subjects: Derivation in 471,446 Chinese Subjects, With Internal Validation and External Application in 451,199 Korean Subjects. Chest 2019;**155**(3):510-518.

120. Lip GYH, Skjøth F, Nielsen PB, Larsen TB. Evaluation of the C(2)HEST Risk Score as a Possible Opportunistic Screening Tool for Incident Atrial Fibrillation in a Healthy Population (From a Nationwide Danish Cohort Study). Am J Cardiol 2020;**125**(1):48-54.

121. Jones NR, Taylor CJ, Hobbs FDR, Bowman L, Casadei B. Screening for atrial fibrillation: a call for evidence. Eur Heart J 2020;**41**(10):1075-1085.

122. Perez MV, Mahaffey KW, Hedlin H, Rumsfeld JS, Garcia A, Ferris T, Balasubramanian V, Russo AM, Rajmane A, Cheung L, Hung G, Lee J, Kowey P, Talati N, Nag D, Gummidipundi SE, Beatty A, Hills MT, Desai S, Granger CB, Desai M, Turakhia MP. Large-Scale Assessment of a Smartwatch to Identify Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2019;**381**(20):1909-1917.

123. Guo Y, Wang H, Zhang H, Liu T, Liang Z, Xia Y, Yan L, Xing Y, Shi H, Li S, Liu Y, Liu F, Feng M, Chen Y, Lip GYH. Mobile Photoplethysmographic Technology to Detect Atrial Fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019;**74**(19):2365-2375.

124. Kaufman ES, Israel CW, Nair GM, Armaganijan L, Divakaramenon S, Mairesse GH, Brandes A, Crystal E, Costantini O, Sandhu RK, Parkash R, Connolly SJ, Hohnloser SH, Healey JS. Positive predictive value of device-detected atrial high-rate episodes at different rates and durations: an analysis from ASSERT. Heart Rhythm 2012;**9**(8):1241-6.

125. Boriani G, Glotzer TV, Santini M, West TM, De Melis M, Sepsi M, Gasparini M, Lewalter T, Camm JA, Singer DE. Device-detected atrial fibrillation and risk for stroke: an analysis of >10,000 patients from the SOS AF project (Stroke preventiOn Strategies based on Atrial Fibrillation information from implanted devices). Eur Heart J 2014;**35**(8):508-16.

126. Deneke T, Cabanas P, Hofer D, Gaspar T, Pierre B, Bisignani G, Pathak RK, SanfinsVM, Martens E, Mansourati J, Berruezo-Sanchez A, Wiemer M, Hain A, Pezawas T, Wenzel

B, Lau D. New-generation miniaturized insertable cardiac monitor with a long sensing vector: Insertion procedure, sensing performance, and home monitoring transmission success in a real-world population. Heart Rhythm O2 2022;**3**(2):152-159.

127. Giancaterino S, Lupercio F, Nishimura M, Hsu JC. Current and Future Use of Insertable Cardiac Monitors. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2018;**4**(11):1383-1396.

128. Mariani JA, Weerasooriya R, van den Brink O, Mohamed U, Gould PA, Pathak RK, Lin T, Conradie A, Illes P, Pavia S, Rajamani K, Lovibond S, Matthews I, DiFiore D, Arumugam D, Schrader J, Lau DH. Miniaturized implantable cardiac monitor with a long sensing vector (BIOMONITOR III): Insertion procedure assessment, sensing performance, and home monitoring transmission success. J Electrocardiol 2020;**60**:118-125.

129. Nadkarni A, Devgun J, Jamal SM, Bardales D, Mease J, Matto F, Okabe T, Daoud EG, Afzal MR. Subcutaneous cardiac rhythm monitors: state of the art review. Expert Rev Med Devices 2021;**18**(7):587-596.

130. Ip J, Jaffe B, Castellani M, Sheikh A, Castellani C, Ip R. Accuracy of arrhythmia detection in implantable cardiac monitors: A prospective randomized clinical trial comparing Reveal LINQ and Confirm Rx. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2020;**43**(11):1344-1350.

131. Sanders P, Pürerfellner H, Pokushalov E, Sarkar S, Di Bacco M, Maus B, Dekker LR. Performance of a new atrial fibrillation detection algorithm in a miniaturized insertable cardiac monitor: Results from the Reveal LINQ Usability Study. Heart Rhythm 2016;**13**(7):1425-30.

132. Mittal S, Rogers J, Sarkar S, Koehler J, Warman EN, Tomson TT, Passman RS. Realworld performance of an enhanced atrial fibrillation detection algorithm in an insertable cardiac monitor. Heart Rhythm 2016;**13**(8):1624-30.

133. Pürerfellner H, Sanders P, Sarkar S, Reisfeld E, Reiland J, Koehler J, Pokushalov E, Urban L, Dekker LRC. Adapting detection sensitivity based on evidence of irregular sinus

arrhythmia to improve atrial fibrillation detection in insertable cardiac monitors. Europace 2018;**20**(FI_3):f321-f328.

134. Nölker G, Mayer J, Boldt LH, Seidl K, V VAND, Massa T, Kollum M, Brachmann J, Deneke T, Hindricks G, Jung W, Brunner KJ, Kraus S, Hümmer A, Lewalter T. Performance of an Implantable Cardiac Monitor to Detect Atrial Fibrillation: Results of the DETECT AF Study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2016;**27**(12):1403-1410.

135. Biotronik. *BIOMONITOR IIIm.* https://www.biotronik.com/ende/products/arrhythmia-monitoring/biomonitorIIIm.

136. Hindricks G, Pokushalov E, Urban L, Taborsky M, Kuck KH, Lebedev D, Rieger G, Pürerfellner H. Performance of a new leadless implantable cardiac monitor in detecting and quantifying atrial fibrillation: Results of the XPECT trial. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2010;**3**(2):141-7.

137. Chorin E, Peterson C, Kogan E, Barbhaiya C, Aizer A, Holmes D, Bernstein S, Schole M, Duraiswami H, Spinelli M, Park D, Chinitz L, Jankelson L. Comparison of the Effect of Atrial Fibrillation Detection Algorithms in Patients With Cryptogenic Stroke Using Implantable Loop Recorders. Am J Cardiol 2020;**129**:25-29.

138. Afzal MR, Mease J, Koppert T, Okabe T, Tyler J, Houmsse M, Augostini RS, Weiss R, Hummel JD, Kalbfleisch SJ, Daoud EG. Incidence of false-positive transmissions during remote rhythm monitoring with implantable loop recorders. Heart Rhythm 2020;**17**(1):75-80.

139. Medtronic. Introducing $AccuRhythm^{TM}$ AI algorithms. https://www.medtronic.com/us-en/healthcare-professionals/products/cardiac-rhythm/cardiac-monitors/ling-ii/accurhythm-ai-algorithms.html.

140. Rogers JD, Sanders P, Piorkowski C, Sohail MR, Anand R, Crossen K, Khairallah FS, Kaplon RE, Stromberg K, Kowal RC. In-office insertion of a miniaturized insertable

cardiac monitor: Results from the Reveal LINQ In-Office 2 randomized study. Heart Rhythm 2017;**14**(2):218-224.

141. Pachulski R, Cockrell J, Solomon H, Yang F, Rogers J. Implant evaluation of an insertable cardiac monitor outside the electrophysiology lab setting. PLoS One 2013;8(8):e71544.

142. Sawyer LM, Witte KK, Reynolds MR, Mittal S, Grimsey Jones FW, Rosemas SC, Ziegler PD, Kaplon RE, Yaghi S. Cost-effectiveness of an insertable cardiac monitor to detect atrial fibrillation in patients with cryptogenic stroke. J Comp Eff Res 2021;**10**(2):127-141.

143. Schnabel RB, Haeusler KG, Healey JS, Freedman B, Boriani G, Brachmann J, Brandes A, Bustamante A, Casadei B, Crijns H, Doehner W, Engström G, Fauchier L, Friberg L, Gladstone DJ, Glotzer TV, Goto S, Hankey GJ, Harbison JA, Hobbs FDR, Johnson LSB, Kamel H, Kirchhof P, Korompoki E, Krieger DW, Lip GYH, Løchen ML, Mairesse GH, Montaner J, Neubeck L, Ntaios G, Piccini JP, Potpara TS, Quinn TJ, Reiffel JA, Ribeiro ALP, Rienstra M, Rosenqvist M, Themistoclakis S, Sinner MF, Svendsen JH, Van Gelder IC, Wachter R, Wijeratne T, Yan B. Searching for Atrial Fibrillation Poststroke: A White Paper of the AF-SCREEN International Collaboration. Circulation 2019;**140**(22):1834-1850.

144. Hindricks G, Potpara T, Dagres N, Arbelo E, Bax JJ, Blomström-Lundqvist C, Boriani G, Castella M, Dan GA, Dilaveris PE, Fauchier L, Filippatos G, Kalman JM, La Meir M, Lane DA, Lebeau JP, Lettino M, Lip GYH, Pinto FJ, Thomas GN, Valgimigli M, Van Gelder IC, Van Putte BP, Watkins CL. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS): The Task Force for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Developed with the special
contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J 2021;**42**(5):373-498.

145. Brieger D, Amerena J, Attia JR, Bajorek B, Chan KH, Connell C, Freedman B, Ferguson C, Hall T, Haqqani HM, Hendriks J, Hespe CM, Hung J, Kalman JM, Sanders P, Worthington J, Yan T, Zwar NA. National Heart Foundation of Australia and Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand: Australian clinical guidelines for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation 2018. Med J Aust 2018;**209**(8):356-362.

146. Kahwati LC, Asher GN, Kadro ZO, Keen S, Ali R, Coker-Schwimmer E, Jonas DE. Screening for Atrial Fibrillation: Updated Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. JAMA 2022;**327**(4):368-383.

147. Svennberg E, Friberg L, Frykman V, Al-Khalili F, Engdahl J, Rosenqvist M. Clinical outcomes in systematic screening for atrial fibrillation (STROKESTOP): a multicentre, parallel group, unmasked, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2021;**398**(10310):1498-1506.

148. Sanna T, Diener HC, Passman RS, Di Lazzaro V, Bernstein RA, Morillo CA, Rymer MM, Thijs V, Rogers T, Beckers F, Lindborg K, Brachmann J. Cryptogenic stroke and underlying atrial fibrillation. New England Journal of Medicine 2014;**370**(26):2478-2486.

149. Gladstone DJ, Spring M, Dorian P, Panzov V, Thorpe KE, Hall J, Vaid H, O'Donnell M, Laupacis A, Côté R, Sharma M, Blakely JA, Shuaib A, Hachinski V, Coutts SB, Sahlas DJ, Teal P, Yip S, Spence JD, Buck B, Verreault S, Casaubon LK, Penn A, Selchen D, Jin A, Howse D, Mehdiratta M, Boyle K, Aviv R, Kapral MK, Mamdani M. Atrial fibrillation in patients with cryptogenic stroke. N Engl J Med 2014;**370**(26):2467-77.

150. Tsivgoulis G, Katsanos AH, Köhrmann M, Caso V, Perren F, Palaiodimou L, Deftereos S, Giannopoulos S, Ellul J, Krogias C, Mavridis D, Triantafyllou S, Alexandrov AW, Schellinger PD, Alexandrov AV. Duration of Implantable Cardiac Monitoring and Detection of Atrial Fibrillation in Ischemic Stroke Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Stroke 2019;**21**(3):302-311.

151. Asaithambi G, Monita JE, Annamalai MR, Ho BM, Marino EH, Hanson SK. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation with insertable cardiac monitors in cryptogenic stroke: A single-center experience. J Electrocardiol 2018;**51**(6):973-976.

152. Carrazco C, Golyan D, Kahen M, Black K, Libman RB, Katz JM. Prevalence and Risk Factors for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation and Flutter Detection after Cryptogenic Ischemic Stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2018;**27**(1):203-209.

153. Cotter PE, Martin PJ, Ring L, Warburton EA, Belham M, Pugh PJ. Incidence of atrial fibrillation detected by implantable loop recorders in unexplained stroke. Neurology 2013;**80**(17):1546-50.

154. De Angelis MV, Di Stefano V, Franciotti R, Furia N, Di Girolamo E, Onofrj M, Faustino M. Cryptogenic stroke and atrial fibrillation in a real-world population: the role of insertable cardiac monitors. Sci Rep 2020;**10**(1):3230.

155. Israel C, Kitsiou A, Kalyani M, Deelawar S, Ejangue LE, Rogalewski A, Hagemeister C, Minnerup J, Schäbitz WR. Detection of atrial fibrillation in patients with embolic stroke of undetermined source by prolonged monitoring with implantable loop recorders. Thromb Haemost 2017;**117**(10):1962-1969.

156. Iwata T, Todo K, Yamagami H, Morimoto M, Hashimoto T, Doijiri R, Furuya H. High Detection Rate of Atrial Fibrillation With Insertable Cardiac Monitor Implantation in Patients With Cryptogenic Stroke Diagnosed by Magnetic Resonance Imaging. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2019;**28**(9):2569-2573.

157. Jorfida M, Antolini M, Cerrato E, Caprioli MG, Castagno D, Garrone P, Budano C, Cerrato P, Gaita F. Cryptogenic ischemic stroke and prevalence of asymptomatic atrial fibrillation: a prospective study. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 2016;**17**(12):863-869.

158. Milstein NS, Musat DL, Allred J, Seiler A, Pimienta J, Oliveros S, Bhatt AG, Preminger M, Sichrovsky T, Shaw RE, Mittal S. Detection of atrial fibrillation using an implantable loop recorder following cryptogenic stroke: implications for post-stroke electrocardiographic monitoring. J Interv Card Electrophysiol 2020;**57**(1):141-147.

159. Öner A, Lips T, Walter U, Storch A, Ince H, Caglayan E, Yücel S, Ortak J, Schmidt C. Detection of arrhythmia using an implantable cardiac monitor following a cryptogenic stroke: a single-center observational study. Eur J Med Res 2020;**25**(1):25.

160. Pecha S, Wilke I, Yildirim Y, Reichenspurner H, Aydin MA. Implantable loop recorder monitoring in patients with cryptogenic stroke - Detection and treatment of different clinically relevant arrhythmias. J Electrocardiol 2020;**60**:102-106.

161. Poli S, Diedler J, Härtig F, Götz N, Bauer A, Sachse T, Müller K, Müller I, Stimpfle F, Duckheim M, Steeg M, Eick C, Schreieck J, Gawaz M, Ziemann U, Zuern CS. Insertable cardiac monitors after cryptogenic stroke--a risk factor based approach to enhance the detection rate for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Eur J Neurol 2016;**23**(2):375-81.

162. Lowres N, Freedman B. Searching for atrial fibrillation post-stroke with prolonged monitoring: Do it early, but should we be looking for something else? Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc 2021;**34**:100819.

163. Svendsen JH, Diederichsen SZ, Højberg S, Krieger DW, Graff C, Kronborg C, Olesen MS, Nielsen JB, Holst AG, Brandes A, Haugan KJ, Køber L. Implantable loop recorder detection of atrial fibrillation to prevent stroke (The LOOP Study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2021;**398**(10310):1507-1516.

164. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, Hindricks G, Manolis AS, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. Eur Heart J 2016;**37**(38):2893-2962.

165. January CT, Wann LS, Calkins H, Chen LY, Cigarroa JE, Cleveland JC, Jr., Ellinor PT, Ezekowitz MD, Field ME, Furie KL, Heidenreich PA, Murray KT, Shea JB, Tracy CM, Yancy CW. 2019 AHA/ACC/HRS Focused Update of the 2014 AHA/ACC/HRS Guideline for the Management of Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019;**74**(1):104-132.

166. Gladstone DJ, Lindsay MP, Douketis J, Smith EE, Dowlatshahi D, Wein T, Bourgoin A, Cox J, Falconer JB, Graham BR, Labrie M, McDonald L, Mandzia J, Ngui D, Pageau P, Rodgerson A, Semchuk W, Tebbutt T, Tuchak C, van Gaal S, Villaluna K, Foley N, Coutts S, Mountain A, Gubitz G, Udell JA, McGuff R, Poppe AY. Canadian Stroke Best Practice Recommendations: Secondary Prevention of Stroke Update 2020. Can J Neurol Sci 2022;**49**(3):315-337.

167. Wolf PA, Abbott RD, Kannel WB. Atrial fibrillation as an independent risk factor for stroke: the Framingham Study. Stroke 1991;**22**(8):983-8.

168. Jørgensen HS, Nakayama H, Reith J, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Acute stroke with atrial fibrillation. The Copenhagen Stroke Study. Stroke 1996;**27**(10):1765-9.

169. Lin HJ, Wolf PA, Kelly-Hayes M, Beiser AS, Kase CS, Benjamin EJ, D'AgostinoRB. Stroke severity in atrial fibrillation. The Framingham Study. Stroke 1996;27(10):1760-4.

170. Staerk L, Sherer JA, Ko D, Benjamin EJ, Helm RH. Atrial Fibrillation: Epidemiology,Pathophysiology, and Clinical Outcomes. Circ Res 2017;**120**(9):1501-1517.

171. Bekwelem W, Connolly SJ, Halperin JL, Adabag S, Duval S, Chrolavicius S, Pogue J, Ezekowitz MD, Eikelboom JW, Wallentin LG, Yusuf S, Hirsch AT. Extracranial Systemic Embolic Events in Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation: Incidence, Risk Factors, and Outcomes. Circulation 2015;**132**(9):796-803.

Bikdeli B, Abou Ziki MD, Lip GYH. Pulmonary Embolism and Atrial Fibrillation:
Two Sides of the Same Coin? A Systematic Review. Semin Thromb Hemost 2017;43(8):849-863.

173. Hald EM, Enga KF, Lochen ML, Mathiesen EB, Njolstad I, Wilsgaard T, Braekkan SK, Hansen JB. Venous Thromboembolism Increases the Risk of Atrial Fibrillation: The Tromso Study. Journal of the American Heart Association 2014;**3**(1).

174. Hornestam B, Adiels M, Wai Giang K, Hansson PO, Björck L, Rosengren A. Atrial fibrillation and risk of venous thromboembolism: a Swedish Nationwide Registry Study. Europace : European pacing, arrhythmias, and cardiac electrophysiology : journal of the working groups on cardiac pacing, arrhythmias, and cardiac cellular electrophysiology of the European Society of Cardiology 2021.

175. Hornestam B, Adiels M, Wai Giang K, Hansson PO, Björck L, Rosengren A. Atrial fibrillation and risk of venous thromboembolism: a Swedish Nationwide Registry Study. Europace 2021;**23**(12):1913-1921.

176. Wang CC, Lin CL, Wang GJ, Chang CT, Sung FC, Kao CH. Atrial fibrillation associated with increased risk of venous thromboembolism. A population-based cohort study. Thromb Haemost 2015;**113**(1):185-92.

177. Koh YH, Lew LZW, Franke KB, Elliott AD, Lau DH, Thiyagarajah A, Linz D, Arstall M, Tully PJ, Baune BT, Munawar DA, Mahajan R. Predictive role of atrial fibrillation in cognitive decline: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 2.8 million individuals. Europace 2022.

178. Santhanakrishnan R, Wang N, Larson MG, Magnani JW, McManus DD, Lubitz SA, Ellinor PT, Cheng S, Vasan RS, Lee DS, Wang TJ, Levy D, Benjamin EJ, Ho JE. Atrial Fibrillation Begets Heart Failure and Vice Versa: Temporal Associations and Differences in Preserved Versus Reduced Ejection Fraction. Circulation 2016;**133**(5):484-92.

179. Healey JS, Oldgren J, Ezekowitz M, Zhu J, Pais P, Wang J, Commerford P, Jansky P, Avezum A, Sigamani A, Damasceno A, Reilly P, Grinvalds A, Nakamya J, Aje A, Almahmeed W, Moriarty A, Wallentin L, Yusuf S, Connolly SJ. Occurrence of death and stroke in patients in 47 countries 1 year after presenting with atrial fibrillation: a cohort study. Lancet 2016;**388**(10050):1161-9.

180. Soliman EZ, Safford MM, Muntner P, Khodneva Y, Dawood FZ, Zakai NA, Thacker EL, Judd S, Howard VJ, Howard G, Herrington DM, Cushman M. Atrial fibrillation and the risk of myocardial infarction. JAMA Intern Med 2014;**174**(1):107-14.

181. Miyasaka Y, Barnes ME, Gersh BJ, Cha SS, Bailey KR, Seward JB, Iwasaka T, Tsang TS. Coronary ischemic events after first atrial fibrillation: risk and survival. Am J Med 2007;**120**(4):357-63.

182. Odutayo A, Wong CX, Hsiao AJ, Hopewell S, Altman DG, Emdin CA. Atrial fibrillation and risks of cardiovascular disease, renal disease, and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2016;**354**:i4482.

183. Chen LY, Sotoodehnia N, Bůžková P, Lopez FL, Yee LM, Heckbert SR, Prineas R, Soliman EZ, Adabag S, Konety S, Folsom AR, Siscovick D, Alonso A. Atrial fibrillation and the risk of sudden cardiac death: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study and cardiovascular health study. JAMA Intern Med 2013;**173**(1):29-35.

184. Wu L, Emmens RW, van Wezenbeek J, Stooker W, Allaart CP, Vonk ABA, van Rossum AC, Niessen HWM, Krijnen PAJ. Atrial inflammation in different atrial fibrillation subtypes and its relation with clinical risk factors. Clin Res Cardiol 2020.

185. Kwon CH, Kang JG, Lee HJ, Kim NH, Sung JW, Cheong E, Sung KC. C-reactive protein and risk of atrial fibrillation in East Asians. Europace 2017;**19**(10):1643-1649.

186. Jiang Z, Dai L, Song Z, Li H, Shu M. Association between C-reactive protein and atrial fibrillation recurrence after catheter ablation: a meta-analysis. Clin Cardiol 2013;**36**(9):548-54.

187. Weymann A, Popov AF, Sabashnikov A, Ali-Hasan-Al-Saegh S, Ryazanov M, Tse G, Mirhosseini SJ, Liu T, Lotfaliani M, Sedaghat M, Baker WL, Ghanei A, Yavuz S, Zeriouh M, Izadpanah P, Dehghan H, Testa L, Nikfard M, Sa M, Mashhour A, Nombela-Franco L, Rezaeisadrabadi M, D'Ascenzo F, Zhigalov K, Benedetto U, Aminolsharieh Najafi S, Szczechowicz M, Roever L, Meng L, Gong M, Deshmukh AJ, Palmerini T, Linde C, Filipiak KJ, Stone GW, Biondi-Zoccai G, Calkins H. Baseline and postoperative levels of C-reactive protein and interleukins as inflammatory predictors of atrial fibrillation following cardiac surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Kardiol Pol 2018;**76**(2):440-451.

188. Gallagher C, Fitzgerald JL, Stokes MB, Noubiap JJ, Elliott AD, Hendriks JM, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P, Lau DH. Risk Factor Management in Atrial Fibrillation: How to Deliver a Successful Clinic. Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports 2021;**15**(7):9.

189. Aulin J, Siegbahn A, Hijazi Z, Ezekowitz MD, Andersson U, Connolly SJ, Huber K, Reilly PA, Wallentin L, Oldgren J. Interleukin-6 and C-reactive protein and risk for death and cardiovascular events in patients with atrial fibrillation. Am Heart J 2015;**170**(6):1151-60.

190. Wu N, Xu B, Xiang Y, Wu L, Zhang Y, Ma X, Tong S, Shu M, Song Z, Li Y, Zhong L. Association of inflammatory factors with occurrence and recurrence of atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol 2013;**169**(1):62-72.

191. Roldan V, Marin F, Diaz J, Gallego P, Jover E, Romera M, Manzano-Fernandez S, Casas T, Valdes M, Vicente V, Lip GY. High sensitivity cardiac troponin T and interleukin-6 predict adverse cardiovascular events and mortality in anticoagulated patients with atrial fibrillation. J Thromb Haemost 2012;**10**(8):1500-7.

192. Ren X, Wang X, Yuan M, Tian C, Li H, Yang X, Li X, Li Y, Yang Y, Liu N, Shang H, Gao Y, Xing Y. Mechanisms and Treatments of Oxidative Stress in Atrial Fibrillation.Curr Pharm Des 2018;24(26):3062-3071.

193. Samman Tahhan A, Sandesara PB, Hayek SS, Alkhoder A, Chivukula K, Hammadah M, Mohamed-Kelli H, O'Neal WT, Topel M, Ghasemzadeh N, Ko YA, Aida H, Gafeer M, Sperling L, Vaccarino V, Liang Y, Jones DP, Quyyumi AA. Association between oxidative stress and atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2017;**14**(12):1849-1855.

194. Xia W, Qu X, Yu Y, Zhang X, Feng W, Song Y. Asymmetric dimethylarginine concentration and early recurrence of atrial fibrillation after electrical cardioversion. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2008;**31**(8):1036-40.

195. Leftheriotis DI, Fountoulaki KT, Flevari PG, Parissis JT, Panou FK, Andreadou IT, Venetsanou KS, Iliodromitis EK, Kremastinos DT. The predictive value of inflammatory and oxidative markers following the successful cardioversion of persistent lone atrial fibrillation. Int J Cardiol 2009;**135**(3):361-9.

196. Shimano M, Shibata R, Inden Y, Yoshida N, Uchikawa T, Tsuji Y, Murohara T. Reactive oxidative metabolites are associated with atrial conduction disturbance in patients with atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2009;**6**(7):935-40.

197. Wallentin L, Hijazi Z, Andersson U, Alexander JH, De Caterina R, Hanna M, Horowitz JD, Hylek EM, Lopes RD, Asberg S, Granger CB, Siegbahn A. Growth differentiation factor 15, a marker of oxidative stress and inflammation, for risk assessment in patients with atrial fibrillation: insights from the Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromboembolic Events in Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) trial. Circulation 2014;**130**(21):1847-58.

198. Bai Y, Guo SD, Liu Y, Ma CS, Lip GYH. Relationship of troponin to incident atrial fibrillation occurrence, recurrence after radiofrequency ablation and prognosis: a systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. Biomarkers 2018;**23**(6):512-517.

199. Filion KB, Agarwal SK, Ballantyne CM, Eberg M, Hoogeveen RC, Huxley RR, Loehr LR, Nambi V, Soliman EZ, Alonso A. High-sensitivity cardiac troponin T and the risk of incident atrial fibrillation: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Am Heart J 2015;**169**(1):31-8 e3.

200. Zhu K, Hung J, Divitini M, Murray K, Lim EM, St John A, Walsh JP, Knuiman M. High-sensitivity cardiac troponin I and risk of incident atrial fibrillation hospitalisation in an Australian community-based cohort: The Busselton health study. Clin Biochem 2018;**58**:20-25.

201. Yaghi S, Chang AD, Ricci BA, Jayaraman MV, McTaggart RA, Hemendinger M, Narwal P, Dakay K, Mac Grory B, Cutting SM, Burton TM, Song C, Mehanna E, Siket M, Madsen TE, Reznik M, Merkler AE, Lerario MP, Kamel H, Elkind MSV, Furie KL. Early Elevated Troponin Levels After Ischemic Stroke Suggests a Cardioembolic Source. Stroke 2018;**49**(1):121-126.

202. Hijazi Z, Oldgren J, Andersson U, Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Hohnloser SH, Reilly PA, Vinereanu D, Siegbahn A, Yusuf S, Wallentin L. Cardiac biomarkers are associated with an increased risk of stroke and death in patients with atrial fibrillation: a Randomized Evaluation of Long-term Anticoagulation Therapy (RE-LY) substudy. Circulation 2012;**125**(13):1605-16.

203. van den Bos EJ, Constantinescu AA, van Domburg RT, Akin S, Jordaens LJ, Kofflard MJ. Minor elevations in troponin I are associated with mortality and adverse cardiac events in patients with atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2011;**32**(5):611-7.

204. Kim BS, Kwon CH, Chang H, Kim SH, Kim HJ, Hwang HK, Chung SM. Usefulness of High-Sensitivity Troponin I to Predict Outcome in Patients With Newly Detected Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2020;**125**(5):744-750.

205. Hijazi Z, Wallentin L, Siegbahn A, Andersson U, Alexander JH, Atar D, Gersh BJ, Hanna M, Harjola VP, Horowitz JD, Husted S, Hylek EM, Lopes RD, McMurray JJ, Granger CB. High-sensitivity troponin T and risk stratification in patients with atrial fibrillation during treatment with apixaban or warfarin. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;**63**(1):52-61.

206. Kaura A, Arnold AD, Panoulas V, Glampson B, Davies J, Mulla A, Woods K, Omigie J, Shah AD, Channon KM, Weber JN, Thursz MR, Elliott P, Hemingway H, Williams B, Asselbergs FW, O'Sullivan M, Lord GM, Melikian N, Lefroy DC, Francis DP, Shah AM, Kharbanda R, Perera D, Patel RS, Mayet J. Prognostic significance of troponin level in 3121 patients presenting with atrial fibrillation (The NIHR Health Informatics Collaborative TROP-AF study). J Am Heart Assoc 2020;**9**(7):e013684.

207. Patton KK, Ellinor PT, Heckbert SR, Christenson RH, DeFilippi C, Gottdiener JS, Kronmal RA. N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide is a major predictor of the development of atrial fibrillation: the Cardiovascular Health Study. Circulation 2009;**120**(18):1768-74.

208. Simmers D, Potgieter D, Ryan L, Fahrner R, Rodseth RN. The use of preoperative Btype natriuretic peptide as a predictor of atrial fibrillation after thoracic surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2015;**29**(2):389-95.

209. Yamada T, Murakami Y, Okada T, Okamoto M, Shimizu T, Toyama J, Yoshida Y, Tsuboi N, Ito T, Muto M, Kondo T, Inden Y, Hirai M, Murohara T. Plasma atrial natriuretic Peptide and brain natriuretic Peptide levels after radiofrequency catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2006;**97**(12):1741-4.

210. Miake J, Kato M, Ogura K, Iitsuka K, Okamura A, Tomomori T, Tsujimoto D, Kato M, Yamamoto K. Pre-ablation levels of brain natriuretic peptide are independently associated with the recurrence of atrial fibrillation after radiofrequency catheter ablation in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Heart Vessels 2019;**34**(3):517-526.

211. Hijazi Z, Wallentin L, Siegbahn A, Andersson U, Christersson C, Ezekowitz J, Gersh BJ, Hanna M, Hohnloser S, Horowitz J, Huber K, Hylek EM, Lopes RD, McMurray JJ, Granger CB. N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide for risk assessment in patients with atrial fibrillation: insights from the ARISTOTLE Trial (Apixaban for the Prevention of Stroke in Subjects With Atrial Fibrillation). J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;**61**(22):2274-84.

212. Inohara T, Kim S, Pieper K, Blanco RG, Allen LA, Fonarow GC, Gersh BJ, Ezekowitz MD, Kowey PR, Reiffel JA, Naccarelli GV, Chan PS, Mahaffey KW, Singer DE, Freeman JV, Steinberg BA, Peterson ED, Piccini JP. B-type natriuretic peptide, disease progression and clinical outcomes in atrial fibrillation. Heart 2019;**105**(5):370-377.

213. Nattel S. Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms of Atrial Fibrosis in Atrial Fibrillation.JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2017;3(5):425-435.

214. Thanigaimani S, Lau DH, Agbaedeng T, Elliott AD, Mahajan R, Sanders P. Molecular mechanisms of atrial fibrosis: implications for the clinic. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2017;**15**(4):247-256.

215. Parikh A, Patel D, McTiernan CF, Xiang W, Haney J, Yang L, Lin B, Kaplan AD, Bett GC, Rasmusson RL, Shroff SG, Schwartzman D, Salama G. Relaxin suppresses atrial fibrillation by reversing fibrosis and myocyte hypertrophy and increasing conduction velocity and sodium current in spontaneously hypertensive rat hearts. Circ Res 2013;**113**(3):313-21.

216. Qu X, Chen L, Sun L, Chen C, Gao Z, Huang W, Zhou H. Serum relaxin level predicts recurrence of atrial fibrillation after radiofrequency catheter ablation. Heart Vessels 2019;**34**(9):1543-1551.

217. Zhou H, Qu X, Gao Z, Zheng G, Lin J, Su L, Huang Z, Li H, Huang W. Relaxin Level in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Association with Heart Failure Occurrence: A STROBE Compliant Article. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;**95**(21):e3664.

218. Hernandez-Romero D, Vilchez JA, Lahoz A, Romero-Aniorte AI, Jover E, Garcia-Alberola A, Jara-Rubio R, Martinez CM, Valdes M, Marin F. Galectin-3 as a marker of interstitial atrial remodelling involved in atrial fibrillation. Sci Rep 2017;**7**:40378.

219. Gong M, Cheung A, Wang QS, Li G, Goudis CA, Bazoukis G, Lip GYH, Baranchuk A, Korantzopoulos P, Letsas KP, Tse G, Liu T. Galectin-3 and risk of atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Lab Anal 2020;**34**(3):e23104.

220. Kocyigit D, Gurses KM, Yalcin MU, Canpinar H, Canpolat U, Evranos B, Yorgun H, Ozer N, Guc D, Aytemir K. Serum galectin-3 level as a marker of thrombogenicity in atrial fibrillation. J Clin Lab Anal 2017;**31**(6).

221. Tang Z, Zeng L, Lin Y, Han Z, Gu J, Wang C, Zhang H. Circulating Galectin-3 is Associated With Left Atrial Appendage Remodelling and Thrombus Formation in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. Heart Lung Circ 2019;**28**(6):923-931.

222. Mathew JS, Sachs MC, Katz R, Patton KK, Heckbert SR, Hoofnagle AN, Alonso A, Chonchol M, Deo R, Ix JH, Siscovick DS, Kestenbaum B, de Boer IH. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and incident atrial fibrillation: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) and the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS). Circulation 2014;**130**(4):298-307.

223. Alonso A, Misialek JR, Eckfeldt JH, Selvin E, Coresh J, Chen LY, Soliman EZ, Agarwal SK, Lutsey PL. Circulating fibroblast growth factor-23 and the incidence of atrial fibrillation: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. J Am Heart Assoc 2014;**3**(5):e001082.

224. Mehta R, Cai X, Lee J, Scialla JJ, Bansal N, Sondheimer JH, Chen J, Hamm LL, Ricardo AC, Navaneethan SD, Deo R, Rahman M, Feldman HI, Go AS, Isakova T, Wolf M.

Association of Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 With Atrial Fibrillation in Chronic Kidney Disease, From the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort Study. JAMA Cardiol 2016;**1**(5):548-56.

225. Dong Q, Li S, Wang W, Han L, Xia Z, Wu Y, Tang Y, Li J, Cheng X. FGF23 regulates atrial fibrosis in atrial fibrillation by mediating the STAT3 and SMAD3 pathways. J Cell Physiol 2019;**234**(11):19502-19510.

226. Huang SY, Chen YC, Kao YH, Hsieh MH, Lin YK, Chung CC, Lee TI, Tsai WC, Chen SA, Chen YJ. Fibroblast growth factor 23 dysregulates late sodium current and calcium homeostasis with enhanced arrhythmogenesis in pulmonary vein cardiomyocytes. Oncotarget 2016;**7**(43):69231-69242.

227. Begg GA, Lip GY, Plein S, Tayebjee MH. Circulating biomarkers of fibrosis and cardioversion of atrial fibrillation: A prospective, controlled cohort study. Clin Biochem 2017;**50**(1-2):11-15.

228. Mizia-Stec K, Wieczorek J, Polak M, Wybraniec MT, Wozniak-Skowerska I, Hoffmann A, Nowak S, Wikarek M, Wnuk-Wojnar A, Chudek J, Wiecek A. Lower soluble Klotho and higher fibroblast growth factor 23 serum levels are associated with episodes of atrial fibrillation. Cytokine 2018;**111**:106-111.

229. Wan H, Wu S, Yang Y, Zhu J, Zhang A, Liang Y. Plasma fibrin D-dimer and the risk of left atrial thrombus: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2017;**12**(2):e0172272.

230. Siegbahn A, Oldgren J, Andersson U, Ezekowitz MD, Reilly PA, Connolly SJ, Yusuf S, Wallentin L, Eikelboom JW. D-dimer and factor VIIa in atrial fibrillation - prognostic values for cardiovascular events and effects of anticoagulation therapy. A RE-LY substudy. Thromb Haemost 2016;**115**(5):921-30.

231. Christersson C, Wallentin L, Andersson U, Alexander JH, Ansell J, De Caterina R, Gersh BJ, Granger CB, Hanna M, Horowitz JD, Huber K, Husted S, Hylek EM, Lopes RD, Siegbahn A. D-dimer and risk of thromboembolic and bleeding events in patients with atrial fibrillation--observations from the ARISTOTLE trial. J Thromb Haemost 2014;**12**(9):1401-12.

232. Choi KH, Seo WK, Park MS, Kim JT, Chung JW, Bang OY, Kim GM, Song TJ, Kim BJ, Heo SH, Jung JM, Oh K, Kim CK, Yu S, Park KY, Kim JM, Park JH, Choi JC, Hwang YH, Kim YJ. Baseline D-Dimer Levels as a Risk Assessment Biomarker for Recurrent Stroke in Patients with Combined Atrial Fibrillation and Atherosclerosis. J Clin Med 2019;**8**(9).

233. Ye YZ, Chang YF, Wang BZ, Ma YT, Ma X. Prognostic value of von Willebrand factor for patients with atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Postgrad Med J 2019.

234. Luo X, Yang B, Nattel S. MicroRNAs and atrial fibrillation: mechanisms and translational potential. Nat Rev Cardiol 2015;**12**(2):80-90.

235. Babapoor-Farrokhran S, Gill D, Rasekhi RT. The role of long noncoding RNAs in atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2020.

236. Komal S, Yin JJ, Wang SH, Huang CZ, Tao HL, Dong JZ, Han SN, Zhang LR. MicroRNAs: Emerging biomarkers for atrial fibrillation. J Cardiol 2019;**74**(6):475-482.

237. Zhou D, Yang K, Hu J, Shi J, Hu X. Noncoding RNAs in Atrial Fibrillation: Current Status and Prospect. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2020;**75**(1):10-17.

238. Wachter R, Lahno R, Haase B, Weber-Kruger M, Seegers J, Edelmann F, Wohlfahrt J, Gelbrich G, Gorlitz A, Kermer P, Vollmann D, Hasenfuss G, Groschel K, Stahrenberg R. Natriuretic peptides for the detection of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in patients with cerebral ischemia--the Find-AF study. PLoS One 2012;**7**(4):e34351.

239. Wasser K, Weber-Kruger M, Groschel S, Uphaus T, Liman J, Hamann GF, Kermer P, Seegers J, Binder L, Gelbrich G, Groschel K, Wachter R. Brain Natriuretic Peptide and Discovery of Atrial Fibrillation After Stroke: A Subanalysis of the Find-AFRANDOMISED Trial. Stroke 2020;**51**(2):395-401.

240. Amar D, Zhang H, Tan KS, Piening D, Rusch VW, Jones DR. A brain natriuretic peptide-based prediction model for atrial fibrillation after thoracic surgery: Development and internal validation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2019;**157**(6):2493-2499 e1.

241. Sinner MF, Stepas KA, Moser CB, Krijthe BP, Aspelund T, Sotoodehnia N, Fontes JD, Janssens AC, Kronmal RA, Magnani JW, Witteman JC, Chamberlain AM, Lubitz SA, Schnabel RB, Vasan RS, Wang TJ, Agarwal SK, McManus DD, Franco OH, Yin X, Larson MG, Burke GL, Launer LJ, Hofman A, Levy D, Gottdiener JS, Kaab S, Couper D, Harris TB, Astor BC, Ballantyne CM, Hoogeveen RC, Arai AE, Soliman EZ, Ellinor PT, Stricker BH, Gudnason V, Heckbert SR, Pencina MJ, Benjamin EJ, Alonso A. B-type natriuretic peptide and C-reactive protein in the prediction of atrial fibrillation risk: the CHARGE-AF Consortium of community-based cohort studies. Europace 2014;**16**(10):1426-33.

242. Kemp Gudmundsdottir K, Fredriksson T, Svennberg E, Al-Khalili F, Friberg L, Frykman V, Hijazi Z, Rosenqvist M, Engdahl J. Stepwise mass screening for atrial fibrillation using N-terminal B-type natriuretic peptide: the STROKESTOP II study. Europace 2020;**22**(1):24-32.

243. Chua W, Purmah Y, Cardoso VR, Gkoutos GV, Tull SP, Neculau G, Thomas MR, Kotecha D, Lip GYH, Kirchhof P, Fabritz L. Data-driven discovery and validation of circulating blood-based biomarkers associated with prevalent atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2019;**40**(16):1268-1276.

244. Hijazi Z, Lindback J, Alexander JH, Hanna M, Held C, Hylek EM, Lopes RD, Oldgren J, Siegbahn A, Stewart RA, White HD, Granger CB, Wallentin L. The ABC (age,

biomarkers, clinical history) stroke risk score: a biomarker-based risk score for predicting stroke in atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2016;**37**(20):1582-90.

245. Hijazi Z, Oldgren J, Lindback J, Alexander JH, Connolly SJ, Eikelboom JW, Ezekowitz MD, Held C, Hylek EM, Lopes RD, Siegbahn A, Yusuf S, Granger CB, Wallentin L. The novel biomarker-based ABC (age, biomarkers, clinical history)-bleeding risk score for patients with atrial fibrillation: a derivation and validation study. Lancet 2016;**387**(10035):2302-2311.

246. Hijazi Z, Oldgren J, Lindback J, Alexander JH, Connolly SJ, Eikelboom JW, Ezekowitz MD, Held C, Hylek EM, Lopes RD, Yusuf S, Granger CB, Siegbahn A, Wallentin L. A biomarker-based risk score to predict death in patients with atrial fibrillation: the ABC (age, biomarkers, clinical history) death risk score. Eur Heart J 2018;**39**(6):477-485.

247. Oldgren J, Hijazi Z, Lindback J, Alexander JH, Connolly SJ, Eikelboom JW, Ezekowitz MD, Granger CB, Hylek EM, Lopes RD, Siegbahn A, Yusuf S, Wallentin L. Performance and Validation of a Novel Biomarker-Based Stroke Risk Score for Atrial Fibrillation. Circulation 2016;**134**(22):1697-1707.

248. Berg DD, Ruff CT, Jarolim P, Giugliano RP, Nordio F, Lanz HJ, Mercuri MF, Antman EM, Braunwald E, Morrow DA. Performance of the ABC Scores for Assessing the Risk of Stroke or Systemic Embolism and Bleeding in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation in ENGAGE AF-TIMI 48. Circulation 2019;**139**(6):760-771.

249. Rivera-Caravaca JM, Roldán V, Esteve-Pastor MA, Valdés M, Vicente V, Lip GYH, Marín F. Long-Term Stroke Risk Prediction in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: Comparison of the ABC-Stroke and CHA(2)DS(2)-VASc Scores. J Am Heart Assoc 2017;**6**(7).

250. Esteve-Pastor MA, Rivera-Caravaca JM, Roldan V, Vicente V, Valdés M, Marín F, Lip GYH. Long-term bleeding risk prediction in 'real world' patients with atrial fibrillation:

Comparison of the HAS-BLED and ABC-Bleeding risk scores. The Murcia Atrial Fibrillation Project. Thromb Haemost 2017;**117**(10):1848-1858.

251. Chang G, Xie Q, Ma L, Hu K, Zhang Z, Mu G, Cui Y. Accuracy of HAS-BLED and other bleeding risk assessment tools in predicting major bleeding events in atrial fibrillation: A network meta-analysis. J Thromb Haemost 2020;**18**(4):791-801.

252. Gage BF, Waterman AD, Shannon W, Boechler M, Rich MW, Radford MJ. Validation of clinical classification schemes for predicting stroke: results from the National Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. JAMA 2001;**285**(22):2864-70.

253. Lip GY, Nieuwlaat R, Pisters R, Lane DA, Crijns HJ. Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the euro heart survey on atrial fibrillation. Chest 2010;**137**(2):263-72.

254. Singer DE, Chang Y, Borowsky LH, Fang MC, Pomernacki NK, Udaltsova N, Reynolds K, Go AS. A new risk scheme to predict ischemic stroke and other thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: the ATRIA study stroke risk score. J Am Heart Assoc 2013;**2**(3):e000250.

255. Fox KAA, Lucas JE, Pieper KS, Bassand JP, Camm AJ, Fitzmaurice DA, Goldhaber SZ, Goto S, Haas S, Hacke W, Kayani G, Oto A, Mantovani LG, Misselwitz F, Piccini JP, Turpie AGG, Verheugt FWA, Kakkar AK. Improved risk stratification of patients with atrial fibrillation: an integrated GARFIELD-AF tool for the prediction of mortality, stroke and bleed in patients with and without anticoagulation. BMJ Open 2017;**7**(12):e017157.

256. Lane DA, Lip GYH. Stroke and bleeding risk stratification in atrial fibrillation: a critical appraisal. Eur Heart J Suppl 2020;**22**(Suppl O):O14-O27.

257. Pisters R, Lane DA, Nieuwlaat R, de Vos CB, Crijns HJ, Lip GY. A novel userfriendly score (HAS-BLED) to assess 1-year risk of major bleeding in patients with atrial fibrillation: the Euro Heart Survey. Chest 2010;**138**(5):1093-100.

258. Fang MC, Go AS, Chang Y, Borowsky LH, Pomernacki NK, Udaltsova N, Singer DE. A new risk scheme to predict warfarin-associated hemorrhage: The ATRIA (Anticoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation) Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;**58**(4):395-401.

259. O'Brien EC, Simon DN, Thomas LE, Hylek EM, Gersh BJ, Ansell JE, Kowey PR, Mahaffey KW, Chang P, Fonarow GC, Pencina MJ, Piccini JP, Peterson ED. The ORBIT bleeding score: a simple bedside score to assess bleeding risk in atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2015;**36**(46):3258-64.

260. Guo Y, Lane DA, Chen Y, Lip GYH. Regular Bleeding Risk Assessment Associated with Reduction in Bleeding Outcomes: The mAFA-II Randomized Trial. Am J Med 2020;**133**(10):1195-1202 e2.

261. Alkhouli M, Friedman PA. Ischemic Stroke Risk in Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019;**74**(24):3050-3065.

262. Risk factors for stroke and efficacy of antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation. Analysis of pooled data from five randomized controlled trials. Arch Intern Med 1994;**154**(13):1449-57.

263. Killu AM, Granger CB, Gersh BJ. Risk stratification for stroke in atrial fibrillation: a critique. Eur Heart J 2019;**40**(16):1294-1302.

264. Lip GYH, Nieuwlaat R, Pisters R, Lane DA, Crijns HJGM. Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the euro heart survey on atrial fibrillation. Chest 2010;**137**(2):263-272.

265. Singer DE, Chang Y, Borowsky LH, Fang MC, Pomernacki NK, Udaltsova N, Reynolds K, Go AS. A new risk scheme to predict ischemic stroke and other thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: the ATRIA study stroke risk score. Journal of the American Heart Association 2013;**2**(3):e000250-e000250.

266. January CT, Wann LS, Alpert JS, Calkins H, Cigarroa JE, Cleveland JC, Jr., Conti JB, Ellinor PT, Ezekowitz MD, Field ME, Murray KT, Sacco RL, Stevenson WG, Tchou PJ, Tracy CM, Yancy CW. 2014 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. Circulation 2014;**130**(23):2071-104.

267. Guidelines for Pharmacotherapy of Atrial Fibrillation (JCS 2013). Circ J 2014;**78**(8):1997-2021.

268. Verma A, Cairns JA, Mitchell LB, Macle L, Stiell IG, Gladstone D, McMurtry MS, Connolly S, Cox JL, Dorian P, Ivers N, Leblanc K, Nattel S, Healey JS. 2014 focused update of the Canadian Cardiovascular Society Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation. Can J Cardiol 2014;**30**(10):1114-30.

269. Brieger D, Amerena J, Attia J, Bajorek B, Chan KH, Connell C, Freedman B, Ferguson C, Hall T, Haqqani H, Hendriks J, Hespe C, Hung J, Kalman JM, Sanders P, Worthington J, Yan TD, Zwar N. National Heart Foundation of Australia and the Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand: Australian Clinical Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Atrial Fibrillation 2018. Heart Lung Circ 2018;**27**(10):1209-1266.

270. Mekaj YH, Mekaj AY, Duci SB, Miftari EI. New oral anticoagulants: their advantages and disadvantages compared with vitamin K antagonists in the prevention and treatment of patients with thromboembolic events. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2015;**11**:967-77.

271. López-López JA, Sterne JAC, Thom HHZ, Higgins JPT, Hingorani AD, Okoli GN, Davies PA, Bodalia PN, Bryden PA, Welton NJ, Hollingworth W, Caldwell DM, Savović J, Dias S, Salisbury C, Eaton D, Stephens-Boal A, Sofat R. Oral anticoagulants for prevention of stroke in atrial fibrillation: systematic review, network meta-analysis, and cost effectiveness analysis. BMJ 2017;**359**:j5058.

272. Briere JB, Bowrin K, Coleman C, Fauchier L, Levy P, Folkerts K, Toumi M, Taieb V, Millier A, Wu O. Real-world clinical evidence on rivaroxaban, dabigatran, and apixaban compared with vitamin K antagonists in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: a systematic literature review. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 2019;**19**(1):27-36.

273. Pluymaekers N, Dudink E, Luermans J, Meeder JG, Lenderink T, Widdershoven J, Bucx JJJ, Rienstra M, Kamp O, Van Opstal JM, Alings M, Oomen A, Kirchhof CJ, Van Dijk VF, Ramanna H, Liem A, Dekker LR, Essers BAB, Tijssen JGP, Van Gelder IC, Crijns H. Early or Delayed Cardioversion in Recent-Onset Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2019;**380**(16):1499-1508.

274. Cappato R, Calkins H, Chen SA, Davies W, Iesaka Y, Kalman J, Kim YH, Klein G, Natale A, Packer D, Skanes A, Ambrogi F, Biganzoli E. Updated worldwide survey on the methods, efficacy, and safety of catheter ablation for human atrial fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2010;**3**(1):32-8.

275. Wyse DG, Waldo AL, DiMarco JP, Domanski MJ, Rosenberg Y, Schron EB, Kellen JC, Greene HL, Mickel MC, Dalquist JE, Corley SD. A comparison of rate control and rhythm control in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2002;**347**(23):1825-33.

276. Van Gelder IC, Hagens VE, Bosker HA, Kingma JH, Kamp O, Kingma T, Said SA, Darmanata JI, Timmermans AJ, Tijssen JG, Crijns HJ. A comparison of rate control and rhythm control in patients with recurrent persistent atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2002;**347**(23):1834-40.

277. Hohnloser SH, Kuck KH, Lilienthal J. Rhythm or rate control in atrial fibrillation--Pharmacological Intervention in Atrial Fibrillation (PIAF): a randomised trial. Lancet 2000;**356**(9244):1789-94.

278. Carlsson J, Miketic S, Windeler J, Cuneo A, Haun S, Micus S, Walter S, Tebbe U. Randomized trial of rate-control versus rhythm-control in persistent atrial fibrillation: the Strategies of Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation (STAF) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;**41**(10):1690-6.

279. Opolski G, Torbicki A, Kosior DA, Szulc M, Wozakowska-Kaplon B, Kolodziej P, Achremczyk P. Rate control vs rhythm control in patients with nonvalvular persistent atrial fibrillation: the results of the Polish How to Treat Chronic Atrial Fibrillation (HOT CAFE) Study. Chest 2004;**126**(2):476-86.

280. Ogawa S, Yamashita T, Yamazaki T, Aizawa Y, Atarashi H, Inoue H, Ohe T, Ohtsu H, Okumura K, Katoh T, Kamakura S, Kumagai K, Kurachi Y, Kodama I, Koretsune Y, Saikawa T, Sakurai M, Sugi K, Tabuchi T, Nakaya H, Nakayama T, Hirai M, Fukatani M, Mitamura H. Optimal treatment strategy for patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: J-RHYTHM Study. Circ J 2009;**73**(2):242-8.

281. Kirchhof P, Camm AJ, Goette A, Brandes A, Eckardt L, Elvan A, Fetsch T, van Gelder IC, Haase D, Haegeli LM, Hamann F, Heidbüchel H, Hindricks G, Kautzner J, Kuck KH, Mont L, Ng GA, Rekosz J, Schoen N, Schotten U, Suling A, Taggeselle J, Themistoclakis S, Vettorazzi E, Vardas P, Wegscheider K, Willems S, Crijns H, Breithardt G. Early Rhythm-Control Therapy in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2020;**383**(14):1305-1316.

282. Curtis AB, Gersh BJ, Corley SD, DiMarco JP, Domanski MJ, Geller N, Greene HL, Kellen JC, Mickel M, Nelson JD, Rosenberg Y, Schron E, Shemanski L, Waldo AL, Wyse DG. Clinical factors that influence response to treatment strategies in atrial fibrillation: the

Atrial Fibrillation Follow-up Investigation of Rhythm Management (AFFIRM) study. Am Heart J 2005;**149**(4):645-9.

283. Corley SD, Epstein AE, DiMarco JP, Domanski MJ, Geller N, Greene HL, Josephson RA, Kellen JC, Klein RC, Krahn AD, Mickel M, Mitchell LB, Nelson JD, Rosenberg Y, Schron E, Shemanski L, Waldo AL, Wyse DG. Relationships between sinus rhythm, treatment, and survival in the Atrial Fibrillation Follow-Up Investigation of Rhythm Management (AFFIRM) Study. Circulation 2004;**109**(12):1509-13.

284. Hagens VE, Ranchor AV, Van Sonderen E, Bosker HA, Kamp O, Tijssen JG, Kingma JH, Crijns HJ, Van Gelder IC. Effect of rate or rhythm control on quality of life in persistent atrial fibrillation. Results from the Rate Control Versus Electrical Cardioversion (RACE) Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;**43**(2):241-7.

285. Baseline characteristics of patients with atrial fibrillation: the AFFIRM Study. Am Heart J 2002;**143**(6):991-1001.

286. Bahnson TD, Grant AO. To be or not to be in normal sinus rhythm: what do we really know? Ann Intern Med 2004;**141**(9):727-9.

287. Kumar K, Manning WJ. Rhythm control versus rate control in atrial fibrillation. In. *UpToDate*; 2022.

288. Chung MK, Eckhardt LL, Chen LY, Ahmed HM, Gopinathannair R, Joglar JA, Noseworthy PA, Pack QR, Sanders P, Trulock KM. Lifestyle and Risk Factor Modification for Reduction of Atrial Fibrillation: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2020;**141**(16):e750-e772.

289. Abed HS, Wittert GA, Leong DP, Shirazi MG, Bahrami B, Middeldorp ME, Lorimer MF, Lau DH, Antic NA, Brooks AG, Abhayaratna WP, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Effect of weight reduction and cardiometabolic risk factor management on symptom burden and

severity in patients with atrial fibrillation: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2013;**310**(19):2050-60.

290. Pathak RK, Middeldorp ME, Lau DH, Mehta AB, Mahajan R, Twomey D, Alasady M, Hanley L, Antic NA, McEvoy RD, Kalman JM, Abhayaratna WP, Sanders P. Aggressive risk factor reduction study for atrial fibrillation and implications for the outcome of ablation: the ARREST-AF cohort study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;**64**(21):2222-31.

291. Pathak RK, Middeldorp ME, Meredith M, Mehta AB, Mahajan R, Wong CX, Twomey D, Elliott AD, Kalman JM, Abhayaratna WP, Lau DH, Sanders P. Long-Term Effect of Goal-Directed Weight Management in an Atrial Fibrillation Cohort: A Long-Term Follow-Up Study (LEGACY). J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;**65**(20):2159-69.

292. Arbelo E, Aktaa S, Bollmann A, D'Avila A, Drossart I, Dwight J, Hills MT, Hindricks G, Kusumoto FM, Lane DA, Lau DH, Lettino M, Lip GYH, Lobban T, Pak HN, Potpara T, Saenz LC, Van Gelder IC, Varosy P, Gale CP, Dagres N, Boveda S, Deneke T, Defaye P, Conte G, Lenarczyk R, Providencia R, Guerra JM, Takahashi Y, Pisani C, Nava S, Sarkozy A, Glotzer TV, Martins Oliveira M. Quality indicators for the care and outcomes of adults with atrial fibrillation. Europace 2021;**23**(4):494-495.

293. Middeldorp ME, Pathak RK, Meredith M, Mehta AB, Elliott AD, Mahajan R, Twomey D, Gallagher C, Hendriks JML, Linz D, McEvoy RD, Abhayaratna WP, Kalman JM, Lau DH, Sanders P. PREVEntion and regReSsive Effect of weight-loss and risk factor modification on Atrial Fibrillation: the REVERSE-AF study. Europace 2018;**20**(12):1929-1935.

294. Nalliah CJ, Wong GR, Lee G, Voskoboinik A, Kee K, Goldin J, Watts T, Linz D, Parameswaran R, Sugumar H, Prabhu S, McLellan A, Ling LH, Joseph SA, Morton JB, Kistler P, Sanders P, Kalman JM. Impact of CPAP on the Atrial Fibrillation Substrate in Obstructive Sleep Apnea: The SLEEP-AF Study. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2022;8(7):869-877.

295. Gallagher C, Elliott AD, Wong CX, Rangnekar G, Middeldorp ME, Mahajan R, Lau DH, Sanders P, Hendriks JML. Integrated care in atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart 2017;**103**(24):1947-1953.

296. Andrade JG, Deyell MW, Lee AYK, Macle L. Sex Differences in Atrial Fibrillation.Can J Cardiol 2018;**34**(4):429-436.

297. Miyasaka Y, Barnes ME, Gersh BJ, Cha SS, Bailey KR, Abhayaratna WP, Seward JB, Tsang TS. Secular trends in incidence of atrial fibrillation in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1980 to 2000, and implications on the projections for future prevalence. Circulation 2006;**114**(2):119-25.

298. Piccini JP, Hammill BG, Sinner MF, Jensen PN, Hernandez AF, Heckbert SR, Benjamin EJ, Curtis LH. Incidence and prevalence of atrial fibrillation and associated mortality among Medicare beneficiaries, 1993-2007. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2012;5(1):85-93.

299. Svennberg E, Engdahl J, Al-Khalili F, Friberg L, Frykman V, Rosenqvist M. Mass Screening for Untreated Atrial Fibrillation: The STROKESTOP Study. Circulation 2015;**131**(25):2176-84.

300. Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, D'Agostino RB, Massaro JM, Beiser A, Wolf PA, Benjamin EJ. Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2004;**110**(9):1042-6.

301. Heeringa J, van der Kuip DA, Hofman A, Kors JA, van Herpen G, Stricker BH, Stijnen T, Lip GY, Witteman JC. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: the Rotterdam study. Eur Heart J 2006;**27**(8):949-53.

302. Mathew JP, Parks R, Savino JS, Friedman AS, Koch C, Mangano DT, Browner WS. Atrial fibrillation following coronary artery bypass graft surgery: predictors, outcomes, and resource utilization. MultiCenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. JAMA 1996;**276**(4):300-6.

303. Magnussen C, Niiranen TJ, Ojeda FM, Gianfagna F, Blankenberg S, Njølstad I, Vartiainen E, Sans S, Pasterkamp G, Hughes M, Costanzo S, Donati MB, Jousilahti P, Linneberg A, Palosaari T, de Gaetano G, Bobak M, den Ruijter HM, Mathiesen E, Jørgensen T, Söderberg S, Kuulasmaa K, Zeller T, Iacoviello L, Salomaa V, Schnabel RB. Sex Differences and Similarities in Atrial Fibrillation Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Mortality in Community Cohorts: Results From the BiomarCaRE Consortium (Biomarker for Cardiovascular Risk Assessment in Europe). Circulation 2017;**136**(17):1588-1597.

304. Frost L, Hune LJ, Vestergaard P. Overweight and obesity as risk factors for atrial fibrillation or flutter: the Danish Diet, Cancer, and Health Study. Am J Med 2005;**118**(5):489-95.

305. Kerr CR, Humphries K. Gender-related differences in atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;**46**(7):1307-8.

306. Wong JA, Rexrode KM, Sandhu RK, Conen D, Albert CM. Number of Pregnancies and Atrial Fibrillation Risk: The Women's Health Study. Circulation 2017;**135**(6):622-624.

307. Liu XK, Jahangir A, Terzic A, Gersh BJ, Hammill SC, Shen WK. Age- and sexrelated atrial electrophysiologic and structural changes. Am J Cardiol 2004;**94**(3):373-5.

308. Cochet H, Mouries A, Nivet H, Sacher F, Derval N, Denis A, Merle M, Relan J, Hocini M, Haïssaguerre M, Laurent F, Montaudon M, Jaïs P. Age, atrial fibrillation, and structural heart disease are the main determinants of left atrial fibrosis detected by delayed-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging in a general cardiology population. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2015;**26**(5):484-92.

309. Tsai WC, Chen YC, Lin YK, Chen SA, Chen YJ. Sex differences in the electrophysiological characteristics of pulmonary veins and left atrium and their clinical implication in atrial fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2011;**4**(4):550-9.

310. Tsuneda T, Yamashita T, Kato T, Sekiguchi A, Sagara K, Sawada H, Aizawa T, Fu LT, Fujiki A, Inoue H. Deficiency of testosterone associates with the substrate of atrial fibrillation in the rat model. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2009;**20**(9):1055-60.

311. Magnani JW, Moser CB, Murabito JM, Sullivan LM, Wang N, Ellinor PT, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ, Coviello AD. Association of sex hormones, aging, and atrial fibrillation in men: the Framingham Heart Study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2014;**7**(2):307-12.

312. Rosano GM, Leonardo F, Dicandia C, Sheiban I, Pagnotta P, Pappone C, Chierchia SL. Acute electrophysiologic effect of estradiol 17beta in menopausal women. Am J Cardiol 2000;**86**(12):1385-7, A5-6.

313. Saba S, Zhu W, Aronovitz MJ, Estes NA, 3rd, Wang PJ, Mendelsohn ME, Karas RH. Effects of estrogen on cardiac electrophysiology in female mice. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2002;**13**(3):276-80.

314. Jovanović S, Jovanović A, Shen WK, Terzic A. Low concentrations of 17betaestradiol protect single cardiac cells against metabolic stress-induced Ca2+ loading. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;**36**(3):948-52.

315. Stumpf WE, Sar M, Aumüller G. The heart: a target organ for estradiol. Science 1977;**196**(4287):319-21.

316. Noubiap JJ, Thomas G, Agbaedeng TA, Fitzgerald JL, Gallagher C, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Sex differences in clinical profile, management, and outcomes of patients hospitalized for atrial fibrillation in the United States. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes 2021.

317. Camm AJ, Accetta G, Al Mahmeed W, Ambrosio G, Goldhaber SZ, Haas S, Jansky P, Kayani G, Misselwitz F, Oh S, Oto A, Raatikainen P, Steffel J, van Eickels M, Kakkar AK. Impact of gender on event rates at 1 year in patients with newly diagnosed non-valvular atrial fibrillation: contemporary perspective from the GARFIELD-AF registry. BMJ Open 2017;**7**(3):e014579.

318. Rienstra M, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Hagens VE, Ranchor AV, Veeger NJ, Crijns HJ, Van Gelder IC. Gender-related differences in rhythm control treatment in persistent atrial fibrillation: data of the Rate Control Versus Electrical Cardioversion (RACE) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;**46**(7):1298-306.

319. Piccini JP, Peterson ED. Differences in Clinical and Functional Outcomes of Atrial Fibrillation in Women and Men-Reply. JAMA Cardiol 2017;**2**(1):108-110.

320. Dagres N, Nieuwlaat R, Vardas PE, Andresen D, Lévy S, Cobbe S, Kremastinos DT, Breithardt G, Cokkinos DV, Crijns HJ. Gender-related differences in presentation, treatment, and outcome of patients with atrial fibrillation in Europe: a report from the Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;**49**(5):572-7.

321. Bosch RF, Pittrow D, Beltzer A, Kruck I, Kirch W, Kohlhaussen A, Bonnemeier H. Gender differences in patients with atrial fibrillation. Herzschrittmacherther Elektrophysiol 2013;**24**(3):176-83.

322. Lip GY, Laroche C, Boriani G, Cimaglia P, Dan GA, Santini M, Kalarus Z, Rasmussen LH, Popescu MI, Tica O, Hellum CF, Mortensen B, Tavazzi L, Maggioni AP. Sex-related differences in presentation, treatment, and outcome of patients with atrial fibrillation in Europe: a report from the Euro Observational Research Programme Pilot survey on Atrial Fibrillation. Europace 2015;**17**(1):24-31.

323. Hnatkova K, Waktare JE, Murgatroyd FD, Guo X, Camm AJ, Malik M. Age and gender influences on rate and duration of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1998;**21**(11 Pt 2):2455-8.

324. Ball J, Carrington MJ, Wood KA, Stewart S. Women versus men with chronic atrial fibrillation: insights from the Standard versus Atrial Fibrillation spEcific managemenT studY (SAFETY). PLoS One 2013;**8**(5):e65795.

325. Reynolds MR, Lavelle T, Essebag V, Cohen DJ, Zimetbaum P. Influence of age, sex, and atrial fibrillation recurrence on quality of life outcomes in a population of patients with new-onset atrial fibrillation: the Fibrillation Registry Assessing Costs, Therapies, Adverse events and Lifestyle (FRACTAL) study. Am Heart J 2006;**152**(6):1097-103.

326. Xiong Q, Proietti M, Senoo K, Lip GY. Asymptomatic versus symptomatic atrial fibrillation: A systematic review of age/gender differences and cardiovascular outcomes. Int J Cardiol 2015;**191**:172-7.

327. Scheuermeyer FX, Mackay M, Christenson J, Grafstein E, Pourvali R, Heslop C, MacPhee J, Ward J, Heilbron B, McGrath L, Humphries K. There Are Sex Differences in the Demographics and Risk Profiles of Emergency Department (ED) Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Flutter, but no Apparent Differences in ED Management or Outcomes. Acad Emerg Med 2015;**22**(9):1067-75.

328. Forleo GB, Tondo C, De Luca L, Dello Russo A, Casella M, De Sanctis V, Clementi F, Fagundes RL, Leo R, Romeo F, Mantica M. Gender-related differences in catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. Europace 2007;**9**(8):613-20.

329. Emdin CA, Wong CX, Hsiao AJ, Altman DG, Peters SA, Woodward M, Odutayo AA. Atrial fibrillation as risk factor for cardiovascular disease and death in women compared with men: systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. BMJ 2016;**532**:h7013.

330. Fang MC, Singer DE, Chang Y, Hylek EM, Henault LE, Jensvold NG, Go AS. Gender differences in the risk of ischemic stroke and peripheral embolism in atrial fibrillation: the AnTicoagulation and Risk factors In Atrial fibrillation (ATRIA) study. Circulation 2005;**112**(12):1687-91.

331. Wang TJ, Massaro JM, Levy D, Vasan RS, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, Larson MG, Kannel WB, Benjamin EJ. A risk score for predicting stroke or death in individuals with new-onset atrial fibrillation in the community: the Framingham Heart Study. JAMA 2003;**290**(8):1049-56.

332. Friberg J, Scharling H, Gadsbøll N, Truelsen T, Jensen GB. Comparison of the impact of atrial fibrillation on the risk of stroke and cardiovascular death in women versus men (The Copenhagen City Heart Study). Am J Cardiol 2004;**94**(7):889-94.

333. Friberg L, Rosenqvist M, Lip GY. Evaluation of risk stratification schemes for ischaemic stroke and bleeding in 182 678 patients with atrial fibrillation: the Swedish Atrial Fibrillation cohort study. Eur Heart J 2012;**33**(12):1500-10.

334. Appelros P, Stegmayr B, Terént A. A review on sex differences in stroke treatment and outcome. Acta Neurol Scand 2010;**121**(6):359-69.

335. Schnabel RB, Rienstra M, Sullivan LM, Sun JX, Moser CB, Levy D, Pencina MJ, Fontes JD, Magnani JW, McManus DD, Lubitz SA, Tadros TM, Wang TJ, Ellinor PT, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ. Risk assessment for incident heart failure in individuals with atrial fibrillation. Eur J Heart Fail 2013;**15**(8):843-9.

336. Meyer S, Brouwers FP, Voors AA, Hillege HL, de Boer RA, Gansevoort RT, van der Harst P, Rienstra M, van Gelder IC, van Veldhuisen DJ, van Gilst WH, van der Meer P. Sex differences in new-onset heart failure. Clin Res Cardiol 2015;**104**(4):342-50.

337. Israeli A, Gal D, Younis A, Ehrenberg S, Rozner E, Turgeman Y, Naami E, Naami R, Koren O. Sex-Differences in Atrial Fibrillation Patients: Bias or Proper Management? Vasc Health Risk Manag 2022;**18**:347-358.

338. Hsu JC, Maddox TM, Kennedy K, Katz DF, Marzec LN, Lubitz SA, Gehi AK, Turakhia MP, Marcus GM. Aspirin Instead of Oral Anticoagulant Prescription in Atrial Fibrillation Patients at Risk for Stroke. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;**67**(25):2913-23.

339. Avgil Tsadok M, Jackevicius CA, Rahme E, Humphries KH, Pilote L. Sex Differences in Dabigatran Use, Safety, And Effectiveness In a Population-Based Cohort of Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2015;**8**(6):593-9.

340. Olesen JB, Sørensen R, Hansen ML, Lamberts M, Weeke P, Mikkelsen AP, Køber L, Gislason GH, Torp-Pedersen C, Fosbøl EL. Non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulation agents in anticoagulant naïve atrial fibrillation patients: Danish nationwide descriptive data 2011-2013. Europace 2015;**17**(2):187-93.

341. Garcia D, Regan S, Crowther M, Hughes RA, Hylek EM. Warfarin maintenance dosing patterns in clinical practice: implications for safer anticoagulation in the elderly population. Chest 2005;**127**(6):2049-56.

342. Pancholy SB, Sharma PS, Pancholy DS, Patel TM, Callans DJ, Marchlinski FE. Meta-analysis of gender differences in residual stroke risk and major bleeding in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation treated with oral anticoagulants. Am J Cardiol 2014;**113**(3):485-90.

343. Ruff CT, Giugliano RP, Braunwald E, Hoffman EB, Deenadayalu N, Ezekowitz MD, Camm AJ, Weitz JI, Lewis BS, Parkhomenko A, Yamashita T, Antman EM. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of new oral anticoagulants with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet 2014;**383**(9921):955-62.

344. Granger CB, Alexander JH, McMurray JJ, Lopes RD, Hylek EM, Hanna M, Al-Khalidi HR, Ansell J, Atar D, Avezum A, Bahit MC, Diaz R, Easton JD, Ezekowitz JA, Flaker G, Garcia D, Geraldes M, Gersh BJ, Golitsyn S, Goto S, Hermosillo AG, Hohnloser SH, Horowitz J, Mohan P, Jansky P, Lewis BS, Lopez-Sendon JL, Pais P, Parkhomenko A, Verheugt FW, Zhu J, Wallentin L. Apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011;**365**(11):981-92.

345. Giugliano RP, Ruff CT, Braunwald E, Murphy SA, Wiviott SD, Halperin JL, Waldo AL, Ezekowitz MD, Weitz JI, Špinar J, Ruzyllo W, Ruda M, Koretsune Y, Betcher J, Shi M, Grip LT, Patel SP, Patel I, Hanyok JJ, Mercuri M, Antman EM. Edoxaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2013;**369**(22):2093-104.

346. Patel MR, Mahaffey KW, Garg J, Pan G, Singer DE, Hacke W, Breithardt G, Halperin JL, Hankey GJ, Piccini JP, Becker RC, Nessel CC, Paolini JF, Berkowitz SD, Fox KA, Califf RM. Rivaroxaban versus warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011;**365**(10):883-91.

347. Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Eikelboom J, Oldgren J, Parekh A, Pogue J, Reilly PA, Themeles E, Varrone J, Wang S, Alings M, Xavier D, Zhu J, Diaz R, Lewis BS, Darius H, Diener HC, Joyner CD, Wallentin L. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2009;**361**(12):1139-51.

348. Avgil Tsadok M, Gagnon J, Joza J, Behlouli H, Verma A, Essebag V, Pilote L. Temporal trends and sex differences in pulmonary vein isolation for patients with atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2015;**12**(9):1979-86.

349. Cheng X, Hu Q, Gao L, Liu J, Qin S, Zhang D. Sex-related differences in catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Europace 2019;**21**(10):1509-1518.

350. Kaiser DW, Fan J, Schmitt S, Than CT, Ullal AJ, Piccini JP, Heidenreich PA, Turakhia MP. Gender Differences in Clinical Outcomes after Catheter Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2016;**2**(6):703-710.

351. Patel N, Deshmukh A, Thakkar B, Coffey JO, Agnihotri K, Patel A, Ainani N, Nalluri N, Patel N, Patel N, Patel N, Badheka AO, Kowalski M, Hendel R, Viles-Gonzalez J, Noseworthy PA, Asirvatham S, Lo K, Myerburg RJ, Mitrani RD. Gender, Race, and Health Insurance Status in Patients Undergoing Catheter Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2016;**117**(7):1117-26.

352. Patel D, Mohanty P, Di Biase L, Sanchez JE, Shaheen MH, Burkhardt JD, Bassouni M, Cummings J, Wang Y, Lewis WR, Diaz A, Horton RP, Beheiry S, Hongo R, Gallinghouse GJ, Zagrodzky JD, Bailey SM, Al-Ahmad A, Wang P, Schweikert RA, Natale A. Outcomes and complications of catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation in females. Heart Rhythm 2010;**7**(2):167-72.

353. Roten L, Rimoldi SF, Schwick N, Sakata T, Heimgartner C, Fuhrer J, Delacrétaz E, Tanner H. Gender differences in patients referred for atrial fibrillation management to a tertiary center. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2009;**32**(5):622-6.

354. Takigawa M, Kuwahara T, Takahashi A, Watari Y, Okubo K, Takahashi Y, Takagi K, Kuroda S, Osaka Y, Kawaguchi N, Yamao K, Nakashima E, Sugiyama T, Akiyama D, Kamiishi T, Kimura S, Hikita H, Hirao K, Isobe M. Differences in catheter ablation of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation between males and females. Int J Cardiol 2013;**168**(3):1984-91.

355. Russo AM, Zeitler EP, Giczewska A, Silverstein AP, Al-Khalidi HR, Cha YM, Monahan KH, Bahnson TD, Mark DB, Packer DL, Poole JE. Association Between Sex and Treatment Outcomes of Atrial Fibrillation Ablation Versus Drug Therapy: Results From the CABANA Trial. Circulation 2021;**143**(7):661-672.

356. Zylla MM, Brachmann J, Lewalter T, Hoffmann E, Kuck KH, Andresen D, Willems S, Eckardt L, Tebbenjohanns J, Spitzer SG, Schumacher B, Hochadel M, Senges J, Katus HA, Thomas D. Sex-related outcome of atrial fibrillation ablation: Insights from the German Ablation Registry. Heart Rhythm 2016;**13**(9):1837-44.

357. Michowitz Y, Rahkovich M, Oral H, Zado ES, Tilz R, John S, Denis A, Di Biase L, Winkle RA, Mikhaylov EN, Ruskin JN, Yao Y, Josephson ME, Tanner H, Miller JM, Champagne J, Della Bella P, Kumagai K, Defaye P, Luria D, Lebedev DS, Natale A, Jais P, Hindricks G, Kuck KH, Marchlinski FE, Morady F, Belhassen B. Effects of sex on the incidence of cardiac tamponade after catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: results from a worldwide survey in 34 943 atrial fibrillation ablation procedures. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2014;**7**(2):274-80.

358. Piccini JP, Sinner MF, Greiner MA, Hammill BG, Fontes JD, Daubert JP, Ellinor PT, Hernandez AF, Walkey AJ, Heckbert SR, Benjamin EJ, Curtis LH. Outcomes of Medicare beneficiaries undergoing catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation. Circulation 2012;**126**(18):2200-7.

359. Tomita H, Okumura K, Inoue H, Atarashi H, Yamashita T, Origasa H, Tsushima E. Validation of Risk Scoring System Excluding Female Sex From CHA2DS2-VASc in Japanese Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation – Subanalysis of the J-RHYTHM Registry. Circ J 2015;**79**(8):1719-26.

360. Sudlow C, Gallacher J, Allen N, Beral V, Burton P, Danesh J, Downey P, Elliott P, Green J, Landray M, Liu B, Matthews P, Ong G, Pell J, Silman A, Young A, Sprosen T, Peakman T, Collins R. UK biobank: an open access resource for identifying the causes of a wide range of complex diseases of middle and old age. PLoS Med 2015;**12**(3):e1001779.

361. Gupta RP, Strachan DP. Ventilatory function as a predictor of mortality in lifelong non-smokers: evidence from large British cohort studies. BMJ Open 2017;**7**(7):e015381.

362. Quanjer PH, Stanojevic S, Cole TJ, Baur X, Hall GL, Culver BH, Enright PL, Hankinson JL, Ip MS, Zheng J, Stocks J. Multi-ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3-95-yr age range: the global lung function 2012 equations. Eur Respir J 2012;40(6):1324-43.
363. Townsend P, Philimore P, Beattie A. *Health and Deprivation: Inequality and the North*: Croom Helm; 1988.

364. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, Bauman AE, Booth ML, Ainsworth BE, Pratt M, Ekelund U, Yngve A, Sallis JF, Oja P. International physical activity questionnaire: 12country reliability and validity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003;**35**(8):1381-95.

365. Elliott AD, Linz D, Mishima R, Kadhim K, Gallagher C, Middeldorp ME, Verdicchio CV, Hendriks JML, Lau DH, La Gerche A, Sanders P. Association between physical activity and risk of incident arrhythmias in 402 406 individuals: evidence from the UK Biobank cohort. Eur Heart J 2020;**41**(15):1479-1486.

366. Watz H, Waschki B, Meyer T, Kretschmar G, Kirsten A, Claussen M, Magnussen H. Decreasing cardiac chamber sizes and associated heart dysfunction in COPD: role of hyperinflation. Chest 2010;**138**(1):32-8.

367. Kalifa J, Jalife J, Zaitsev AV, Bagwe S, Warren M, Moreno J, Berenfeld O, Nattel S. Intra-atrial pressure increases rate and organization of waves emanating from the superior pulmonary veins during atrial fibrillation. Circulation 2003;**108**(6):668-71.

368. Elia D, Caminati A, Zompatori M, Cassandro R, Lonati C, Luisi F, Pelosi G, Provencher S, Harari S. Pulmonary hypertension and chronic lung disease: where are we headed? Eur Respir Rev 2019;**28**(153).

369. Hiram R, Naud P, Xiong F, Al-U'datt D, Algalarrondo V, Sirois MG, Tanguay JF, Tardif JC, Nattel S. Right Atrial Mechanisms of Atrial Fibrillation in a Rat Model of Right Heart Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019;**74**(10):1332-1347.

370. Chan CS, Lin YS, Lin YK, Chen YC, Kao YH, Hsu CC, Chen SA, Chen YJ. Atrial arrhythmogenesis in a rabbit model of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Transl Res 2020;**223**:25-39.

371. Hirayama A, Goto T, Shimada YJ, Faridi MK, Camargo CA, Jr., Hasegawa K. Acute Exacerbation of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and Subsequent Risk of Emergency Department Visits and Hospitalizations for Atrial Fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2018;**11**(9):e006322.

372. Tseng AS, Noseworthy PA. Prediction of Atrial Fibrillation Using Machine Learning:A Review. Front Physiol 2021;12:752317.

373. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. GLOBAL STRATEGY FOR PREVENTION, DIAGNOSIS AND MANAGEMENT OF COPD: 2022 Report. In; 2021.

374. Murdoch JR, Lloyd CM. Chronic inflammation and asthma. Mutat Res 2010;690(1-2):24-39.

375. Chen PS, Chen LS, Fishbein MC, Lin SF, Nattel S. Role of the autonomic nervous system in atrial fibrillation: pathophysiology and therapy. Circ Res 2014;**114**(9):1500-15.

376. Cepelis A, Brumpton BM, Malmo V, Laugsand LE, Loennechen JP, Ellekjær H, Langhammer A, Janszky I, Strand LB. Associations of Asthma and Asthma Control With Atrial Fibrillation Risk: Results From the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT). JAMA Cardiol 2018;**3**(8):721-728.

377. Burnham KP, Anderson DR. Multimodel Inference: Understanding AIC and BIC in Model Selection. Sociological Methods & Research 2004;**33**(2):261-304.

378. Noubiap JJ, Agbaedeng TA, Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Fitzgerald JL, Middeldorp ME, Kleinig T, Sanders P. Rhythm monitoring strategies for atrial fibrillation detection in patients with cryptogenic stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc 2021;**34**:100780.

379. Chorin E, Peterson C, Kogan E, Barbhaiya C, Aizer A, Holmes D, Bernstein S, Schole M, Duraiswami H, Spinelli M, Park D, Chinitz L, Jankelson L. Comparison of the Effect of Atrial Fibrillation Detection Algorithms in Patients With Cryptogenic Stroke Using Implantable Loop Recorders. Am J Cardiol 2020.

380. Buchwald F, Norrving B, Petersson J. Atrial Fibrillation in Transient Ischemic Attack Versus Ischemic Stroke: A Swedish Stroke Register (Riksstroke) Study. Stroke 2016;**47**(10):2456-61.

381. Svendsen JH, Diederichsen SZ, Højberg S, Krieger DW, Graff C, Kronborg C, Olesen MS, Nielsen JB, Holst AG, Brandes A, Haugan KJ, Køber L. Implantable loop recorder detection of atrial fibrillation to prevent stroke (The LOOP Study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2021.

382. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 333 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2017;**390**(10100):1260-1344.

383. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2017;**390**(10100):1151-1210.

384. Powers WJ, Rabinstein AA, Ackerson T, Adeoye OM, Bambakidis NC, Becker K, Biller J, Brown M, Demaerschalk BM, Hoh B, Jauch EC, Kidwell CS, Leslie-Mazwi TM, Ovbiagele B, Scott PA, Sheth KN, Southerland AM, Summers DV, Tirschwell DL. Guidelines for the Early Management of Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke: 2019 Update to the 2018 Guidelines for the Early Management of Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Guideline for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke 2019;**50**(12):e344-e418.
385. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, Moher D, Becker BJ, Sipe TA, Thacker SB. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000;**283**(15):2008-12.

386. Hoy D, Brooks P, Woolf A, Blyth F, March L, Bain C, Baker P, Smith E, Buchbinder R. Assessing risk of bias in prevalence studies: modification of an existing tool and evidence of interrater agreement. J Clin Epidemiol 2012;**65**(9):934-9.

387. Cochran WG. The Combination of Estimates from Different Experiments. Biometrics 1954;**10**(1):101-129.

388. Higgins JP, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat Med 2002;**21**(11):1539-58.

389. Chinn S. A simple method for converting an odds ratio to effect size for use in metaanalysis. Stat Med 2000;**19**(22):3127-31.

390. Kwong C, Ling AY, Crawford MH, Zhao SX, Shah NH. A Clinical Score for Predicting Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Cryptogenic Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack. Cardiology 2017;**138**(3):133-140.

391. Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Jickling GC. Blood Biomarkers for Stroke Diagnosis and Management. Neuromolecular Med 2019;**21**(4):344-368.

392. Noubiap JJ, Sanders P, Nattel S, Lau DH. Biomarkers in Atrial Fibrillation: Pathogenesis and Clinical Implications. Card Electrophysiol Clin 2021;**13**(1):221-233.

393. Lowres N, Olivier J, Chao TF, Chen SA, Chen Y, Diederichsen A, Fitzmaurice DA, Gomez-Doblas JJ, Harbison J, Healey JS, Hobbs FDR, Kaasenbrood F, Keen W, Lee VW, Lindholt JS, Lip GYH, Mairesse GH, Mant J, Martin JW, Martín-Rioboó E, McManus DD, Muñiz J, Münzel T, Nakamya J, Neubeck L, Orchard JJ, Pérula de Torres L, Proietti M, Quinn FR, Roalfe AK, Sandhu RK, Schnabel RB, Smyth B, Soni A, Tieleman R, Wang J,

Wild PS, Yan BP, Freedman B. Estimated stroke risk, yield, and number needed to screen for atrial fibrillation detected through single time screening: a multicountry patient-level metaanalysis of 141,220 screened individuals. PLoS Med 2019;**16**(9):e1002903.

394. Asaithambi G, Monita JE, Annamalai MR, Ho BM, Marino EH, Hanson SK. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation with insertable cardiac monitors in cryptogenic stroke: A single-center experience. Journal of Electrocardiology 2018;**51**(6):973-976.

395. Ntaios G, Perlepe K, Sirimarco G, Strambo D, Eskandari A, Karagkiozi E, Vemmou A, Koroboki E, Manios E, Makaritsis K, Michel P, Vemmos K. Carotid plaques and detection of atrial fibrillation in embolic stroke of undetermined source. Neurology 2019;**92**(23):e2644-e2652.

396. Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Wilman A, Saqqur M, Shuaib A, Jickling GC. Carotid Plaque With High-Risk Features in Embolic Stroke of Undetermined Source: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Stroke 2020;**51**(1):311-314.

397. Hart RG, Sharma M, Mundl H, Kasner SE, Bangdiwala SI, Berkowitz SD, Swaminathan B, Lavados P, Wang Y, Wang Y, Davalos A, Shamalov N, Mikulik R, Cunha L, Lindgren A, Arauz A, Lang W, Czlonkowska A, Eckstein J, Gagliardi RJ, Amarenco P, Ameriso SF, Tatlisumak T, Veltkamp R, Hankey GJ, Toni D, Bereczki D, Uchiyama S, Ntaios G, Yoon BW, Brouns R, Endres M, Muir KW, Bornstein N, Ozturk S, O'Donnell MJ, De Vries Basson MM, Pare G, Pater C, Kirsch B, Sheridan P, Peters G, Weitz JI, Peacock WF, Shoamanesh A, Benavente OR, Joyner C, Themeles E, Connolly SJ. Rivaroxaban for Stroke Prevention after Embolic Stroke of Undetermined Source. N Engl J Med 2018;**378**(23):2191-2201.

398. Edwards JD, Kapral MK, Fang J, Saposnik G, Gladstone DJ. Underutilization of Ambulatory ECG Monitoring After Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attack: Missed Opportunities for Atrial Fibrillation Detection. Stroke 2016;**47**(8):1982-9.

646

399. Tsivgoulis G, Katsanos AH, Kohrmann M, Caso V, Perren F, Palaiodimou L, Deftereos S, Giannopoulos S, Ellul J, Krogias C, Mavridis D, Triantafyllou S, Alexandrov AW, Schellinger PD, Alexandrov AV. Duration of Implantable Cardiac Monitoring and Detection of Atrial Fibrillation in Ischemic Stroke Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of Stroke 2019;**21**(3):302-+.

400. Sposato LA, Cipriano LE, Saposnik G, Vargas ER, Riccio PM, Hachinski V. Diagnosis of atrial fibrillation after stroke and transient ischaemic attack: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Neurology 2015;**14**(4):377-387.

401. Krishnamurthi RV, Ikeda T, Feigin VL. Global, Regional and Country-Specific Burden of Ischaemic Stroke, Intracerebral Haemorrhage and Subarachnoid Haemorrhage: A Systematic Analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Neuroepidemiology 2020;**54**(2):171-179.

402. Wells GA SB, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. *The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta- analyses*. <u>http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp</u>.

403. Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. Bmj 1997;**315**(7109):629-34.

404. Tomita H, Okumura K, Inoue H, Atarashi H, Yamashita T, Origasa H, Tsushima E, Investigators JRR. Validation of Risk Scoring System Excluding Female Sex From CHA2DS2-VASc in Japanese Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation – Subanalysis of the J-RHYTHM Registry. Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society 2015;**79**(8):1719-1726.

405. Chao T-F, Lip GYH, Liu C-J, Tuan T-C, Chen S-J, Wang K-L, Lin Y-J, Chang S-L, Lo L-W, Hu Y-F, Chen T-J, Chiang C-E, Chen S-A. Validation of a Modified CHA2DS2-

VASc Score for Stroke Risk Stratification in Asian Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Nationwide Cohort Study. Stroke 2016;**47**(10):2462-2469.

406. Nielsen PB, Skjøth F, Overvad TF, Larsen TB, Lip GYH. Female Sex Is a Risk Modifier Rather Than a Risk Factor for Stroke in Atrial Fibrillation: Should We Use a CHA(2)DS(2)-VA Score Rather Than CHA(2)DS(2)-VASc? Circulation 2018;**137**(8):832-840.

407. Hindricks G, Potpara T, Dagres N, Arbelo E, Bax JJ, Blomström-Lundqvist C, Boriani G, Castella M, Dan GA, Dilaveris PE, Fauchier L, Filippatos G, Kalman JM, La Meir M, Lane DA, Lebeau JP, Lettino M, Lip GYH, Pinto FJ, Thomas GN, Valgimigli M, Van Gelder IC, Van Putte BP, Watkins CL. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with the European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J 2020.

408. Li C, Engström G, Hedblad B, Berglund G, Janzon L. Blood pressure control and risk of stroke: a population-based prospective cohort study. Stroke 2005;**36**(4):725-30.

409. Nadarajan V, Perry RJ, Johnson J, Werring DJ. Transient ischaemic attacks: mimics and chameleons. Pract Neurol 2014;**14**(1):23-31.

410. Sadighi A, Stanciu A, Banciu M, Abedi V, Andary NE, Holland N, Zand R. Rate and associated factors of transient ischemic attack misdiagnosis. eNeurologicalSci 2019;**15**:100193.

411. Go AS, Fang MC, Udaltsova N, Chang Y, Pomernacki NK, Borowsky L, Singer DE. Impact of proteinuria and glomerular filtration rate on risk of thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: the anticoagulation and risk factors in atrial fibrillation (ATRIA) study. Circulation 2009;**119**(10):1363-9.

412. van den Ham HA, Klungel OH, Singer DE, Leufkens HGM, van Staa TP. Comparative Performance of ATRIA, CHADS2, and CHA2DS2-VASc Risk Scores

648

Predicting Stroke in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: Results From a National Primary Care Database. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2015;**66**(17):1851-1859.

413. Suzuki S, Yamashita T, Okumura K, Atarashi H, Akao M, Ogawa H, Inoue H. Incidence of ischemic stroke in Japanese patients with atrial fibrillation not receiving anticoagulation therapy--pooled analysis of the Shinken Database, J-RHYTHM Registry, and Fushimi AF Registry. Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society 2015;**79**(2):432-438.

414. Aspberg S, Chang Y, Atterman A, Bottai M, Go AS, Singer DE. Comparison of the ATRIA, CHADS2, and CHA2DS2-VASc stroke risk scores in predicting ischaemic stroke in a large Swedish cohort of patients with atrial fibrillation. European heart journal 2016;**37**(42):3203-3210.

415. Mitchell LB, Southern DA, Galbraith D, Ghali WA, Knudtson M, Wilton SB. Prediction of stroke or TIA in patients without atrial fibrillation using CHADS2 and CHA2DS2-VASc scores. Heart 2014;**100**(19):1524-30.

416. CLARITY Group at McMaster University. *Tool to Assess Risk of Bias in Case Control Studies*. https://www.distillersr.com/resources/methodological-resources/tool-to-assess-risk-of-bias-in-cohort-studies-distillersr.

417. CLARITY Group at McMaster University. *Tool to Assess Risk of Bias in Randomized Controlled trials*. https://www.distillersr.com/resources/methodological-resources/tool-toassess-risk-of-bias-in-randomized-controlled-trials-distillersr.

418. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials revisited. Contemp Clin Trials 2015;**45**(Pt A):139-45.

419. Wan X, Wang W, Liu J, Tong T. Estimating the sample mean and standard deviation from the sample size, median, range and/or interquartile range. BMC Med Res Methodol 2014;**14**:135.

420. Viechtbauer W. Bias and efficiency of meta-analytic variance estimators in the random-effects model. Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics 2005;**30**:261-293.

421. Seagroatt V, Stratton I. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. Test had 10% false positive rate. Bmj 1998;**316**(7129):470; author reply 470-1.

422. Affan M, Mahajan A, Modi S, Schultz L, Katramados A, Mayer SA, Miller DJ. Atrial fibrillation, not atrial cardiopathy, is associated with stroke: A single center retrospective study. J Neurol Sci 2019;**402**:69-73.

423. Ahn J, Shin SY, Shim J, Kim YH, Han SJ, Choi EK, Oh S, Shin JY, Choe JC, Park JS, Lee HW, Oh JH, Choi JH, Lee HC, Cha KS, Hong TJ, Lip GYH, Lim HE. Association between epicardial adipose tissue and embolic stroke after catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2019;**30**(11):2209-2216.

424. Al-Issa A, Inoue Y, Cammin J, Tang Q, Nazarian S, Calkins H, Fishman EK, Taguchi K, Ashikaga H. Regional function analysis of left atrial appendage using motion estimation CT and risk of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2016;**17**(7):788-96.

425. Azemi T, Rabdiya VM, Ayirala SR, McCullough LD, Silverman DI. Left atrial strain is reduced in patients with atrial fibrillation, stroke or TIA, and low risk CHADS(2) scores. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2012;**25**(12):1327-32.

426. Bayar N, Arslan S, Cagirci G, Mustafa Ureyen C, Cay S, Oner Yuksel I, Koklu E, Erkal Z, Kucukseymen S. Usefulness of mean platelet volume for predicting stroke risk in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation patients. Blood Coagulation and Fibrinolysis 2015;**26**(6):669-672.

427. Beinart R, Heist EK, Newell JB, Holmvang G, Ruskin JN, Mansour M. Left atrial appendage dimensions predict the risk of stroke/TIA in patients with atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2011;**22**(1):10-5.

650

428. Bisbal F, Gomez-Pulido F, Cabanas-Grandio P, Akoum N, Calvo M, Andreu D, Prat-Gonzalez S, Perea RJ, Villuendas R, Berruezo A, Sitges M, Bayes-Genis A, Brugada J, Marrouche NF, Mont L. Left Atrial Geometry Improves Risk Prediction of Thromboembolic Events in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology 2016;**27**(7):804-810.

429. Burrell LD, Horne BD, Anderson JL, Muhlestein JB, Whisenant BK. Usefulness of left atrial appendage volume as a predictor of embolic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2013;**112**(8):1148-52.

430. Chu CY, Lee WH, Hsu PC, Lee MK, Lee HH, Chiu CA, Lin TH, Lee CS, Yen HW, Voon WC, Lai WT, Sheu SH, Su HM. Association of Increased Epicardial Adipose Tissue Thickness With Adverse Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;**95**(11):e2874.

431. Di Biase L, Santangeli P, Anselmino M, Mohanty P, Salvetti I, Gili S, Horton R, Sanchez JE, Bai R, Mohanty S, Pump A, Brantes MC, Gallinghouse GJ, Burkhardt JD, Cesarani F, Scaglione M, Natale A, Gaita F. Does the Left Atrial Appendage Morphology Correlate With the Risk of Stroke in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation? Results From a Multicenter Study. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2012;**60**(6):531-538.

432. Fukushima K, Fukushima N, Kato K, Ejima K, Sato H, Fukushima K, Saito C, Hayashi K, Arai K, Manaka T, Ashihara K, Shoda M, Hagiwara N. Correlation between left atrial appendage morphology and flow velocity in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2016;**17**(1):59-66.

433. Gupta DK, Giugliano RP, Ruff CT, Claggett B, Murphy S, Antman E, Mercuri MF, Braunwald E, Solomon SD. The Prognostic Significance of Cardiac Structure and Function in Atrial Fibrillation: The ENGAGE AF-TIMI 48 Echocardiographic Substudy. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2016;**29**(6):537-44.

651

434. Gustafsson C, Britton M, Brolund F, Eriksson SV, Lindvall K. Echocardiographic findings and the increased risk of stroke in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Cardiology 1992;**81**(4-5):189-95.

435. Hamatani Y, Ogawa H, Takabayashi K, Yamashita Y, Takagi D, Esato M, Chun YH, Tsuji H, Wada H, Hasegawa K, Abe M, Lip GY, Akao M. Left atrial enlargement is an independent predictor of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. Scientific reports 2016;**6**:31042.

436. Hsu PC, Lee WH, Chu CY, Lee HH, Lee CS, Yen HW, Lin TH, Voon WC, Lai WT, Sheu SH, Su HM. Prognostic role of left atrial strain and its combination index with transmitral E-wave velocity in patients with atrial fibrillation. Sci Rep 2016;**6**:17318.

437. Inoue T, Suematsu Y. Poor enhancement pattern of left atrial appendage in cardiac computed tomography is associated with stroke in persistent atrial fibrillation patients. J Thorac Dis 2019;**11**(8):3315-3324.

438. Jankajova M, Kubikova L, Valocik G, Candik P, Mitro P, Kurecko M, Sabol F, Kolesar A, Kubikova M, Vachalcova M, Dvoroznakova M. Left atrial appendage strain rate is associated with documented thromboembolism in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2019;**131**(7-8):156-164.

439. Kamp O, Verhorst PM, Welling RC, Visser CA. Importance of left atrial appendage flow as a predictor of thromboembolic events in patients with atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 1999;**20**(13):979-85.

440. Kaneko K, Hirono O, Fatema K, Zhang XH, Takeishi Y, Kayama T, Kubota I. Direct evidence that sustained dysfunction of left atrial appendage contributes to the occurrence of cardiogenic brain embolism in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Internal Medicine 2003;**42**(11):1077-1083.

441. Kang MK, Han C, Chun KJ, Choi J, Choi S, Cho JR, Lee N. Factors associated with stroke in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation beyond CHADS2 score. Cardiol J 2016;**23**(4):429-36.

442. Khurram IM, Dewire J, Mager M, Maqbool F, Zimmerman SL, Zipunnikov V, Beinart R, J EM, Spragg DD, Berger RD, Ashikaga H, Nazarian S, Calkins H. Relationship between left atrial appendage morphology and stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2013;**10**(12):1843-1849.

443. Kim YG, Shim J, Boo KY, Kim DY, Oh SK, Lee KN, Choi J, Kim YH. Different influence of cardiac hemodynamics on thromboembolic events in patients with paroxysmal and non-paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. PLoS ONE 2019;**14**(3).

444. Kimura T, Takatsuki S, Inagawa K, Katsumata Y, Nishiyama T, Nishiyama N, Fukumoto K, Aizawa Y, Tanimoto Y, Tanimoto K, Jinzaki M, Fukuda K. Anatomical characteristics of the left atrial appendage in cardiogenic stroke with low CHADS2 scores. Heart Rhythm 2013;**10**(6):921-5.

445. Kong B, Liu Y, Hu H, Wang L, Fan Y, Mei Y, Liu W, Liao J, Liu D, Xing D, Huang
H. Left atrial appendage morphology in patients with atrial fibrillation in China: implications
for stroke risk assessment from a single center study. Chin Med J (Engl) 2014;127(24):42104.

446. Lee JM, Kim JY, Shim J, Uhm JS, Kim YJ, Lee HJ, Pak HN, Lee MH, Joung B. Characteristics of pulmonary vein enlargement in non-valvular atrial fibrillation patients with stroke. Yonsei Med J 2014;**55**(6):1516-25.

447. Lee JM, Shim J, Uhm JS, Kim YJ, Lee HJ, Pak HN, Lee MH, Joung B. Impact of increased orifice size and decreased flow velocity of left atrial appendage on stroke in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2014;**113**(6):963-9.

448. Lee SH, Choi S, Chung WJ, Byun YS, Ryu SK, Pyun WB, Rim SJ. Tissue Doppler index, E/E', and ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation and preserved left ventricular ejection fraction. J Neurol Sci 2008;**271**(1-2):148-52.

449. Lee Y, Park HC, Lee Y, Kim SG. Comparison of Morphologic Features and Flow Velocity of the Left Atrial Appendage Among Patients With Atrial Fibrillation Alone, Transient Ischemic Attack, and Cardioembolic Stroke. Am J Cardiol 2017;**119**(10):1596-1604.

450. Leung DY, Black IW, Cranney GB, Hopkins AP, Walsh WF. Prognostic implications of left atrial spontaneous echo contrast in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994;**24**(3):755-62.

451. Leung M, van Rosendael PJ, Abou R, Ajmone Marsan N, Leung DY, Delgado V, Bax JJ. Left atrial function to identify patients with atrial fibrillation at high risk of stroke: new insights from a large registry. Eur Heart J 2018;**39**(16):1416-1425.

452. Mao Y, Ma M, Yang Y, Yu C, Wang Y, Jiang R, Jiang C. Left atrial appendage mechanical dispersion provides incremental value for thromboembolic risk stratification over CHA2DS2-VASc Score in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. International Journal of Cardiology 2020;**307**:41-47.

453. McMurray JJ, Ezekowitz JA, Lewis BS, Gersh BJ, van Diepen S, Amerena J, Bartunek J, Commerford P, Oh BH, Harjola VP, Al-Khatib SM, Hanna M, Alexander JH, Lopes RD, Wojdyla DM, Wallentin L, Granger CB. Left ventricular systolic dysfunction, heart failure, and the risk of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with atrial fibrillation: insights from the ARISTOTLE trial. Circ Heart Fail 2013;6(3):451-60.

454. Miyasaka Y, Tsuji H, Tokunaga S, Nishiue T, Yamada K, Watanabe J, Iwasaka T. Mild mitral regurgitation was associated with increased prevalence of thromboembolic events in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. Int J Cardiol 2000;**72**(3):229-33.

654

455. Miyazaki S, Ito T, Suwa M, Nakamura T, Kobashi A, Kitaura Y. Role of transesophageal echocardiography in the prediction of thromboembolism in patients with chronic nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Jpn Circ J 2001;**65**(10):874-8.

456. Moon J, Joung B. Short stature and ischemic stroke in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: New insight into the old observation. Heart Rhythm 2014;**11**(5 SUPPL. 1):S356.

457. Nakagami H, Yamamoto K, Ikeda U, Mitsuhashi T, Goto T, Shimada K. Mitral regurgitation reduces the risk of stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. Am Heart J 1998;**136**(3):528-32.

458. Obokata M, Negishi K, Kurosawa K, Tateno R, Tange S, Arai M, Amano M, Kurabayashi M. Left atrial strain provides incremental value for embolism risk stratification over CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and indicates prognostic impact in patients with atrial fibrillation. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2014;**27**(7):709-716 e4.

459. Ogata T, Matsuo R, Kiyuna F, Hata J, Ago T, Tsuboi Y, Kitazono T, Kamouchi M. Left Atrial Size and Long-Term Risk of Recurrent Stroke After Acute Ischemic Stroke in Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation. J Am Heart Assoc 2017;**6**(8).

460. Okuyama H, Hirono O, Tamura H, Nishiyama S, Takeishi Y, Kayama T, Kubota I. Usefulness of intensity variation in the left atrial appendage with contrast echocardiography to predict ischemic stroke recurrence in patients with atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2008;**101**(11):1630-7.

461. Park HC, Shin J, Ban JE, Choi JI, Park SW, Kim YH. Left atrial appendage: morphology and function in patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. International Journal of Cardiovascular Imaging 2013;**29**(4):935-944.

462. Sakabe K, Fukuda N, Fukuda Y, Morishita S, Shinohara H, Tamura Y. Transthoracic echocardiography during sinus rhythm identifies elderly patients with nonvalvular

655

paroxysmal atrial fibrillation at high risk of cerebral infarction. Int J Cardiol 2009;**136**(3):346-8.

463. Sakr SA, El-Rasheedy WA, Ramadan MM, El-Menshawy I, Mahfouz E, Bayoumi M. Association between left atrial appendage morphology evaluated by trans-esophageal echocardiography and ischemic cerebral stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. Int Heart J 2015;**56**(3):329-34.

464. Shih JY, Tsai WC, Huang YY, Liu YW, Lin CC, Huang YS, Tsai LM, Lin LJ. Association of decreased left atrial strain and strain rate with stroke in chronic atrial fibrillation. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2011;**24**(5):513-9.

465. Shin SY, Han SJ, Kim JS, Im SI, Shim J, Ahn J, Lee EM, Park YM, Kim JH, Lip GYH, Lim HE. Identification of Markers Associated With Development of Stroke in "Clinically Low-Risk" Atrial Fibrillation Patients. J Am Heart Assoc 2019;**8**(21):e012697.

466. Stoddard MF, Singh P, Dawn B, Longaker RA. Left atrial thrombus predicts transient ischemic attack in patients with atrial fibrillation. Am Heart J 2003;**145**(4):676-82.

467. Stollberger C, Chnupa P, Kronik G, Brainin M, Finsterer J, Schneider B, Slany J, Grp ES. Transesophageal echocardiography to assess embolic risk in patients with atrial fibrillation. Annals of Internal Medicine 1998;**128**(8):630-+.

468. Takashima S, Nakagawa K, Hirai T, Dougu N, Taguchi Y, Sasahara E, Ohara K, Fukuda N, Inoue H, Tanaka K. Transesophageal echocardiographic findings are independent and relevant predictors of ischemic stroke in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. J Clin Neurol 2012;**8**(3):170-6.

469. Tsao HM, Hu WC, Tsai PH, Lee CL, Liu FC, Wang HH, Lo LW, Chang SL, Chao TF, Chen SA. The Abundance of Epicardial Adipose Tissue Surrounding Left Atrium Is Associated With the Occurrence of Stroke in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. Medicine 2016;**95**(14).

470. Tsao HM, Hu WC, Tsai PH, Lee CL, Wang HH, Chang SL, Chao TF, Chen SA. Functional Remodeling of Both Atria is Associated with Occurrence of Stroke in Patients with Paroxysmal and Persistent Atrial Fibrillation. Acta Cardiol Sin 2017;**33**(1):50-57.

471. Vinereanu D, Lopes RD, Mulder H, Gersh BJ, Hanna M, de Barros ESPGM, Atar D, Wallentin L, Granger CB, Alexander JH. Echocardiographic Risk Factors for Stroke and Outcomes in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation Anticoagulated With Apixaban or Warfarin. Stroke 2017;**48**(12):3266-3273.

472. Wu L, Liang E, Fan S, Zheng L, Du Z, Liu S, Hu F, Fan X, Chen G, Ding L, Yao Y. Relation of Left Atrial Appendage Morphology Determined by Computed Tomography to Prior Stroke or to Increased Risk of Stroke in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2019;**123**(8):1283-1286.

473. Xu XF, Jiang FL, Ou MJ, Zhang ZH. The association between mean platelet volume and chronic atrial fibrillation and the presence of thrombotic events. Biomedical Reports 2015;**3**(3):388-394.

474. Yan S, Li Q, Xia Z, Yan S, Wei Y, Hong K, Wu Y, Li J, Cheng X. Risk factors of thromboembolism in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation patients with low CHA2DS2-VASc score. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019;**98**(8):e14549.

475. Yang LT, Tsai WC, Su HM. Echocardiographic parameters versus CHA2DS2-VASc score in prediction of overall cardiac events, heart failure, and stroke in non-valvular atrial fibrillation. Cardiol J 2018;**25**(1):60-71.

476. Yang TJ, Zhang FF, Jing L, Zhou S. The correlation between left atrial sphericity and thromboembolic events in patients with atrial fibrillation. Zhonghua nei ke za zhi 2019;**58**(12):883-888.

477. Yoshida M, Nakamura Y, Higashikawa M, Kinoshita M. Predictors of ischemic stroke in non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation. Int J Cardiol 1996;**56**(1):61-70.

478. Zhao Y, Ji L, Liu J, Wu J, Wang Y, Shen S, Guo S, Jian R, Chen G, Wei X, Liao W, Kutty S, Liao Y, Bin J. Intensity of Left Atrial Spontaneous Echo Contrast as a Correlate for Stroke Risk Stratification in Patients with Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation. Sci Rep 2016;6:27650.

479. Sandhu RK, Hohnloser SH, Pfeffer MA, Yuan F, Hart RG, Yusuf S, Connolly SJ, McAlister FA, Healey JS. Relationship between degree of left ventricular dysfunction, symptom status, and risk of embolic events in patients with atrial fibrillation and heart failure. Stroke 2015;**46**(3):667-72.

480. Cho MS, Park HS, Cha MJ, Lee SR, Park JK, Kim TH, Lee JM, Park J, Park HW, Kang KW, Shim J, Uhm JS, Kim JB, Kim C, Lee YS, Choi EK, Joung B, Kim J. Clinical impact of left atrial enlargement in Korean patients with atrial fibrillation. Sci Rep 2021;**11**(1):23808.

481. Dudzińska-Szczerba K, Michałowska I, Piotrowski R, Sikorska A, Paszkowska A, Stachnio U, Kowalik I, Kułakowski P, Baran J. Assessment of the left atrial appendage morphology in patients after ischemic stroke - The ASSAM study. Int J Cardiol 2021;**330**:65-72.

482. Huang K, Wen H, Liu C. Association Between Ischemic Stroke and Left Atrial Appendage Morphology in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Low CHA2DS2-VASc Scores. Tex Heart Inst J 2022;49(5).

483. Liao JN, Chao TF, Kuo JY, Sung KT, Tsai JP, Lo CI, Lai YH, Su CH, Hung CL, Yeh HI. Global Left Atrial Longitudinal Strain Using 3-Beat Method Improves Risk Prediction of Stroke Over Conventional Echocardiography in Atrial Fibrillation. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2020;**13**(8):e010287.

484. Wang R, Hu C, Li Z, Zhang S, Li W, Hou H. Coronary CTA to Investigate Predictive Value of Left Atrial Appendage for Cardiogenic Stroke in Patients with Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation. Biomed Res Int 2020;**2020**:7351876.

485. Shen Z, Chen D, Cheng H, Tan F, Yan J, Deng H, Fang W, Wang S, Zhu J. Nterminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide and D-dimer combined with left atrial diameter to predict the risk of ischemic stroke in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Clin Cardiol 2022.

486. Froehlich L, Meyre P, Aeschbacher S, Blum S, Djokic D, Kuehne M, Osswald S, Kaufmann BA, Conen D. Left atrial dimension and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with and without atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart 2019;**105**(24):1884-1891.

487. Black IW, Fatkin D, Sagar KB, Khandheria BK, Leung DY, Galloway JM, Feneley MP, Walsh WF, Grimm RA, Stollberger C, et al. Exclusion of atrial thrombus by transesophageal echocardiography does not preclude embolism after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. A multicenter study. Circulation 1994;**89**(6):2509-13.

488. Sanders P, Morton JB, Kistler PM, Vohra JK, Kalman JM, Sparks PB. Reversal of Atrial Mechanical Dysfunction After Cardioversion of Atrial Fibrillation: Implications for the Mechanisms of Tachycardia-Mediated Atrial Cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2003;**108**(16):1976-1984.

489. Sanders P, Morton JB, Morgan JG, Davidson NC, Spence SJ, Vohra JK, Kalman JM, Sparks PB. Reversal of atrial mechanical stunning after cardioversion of atrial arrhythmias: implications for the mechanisms of tachycardia-mediated atrial cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2002;**106**(14):1806-13.

490. Sparks PB, Jayaprakash S, Vohra JK, Mond HG, Yapanis AG, Grigg LE, Kalman JM. Left atrial "stunning" following radiofrequency catheter ablation of chronic atrial flutter. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998;**32**(2):468-75.

491. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, Hindricks G, Manolis AS, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery 2016;**50**(5):E1-E88.

492. Flaherty ML, Kissela B, Khoury JC, Alwell K, Moomaw CJ, Woo D, Khatri P, Ferioli S, Adeoye O, Broderick JP, Kleindorfer D. Carotid artery stenosis as a cause of stroke. Neuroepidemiology 2013;**40**(1):36-41.

493. Lehtola H, Airaksinen KEJ, Hartikainen P, Hartikainen JEK, Palomäki A, Nuotio I, Ylitalo A, Kiviniemi T, Mustonen P. Stroke recurrence in patients with atrial fibrillation: concomitant carotid artery stenosis doubles the risk. Eur J Neurol 2017;**24**(5):719-725.

494. Chang YJ, Ryu SJ, Lin SK. Carotid artery stenosis in ischemic stroke patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Cerebrovasc Dis 2002;**13**(1):16-20.

495. Qureshi AI, Chaudhry SA, Qureshi MH, Suri MF. Rates and predictors of 5-year survival in a national cohort of asymptomatic elderly patients undergoing carotid revascularization. Neurosurgery 2015;**76**(1):34-40; discussion 40-1.

496. Riera-Vázquez R, Lozano-Vilardell P, Manuel-Rimbau E, Juliá-Montoya J, Corominas-Roura C, Merino-Mairal OA. Carotid endarterectomy in high-risk patients. Angiologia 2006;**58**(4):287-294.

497. Rong X, Yang W, Garzon-Muvdi T, Ye X, Caplan JM, Colby GP, Coon AL, Tamargo RJ, Huang J. Risk Factors Associated with Ipsilateral Ischemic Events Following Carotid Endarterectomy for Carotid Artery Stenosis. World Neurosurg 2016;**89**:611-9.

498. Roussopoulou A, Lazaris A, Tsivgoulis G, Krogias C, Moulakakis K, Georgiadis GS, Kakisis JD, Zompola C, Faissner S, Palaiodimou L, Theodorou A, Hummel T, Safouris A, Matsota P, Zervas P, Triantafyllou S, Voumvourakis C, Lazarides M, Geroulakos G,

Vasdekis SN. Risk of perioperative neck hematoma in TIA and non-disabling stroke patients with symptomatic carotid artery stenosis undergoing endarterectomy within 14 days from cerebrovascular event. J Neurol Sci 2020;**409**:116590.

499. Shah Z, Masoomi R, Thapa R, Wani M, Chen J, Dawn B, Rymer M, Gupta K. Optimal Medical Management Reduces Risk of Disease Progression and Ischemic Events in Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis Patients: A Long-Term Follow-Up Study. Cerebrovasc Dis 2017;**44**(3-4):150-159.

500. Siddiq F, Adil MM, Malik AA, Qureshi MH, Qureshi AI. Effect of carotid revascularization endarterectomy versus stenting trial results on the performance of carotid artery stent placement and carotid endarterectomy in the United States. Neurosurgery 2015;**77**(5):726-732.

501. Stanziale SF, Marone LK, Boules TN, Brimmeier JA, Hill K, Makaroun MS, Wholey MH. Carotid artery stenting in octogenarians is associated with increased adverse outcomes. J Vasc Surg 2006;**43**(2):297-304.

502. Tedesco MM, Coogan SM, Dalman RL, Haukoos JS, Lane B, Loh C, Penkar TS, Lee JT. Risk factors for developing postprocedural microemboli following carotid interventions. J Endovasc Ther 2007;**14**(4):561-7.

503. Tsialtas D, Bolognesi MG, Assimopoulos S, Volpi R, Bolognesi R. Electrocardiographic and echocardiographic features in patients with major arterial vascular disease assigned to surgical revascularization. Acta Cardiol 2019;**74**(6):501-507.

504. Tu JV, Wang H, Bowyer B, Green L, Fang J, Kucey D. Risk factors for death or stroke after carotid endarterectomy: observations from the Ontario Carotid Endarterectomy Registry. Stroke 2003;**34**(11):2568-73.

505. Watanabe M, Chaudhry SA, Adil MM, Alqadri SL, Majidi S, Semaan E, Qureshi AI. The effect of atrial fibrillation on outcomes in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy or stent placement in general practice. J Vasc Surg 2015;**61**(4):927-32.

506. Chen CY, Weng WC, Wu CL, Huang WY. Association between gender and stoke recurrence in ischemic stroke patients with high-grade carotid artery stenosis. J Clin Neurosci 2019;**67**:62-67.

507. Keyhani S, Madden E, Cheng EM, Bravata DM, Halm E, Austin PC, Ghasemiesfe M, Abraham AS, Zhang AJ, Johanning JM. Risk Prediction Tools to Improve Patient Selection for Carotid Endarterectomy Among Patients With Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis. JAMA surgery 2019;**154**(4):336-344.

508. Choi JH, Pile-Spellman J, Brisman JL. US nationwide trends in carotid revascularization: hospital outcome and predictors of outcome from 1998 to 2007. Acta Neurol Scand 2014;**129**(2):85-93.

509. Dharmasaroja PA, Intharakham K. Risk factors for carotid stenosis in Thai patients with ischemic stroke/TIA. Angiology 2010;**61**(8):789-92.

510. Díaz-Pérez J, Parrilla G, Espinosa de Rueda M, Cabrera-Maqueda JM, García-Villalba B, Alba-Isasi MT, Morales A, Zamarro J. Mechanical Thrombectomy in Acute Stroke Due to Carotid Occlusion: A Series of 153 Consecutive Patients. Cerebrovascular diseases (Basel, Switzerland) 2018;**46**(3):132-141.

511. Doig D, Turner EL, Dobson J, Featherstone RL, de Borst GJ, Brown MM, Richards T. Incidence, impact, and predictors of cranial nerve palsy and haematoma following carotid endarterectomy in the international carotid stenting study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2014;**48**(5):498-504.

512. Pucite E, Slisers M, Miglane E, Krievins D, Dadzite J, Krievina I. Health-related quality of life among patients with severe carotid disease. Cerebrovascular Diseases 2016;**41**:238.

513. Colussi G, Zuttion F, Bais B, Dolso P, Valente M, Gigli GL, Gasparini D, Sponza M, Catena C, Sechi LA, Cavarape A. Pre-Procedural Statin Use Is Associated with Improved Long-Term Survival and Reduced Major Cardiovascular Events in Patients Undergoing Carotid Artery Stenting: A Retrospective Study. J Clin Med 2018;**7**(9).

514. Telman G, Sprecher E, Kouperberg E. Carotid disease in acute ischemic stroke patients of northern Israel. Acta Neurol Scand 2012;**126**(6):398-403.

515. Giri J, Parikh SA, Kennedy KF, Weinberg I, Donaldson C, Hawkins BM, McCormick DJ, Jackson B, Armstrong EJ, Ramchand P, White CJ, Jaff MR, Rosenfield K, Yeh RW. Proximal versus distal embolic protection for carotid artery stenting: a national cardiovascular data registry analysis. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2015;**8**(4):609-15.

516. Willeit K, Pechlaner R, Egger G, Weger S, Oberhollenzer M, Willeit J, Kiechl S. Carotid atherosclerosis and incident atrial fibrillation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2013;**33**(11):2660-5.

517. Kapral MK, Wang H, Austin PC, Fang J, Kucey D, Bowyer B, Tu JV. Sex differences in carotid endarterectomy outcomes: results from the Ontario Carotid Endarterectomy Registry. Stroke 2003;**34**(5):1120-5.

518. Keyhani S, Madden E, Cheng EM, Bravata DM, Halm E, Austin PC, Ghasemiesfe M, Abraham AS, Zhang AJ, Johanning JM. Risk Prediction Tools to Improve Patient Selection for Carotid Endarterectomy Among Patients With Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis. JAMA Surg 2019;**154**(4):336-344.

519. Mazzaccaro D, Modafferi A, Malacrida G, Nano G. Assessment of long-term survival and stroke after carotid endarterectomy and carotid stenting in patients older than 80 years. J Vasc Surg 2019;**70**(2):522-529.

520. Mudra H, Staubach S, Hein-Rothweiler R, Segerer M, Strohm H, Weber H, Ledwoch J. Long-Term Outcomes of Carotid Artery Stenting in Clinical Practice. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2016;**9**(9).

521. Ogata T, Inoue T, Okada Y. Outcome of 312 Japanese patients with carotid endarterectomy and factors associated with cardiovascular events--a single-center study in Japan. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2014;**23**(3):529-33.

522. Paciaroni M, Inzitari D, Agnelli G, Caso V, Balucani C, Grotta JC, Sarraj A, Sung-Il S, Chamorro A, Urra X, Leys D, Henon H, Cordonnier C, Dequatre N, Aguettaz P, Alberti A, Venti M, Acciarresi M, D'Amore C, Zini A, Vallone S, Dell'Acqua ML, Menetti F, Nencini P, Mangiafico S, Barlinn K, Kepplinger J, Bodechtel U, Gerber J, Bovi P, Cappellari M, Linfante I, Dabus G, Marcheselli S, Pezzini A, Padovani A, Alexandrov AV, Shahripour RB, Sessa M, Giacalone G, Silvestrelli G, Lanari A, Ciccone A, De Vito A, Azzini C, Saletti A, Fainardi E, Orlandi G, Chiti A, Gialdini G, Silvestrini M, Ferrarese C, Beretta S, Tassi R, Martini G, Tsivgoulis G, Vasdekis SN, Consoli D, Baldi A, D'Anna S, Luda E, Varbella F, Galletti G, Invernizzi P, Donati E, De Lodovici ML, Bono G, Corea F, Sette MD, Monaco S, Riva M, Tassinari T, Scoditti U, Toni D. Intravenous thrombolysis or endovascular therapy for acute ischemic stroke associated with cervical internal carotid artery occlusion: the ICARO-3 study. J Neurol 2015;**262**(2):459-68.

523. Rizos T, Horstmann S, Dittgen F, Täger T, Jenetzky E, Heuschmann P, Veltkamp R. Preexisting Heart Disease Underlies Newly Diagnosed Atrial Fibrillation After Acute Ischemic Stroke. Stroke 2016;**47**(2):336-41.

524. Shibazaki K, Kimura K, Iguchi Y, Aoki J, Sakai K, Kobayashi K. Plasma brain natriuretic peptide predicts death during hospitalization in acute ischaemic stroke and transient ischaemic attack patients with atrial fibrillation. Eur J Neurol 2011;**18**(1):165-9.

525. Yang PS, Pak HN, Park DH, Yoo J, Kim TH, Uhm JS, Kim YD, Nam HS, Joung B, Lee MH, Heo JH. Non-cardioembolic risk factors in atrial fibrillation-associated ischemic stroke. PLoS One 2018;**13**(7):e0201062.

526. Shang L, Zhao Y, Shao M, Sun H, Feng M, Li Y, Zhou X, Tang B. The association of CHA2DS2-VASc score and carotid plaque in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. PLoS One 2019;**14**(2):e0210945.

527. Siegler JE, Thon JM, Woo JH, Do D, Messé SR, Cucchiara B. Prevalence of Nonstenotic Carotid Plaque in Stroke Due to Atrial Fibrillation Compared to Embolic Stroke of Undetermined Source. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2019;**28**(10):104289.

528. Akanksha WG, Paramdeep K, Gagandeep S, Rajinder B, Birinder SP, Monika S, Shavinder S, Clarence JS, Shweta JV, Sharma M, Jeyaraj DP. Clinical Features, Risk Factors, and Short-term Outcome of Ischemic Stroke, in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation: Data from a Population-based Study. Ann Indian Acad Neurol 2017;**20**(3):289-293.

529. Kanter MC, Tegeler CH, Pearce LA, Weinberger J, Feinberg WM, Anderson DC, Gomez CR, Rothrock JF, Helgason CM, Hart RG. Carotid stenosis in patients with atrial fibrillation. Prevalence, risk factors, and relationship to stroke in the Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Study. Arch Intern Med 1994;**154**(12):1372-7.

530. Paciaroni M, Agnelli G, Ageno W, Caso V, Corea F, Lanari A, Alberti A, Previdi P, Fedele M, Manina G, Vedovati C, Venti M, Billeci AM, Batta M, Galli L, Silvestrelli G. Risk factors for cerebral ischemic events in patients with atrial fibrillation on warfarin for stroke prevention. Atherosclerosis 2010;**212**(2):564-6.

531. Proietti M, Calvieri C, Malatino L, Signorelli S, Corazza GR, Perticone F, Vestri AR, Loffredo L, Davì G, Violi F, Basili S. Relationship between carotid intima-media thickness and non valvular atrial fibrillation type. Atherosclerosis 2015;**238**(2):350-5.

532. Chen LY, Leening MJ, Norby FL, Roetker NS, Hofman A, Franco OH, Pan W, Polak JF, Witteman JC, Kronmal RA, Folsom AR, Nazarian S, Stricker BH, Heckbert SR, Alonso A. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness and Arterial Stiffness and the Risk of Atrial Fibrillation: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study, Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA), and the Rotterdam Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2016;**5**(5).

533. Benbir G, Uluduz D, Ince B, Bozluolcay M. Atherothrombotic ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 2007;**109**(6):485-90.

534. Bogousslavsky J, Van Melle G, Regli F, Kappenberger L. Pathogenesis of anterior circulation stroke in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: the Lausanne Stroke Registry. Neurology 1990;**40**(7):1046-50.

535. Cho DH, Choi JI, Choi J, Kim YG, Oh SK, Kook H, Lee KN, Shim J, Park SM, Shim WJ, Kim YH. Impact of carotid atherosclerosis in CHA2DS2-VASc-based risk score on predicting ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation. Korean J Intern Med 2020.

536. Deguchi I, Hayashi T, Ohe Y, Kato Y, Fukuoka T, Maruyama H, Horiuchi Y, Sano H, Nagamine Y, Tanahashi N. CHADS2 score/CHA2 DS2 -VASc score and major artery occlusion in cardioembolic stroke patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Int J Stroke 2014;**9**(5):576-9.

537. Fox KAA, Velentgas P, Camm AJ, Bassand JP, Fitzmaurice DA, Gersh BJ, Goldhaber SZ, Goto S, Haas S, Misselwitz F, Pieper KS, Turpie AGG, Verheugt FWA, Dabrowski E, Luo K, Gibbs L, Kakkar AK. Outcomes Associated With Oral Anticoagulants Plus Antiplatelets in Patients With Newly Diagnosed Atrial Fibrillation. JAMA Netw Open 2020;**3**(2):e200107.

538. Kochar A, Hellkamp AS, Lokhnygina Y, Jones WS, Becker RC, Berkowitz SD, Breithardt G, Fox KAA, Halperin JL, Hankey GJ, Mahaffey KW, Nessel CC, Singer DE, Piccini JP, Patel MR. Efficacy and safety of rivaroxaban compared with warfarin in patients with carotid artery disease and nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: Insights from the ROCKET AF trial. Clin Cardiol 2018;**41**(1):39-45.

539. Goyal M, Singh N, Marko M, Hill MD, Menon BK, Demchuk A, Coutts SB, Almekhlafi MA, Ospel JM. Embolic Stroke of Undetermined Source and Symptomatic Nonstenotic Carotid Disease. Stroke 2020;**51**(4):1321-1325.

540. Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Noubiap J, Wilman A, Saqqur M, Shuaib A, Jickling G. Highrisk plaques and risk of stroke in asymptomatic carotid stenosis. JAMA Neurol 2020.

541. Ntaios G, Papavasileiou V, Milionis H, Makaritsis K, Manios E, Spengos K, Michel P, Vemmos K. Embolic strokes of undetermined source in the Athens stroke registry: a descriptive analysis. Stroke 2015;**46**(1):176-81.

542. Noubiap JJ, Agbaedeng TA, Tochie JN, Nkeck JR, Ndoadoumgue AL, Fitzgerald JL, Kleinig T, Thomas G, Middeldorp ME, Sanders P. Meta-Analysis Comparing the Frequency of Carotid Artery Stenosis in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Vice Versa. Am J Cardiol 2021;**138**:72-79.

543. Kanter MC, Tegeler CH, Pearce LA, Weinberger J, Feinberg WM, Anderson DC, Gomez CR, Rothrock JE, Helgason CM, Hart RG. Carotid stenosis in patients with atrial fibrillation. Prevalence, risk factors, and relationship to stroke in the stroke prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Study. Archives of Internal Medicine 1994;**154**(12):1372-1377.

544. Becattini C, Dentali F, Camporese G, Sembolini A, Rancan E, Tonello C, Manina G, Padayattil S, Agnelli G. Carotid atherosclerosis and risk for ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation on oral anticoagulant treatment. Atherosclerosis 2018;**271**:177-181.

545. Bunch TJ, Bair TL, Crandall BG, Cutler MJ, Day JD, Graves KG, Jacobs V, Mallender C, Osborn JS, Weiss JP, May HT. Stroke and dementia risk in patients with and without atrial fibrillation and carotid arterial disease. Heart Rhythm 2020;**17**(1):20-26.

546. Lehtola H, Airaksinen KEJ, Hartikainen P, Hartikainen JEK, Palomaki A, Nuotio I, Ylitalo A, Kiviniemi T, Mustonen P. Stroke recurrence in patients with atrial fibrillation: concomitant carotid artery stenosis doubles the risk. European Journal of Neurology 2017;**24**(5):719-725.

547. Bekwelem W, Jensen PN, Norby FL, Soliman EZ, Agarwal SK, Lip GY, Pan W, Folsom AR, Longstreth WT, Jr., Alonso A, Heckbert SR, Chen LY. Carotid Atherosclerosis and Stroke in Atrial Fibrillation: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. Stroke 2016;**47**(6):1643-6.

548. Basili S, Loffredo L, Pastori D, Proieti M, Farcomeni A, Vesti AR, Pignatelli P, Davì G, Hiatt WR, Lip GYH, Corazza GR, Perticone F, Violi F, Alessandri C, Serviddio G, Fascetti S, Palange P, Greco E, Bruno G, Averna M, Giammanco A, Sposito P, De Cristofaro R, De Gennaro L, Carulli L, Pellegrini E, Cominacini L, Mozzini C, Pasini AF, Sprovieri M, Spagnuolo V, Cerqua G, Cerasola G, Mule G, Barbagallo M, Lo Sciuto S, Monteverde A, Saitta A, Lo Gullo A, Malatino L, Ciia C, Terranova V, Pisano M, Pinto A, Di Raimondo D, Tuttolomondo A, Conigliaro R, Signorelli S, De Palma D, Galderisi M, Cudemo G, Galletti F, Fazio V, De Luca N, Meccariello A, Caputo D, De Donato MT, Iannuzi A, Bresciani A, Giunta R, Utili R, Iorio V, Adinolfi LE, Sellitto C, Iuliano N, Bellis P, Tirelli P, Sacerdoti D, Vanni D, Iuliano L, Ciacciarelli M, Pacelli A, Palazzuoli A, Cacciafesta M, Gueli N, Lo Iacono G, Brusco S, Verrusio W, Nobili L, Tarquinio N, Pellegrini F, Vincentelli GM, Ravallese F, Santini C, Letizia C, Petramala L, Zinnamosca L, Minisola S, Cilli M, Savoriti C, Colangelo L, Falaschi P, Martocchia A, Pastore F, Bertazzoni G, Attalla El Halabieh E, Paradiso M, Lizzi EM, Timmi S, Battisti P, Cerci S, Ciavolella M, Di Veroli C, Malei F, De Ciocchis A, Abate D, Castellino P, Zanoli L, Fidone F, Mannarino ET, Pasqualini L, Oliverio G, Pende A, Aitom N, Ricchio R, Fimognari FL, Alletto M, Messina S, Sesti G, Arturi F, Fiorentino TV, Pedace E, Scarpino PE, Carullo G, Maio R, Sciacqua A, Frugiuele P, Spagnuolo V, Battaglia G, Atzori S, Delitala G, Angelucci E, Sestili S, Traisci G, De Feudis L, Di Michèle D, Fava A, Balsano C, De Ciantis P, Desideri G, Camerota A, Mezzetti M, Gresele P, Vedovati C, Fierro T, Puccetti L, Bertolotti M, Mussi C, Boddi M, Savino A, Contri S, Degl'Innocenti G, Sailer A, Fabris F, Pesavento R, Filippi L, Vedovetto V, Puato M, Fabris F, Treleani M, De Luca E, De Zaiacomo F, Giantin V, Semplicini A, Minuz P, Romano S, Fantin F, Manica A, Stockner I, Pattis P, Gutmann B, Catena C, Colussi G, Sechi LA, Annoni G, Bruni AA, Castagna A, Spinelli D, Miceli E, Paduia D, Schinco G, Spreafico S, Secchi B, Vanoli M, Casella G, Pulixi EA, Sansone L, Serra MG, Longo S, Antonaci S, Belfiäore A, Frualdo M, Palasciano G, Ricci L, Ventrella F, Bianco C, Santovito D, Cipollone F, Nicolai S, Salvati F, Rini GB, Scozzari F, Muiesan ML, Salvetti M, Bazza A, Picardi A, Vespasiani-Gentilucci U, De Vincentis A, Cosio P, Terzolo M, Madaffari B, Parasporo B, Fenoglio L, Bracco C, Melchio R, Gentili T, Salvi A, Nitti C, Gabrielli A, Martino GP, Capucci A, Brambatti M, Sparagna A, Tirotta D, Andreozzi P, Ettorre E, Viscogliosi G, Servello A, Musumeci M, Rossi Fanelli F, Delfino M, Giorgi A, Glorioso N, Melis G, Marras G, Matta M, Sacco A, Stellitano E, Scordo A, Russo F, Caruso AA, Porreca E, Tana M, Ferri C, Cheli P, Portincasa P, Muscianisi G, Giordani S, Stanghellini V, Sabbà C, Mancuso G, Bartone M, Calipari D, Arcidiacono G, Bellanuova I, Ferraro M, Marigliano G, Cozzolino D, Lampitella A, Acri V, Galasso D, Mazzei F, Galasso S, Buratti A, Porta M, Brizzi MF, Fattorini A, Sampietro F, D'Angelo A, Manfredini R, Pala M, Fabbian F, Moroni C, Valente L, Lopreiato F, Parente F, Granata M, Moia M, Braham S, Rossi M, Pesce M, Gentile A, Catozzo V, Baciarello G, Cosimati A, Ageno W, Rancan E, Guasti L, Ciccaglioni A, Negri S, Polselli M, Prisco D, Marcucci R, Ferro D, Cangemi R, Perri L, Polimeni L,

Catasca E, Vicario T, Russo R, Saliola M, Del Ben M, Ange-lico F, Calvieri C, Bucci T, Baratta F, Migliacci R, Porciello G, Corrao S, Pignataro FS, Napoleone L, Talerico G, Amoroso D, Romiti GF, Ruscio E, Toriello F, Todisco T, Di Tanna G, Saccheti ML, Puddu PE, Anzaldi M, Bazzini C, Bianchi PI, Boari B, Bracco G, Buonauro A, Butta C, Buzzetti E, Calabria S, Capeci W, Caradio F, Carleo P, Carrabba MD, Castorani L, Cecchetto L, Cicco S, Cimini C, Colombo BM, De Giorgi A, De Vuono S, Del Corso L, Denegri A, Di Giosia P, Durante Mangoni E, Falsetti L, Forgione A, Giorgini P, Grassi D, Grembiale A, Hijazi D, Iamele L, Lorusso G, Marchese A, Marra AM, Masala M, Miceli G, Montebianco Abenavoli L, Murgia G, Naccarato P, Paduia D, Pattoneri P, Perego F, Pesce P, Piano S, Pinna M, Pinto D, Pretti V, Pucci G, Raparelli V, Salinaro F, Salzano A, Santilli F, Scarpini F, Scicali R, Sirico D, Suppressa P, Talia M, Tassone EJ, Torres D, Vazzana N, Vecchio CR, Vidili G, Vitale F, Zaccone V. Carotid plaque detection improves the predictve value of CHA2DS2-VASc score in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrilation: The ARAPACIS Study. International Journal of Cardiology 2017;**231**:143-149.

549. Sasahara E, Nakagawa K, Hirai T, Takashima S, Ohara K, Fukuda N, Nozawa T, Tanaka K, Inoue H. Clinical and transesophageal echocardiographic variables for prediction of thromboembolic events in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation at low-intermediate risk. J Cardiol 2012;**60**(6):484-8.

550. Eikelboom JW, Connolly SJ, Bosch J, Dagenais GR, Hart RG, Shestakovska O, Diaz R, Alings M, Lonn EM, Anand SS, Widimsky P, Hori M, Avezum A, Piegas LS, Branch KRH, Probstfield J, Bhatt DL, Zhu J, Liang Y, Maggioni AP, Lopez-Jaramillo P, O'Donnell M, Kakkar AK, Fox KAA, Parkhomenko AN, Ertl G, Störk S, Keltai M, Ryden L, Pogosova N, Dans AL, Lanas F, Commerford PJ, Torp-Pedersen C, Guzik TJ, Verhamme PB, Vinereanu D, Kim JH, Tonkin AM, Lewis BS, Felix C, Yusoff K, Steg PG, Metsarinne KP,

Cook Bruns N, Misselwitz F, Chen E, Leong D, Yusuf S. Rivaroxaban with or without Aspirin in Stable Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med 2017;**377**(14):1319-1330.

551. Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Noubiap JJ, Wilman AH, Saqqur M, Shuaib A, Jickling GC. Prevalence of High-Risk Plaques and Risk of Stroke in Patients With Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol 2020;**77**(12):1-12.

552. Klaas JP. Neurologic complications of cardiac and aortic disease. CONTINUUM Lifelong Learning in Neurology 2017;**23**(3NeurologyofSystemicDisease):654-668.

553. Amarenco P. Atherosclerotic disease of the aortic arch as a risk factor for recurrent ischemic stroke. New England Journal of Medicine 1996;**334**(19):1216-1221.

Aboyans V, Ricco JB, Bartelink MLEL, Björck M, Brodmann M, Cohnert T, Collet 554. JP, Czerny M, De Carlo M, Debus S, Espinola-Klein C, Kahan T, Kownator S, Mazzolai L, Naylor AR, Roffi M, Röther J, Sprynger M, Tendera M, Tepe G, Venermo M, Vlachopoulos C, Desormais I, Widimsky P, Kolh P, Agewall S, Bueno H, Coca A, De Borst GJ, Delgado V, Dick F, Erol C, Ferrini M, Kakkos S, Katus HA, Knuuti J, Lindholt J, Mattle H, Pieniazek P, Piepoli MF, Scheinert D, Sievert H, Simpson I, Sulzenko J, Tamargo J, Tokgozoglu L, Torbicki A, Tsakountakis N, Tuñón J, De Ceniga MV, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Barbato E, Coman IM, Dean V, Fitzsimons D, Gaemperli O, Hindricks G, Iung B, Juni P, Lancellotti P, Leclercq C, McDonagh T, Ponikowski P, Richter DJ, Shlyakhto E, Simpson IA, Zelveian PH, Haumer M, Isachkin D, De Backer T, Dilic M, Petrov I, Kirhmajer MV, Karetova D, Prescott E, Soliman H, Paapstel A, Makinen K, Tosev S, Messas E, Pagava Z, Müller OJ, Naka KK, Járai Z, Gudjonsson T, Jonas M, Novo S, Ibrahimi P, Lunegova O, Dzerve V, Misonis N, Beissel J, Pllaha E, Taberkant M, Bakken T, Teles R, Lighezan D, Konradi A, Zavatta M, Madaric J, Fras Z, Melchor LS, Näslund U, Amann-Vesti B, Obiekezie A. 2017 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases, in collaboration with the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS). European Heart Journal 2018;**39**(9):763-816.

555. Pastori D, Eikelboom JW, Anand SS, Patel MR, Tanguay JF, Ricco JB, Debus ES, Mazzolai L, Bauersachs R, Verhamme P, Bosch J, Nikol S, Nehler M, Aboyans V, Violi F. Management of Patients with Asymptomatic and Symptomatic Carotid Artery Disease: Update on Anti-Thrombotic Therapy. Thromb Haemost 2019;**119**(4):576-585.

556. Wang Z, Korantzopoulos P, Liu T. Carotid Atherosclerosis in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2019;**21**(12):55.

557. Khattak F, Alam MB, Paul TK, Rijal S, Wazir S, Lavie CJ, Saba S. Antithrombotic Therapy in Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation: Consensus and Challenges. Am J Med Sci 2018;**355**(5):467-476.

558. Jolobe OMP. Mitigation of Stroke Risk in Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation Patients With High-Grade Carotid Artery Stenosis. Am J Med Sci 2018;**356**(6):578-579.

559. Bennaghmouch N, de Veer A, Bode K, Mahmoodi BK, Dewilde WJM, Lip GYH, Brueckmann M, Kleine E, Ten Berg JM. Efficacy and Safety of the Use of Non-Vitamin K Antagonist Oral Anticoagulants in Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation and Concomitant Aspirin Therapy: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Trials. Circulation 2018;**137**(11):1117-1129.

560. Douros A, Renoux C, Yin H, Filion KB, Suissa S, Azoulay L. Concomitant Use of Direct Oral Anticoagulants with Antiplatelet Agents and the Risk of Major Bleeding in Patients with Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Med 2019;**132**(2):191-199 e12.

561. Noubiap JJ, Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Fitzgerald JL, Sanders P. Stroke risk associated with carotid and aortic atherosclerosis in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review. J Neurol Sci 2021;**425**:117444.

562. O'Leary DH, Polak JF, Wolfson SK, Jr., Bond MG, Bommer W, Sheth S, Psaty BM, Sharrett AR, Manolio TA. Use of sonography to evaluate carotid atherosclerosis in the elderly. The Cardiovascular Health Study. CHS Collaborative Research Group. Stroke 1991;**22**(9):1155-63.

563. Polak JF, Shemanski L, O'Leary DH, Lefkowitz D, Price TR, Savage PJ, Brant WE, Reid C. Hypoechoic plaque at US of the carotid artery: an independent risk factor for incident stroke in adults aged 65 years or older. Cardiovascular Health Study. Radiology 1998;**208**(3):649-54.

564. Longstreth WT, Jr., Bernick C, Fitzpatrick A, Cushman M, Knepper L, Lima J, Furberg CD. Frequency and predictors of stroke death in 5,888 participants in the Cardiovascular Health Study. Neurology 2001;**56**(3):368-75.

565. Roth GA, Johnson C, Abajobir A, Abd-Allah F, Abera SF, Abyu G, Ahmed M, Aksut B, Alam T, Alam K, Alla F, Alvis-Guzman N, Amrock S, Ansari H, Ärnlöv J, Asayesh H, Atey TM, Avila-Burgos L, Awasthi A, Banerjee A, Barac A, Bärnighausen T, Barregard L, Bedi N, Belay Ketema E, Bennett D, Berhe G, Bhutta Z, Bitew S, Carapetis J, Carrero JJ, Malta DC, Castañeda-Orjuela CA, Castillo-Rivas J, Catalá-López F, Choi JY, Christensen H, Cirillo M, Cooper L, Jr., Criqui M, Cundiff D, Damasceno A, Dandona L, Dandona R, Davletov K, Dharmaratne S, Dorairaj P, Dubey M, Ehrenkranz R, El Sayed Zaki M, Faraon EJA, Esteghamati A, Farid T, Farvid M, Feigin V, Ding EL, Fowkes G, Gebrehiwot T, Gillum R, Gold A, Gona P, Gupta R, Habtewold TD, Hafezi-Nejad N, Hailu T, Hailu GB, Hankey G, Hassen HY, Abate KH, Havmoeller R, Hay SI, Horino M, Hotez PJ, Jacobsen K, James S, Javanbakht M, Jeemon P, John D, Jonas J, Kalkonde Y, Karimkhani C, Kasaeian A, Khader Y, Khan A, Khang YH, Khera S, Khoja AT, Khubchandani J, Kim D, Kolte D, Kosen S, Krohn KJ, Kumar GA, Kwan GF, Lal DK, Larsson A, Linn S, Lopez A, Lotufo PA, El Razek HMA, Malekzadeh R, Mazidi M, Meier T, Meles KG, Mensah G, Meretoja A,

Mezgebe H, Miller T, Mirrakhimov E, Mohammed S, Moran AE, Musa KI, Narula J, Neal B, Ngalesoni F, Nguyen G, Obermeyer CM, Owolabi M, Patton G, Pedro J, Qato D, Qorbani M, Rahimi K, Rai RK, Rawaf S, Ribeiro A, Safiri S, Salomon JA, Santos I, Santric Milicevic M, Sartorius B, Schutte A, Sepanlou S, Shaikh MA, Shin MJ, Shishehbor M, Shore H, Silva DAS, Sobngwi E, Stranges S, Swaminathan S, Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Tadele Atnafu N, Tesfay F, Thakur JS, Thrift A, Topor-Madry R, Truelsen T, Tyrovolas S, Ukwaja KN, Uthman O, Vasankari T, Vlassov V, Vollset SE, Wakayo T, Watkins D, Weintraub R, Werdecker A, Westerman R, Wiysonge CS, Wolfe C, Workicho A, Xu G, Yano Y, Yip P, Yonemoto N, Younis M, Yu C, Vos T, Naghavi M, Murray C. Global, Regional, and National Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases for 10 Causes, 1990 to 2015. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017;**70**(1):1-25.

566. Schmitt J, Duray G, Gersh BJ, Hohnloser SH. Atrial fibrillation in acute myocardial infarction: a systematic review of the incidence, clinical features and prognostic implications. Eur Heart J 2009;**30**(9):1038-45.

567. Alasady M, Shipp NJ, Brooks AG, Lim HS, Lau DH, Barlow D, Kuklik P, Worthley MI, Roberts-Thomson KC, Saint DA, Abhayaratna W, Sanders P. Myocardial infarction and atrial fibrillation: Importance of atrial ischemia. Circulation: Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology 2013;**6**(4):738-745.

568. Biasco L, Radovanovic D, Moccetti M, Rickli H, Roffi M, Eberli F, Jeger R, Moccetti T, Erne P, Pedrazzini G. New-onset or Pre-existing Atrial Fibrillation in Acute Coronary Syndromes: Two Distinct Phenomena With a Similar Prognosis. Revista Espanola de Cardiologia 2019;**72**(5):383-391.

569. Gonzalez-Pacheco H, Marquez MF, Arias-Mendoza A, Alvarez-Sangabriel A, Eid-Lidt G, Gonzalez-Hermosillo A, Azar-Manzur F, Altamirano-Castillo A, Briseno-Cruz JL, Garcia-Martinez A, Mendoza-Garcia S, Martinez-Sanchez C. Clinical features and in-hospital mortality associated with different types of atrial fibrillation in patients with acute coronary syndrome with and without ST elevation. Journal of Cardiology 2015;**66**(1-2):148-154.

570. Lau DH, Huynh LT, Chew DP, Astley CM, Soman A, Sanders P. Prognostic Impact of Types of Atrial Fibrillation in Acute Coronary Syndromes. American Journal of Cardiology 2009;**104**(10):1317-1323.

571. Mehta RH, Dabbous OH, Granger CB, Kuznetsova P, Kline-Rogers EM, Anderson FA, Jr., Fox KA, Gore JM, Goldberg RJ, Eagle KA. Comparison of outcomes of patients with acute coronary syndromes with and without atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2003;92(9):1031-6.

572. Lehto M, Snapinn S, Dickstein K, Swedberg K, Nieminen MS. Prognostic risk of atrial fibrillation in acute myocardial infraction complicated by left ventricular dysfunction: The OPTIMAAL experience. European Heart Journal 2005;**26**(4):350-356.

573. Canfield J, Totary-Jain H. 40 Years of Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: History and Future Directions. J Pers Med 2018;**8**(4).

574. Freeman MF, Tukey JW. Transformation related to the angular and the square root. Annals of Mathematical Statistics 1950;**21**:607-11.

575. Collet JP, Thiele H, Barbato E, Barthélémy O, Bauersachs J, Bhatt DL, Dendale P, Dorobantu M, Edvardsen T, Folliguet T, Gale CP, Gilard M, Jobs A, Jüni P, Lambrinou E, Lewis BS, Mehilli J, Meliga E, Merkely B, Mueller C, Roffi M, Rutten FH, Sibbing D, Siontis GCM. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation. Eur Heart J 2020.

576. Thomsen PEB, Jons C, Raatikainen MJP, Joergensen RM, Hartikainen J, Virtanen V, Boland J, Anttonen O, Gang UJ, Hoest N, Boersma LVA, Platou ES, Becker D, Messier MD, Huikuri HV, Cardiac Arrhythmias R. Long-Term Recording of Cardiac Arrhythmias With an Implantable Cardiac Monitor in Patients With Reduced Ejection Fraction After Acute Myocardial Infarction The Cardiac Arrhythmias and Risk Stratification After Acute Myocardial Infarction (CARISMA) Study. Circulation 2010;**122**(13):1258-1264.

577. Clark DM, Plumb VJ, Epstein AE, Kay GN. Hemodynamic effects of an irregular sequence of ventricular cycle lengths during atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;**30**(4):1039-45.

578. Cha YM, Redfield MM, Shen WK, Gersh BJ. Atrial fibrillation and ventricular dysfunction: a vicious electromechanical cycle. Circulation 2004;**109**(23):2839-43.

579. Savelieva I, Bajpai A, Camm AJ. Stroke in atrial fibrillation: update on pathophysiology, new antithrombotic therapies, and evolution of procedures and devices. Ann Med 2007;**39**(5):371-91.

580. Hofer F, Kazem N, Hammer A, El-Hamid F, Koller L, Niessner A, Sulzgruber P. Long-Term Prognosis of De-Novo Atrial Fibrillation during Acute Myocardial Infarction - The Impact of Anti-Thrombotic Treatment Strategies. European heart journal. Cardiovascular pharmacotherapy 2020.

581. Dewilde WJ, Oirbans T, Verheugt FW, Kelder JC, De Smet BJ, Herrman JP, Adriaenssens T, Vrolix M, Heestermans AA, Vis MM, Tijsen JG, van 't Hof AW, ten Berg JM. Use of clopidogrel with or without aspirin in patients taking oral anticoagulant therapy and undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: an open-label, randomised, controlled trial. Lancet 2013;**381**(9872):1107-15.

582. Gibson CM, Mehran R, Bode C, Halperin J, Verheugt FW, Wildgoose P, Birmingham M, Ianus J, Burton P, van Eickels M, Korjian S, Daaboul Y, Lip GY, Cohen M, Husted S, Peterson ED, Fox KA. Prevention of Bleeding in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation Undergoing PCI. N Engl J Med 2016;**375**(25):2423-2434.

583. Cannon CP, Bhatt DL, Oldgren J, Lip GYH, Ellis SG, Kimura T, Maeng M, MerkelyB, Zeymer U, Gropper S, Nordaby M, Kleine E, Harper R, Manassie J, Januzzi JL, ten Berg

676

JM, Steg G, Hohnloser SH, Comm R-DPS. Dual Antithrombotic Therapy with Dabigatran after PCI in Atrial Fibrillation. New England Journal of Medicine 2017;**377**(16):1513-1524.

584. Vranckx P, Valgimigli M, Eckardt L, Tijssen J, Lewalter T, Gargiulo G, Batushkin V, Campo G, Lysak Z, Vakaliuk I, Milewski K, Laeis P, Reimitz PE, Smolnik R, Zierhut W, Goette A. Edoxaban-based versus vitamin K antagonist-based antithrombotic regimen after successful coronary stenting in patients with atrial fibrillation (ENTRUST-AF PCI): a randomised, open-label, phase 3b trial. The Lancet 2019;**394**(10206):1335-1343.

Lopes RD, Heizer G, Aronson R, Vora AN, Massaro T, Mehran R, Goodman SG, 585. Windecker S, Darius H, Li J, Averkov O, Bahit MC, Berwanger O, Budaj A, Hijazi Z, Parkhomenko A, Sinnaeve P, Storey RF, Thiele H, Vinereanu D, Granger CB, Alexander JH, Hrabar AD, Caccavo A, Licheri A, Alvarisqueta AF, Abud AM, Estrada C, Sueldo CP, Montenegro E, Duronto EA, Blanco FL, Berra FC, Ferré Pácora FA, Lopez GM, Calvo G, Azize GM, Luquez HA, Ramos H, Colombo HR, Guetta JN, Resk JH, Medrano JC, Costabel JP, Carbajales J, Schiavi LB, Saggia LI, Oliva MA, Casas M, Snitman M, Litvak Bruno MR, Cluigt N, Vita NA, Guzman PN, Zangroniz PD, Villarreal RA, Bonato RR, Nani S, Sassone SA, Macin SM, Arias VE, Alexopoulos C, Brieger D, Colquhoun D, Heddle WF, Podczeck-Schweighofer A, Ebner C, Scherr D, Lang IM, Huber K, Guedes A, Convens C, Cools F, Vercammen J, Bartunek J, Rossenbacker T, Pereira AH, Kormann AM, Freitas AF, Fonseca AGT, de Quadros A, Janella BL, Kalil CAA, Rodrigues CS, Precoma DB, Ramacciotti E, Resende ES, Figueiredo EL, Manenti ER, Costa FAD, Feitosa G, Reis HJL, Ribeiro HB, de Moraes JBMX, Dantas JMM, Nicolau JC, Saraiva JFK, Reolão J, Piegas LS, Oliveira LFA, Ritt LEF, Braile MCVB, Dracoulakis MA, de Santos MON, Leães PE, Filho PP, Rech RL, Ueda R, Silvestrini TL, Michalaros YL, Manolova A, Mihov AK, Yatseva B, Velikov C, Raev DH, Markov D, Vassilev D, Georgiev E, Benov HO, Daskalov I, Petrov IP, Milanova M, Shehova-Yankova NS, Lazov PV, Beleva S, Marchev ST, Gelev VL, Tyrrell B, Wong B,

Dion D, LaFlamme D, Rupka DW, Shukla D, Sabbah E, Nadra IJ, Bata I, Cherry JM, Toleva O, Dehghani P, Vijayaraghavan R, Welsh R, Bagur R, Labonte RE, Vizel S, Fort S, Huynh T, Quan VH, Pesant Y, Isaza D, Accini Mendoza JL, Gomez JE, Jaramillo Gomez NI, Knezevic A, Ruzic A, Horvat D, Milicic D, Selthofer-Relatic K, Pesek K, Pravecek MK, Kovacic M, Manola S, Persic V, Alan D, Belohlavek J, Larsen CT, Brønnum-Schou J, Veien KT, Christensen LS, Maeng M, Steffensen R, Angoulvant D, Beygui F, Range G, Cayla G, Aupetit JF, Elbaz M, Delarche N, Meneveau N, Ghanem A, Hagendorff A, Wilke A, Hummel A, Axthelm C, Kadel C, Langer C, Stellbrink C, Jacobshagen C, Gross CM, Blessing EEB, Minden HH, Bogossian H, Wienbergen H, Ebelt H, Dreger H, Ince H, Akin I, Eitel I, Kreis I, Appel KF, Maier L, Bergmann M, Moser M, Toursarkissian N, Menck N, Ritter O, Bernhardt P, Nordbeck P, Stöhring R, Schwinger R, Braun-Dullaeus RC, Maier SKG, Schellong S, Steiner S, Rudolph T, Dengler TJ, Geisler T, Rauch-Kröhnert U, Jung W, Jungmair W, Komócsi A, Papp A, Vértes A, Mohácsi A, Herczeg B, Merkely B, Dézsi CA, Kis E, Lakatos F, Kerecsen G, Piros GA, Takács J, Tomcsányi J, Keltai K, Kovács Z, Mathur A, Baxi HA, Narendra J, Gupta J, Kumbla M, Jamwal NK, Arora P, Katz A, Shotan A, Schiff E, Freedberg NA, Amir O, Hussein O, Kracoff OH, Alcalai R, Adawi SY, Viskin S, Hayek T, Hasin Y, Rozenman Y, Nam CW, Lee CW, Choi DJ, Jeon DS, Park HW, Son JW, Jeong JO, Cha KS, Oh S, Rha SW, Park YH, On YK, Bazzoni Ruiz AE, Valdespino AR, Castro Montes BE, Ramos Lopez GA, Llamas Esperón GA, Solache G, Macías García JS, Leiva-Pons JL, De Los Rios Ibarra MO, Willems FF, Beyerbacht HP, van de Wal R, Hysing J, Lappegard KT, Vinge LE, Halvorsen S, Pönitz V, Chavez Ayala CA, Medina Palomino FA, Garcia Matheus JC, Włodarczak A, Lubinski A, Czarnecka D, Wojciechowski D, Skonieczny G, Kasprzak JD, Wranicz JK, Szachniewicz J, Kincel KK, Zmudka K, Lesiak M, Piekarski M, Wujkowski M, Lica-Gorzynska M, Miekus P, Feusette P, Bartkowiak R, Korzeniak R, Sinkiewicz W, Musial W, Krolikowski Z, Gaspar A, Pinto F, Almeida F, Martinez J, Brandão

L, Santos LM, Mateus P, Monteiro P, Pernencar S, Mornos C, Olinic DM, Zdrenghea DT, Ortan FO, Cinteza M, Popescu M, Voicu O, Todea SBF, Babes V, Vishnevskiy AY, Kuimov AD, Duplyakov DV, Kosmacheva E, Pokushalov E, Gordeev IG, Zrazhevskiy KN, Sorokin LA, Ermoshkina LG, Zykov MV, Ruda MY, Bulashova O, Smolenskaya OG, Orlikova OV, Grishaev SL, Shalaev SV, Boldueva SA, Kuznetsov V, Makukhin V, Kostenko V, Shvarts Y, Kobalava ZD, Selakovic A, Tosic BP, Sakac DB, Pavlovic M, Dekleva M, Tasic NM, Hinic S, Jozic T, Potpara T, Dzupina A, Pella D, Majercak I, Striezova I, Fedacko J, Gonsorcik J, Fecik J, Selecky J, Antalik L, Hranai M, Gocar M, Kokles M, Oriesek R, Regueiro A, Ibánez B, Djurovic DP, Gutierrez Ibañes E, Ridocci-Soriano F, Diaz Fernandez J, Artaecheverria Zuazo JJ, Escudier Villa JM, Nuñez Villota J, Sanmartin Fernandez M, Chinchurreta Capote PA, Muñoz Aguilera R, Vera Ripoll T, Mainar Tello V, Björklund F, Jensen J, Andersson J, Lauermann J, Hamid M, Angerås O, Fischer TA, Yagensky AV, Goloborodko BI, Kyrychenko II, Vakaliuk IP, Kovalskyy I, Rishko MV, Sydor N, Karpenko OI, Parkhomenko OM, Koval OA, Godlevska O, Zhurba S, Maslovskyi VY, Netiazhenko VZ, Tashchuk VK, Shcherbak VP, Tseluyko VI, Cooke A, Wrigley B, Francis CM, Barr C, Gorog DA, Lip GYH, Irving J, Mills J, Levy T, Cheema AA, Salacata AS, Tenaglia AN, Meholick AW, Vedere AR, Patrello AJ, Spaedy A, Martin AC, Holland BH, Duffy BK, Schuler B, Treasure CB, Paraboschi C, Pickett CA, Rowan CJ, Longnecker CR, Hess CN, Hinchman DA, Schneider DJ, Murdock DK, Baldwin DE, Flores EA, Sirulnick EJ, Ahmad F, Aggarwala G, Dhar G, Kichura GM, Turitto G, Sampognaro GC, Sharma GK, Chandna H, Truong HTD, Poock J, Walia JS, Zelenka JT, Amin JK, Foucauld J, Chambers J, Abbott JD, Strobel JS, Dy JR, Nour KA, Sullenberger LE, Younis LT, Gonzales L, Chane M, Foster MT, King MY, Grabarczyk MA, Izzo MR, Leesar MA, Bernabei MA, Cavender MD, Janik MJ, Buchbinder M, Arcarese M, Yeh M, Sheth MJ, Sinno MC, Shoukfeh MF, Alhaddad M, Ranadive NV, Jaffrani NA, Little NK, Shammas N, Assi NA, Almousalli O, Chan P, Horwitz PA, Rozeman

PA, Singh P, Aggarwal R, Gopinathannair R, Manshadi R, Korabathina R, Gilmore RM, Feldman RB, Schnitzler RN, Harrison RW, Gandhi SN, Graham S, Krueger SK, Jones SE, Rowe SK, Bazaz SB, Haddad TM, Povsic TJ, Badami UA, Abernethy WB, Mirza ZA. Antithrombotic therapy after acute coronary syndrome or PCI in atrial fibrillation. New England Journal of Medicine 2019;**380**(16):1509-1524.

586. Haller PM, Sulzgruber P, Kaufmann C, Geelhoed B, Tamargo J, Wassmann S, Schnabel RB, Westermann D, Huber K, Niessner A, Gremmel T. Bleeding and ischaemic outcomes in patients treated with dual or triple antithrombotic therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother 2019;**5**(4):226-236.

587. Wendelboe AM, Raskob GE. Global Burden of Thrombosis: Epidemiologic Aspects. Circulation Research 2016;**118**(9):1340-1347.

588. Cohen AT, Agnelli G, Anderson FA, Arcelus JI, Bergqvist D, Brecht JG, Greer IA, Heit JA, Hutchinson JL, Kakkar AK, Mottier D, Oger E, Samama MM, Spannagl M. Venous thromboembolism (VTE) in Europe. The number of VTE events and associated morbidity and mortality. Thromb Haemost 2007;**98**(4):756-64.

589. Heit J, Cohen A, Anderson Jr F. Estimated annual number of incident and recurrent, non-fatal and fatal venous thromboembolism (VTE) events in the US Blood. 2005; 106: 267a. In: *Poster presented at: 47th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology* (*ASH*). 2005.

590. Noubiap JJ, Agbaedeng TA, Nyaga UF, Lau DH, Worthley MI, Nicholls SJ, Sanders P. Atrial fibrillation incidence, prevalence, predictors and adverse outcomes in acute coronary syndromes: a pooled analysis of data from 8 million patients. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2022.
591. Barra SN, Paiva LV, Providência R, Fernandes A, Leitão Marques A. Atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism: prognostic considerations. Emerg Med J 2014;**31**(4):308-12.

592. Bikdeli B, Jiménez D, Del Toro J, Piazza G, Rivas A, Fernández-Reyes JL, Sampériz Á, Otero R, Suriñach JM, Siniscalchi C, Martín-Guerra JM, Castro J, Muriel A, Lip GYH, Goldhaber SZ, Monreal M. Association Between Preexisting Versus Newly Identified Atrial Fibrillation and Outcomes of Patients With Acute Pulmonary Embolism. J Am Heart Assoc 2021;**10**(17):e021467.

593. Ebner M, Rogge NIJ, Parwani AS, Sentler C, Lerchbaumer M, Pieske B, Konstantinides SV, Hasenfuß G, Wachter R, Lankeit M. Atrial fibrillation is frequent but does not affect risk stratification in pulmonary embolism. Journal of internal medicine 2019.

594. Kukla P, McIntyre WF, Koracevic G, Kutlesic-Kurtovic D, Fijorek K, Atanaskovic V, Krupa E, Mirek-Bryniarska E, Jastrzebski M, Bryniarski L, Pruszczyk P, Baranchuk A. Relation of Atrial Fibrillation and Right-Sided Cardiac Thrombus to Outcomes in Patients With Acute Pulmonary Embolism. American Journal of Cardiology 2015;**115**(6):825-830.

595. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, Shamseer L, Tetzlaff JM, Akl EA, Brennan SE, Chou R, Glanville J, Grimshaw JM, Hróbjartsson A, Lalu MM, Li T, Loder EW, Mayo-Wilson E, McDonald S, McGuinness LA, Stewart LA, Thomas J, Tricco AC, Welch VA, Whiting P, Moher D. The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. J Clin Epidemiol 2021;**134**:178-189.

596. Bajaj N, Bozarth AL, Guillot J, KojoKittah J, Appalaneni SR, Cestero C, Amankona RK, Pippim JA. Clinical features in patients with pulmonary embolism at a community hospital: Analysis of 4 years of data. Journal of Thrombosis and Thrombolysis 2014;**37**(3):287-292.

597. Bing R, Chow V, Lau JK, Thomas L, Kritharides L, Ng AC. Prevalence of Echocardiography Use in Patients Hospitalized with Confirmed Acute Pulmonary Embolism: A Real-World Observational Multicenter Study. PLoS One 2016;**11**(12):e0168554.

598. Bolt L, Lauber S, Limacher A, Samim D, Löwe A, Tritschler T, Baumgartner C, Aujesky D. Prognostic Value of Electrocardiography in Elderly Patients with Acute Pulmonary Embolism. Am J Med 2019;**132**(12):e835-e843.

599. de Miguel-Diez J, Munoz-Rivas N, Jimenez-Garcia R, Hernandez-Barrera V, Carrasco-Garrido P, Monreal M, Jimenez D, Guijarro R, Lopez de Andres A. Type 2 diabetes is associated with a higher incidence of hospitalization for pulmonary embolism in Spain: Analysis of hospital discharge data during 2004-2013. Respirology 2016;**21**(7):1277-1284.

600. de-Miguel-Diez J, Albaladejo-Vicente R, Jimenez-Garcia R, Hernandez-Barrera V, Villanueva-Orbaiz R, Carabantes-Alarcon D, Jimenez D, Monreal M, Lopez-de-Andres A. The effect of COPD on the incidence and mortality of hospitalized patients with pulmonary embolism: A nationwide population-based study (2016-2018). European Journal of Internal Medicine 2021;**84**:18-23.

601. Escobar C, Jiménez D, Martí D, Lobo JL, Díaz G, Gallego P, Vidal R, Barrios V, Sueiro A. [Prognostic value of electrocardiographic findings in hemodynamically stable patients with acute symptomatic pulmonary embolism]. Rev Esp Cardiol 2008;**61**(3):244-50.

602. Geibel A, Zehender M, Kasper W, Olschewski M, Klima C, Konstantinides SV. Prognostic value of the ECG on admission in patients with acute major pulmonary embolism. Eur Respir J 2005;**25**(5):843-8.

603. Goldhaber SZ, Visani L, De Rosa M. Acute pulmonary embolism: clinical outcomes in the International Cooperative Pulmonary Embolism Registry (ICOPER). Lancet 1999;**353**(9162):1386-9. 604. Huang CM, Lin YC, Lin YJ, Chang SL, Lo LW, Hu YF, Chiang CE, Wang KL, Chen SA. Risk stratification and clinical outcomes in patients with acute pulmonary embolism. Clin Biochem 2011;**44**(13):1110-1115.

605. Ji Q, Wang M, Su C, Yang Q, Feng L, Zhao L, Fang S, Zhao F, Li W. Clinical characteristics of pulmonary embolism patients in a Chinese tertiary hospital. International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine 2016;**9**(9):18465-18471.

606. Keller K, Hobohm L, Munzel T, Ostad MA. Impact of concomitant deep or superficial venous thrombosis of the legs on survival of patients with pulmonary embolism. International Journal of Cardiology 2020;**315**:92-98.

607. Koracevic G, Atanaskovic V. Is atrial fibrillation a prognosticator in acute pulmonary thromboembolism? Med Princ Pract 2010;**19**(2):166.

608. Krajewska A, Ptaszynska-Kopczynska K, Kiluk I, Kosacka U, Milewski R, Krajewski J, JerzyMusial W, Sobkowicz B. Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation in the Course of Acute Pulmonary Embolism: Clinical Significance and Impact on Prognosis. Biomed Research International 2017;**2017**.

609. Kukla P, Diugopolski R, Krupa E, Furtak R, Szelemej R, Mirek-Bryniarska E, Jastrzebski M, Nowak J, Wanczura P, Bryniarski L. Electrocardiography and prognosis of patients with acute pulmonary embolism. Cardiology Journal 2011;**18**(6):648-653.

610. Liu D, Shi S, Liu X, Ye T, Wang L, Qu C, Yang B, Zhao Q. Retrospective cohort study of new-onset atrial fibrillation in acute pulmonary embolism on prognosis. BMJ Open 2021;**11**(9).

611. Mameli A, Palmas MA, Antonelli A, Contu P, Prandoni P, Marongiu F. A retrospective cohort study of patients with pulmonary embolism: the impact of comorbidities on patient's outcome. Eur Respir J 2016;**48**(2):555-7.

612. Mullova IS, Pavlova TV, Khokhlunov SM, Duplyakov DV. Prognostic value of ECG in patients with pulmonary embolism. Rational Pharmacotherapy in Cardiology 2019;**15**(1):63-68.

613. Ng AC, Adikari D, Yuan D, Lau JK, Yong AS, Chow V, Kritharides L. The Prevalence and Incidence of Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Acute Pulmonary Embolism. PLoS One 2016;**11**(3):e0150448.

614. Ösken A, Yelgeç NS, Şekerci SS, Asarcıklı LD, Dayı Ş, Çam N. Differences in clinical and echocardiographic variables and mortality predictors among older patients with pulmonary embolism. Aging Clin Exp Res 2021;**33**(8):2223-2230.

615. Percy ED, Shah R, Hirji S, Tartarini RJ, Yazdchi F, Harloff M, Kaneko T, Pelletier MP. National Outcomes of Surgical Embolectomy for Acute Pulmonary Embolism. Ann Thorac Surg 2020;**110**(2):441-447.

616. Prandoni P, Pesavento R, Sorensen HT, Gennaro N, Dalla Valle F, Minotto I, Perina F, Pengo V, Pagnan A. Prevalence of heart diseases in patients with pulmonary embolism with and without peripheral venous thrombosis Findings from a cross-sectional survey. European Journal of Internal Medicine 2009;**20**(5):470-473.

617. Ryu HM, Lee JH, Kwon YS, Lee SH, Bae MH, Lee JH, Yang DH, Park HS, Cho Y, Chae SC, Jun JE, Park WH. Electrocardiography patterns and the role of the electrocardiography score for risk stratification in acute pulmonary embolism. Korean Circ J 2010;**40**(10):499-506.

618. Yang Y, Liu B, Taylor J, Huang Z, Gupta S, Thumma S, Wu L, Wang S, Everett G. Prevalence and Clinical Impact of Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Pulmonary Embolism. Southern Medical Journal 2020;**113**(2):93-97.

619. Keller K, Prochaska JH, Coldewey M, Gobel S, Ullmann A, Junger C, Lamparter H, Ariza L, Bickel C, Lauterbach M, Konstantinides S, Rostock T, Munzel T, Wild PS. History

of deep vein thrombosis is a discriminator for concomitant atrial fibrillation in pulmonary embolism. Thrombosis Research 2015;**136**(5):899-906.

620. Enga KF, Rye-Holmboe I, Hald EM, Lochen ML, Mathiesen EB, Njolstad I, Wilsgaard T, Braekkan SK, Hansen JB. Atrial fibrillation and future risk of venous thromboembolism: the Tromso study. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis 2015;**13**(1):10-16.

621. Morella P, Sacco M, Carafa M, Ferro G, Curcio F, Gargiulo G, Testa G, Liguori I, Russo G, Cacciatore F, Tocchetti CG, Bonaduce D, Abete P. Permanent atrial fibrillation and pulmonary embolism in elderly patients without deep vein thrombosis: is there a relationship? Aging Clinical and Experimental Research 2019;**31**(8):1121-1128.

622. Aziz EF, Kukin M, Javed F, Musat D, Nader A, Pratap B, Shah A, Enciso JS, Chaudhry FA, Herzog E. Right Ventricular Dysfunction is a Strong Predictor of Developing Atrial Fibrillation in Acutely Decompensated Heart Failure Patients, ACAP-HF Data Analysis. Journal of Cardiac Failure 2010;**16**(10):827-834.

623. Shopp JD, Stewart LK, Emmett TW, Kline JA. Findings from 12-lead electrocardiography that predict circulatory shock from pulmonary embolism: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Academic Emergency Medicine 2015;**22**(10):1127-1137.

624. Ogren M, Bergqvist D, Eriksson H, Lindblad B, Sternby NH. Prevalence and risk of pulmonary embolism in patients with intracardiac thrombosis: a population-based study of 23 796 consecutive autopsies. Eur Heart J 2005;**26**(11):1108-14.

625. Bashir M, Asher CR, Garcia MJ, Abdalla I, Jasper SE, Murray RD, Grimm RA, Thomas JD, Klein AL. Right atrial spontaneous echo contrast and thrombi in atrial fibrillation: A transesophageal echocardiography study. Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography 2001;**14**(2):122-127.

626. Tang RB, Jing YY, Xu ZY, Dong JZ, Du X, Wu JH, Yu RH, Long DY, Ning M, Sang CH, Jiang CX, Bai R, Liu N, Wen SN, Li SN, Chen X, Huang ST, Cui YK, Ma CS. New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation and Adverse In-Hospital Outcome in Patients with Acute Pulmonary Embolism. Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis 2020;**46**(8):887-894.

627. Odening KE, Deiß S, Dilling-Boer D, Didenko M, Eriksson U, Nedios S, Ng FS, Roca Luque I, Sanchez Borque P, Vernooy K, Wijnmaalen AP, Yorgun H. Mechanisms of sex differences in atrial fibrillation: role of hormones and differences in electrophysiology, structure, function, and remodelling. Europace 2019;**21**(3):366-376.

628. Mauvais-Jarvis F, Bairey Merz N, Barnes PJ, Brinton RD, Carrero JJ, DeMeo DL, De Vries GJ, Epperson CN, Govindan R, Klein SL, Lonardo A, Maki PM, McCullough LD, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Regensteiner JG, Rubin JB, Sandberg K, Suzuki A. Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. Lancet 2020;**396**(10250):565-582.

629. Clayton JA. Applying the new SABV (sex as a biological variable) policy to research and clinical care. Physiol Behav 2018;**187**:2-5.

630. Strong B, Pudar J, Thrift AG, Howard VJ, Hussain M, Carcel C, de Los Campos G, Reeves MJ. Sex Disparities in Enrollment in Recent Randomized Clinical Trials of Acute Stroke: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol 2021;**78**(6):666-677.

631. Carcel C, Woodward M, Balicki G, Koroneos GL, Sousa DA, Cordonnier C, Lukaszyk C, Thompson K, Wang X, Davies L, Bassi M, Anderson CS, Peters SA, Sandset EC. Trends in recruitment of women and reporting of sex differences in large-scale published randomized controlled trials in stroke. Int J Stroke 2019;**14**(9):931-938.

632. Jin X, Chandramouli C, Allocco B, Gong E, Lam CSP, Yan LL. Women's Participation in Cardiovascular Clinical Trials From 2010 to 2017. Circulation 2020;**141**(7):540-548.

633. In. *Women's Health Research: Progress, Pitfalls, and Promise*. Washington DC: 2010 by the National Academy of Sciences; 2010.

634. Heidari S, Babor TF, De Castro P, Tort S, Curno M. Sex and Gender Equity in Research: rationale for the SAGER guidelines and recommended use. Res Integr Peer Rev 2016;1:2.

635. Pudar J, Strong B, Howard VJ, Reeves MJ. Reporting of Results by Sex in Randomized Controlled Trials of Acute Stroke Therapies (2010-2020). Stroke 2021;**52**(11):e702-e705.

636. Phillips SP, Hamberg K. Doubly blind: a systematic review of gender in randomised controlled trials. Glob Health Action 2016;**9**:29597.

637. Avery E, Clark J. Sex-related reporting in randomised controlled trials in medical journals. Lancet 2016;**388**(10062):2839-2840.

638. Pang HH, Wang X, Stinchcombe TE, Wong ML, Cheng P, Ganti AK, Sargent DJ, Zhang Y, Hu C, Mandrekar SJ, Redman MW, Manola JB, Schilsky RL, Cohen HJ, Bradley JD, Adjei AA, Gandara D, Ramalingam SS, Vokes EE. Enrollment Trends and Disparity Among Patients With Lung Cancer in National Clinical Trials, 1990 to 2012. J Clin Oncol 2016;**34**(33):3992-3999.

639. Yunus FN, Perino AC, Holmes DN, Matsouaka RA, Curtis AB, Ellenbogen KA, Frankel DS, Knight BP, Russo AM, Lewis WR, Piccini JP, Turakhia MP. Sex Differences in Ablation Strategy, Lesion Sets, and Complications of Catheter Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation: An Analysis From the GWTG-AFIB Registry. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2021;**14**(11):e009790.

640. Carcel C, Reeves M. Under-Enrollment of Women in Stroke Clinical Trials: What Are the Causes and What Should Be Done About It? Stroke 2021;**52**(2):452-457.

641. Martinkova J, Quevenco FC, Karcher H, Ferrari A, Sandset EC, Szoeke C, Hort J, Schmidt R, Chadha AS, Ferretti MT. Proportion of Women and Reporting of Outcomes by Sex in Clinical Trials for Alzheimer Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open 2021;4(9):e2124124.

642. International Committee of Medical Journal Editors. Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals. In; 2019.

643. Vermond RA, Geelhoed B, Verweij N, Tieleman RG, Van der Harst P, Hillege HL, Van Gilst WH, Van Gelder IC, Rienstra M. Incidence of Atrial Fibrillation and Relationship With Cardiovascular Events, Heart Failure, and Mortality: A Community-Based Study From the Netherlands. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;**66**(9):1000-7.

644. Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, Macera CA, Heath GW, Thompson PD, Bauman A. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Circulation 2007;**116**(9):1081-93.

645. Pathak RK, Elliott A, Middeldorp ME, Meredith M, Mehta AB, Mahajan R, Hendriks JM, Twomey D, Kalman JM, Abhayaratna WP, Lau DH, Sanders P. Impact of CARDIOrespiratory FITness on Arrhythmia Recurrence in Obese Individuals With Atrial Fibrillation: The CARDIO-FIT Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;**66**(9):985-96.

646. Jetté M, Sidney K, Blümchen G. Metabolic equivalents (METS) in exercise testing, exercise prescription, and evaluation of functional capacity. Clin Cardiol 1990;**13**(8):555-65.

647. Kim ES, Ishwaran H, Blackstone E, Lauer MS. External prognostic validations and comparisons of age- and gender-adjusted exercise capacity predictions. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;**50**(19):1867-75.

648. Stiles MK, John B, Wong CX, Kuklik P, Brooks AG, Lau DH, Dimitri H, Roberts-Thomson KC, Wilson L, De Sciscio P, Young GD, Sanders P. Paroxysmal lone atrial fibrillation is associated with an abnormal atrial substrate: characterizing the "second factor". J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;**53**(14):1182-91.

649. Dorian P, Jung W, Newman D, Paquette M, Wood K, Ayers GM, Camm J, Akhtar M, Luderitz B. The impairment of health-related quality of life in patients with intermittent atrial fibrillation: implications for the assessment of investigational therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;**36**(4):1303-9.

650. Jackson SE, Beeken RJ, Wardle J. Predictors of weight loss in obese older adults: findings from the USA and the UK. Obes Facts 2014;**7**(2):102-10.

651. Williams RL, Wood LG, Collins CE, Callister R. Effectiveness of weight loss interventions--is there a difference between men and women: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2015;**16**(2):171-86.

652. Li JB, Qiu ZY, Liu Z, Zhou Q, Feng LF, Li JD, Zhang X. Gender Differences in Factors Associated with Clinically Meaningful Weight Loss among Adults Who Were Overweight or Obese: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Obes Facts 2021;**14**(1):108-120.

653. Diaz-Canestro C, Pentz B, Sehgal A, Montero D. Sex Differences In Cardiorespiratory Fitness Are Explained By Blood Volume And Oxygen Carrying Capacity. Cardiovasc Res 2021.

654. Akoum N, Mahnkopf C, Kholmovski EG, Brachmann J, Marrouche NF. Age and sex differences in atrial fibrosis among patients with atrial fibrillation. Europace 2018;**20**(7):1086-1092.

655. Kim JS, Shin SY, Kang JH, Yong HS, Na JO, Choi CU, Kim SH, Kim EJ, Rha SW, Park CG, Seo HS, Oh DJ, Hwang C, Kim YH, Lim HE. Influence of Sex on the Association

Between Epicardial Adipose Tissue and Left Atrial Transport Function in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Multislice Computed Tomography Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2017;**6**(8). 656. Westerman S, Wenger N. Gender Differences in Atrial Fibrillation: A Review of

Epidemiology, Management, and Outcomes. Curr Cardiol Rev 2019;15(2):136-144.

657. Hayashi K, An Y, Nagashima M, Hiroshima K, Ohe M, Makihara Y, Yamashita K, Yamazato S, Fukunaga M, Sonoda K, Ando K, Goya M. Importance of nonpulmonary vein foci in catheter ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2015;**12**(9):1918-24.

658. Noubiap JJ, Feteh VF, Middeldorp ME, Fitzgerald JL, Thomas G, Kleinig T, Lau DH, Sanders P. A meta-analysis of clinical risk factors for stroke in anticoagulant-naïve patients with atrial fibrillation. Europace 2021.

659. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. *NIS Related Reports*. <u>http://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/db/nation/nis/nisrelatedreports.jsp</u>.

660. Pastori D, Baratta F, Di Rocco A, Farcomeni A, Del Ben M, Angelico F, Violi F, Pignatelli P, Lip GYH. Statin use and mortality in atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 100,287 patients. Pharmacol Res 2021;**165**:105418.

661. Barra S, Baran J, Narayanan K, Boveda S, Fynn S, Heck P, Grace A, Agarwal S, Primo J, Marijon E, Providência R. Association of catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation with mortality and stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol 2018;**266**:136-142. 662. Benjamins MR, Silva A, Saiyed NS, De Maio FG. Comparison of All-Cause Mortality Rates and Inequities Between Black and White Populations Across the 30 Most Populous US Cities. JAMA Netw Open 2021;**4**(1):e2032086.

663. Noonan AS, Velasco-Mondragon HE, Wagner FA. Improving the health of African Americans in the USA: an overdue opportunity for social justice. Public Health Rev 2016;**37**:12.

664. Cunha AIL, Veronese N, de Melo Borges S, Ricci NA. Frailty as a predictor of adverse outcomes in hospitalized older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Res Rev 2019;**56**:100960.